

New Frontiers in gene-modified T cell technology

Edited by

Ignazio Caruana, Francesca Del Bufalo, Rayne Rouce, Shigeki Yagyu and Paul G. Schlegel

Published in Frontiers in Immunology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5041-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5041-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

New Frontiers in gene-modified T cell technology

Topic editors

Ignazio Caruana — University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany Francesca Del Bufalo — Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Rayne Rouce — Baylor College of Medicine, United States Shigeki Yagyu — Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan Paul G. Schlegel — University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Citation

Caruana, I., Del Bufalo, F., Rouce, R., Yagyu, S., Schlegel, P. G., eds. (2024). *New Frontiers in gene-modified T cell technology*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5041-0

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Humanized Anti-CD19 CAR-T Cell Therapy and Sequential Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Achieved Long-Term Survival in Refractory and Relapsed B Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Retrospective Study of CAR-T Cell Therapy

Wei Chen, Yuhan Ma, Ziyuan Shen, Huimin Chen, Ruixue Ma, Dongmei Yan, Ming Shi, Xiangmin Wang, Xuguang Song, Cai Sun, Jiang Cao, Hai Cheng, Feng Zhu, Haiying Sun, Depeng Li, Zhenyu Li, Junnian Zheng, Kailin Xu and Wei Sang

14 *PiggyBac* Transposon-Mediated CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells Derived From CD45RA-Positive Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Possess Potent and Sustained Antileukemic Function

> Masaya Suematsu, Shigeki Yagyu, Nobuyoshi Nagao, Susumu Kubota, Yuto Shimizu, Miyuki Tanaka, Yozo Nakazawa and Toshihiko Imamura

- 27 Adoptive Cell Therapy in Pediatric and Young Adult Solid Tumors: Current Status and Future Directions John A. Ligon, Kristin M. Wessel, Nirali N. Shah and John Glod
- 37 Cancer Therapy With TCR-Engineered T Cells: Current Strategies, Challenges, and Prospects
 Paul Shafer, Lauren M. Kelly and Valentina Hoyos
- 61 GMP-Compliant Manufacturing of TRUCKs: CAR T Cells targeting GD₂ and Releasing Inducible IL-18 Wolfgang Glienke, Anna Christina Dragon, Katharina Zimmermann, Alexandra Martyniszyn-Eiben, Mira Mertens, Hinrich Abken, Claudia Rossig, Bianca Altvater, Krasimira Aleksandrova, Lubomir Arseniev, Christina Kloth, Andriana Stamopoulou, Thomas Moritz, Holger N. Lode, Nikolai Siebert, Rainer Blasczyk, Lilia Goudeva, Axel Schambach, Ulrike Köhl, Britta Eiz-Vesper and Ruth Esser
- 78 Leukemia's Next Top Model? Syngeneic Models to Advance Adoptive Cellular Therapy

Jaquelyn T. Zoine, Sarah E. Moore and M. Paulina Velasquez

- 85 Emerging Strategies in TCR-Engineered T Cells Fang Wei, Xiao-Xia Cheng, John Zhao Xue and Shao-An Xue
- 103 Design and Evaluation of TIM-3-CD28 Checkpoint Fusion Proteins to Improve Anti-CD19 CAR T-Cell Function Franziska Blaeschke, Eva Ortner, Dana Stenger, Jasmin Mahdawi, Antonia Apfelbeck, Nicola Habjan, Tanja Weißer, Theresa Kaeuferle, Semjon Willier, Sebastian Kobold and Tobias Feuchtinger
- 115 Impact of Manufacturing Procedures on CAR T Cell Functionality

Norihiro Watanabe, Feiyan Mo and Mary Kathryn McKenna

126 Rapid Generation of TCR and CD8αβ Transgenic Virus Specific T Cells for Immunotherapy of Leukemia Gagan Bajwa and Caroline Arber

136 CAR-T Therapy for Pediatric High-Grade Gliomas: Peculiarities, Current Investigations and Future Strategies

Laura Antonucci, Gabriele Canciani, Angela Mastronuzzi, Andrea Carai, Giada Del Baldo and Francesca Del Bufalo

146 The Past, Present, and Future of Non-Viral CAR T Cells Alex Moretti, Marianna Ponzo, Charles A. Nicolette, Irina Y. Tcherepanova, Andrea Biondi and Chiara F. Magnani

171 Review: Sustainable Clinical Development of CAR-T Cells – Switching From Viral Transduction Towards CRISPR-Cas Gene Editing

Dimitrios L. Wagner, Ulrike Koehl, Markus Chmielewski, Christoph Scheid and Renata Stripecke

184 DNAM-1-chimeric receptor-engineered NK cells, combined with Nutlin-3a, more effectively fight neuroblastoma cells *in vitro*: a proof-of-concept study

Chiara Focaccetti, Monica Benvenuto, Chiara Pighi, Alessandra Vitelli, Federico Napolitano, Nicola Cotugno, Doriana Fruci, Paolo Palma, Paolo Rossi, Roberto Bei and Loredana Cifaldi

197 CAR T cells targeting the ganglioside NGcGM3 control ovarian tumors in the absence of toxicity against healthy tissues

Elisabetta Cribioli, Greta Maria Paola Giordano Attianese, George Coukos and Melita Irving

209 Combinatorial suicide gene strategies for the safety of cell therapies

Corey Falcon, Lauren Smith, Mustafa Al-Obaidi, Mohammed Abu Zaanona, Katelyn Purvis, Kentaro Minagawa, Mohammad Athar, Donna Salzman, Ravi Bhatia, Frederick Goldman and Antonio Di Stasi





Humanized Anti-CD19 CAR-T Cell Therapy and Sequential Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Achieved Long-Term Survival in Refractory and Relapsed B Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Retrospective Study of CAR-T Cell Therapy

Wei Chen^{1,2,3†}, Yuhan Ma^{1,3†}, Ziyuan Shen^{4†}, Huimin Chen^{1,3}, Ruixue Ma^{1,3}, Dongmei Yan^{1,3}, Ming Shi⁵, Xiangmin Wang^{1,3}, Xuguang Song^{1,3}, Cai Sun^{1,3}, Jiang Cao^{1,3}, Hai Cheng^{1,3}, Feng Zhu^{1,3}, Haiying Sun^{1,3}, Depeng Li^{1,3}, Zhenyu Li^{1,3}, Junnian Zheng^{5,6,7}, Kailin Xu^{1,3} and Wei Sang^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Hematology, The Affiliated Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China, ² Department of Hematology, The First People's Hospital of Suqian, Suqian, China, ³ Blood Diseases Institute, Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China, ⁴ Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China, ⁵ Cancer Institute, Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China, ⁶ Jiangsu Center for the Collaboration and Innovation of Cancer Biotherapy, Cancer Institute, Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China, ⁷ Center of Clinical Oncology, The Affiliated Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China

Early response could be obtained in most patients with relapsed or refractory B cell lymphoblastic leukemia (R/R B-ALL) treated with chimeric antigen receptor T-cell (CAR-T) therapy, but relapse occurs in some patients. There is no consensus on treatment strategy post CAR-T cell therapy. In this retrospective study of humanized CD19-targeted CAR-T cell (hCART19s) therapy for R/R B-ALL, we analyzed the patients treated with allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) or received a second hCART19s infusion, and summarized their efficacy and safety. We retrospectively studied 28 R/R B-ALL patients treated with hCART19s in the Affiliated Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University from 2016 to 2020. After the first hCART19s infusion, 10 patients received allo-HSCT (CART+HSCT group), 7 patients received a second hCART19s infusion (CART2 group), and 11 patients did not receive HSCT or a second hCART19s infusion (CART1 group). The safety, efficacy, and long-term survival were analyzed. Of the 28 patients who received hCART19s treatment, 1 patient could not be evaluated for efficacy, and 25 (92.6%) achieved complete remission (CR) with 20 (74.7%) achieving minimal residual disease (MRD) negativity. Seven (25%) patients experienced grade 3-4 CRS, and one died from grade 5 CRS. No patient experienced ≥3 grade ICANS. The incidence of second CR is higher in the CART+HSCT group compared to the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Del Bufalo, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Chintan Parekh, University of Southern California, United States Katayoun Ayasoufi, Mayo Clinic, United States

> *Correspondence: Wei Sang sw1981726@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 09 August 2021 Accepted: 12 October 2021 Published: 29 October 2021

Citation:

Chen W, Ma Y, Shen Z, Chen H, Ma R, Yan D, Shi M, Wang X, Song X, Sun C, Cao J, Cheng H, Zhu F, Sun H, Li D, Li Z, Zheng J, Xu K and Sang W (2021) Humanized Anti-CD19 CAR-T Cell Therapy and Sequential Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Achieved Long-Term Survival in Refractory and Relapsed B Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Retrospective Study of CAR-T Cell Therapy. Front, Immunol, 12:755549. doi: 10.3389/fimmu 2021 755549

5

CART2 group (100% vs. 42.9%, p=0.015). The median follow-up time was 1,240 days (range: 709–1,770). Significantly longer overall survival (OS) and leukemia-free survival (LFS) were achieved in the CART+HSCT group (median OS and LFS: not reached, p=0.006 and 0.001, respectively) compared to the CART2 group (median OS: 482; median LFS: 189) and the CART1 group (median OS: 236; median LFS: 35). In the CART+HSCT group, the incidence of acute graft-versus-host disease (aGVHD) was 30% (3/10), and transplantation-related mortality was 30% (3/10). No chronic GVHD occurred. Multivariate analysis results showed that blasts \geq 20% in the bone marrow and MRD \geq 65.6% are independent factors for inferior OS and LFS, respectively, while receiving allo-HSCT is an independent factor associated with both longer OS and LFS. In conclusion, early allo-HSCT after CAR-T therapy can achieve long-term efficacy, and the adverse events are controllable.

Keywords: chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy (CAR-T), hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, relapsed/ refractory B cell lymphoblastic leukemia, overall survival, leukemia free survival, minimal residual disease (MRD)

INTRODUCTION

Patients with relapsed or refractory (R/R) acute B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) progress rapidly, and the overall 5-year survival rate is only 10–20% (1, 2). The response rate of salvage chemotherapy is low. At present, allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) is the only cure for patients with R/R B-ALL. However, only a few patients have the opportunity to undergo allo-HSCT.

As a novel therapeutic strategy, rapid progress has been made in chimeric antigen receptor T-cell (CAR-T) therapy in recent years, especially in hematological malignancies, which showed a high remission rate (3, 4). We previously reported that the effective rate of CAR-T cell therapy targeting CD19 was 93% in R/R B-ALL patients (5, 6). These findings were consistent with those of Davila et al. (3), who reported that the complete remission (CR) rate of CD19 CAR-T on R/R B-ALL can reach 88%, and the adverse events can be tolerated. On the other hand, CAR-T cell therapy has shown significant therapeutic efficacy in turning MRD negativity. A few large-sale studies (7, 8) also indicated that CAR-T cell therapy promoted negative MRD (range: 67%–87%). Notably, pre-transplantation status, especially MRD status, is related to long-term survival after HSCT (9, 10).

Although a high MRD-negative CR rate was achieved after CAR-T therapy, the long-term efficacy was unsatisfactory due to loss of the CAR-T cells resulting from the limited long-term persistence, the immune-suppressive microenvironment, and exhaustion of CAR-T cells (11, 12). It is necessary to optimize the strategy of treatment to further improve long-term efficacy after CAR-T cell infusion. However, either bridging HSCT or second CART is controversial in improving long-term efficacy. Gauthier et al. (13) noted that only 21% of patients obtained CR after second infusion of anti-CD19 CAR-T cells, while the median duration of response was merely 4 months. On the other hand, Zhang et al. (14) demonstrated that 184 patients who underwent allo-HSCT had better 2-year OS and LFS than

patients who did not (68% *vs.* 28.3, 60.4% *vs.* 27.8%, respectively, p<0.001), but lack longer follow-up. This is consistent with the findings of Hay et al., who found that allo-HSCT after anti-CD19 CAR-T cell therapy was associated with a better LFS (15). On the contrary, Park et al. (16) reported that relapse and transplant-related toxicities were the main causes of death for 17 patients who underwent allo-HSCT after CAR-T therapy, suggesting that the patients seemed not to benefit from allo-HSCT.

Therefore, we conducted long-term follow-up and retrospectively analyzed the efficacy and safety of patients who received HSCT or a second hCART19s infusion as a sequential treatment after the first hCART19s infusion.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients

We retrospectively reviewed the data on CD19+ R/R B-ALL patients who received hCART19s therapy at the Affiliated Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University from May 2016 to May 2020. All the enrolled patients had relapsed or refractory disease. The eligibility criteria were age less than 70 years; good organ function and evaluation of a survival longer than 3 months; and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status <2. All patients provided signed informed consent before the hCART19s therapy and allo-HSCT. Patients received HSCT or a second infusion of hCART19s after hCART19s infusion depending on patients' choice, disease status, and their affordability to the treatment. Before HSCT, all patients were in MRD-negative CR after the first hCART19s infusion. In some cases of relapse after the first hCART19s infusion, the second hCART19s was infused as soon as the relapse was clinically confirmed (the detail is listed in Supplementary Table 2). Patients were divided into three groups: the first infusion of hCART19s without transplant or a second infusion of hCART19s (CART1 group), a second

infusion of hCART19s without transplant (CART2 group), and the first infusion of hCART19s followed by HSCT (CART+ HSCT group).

The study protocol was approved by the human studies review board at the Affiliated Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University (ClinicalTrials.gov # NCT02782351). The clinical investigation was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

CAR-T Cell Treatment Protocol

HCART19s constructed with 4-1BB costimulatory domain were generated *via* a lentiviral vector as previously reported (6). All the hCART19s required quality control before discharge. After a lymphocyte-depleting chemotherapy with a fludarabine and cyclophosphamide (FC) regimen (fludarabine at 30 mg/m² per day for 3 days and cyclophosphamide at 300 mg/m² per day for 3 days), all patients provided signed informed consent before the hCART19s therapy and allo-HSCT and received a single dose of autologous hCART19s infusion at 1×10^6 CAR-T cells/kg (**Supplementary Table 1**). No patient experienced bridged chemotherapy from preparation of CAR-T cells to infusion, and lymphodepletion was also conducted prior to the second CAR T infusion.

Transplant Protocol

All patients received marrow ablative regimens using BU/CY or modified BU/CY strategies for matched related transplantation, and anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG, rabbit) was administered for haploidentical or unrelated transplantation as a prophylactic against graft-*versus*-host disease (GVHD). Prophylactic regimens of GVHD were determined by the individual transplant physician based upon disease-related and transplant-related considerations composed of cyclosporine, methotrexate, and mycophenolate mofetil.

Assessment of Toxicity

The cytokine release syndrome was graded according to the cytokine release syndrome grading system. The cytokine release syndrome was considered to be severe if it was of grade 3 or higher. Neurotoxic effects were assessed according to the National Cancer Institute Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events, version 4.03. Severe neurotoxic effects were defined as a seizure of any grade or a toxic effect of grade 3 or higher.

Assessment of Response

Response to therapy was assessed using morphological analysis and multicolor flow cytometry. CR was defined as less than 5% bone marrow blasts, the absence of circulating blasts, and no extramedullary sites of disease (as assessed by means of computed tomography or positron-emission tomography), regardless of cell count recovery. MRD negativity was defined as less than 0.01% bone marrow blasts for all samples analyzed by multicolor flow cytometry. MRD detection was performed at 1, 2, 3, 6, 12, 18, 24, 36, and 48 months after hCART19s therapy or HSCT. Relapsed disease was defined as the reappearance of blasts in blood or bone marrow or in an extramedullary site after a CR. Overall survival (OS) was defined as the time from infusion to the date of death from any cause. Leukemia-free survival (LFS) was calculated from the date of CR to the date of relapse, death, or the last follow-up.

Statistical Analyses

All measurement data were described using median and range and compared using Mann–Whitney U tests. Enumeration data were presented as frequency (%) and compared using chi-square tests or Fisher's exact test. Follow-up time was estimated using the Kaplan–Meier method, whereas OS and LFS were estimated using the Kaplan–Meier method. A Cox regression model was used to obtain the hazard ratio (HR) estimates and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for OS and LFS. The X-tile 3.6.1 software was used to determine the optimal cutoff values for MRD. All tests were two-sided, and p< 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data were analyzed using SPSS version 26.0 and Graphpad Prism version 8.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

From May 2016 to May 2020, a total of 28 patients were enrolled in this study, including 12 males and 16 females, with a median age of 22 years. The characteristics of the patients are shown in **Table 1**, and detailed information is listed in **Supplementary Table 1**. There was no statistical difference among the baseline data of the three groups.

Efficacies of CAR-T Cell Therapy

Of the 28 patients receiving hCART19s infusion, 27 patients were evaluated for response at 14 or 28 days, and 1 patient died at day 14 before being evaluated. The complete remission rate was 92.6% (25/27), with 20 patients having MRD negativity. The rates of CR did not differ significantly among the aforementioned three groups after the first hCART19s infusion. Seven patients received a second hCART19s infusion, three of whom achieved second CR with MRD negativity (42.9%). Notably, as shown in **Figure 1**, compared to the first infusion, the proportion of patients with CR is lower after second infusion (92.6% *vs.* 42.9%, respectively, p=0.02).

CAR-T Cell Toxicities

CRS was the most common nonhematological adverse event after the infusion of hCART19s, which occurred in 27 of the 28 patients, including 8 patients experiencing severe CRS. The median time of CRS occurrence was 6 days (range: 1–20). Patients with CRS were treated with nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, glucocorticoids, and tocilizumab. One patient died from grade 5 CRS at day 14 after infusion of hCART19s, and one patient died from encephalorrhagia at 24 days after infusion of hCART19s. The peak serum levels of IL-6 in patients who developed grade 3–5 CRS were higher than those with grade 0–2 CRS (n=20). There was no statistical difference in serum ferritin levels between patients with grade 0–2 CRS and grade 3–5 CRS (**Figure 2**). Neurotoxicity occurred in one patient in the CART+HSCT group, with symptoms of convulsion. In

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics.

Characteristics	CART+HSCT	CART2	CART1	Р		
	(n = 10)	(n = 7)	(n = 11)	а	b	с
Age, years				0.291	0.807	0.687
Median (range)	19 (6-54)	8 (6-68)	33 (5-70)			
Sex: Male, n (%)	5 (50)	4 (57)	3 (27)	0.581	0.268	0.22
BCR-ABL1, n (%)	2 (20)	1 (14)	2 (18)	0.64	0.669	0.674
Prior intensive therapies				0.475	0.349	0.930
Median (range)	4 (2-11)	7 (2-17)	6 (2-16)			
Primary refractory to chemotherapy, n (%)	1 (10.0)	1 (14)	2 (18.2)	1	1	1
Number of relapses						
Median (range)	1 (1-2)	1 (1-2)	1 (1-3)	0.864	0.4	0.529
MRD at infusion				0.27	0.349	0.659
Median (range)%	15.7 (0.1-71.9)	36.7 (10-72.2)	29.7 (0.1-96.9)			
BM blasts before CAR-T				0.421	0.654	0.724
Median (range)%	14 (0-86)	42 (0-95)	18 (0-92)			
Volume of CAR-T cells				0.699	0.918	0.724
Median (range)	50 (50-100)	50 (20-100)	50 (50-100)			
Time from CAR-T to last chemotherapy				0.949	0.659	0.637
≤3months	7	5	6			
>3months	3	2	5			

CART, Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell (CAR-T) therapy; CART+HSCT group, patients who received allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation after CAR-T; CART2 group, patients who received a second hCART19s infusion after CAR-T; CART1 group, patients who did not receive HSCT or a second hCART19s infusion; MRD, minimal residual disease; BM, bone marrow; a=CART+HSCT group vs. CART2 group; b= CART+HSCT group vs. CART1 group; c=CART2 group vs. CART1 group, c=CART2 group.

addition, all the patients developed B cell dysfunction, manifested as CD19+ B cell deletion and hypogammaglobulinemia. III–IV hematological toxicity and other adverse events are shown in **Table 2**.

The incidence of CRS after the second infusion was 7/7 (100%). No grade 3–5 CRS and neurotoxicity occurred in these patients.

Engraftment and GVHD

Ten patients received allo-HSCT after the first hCART19s infusion, with a median time of leukocyte engraftment of 15.5 days (range: 11–25) and platelet engraftment of 20 days (range: 12–36), respectively. All patients obtained a second CR. The incidence of second CR is higher in the CART+HSCT group compared to the CART2 group (100% *vs.* 42.9%, p=0.015) (**Figure 1**). One patient experienced grade 1–2 aGVHD, and

two patients experienced grade 3–4 aGVHD, with a median time of 40 days (range: 26–45). No patient experienced cGVHD.

Survival Outcome

At the cutoff (January 1, 2021), the median follow-up time was 1,240 days (95% CI, 709 to 1,770). Among the 10 patients receiving allo-HSCT, the median time from the first hCART19s infusion to transplantation was 63 days. The 1-year OS rates were 70.0% (95%CI, 33.0 to 90.2), 57.1% (95% CI, 17 to 85.1), and 36.4% (95% CI, 11.2 to 62.4) in the CART+HSCT, CART2, and CART1 groups, respectively. Patients in the CART+HSCT group had a higher OS than those in the CART1 group (p=0.0063, **Supplementary Figure 1A**) but did not differ from that in the CART2 group (p=0.0893, **Supplementary Figure 1B**). The 1-year LFS rates were 80.0% (95%CI 40.9 to 94.6), 28.6% (95% CI, 4.1 to





61.1), and 33.3% (95% CI, 4.6 to 67.6) in the CART+HSCT, CART2, and CART1 groups, respectively. Patients in the CART +HSCT group had a higher LFS than those in the CART1 group (p=0.018) and the CART2 group (p=0.0183) (**Supplementary Figures 1C, D**). OS and LFS in the CART1 and CART-2 groups did not differ significantly (p=0.2327, p=0.1818, respectively, **Supplementary Figures 1E, F**). When it comes to long-term survival, higher rates of long OS and LFS were achieved in the CART+HSCT group at 3 years compared to the CART2 group (58.3% vs. 0, p<0.001; 66.7% vs. 0, p<0.001) (**Figure 3**). Similar results were obtained when the CART+HSCT group was compared to the CART1 group (58.3% vs. 0, p<0.001; 66.7% vs. 0, p<0.001; 60.7% vs

In addition, three patients relapsed at 30, 44, and 399 days after allo-HSCT. For the CART2 group, the median time to first relapse was 189 days (range: 92 to 719). On the other hand, three patients gained CR after a second hCART19s infusion, of whose median time to second relapse was 92 days (range: 38–120). For

the CART1 group, the median time to relapse was 149 days (range: 30–449). Between the first hCART19s infusion and the second infusion, the median relapse time was much shorter after the second infusion (92 *vs.* 178, p=0.039) (**Figure 1**). Moreover, one patient relapsed with CD19 negative in the CART1 group and the CART2 group, respectively. All patients who relapsed were CD19 positive after CART+HSCT.

Considering all patients possessing positive MRD before hCART19s infusion, we used X-tile to determine the optimal cutoff value for MRD. The MRD cutoff value was with a maximum χ^2 log-rank value of 5.59 (p=0.017) (**Supplementary Figure 2**). Univariate analyses revealed that age, complex chromosome set, recurrence times, treatment times, volume, and the number of infused cells had no significant effects on OS and LFS. The disease burden significantly affected OS and LFS (**Figures 4A-D**). There was also a trend toward better OS (p=0.064) for patients with MRD-negative CR versus MRD-positive CR, even when no significant difference was obtained

TABLE 2 Treatment-emergent adverse events.							
Adverse events	All grades	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5	
CRS grade	27	14	5	3	4	1	
CRS, specific symptoms							
Fever	27	14	5	3	4	1	
Hypotension	11	0	4	2	4	1	
Hypoxemia	3	0	1	1	1	0	
Neurotoxicity	1	0	0	0	1	0	
Muscle weakness	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Nausea	3	1	0	0	2	0	
Vomiting	2	0	0	0	2	0	
Myalgias	1	1	0	0	0	0	
Lung infection	4	1	3	0	0	0	
Cerebral hemorrhage	1	0	0	0	1	0	
Laboratory abnormalities							
ALT increased	15	6	5	1	2	1	
Cr increased	1	0	1	0	0	0	
APTT prolonged	11	3	4	1	2	1	
Fib decreased	8	2	3	1	2	0	

ALT, aminotransferase; Cr, creatinine; APTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; Fib, fibrinogen.



(Figure 4E). Patients with MRD-negative CR achieved a longer LFS than those with MRD-positive CR (p=0.032) (Figure 4F). Candidate variables with a p value <0.1 on univariate analysis were included in multivariate analysis. In multivariate analyses, the proportion of BM blasts (HR 6.055; 95% CI 1.624–18.933; p=0.004) and receiving allo-HSCT (HR 0.250; 95% CI 0.068–0.915; p=0.036) were independent predictors for OS. MRD<65.6% at infusion (HR 7.905; 95% CI 1.016-61.505-0.977; p=0.048) and receiving HSCT (HR 0.139; 95% CI 0.031–0.619; p=0.010) were independent risk factors for LFS. This result showed that receiving HSCT is predictive of both OS and LFS than a second infusion of hCART19s (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Recently, results from clinical trials of CD19 CAR-T cell therapy have shown that patients with R/R B-ALL can achieve a high response rate; however, there is a high incidence of early relapse. We retrospectively analyzed the outcomes of patients treated with allo-HSCT or a second CAR-T cell infusion after CAR-T cell therapy, aiming at characterizing the safety and efficacy, and with a goal of identifying an optimal strategy after infusion of CAR-T cells.

The overall response rates of targeted CD19 CAR-T cells are 68%-93% in patients with R/R B-ALL (16, 17). In our study, the CR rate of R/R B-ALL after the first hCART19s infusion was 92.6% (25/27), which was comparable to the results in the previous study. CRS and CRES remain the major adverse events. Consist with early clinical trials, of whose incidence of severe CRS ranged from 26.67% (8/30) to 43.75% (7/16), the incidence of severe CRS after the first hCART19s infusion in our study were seven cases (25%). Only one (2.6%) developed CRES, and the clinical manifestation was epilepsy. The patient's symptoms were controlled after treatment with dexamethasone and antiepileptics. Some studies have shown that glucocorticoids may affect the efficacy of CAR-T cells and inhibit the proliferation of CAR-T cells. However, other studies reported the opposite results. Therefore, it is necessary to further explore whether glucocorticoids affect the efficacy of CAR-T cells.

Relapse remains a major obstacle after CAR-T cell therapy (18). Anagnostou et al. (19) and Lee et al. (17) reported recurrence rates of 43%-55% in patients achieving CR within 1 year after CAR-T cell treatment. The results of this study showed that the relapse rate in patients who did not receive allo-HSCT was 93.3% (14/15). Relapse can be divided into CD19 positive relapse and CD19 negative relapse, which may be attributed to CAR-T cell exhaust, loss, or mutation of target antigen. The possible mechanisms include growth of CD19negative cells, lineage switching, cellular gnawing, increased expression of (progressed death) PD-1 in leukemia cells, etc. Seven patients who relapsed after the first hCART19s infusion received a second hCART19s infusion. We identify statistically significant differences in CR rates between the first infusion and the second infusion, suggesting that the second infusion with CAR-T cells had less efficacy. Moreover, the median relapse time was much shorter after the second hCART19s infusion (92 vs. 178, p=0.039). This result suggests that the second infusion had less efficacy to obtain remission again and failed to achieve durable CR.

It remains to be clarified whether patients may benefit from allo-HSCT after CAR-T cell therapy (8, 16, 20, 21). Consistent with the findings of Hay et al. (8) and Jiang et al. (21), our results supported the fact that a consolidative allo-HSCT after CD19 CAR-T-cell therapy may prolong OS and LFS in patients with R/ R B-ALL. Specifically, 10 patients sequentially received allo-HSCT during the CR stage after the first hCART19s infusion, 6 of whom obtained long-term survival, with 1 patient's survival time reaching 4 years. It is well known that CAR-T cell therapy could achieve deep remission (MRD negative), potentially reverse chemotherapy resistance, and overcome adverse molecular genetic prognosis. However, there was still some recurrence. Moreover, HSCT has the effect of graft-versusleukemia (GVL), which could act as a cure for B-ALL, especially for patients with MRD-negative status before HSCT. In our study, the 1-year OS rates were 70.0%, 57.1%, and 36.4% in the CART+HSCT, CART2, and CART1 groups, respectively. For long-term follow-up, in our CAR-T+HSCT group, the OS rate at 3 years was 58.3% for patients with R/R B-ALL. Since we did not conduct HSCT only when patients were R/R B-ALL, we compared the data from other centers. Duval et al. (22) reported that the OS rate at 3 years was 16% for patients with R/R ALL.



FIGURE 4 | The influence of disease burden at infusion and MRD status after infusion on survival. (A) The OS rates of all patients according to the bone marrow (BM) blasts status at infusion. (B) The LFS rates of CR patients according to the BM blasts at infusion. (C) The OS rates of all patients according to the mRD status at infusion. (D) The LFS rates of CR patients according to the MRD status at infusion. (E) The OS rates of all 28 patients according to the MRD status after infusion (F) The LFS rates of 25 CR patients according to the MRD status after infusion.

TABLE 3 | Multivariate Cox regression analysis for OS and LFS of CR patients (n = 25).

Subgroup	HR	95% CI	Р
OS			
MRD [#] ≥65.6% <i>v</i> s < 65.6%	1.644	0.443-6.099	0.457
BM blasts [#] ≥20% <i>v</i> s <20%	6.055	1.624-18.933	0.004
MRD* positive vs negative	2.364	0.482-11.602	0.289
Group			0.109
CART1	reference		
CART2	0.556	0.193-1.600	0.276
CART+HSCT	0.250	0.068-0.915	0.036
LFS			
MRD [#] ≥65.6% <i>v</i> s < 65.6%	7.905	1.016-61.505	0.048
BM blasts [#] ≥20% <i>v</i> s <20%	1.950	0.554-6.867	0.310
MRD* positive vs negative	1.505	0.273-8.306	0.639
Group			0.031
CART1	reference		
CART2	0.290	0.068-1.235	0.904
CART+HSCT	0.139	0.031-0.619	0.010

OS, overall survival; LFS, leukemia-free survival; CART, Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell (CAR-T) therapy; ⁴before CAR-T therapy; *after CAR-T therapy; MRD, minimal residual disease; BM, bone marrow; CART+HSCT group, patients who received allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation after CAR-T; CART2 group, patients who received a second hCART19s infusion after CAR-T; CART1 group, patients who did not receive HSCT or a second hCART19s infusion. Bold values, statistical significance. Moreover, the mortality rate at 100 days after transplantation was 41% in ALL. Okamoto et al. (23) reported a 3-year OS of 22% in children and adolescents with nonremission ALL. We believe that combined CAR-T cell therapy and HSCT has a synergistic effect. Our data strongly suggest that allo-HSCT is needed to improve the durability of responses after CAR-T therapy. This was a preliminary retrospective clinical study, in which the treatment after the first CAR-T infusion was mainly determined by the disease state and willingness of patients, and thus there was a certain bias. Now, a prospective study of random control trial is warranted based on the clinical study.

In addition, the median time of neutrophil and platelet engraftment was 15.5 days (range: 11–25) and 20 days (range: 12–36), respectively; there was no significant prolongation compared with Luznik's study (24). At the same time, there was no increase in the incidence of aGVHD (30%) or extensive cGVHD (0%). These results suggest that bridging allo-HSCT after CAR-T cells infusion does not increase the risk of transplantation-related complications or the mortality related to transplantation.

There are also some shortcomings in this study. For example, the number of cases is small, and it is not a prospective study. The timing of transplantation can be further optimized. Further studies with more patients are needed to be conducted in the future. We recognized that it is possible that there is a survival advantage for HSCT because of a selection bias, which could skew the survival analysis in favor of the patients who got HSCT since the HSCT group would be selected for patients who had at least a frank relapse-free survival that exceeded the time to HSCT. Overall, the results of this study demonstrate that CAR-T therapy bridging to HSCT is a feasible, safe, and effective treatment for patients with R/R B-ALL.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study protocol was approved by the human studies review board at the Affiliated Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University

REFERENCES

- Oriol A, Vives S, Hernandez-Rivas JM, Tormo M, Heras I, Rivas C, et al. Outcome After Relapse of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Adult Patients Included in Four Consecutive Risk-Adapted Trials by the PETHEMA Study Group. *Haematologica* (2010) 95:589–96. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2009.014274
- Nguyen K, Devidas M, Cheng SC, La M, Raetz EA, Carroll WL, et al. Factors Influencing Survival After Relapse From Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Children's Oncology Group Study. *Leukemia* (2008) 22:2142–50. doi: 10.1038/leu.2008.251
- Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, et al. Efficacy and Toxicity Management of 19-28z CAR T Cell Therapy in B Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Sci Trans Med* (2014) 6:224ra225–224ra225. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008226

(ClinicalTrials.gov # NCT02782351). The clinical investigation was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All patients provided signed informed consent before the hCART19s therapy and allo-HSCT.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WS, JZ and KX designed the research; WC, YM, ZS, HC, and RM collected the data and designed the figures. DY, MS, XW, XS, CS, JC, HC, FZ, HS, DL and ZL analyzed and interrupted the results; WC wrote the first draft of manuscript. WS, WC, YM and ZS wrote the revised manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20171181 to WS and BK20161177 to WC); Key Young Medical Talents of Jiangsu Province (QNRC2016791 to WS); Social Development Key Project of Jiangsu Science and Technology Department (BE2019638 to WS.); Project of the Jiangsu Provincial Health and Family Planning Commission/ international (JSH-2017-008 to WC); China Postdoctoral Science Foundation project (2016M590507 and 2018T110557 to WC); Xuzhou clinical Backbone Training Project (2018GG006 to WC).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank numerous individuals who participated in this study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.755549/full#supplementary-material

- Yan Z, Cao J, Cheng H, Qiao J, Zhang H, Wang Y, et al. A Combination of Humanised Anti-CD19 and Anti-BCMA CAR T Cells in Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Multiple Myeloma: A Single-Arm, Phase 2 Trial. Lancet Haematol (2019) 6:9. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(19)30115-2
- Wang S, Wang X, Ye C, Cheng H, Shi M, Chen W, et al. Humanized CD19-Targeted Chimeric Antigen Receptor T (CAR-T) Cells for Relapsed/ Refractory Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Am J Hematol* (2021) 96:E162–5. doi: 10.1002/ajh.26123
- Cao J, Wang G, Cheng H, Wei C, Qi K, Sang W, et al. Potent Anti-Leukemia Activities of Humanized CD19-Targeted Chimeric Antigen Receptor T (CAR-T) Cells in Patients With Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Am J Hematol (2018) 93:851–8. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25108
- Pan J, Yang JF, Deng BP, Zhao XJ, Zhang X, Lin YH, et al. High Efficacy and Safety of Low-Dose CD19-Directed CAR-T Cell Therapy in 51 Refractory or

Relapsed B Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Patients. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:2587-93. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.145

- Hay KA, Gauthier J, Hirayama AV, Voutsinas JM, Wu Q, Li D, et al. Factors Associated With Durable EFS in Adult B-Cell ALL Patients Achieving MRD-Negative CR After CD19 CAR T-Cell Therapy. *Blood* (2019) 133:1652–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-883710
- Sun Y, Li S, Zhao X, Chang Y. Measurable Residual Disease of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Allograft Settings: How to Evaluate and Intervene. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2020) 20:453–64. doi: 10.1080/ 14737140.2020.1766973
- Zhao H, Wei J, Wei G, Luo Y, Shi J, Cui Q, et al. Pre-Transplant MRD Negativity Predicts Favorable Outcomes of CAR-T Therapy Followed by Haploidentical HSCT for Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Multi-Center Retrospective Study. J Hematol Oncol (2020) 13:42. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00873-7
- Chen YH, Zhang X, Cheng YF, Chen H, Mo XD, Yan CH, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy for Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia After Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Cytotherapy* (2020) 22:755–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2020.08.002
- Sotillo E, Barrett DM, Black KL, Bagashev A, Oldridge D, Wu G, et al. Convergence of Acquired Mutations and Alternative Splicing of CD19 Enables Resistance to CART-19 Immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov* (2015) 5:1282–95. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1020
- Gauthier J, Bezerra E, Hirayama A, Fiorenza S, Sheih A, Chou C, et al. Factors Associated With Outcomes After a Second CD19-Targeted CAR T-Cell Infusion for Refractory B-Cell Malignancies. *Blood* (2021) 137:323–35. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020006770
- 14. Zhang X, Yang J, Li J, Li W, Song D, Lu X, et al. Factors associated with treatment response to CD19 CAR-T therapy among a large cohort of B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer immunology, Immunotherapy: CII* (2021) in press.. doi: 10.1007/s00262-021-03009-z
- Ma Y, Zhang S, Fang H, Yu K, Jiang S. A Phase I Study of CAR-T Bridging HSCT in Patients With Acute CD19(+) Relapse/Refractory B-Cell Leukemia. Oncol Lett (2020) 20:20. doi: 10.3892/ol.2020.11881
- Park J, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran K, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of CD19 CAR Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *New Engl J Med* (2018) 378:449–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709919
- Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T Cells Expressing CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptors for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia in Children and Young Adults: A Phase 1 Dose-Escalation Trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385:517–28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61403-3
- Heng G, Jia J, Li S, Fu G, Wang M, Qin D, et al. Sustained Therapeutic Efficacy of Humanized Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Relapsed/ Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2020) 26:1606–15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-19-1339

- Anagnostou T, Riaz IB, Hashmi SK, Murad MH, Kenderian SS. Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy in Acute Lymphocytic Leukaemia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Lancet Haematol* (2020) 7:e816–26. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30277-5
- Bouziana S, Bouzianas D. Exploring the Dilemma of Allogeneic Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation After Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Therapy: To Transplant or Not? *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2020) 26:e183–91. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2020.04.003
- 21. Jiang H, Li C, Yin P, Guo T, Liu L, Xia L, et al. Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T-Cell Therapy Bridging to Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for Relapsed/Refractory B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: An Open-Label Pragmatic Clinical Trial. Am J Hematol (2019) 94:1113–22. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25582
- Duval M, Klein J, He W, Cahn J, Cairo M, Camitta B, et al. Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation for Acute Leukemia in Relapse or Primary Induction Failure. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2010) 28:3730–8. doi: 10.1200/jco.2010.28.8852
- Okamoto Y, Nakazawa Y, Inoue M, Watanabe K, Goto H, Yoshida N, et al. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation in Children and Adolescents With Nonremission Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2020) 67:e28732. doi: 10.1002/pbc.28732
- Luznik L, O'Donnell P, Fuchs E. Post-Transplantation Cyclophosphamide for Tolerance Induction in HLA-Haploidentical Bone Marrow Transplantation. Semin Oncol (2012) 39:683–93. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol. 2012.09.005

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Ma, Shen, Chen, Ma, Yan, Shi, Wang, Song, Sun, Cao, Cheng, Zhu, Sun, Li, Li, Zheng, Xu and Sang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





PiggyBac Transposon-Mediated **CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells Derived From CD45RA-Positive Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells** Possess Potent and Sustained **Antileukemic Function**

Masaya Suematsu¹, Shigeki Yagyu^{1*}, Nobuyoshi Nagao², Susumu Kubota³, Yuto Shimizu³, Miyuki Tanaka⁴, Yozo Nakazawa⁴ and Toshihiko Imamura¹

Japan, ⁴ Department of Pediatrics, Shinshu University School of Medicine, Nagano, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas Herrmann, Julius Maximilian University of Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Michael Hudecek, University Hospital Würzburg, Germany Jun Huang, University of Chicago, United States

> *Correspondence: Shigeki Yagyu shigeky@koto.kpu-m.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 September 2021 Accepted: 05 January 2022 Published: 27 January 2022

Citation:

Suematsu M, Yagyu S, Nagao N, Kubota S, Shimizu Y, Tanaka M, Nakazawa Y and Imamura T (2022) PiggyBac Transposon-Mediated CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells Derived From CD45RA-Positive Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Possess Potent and Sustained Antileukemic Function. Front. Immunol. 13:770132. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.770132

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kyoto, Japan, ² AGC Inc. Innovative Technology Laboratories, Yokohama, Japan, ³ AGC Inc. Materials Integration Laboratories, Yokohama,

The quality of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cell products, namely, memory and exhaustion markers, affects the long-term functionality of CAR-T cells. We previously reported that piggyBac (PB) transposon-mediated CD19 CAR-T cells exhibit a memoryrich phenotype that is characterized by the high proportion of CD45RA⁺/C-C chemokine receptor type 7 (CCR7)⁺ T-cell fraction. To further investigate the favorable phenotype of PB-CD19 CAR-T cells, we generated PB-CD19 CAR-T cells from CD45RA⁺ and CD45RA⁻ peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) (RA⁺ CAR and RA⁻ CAR, respectively), and compared their phenotypes and antitumor activity. RA+ CAR-T cells showed better transient gene transfer efficiency 24 h after transduction and superior expansion capacity after 14 days of culture than those shown by RA⁻ CAR-T cells. RA⁺ CAR-T cells exhibited dominant CD8 expression, decreased expression of the exhaustion marker programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) and T-cell senescence marker CD57, and enriched naïve/stem cell memory fraction, which are associated with the longevity of CAR-T cells. Transcriptome analysis showed that canonical exhaustion markers were downregulated in RA⁺ CAR-T, even after antigen stimulation. Although antigen stimulation could increase CAR expression, leading to tonic CAR signaling and exhaustion, the expression of CAR molecules on cell surface after antigen stimulation in RA⁺ CAR-T cells was controlled at a relatively lower level than that in RA⁻ CAR-T cells. In the *in vivo* stress test, RA⁺ CAR-T cells achieved prolonged tumor control with expansion of CAR-T cells compared with RA⁻ CAR-T cells. CAR-T cells were not detected in the control or RA⁻ CAR-T cells but RA⁺ CAR-T cells were expanded even after 50 days of treatment, as confirmed by sequential bone marrow aspiration. Our results suggest that PB-mediated RA⁺ CAR-T cells exhibit a memory-rich phenotype and superior antitumor function, thus

14

CD45RA⁺ PBMCs might be considered an efficient starting material for PB-CAR-T cell manufacturing. This novel approach will be beneficial for effective treatment of B cell malignancies.

Keywords: CAR-T cells, CD45RA, CAR-T cell therapy, piggyBac transposon, naïve/stem cell memory-like T cells

INTRODUCTION

Although chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cell therapies targeting CD19 have achieved spectacular success for B-cell malignancies, long-term remission occurs only in half of the patients with B-cell malignancies (1-6). Therefore, enhancing the long-term functionality of CAR-T cells without affecting their anti-tumor potency is important. Although the antitumor efficacy of CAR-T cells depends on various host factors, namely, the disease status or actively hostile tumor microenvironment, the recent clinical studies on CAR-T cell therapies have reported that the quality of CAR-T cell products, namely, T-cell memory signatures and exhaustion-related markers, is critical for the function and antitumor efficacy of CAR-T cell therapies (7-9). The presence of naïve and stem cell memory-like CAR-T cells in the final product is correlated with the response of CAR-T cell therapies in B-cell malignancies (7). Therefore, the manufacturing process of CAR-T cells should be optimized to prevent early T-cell exhaustion and to maintain the memory phenotype during the expansion step. Pre-activation of T cells by anti-CD3 and CD28 antibodies-an indispensable step for retroviral or lentiviral gene transfer into T cells-strongly induces T-cell differentiation and exhaustion; therefore, various efforts to obtain memory-rich CAR-T cells have been attempted, namely, the use of interleukin (IL)-7 and IL-15 cocktails instead of IL-2 or transient stimulation with anti-CD3 and CD28 antibodies (7, 10).

Non-viral gene transfer using *piggyBac* (PB) transposonbased genetic modifications is a potentially effective strategy for CAR-T cell manufacturing (11–16). Our previous study and also other studies have reported that PB-CAR-T cells exhibit an enriched memory fraction and less exhaustionrelated markers, regardless of the type of CAR constructs, electroporation conditions, or expansion protocols (17, 18). PB-CAR-T cells that redirected CD19, HER2, or ephrin type-B receptor 4 precursor (EPHB4) molecules were dominant in the naïve/stem cell memory-like T-cell fraction, which was characterized as CD45RA/C-C chemokine receptor type 7 (CCR7) double positive and is related to long-term functionality.

As the nature of T cells in the starting peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) materials affects the phenotype and function of CAR-T cells in the final product (19), the composition of the starting PBMC materials would contribute to the maintenance of the memory phenotype of PB-CAR-T cells in the final product. The phenotype of patient PBMCs might be greatly affected by other diseases or prior chemotherapeutic agents (19, 20), and is associated with the manufacturing success rate, phenotype, and functionality of autologous, patient-derived CAR-T cell products. Therefore, the optimization of the composition of starting PBMC materials would be important for the stable manufacturing of memoryrich PB-CAR-T cells. To improve the manufacturing success rate and the functions of CAR-T cells, previous studies have reported that the enrichment of whole T cells by elimination of monocytes and granulocytes from starting materials would improve T-cell activation and transduction efficiency during virally-engineered CAR-T cell processing (21–23); however, optimal PBMC subpopulations for PB-CAR-T cell processing are unknown. In this study, we aimed to generate PB-CD19 CAR-T cells using the subpopulations of PBMCs based on CD45RA expression and to investigate the usefulness of CD45RA positive PBMC subpopulation as the starting material for PB-CD19 CAR-T cell manufacturing.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine (Approval Numbers: ERB-C-669 and ERB-C-1406) and the recombinant DNA experiments were approved by the safety committee of the recombinant DNA experiment of Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine (Approval Numbers 2019-111 and 2019-112). All experiments involving human participants were performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki guidelines. All animal experiments and procedures were approved by the Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine Institutional Review Board (Permit No.: M2020-13).

Blood Donors and Cell Lines

Blood samples from healthy donors were obtained with a written informed consent, and PBMCs were isolated from the whole blood samples by density gradient centrifugation using Lymphocyte Separation Medium 1077 (FUJIFILM Wako Pure Chemical Corporation, Osaka, Japan), followed by multiple washes with Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (D-PBS; Nakarai Tesque, Kyoto, Japan). The number of live cells was determined by standard trypan blue staining and using an automated cell counter model R1 (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). The human lymphoblastic leukemia cell line (REH) was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). REH-expressing firefly luciferase (FFLuc) and green fluorescent protein (GFP) (REH-FFLuc-GFP) were obtained by introducing PB-based pIRII-FFLuc-puroR-GFP (18) in REH cells and subsequent fluorescent-activated cell sorting. REH and REH-FFLuc-GFP cells were cultured in

Roswell Park Memorial Institute-1640 medium (Nacalai Tesque) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc. Waltham, MA) and maintained in a humidified incubator at 37° C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

Plasmid Construction

The PB transposase plasmid, pCMV-piggyBac (24), which contained ~2.4 kb of transposase elements with identical 13 base pair (bp) terminal inverted repeats and additional asymmetric 19 bp internal repeats (25, 26), was artificially synthesized (Mediridge Co., Ltd, Tokyo, Japan). CAR construct for CD19- CAR-T cells which encodes the CD19 specific scFv, followed by a short hinge, the transmembrane and signaling domain of the costimulatory molecule CD28, and the ζ signaling domain of the TCR complex, was kindly provided from Dr. Cliona M. Rooney (Baylor College of Medicine) and was subcloned into pIRII transposon vector backbone (11) (pIRII-CD19-28z) as described previously (27). For the generation of antigen-presenting feeder cells for the stimulation of CD19-CAR-transduced T cells, we used a plasmid containing sequences encoding the extracellular, transmembrane, and 20 amino-acid-long intracellular portion of CD19 protein (tCD19) driven by CMV promoter, followed by CD80 and 4-1BBL (CD137L) with TA2 and P2A self-cleaving sites that enabled independent gene expression. The tCD19-CD80-4-1BBL sequence was artificially synthesized (Fasmac Inc., Kanagawa, Japan) and cloned into a pIRII PB transposon vector (pIRIItCD19-CD80-4-1BBL) (Supplementary Figure S1) (17, 18).

Manufacturing of PB-Mediated CAR-T Cells

CD45RA⁺ and CD45RA⁻ PBMCs were isolated by magnetic selection from the whole PBMCs using CD45RA MicroBeads, human (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) (Supplementary Figure S2A). The CD19-CAR transgene was then transduced into these cells using the PB transposon system, as described previously (17, 18). Briefly, pCMV-piggyBac (7.5 µg per 100 µl of electroporation buffer) and pIRII-CD19-28z (7.5 µg per 100 µl) (Supplementary Figure S1) were introduced into about 4×10^6 CD45RA⁺ or CD45RA⁻ PBMCs, respectively, using the P3 Primary Cell 4D-NucleofectorTM X kit (Lonza, Program; FI-115) or MaxCyte ATX[®] (MaxCyte Inc) with the optimized protocol for introduction of DNA plasmid into resting T cells (Protocol; RTC 14-3). Concurrently, an antigenpresenting feeder plasmid (pIRII-tCD19-CD80-41BBL; 15 µg per 100 µl) (Supplementary Figure S1) was introduced into approximately 1×10^6 whole PBMCs by electroporation. After electroporation, the CAR-T cells and feeder cells were cultured in complete culture medium consisting of ALySTM705 Medium (Cell Science & Technology Institute) supplemented with 5% artificial serum (Animal-free; Cell Science & Technology Institute), IL-7 (10 ng/ml; Miltenyi Biotec), and IL-15 (5 ng/ ml; Miltenvi Biotec). The feeder cells were irradiated with ultraviolet light for inactivation 24 h after electroporation and co-cultured with CAR-T cells for 14 days, as described previously (17, 18). CAR-T cells redirected to the EPHB4 receptor were

manufactured using the PB transposon system as described previously (17) for its use as the control CAR-T cells in the *in vivo* stress test (**Supplementary Figure S1**).

Flow Cytometry

Expression of CD19-CAR molecules on T-cell surface was measured by flow cytometry using the recombinant human CD19 Fc chimera protein (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) and goat anti-human immunoglobulin (Ig)-G Fc fragment specific antibody conjugated to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) (Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA). Allophycocyanin (APC) or phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated anti-CD3 antibody, FITC-conjugated anti-CD19 antibody, PE-conjugated anti-CD56 antibody, FITC-conjugated anti-CD15 antibody, APCconjugated anti-CD14 antibody, APC-conjugated anti-CD8 antibody, PE-conjugated CD4 antibody, PE-conjugated anti-CD45RA antibody, and APC-conjugated anti-CCR7 antibody (all from BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) were used to characterize the phenotypes of CAR-T cells. APC-conjugated anti-programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) antibody, APCconjugated anti-T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3 (TIM-3) antibody, Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated anti-CD223 (LAG-3) antibody, and Peridinin-Chlorophyll-Protein (PerCP)/ Cyanine5.5-conjugated anti-CD57 antibody were used as the exhaustion and senescence markers of CAR-T cells (all from BioLegend). FITC-conjugated anti-CD19 antibody was also used to determine the phenotype of REH cells. All flow cytometry data were acquired using BD AccuriTM C6 Plus or BD FACSCaliburTM (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ) and analyzed using the FlowJoTM software (BD Biosciences).

Transgene Copy Number Analysis

After 14 days of culture, 1×10^5 CAR-positive T cells were isolated using a Cell Sorter SH800 (SONY, Tokyo, Japan), and total DNA was then extracted using a QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). Quantitative PCR was carried out using the total DNA from 1×10^3 CAR-positive T cells (equivalent to 1 µl of DNA extract) and custom primer/ Taqman probe set specific for the CD19-CAR transgene at the junction of CD28 cytoplasmic domain and CD3 ζ by a 7500 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). To measure DNA copy number for absolute quantification, pIRII-CD19-CAR plasmid was used (**Supplementary Figure S3A**). The relevant primers and Taqman probe are shown (**Supplementary Table S1**).

Analysis of Exhaustion-Related Markers Expressed on T Cell Surface After Electroporation

The GFP plasmid was introduced into the whole PBMCs by electroporation using the same protocol as that used for CAR-T manufacturing. After electroporation, the GFP-introduced PBMCs were cultured in complete culture medium consisting of the same components used for CAR-T manufacturing. PBMCs without electroporation were cultured in the same medium and was used as the control. After 48 h of incubation, the expression of PD-1, TIM-3, and LAG-3 on T cell surface was analyzed by flow cytometry by gating GFP-positive and CD3-positive T cells.

Sequential Killing Assay

We co-cultured 1×10^5 REH cells and 1×10^5 CD19 CAR-T cells derived from CD45RA⁺ or CD45RA⁻ PBMC (RA⁺ CAR or RA⁻ CAR, respectively) in 24-well cell culture plates. Three days later, the CD19 CAR-T cells were collected, counted, and treated and reconstituted with fresh REH cells at a ratio of 1:1. Cell counting and treatment with fresh REH cells were repeated every three days for a total of three iterations. The killing effect of these CD19 CAR-T cells was evaluated by counting the number of residual REH cells by flow cytometry. The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI), exhaustion-related markers, cytokine production, and proliferation of the CAR-T cells were analyzed by flow cytometry.

Cytokine Production Assay

The levels of interferon (IFN)- γ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and IL-6 were measured using a Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) Kit (BD Biosciences). Briefly, CAR-T cells were co-cultured with tumor cells at a ratio of 1:1. After 3 days of co-culture, the cell culture supernatant was collected and cytokine levels were determined and analyzed. Data were acquired with a BD Accuri C6 Plus (BD Biosciences) and analyzed with FCAP Array v.3.0 (BD Biosciences).

CytoTell[™] Dilution Assay

We examined the proliferation of CAR-T-cells using CytoTellTM Red 650 (AAT Bioquest Inc) dye dilution after serial stimulation with tumor cells. Briefly, CAR-T cells were incubated with CytoTellTM Red 650 dye at 37°C for 30 min, and the dye working solution was removed. Then, the CAR-T cells were co-cultured with tumor cells at a ratio of 1:1 or without tumor cells (no stimulation). After 3 days of co-culture, the proliferation of CAR-T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry, and the experiments were repeated for serial three rounds of antigen stimulation.

IL-2-Dependent Proliferation Assay

We cultured $1 \times 10^{6} \text{ RA}^{+} \text{ CAR-T}$ or $\text{RA}^{-} \text{ CAR-T}$ cells in the presence or absence of IL-2 (final concentration; 100 IU/ml) in 24-well cell culture plates. IL-2 was supplemented weekly, and the numbers of live cells were determined every 7 days.

RNA-Sequencing and Bioinformatics Analysis

Total RNA was isolated from RA⁺ CAR-T cells and RA⁻ CAR-T cells after 14 days culture (these CAR-T cells were not sorted for CAR-positive population), with or without antigen stimulation, by co-culturing these cells with REH cells at an effector:target ratio of 1:1 for 3 days (RA⁺/Stimulation⁺, RA⁻/Stimulation⁺, RA⁺/Stimulation⁻, and RA⁻/Stimulation⁻, respectively), using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Venlo, Netherlands). The concentration of total RNA was measured using NanoDrop

2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Library preparation and highthroughput sequencing were performed using Eurofins Genomics (Ebersberg, Germany). In brief, mRNAs were enriched and their strand-specific library was prepared. Sequencing was performed using a NextSeq 500/550 system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) and NextSeq 500/550 Mid Output Kit v2.5 150 cycles (Illumina). Adapter sequences and low-quality reads were removed using fastp version 0.21.0 (28). Filtered reads were aligned to the human reference genome (GRCh38.p13) using STAR version 2.7.6a (29). Counts per gene and transcripts per million were calculated using RSEM version 1.3.3 (30). Calculation of counts per million and differential expression analysis were performed using edgeR version 3.32.0 R package (31) and R v4.0.3 environment (https://www.R-project.org/). Pathway analysis was performed using R package for the Reactome Pathway Analysis (32). Differential gene expression profiles between RA⁺ and RA⁻ CAR were also analyzed and visualized using Morpheus (https://software.broadinstitute.org/morpheus) and specific gene signatures related to T cell activation, exhaustion, and differentiation (33).

In Vivo Stress Test Using a Murine Systemic Tumor Model

Female 8-week-old NOD.Cg-*Prkdc^{scid}Il2rg^{tm1Wjl}*/SzJ (NSG) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA), and housed at the Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine for more than a week before starting the experiment. Food and water were provided ad libitum. REH-FFLuc-GFP cells suspended in D-PBS were infused into mice via the tail vein. Six days later, RA⁺ CAR-T, RA⁻ CAR-T, or irrelevant CAR-T cells, which redirected the EPHB4 receptor (17) as a control, were infused via the tail vein, and tumor burdens were monitored using the IVIS Lumina Series III system (PerkinElmer, Inc.). The regions of interest on the displayed images were quantified in photons per second (ph/s) using Living Image v2 (PerkinElmer, Inc.) as described previously (17). Bone marrow (BM) cells were obtained by sequential BM aspiration from tibias at several time points. The BM cells were stained with a PE-conjugated antihuman CD3 antibody and APC-conjugated anti-human PD-1 antibody (BioLegend), and the long-term persistence of human T cells was evaluated by flow cytometry. The mice were euthanized at predefined endpoints, under conditions that met the euthanasia criteria given by the Center for Comparative Medicine at the Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine.

Statistics

Statistical comparisons between two groups were determined by two-tailed parametric or non-parametric (Mann–Whitney *U*test) tests for unpaired data or by two-tailed paired Student's *t*test for matched samples. All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. The log-rank test was used to compare survival curves obtained using the Kaplan–Meier method. A Pvalue of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. All the statistical analyses were performed using the GraphPad Prism 9 software.

RESULTS

RA⁺ CAR-T Cells Exhibited Superior Transduction Efficiency and Expansion Capacity, Dominant CD8 Expression, Enriched Stem Cell Memory Fraction, and Lower Expression of Exhaustion-Related Markers Than RA⁻ CAR-T Cells

First, we isolated CD45RA⁺ or CD45RA⁻ subpopulations from whole PBMCs using human CD45RA-targeted magnetic separation. We observed two peaks of CD45RA high and negative populations in the lymphocyte fraction (Supplementary Figure S2A). By magnetic bead sorting, CD45RA⁺ and CD45RA⁻ PBMCs were efficiently separated with >98% of CD45RA positive cells in the CD45RA⁺ fraction and >93% of CD45RA negative cells in the CD45RA⁻ fraction (Supplementary Figure S2A). Both RA⁺ and RA⁻ PBMCs consisted of about 60% CD3-positive cells, and the rest of CD3negative cells were positive for CD56 in RA⁺ PBMCs, while CD56, CD14 and CD15 were negative in RA⁻ PBMCs (Supplementary Figure S2B). Moreover, electroporation did not greatly influence the CD3 positivity of both RA⁺ and RA⁻ PBMCs (Supplementary Figure S2C). Indeed, RA⁺ and RA⁻ PBMCs both contained approximately 40% CD3-negative cells, which included NK cells and other myeloid cells, but this percentage of these cells decreased at 24 h after electroporation and more decreased after 14 days. Based on this observation, CD3-negative T cells were likely destroyed during electroporation since the optimized protocol for introducing the DNA plasmid required a relatively high voltage. We then evaluated the transient gene transfer efficiency of CD19 CAR transgene into CD45RA⁺ or CD45RA⁻ PBMCs 24 h after electroporation. When the CD19 CAR transgene plasmid was introduced into unstimulated, magnetically sorted CD45RA⁺ or CD45RA⁻ PBMCs by electroporation, CD45RA⁺ PBMC subpopulation exhibited higher transient gene transfer efficiency than CD45RA⁻ PBMC subpopulation 24 h after electroporation (Figure 1A). Furthermore, CD19 CAR-T cells derived from CD45RA⁺ PBMCs (RA⁺ CAR-T) exhibited higher expansion capacity 14 days after culture compared with CD19 CAR-T cells derived from CD45RA⁻ PBMCs (RA⁻ CAR-T) (Figure 1B). After 14 days of expansion, we determined the CAR positivity, phenotype, and exhaustion-related marker PD-1 expression on these CAR-T cells by flow cytometry. RA⁺ CAR-T cells consisted of about 95% CD3-positive cells and a small number of CD3negative/CD56-positive NK cells, while RA⁻ CAR-T cells consisted of about 85% CD3-positive cells and about 13% CD3negative/CD56-positive cells, suggesting that residual NK cells could affect the immune function of these populations (Supplementary Figure S2D). Compared with RA⁻ CAR-T, RA⁺ CAR-T cells exhibited higher CAR positivity, lower expression of exhaustion-related marker PD-1 and T-cell senescence marker CD57 (34, 35), and enriched naïve/stem cell memory fraction, which were associated with the longevity of CAR-T cells (Figures 1C, D). The copy number of the integrated CAR transgene was calculated by qPCR, and these CAR-T cells had ~20 copies of the CAR transgene (16.5 \pm 1.1 in RA⁺ CAR-T

cells, 5.9 ± 0.3 in RA⁻ CAR-T cells, and 20.2 ± 1.3 in CD19 CAR-T cells derived from whole PBMCs (Supplementary Figure S3B)), which was consistent with the previous report (11). Furthermore, RA⁺ CAR-T cells were markedly CD8-dominant, whereas the CD4/8 ratio of both RA⁺ and RA⁻ PBMCs, the starting material, was CD4-dominant. These results suggest that CD8-positive stem cell-like T cells are primarily amplified in RA⁺ CAR-T cells (Supplementary Figure S1B). By contrast, RA⁻ CAR-T cells are CD4-dominant in the final product, which may be detrimental to CAR-T cell function as RA⁻ CAR-T cells may harbor more regulatory CD4 CAR-T cells. Other activation/exhaustionrelated markers such as TIM-3 and LAG-3 were highly expressed in both the types of CAR-T cells (Figure 1D), and this finding is consistent with that of previous studies on PB-CAR-T cells (14, 16-18, 36). As most PB-CAR-T cells were engineered by electroporation, we hypothesized that the high expression of TIM-3 and LAG-3 would be induced by the stimulation of electroporation. However, PBMCs 48 h after electroporation barely expressed PD-1, TIM-3, or LAG-3 on T cells (Supplementary Figure S3). Therefore, the expression of TIM-3 and LAG-3 but not PD-1 on CAR-T cells was induced during the incubation period and not by the stimulation of electroporation.

To further investigate the effect of RA⁺ CAR-T or RA⁻ CAR-T cells at the molecular level and to identify the pathways involved in the favorable phenotype of RA⁺ CAR-T cells, we performed genome-wide transcriptional profiling by focusing on immunogenic gene signatures. A total of 29 genes were identified with higher expression and 78 genes with lower expression in RA⁺ CAR-T cells compared with CD45RA⁻ CAR-T cells (Figure 1E). Reactome pathway analysis showed that the differential gene expression profiles observed in RA⁺ CAR-T cells were related to the non-canonical NF-KB pathway and costimulation by the CD28 family pathway; PD-1 signaling pathway was significantly downregulated in RA⁺ CAR-T cells (Figure 1F). Transcriptome profiling showed that RA⁺ CAR-T cells exhibited activated but less exhausted profiles characterized by the upregulation of T-cell activation-like markers including transcription factor 7 (TCF7), lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 (LEF1), CCR7, and IL7R and the downregulation of canonical exhaustion-related markers including PD-1, T-cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT), and Eomesodermin (EOMES) in RA⁺ CAR-T cells (33) (Figure 1G, left), even after antigen stimulation (Figure 1G, right). LAG3 expression was also downregulated in RA⁺ CAR-T cells, but flow cytometry results did not show statistical differences between RA⁺ and RA⁻ cells (Figure 1D). These gene expression analysis data suggest that RA⁺ CAR-T cells have an abundant naïve/memory phenotype even when stimulated by antigen-positive tumor cells, corroborating the phenotype of RA⁺ CAR-T cells assessed by flow cytometry.

Analysis of the Function of CAR-T Cells Using the *In Vitro* Serial Tumor Challenge Assay

To evaluate the antileukemic activity of RA^+ CAR-T and RA^- CAR-T cells, we performed the tumor re-challenge assay in



FIGURE 1 | CD45RA⁺ chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells showed better transient gene transfer efficiency and expansion capacity, dominant CD8 expression, enriched stem cell memory fraction, and less expression of exhaustion-related markers than CD45RA⁻ CAR-T cells. **(A)** The transient expression of CAR transgene 24 h after gene transfer (n = 3, 3 donors). **(B)** Number of CAR positive T cells at day 14 (n = 5, 3 donors). **(C)** Representative expression and phenotypes of CD19 CAR-T, and expression of exhaustion markers on CAR-T cells assessed by flow cytometry. The gating control (left, blue) for CAR expression showed CAR-T cells only, stained by anti-human IgG Fc fragment specific antibody conjugated to FITC, the gating of CAR expression (left, red) showed CAR-T cells combined with the recombinant human CD19 Fc chimera protein and secondary stained by anti-human IgG Fc fragment specific antibody conjugated to FITC. **(D)** The phenotype and exhaustion marker of CD19 CAR-T cells are represented (n = 3–6, 3 donors). **(E)** A volcano plot showing genes with adjusted FDR <0.05 that are differentially expressed in CD45RA⁺ CAR-T compared with CD45RA⁻ CAR-T. **(F)** Reactome pathway analysis showed that several gene pathways were significantly downregulated in CD45RA⁺ CAR-T cells compared with CD45RA⁻ CAR-T. Both red and blue circles showed downregulation of gene pathways in CD45RA⁺ CAR-T, and their colors represented adjusted p-values. **(G)** Transcriptome profiling about expression of T-cell activation genes (highlighted by red underline) and exhaustion genes (highlighted by blue underline) in CD45RA⁺ CAR-T and CD45RA⁻ CAR-T, before antigen stimulation (left) and after antigen stimulation (right). Row min denotes lowest Z-score and row max denotes highest Z-score. All data are presented as means ± standard deviation. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001.

which fresh REH cells were added to CAR-T cells every three days. Both the types of CAR-T cells achieved complete killing of REH cells even after multiple rounds of tumor re-challenge (**Figure 2A**). Interestingly, the expression of CAR molecules on the cell surface after antigen stimulation in RA⁺ CAR-T cells was controlled at a relatively lower level than that in RA⁻ CAR-T cells (**Figure 2B**), which suggested less tonic CAR signaling and exhaustion of RA⁺ CAR-T cells compared with RA⁻ CAR-T cells (37, 38). PD-1 expression in RA⁺ CAR-T cells was lower than that in RA⁻ CAR-T cells during multiple rounds of antigen stimulation (**Figure 2C**). In contrast, the expression of LAG-3 was similar in RA⁺ CAR-T and RA⁻ CAR-T cells, whereas TIM-3

expression in RA⁺ CAR-T cells was higher than that in RA⁻ CAR-T cells; these expressions gradually decreased during multiple rounds of antigen stimulation in RA⁺ CAR-T and RA⁻ CAR-T cells, and relatively high expression of TIM-3 and LAG-3 did not impair the killing efficacy of CAR-T cells (**Figure 2C**). We also evaluated the production of inflammatory cytokines in the cell culture supernatant in response to serial co-culture with tumor cells. The secretion of IFN- γ was higher in RA⁺ CAR-T cells than in RA⁻ CAR-T cells, although transcriptome profiling showed that IFNG expression has been already downregulated in RA⁺ CAR-T cells on day 3 of co-culture with tumor cells (**Figure 1G**). Interestingly, the levels



sequential co-culture. Representative dot plots are shown. (B) Relative CAR mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) (MFI = 1, before co-culture) of CAR-T cells during sequential co-culture (n = 3). CAR MFI of CAR-T cells were calculated after gating on the CAR positive population. (C) The expression of PD-1, TIM-3, and LAG-3 on CAR-T cells during sequential co-culture (n = 3). (D) The level of cytokines in the co-culture supernatant containing CAR-T cells with REH cells after sequential co-culture (n = 3). (E) Cell division of CAR-T cells upon repeated REH cells stimulations or no stimulation. All data are presented as means \pm standard deviation. *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.0001. PD-1, programmed cell death protein-1; TIM-3, T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3.

of TNF and IL-6 were significantly lower in RA⁺ CAR-T cells than in RA⁻ CAR-T cells (**Figure 2D**). Furthermore, the proliferation of RA⁺ CAR-T and RA⁻ CAR-T cells during serial stimulation was evaluated by CytoTellTM dye dilution with tumor cells. Although RA⁻ CAR-T cells proliferated faster than RA⁺ CAR-T cells without stimulation, there was no significant difference between the proliferation of RA⁺ CAR-T cells and that of RA⁻ CAR-T cells after serial tumor stimulation (**Figure 2E**). Notably, the proliferation of both RA⁺ and RA⁻ CAR-T cells did not occur spontaneously, but was dependent on

antigen stimulation or cytokine supplementation, as confirmed by an IL-2-dependent proliferation assay (**Supplementary Figure S4**), indicating no disordered proliferative potential in these cells.

RA⁺ CAR-T Cells Showed Better Tumor Control With Long-Term Expansion of CAR-T Cells Than RA⁻ CAR-T Cells or Unsorted CAR-T Cells in *In Vivo* Stress Test

To evaluate the in vivo antitumor efficacy of RA⁺ CAR-T and RA⁻ CAR-T cells, we performed the *in vivo* stress test in which CAR-T cell dosage was lowered to the functional limits, so that these CAR-T cells were maintained and expanded in vivo to achieve antitumor efficacy. Because CAR expression in RA⁺ CAR-T and RA⁻ CAR-T cells was not exactly the same, we injected 1×10^5 CAR-positive T cells in each group. RA⁺ CAR-T cells induced greater tumor reduction and prolonged median survival than those of RA⁻ CAR-T cells (Figures 3A-C). On day15, bone marrow in the RA⁺ CAR group exhibited abundant human CD3 positive T cells with lower expression of PD-1 and a relatively smaller number of REH cells than that in the RA⁻ CAR group (Figure 3D). Furthermore, in two of the long-lived mice in the RA⁺ CAR group, human CD3⁺ T cells were expanded even after 50 days of treatment as confirmed by sequential bone marrow studies (Figure 3E), which indicated antigen-induced proliferation and long-term functionality of RA⁺ CAR-T cells in vivo. The gating strategy of the bone marrow study was shown in Supplementary Figure S5.

To evaluate whether the selection of CD45RA⁺ PBMCs as a starting material would facilitate highly effective PB-CAR-T cell manufacturing, we performed the *in vivo* stress test in RA⁺ CAR-T and PB-CD19 CAR-T from unsorted (both CD45RA⁺ and CD45RA⁻) PBMCs (unsorted CAR-T). We infused 1×10^6 REH-FFLuc cells into NSG mice *via* the tail vein, and six days later, 1×10^5 CAR-positive T cells were infused into each group. RA⁺ CAR-T cells achieved greater tumor reduction and prolonged median survival than unsorted CAR-T cells (**Figures 4A-C**). Sequential bone marrow studies in the RA⁺ CAR group showed abundant human CD3 positive T cells with lower expression of PD-1 on day 15 (**Figure 4D**), lower expression of PD-1 in human CD3 positive T cells, and a relatively smaller number of REH cells than the unsorted CAR group (**Figure 4E**).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we generated PB-CD19 CAR-T cells using magnetically-isolated CD45RA⁺ and CD45RA⁻ PBMCs as the starting materials. We found that CD45RA⁺ PBMCs were susceptible to the introduction of CAR transgene by electroporation, and RA⁺ CAR-T cells exhibited superior expansion capacity than RA⁻ CAR-T Cells. RA⁺ CAR-T cells were less vulnerable to T-cell exhaustion-related markers by multiple antigen stimulation, as evidenced by genome-wide transcriptome profiling, and RA⁺ CAR-T cells demonstrated

prolonged tumor control than RA⁻ CAR-T cells or even bulk CAR-T cells from unsorted PBMC in the *in-vivo* stress test. Therefore, CD45RA-positive PBMC selection from PBMCs starting from PB-CAR-T cell manufacturing would be important to improve the efficacy of the therapy.

Tonic-antigen stimulated or antigen-independent early T-cell exhaustion greatly impairs the function of CAR-T cells. Previous studies have shown that retrovirally-engineered CAR-T cells exhibit strong in vitro killing activity; however, the cells exhaust soon and fail to control tumor growth (38-40). In the clinical setting, differentiation and exhaustion profiles of T cells in the final products are associated with their clinical response and antitumor efficacy (8, 9). Various modifications reported in CAR-T engineering to prevent early T-cell exhaustion are as follows: use of endogenic promoters for stable expression of the CAR transgene (37), use of a combination of internal ribosome entry site constructs into the CAR transgene to reduce CARtransgene expression (40), or modification of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs in the CD3 ζ chain (41). The PBtransposon system is an effective and adaptable tool for transgene delivery as an alternative for viral vectors, not only because of its cost-effectiveness and simple T-cell engineering process (42) but also the preferred T-cell phenotype and less exhausted profiles (16-18). Indeed, the present study and other studies have reported that PB-CAR-T cells exhibit a memory-rich CAR-T cell phenotype regardless of the target antigen or the manufacturing procedure; these CAR-T cells long-lived when infused in the tumor-bearing murine model and exhibited prolonged antitumor potency (17, 18). In the present study, PB-transgenes were preferentially introduced into CD45RA⁺ PBMCs, and the memory-rich CD19 CAR-T cells were preferably enriched by PB-based manufacturing, which would be associated with the long-term functionality of PB-CAR-T cells. Indeed, IFN- γ in RA⁺ CAR-T cells was greatly increased by antigen stimulation, and thus IFN- γ reached a high level 3 days after stimulation (Figure 2D). However, the activation of RA⁺ CAR-T cells was transient and soon normalized, as evidenced by the downregulation of the IFN gene in RA⁺ cells (Figure 1G). These results suggest that RA⁺ CAR-T cells are not overactivated by antigen stimulation which would be related to the lower expression of immune exhaustion-related markers and long-term functionality.

PD-1 is an important exhaustion-related marker expressed on CAR-T cells that limits their function (43); CAR-T cell therapy combined with PD-1 blockade can be a potential strategy in cancer treatment (44–47). In this study, RA⁺ CAR-T cells scarcely expressed PD-1, even after multiple rounds of antigen stimulation. In contrast, other canonical exhaustion-related markers such as TIM-3 and LAG-3 were highly expressed in both RA⁺ and RA⁻ CAR-T cells, although their expression gradually decreased during antigen stimulation. Genome-wide transcriptome profiling showed that RA⁺ CAR-T cells, despite of highly expressed TIM-3 and LAG-3, exhibited enriched expression of memory-T cell-like genes and less exhausted profiles. TIM-3 was initially identified as a molecule expressed by dysregulated, chronically-activated T cells and is generally



FIGURE 3 | CD45RA⁺ chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells achieved prolonged tumor control with long-term expansion of CAR-T cells *in vivo*. We infused 5×10^5 REH-FFLuc cells into NSG mice *via* the tail vein. Six days later, 1×10^5 RA⁺ CAR-T, RA⁻ CAR-T, or control (EPHB4) CAR-T positive cells were infused into the tail vein of each mouse. (A) Bioluminescence images of groups of five NSG mice after intravenous CAR-T cell infusion. (B) The tumor volumes of each mouse measured as total flux (p/s) are shown. The CD45RA⁺ CAR-T group showed a statistically significant tumor reduction, measured as the mean total flux at day 28, compared with the CD45RA⁻ CAR-T group. (C) The Kaplan–Meier plot of overall survival (each group, n = 5). The CD45RA⁺ CAR-T group achieved prolonged tumor control compared with the CD45RA⁻ CAR-T group. Log-rank test: *P < 0.05. (D) On day 15 after CAR-T cell injection, bone marrow analysis showed CAR-T cells (left), REH cells (middle), and PD-1 expression on CAR-T cells (right) by flow cytometry. (E) In most long-lived mice infused with RA⁺ CAR-T cells, CAR-T cells, and REH cells in the bone marrow of mice on days 15, 25, and 50. Representative dot plot data are shown. All data are presented as mean ± standard deviation. *P < 0.05.

considered to be a T-cell inhibitory protein (48, 49). However, the recent studies have indicated that TIM-3 exerts paradoxical costimulatory effect on T cells, including enhancement of the phosphorylation of ribosomal S6 protein, which is present downstream of T-cell receptor signaling (50, 51). We did not investigate the co-stimulatory function of TIM-3 on PB-CAR-T cells; however, based on the *in vitro* and *in vivo* potency of TIM-3 positive RA⁺ CAR-T cells, the high expression of TIM-3 and LAG-3 on PB-CAR-T cell surface might not induce exhaustion which could impair the function of PB-CAR-T cells.

The expression profiles of several cell surface molecules are associated with the memory phenotype. We selected CD45RA as the marker for starting material selection, because clinical-grade CD45RA (or CD45RO) selection has been established and already used in the clinical setting (52). Therefore, the isolation of CD45RA⁺ PBMC from the leukapheresis product could be easily translated into the clinical setting for PB-CAR-T cell manufacturing. Nevertheless, other memory-related T-cell surface molecules-positive PBMCs, such as CCR7 or CD62Lpositive PBMCs, may also be potential starting materials for PB-CAR-T cell manufacturing. Moreover, previous studies have



FIGURE 4 | CD45RA⁺ chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells achieved prolonged tumor control than unsorted CAR-T cells *in vivo* stress test. We infused 1×10^{6} REH-FFLuc cells into NSG mice *via* the tail vein. Six days later, 1×10^{5} RA⁺ CAR-T (n = 6), unsorted CAR-T (n = 6), or control (EPHB4) CAR-T (n = 3) positive cells were infused into the tail vein of each mouse. **(A)** Bioluminescence images of groups of NSG mice after intravenous CAR-T cell infusion. **(B)** The tumor volumes of each mouse measured as total flux (p/s) are shown. The CD45RA⁺ CAR-T group showed a statistically significant tumor reduction, measured as the mean total flux at day 22, compared with the unsorted CAR-T group. **(C)** The Kaplan–Meier plot of overall survival. The CD45RA⁺ CAR-T group achieved prolonged tumor control compared with the unsorted CAR-T group. Log-rank test: *P < 0.05. **(D)** On day 15 after CAR-T cell injection, bone marrow analysis showed CAR-T cells (right) by flow cytometry. **(E)** On day 25 after CAR-T cell injection, bone marrow analysis showed CAR-T cells (left), REH cells (middle), and PD-1 expression on CAR-T cells (right) by flow cytometry. All data are presented as mean ± standard deviation. *P < 0.05.

reported that a specific formulation of post-manufactured CAR-T cell products would enhance antitumor efficacy (53); however, the cellular preparation of starting materials or postmanufacturing products has not been optimized yet. Nevertheless, CD45RA-positive selection of starting PBMCs would be beneficial in reducing the risk of manufacturing failure, which sometimes occurs in the clinical setting.

In a recent clinical trial conducted in Australia, two patients developed PB-mediated CAR-T cell-derived lymphoma (54). Although the researchers did not find transgene incorporation into known oncogenes and could not identify a unifying pathogenic mechanism, they determined a relatively high CAR transgene copy number in the malignancies and insertion of the CAR transgene into the BACH2 locus in both malignancies. The PB transposase they used was called "hyperactive PB", which was

engineered to have a higher incorporation capacity and therefore would be related to the insertional mutagenesis. In the present study, we used an originally-developed PB transposase (24), and the copy number of the CAR transgene was relatively low compared to data from patients who developed lymphoma in a previous clinical trial (54). Nevertheless, there have been a number of clinical trials of CAR-T cells using hyperactive PB systems, but no malignant transformation has been reported except in a recent trial (54). It is also possible that the incorporation profile of CAR transgene may affect the malignant transformation. We did not evaluate the integration profile of CAR-T cells on a genome-wide basis, which is a limitation of our study. Similar to genetic manipulation by retroviruses, PB-mediated genetic modification is executed nonrandomly in terms of integration sites, such as by favoring integration near the transcription start site (24). In fact, a previous report demonstrated that the transgene profile of PBmediated CAR-T cells generated by the exactly the same PB system that we used is similar to that of clinically accepted retroviral CAR-T cells (55). These suggested that not only the PB system but also the entire manufacturing processes, including plasmid and manufacturing reagents, or the patients background, might have contributed to malignant transformation in the previous clinical trial (54). Therefore, the safety of genetically modified T cells, including the long-term toxicity, should be thoroughly evaluated before clinical application.

In conclusion, PB-mediated RA⁺ CAR-T cells exhibited a memory-rich phenotype and superior antitumor function *in vivo*, thereby indicated that the selection of CD45RA⁺ PBMCs as a starting material would be useful for efficient PB-CAR-T cell manufacturing. The development of clinical grade and automatic cell isolation technologies may further facilitate genetically modified T-cell engineering with greater functionality and simplicity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine Institutional Review Board.

REFERENCES

- Shah NN, Lee DW, Yates B, Yuan CM, Shalabi H, Martin S, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of CD19-CAR T-Cell Therapy in Children and Young Adults With B-ALL. J Clin Oncol (2021) 39(15):1650–9. doi: 10.1200/jco.20.02262
- Gardner RA, Finney O, Annesley C, Brakke H, Summers C, Leger K, et al. Intent-To-Treat Leukemia Remission by CD19 CAR T Cells of Defined Formulation and Dose in Children and Young Adults. *Blood* (2017) 129 (25):3322–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769208
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults With B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2018) 378(5):439–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709866
- Hay KA, Gauthier J, Hirayama AV, Voutsinas JM, Wu Q, Li D, et al. Factors Associated With Durable EFS in Adult B-Cell ALL Patients Achieving MRD-Negative CR After CD19 CAR T-Cell Therapy. *Blood* (2019) 133(15):1652– 63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-883710
- Park JH, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of CD19 CAR Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 378(5):449–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709919
- Zhang X, Lu XA, Yang J, Zhang G, Li J, Song L, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Anti-CD19 CAR T-Cell Therapy in 110 Patients With B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia With High-Risk Features. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4 (10):2325–38. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001466

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization, SY. Methodology, MS, SY, NN, SK, YS, and MT. Investigation, MS, SY, NN, SK, and YS. Writing, Original Draft, MS and SY. Writing, Review & Editing, MS, SY, and TI. Funding Acquisition, SY. Resources, SY and TI. Supervision, SY, YN, and TI. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) (18ck0106413h0001) and the JSPS KAKENHI (17K07224).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge Dr. Peter Gee and Dr. Masahisa Oishi for their scientific advice and support with regard to the optimization of the electroporation protocol; Ms. Kumiko Yamashima and Ms. Mami Kotoura for their valuable technical assistance; and Ms. Mika Tanimura and Ms. Ryoko Murata for their secretarial assistance. The authors also thank Editage (http://www.editage.com) for proofreading, editing, and reviewing the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 770132/full#supplementary-material

- Xu Y, Zhang M, Ramos CA, Durett A, Liu E, Dakhova O, et al. Closely Related T-Memory Stem Cells Correlate With *In Vivo* Expansion of CAR.CD19-T Cells and are Preserved by IL-7 and IL-15. *Blood* (2014) 123(24):3750–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-552174
- Fraietta JA, Lacey SF, Orlando EJ, Pruteanu-Malinici I, Gohil M, Lundh S, et al. Determinants of Response and Resistance to CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cell Therapy of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):563–71. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0010-1
- Deng Q, Han G, Puebla-Osorio N, Ma MCJ, Strati P, Chasen B, et al. Characteristics of Anti-CD19 CAR T Cell Infusion Products Associated With Efficacy and Toxicity in Patients With Large B Cell Lymphomas. *Nat Med* (2020) 26(12):1878–87. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1061-7
- Kagoya Y, Nakatsugawa M, Ochi T, Cen Y, Guo T, Anczurowski M, et al. Transient Stimulation Expands Superior Antitumor T Cells for Adoptive Therapy. JCI Insight (2017) 2(2):e89580. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.89580
- Nakazawa Y, Huye LE, Dotti G, Foster AE, Vera JF, Manuri PR, et al. Optimization of the PiggyBac Transposon System for the Sustained Genetic Modification of Human T Lymphocytes. *J Immunother* (2009) 32(8):826–36. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181ad762b
- Nakazawa Y, Huye LE, Salsman VS, Leen AM, Ahmed N, Rollins L, et al. PiggyBac-Mediated Cancer Immunotherapy Using EBV-Specific Cytotoxic T-Cells Expressing HER2-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(12):2133–43. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.131

- Nakazawa Y, Saha S, Galvan DL, Huye L, Rollins L, Rooney CM, et al. Evaluation of Long-Term Transgene Expression in Piggybac-Modified Human T Lymphocytes. J Immunother (2013) 36(1):3–10. doi: 10.1097/ CJI.0b013e3182791234
- 14. Bishop DC, Xu N, Tse B, O'Brien TA, Gottlieb DJ, Dolnikov A, et al. PiggyBac-Engineered T Cells Expressing CD19-Specific CARs That Lack IgG1 Fc Spacers Have Potent Activity Against B-ALL Xenografts. *Mol Ther* (2018) 26(8):1883–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.007
- Ramanayake S, Bilmon I, Bishop D, Dubosq MC, Blyth E, Clancy L, et al. Low-Cost Generation of Good Manufacturing Practice-Grade CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Expressing T Cells Using Piggybac Gene Transfer and Patient-Derived Materials. *Cytotherapy* (2015) 17(9):1251–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.05.013
- Morita D, Nishio N, Saito S, Tanaka M, Kawashima N, Okuno Y, et al. Enhanced Expression of Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor in Piggybac Transposon-Engineered T Cells. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2018) 8:131–40. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2017.12.003
- Kubo H, Yagyu S, Nakamura K, Yamashima K, Tomida A, Kikuchi K, et al. Development of non-Viral, Ligand-Dependent, EPHB4-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells for Treatment of Rhabdomyosarcoma. *Mol Ther Oncolyt* (2021) 20:646–58. doi: 10.1016/j.omto.2021.03.001
- Nakamura K, Yagyu S, Hirota S, Tomida A, Kondo M, Shigeura T, et al. Autologous Antigen-Presenting Cells Efficiently Expand Piggybac Transposon CAR-T Cells With Predominant Memory Phenotype. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2021) 21:315–24. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2021.03.011
- Das RK, Vernau L, Grupp SA, Barrett DM. Naïve T-Cell Deficits at Diagnosis and After Chemotherapy Impair Cell Therapy Potential in Pediatric Cancers. *Cancer Discovery* (2019) 9(4):492–9. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.Cd-18-1314
- Singh N, Perazzelli J, Grupp SA, Barrett DM. Early Memory Phenotypes Drive T Cell Proliferation in Patients With Pediatric Malignancies. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8(320):320ra323. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad5222
- Noaks E, Peticone C, Kotsopoulou E, Bracewell DG. Enriching Leukapheresis Improves T Cell Activation and Transduction Efficiency During CAR T Processing. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2021) 20:675–87. doi: 10.1016/ j.omtm.2021.02.002
- Stroncek DF, Ren J, Lee DW, Tran M, Frodigh SE, Sabatino M, et al. Myeloid Cells in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Concentrates Inhibit the Expansion of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *Cytotherapy* (2016) 18 (7):893–901. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.04.003
- Stroncek DF, Lee DW, Ren J, Sabatino M, Highfill S, Khuu H, et al. Elutriated Lymphocytes for Manufacturing Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. J Transl Med (2017) 15(1):59. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1160-5
- Wilson MH, Coates CJ, George AL Jr. PiggyBac Transposon-Mediated Gene Transfer in Human Cells. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15(1):139–45. doi: 10.1038/ sj.mt.6300028
- Fraser MJ, Cary L, Boonvisudhi K, Wang HG. Assay for Movement of Lepidopteran Transposon IFP2 in Insect Cells Using a Baculovirus Genome as a Target DNA. Virology (1995) 211(2):397–407. doi: 10.1006/viro.1995.1422
- 26. Fraser MJ, Ciszczon T, Elick T, Bauser C. Precise Excision of TTAA-Specific Lepidopteran Transposons Piggybac (IFP2) and Tagalong (TFP3) From the Baculovirus Genome in Cell Lines From Two Species of Lepidoptera. *Insect Mol Biol* (1996) 5(2):141–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2583.1996.tb00048.x
- Saha S, Nakazawa Y, Huye LE, Doherty JE, Galvan DL, Rooney CM, et al. Piggybac Transposon System Modification of Primary Human T Cells. J Vis Exp (2012) 69):e4235. doi: 10.3791/4235
- Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. Fastp: An Ultra-Fast All-in-One FASTQ Preprocessor. *Bioinformatics* (2018) 34(17):i884–90. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ bty560
- Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, et al. STAR: Ultrafast Universal RNA-Seq Aligner. *Bioinformatics* (2013) 29(1):15–21. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts635
- Li B, Dewey CN. RSEM: Accurate Transcript Quantification From RNA-Seq Data With or Without a Reference Genome. *BMC Bioinf* (2011) 12:323. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-12-323
- Robinson MD, McCarthy DJ, Smyth GK. Edger: A Bioconductor Package for Differential Expression Analysis of Digital Gene Expression Data. *Bioinformatics* (2010) 26(1):139–40. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp616

- 32. Yu G, He QY. ReactomePA: An R/Bioconductor Package for Reactome Pathway Analysis and Visualization. *Mol Biosyst* (2016) 12(2):477–9. doi: 10.1039/c5mb00663e
- Miller BC, Sen DR, Al Abosy R, Bi K, Virkud YV, LaFleur MW, et al. Subsets of Exhausted CD8(+) T Cells Differentially Mediate Tumor Control and Respond to Checkpoint Blockade. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20(3):326–36. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0312-6
- 34. Brenchley JM, Karandikar NJ, Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Hill BJ, Crotty LE, et al. Expression of CD57 Defines Replicative Senescence and Antigen-Induced Apoptotic Death of CD8+ T Cells. *Blood* (2003) 101(7):2711–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-07-2103
- Palmer BE, Blyveis N, Fontenot AP, Wilson CC. Functional and Phenotypic Characterization of CD57+CD4+ T Cells and Their Association With HIV-1-Induced T Cell Dysfunction. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(12):8415–23. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.175.12.8415
- 36. Hasegawa A, Saito S, Narimatsu S, Nakano S, Nagai M, Ohnota H, et al. Mutated GM-CSF-Based CAR-T Cells Targeting CD116/CD131 Complexes Exhibit Enhanced Anti-Tumor Effects Against Acute Myeloid Leukaemia. *Clin Transl Immunol* (2021) 10(5):e1282. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1282
- Eyquem J, Mansilla-Soto J, Giavridis T, van der Stegen SJ, Hamieh M, Cunanan KM, et al. Targeting a CAR to the TRAC Locus With CRISPR/Cas9 Enhances Tumour Rejection. *Nature* (2017) 543(7643):113–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21405
- Long AH, Haso WM, Shern JF, Wanhainen KM, Murgai M, Ingaramo M, et al. 4-1BB Costimulation Ameliorates T Cell Exhaustion Induced by Tonic Signaling of Chimeric Antigen Receptors. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(6):581–90. doi: 10.1038/nm.3838
- Tanaka M, Tashiro H, Omer B, Lapteva N, Ando J, Ngo M, et al. Vaccination Targeting Native Receptors to Enhance the Function and Proliferation of Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR)-Modified T Cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(14):3499–509. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-16-2138
- Gomes-Silva D, Mukherjee M, Srinivasan M, Krenciute G, Dakhova O, Zheng Y, et al. Tonic 4-1bb Costimulation in Chimeric Antigen Receptors Impedes T Cell Survival and Is Vector-Dependent. *Cell Rep* (2017) 21(1):17–26. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.015
- Feucht J, Sun J, Eyquem J, Ho YJ, Zhao Z, Leibold J, et al. Calibration of CAR Activation Potential Directs Alternative T Cell Fates and Therapeutic Potency. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(1):82–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0290-5
- Morgan RA. Faster, Cheaper, Safer, T-Cell Engineering. J Immunother (2013) 36(1):1–2. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182791257
- 43. Moon EK, Wang LC, Dolfi DV, Wilson CB, Ranganathan R, Sun J, et al. Multifactorial T-Cell Hypofunction That is Reversible can Limit the Efficacy of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Transduced Human T Cells in Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(16):4262–73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-13-2627
- 44. Li S, Siriwon N, Zhang X, Yang S, Jin T, He F, et al. Enhanced Cancer Immunotherapy by Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells Engineered to Secrete Checkpoint Inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(22):6982–92. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-17-0867
- Cherkassky L, Morello A, Villena-Vargas J, Feng Y, Dimitrov DS, Jones DR, et al. Human CAR T Cells With Cell-Intrinsic PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade Resist Tumor-Mediated Inhibition. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(8):3130–44. doi: 10.1172/jci83092
- 46. Gargett T, Yu W, Dotti G, Yvon ES, Christo SN, Hayball JD, et al. GD2-Specific CAR T Cells Undergo Potent Activation and Deletion Following Antigen Encounter But can be Protected From Activation-Induced Cell Death by PD-1 Blockade. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24(6):1135–49. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.63
- 47. Chong EA, Melenhorst JJ, Lacey SF, Ambrose DE, Gonzalez V, Levine BL, et al. PD-1 Blockade Modulates Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR)-Modified T Cells: Refueling the CAR. *Blood* (2017) 129(8):1039–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-09-738245
- Wolf Y, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK. TIM3 Comes of Age as an Inhibitory Receptor. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(3):173–85. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0224-6
- Avery L, Filderman J, Szymczak-Workman AL, Kane LP. Tim-3 Co-Stimulation Promotes Short-Lived Effector T Cells, Restricts Memory Precursors, and is Dispensable for T Cell Exhaustion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2018) 115(10):2455–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1712107115
- Dixon KO, Tabaka M, Schramm MA, Xiao S, Tang R, Dionne D, et al. TIM-3 Restrains Anti-Tumour Immunity by Regulating Inflammasome Activation. *Nat* (2021) 595:101–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03626-9

- 51. Kataoka S, Manandhar P, Lee J, Workman CJ, Banerjee H, Szymczak-Workman AL, et al. The Costimulatory Activity of Tim-3 Requires Akt and MAPK Signaling and its Recruitment to the Immune Synapse. *Sci Signal* (2021) 14(687):eabao717. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aba0717
- Müller N, Landwehr K, Langeveld K, Stenzel J, Pouwels W, van der Hoorn M, et al. Generation of Alloreactivity-Reduced Donor Lymphocyte Products Retaining Memory Function by Fully Automatic Depletion of CD45RA-Positive Cells. *Cytotherapy* (2018) 20(4):532–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.jcyt.2018.01.006
- Turtle CJ, Hanafi LA, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, et al. CD19 CAR-T Cells of Defined CD4+:CD8+ Composition in Adult B Cell ALL Patients. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(6):2123–38. doi: 10.1172/jci85309
- Micklethwaite KP, Gowrishankar K, Gloss BS, Li Z, Street JA, Moezzi L, et al. Investigation of Product-Derived Lymphoma Following Infusion of Piggybac-Modified CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *Blood* (2021) 138 (16):1391–405. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021010858
- Hamada M, Nishio N, Okuno Y, Suzuki S, Kawashima N, Muramatsu H, et al. Integration Mapping of Piggybac-Mediated CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Analyzed by Novel Tagmentation-Assisted PCR. *EBioMedicine* (2018) 34:18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.07.008

Conflict of Interest: Authors NN, SK, YS were employed by the company AGC Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Suematsu, Yagyu, Nagao, Kubota, Shimizu, Tanaka, Nakazawa and Imamura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Adoptive Cell Therapy in Pediatric and Young Adult Solid Tumors: Current Status and Future Directions

John A. Ligon^{1,2*}, Kristin M. Wessel¹, Nirali N. Shah¹ and John Glod^{1*}

¹ Pediatric Oncology Branch, Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ² Department of Pediatrics, Division of Hematology/Oncology, University of Florida College of Medicine, Gainesville, FL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shigeki Yagyu, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan

Reviewed by:

Jorge Ibanez-Vega, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, United States

*Correspondence:

John A. Ligon john.ligon@ufl.edu John Glod john.glod@nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 December 2021 Accepted: 03 February 2022 Published: 22 February 2022

Citation:

Ligon JA, Wessel KM, Shah NN and Glod J (2022) Adoptive Cell Therapy in Pediatric and Young Adult Solid Tumors: Current Status and Future Directions. Front. Immunol. 13:846346. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.846346 Advances from novel adoptive cellular therapies have yet to be fully realized for the treatment of children and young adults with solid tumors. This review discusses the strategies and preliminary results, including T-cell, NK-cell and myeloid cell-based therapies. While each of these approaches have shown some early promise, there remain challenges. These include poor trafficking to the tumor as well as a hostile tumor microenvironment with numerous immunosuppressive mechanisms which result in exhaustion of cellular therapies. We then turn our attention to new strategies proposed to address these challenges including novel clinical trials that are ongoing and in development.

Keywords: adoptive cell immunotherapy, solid tumor, tumor microenvironment, immune evasion, CAR (chimeric antigen receptor)

INTRODUCTION

Immunologically "hot" solid tumors (e.g. melanoma) (1) with a tumor microenvironment (TME) marked by infiltrating CD8+ T-cells (2, 3), high programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression (4), or a high tumor mutational burden have shown remarkable responses to immunotherapy including immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) (5). Unfortunately, these benefits have not extended to "cold" tumors (e.g. prostate or pancreatic cancer) (1) where T-cells are either entirely absent ("immune desert") or sequestered at the periphery ("immune-excluded") (3, 6). Many pediatric/adolescent and young adult solid tumors are cold tumors (7, 8) and have failed to respond to ICIs (9).

Several approaches have attempted to harness cellular therapy to cure these tumors. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) has enabled maximal chemotherapy dosing in susceptible tumors with varying levels of effectiveness in neuroblastoma (10), Ewing sarcoma (11), breast cancer (12), retinoblastoma (13), hepatoblastoma (14), and other diseases. Recently some groups have piloted allogeneic HSCT to treat solid tumors. Though durable responses are rare, evidence for graft-vs-tumor effect has been observed (15). Finally, as adoptive cellular therapy (ACT) has proven transformative for leukemia and lymphoma, the development of novel ACT for

solid tumors has exploded (**Figure 1**). In this review, we discuss ACT in solid tumors in clinical development, consider challenges plaguing the field, and highlight proposed strategies which will be tested in future clinical trials.

T-CELL BASED THERAPIES

T-cells are critical in immune surveillance for cancer. The T-cell receptor (TCR) can recognize cancer-specific antigens processed by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and presented on the cell surface. TCR engagement by MHC-presented non-self antigens leads to activation and T-cell mediated killing (16). T-cell cytotoxicity in solid tumors has been leveraged using both native T-cells and autologous T-cells genetically engineered to express a specific TCR. Future efforts in allogeneic "off-the-shelf" approaches are being actively studied.

Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TILs)

Early studies demonstrated that heterogeneous tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) collected from a freshly-resected tumor and expanded *in vitro* were able to specifically lyse autologous tumor (17). Subsequent clinical investigations showed transient responses in patients with metastatic melanoma after TIL infusion, typically under high IL-2 conditions (17). Early TIL trials reported responses in 49-72% of patients with melanoma (18, 19). Pretreatment with lymphodepleting chemotherapy led to improved TIL persistence (18) and recent advances include

selection of TILs that recognize patient-specific tumor antigens using single cell sequencing (20). Selected autologous TILs have shown activity in several epithelial malignancies (21, 22).

While advances using TILs continue, the inability to isolate and effectively expand TILs from some solid tumors remains a challenge.

Engineered TCR-Based ACT

Initial attempts at engineering T-cells for ACT concentrated on genetic engineering of specific TCRs into autologous T-cells collected *via* peripheral blood apheresis with subsequent reinfusion.

Expression of cancer/testis antigens (CTAs) including melanoma antigen gene (MAGE) family proteins, synovial sarcoma X breakpoint (SSX) family proteins, and New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (NY-ESO-1) is normally restricted to the germline. However, solid tumors including melanoma, SS, myxoid/round cell liposarcoma (MRCL), and osteosarcoma express CTAs. Robbins and colleagues targeted NY-ESO-1 using a transduced TCR recognizing the peptide epitope SLLMWITQC in the context of HLA-A*02. Transgenic T-cells combined with IL-2 following lymphodepletion led to responses in 5/11 patients with SS and 2/11 patients with melanoma (23). A subsequent study showed responses in 6/ 12 patients with NY-ESO-1+ SS in an initial cohort (24), with one complete response (CR) and 14 partial responses (PR) in the first 42 patients (25). This response rate represents a potentially significant improvement over previous therapies for SS (26). These T-cells maintained clonal diversity over time and persisting cells were primarily of central memory



FIGURE 1 | Multiple cell types available to engineer for adoptive cellular therapy. Myeloid cells, NK cells, and T-cell-based therapies each have advantages and disadvantages which should be considered within the context of the histology to be targeted.

and stem cell memory populations (24). Ongoing trials are further investigating genetically engineered NY-ESO-1 targeting autologous T-cells in solid tumors including SS, MRCL and non-small cell lung cancer (NCT02992743, NCT03967223, NCT03709706).

Other successfully targeted CTAs include MAGE-A3 and MAGE-A4. Seventeen patients were treated in a dose escalation study of autologous T-cells genetically modified to express an MHC class II-restricted TCR recognizing MAGE-A3 combined with IL-2 (27). One patient with cervical cancer had a CR and several PRs were observed in patients with esophageal cancer, urothelial cancer, and osteosarcoma. Despite encouraging responses, the significant neurotoxicity observed in this and a subsequent trial targeting MAGE-A3 has hampered development of this strategy (28). In a phase I trial of a TCR developed in a transgenic murine model and recognizing residues 112-120 (KVAELVHFL) of MAGE-A3, 3/9 patients developed significant neurotoxicity (29). Preliminary data for the SURPASS trial utilizing autologous T-cells transduced with a MAGE-A4 TCR and CD8a co-receptor reported 2/5 patients with PRs (30). A MAGE-A4 targeting TCR is also being evaluated in a phase II study for patients with SS and MRCL (NCT04044768). Additional TCR-based strategies targeting CTAs are in development (31).

Viral antigens have also been successfully targeted for treating solid tumors using ACT. TILs targeting human papillomavirus (HPV) antigens E6 and E7 have shown efficacy in early phase clinical trials in HPV-associated carcinomas with responses in 5/ 18 patients with cervical cancer and 2/11 with head and neck cancer (32). Subsequent work identified TCRs recognizing epitopes of HPV16 E6 and E7 in the context of HLA-A*02:01 and T-cells genetically engineered to express these TCRs led to responses in two early phase studies (33, 34). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is associated with several solid tumors (e.g., nasopharyngeal carcinoma [NPC] and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder [PTLD]). EBV-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTLs) were tested to treat PTLD following HSCT (35). EBV-specific CTLs resulted in PR for 2/10 patients with EBV-associated NPC (36). A phase 3 trial comparing chemotherapy with EBV-specific CTLs combined with chemotherapy for NPC is underway (NCT02578641). TCR-based therapy has also been explored for Merkel cell carcinoma, a skin cancer associated with Merkel cell polyomavirus (37). Autologous T-cells with TCRs recognizing an epitope of Merkel cell polyomavirus, large T antigen and small T antigen, led to durable regression of metastatic lesions in several patients (38).

CART-Based ACT

HLA-restriction (limiting patient access) and reliance on tumor MHC expression have limited TCR-based therapy utility. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cells (CART) are autologous Tcells engineered *ex vivo* to enable MHC-independent tumor cell killing without HLA restriction. First-generation CAR have 3 components: a specific antibody-derived single chain variable fragment (scFv), a hinge/transmembrane domain, and a T-cell signaling (CD3 ζ) domain. Second-generation CAR incorporate one additional co-stimulatory domain, while third-generation CAR incorporate 2 additional co-stimulatory domains. Fourth-generation CAR, also known as TRUCKs (T cells redirected for antigen unrestricted cytokine-initiated killing) include a CAR-inducible transgene product, often pro-inflammatory cytokines which may enhance CART cytotoxicity and activate other immune cells in an immunosuppressive TME (39).

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) is expressed on several solid tumor types and has attracted interest as a CART target. A clinical trial utilizing 10¹⁰ of a third-generation CART incorporating a scFV derived from the humanized monoclonal antibody trasztuzumab following lymphodepletion for HER2+ solid tumors. A patient with metastatic colorectal cancer developed fatal respiratory failure 15 minutes after CART infusion. This was thought to be due to massive cytokine release upon recognition of HER2 at low levels on lung epithelium and prompted concerns about the safety of HER2-CART (40). A subsequent HER2-CART trial in HER2+ sarcomas instead utilized the FRP5 scFV, omitted lymphodepletion, and selected a lower starting dose of $10^4/m^2$. There were no dose-limiting toxicities, but also no CART expansion. Doses greater than $10^6/m^2$ were associated with greater persistence. 4/17 evaluable patients had stable disease and 1 patient had a PR after a second CART infusion (41). To improve CART expansion and persistence, an ongoing phase I HER2-CART trial (NCT00902044) has incorporated lymphodepletion and HER2-CART doses up to $10^8/\text{m}^2$. Thus far two CRs have been reported (42, 43).

Clinical experience with CART targeting the diaganglioside GD2, which is highly expressed on osteosarcoma, neuroblastoma, and many central nervous system (CNS) tumors, also suggests that lymphodepletion and adequate cell dose are important for CART expansion and persistence. A phase 1 trial utilizing first-generation GD2-CART without lymphodepletion in neuroblastoma demonstrated safety and clinical activity with 3 CRs, but showed limited expansion and persistence (44, 45). A subsequent trial (NCT02107963) utilized a third-generation GD2-CART with lymphodepletion, and demonstrated good expansion (46). A phase I study of a third-generation GD2-CART with or without lymphodepletion in relapsed/refractory neuroblastoma showed increased CART expansion following lymphodepletion (47). A phase I trial utilizing escalating doses of a second-generation GD2-CART with lymphodepletion of varying intensity in relapsed/ refractory neuroblastoma showed regression of soft tissue and bone marrow disease following CART doses of at least $10^8/\text{m}^2$ (48). GD2-CART have shown promising clinical activity in a phase 1 trial in H3K27M+ diffuse midline gliomas, which are universally fatal malignancies (NCT04196413) (49). Based on preclinical data suggesting that incorporation of IL-15 into CART further enhances persistence and cytotoxicity (50, 51), ongoing trials are utilizing GD2-CART and GD2-CAR-NKT cells engineered to express IL-15 (NCT03721068, NCT03294954).

The checkpoint molecule B7-H3(CD276) is another CART target of interest given its high expression on multiple solid tumor types. Preclinical studies have demonstrated encouraging activity of B7-H3-CART in various xenograft models (52–54). Clinical trials utilizing B7-H3-CART are underway in pediatric

and adult solid tumors (NCT04897321, NCT04483778, NCT04432649, NCT05211557, NCT04670068) and CNS tumors (NCT04185038, NCT04385173, NCT04077866).

TRuC[™]-T-Cell Based ACT

TCR fusion constructs (TRuCs) also enable HLA-independent cell killing. In contrast to CART, which incorporate only the intracellular signaling domain of the CD3 ζ chain, TRuCs involve fusion of the scFv to the N-terminus of any of the other five subunits in the TCR complex. TRuCs are incorporated into the TCR on translation, engage the TCR complex upon activation, and are efficacious in solid tumor xenograft models (55). Antimesothelin TRuCs are being studied in a phase 1/2 clinical trial (NCT03907852) with preliminary evidence of activity, with 3/7 patients (2 with mesothelioma, 1 with ovarian cancer) achieving a PR (56).

NK-CELLS

NK-cells are innate immune cells and protect against infections and cancer (57, 58). Efforts to harness NK-cell biology for ACT in cancer treatment has gained considerable interest as an alternative to T-cell based immunotherapeutics. NK-cells possess qualities which may allow them to overcome the hostile TME (58–60). While T-cells recognize unique tumor antigens, NK-cell-mediated cytotoxicity depends on the sum of activating and inhibitory signals, including tumor cell lack of MHC class 1 expression or antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (61). Furthermore, NK-cells can produce inflammatory cytokines such as IFN γ and TNF α which can activate CD8+ TILs and enhance their cytotoxicity (62).

These properties allow NK-cells to be engineered or manipulated via different mechanisms from T-cell-centric immunotherapies. Examples include the administration of agonist cytokines or engineering NK-cells which constitutively secrete these cytokines (63). Others have proposed NK-cells which constitutively secrete chemotactic factors to recruit cytotoxic lymphocytes to the TME (64). Tri-specific NK-cell engagers (TriKEs) have been proposed to confer tumor-specificity to NKcells and enhance NK-cell activation by engaging stimulatory receptors such as the IL-15 receptor (65, 66). Additionally, CAR NK-cells (CAR-NK) designed from stem cell progenitors represent another way to generate tumor-specific NK-cells. Attractively, CAR-NK may be less toxic and could be produced at lower cost than CART (67). Recent experience with CD19-CAR-NK in B-cell malignancies provides proof-of-concept that this strategy can be safely and effectively utilized and with potential for persistence (68). Barriers remain to production and monitoring of persistence of these cells, but additional alterations to the NK-cell product and manufacturing strategies have been proposed to mitigate these issues. Finally, NK-cells also express immune checkpoint molecules such as PD-1, and either combination with ICIs or intrinsic downregulation of these checkpoint molecules have been proposed as mechanisms to further enhance the efficacy of NK-cell-based approaches (69, 70).

MYELOID CELL THERAPIES

Myeloid cells readily infiltrate primary tumors and metastases. Harnessing this property for ACT shows promise in the treatment of solid malignancies (71). Myeloid cells are highly plastic and may acquire a wide spectrum of immune-stimulatory or immune-suppressive phenotypes in response to the local milieu. Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) are polarized to an anti-tumor M1 phenotype in response to pro-inflammatory factors such as IFNy, GM-CSF and lipopolysaccharide. M1 TAMs promote Th1 responses, phagocytosis of tumor cells, and antigen presentation. Tumor-associated cytokines such as IL-10, IL-4, IL-13 and TGF- β promote polarization towards an immunosuppressive M2 phenotype. M2 TAMs promote tumor progression through mechanisms including angiogenesis, extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling and regulatory T-cell recruitment (72). This M1/M2 classification is an oversimplification, however induction of an M1-like, antitumor phenotype is important for the success of myeloid-based ACT. The first myeloid-based ACT utilized macrophages polarized to the M1 phenotype ex vivo with IFNy. Clinical trials showed limited efficacy, but these therapies were generally well-tolerated (73-75).

Subsequent work has focused on engineering myeloid cells towards a more potent and durable anti-tumor phenotype. Anti-HER2 CAR-macrophages (CARM) reduced tumor growth and prolonged survival while reprogramming the immunesuppressive TME in xenograft models (76). A first-in-human trial evaluating CARM is now underway in HER2-overexpressing solid tumors (NCT04660929). Preclinical work has shown that myeloid cells can also be used to deliver cargo to the TME. Administration of myeloid cells genetically engineered to express IL-12, a potent anti-tumor cytokine, resulted in durable cures in a syngeneic model of embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma through activation of T-cell responses in the tumor and metastatic microenvironment (77).

CHALLENGES IN SOLID TUMOR ACT

Significant remaining challenges for optimization of solid tumor ACT are outlined in this section. Additionally, we will summarize proposed strategies to overcome these challenges (**Figure 2**).

Selection of antigens such as GD2 (78) and CTAs (79), which are expressed on numerous solid tumors, leverages the possibility that a single ACT could be active across multiple histologies. However, few antigens are tumor-specific. Thus, identifying a target antigen which will allow tumor clearance without unacceptable normal tissue toxicity (on-target/off-tumor effect) is problematic. In addition to selecting the proper target antigen, low antigen density and antigen downregulation within heterogeneous solid TMEs have emerged as additional barriers to ACT (80, 81).

ACT trafficking is also challenging in solid tumors. Trafficking can be inhibited by physical barriers, loss of MHC class 1 expression, repellent cytokine gradients, expression of inhibitory ligands such as PD-L1, and abnormal tumor vasculature (82). CNS tumors are further shielded by the



blood-brain barrier (83). If ACTs cannot traffic to the tumor and engage their target antigen, they fail to be activated and expand, leading to rapid loss of ACT.

Finally, the TME present in many solid tumors is hostile to the ACT. Tumors recruit immunosuppressive TAMs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (84) which express inhibitory molecules such as PD-L1 (84), secrete inactivating cytokines such as IL-10 (85), and promote a hypoxic TME (86) which can thwart ACT cytotoxicity. These tumor-sustaining programs promote rapid and irreversible ACT exhaustion, inhibit expansion, and result in failure of tumor clearance. Further ACT engineering or combination with agents to allow ACTs to overcome these challenges, will be necessary for ACT optimization in solid tumors.

DISCUSSION: OVERCOMING THE IMMUNE-SUPPRESSIVE TME IN ACT FOR SOLID TUMORS

Aberrant tumor vasculature and ECM deposition impede ACT trafficking. Regional ACT administration is one strategy to

overcome this hurdle. A recent phase I trial demonstrated that intrapleural administration of mesothelin-CART combined with pembrolizumab was safe and feasible, and showed potential efficacy with 2 patients demonstrating metabolic CR on PET scan (87). Intraventricular CART administration for both primary brain tumors and CNS metastases is also under evaluation in early-phase clinical trials and in preclinical models (88, 89) (NCT04196413). Additionally, methods to disrupt the blood-brain barrier to allow trafficking of ACT to CNS tumors, such as focused ultrasound (90) or other mechanical or pharmacological methods (91) have been piloted.

Further genetic modification of ACTs to overcome and leverage features of the hostile TME is currently being explored. Many solid tumor types recruit TAMs by producing chemokines such as CXCL8 and CXCL2. Preclinical data suggest that chemokine secretion can be leveraged to enhance CART trafficking by engineering CART to express chemokine receptors. For example, CXCR2-modified GPC3-CART had improved trafficking in a hepatocellular carcinoma model (92), while a CXCR1/2-modified CD70-CART enhanced CART trafficking and efficacy in murine GBM, ovarian cancer and pancreatic cancer models (93). Many groups have also sought to generate a more "fit" ACT through enhanced cytokine secretion [thoroughly reviewed by Bell and Gottschalk (94)]. Additional modifications include creation of ACT which is resistant to exhaustion [e.g. DNA methyltransferase 3 alpha knock-out (95) or PD-1 deletion (96)] or tuning ACT to be effective despite low antigen density [e.g. c-Jun overexpression (97, 98)]. These modifications of ACTs are now entering clinical trials (e.g. TGF-βR knockout CART NCT04976218).

Tumor-associated vasculature is characterized by pericyte loss, resulting in leakiness and adhesion molecule downregulation impairing T-cell migration into the tumor (99). VEGF inhibitors, which promote vascular normalization, may enhance CD8+ T-cell infiltration into tumors (100). Anti-VEGF agents have shown synergy with ICIs in select solid malignancies, resulting in FDA approval of these combinations in hepatocellular carcinoma and renal cell carcinoma (101). Preclinical studies suggest that antiangiogenics can also improve ACT trafficking (102, 103). Combining ACTs with antiangiogenics warrants further study in clinical trials.

ECM-remodeling agents may enhance the ability of ACTs to infiltrate tumors. In gastric cancer models, hyaluronic acid reduced mesothelin-CART infiltration, however these CART had superior efficacy when combined with infusion of a secreted form of the human hyaluronidase PH20 (104). CART engineered to express heparinase, which degrades heparan sulfate proteoglycans, showed superior anti-tumor activity and were associated with increased T-cell infiltration in preclinical models (105).

The solid TME contributes to T-cell exhaustion *via* multiple mechanisms, including repeated TCR stimulation and metabolic stress, thereby reducing the ACT efficacy. Engineering CART to reduce tonic signaling through incorporation of the 4-1BB costimulatory domain vs CD28 costimulatory domain showed reduction in CART exhaustion and enhanced persistence and efficacy in preclinical studies (106). Induction of transient rest periods in CART, such as by dasatinib utilization, has shown exhaustion reversal and improved efficacy (107). A dasatinib-containing culture platform is being used to manufacture GD2-CART in ongoing clinical trials (NCT04539366, NCT04196413). CART combination with ICIs is also under evaluation in clinical trials (108).

The ability of myeloid cells to orchestrate immune responses in the TME makes them an attractive therapeutic target. Low-dose chemotherapy has shown reduction of tumor

REFERENCES

- Maleki Vareki S. High and Low Mutational Burden Tumors Versus Immunologically Hot and Cold Tumors and Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors. J Immunother Cancer (2018) 6:157. doi: 10.1186/ s40425-018-0479-7
- Ayers M, Lunceford J, Nebozhyn M, Murphy E, Loboda A, Kaufman DR, et al. IFN-Gamma-Related mRNA Profile Predicts Clinical Response to PD-1 Blockade. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:2930–40. doi: 10.1172/JCI91190
- Hegde PS, Karanikas V, Evers S. The Where, the When, and the How of Immune Monitoring for Cancer Immunotherapies in the Era of Checkpoint Inhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:1865–74. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1507
- Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fulop A, et al. Updated Analysis of KEYNOTE-024: Pembrolizumab Versus Platinum-Based

MDSCs (109–111). MDSC differentiation with ATRA reduced their immune-suppressive function and enhanced efficacy of GD2-CART in preclinical models (112). In a pilot trial studying ipilimumab vs ipilimumab combined with ATRA, patients receiving ATRA had fewer circulating MDSCs (113). Inhibiting myeloid cell trafficking through CSF1R inhibition is another potential avenue to reduce myeloid cell immune-suppression in the TME. CSF1R-targeting agents are generally well-tolerated in the clinic, and the multi-TKI CSF1R inhibitor Pexidartinib is FDA-approved to treat tenosynovial giant-cell tumor (114, 115). Clinical trials studying CSF1R inhibitors with ICIs are underway (NCT02777710, NCT02829723, NCT03502330, NCT04848116, NCT02526017).

CONCLUSION

While ACT has yet to yield the transformative results in solid tumors that CART have shown for hematologic malignancies, evidence exists that some patients with solid tumors may respond to ACT. T-cells, NK-cells, and myeloid cells have each been engineered to target these tumors, and each have advantages and unique challenges. Further engineering ACTs to overcome tumor immune resistance mechanisms and better understanding how to combine with TME-modifying agents will be critical to expanding the number of patients with solid tumors who may derive therapeutic benefit.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL, KW, and JG wrote the first version of the manuscript. NS provided critical feedback and additions. All authors contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Intramural Research Program, Center of Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute. We appreciate the contributions of Erina He and the NIH Medical Arts team in aiding in the production of the figures for this manuscript.

Chemotherapy for Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer With PD-L1 Tumor Proportion Score of 50% or Greater. *J Clin Oncol* (2019) 37:537–46. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.00149

- Samstein RM, Lee CH, Shoushtari AN, Hellmann MD, Shen R, Janjigian YY, et al. Tumor Mutational Load Predicts Survival After Immunotherapy Across Multiple Cancer Types. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51:202–6. doi: 10.1038/ s41588-018-0312-8
- Jerby-Arnon L, Shah P, Cuoco MS, Rodman C, Su MJ, Melms JC, et al. A Cancer Cell Program Promotes T Cell Exclusion and Resistance to Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* (2018) 175:984–997.e24. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.09.006
- Chen L, Oke T, Siegel N, Cojocaru G, Tam AJ, Blosser RL, et al. The Immunosuppressive Niche of Soft-Tissue Sarcomas Is Sustained by Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Characterized by Intratumoral Tertiary Lymphoid Structures. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26:4018–30. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-19-3416

- Ligon JA, Choi W, Cojocaru G, Fu W, Hsiue EH, Oke TF, et al. Pathways of Immune Exclusion in Metastatic Osteosarcoma Are Associated With Inferior Patient Outcomes. J Immunother Cancer 9 (2021) 9(5):e001772. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001772
- Davis KL, Fox E, Merchant MS, Reid JM, Kudgus RA, Liu X, et al. Nivolumab in Children and Young Adults With Relapsed or Refractory Solid Tumours or Lymphoma (ADVL1412): A Multicentre, Open-Label, Single-Arm, Phase 1-2 Trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2020) 21:541–50. doi: 10.1016/ S1470-2045(20)30023-1
- Park JR, Kreissman SG, London WB, Naranjo A, Cohn SL, Hogarty MD, et al. Effect of Tandem Autologous Stem Cell Transplant vs Single Transplant on Event-Free Survival in Patients With High-Risk Neuroblastoma: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA* (2019) 322:746–55. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.11642
- Ladenstein R, Potschger U, Le Deley MC, Whelan J, Paulussen M, Oberlin O, et al. Primary Disseminated Multifocal Ewing Sarcoma: Results of the Euro-EWING 99 Trial. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28:3284–91. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2009.22.9864
- Pedrazzoli P, Martino M, Delfanti S, Generali D, Rosti G, Bregni M, et al. High-Dose Chemotherapy With Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for High-Risk Primary Breast Cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr (2015) 2015:70–5. doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgv010
- de Jong MC, Kors WA, de Graaf P, Castelijns JA, Kivela T, Moll AC. Trilateral Retinoblastoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15:1157–67. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70336-5
- Haberle B, Maxwell R, Schweinitz DV, Schmid I. High Dose Chemotherapy With Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation in Hepatoblastoma Does Not Improve Outcome. Results of the GPOH Study Hb99. *Klin Padiatr* (2019) 231:283–90. doi: 10.1055/a-1014-3250
- Llosa NJ, Cooke KR, Chen AR, Gamper CJ, Klein OR, Zambidis ET, et al. Reduced-Intensity Haploidentical Bone Marrow Transplantation With Post-Transplant Cyclophosphamide for Solid Tumors in Pediatric and Young Adult Patients. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2017) 23:2127–36. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.08.012
- Waldman AD, Fritz JM, Lenardo MJ. A Guide to Cancer Immunotherapy: From T Cell Basic Science to Clinical Practice. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2020) 20:651–68. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0306-5
- Rosenberg SA, Packard BS, Aebersold PM, Solomon D, Topalian SL, Toy ST, et al. Use of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Interleukin-2 in the Immunotherapy of Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. A Preliminary Report. N Engl J Med (1988) 319:1676–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198812223192527
- Dudley ME, Yang JC, Sherry R, Hughes MS, Royal R, Kammula U, et al. Adoptive Cell Therapy for Patients With Metastatic Melanoma: Evaluation of Intensive Myeloablative Chemoradiation Preparative Regimens. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26:5233–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.5449
- Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME. Adoptive Cell Therapy for the Treatment of Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2009) 21:233–40. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2009.03.002
- Yamamoto TN, Kishton RJ, Restifo NP. Developing Neoantigen-Targeted T Cell-Based Treatments for Solid Tumors. *Nat Med* (2019) 25:1488–99. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0596-y
- Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer Immunotherapy Based on Mutation-Specific CD4+ T Cells in a Patient With Epithelial Cancer. Science (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-Cell Transfer Therapy Targeting Mutant KRAS in Cancer. N Engl J Med (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279
- Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TL, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, et al. A Pilot Trial Using Lymphocytes Genetically Engineered With an NY-ESO-1-Reactive T-Cell Receptor: Long-Term Follow-Up and Correlates With Response. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21:1019–27. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2708
- 24. D'Angelo SP, Melchiori L, Merchant MS, Bernstein D, Glod J, Kaplan R, et al. Antitumor Activity Associated With Prolonged Persistence of Adoptively Transferred NY-ESO-1 (C259)T Cells in Synovial Sarcoma. *Cancer Discov* (2018) 8:944–57. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1417
- 25. Ramachandran I, Lowther DE, Dryer-Minnerly R, Wang R, Fayngerts S, Nunez D, et al. Systemic and Local Immunity Following Adoptive Transfer

of NY-ESO-1 SPEAR T Cells in Synovial Sarcoma. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7:276. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0762-2

- Desar IME, Fleuren EDG, van der Graaf WTA. Systemic Treatment for Adults With Synovial Sarcoma. *Curr Treat Options Oncol* (2018) 19:13. doi: 10.1007/s11864-018-0525-1
- Lu YC, Parker LL, Lu T, Zheng Z, Toomey MA, White DE, et al. Treatment of Patients With Metastatic Cancer Using a Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II-Restricted T-Cell Receptor Targeting the Cancer Germline Antigen MAGE-A3. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35:3322–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.5463
- Martin AD, Wang X, Sandberg ML, Negri KR, Wu ML, Toledo Warshaviak D, et al. Re-Examination of MAGE-A3 as a T-Cell Therapeutic Target. *J Immunother* (2021) 44:95–105. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000348
- Morgan RA, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins PF, Zheng Z, et al. Cancer Regression and Neurological Toxicity Following Anti-MAGE-A3 TCR Gene Therapy. J Immunother (2013) 36:133–51. doi: 10.1097/ CJI.0b013e3182829903
- 30. Hong D, Clarke J, Johanns T, Kebriaei P, Heymach J, Galal A, et al. Initial Safety, Efficacy, and Product Attributes From the Surpass Trial With ADP-A2M4CD8, A SPEAR T-Cell Therapy Incorporating an Affinity Optimized TCR Targeting MAGE-A4 and a CD8(a) Alpha Co-Receptor. J Immunother Cancer (2020) 8:A231–1. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-SITC2020.0379
- Manfredi F, Cianciotti BC, Potenza A, Tassi E, Noviello M, Biondi A, et al. TCR Redirected T Cells for Cancer Treatment: Achievements, Hurdles, and Goals. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1689. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01689
- Stevanovic S, Helman SR, Wunderlich JR, Langhan MM, Doran SL, Kwong MLM, et al. A Phase II Study of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocyte Therapy for Human Papillomavirus-Associated Epithelial Cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:1486–93. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2722
- 33. Doran SL, Stevanovic S, Adhikary S, Gartner JJ, Jia L, Kwong MLM, et al. T-Cell Receptor Gene Therapy for Human Papillomavirus-Associated Epithelial Cancers: A First-In-Human, Phase I/II Study. J Clin Oncol (2019) 37:2759–68. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.02424
- Norberg S, Nagarsheth N, Sinkoe A, Adhikary S, Meyer T, Lack J, et al. Safety and Clinical Activity of Gene-Engineered T-Cell Therapy Targeting HPV-16 E7 for Epithelial Cancers. J Clin Oncol (2020) 38. doi: 10.1200/JCO. 2020.38.15_suppl.101
- Heslop HE, Slobod KS, Pule MA, Hale GA, Rousseau A, Smith CA, et al. Long-Term Outcome of EBV-Specific T-Cell Infusions to Prevent or Treat EBV-Related Lymphoproliferative Disease in Transplant Recipients. *Blood* (2010) 115:925–35. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-239186
- Comoli P, Pedrazzoli P, Maccario R, Basso S, Carminati O, Labirio M, et al. Cell Therapy of Stage IV Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma With Autologous Epstein-Barr Virus-Targeted Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23:8942–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.02.6195
- Sharma S, Leung WK, Heslop HE. Virus-Specific T Cells for Malignancies -Then, Now and Where to? *Curr Stem Cell Rep* (2020) 6:17–29. doi: 10.1007/ s40778-020-00170-6
- Chapuis AG, Afanasiev OK, Iyer JG, Paulson KG, Parvathaneni U, Hwang JH, et al. Regression of Metastatic Merkel Cell Carcinoma Following Transfer of Polyomavirus-Specific T Cells and Therapies Capable of Re-Inducing HLA Class-I. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:27–36. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0087
- Thanindratarn P, Dean DC, Nelson SD, Hornicek FJ, Duan Z. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T (CAR-T) Cell Immunotherapy for Sarcomas: From Mechanisms to Potential Clinical Applications. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2020) 82:101934. doi: 10.1016/ j.ctrv.2019.101934
- Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case Report of a Serious Adverse Event Following the Administration of T Cells Transduced With a Chimeric Antigen Receptor Recognizing ERBB2. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:843–51. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.24
- Ahmed N, Brawley VS, Hegde M, Robertson C, Ghazi A, Gerken C, et al. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) -Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells for the Immunotherapy of HER2-Positive Sarcoma. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33:1688–96. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.0225
- 42. Hegde M, Joseph SK, Pashankar F, DeRenzo C, Sanber K, Navai S, et al. Tumor Response and Endogenous Immune Reactivity After Administration of HER2 CAR T Cells in a Child With Metastatic Rhabdomyosarcoma. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3549. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17175-8

- 43. Derenzo C, Navai SA, Joseph S, Sanber K, Byrd T, Zhang H, et al. Administration of HER2-CAR T Cells After Lymphodepletion Safely Improves T Cell Expansion and Induces Clinical Responses in Patients With Advanced Sarcomas. Atlanta, GA: 110th Annual Meeting of the American Association for Cancer Research (2019).
- 44. Pule MA, Savoldo B, Myers GD, Rossig C, Russell HV, Dotti G, et al. Virus-Specific T Cells Engineered to Coexpress Tumor-Specific Receptors: Persistence and Antitumor Activity in Individuals With Neuroblastoma. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:1264–70. doi: 10.1038/nm.1882
- Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dotti G, Pule M, Yvon E, Myers GD, et al. Antitumor Activity and Long-Term Fate of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Positive T Cells in Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Blood* (2011) 118:6050–6. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2011-05-354449
- 46. Stroncek DF, Lee DW, Ren J, Sabatino M, Highfill S, Khuu H, et al. Elutriated Lymphocytes for Manufacturing Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *J Transl Med* (2017) 15:59. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1160-5
- 47. Heczey A, Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dakhova O, Durett A, Grilley B, et al. CAR T Cells Administered in Combination With Lymphodepletion and PD-1 Inhibition to Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25:2214–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.05.012
- Straathof K, Flutter B, Wallace R, Jain N, Loka T, Depani S, et al. Antitumor Activity Without on-Target Off-Tumor Toxicity of GD2-Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12 (571):eabd6169. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abd6169
- 49. Majzner R, Ramakrishna S, Mochizuki A, Patel S, Chinnasamy H, Yeom K, et al. EPCT-14. GD2 CAR T-Cells Mediate Clinical Activity And Manageable Toxicity In Children And Young Adults With H3K27M-Mutated DIPG And Spinal Cord DMG. *Neuro-Oncology* (2021) 23:i49–50. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noab090.200
- Chen Y, Sun C, Landoni E, Metelitsa L, Dotti G, Savoldo B. Eradication of Neuroblastoma by T Cells Redirected With an Optimized GD2-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor and Interleukin-15. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:2915–24. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1811
- 51. Xu X, Huang W, Heczey A, Liu D, Guo L, Wood M, et al. NKT Cells Coexpressing a GD2-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor and IL15 Show Enhanced *In Vivo* Persistence and Antitumor Activity Against Neuroblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:7126–38. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0421
- Majzner RG, Theruvath JL, Nellan A, Heitzeneder S, Cui Y, Mount CW, et al. CAR T Cells Targeting B7-H3, a Pan-Cancer Antigen, Demonstrate Potent Preclinical Activity Against Pediatric Solid Tumors and Brain Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:2560–74. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0432
- Theruvath J, Sotillo E, Mount CW, Graef CM, Delaidelli A, Heitzeneder S, et al. Locoregionally Administered B7-H3-Targeted CAR T Cells for Treatment of Atypical Teratoid/Rhabdoid Tumors. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:712–9. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0821-8
- 54. Du H, Hirabayashi K, Ahn S, Kren NP, Montgomery SA, Wang X, et al. Antitumor Responses in the Absence of Toxicity in Solid Tumors by Targeting B7-H3 via Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. Cancer Cell (2019) 35:221–237 e8. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.01.002
- Baeuerle PA, Ding J, Patel E, Thorausch N, Horton H, Gierut J, et al. Synthetic TRuC Receptors Engaging the Complete T Cell Receptor for Potent Anti-Tumor Response. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:2087. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-019-10097-0
- 56. Hong DS, Johnson M, Tanyi JL, MacMullen L, Tighe R, Jalbert L, et al. Abstract CT105: Preliminary Safety and Efficacy of Gavocabtagene Autoleucel (Gavo-Cel, TC-210), a T Cell Receptor Fusion Construct (TRuCTM), in Patients With Treatment Refractory Mesothelin Overexpressing Solid Tumors. *Cancer Res* (2021) 81:CT105–5. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2021-CT105
- Mace EM, Orange JS. Emerging Insights Into Human Health and NK Cell Biology From the Study of NK Cell Deficiencies. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 287:202–25. doi: 10.1111/imr.12725
- Abel AM, Yang C, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. Natural Killer Cells: Development, Maturation, and Clinical Utilization. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1869. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01869
- Omer N, Nicholls W, Ruegg B, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Rossi GR. Enhancing Natural Killer Cell Targeting of Pediatric Sarcoma. Front Immunol (2021) 12:791206. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.791206

- Rezvani K, Rouce R, Liu E, Shpall E. Engineering Natural Killer Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25:1769–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.ymthe.2017.06.012
- Bryceson YT, March ME, Ljunggren HG, Long EO. Activation, Coactivation, and Costimulation of Resting Human Natural Killer Cells. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 214:73–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00457.x
- Castro F, Cardoso AP, Goncalves RM, Serre K, Oliveira MJ. Interferon-Gamma at the Crossroads of Tumor Immune Surveillance or Evasion. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:847. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847
- 63. Jochems C, Hodge JW, Fantini M, Fujii R, M YMo2nd, Greiner JW, et al. An NK Cell Line (haNK) Expressing High Levels of Granzyme and Engineered to Express the High Affinity CD16 Allele. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:86359–73. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13411
- Bernardini G, Antonangeli F, Bonanni V, Santoni A. Dysregulation of Chemokine/Chemokine Receptor Axes and NK Cell Tissue Localization During Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:402. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00402
- Felices M, Kodal B, Hinderlie P, Kaminski MF, Cooley S, Weisdorf DJ, et al. Novel CD19-Targeted TriKE Restores NK Cell Function and Proliferative Capacity in CLL. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:897–907. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2018029371
- Felices M, Lenvik TR, Davis ZB, Miller JS, Vallera DA. Generation of BiKEs and TriKEs to Improve NK Cell-Mediated Targeting of Tumor Cells. *Methods Mol Biol* (2016) 1441:333–46. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3684-7_28
- Rafei H, Daher M, Rezvani K. Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) Natural Killer (NK)-Cell Therapy: Leveraging the Power of Innate Immunity. Br J Haematol (2021) 193:216–30. doi: 10.1111/bjh.17186
- Liu E, Marin D, Banerjee P, Macapinlac HA, Thompson P, Basar R, et al. Use of CAR-Transduced Natural Killer Cells in CD19-Positive Lymphoid Tumors. N Engl J Med (2020) 382:545–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607
- 69. Wang C, Cui A, Bukenya M, Aung A, Pradhan D, Whittaker CA, et al. Reprogramming NK Cells and Macrophages *via* Combined Antibody and Cytokine Therapy Primes Tumors for Elimination by Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell Rep* (2021) 37:110021. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.110021
- Kim N, Kim HS. Targeting Checkpoint Receptors and Molecules for Therapeutic Modulation of Natural Killer Cells. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2041. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02041
- Anderson NR, Minutolo NG, Gill S, Klichinsky M. Macrophage-Based Approaches for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2021) 81:1201–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-2990
- Koo J, Hayashi M, Verneris MR, Lee-Sherick AB. Targeting Tumor-Associated Macrophages in the Pediatric Sarcoma Tumor Microenvironment. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:581107. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.581107
- Ritchie D, Mileshkin L, Wall D, Bartholeyns J, Thompson M, Coverdale J, et al. *In Vivo* Tracking of Macrophage Activated Killer Cells to Sites of Metastatic Ovarian Carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56:155–63. doi: 10.1007/s00262-006-0181-3
- 74. Burger M, Thiounn N, Denzinger S, Kondas J, Benoit G, Chapado MS, et al. The Application of Adjuvant Autologous Antravesical Macrophage Cell Therapy vs. BCG in Non-Muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer: A Multicenter, Randomized Trial. J Transl Med (2010) 8:54. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-8-54
- Andreesen R, Scheibenbogen C, Brugger W, Krause S, Meerpohl HG, Leser HG, et al. Adoptive Transfer of Tumor Cytotoxic Macrophages Generated *In Vitro* From Circulating Blood Monocytes: A New Approach to Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (1990) 50:7450–6.
- Klichinsky M, Ruella M, Shestova O, Lu XM, Best A, Zeeman M, et al. Human Chimeric Antigen Receptor Macrophages for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Nat Biotechnol* (2020) 38:947–53. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0462-y
- 77. Kaczanowska S, Beury DW, Gopalan V, Tycko AK, Qin H, Clements ME, et al. Genetically Engineered Myeloid Cells Rebalance the Core Immune Suppression Program in Metastasis. *Cell* (2021) 184:2033–2052 e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.02.048
- Nazha B, Inal C, Owonikoko TK. Disialoganglioside GD2 Expression in Solid Tumors and Role as a Target for Cancer Therapy. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1000. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01000
- 79. Iura K, Kohashi K, Ishii T, Maekawa A, Bekki H, Otsuka H, et al. MAGEA4 Expression in Bone and Soft Tissue Tumors: Its Utility as a Target for

Immunotherapy and Diagnostic Marker Combined With NY-ESO-1. Virchows Arch (2017) 471:383–92. doi: 10.1007/s00428-017-2206-z

- Majzner RG, Rietberg SP, Sotillo E, Dong R, Vachharajani VT, Labanieh L, et al. Tuning the Antigen Density Requirement for CAR T-Cell Activity. *Cancer Discov* (2020) 10:702–23. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0945
- Majzner RG, Mackall CL. Tumor Antigen Escape From CAR T-Cell Therapy. Cancer Discov (2018) 8:1219–26. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0442
- Wagner J, Wickman E, DeRenzo C, Gottschalk S. CAR T Cell Therapy for Solid Tumors: Bright Future or Dark Reality? *Mol Ther* (2020) 28:2320–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.09.015
- Mo F, Pellerino A, Soffietti R, Ruda R. Blood-Brain Barrier in Brain Tumors: Biology and Clinical Relevance. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(23):12654. doi: 10.3390/ijms222312654
- Loeuillard E, Yang J, Buckarma E, Wang J, Liu Y, Conboy C, et al. Targeting Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Augments PD-1 Blockade in Cholangiocarcinoma. J Clin Invest (2020) 130:5380–96. doi: 10.1172/JCI137110
- Liu Q, Yang C, Wang S, Shi D, Wei C, Song J, et al. Wnt5a-Induced M2 Polarization of Tumor-Associated Macrophages via IL-10 Promotes Colorectal Cancer Progression. Cell Commun Signal (2020) 18:51. doi: 10.1186/s12964-020-00557-2
- Jeong H, Kim S, Hong BJ, Lee CJ, Kim YE, Bok S, et al. Tumor-Associated Macrophages Enhance Tumor Hypoxia and Aerobic Glycolysis. *Cancer Res* (2019) 79:795–806. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2545
- Adusumilli PS, Zauderer MG, Riviere I, Solomon SB, Rusch VW, O'Cearbhaill RE, et al. A Phase I Trial of Regional Mesothelin-Targeted CAR T-Cell Therapy in Patients With Malignant Pleural Disease, in Combination With the Anti-PD-1 Agent Pembrolizumab. *Cancer Discov* (2021) 11:2748–63. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-0407
- Brown CE, Alizadeh D, Starr R, Weng L, Wagner JR, Naranjo A, et al. Regression of Glioblastoma After Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy. N Engl J Med (2016) 375:2561–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1610497
- Priceman SJ, Tilakawardane D, Jeang B, Aguilar B, Murad JP, Park AK, et al. Regional Delivery of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Engineered T Cells Effectively Targets HER2(+) Breast Cancer Metastasis to the Brain. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24:95–105. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2041
- Etame AB, Diaz RJ, Smith CA, Mainprize TG, Hynynen K, Rutka JT. Focused Ultrasound Disruption of the Blood-Brain Barrier: A New Frontier for Therapeutic Delivery in Molecular Neurooncology. *Neurosurg Focus* (2012) 32:E3. doi: 10.3171/2011.10.FOCUS11252
- Karmur BS, Philteos J, Abbasian A, Zacharia BE, Lipsman N, Levin V, et al. Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption in Neuro-Oncology: Strategies, Failures, and Challenges to Overcome. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:563840. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.563840
- Liu G, Rui W, Zheng H, Huang D, Yu F, Zhang Y, et al. CXCR2-Modified CAR-T Cells Have Enhanced Trafficking Ability That Improves Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50:712–24. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948457
- Jin L, Tao H, Karachi A, Long Y, Hou AY, Na M, et al. CXCR1- or CXCR2-Modified CAR T Cells Co-Opt IL-8 for Maximal Antitumor Efficacy in Solid Tumors. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:4016. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11869-4
- Bell M, Gottschalk S. Engineered Cytokine Signaling to Improve CAR T Cell Effector Function. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:684642. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.684642
- Prinzing B, Zebley CC, Petersen CT, Fan Y, Anido AA, Yi Z, et al. Deleting DNMT3A in CAR T Cells Prevents Exhaustion and Enhances Antitumor Activity. *Sci Transl Med* (2021) 13:eabh0272. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abh0272
- 96. Stadtmauer EA, Fraietta JA, Davis MM, Cohen AD, Weber KL, Lancaster E, et al. CRISPR-Engineered T Cells in Patients With Refractory Cancer. *Science* (2020) 367(6481):eaba7365. doi: 10.1126/science.aba7365
- Heitzeneder S, Bosse KR, Zhu Z, Zhelev D, Majzner RG, Radosevich MT, et al. GPC2-CAR T Cells Tuned for Low Antigen Density Mediate Potent Activity Against Neuroblastoma Without Toxicity. *Cancer Cell* (2022) 40:53–69 e9. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2021.12.005
- Lynn RC, Weber EW, Sotillo E, Gennert D, Xu P, Good Z, et al. C-Jun Overexpression in CAR T Cells Induces Exhaustion Resistance. *Nature* (2019) 576:293–300. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1805-z

- Liu G, Rui W, Zhao X, Lin X. Enhancing CAR-T Cell Efficacy in Solid Tumors by Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2021) 18:1085–95. doi: 10.1038/s41423-021-00655-2
- 100. Bourhis M, Palle J, Galy-Fauroux I, Terme M. Direct and Indirect Modulation of T Cells by VEGF-A Counteracted by Anti-Angiogenic Treatment. Front Immunol (2021) 12:616837. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.616837
- 101. Saeed A, Park R, Sun W. The Integration of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors With VEGF Targeted Agents in Advanced Gastric and Gastroesophageal Adenocarcinoma: A Review on the Rationale and Results of Early Phase Trials. J Hematol Oncol (2021) 14:13. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01034-0
- 102. Bocca P, Di Carlo E, Caruana I, Emionite L, Cilli M, De Angelis B, et al. Bevacizumab-Mediated Tumor Vasculature Remodelling Improves Tumor Infiltration and Antitumor Efficacy of GD2-CAR T Cells in a Human Neuroblastoma Preclinical Model. Oncoimmunology (2017) 7:e1378843. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1378843
- 103. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic Agents can Increase Lymphocyte Infiltration Into Tumor and Enhance the Effectiveness of Adoptive Immunotherapy of Cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70:6171–80. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0153
- 104. Zhao R, Cui Y, Zheng Y, Li S, Lv J, Wu Q, et al. Human Hyaluronidase PH20 Potentiates the Antitumor Activities of Mesothelin-Specific CAR-T Cells Against Gastric Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:660488. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.660488
- 105. Caruana I, Savoldo B, Hoyos V, Weber G, Liu H, Kim ES, et al. Heparanase Promotes Tumor Infiltration and Antitumor Activity of CAR-Redirected T Lymphocytes. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:524–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3833
- 106. Long AH, Haso WM, Shern JF, Wanhainen KM, Murgai M, Ingaramo M, et al. 4-1BB Costimulation Ameliorates T Cell Exhaustion Induced by Tonic Signaling of Chimeric Antigen Receptors. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:581–90. doi: 10.1038/nm.3838
- 107. Weber EW, Parker KR, Sotillo E, Lynn RC, Anbunathan H, Lattin J, et al. Transient Rest Restores Functionality in Exhausted CAR-T Cells Through Epigenetic Remodeling. *Science* (2021) 372(6537):eaba1786. doi: 10.1126/ science.aba1786
- Grosser R, Cherkassky I, Chintala N, Adusumili PS. Combination Immunotherapy With CAR T Cells and Checkpoint Blockade for the Treatment of Solid Tumors. *Cancer Cell* (2019) 36:471–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.09.006
- 109. Peereboom DM, Alban TJ, Grabowski MM, Alvarado AG, Otvos B, Bayik D, et al. Metronomic Capecitabine as an Immune Modulator in Glioblastoma Patients Reduces Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. JCI Insight (2019) 4 (22):e130748. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.130748
- 110. Gebhardt C, Simon SCS, Weber R, Gries M, Mun DH, Reinhard R, et al. Potential Therapeutic Effect of Low-Dose Paclitaxel in Melanoma Patients Resistant to Immune Checkpoint Blockade: A Pilot Study. *Cell Immunol* (2021) 360:104274. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104274
- 111. Xu WL, Shi BJ, Li SL, Yu FX, Guo LN, Li M, et al. Targeted Inhibition of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment by Low-Dose Doxorubicin to Improve Immune Efficacy in Murine Neuroblastoma. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2020) 134:334–43. doi: 10.1097/CM9.000000000001234
- 112. Long AH, Highfill SL, Cui Y, Smith JP, Walker AJ, Ramakrishna S, et al. Reduction of MDSCs With All-Trans Retinoic Acid Improves CAR Therapy Efficacy for Sarcomas. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4:869–80. doi: 10.1158/ 2326-6066.CIR-15-0230
- 113. Tobin RP, Jordan KR, Robinson WA, Davis D, Borges VF, Gonzalez R, et al. Targeting Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Using All-Trans Retinoic Acid in Melanoma Patients Treated With Ipilimumab. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2018) 63:282–91. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.08.007
- 114. Cannarile MA, Weisser M, Jacob W, Jegg AM, Ries CH, Ruttinger D. Colony-Stimulating Factor 1 Receptor (CSF1R) Inhibitors in Cancer Therapy. J Immunother Cancer (2017) 5:53. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0257-y
- 115. Tap WD, Gelderblom H, Palmerini E, Desai J, Bauer S, Blay JY, et al. Pexidartinib Versus Placebo for Advanced Tenosynovial Giant Cell Tumour (ENLIVEN): A Randomised Phase 3 Trial. Lancet (2019) 394:478–87. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30764-0

Author Disclaimer: The content of this publication does not necessarily reflect the views of policies of the Department of Health and Human Services, nor does
mention of trade names, commercial products, or organizations imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ligon, Wessel, Shah and Glod. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cancer Therapy With TCR-Engineered T Cells: Current Strategies, Challenges, and Prospects

Paul Shafer^{1,2,3*}, Lauren M. Kelly^{1,2,4} and Valentina Hoyos^{1,2}

¹ Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Texas Children's Hospital and Houston Methodist Hospital, Houston, TX, United States, ² Dan L. Duncan Cancer Center, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, ³ Program in Immunology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, ⁴ Program in Cancer & Cell Biology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul G. Schlegel, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Matthias Eyrich, University Hospital Würzburg, Germany Federico Simonetta, Geneva University Hospitals (HUG), Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Paul Shafer paul.shafer@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 December 2021 Accepted: 10 February 2022 Published: 03 March 2022

Citation:

Shafer P, Kelly LM and Hoyos V (2022) Cancer Therapy With TCR-Engineered T Cells: Current Strategies, Challenges, and Prospects. Front. Immunol. 13:835762. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.835762 To redirect T cells against tumor cells, T cells can be engineered *ex vivo* to express cancerantigen specific T cell receptors (TCRs), generating products known as TCR-engineered T cells (TCR T). Unlike chimeric antigen receptors (CARs), TCRs recognize HLA-presented peptides derived from proteins of all cellular compartments. The use of TCR T cells for adoptive cellular therapies (ACT) has gained increased attention, especially as efforts to treat solid cancers with ACTs have intensified. In this review, we describe the differing mechanisms of T cell antigen recognition and signal transduction mediated through CARs and TCRs. We describe the classes of cancer antigens recognized by current TCR T therapies and discuss both classical and emerging pre-clinical strategies for antigenspecific TCR discovery, enhancement, and validation. Finally, we review the current landscape of clinical trials for TCR T therapy and discuss what these current results indicate for the development of future engineered TCR approaches.

Keywords: T cell receptor, TCR, chimeric antigen receptor, CAR, TCR-engineered T cells, TCR T, adoptive cell therapy

INTRODUCTION

The past decades have seen rapid advancements in our understanding of the mechanisms underlying the antitumor function of immune cells, and as such adoptive cell therapy (ACT) strategies have emerged as a major platform of cancer therapeutics. A milestone in ACT was the success of tumor infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) therapy for metastatic melanoma beginning in the 1980s (1). While TIL therapy remains an important ACT modality, the manufacture of TIL products is logistically challenging. ACT efforts have thus largely transitioned towards strategies to engineer peripheral blood T cells with receptors that confer desired antigen specificity. These predominantly include chimeric antigen receptor T cell (CAR T) and T cell receptor engineered T cell (TCR T) therapies. Due to the remarkable efficacy of CAR T therapies in treating B cell malignancies (2), interest in CAR T therapy has eclipsed that of TCR T therapy. However, TCR T therapy is gaining interest as CAR T trials have so far failed to elicit satisfactory responses in the treatment of solid cancers (2), and many believe TCRs may be better suited for the treatment of solid

cancers (3). Indeed, exciting clinical results are now emerging that demonstrate safety and efficacy of TCR T therapies in both hematological and solid cancers. In this review we describe the biology of TCRs and tumor antigen targets and discuss state of the art techniques for TCR discovery and preclinical assessment. Finally, we describe the current landscape of TCR T trials and the challenges that remain.

BIOLOGY OF TCRs AND TUMOR ANTIGEN TARGETS

Redirecting T Cell Specificity Through Genetic Engineering

Conventional T cells recognize MHC-presented antigens through their T cell receptor (TCR), a disulfide-linked heterodimer comprised of an α and β chain. To form a functional receptor, TCR α/β heterodimers further complex with CD3 $\epsilon/\gamma/\delta/\zeta$ subunits (4–7). TCRs recognize enzymatically cleaved peptides that are presented at the cell surface by MHC molecules (pMHC). In humans, antigen-presenting MHC alleles are broadly classified as HLA class I (A, B, or C) or HLA class II (DR, DP, or DQ), which predominantly present cytosolic or extracellular derived peptides, respectively (4). The coreceptors CD8 and CD4 enhance TCR antigen sensitivity through interaction with MHC class I or II molecules, respectively (8). TCR binding to cognate pMHC leads to the phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) in intracellular regions of the CD3 subunits (5, 6), which results in T cell activation and initiation of effector functions including proliferation, cytokine secretion, and cytolysis via secretion of perforin and granzyme (Figure 1). In TCR T therapy, T cells are edited to express TCR α and β chains that confer a desired specificity. Here, introduced TCR α and β chains dimerize and complex with endogenous CD3 components to form a functional TCR that redirects T cell specificity towards an antigen of interest.

Another common method for redirecting T cell specificity is through the genetic transfer of chimeric antigen receptors



FIGURE 1 Antigen recognition by CARs and TCRs. CARs recognize surface proteins typically through an antibody-derived scr-V recognition domain. Antigen recognition leads to T cell activation *via* phosphorylation of ITAMs in a conjugated intracellular CD3 ζ domain. In the case of later generation CARs, ligand binding also leads to additional stimulation of conjugated costimulatory receptors (e.g. CD28, 4-1BB). TCRs recognize HLA-presented peptides which may be derived from any cellular compartment. Antigen recognition by TCRs leads to T cell activation through phosphorylation of ITAMs in the associated CD3 $\epsilon/\eta'\delta/\zeta$ subunits. Depending on T cell subtype, T cell activation through either receptor type will trigger effector functions including proliferation, cytokine secretion, and target cell killing through directed secretion of perforin and granzyme.

38

(CARs), which are broadly comprised of an extracellular-facing antigen-binding domain linked to an intracellular immune cell activation signaling domain. Most often, CARs recognize antigen through the single-chain variable fragment (scFv) of an antibody. In a typical CAR design, the antigen-binding scFv is linked *via* a hinge, or spacer, region to a transmembrane domain that is further conjugated to an intracellular CD3 ζ signaling domain. In this manner, antigen binding by the scFv drives CD3 ζ phosphorylation and downstream T cell activation. Later generation CARs include the addition of intracellular costimulatory domains such as CD28 and 4-1BB, which further improve CAR T function and persistence (**Figure 1**) (9).

TCRs vs CARs

While TCRs recognize antigens in the context of HLA presentation, CARs recognize natively folded proteins at the cell surface. Therefore, CARs overcome clinical limitations imposed by the HLA-restriction of TCRs. HLA encoding genes are the most polymorphic in the human genome, with over 20,000 HLA-class I alleles identified to date (10). Therefore, unlike CAR T therapy, patients selected for TCR T therapy must express not only the targeted antigen, but also the corresponding antigen-restricting HLA allele. For this reason, TCR T therapies typically utilize TCRs that are restricted to relatively common HLA alleles, such as HLA-A*02:01, which is present in about 47.8% and 16.8% of Caucasian and African American populations in the United States, respectively (11).

As CARs and TCRs utilize differing signaling mechanisms, they exhibit several important differences in their functional response to antigen stimulation. While TCRs can elicit a cytotoxic response to as few as a single pMHC molecule, CARs typically require thousands of target surface molecules to mediate an effective response (12–14). A consequence of the reduced antigen sensitivity of CARs is seen in patients with B cell malignancies who initially respond to CAR T therapy but subsequently relapse with progression of antigen-low cancer cells (15). Upon stimulation, CARs mediate supraphysiologic T cell activation, leading to enhanced cytokine secretion. For this reason, CAR T cells are more likely to cause cytokine release syndrome (CRS) in patients as compared to TCR T cells; however, recent advancements in treatment have made CRS generally clinically manageable (16, 17).

Tumor antigens recognized by CARs must be located at the surface of cancer cells. Conversely, TCRs recognize HLA presented peptides that may be derived from any cellular compartment. As transmembrane proteins constitute only an estimated 14-26% of the proteome (18-20), CAR-targetable antigens are considerably more limited. However, the repertoire of CAR-targetable antigens is extended to some degree by the ability of CARs to recognize not only protein antigens, but also other molecules like glycoproteins and glycolipids (21). This difference in repertoire of potential targetable antigens has significant implications for CAR T and TCR T therapies, which must aggressively target tumor cells while avoiding toxicity directed towards healthy tissue. Indeed, expression of target antigen on normal cells can lead to T cellmediated destruction of healthy tissue, known as 'on-target offtumor' toxicity (22). Therefore, the degree to which a target

antigen is exclusively expressed by cancer cells is an important factor. So far, the primary success of CAR T therapy has been in the treatment of B cell malignancies targeting CD19, an antigen expressed ubiquitously on malignant and healthy B cells. While CD19-directed CAR T therapy leads to ablation of both malignant and healthy B cells, such on-target off-tumor toxicity is clinically manageable through replacement antibody therapy (22). However, in the case of many other types of cancer, including almost all solid cancers, such T cell-mediated ablation of healthy organ tissue is not clinically manageable, and thus target antigens with exclusivity of expression in cancer cells are best. Currently described tumor antigens with the greatest specificity of expression in cancer cells are predominantly intracellular derived antigens, accessible to TCRs but not CARs (23). Therefore, TCR T therapies may have an advantage over CAR T therapies in the ability to aggressively target cancer cells while minimizing toxicity.

TCR Targeted Tumor Antigens

Significant progress has been made in identifying the precise cancer antigens that mediate immune rejection. While the nomenclature describing tumor antigens varies, widely studied classes of tumor antigens include tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), cancer-germline antigens (CGAs), and tumor-specific antigens (TSAs) (24–26) (**Figure 2**).

TAAs

TAAs are expressed by tumor cells but are also expressed in at least some healthy tissue. As a result, therapies targeting TAAs must contend with potential T cell mediated on-target off-tumor toxicity. TAAs are further classified as differentiation antigens or overexpressed antigens.

Differentiation antigens are expressed by cancer cells as well as normal cells of the same tissue origin. Melanoma differentiation antigens were among the first discovered tumor antigens and include the widely studied melanoma-associated antigen recognized by T cells (MART-1) (27) and glycoprotein 100 (gp100) (28). Among tumor antigens, differentiation antigens typically pose the greatest risk for on-target off-tumor toxicity. As discussed in further detail in a later section, clinical experience has demonstrated that targeting differentiation antigens is likely only clinically appropriate when antigen expression is restricted to dispensable healthy tissue, such as CD19-expressing B cells. Likely for this reason, only one TCR T clinical trial targeting a solid cancer differentiation antigen has been initiated since 2012 (**Supplementary Table 1**).

Overexpressed antigens are expressed at high levels in cancer cells but are minimally expressed in healthy cells. While targeting such antigens continues to pose a risk for on-target off-tumor toxicity, the differential expression between cancer and normal cells allows for the possibility of achieving a therapeutic window by which adoptively transferred T cells may destroy high-antigen expressing cancer cells with minimal destruction of low-antigen expressing healthy tissue. An example of a widely studied overexpressed antigen is Wilms' Tumor Antigen 1 (WT1), a transcription factor with 10- to 1000- fold higher expression in leukemic cells as compared to normal cells (29, 30).



FIGURE 2 | TCR-recognized tumor antigens. Viral antigens result from viral oncogenes which are not present in normal cells. Neoantigens arise from somatic mutations not found in normal cells. Viral antigens and neoantigens are collectively referred to as tumor-specific antigens (TSAs). Cancer germline antigens (CGAs) are derived from proteins that are normally only expressed in germ cells such as testis which lack HLA class I expression. Overexpressed antigens arise from proteins highly overexpressed in cancer tissue as compared to normal tissue. Cancer differentiation antigens are expressed by cancer cells and their expression is otherwise limited to only the normal cells of the same tissue origin as the cancer. Overexpressed antigens and cancer differentiation antigens are collectively referred to as tumor-associated antigens (TAAs).

CGAs

CGAs are aberrantly expressed in cancer cells while their expression in normal tissue is restricted to germline cells, such as those of testis, which lack HLA-class I expression, thus greatly reducing the risk for on-target off-tumor toxicity. As such, CGAs are currently among the most aggressively pursued targets for TCR-based immunotherapies. Examples of CGAs with high clinical significance include NY-ESO-1 and MAGE-A4, which are detected with high levels of expression in various solid and hematological cancers (31–35). However, several studies have reported that CGAs are heterogeneously expressed within tumors, which could limit potential therapeutic efficacy when targeting a single CGA (36).

TSAs

TSAs are genetically encoded in cancer cells but are not present in the genome of any normal cells. TSAs are further classified as viral antigens or neoantigens.

Many human cancers are caused by viral infections, such as human papillomavirus (HPV) (37), hepatitis B virus (HBV) (38), and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (39, 40). In many cases, virusdriven cancers are mediated by the expression of viral oncogenes that drive cellular transformation and cancer progression (41– 43). As viral oncogenes are often homogenously expressed in virus-driven cancers, and their expression is nearly absent in normal cells, they represent highly attractive tumor antigen targets. Specific examples of clinically relevant viral antigens include the HPV viral oncogenes E6 and E7, which are expressed in several types of epithelial carcinoma (37, 44, 45), and the EBV viral oncogenes LMP1 and LMP2, which are expressed in several solid and hematological cancers (40, 46–49).

Genomic instability is a cardinal feature of cancer (50), which results in the accumulation of many tumor-specific mutations. Some of these mutations will give rise to new proteins, or neoantigens. As neoantigens are expressed exclusively by cancer cells, these serve as attractive targets for ACT that would pose essentially no risk for on-target off-tumor toxicity. However, a challenge is that the vast majority of cancer mutations are so-called bystander mutations, which do not enhance the fitness of the cancer cell. Such random, non-selected mutations are typically heterogeneously expressed and are unlikely to be shared across patients, rendering them ineffective antigen targets. Conversely, a small fraction of cancer mutations improve cellular fitness and directly promote cancer progression, which are known as driver mutations. These mutations may be expressed homogenously by cancer cells and shared among patients within particular cancer types (51-54). If immunogenic and restricted to a common HLA, such driver mutations give rise to so called 'public neoantigens' (55-57). While few public neoantigens have been discovered so far, these highly selective targets are of significant clinical interest. Examples of currently described public neoantigens include KRAS G12D/G12V, collectively found in 60-70% of pancreatic adenocarcinomas and 20-30% of colorectal cancers (58), and PIK3CA H1047L, detected in about 5% of metastatic breast cancers (59, 60).

STRATEGIES FOR THE ISOLATION AND TRANSGENIC EXPRESSION OF ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC TCRs

Enrichment of Antigen-Specific T Cells

V(D)J recombination of TCRs during thymic development results in a tremendous diversity of TCR sequences within the human T cell repertoire. It is estimated that in an average adult human, there are approximately 4×10^{11} total circulating T cells and an estimated 10^{10} unique T cell clonotypes (61). Thus, for the vast majority of T cell clones with specificity towards non-viral antigens, the clonal frequency in peripheral blood is far below what is needed to perform the various manipulations required to isolate antigenspecific TCRs given current technologies. Therefore, TCR isolation efforts generally begin with a method that allows for enrichment of T cells with the desired antigen specificity. The following section describes several common T cell enrichment methods employed for TCR discovery.

Expansion of Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes

In certain types of solid cancers there is often a large presence of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (62). Compared to peripheral blood T cells, T cells within the tumor tissue are often enriched in clones with tumor-antigen specificity. Several groups have used expanded TILs as sources for discovery of tumor specific TCRs (63–67). Of note, for decades *ex vivo* expanded TILs have in

themselves served as an effective ATC for several types of solid cancer (66–70). The TIL therapy lifelucel from Iovance has demonstrated strong efficacy in clinical trials and the company plans to submit for FDA approval (71).

Vaccination

T cells with specificity towards antigens of interest can be selectively expanded *in vivo* through vaccination strategies. A common approach is to vaccinate human HLA transgenic mice with an antigen of interest, which can result in robust enrichment of antigen-specific T cells harvested from the lymph nodes and spleen (46, 58, 72). In select cases, the peripheral blood of patients participating in cancer vaccine trials has been used as a source of antigen-enriched T cells for TCR discovery (73, 74).

Selective *In Vitro* Expansion of Peripheral Blood T Cells

Several strategies have been developed to stimulate peripheral blood T cells in vitro in an antigen-specific manner, driving the selective expansion of T cells with a desired specificity. Early pioneering work in this regard performed in vitro stimulations of peripheral blood T cells to preferentially expand virus-specific T cells (75-78). These stimulation methods have since been used to expand T cells enriched in specificity for TAAs (79-81) and neoantigens (60, 82, 83). These approaches typically stimulate T cells via autologous antigen presenting cells (APCs), usually dendritic cells (DCs), pulsed with the antigens of interest in the form of exogenous peptide or through cDNA/RNA delivery (60, 80, 82-84). In the case of patient-derived peripheral blood, several studies have shown that initial selection of PD-1+ and/ or antigen-experienced (CD45RO+CD62L+, CD45RO+CD62L-, or CD45RO-CD62L-) T cells can further enhance in vitro enrichment of tumor-specific T cells (82, 83, 85-87).

To overcome the requirements of generating autologous mature DCs for antigen stimulation, several groups have developed so called artificial antigen presenting cells (aAPCs). One common aAPC system uses the myelogenous leukemia cell line K562, which is negative for HLA-A, B, and DR. This cell line serves as a modular aAPC through the stable transduction of various HLA alleles and costimulatory molecules. Other cell-free aAPC systems have been developed that conjugate HLA and costimulatory molecules onto beads and nanoparticles (88–90).

Isolation of Antigen-Specific T Cells

After obtaining polyclonal T cell products that are enriched for T cells with specificities of interest, it is necessary to isolate the antigen-specific T cells from the bulk T cell population.

Approaches in this regard typically involve stimulating T cells with the cognate antigen of interest, and then isolating antigenresponsive T cells based on increased expression of known T cell activation-associated molecules. This includes antibody staining of transmembrane proteins that are transiently upregulated following T cell stimulation (e.g., 4-1BB and OX40 in CD8+ and CD4+ T cells, respectively), allowing for isolation of these cells by FAC sorting or magnetic bead separation (82, 83). Another approach is IFN- γ -capture, whereby antigen stimulated T cells are identified and captured based on production of IFN- γ , which is rapidly secreted by antigenstimulated CD8+ and Th1 CD4+ T cells. In certain cases, staining with peptide-HLA multimers followed by FAC sorting or magnetic bead separation is an efficient method to identify and isolate antigen specific T cells (63). However, this requires upfront knowledge of an antigen restricting HLA and minimal epitope. Although the repertoire of HLA multimer reagents is expanding, these reagents remain limited to relatively common HLA alleles.

TCR Sequencing

TCR α and β chains of T cells of interest are then cloned from cDNA through PCR amplification. However, a unique challenge is that their 5' regions are highly variable. To overcome this, one of two PCR variations are typically employed, 5' RACE or multiplex PCR (66, 67, 73, 79, 82, 91). The fact that TCR specificity is encoded by regions of two separate genes imposes a unique challenge for determining functional TCR sequences from a population of T cells; that is, once T cells are lysed for RNA extraction, the TCR α and β transcripts from each T cell clone intermix, making it ambiguous as to which TCR α sequence pairs with which TCR β sequence. Therefore, prior to sequencing the functional TCR α and β chain transcripts of antigen-specific T cells, it is typically required to first separate individual T cell clones. While by no means exhaustive, we outline here several classical and emerging strategies to isolate T cell clones for TCR sequencing.

Limiting Dilution

A classical method for obtaining T cell clones is the outgrowth of T cell clones in individual wells. In the limiting dilution method, T cells are diluted to obtain a cell concentration allowing for approximately one cell to be deposited into each well of a 96-well plate. An alternative method is to FACs sort the T cell population to deliver a single cell into each well. The goal is to obtain expanded clonal populations of the T cells of interest, which can then be additionally screened for antigen-specificity and sequenced *via* Sanger sequencing (27, 46, 72, 73, 84, 92–97).

Single Cell RT-PCR

Several studies have obviated the need to expand T cell clones following antigen-specific T cell separation by instead performing single cell RT-PCR to amplify TCR α and β chains. In such methods, single T cells are FAC sorted into wells containing RT-PCR reaction buffer, and from a single cell RT-PCR is performed and the TCR α and β chains are PCR amplified (66, 79, 82, 83, 91, 98). This method reduces the time and labor required for expansion of individual T cell clones; however, a downside to this approach is that confirmatory assays to assess antigen specificity cannot be performed on the T cell clones prior to sequencing.

Single-Cell RNA Sequencing

Single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNAseq) is a rapidly advancing technology that has emerged as a uniquely effective platform for TCR discovery, as it allows for single-cell assessment of cellular gene expression as well as the sequence of gene transcripts. As such, several recent studies have successfully used this platform for TCR discovery by stimulating T cells with antigens of interest and then performing scRNAseq. This allowed the researchers to identify antigen specific T cells through their increased expression of effector cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and/or IL-2, and from this same data set the researchers then obtained the sequences of transcripts for the TCR α and β chains from the activated cells (60, 65, 99).

PRECLINICAL ASSESSMENT OF CANDIDATE TCRs

TCR discovery efforts often yield sequences of several TCRs with a desired antigen specificity. How does one select an optimal TCR from this list of candidates? And once a lead TCR is selected, what preclinical evaluations can be performed that may predict the likelihood of clinical success? The following section describes several TCR features that are commonly evaluated in preclinical TCR studies.

HLA Restriction

Often the first characteristic of an isolated TCR that must be determined is its HLA restriction (Figure 3). Not only is understanding the HLA restriction of a TCR necessary to identify patients that may respond to a TCR T therapy, it is also needed to perform many of the experiments for preclinical assessment. In the case of several TCR discovery approaches, knowledge of HLA restriction is already incorporated into the pipeline, such as in the case of vaccination of HLA-transgenic mice or the use of HLA tetramers to select T cells, in which case the HLA restriction of resulting TCRs will be near certain. However, in TCR discovery approaches that do not incorporate a priori knowledge of HLA restriction, such as through stimulating with autologous DCs, HLA restriction must be determined experimentally. A commonly used approach is to deliver individual cloned HLA alleles into the nonhuman primate COS-7 cell line, which possesses antigen processing and presentation capabilities but does not express potentially confounding endogenous human HLA alleles. The COS-7 cells are then induced to express one of the HLA candidates and the antigen of interest through delivery of cDNA/RNA or peptide loading, and cocultured with TCR T cells. Here, the antigen restricting HLA is evident as the HLA that elicits a TCR T cell response, observed through functional responses such as cytokine secretion and/or 4-1BB/OX40 upregulation (58, 66, 82, 83, 87, 93, 100-104).

TCR Affinity/Avidity

The successful interaction between a TCR and the appropriate pMHC complex is a critical component of effective antitumor immune responses. TCR affinity and avidity describe the binding and kinetic interactions between the TCR and the pMHC (105). Affinity plays a central role in TCR sensitivity and specificity, and refers to the physical strength of the interaction (105–107). Affinity is quantified *via* surface plasmon resonance (SPR), a 3D interaction that measures binding in terms of an association rate (K_{on}) and a dissociation rate (K_{off}) (105, 107, 108). Together, K_{off} and K_{on} make up the binding constant (K_D), where K_D = k_{off}/



 k_{on} (105, 107). High affinity TCRs recognize lower levels of antigen, do not require the CD8 coreceptor, and can enable CD4+ T cells to recognize and lyse tumor cells in an MHC class I-dependent manner (106, 109).

TCR avidity usually correlates with affinity, and refers to the combined effect of multiple TCR-pMHC interactions, coreceptors (CD8), TCR density, and T cell functional status (105, 110). Different aspects of avidity (i.e. structural or TCR avidity) can be measured *via* staining with pMHC monomers or multimers with defined valency (105). TCR affinity, avidity, and the various kinetic constants all contribute directly/indirectly to functional avidity, which describes how well T cells expressing a specific TCR respond to decreasing abundance of peptide, and is sometimes referred to as antigen sensitivity (105, 108, 111). Assessments of TCR functional avidity typically include measurement of TCR T cell cytokine secretion or cytolytic function in response to target cells that are pulsed with titering concentrations of peptide.

Antigen Processing by the Standard or Immunoproteasome

HLA class I epitopes are peptide fragments, typically 8-12 amino acids in length (112, 113), generated through processing of ubiquitinated proteins by the proteasome. The proteasome is a

large protein complex responsible for the degradation of endogenous proteins that have been damaged or are not needed by the cell and have been tagged by ubiquitin conjugation. The subunits β 1, β 2, and β 5 of the proteasome's 20S catalytic core are associated with the three major catalytic activities of the proteasome. While proteasomes that incorporate subunits β 1, β 2, and β 5 are referred to as the 'standard proteasome', hematopoietic cells and cells stimulated with certain inflammatory cytokines (e.g., INF- γ , IFN- α , IFN- β , and TNF- α) alternatively express β_{1i} , β_{2i} , and β_{5i} subunits that displace β_{1} , β_{2} , and β 5 subunits in the proteasome, forming an isoform termed the 'immunoproteasome'. The immunoproteasome displays several biochemical differences that influence peptide cleavage activity. This results in the immunoproteasome producing peptide products with enhanced immunogenicity compared to the standard proteasome, as these immunoproteasome-generated peptides are more likely to contain C-terminal hydrophobic residues, which are associated with more efficient HLA-class I binding (24, 114). In addition, there are 'intermediate proteasomes' that contain a mixture of standard and immunoproteasome subunits, specifically substituting only \$5i or β_{11} plus β_{51} and result in a peptide repertoire similar to that produced by the immunoproteasome, but includes additional unique peptide products (24, 115).

Several tumor antigens have now been characterized as being produced by the standard, intermediate, and/or immunoproteasomes (101, 115-118). Because the dendritic cells used to enrich tumor specific T cells express predominantly intermediate and immunoproteasomes (115), it is likely that most preclinical TCRs will recognize antigens produced by immunoproteasome and/or intermediate proteasome. These cognate peptides may or may not be additionally produced by the standard proteasome. The proteasomal requirements of a cognate peptide can be determined in several ways. Many cell lines predominantly express the standard proteasome, but will upregulate immunoproteasome subunits in response to IFN-y. Therefore, the response of TCR T cells can be compared against antigen expressing cell lines with or without pretreatment with IFN-y (73, 101, 116, 117). Peptide proteasomal requirements have also been determined with further resolution by testing T cell responses against antigen expressing 293 cells with or without overexpression of specific inducible proteasomal β subunits (101, 115–117, 119). There is a growing appreciation of the importance of proteasomal processing dynamics in immunotherapies such as immune checkpoint blockade (120) and TCR T therapy (121). In cases in which a therapeutic TCR recognizes a peptide processed exclusively by the immunoproteasome, it may be useful to select patients whose tumors have confirmed expression of immunoproteasome subunits. As downregulation of immunoproteasome subunits has now been observed in some cancer types (122, 123), it is likely ideal for a therapeutic TCR to recognize an antigen that is generated by both the standard and immunoproteasome.

Safety Assessment of Lead TCRs

Of major importance is the identification of potential safety concerns of lead TCRs, as previous clinical trials have observed severe cases of both on-target off-tumor toxicities (124–126) and off-target toxicities (127, 128). This section describes state-of-the-art techniques to assess the safety of preclinical TCRs and their cognate-antigen targets.

In cases in which a candidate TCR targets a novel or putative TAA or CGA epitope, it is imperative to preclinically assess its pattern of expression and HLA-presentation in healthy tissue. The importance of such validation was made clear by the fatal neurotoxicity that occurred in two patients following administration of T cells expressing an affinity enhanced TCR recognizing an epitope shared by MAGE-A3 and MAGE-A12. Autopsy performed on these patients revealed infiltration of CD3+CD8+ T cells in the brain. Further investigation identified unexpected expression of MAGE-A12 in a subset of neurons in the human brain (129). Several strategies are now available for preclinical assessment of expression profiles of putative CGA or TAA targets that should be employed. Kunert et al. provide suggested strategies based on their experience of assessing the expression profile of a MAGE-C2 derived epitope that is now being targeted clinically (NCT04729543). As an early step in the assessment of putative TAAs or CGAs, the authors suggest consulting online databases such as The Human Protein Atlas (proteinatlas.org) and the CTdatabase (cta.lncc.br) (130), which compile extensive data throughout literature concerning RNA and protein expression of many genes in both healthy and cancerous tissue (131). An additional tool that has recently

emerged for the validation and/or discovery of CGAs and TAAs is the HLA Ligand Atlas (hla-ligand-atlas.org), an opensource, community resource of comprehensive human HLA ligandome data collected originally from 29 distinct nonmalignant tissues derived from 21 individuals (113). To experimentally and independently evaluate antigen expression in healthy tissue, Kunert et al. suggest performing qPCR on commercially available cDNA libraries derived from a wide array of healthy tissue types, and if possible, further evaluating protein expression by performing IHC on a panel of healthy tissue types (131).

In addition to establishing the safety of the cognate-antigen target, it is of critical importance to investigate potential offtarget reactivities of candidate TCRs. The clinical importance of such investigation was highlighted by the deaths of two patients resulting from off-target reactivity of an affinity-enhanced MAGE-A3-specific TCR towards a Titin-derived epitope expressed in cardiomyocytes (127, 128). Several preclinical strategies are now commonly employed by investigators to identify possible off-target reactivities of candidate TCRs. Several groups have identified specific amino acids within the cognate peptide that are necessary for TCR recognition. This is accomplished by mutating each residue within the cognate peptide and identifying the mutant versions unable to elicit a T cell response. The investigators then searched for all other human peptides containing an identical or similar amino acid motif through the use of webtools such as BLAST and ScanProsite, and then assessed whether these structurally similar peptides elicited a response by the candidate TCR (60, 63, 131-134). In cases in which one or several off-target peptides were identified, the researchers further investigated the immunogenicity of these peptides by determining TCR T cell response at titering concentrations (63, 131, 134) or determining if the off-target peptide is actually capable of being naturally processed (132, 133). While this approach is highly valuable for identifying cross-reactive peptides that are structurally similar to the cognate peptide, it would not identify structurally dissimilar peptides that mediate cross-reactivity (135).

Several groups have also assessed potential alloreactivity of therapeutic TCRs by performing functional assays in which TCR T cells are cultured with many different lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) expressing various HLA alleles (131–133). The utility of this approach is highlighted by Sanderson et al., who identified that a lead HLA-A*02:01 restricted MAGE-A4 specific TCR mediated an alloresponse to HLA-A*02:05, indicating that patients that express HLA-A*02:05 should be excluded from treatments using this TCR (133).

ENGINEERING STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE TCR SAFETY AND EFFICACY

Promoting Proper Pairing of TCR α/β Chains

TCR α/β chains form heterodimers largely through interactions within TCR constant regions. A challenge facing

TCR T applications is that the endogenous TCR α/β chains expressed by conventional T cells can pair with introduced TCR α/β chains. Several consequences arise from such TCR mispairing. Firstly, TCR mispairing reduces the surface expression of introduced TCRs, as a significant fraction of the introduced TCR α/β chains will participate in non-productive mispairings with endogenous TCR α/β chains. Furthermore, mispaired TCRs compete with the engineered TCR heterodimer for association with limiting CD3 components (136). A second consequence of TCR mispairing is the production of brand new TCRs that have not undergone thymic selection, and which may have unexpected specificity for autoantigens. Indeed, TCR mispairing was shown to cause lethal graft-versus-host-disease (GVHD) in mice (137), and led to the formation of alloreactive and autoreactive human T cells in vitro (138). However, incidence of GVHD has not been observed in human TCR T clinical trials to date, including early TCR T trials utilizing unmodified human TCRs (139). To avoid issues associated with TCR mispairing, the vast majority of TCR T applications now use at least one strategy to reduce TCR mispairing (Figure 4).

Murinization

Extending on the serendipitous observation that human T cells exhibited greater biological activity when engineered with a murine-derived TCR as compared to human-derived TCRs, Cohen et al. demonstrated that murine TCR α/β chains preferentially dimerize with each other in the presence of endogenous human TCR α/β chains. The investigators further demonstrated that preferential pairing of introduced TCRs is also achieved when the constant regions of human TCRs are replaced with murine constant regions (140). A concern of using engineered TCRs with murine constant regions is that the foreign murine sequences may elicit an immune response in patients, as has been observed in other cell therapy trials utilizing foreign proteins such as green fluorescent protein (141, 142) and the HyTK suicide gene (143). One study identified anti-murine TCR antibodies in the post-treatment sera of 6/26 patients treated with TCR T cells expressing fully murine TCRs. However, epitope mapping revealed that the antibodies were specific for the variable regions of the TCRs, not the constant regions (144). In a separate TCR T trail utilizing a human TCR with murinized constant regions, anti-TCR serum antibodies were not detected in any of the 11 patients screened (44). Together, these clinical findings suggest that murine TCR constant regions have low or negligible immunogenicity. Nonetheless, strategies have also been developed to partially murinize TCRs by substituting specific murine amino acid sequences (145, 146).

Additional Disulfide Bond

Endogenous TCR α/β chains form a disulfide bond between TCR α constant region (C α) residue 94 and TCR β constant region (C β) residue 130 (147). The proper pairing of introduced TCRs can be improved by introducing a second stabilizing disulfide bond through cysteine substitutions at C α residue 48 and C β residue 57, which increases interchain binding affinity of

introduced TCR α/β chains while decreasing binding affinity with endogenous TCR α/β chains (148, 149).

Transmembrane Hydrophobic Substitutions

The endogenous TCR α chain has a relatively low stability, which can be increased by substituting leucine and valine residues within the C α transmembrane region. TCR α chains containing these stabilizing mutations, termed α -LVL, demonstrate increased TCR surface expression and biological activity. While this strategy promotes pairing of an introduced TCR by stabilizing the TCR α chain, the TCR β chain remains unmodified and thus susceptible to mispairing. However, this can be addressed by incorporating the α -LVL substitutions into murinized TCRs, the combination of which can synergistically enhance TCR expression and biological activity (150).

Domain Swapping/Conjugation

Through TCR crystal structure analysis, Voss et al. identified several amino acids mediating TCR α/β dimerization. By swapping two such interacting residues, a C α glycine and C β arginine, the authors generated mutant TCR α/β chains with a similar propensity for dimerizing with each other, but with a significantly reduced propensity to bind with unmodified endogenous TCR α/β chains (151). Bethune et al. employed a similar strategy when they designed TCRs with large regions of C α and C β segments exchanged, referred to as dsTCR_c. Interestingly, mispairing of introduced dsTCR_c α/β chains with endogenous α/β chains was completely undetectable (152). Other examples of TCR domain swapping/conjugation strategies include swapping with $\gamma\delta$ TCR constant regions (152), replacing regions with CD3 ζ (153, 154) or CD28/CD3 ϵ (155), or conjugation to leucine zipper dimerization motifs (156, 157).

Single-Chain TCRs

To combine the antigen recognition properties of a TCR α/β heterodimer into a single chain, several groups have developed so-called three-domain single-chain TCRs (scTCR), which are composed of V α /V β regions fused by a short peptide linker and conjugated to a C β domain (153, 158, 159). To mediate signal transduction, three-domain scTCRs are typically further conjugated to CD3 ζ (153, 158, 160). Zhang et al. compared the function of nine three-domain scTCR constructs conjugated to CD3 ζ with or without conjugation to the additional stimulatory domains CD28 and Lck. Although the addition of both CD28 and Lck improved scTCR function, none of the scTCR constructs performed as well as native TCRs in terms of functional avidity (160). scTCR constructs utilizing CD3 transmembrane and signaling domains function independently of the CD3 complex (160), which theoretically allows for higher surface expression to be achieved with scTCRs than with native TCRs, as scTCRs are not limited by the abundance of CD3 components. The CD3independence of scTCRs may also be beneficial in applications where it is desirable to maintain levels of endogenous TCR expression. However, scTCRs utilize signaling mechanisms distinct from those of CD3-dependent native TCRs, which may partially explain the reduced functional avidity of scTCRs (160). To generate scTCRs that preserve CD3-dependence, Voss



FIGURE 4 | TCR modifications to prevent mispairing and maximize surface expression. Illustration of mispairing between endogenous TCR and engineered TCR. Murinized TCRs replace the human TCR constant regions with those of a mouse TCR constant region. The addition of an extra disulfide bond in the TCR constant region through cysteine substitutions stabilizes interchain binding affinity of engineered TCR α/β chains while reducing their binding affinity with endogenous TCR α/β chains. Stability of the engineered TCR α chain can be increased through select hydrophobic substitutions in its transmembrane region. Domain swapped TCRs invert large or specific segments of the engineered TCR α/β constant regions, which reduces propensity of engineered TCRs to mispair. Single-chain TCRs (scTCR) encode TCR antigen recognition and signaling domains into a single chain. Three-domain and two-domain scTCRs differ by the inclusion or absence of the TCR β constant region, respectively. Genome engineering strategies utilize RNA interference or endonuclease technologies to reduce or ablate endogenous TCR expression.

et al. designed a system whereby three-domain TCRs without CD3 ζ conjugation were coexpressed with a C α domain. In this manner, the three domain scTCR dimerizes with the coexpressed C α domain, presenting at the cell surface in a four-domain structure similar to that of a native TCR heterodimer. Intriguingly, these scTCR/C α constructs have similar functional avidities as native TCRs (161). However, Aggen et al. demonstrated that three-domain scTCRs continue to

mispair to some extent with endogenous TCR α chains due to the presence of the C\beta domain. To generate a scTCR system that completely eliminates mispairing, the group generated two-domain scTCRs, which utilize stabilizing V\alpha/V\beta mutations to obviate the need for a C\beta domain (162). To mediate signaling, two-domain scTCRs are conjugated to intracellular signaling domains such as CD3 ζ and CD28. Intriguingly, CD3 $\zeta/$ CD28 containing two-domain scTCRs are essentially CARs that utilize

a V α /V β antigen recognition domain. As such, two-domain scTCRs display features typical of CARs including CD3independent signaling and decreased sensitivity to low antigen density. However, unlike typical CARs, two-domain scTCRs are still dependent on HLA presentation (14).

Genome Engineering Strategies

Rather than modifying the introduced TCR, other strategies address mispairing through knock-down or knock-out of the endogenous TCR. Provasi et al. combined the use of zinc-finger nucleases (ZFN) to knock-out endogenous TRAC and TRBC genes with lenti-viral delivery of a WT-1 specific TCR. Here, the authors described an elegant, although relatively extensive manufacture system utilizing sequential rounds of TRAC/TRBC disruption, magnetic bead separation, and TCR α/β chain delivery. This resulted in a TCR T product with enhanced expression of the introduced TCR and a complete absence of endogenous TCR α/β chains (163). In a recent first-in-human trial, Stadtmauer et al. employed multiplexed CRISPR/Cas9 editing to disrupt T cell TRAC, TRBC, and PDCD1 genes in combination with lenti-viral delivery of a NY-ESO-1 specific TCR. In the four patient-derived products described in this report, disruption of TRAC and TRBC was achieved in an average of 45% and 15% of cells, respectively. However, as TRAC/TRBC edited T cells were not selected prior to lenti-viral transduction with the NY-ESO-1 TCR, a significant fraction of the TCR-engineered T cells likely continued to express endogenous TCR α/β chains (164). Several groups have also developed virus-free systems to deliver TCRs and/or disrupt endogenous TRAC/TRBC genes, which may also aid in improving TCR T clinical cost and feasibility. Davo et al. electroporated T cells with Dicer-substrate small interfering RNAs (DsiRNA) targeting the endogenous TRAC and TRBC loci, achieving an approximately 6-fold and 3-fold reduction in expression of TRAC and TRBC, respectively. The authors then electroporated the T cells with a codon optimized WT1-specific TCR that isn't recognized by the DsiRNA. This resulted in T cell products with relatively high engineered TCR expression (60.2% tetramer+) with no observable TCR mispairing. However, as transgene expression in this system is transient, this would likely necessitate multiple infusions in a clinical setting (165). Roth et al. used CRISPR/Cas9 editing to mediate targeted insertion of TCR α and β variable regions into the first exon of the TRAC and TRBC loci, respectively. This mediated the combined effect of disrupting the endogenous TCR α/β chains, while placing expression of the introduced TCR under physiologic control. A potential challenge of this approach is the relatively low editing efficiency, with about 3% of cells expressing the introduced TCR, which could therefore necessitate sorting and/or extended selective expansion (166).

Affinity/Avidity Enhancement

Given that affinity plays a central role in TCR function, the manufacturing of high-affinity TCRs is an attractive method to improve the efficacy of TCR T therapies. Naturally occurring TCRs, including those that recognize self/tumor antigens, have relatively low affinities as a result of negative selection (105, 167).

Methods to improve TCR affinity focus on the introduction of amino acid sequence (AAS) variations into the TCR complementarity-determining regions (CDRs). For example, single and dual AAS substitutions that enhanced the functions of TCRs specific for NY-ESO-1 (1G4) and MART-1 (DMF4, DMF5) were generated through overlapping PCR (168). These TCRs had affinities in the low µM and even nM range, which surpass the affinity of most naturally occurring TCRs, which range from 1-100 µM (106, 110). Yeast and bacteriophage display are additional powerful, high-throughput tools that can generate TCRs with affinities in the pM range (109, 167, 169). While these techniques are effective at identifying high affinity TCR variants, higher affinity has been associated with increased cross-reactivity (106, 109, 168). TCRs with affinities greater than the normal range (1-100 µM) are more likely to demonstrate cross-reactivity to similar or completely different peptides (109, 135, 170). In various studies of high affinity TCRs, increasing the affinity within the nM and pM range resulted in recognition of control antigen and antigen negative target cells (109, 168). Efforts to improve the affinity of TCRs should thus proceed with caution and thorough evaluation as these high affinity TCRs could have detrimental effects when used as patient therapies.

Recent work in TCR affinity maturation has focused on incorporating a more thorough assessment of the structure of the TCR and how it interacts with the target pMHC. Hellman et al. utilized a structure-guided design that incorporated both positive and negative designs (106, 170). In other words, they utilized mutations that either enhanced or weakened the interaction of the TCR with the MHC protein. These mutations redistributed the binding free energy in a way that forces the TCR-pMHC interaction to rely more on the presence of the correct target peptide, leaving less flexibility for off-target peptides. In the MART-1 specific DMF5 TCR, these structureguided modifications decreased cross-reactivity to MART-1 homologs and eliminated cross-recognition of a selection of divergent peptides. Structure-guided approaches, therefore, have the potential to improve ACT while minimizing the risk of off-target toxicities.

CLINICAL LANDSCAPE OF TCR T THERAPIES

Trends in TCR T Trials

As of October 3^{rd,} 2021, the search term "TCR" (and synonyms "T Cell Receptor" and "T Cell Antigen Receptor") in clinicaltrials.gov yielded 538 interventional trials. Through manual inspection of these trials, 119 were identified to include the adoptive transfer of TCR T cells. One TCR T trial that did not include these search terms (NCT04044768) was also identified and included in this analysis (**Supplementary Table 1**). The first TCR T trial was initiated in 2004 by Steven Rosenberg at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) targeting the melanoma differentiation antigen gp100 (NCT00085462). Since then, the number of new TCR T trials initiated has steadily increased, with a particular acceleration between the years of 2017 – 2019, in

which 51 new TCR T trials were initiated (**Figure 5A**). Of the TCR T trials to-date, 53% have been in phase I, 24% in phase I/II, and 22% in phase II. To date, no phase III TCR T trials have been initiated (**Supplementary Table 1**). The status of these TCR T trials was assessed as of November 3rd, 2021 (**Figure 5B**). There were 118 antigens targeted in the 116 TCR T trials with specified targets. Of the targeted antigens, the majority are CGAs (47%), followed by viral antigens (24%), tumor-associated antigens (21%), neoantigens (7%), and fetal oncogenes (3%) (**Figure 5C**). The CGA NY-ESO-1 is by far the most targeted

antigen in TCR T trials to-date (36 trials). Although not first targeted until 2014, HPV now constitutes the second most common TCR T target (10 trials). While the melanoma differentiation antigen MART-1 is the third most targeted antigen in TCR T trials (7 trials), these largely constitute early TCR T trials, as MART-1 targeted-trials have not been initiated since 2012 (**Figure 5D**). The majority of the TCR T trials to date have been for the treatment of solid cancers (85%), followed by hematological malignancies (9%), and trials targeting both solid and hematological cancers (2%). A small subset of TCR T trials



FIGURE 5 | Trends in TCR T trails initiated thus tar. TCR T trials registered in clicattrials.gov were assessed as of October 3rd 2021. (A) The number of new TCR T trials initiated each year and the cumulative number of registered TCR T trials by year. (B) Clinical status of the 120 TCR T trials. (C) Classifications of 118 tumor antigen targets in 116 TCR T trials with specified target antigens. (D) Ten most common targets in TCR T trials. (E) Diseases targeted in TCR T trials. (F) Frequency of 111 target antigen-restricting HLAs in 100 TCR T trials that specified HLA restriction. (G) Locations where TCR T trials have been conducted by country. (H) Primary sponsors of the 80 TCR T trials conducted in the United States.

have been for the treatment of HIV, CMV, or EBV infections (4%) (Figure 5E). More information about the precise disease targets of these TCR T trials can be found in Supplementary Table 1. Of the 100 trials with specified HLA-restrictions, 111 restricting-HLA alleles were listed, as some trials included multiple antigen targets and HLA restrictions. HLA-A*02 was by far the most common restricting HLA allele (80%), followed by HLA-A*11 (7%) and HLA-A*24 (5%). HLA class II restricted antigens were targeted in 3 trials, all of which were restricted by HLA-DP*04 (3%) (Figure 5F). The majority of TCR T trial locations were in the United States (56%), followed by China (18%), and the United Kingdom (6%) (Figure 5G). Among the 80 TCR T trials occurring in the United States, 44% were sponsored by the NIH, 28% by academic institutions, and 29% by industry. The support of industry in TCR T, which accelerated around 2017 (Supplementary Table 1), will likely aid in the development of later phase TCR T trials. The NCI has been by far the most active individual institution in United States TCR T trials, sponsoring 31 trials to date. Among academic institutions, the Fred Hutchingson Cancer Research Center has sponsored the most trials (7 trials), followed by the Johnson Comprehensive Cancer Center (6 trials). Among TCR T trials sponsored by pharmaceutical companies, Adaptimmune and GlaxoSmithKline have sponsored the most trials (8 trials each) (Figure 5H).

Assessment of Safety and Efficacy of TCR T Trials to Date

There is a quickly expanding body of literature detailing the results of TCR T trials. Clinical results encompassing over twenty-five TCR T trials are detailed in Table 1. This section discusses broad findings that have emerged from these early phase trials, particularly relating to TCR T safety and efficacy. Of note, many TCR T clinical protocols include lymphodepleting regimens prior to TCR T infusion, which has been demonstrated in early ACT trials to improve T cell engraftment and persistence. Many studies also include systemic administration of IL-2 following TCR T infusion to support T cell activity and persistence. Both interventions consistently induce various toxicities that, while undesirable, are generally clinically manageable. Detailed description of the impact of these interventions is beyond the scope of this review, but is extensively reviewed elsewhere (189-191). As such, discussion of toxicities observed in TCR T trials will focus on those mediated directly by the infused T cells. Finally, it is worth noting that to date all TCR T trials have been early phase and almost exclusively treating patients with highly advanced, treatment refractory disease.

Trials Targeting Cancer Differentiation Antigens: Evidence of Efficacy and On-Target Off-Tumor Toxicity

In one of the earliest TCR T trials, patients with metastatic melanoma were treated with autologous T cells transduced with a TCR (DMF4) recognizing the melanoma differentiation antigen MART-1. The objective response rate in these patients was relatively modest, with 2/17 (12%) patients achieving

durable partial responses. No TCR T induced toxicity was observed (171). In a later related study, patients were treated with TCR T cells that expressed a higher affinity MART-1 specific TCR (DMF5). Compared to the prior trial using the lower affinity DMF4 receptor, this trial observed enhanced efficacy, with objective responses observed in 6/20 (30%) patients. However, the increased biological activity mediated by the DMF5 TCR was also associated with the emergence of ontarget off-tumor destruction of melanocytes, leading to widespread erythematous skin rash (14 pts), uveitis (12 pts), and hearing loss (10 pts). Similar results were observed in patients treated with T cells expressing a high affinity mousederived TCR targeting the melanoma differentiation antigen gp100 (126). In a later study, three patients with metastatic colorectal cancer were treated with an affinity-enhanced TCR recognizing the cancer differentiation antigen carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA). While a partial response was observed in 1/3 (33%) patients, all three patients presented with severe transient colitis as a result of on-target off-tumor destruction of CEAexpressing colonic mucosa (124). Ultimately, these studies demonstrated that while TCR T therapies targeting cancer differentiation antigens can mediate objective clinical responses, they are often associated with potentially dangerous on-target off-tumor toxicities. Likely owing to this, few TCR T trials targeting cancer differentiation antigens have been initiated in the past decade (Supplementary Table 1).

Trials Targeting NY-ESO-1: A Safe and Effective Target

The CGA NY-ESO-1 has been the most widely targeted antigen in TCR T trials, and several groups have now published promising results from trials targeting this antigen. An early landmark trial treating patients with refractory melanoma or synovial sarcoma with TCR T cells expressing an affinityenhanced NY-ESO-1 specific TCR reported objective responses in 11/20 (55%) melanoma patients, including four durable complete responses, and 11/18 (61%) synovial sarcoma patients, including one durable complete response. No TCR T associated toxicities were observed (174). Later, a large study of synovial sarcoma patients treated with TCR T cells expressing an affinity enhanced NY-ESO-1 specific TCR (SPEAR T cells) observed clinical responses in 15/42 patients (36%), including one complete response, and 24/42 patients presenting with stable disease. These patients were also divided into treatment cohorts based on magnitude of NY-ESO-1 tumor expression and the lymphodepleting regimen they received. The greatest clinical responses were observed in a cohort of twelve patients (cohort 1) whose tumor expressed +2 or +3 NY-ESO-1 staining by immunohistochemistry in ≥50% of cells and who received a relatively intensive lymphodepleting regimen. Here, clinical responses were observed in 6/12 (50%) patients, including one complete response, and a median duration of response of 30.9 weeks (179). Of these twelve patients, five experienced cytokine release syndrome of grades 1 (2 pts), 2 (1 pt), or 3 (2 pts) (192). Several other studies reporting TCR T trials targeting NY-ESO-1 to treat various cancer types have also observed clinical responses

March 2022 | Volume 13 | Article 835762

TABLE 1 | Available TCR T trial results.

Ref	Year	Trial	Phase	Sponsor	Target	HLA	Construct Details	Disease	# Pts	Pre. Cond.	Combination	Responses	TCR T Induced Toxicity
124)	2011	NCT00923806	1/11	NCI	CEA	A*02:01	affinity enhanced	colorectal cancer	3 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	1/3, 33.3% (ORR/PR)	Severe colitis (3 pts)
(126)	2009	NCT00509496	Ш	NCI	gp100	A*02:01	TCR	melanoma	16 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	3/16, 18.8% (ORR) 1/16 (CR), 2/16 (PR)	Skin toxicity (15 pts), Uveitis (pts), Hearing loss (5 pts)
(171)	2006	Not Specified (NS)	NS	NS	MART-1	A*02:01	DMF4 TCR	melanoma	17 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2 Peptide vaccine	2/17, 12% (ORR/PR) 1/17 (MR)	None
(126)	2009	NCT00509288	Ш	NCI	MART-1	A*02:01	DMF5 TCR	melanoma	20 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	6/20, 30% (ORR/PR)	Skin toxicity (14 pts), Uveitis (12 pts), Hearing loss (10 pts
(172)	2014	NCT00910650	Π	JCCC	MART-1	A*02:01	DMF5 TCR	melanoma	10 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2 Peptide-pulsed DC vaccine	0/14, 0% (ORR) 7/14 (SD) <i>ORR assessed at Day</i> 90	Erythematous skin rash (3 pt Acute respiratory distress (2 pts)
(173)	2018	NCT01586403	I	Loyola University	tyrosinase	A*02	TIL1383I TCR	melanoma	3 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	1/3, 33% (ORR/PR)	Vitiligo (2 pts)
(174)	2015	NCT00670748	II	NCI	NY-ESO-1	A*02:01	1G4-a95:LY TCR (affinity enhanced)	melanoma synovial sarcoma	38 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2 ± AVIPOX- ESO vaccine	22/38, 58% (ORR) 5/38 CR, 17/38 PR	None
(175)	2019	NCT02366546	I	Mie University	NY-ESO-1	A*02:01 A*02:06	affinity enhanced TCR siRNA <i>TRAC/</i> <i>TRBC</i>	various solid tumors	9 pts	Су	None	3/9, 33.3% (ORR/PR)	CRS (3 pts)
(176)	2019	NCT02070406 NCT01697527	I	JCCC	NY-ESO-1	A*02:01	1G4-a95:LY TCR (affinity enhanced)	various solid tumors	10 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2, DC- peptide vaccine, ± ipilimumab	2/10, 20% (ORR) 1/10 (CR), 1/10 (PR), 4/ 10 (<i>tR</i>)	None
(177)	2019	NCT02869217	lb	University Health Network	NY-ESO-1	A*02:01 A*02:06	TBII-1301 (MS3II- NY-ESO1-SiTCR)	various solid tumors	9 pts	Су	None	2/9, 22.2% (ORR/PR) 5/9 (SD), 1 pending	CRS grade 1-2 (5 pts)
(178)	2019	NCT01352286	I/IIa		NY-ESO-1/LAGE-1	A*02:01	NY-ESO-1 SPEAR T cells (NY- ESOc259 TCR)	multiple myeloma (Post-HSCT)	25 pts	melphalan	lenalidomide	21/25, 84% (ORR) 2/25 (sCR), 1/25 (CR), 13/25 (VGPR), 5/25 (PR), 4/25 (SD)	GVHD (6 pts). Likely not related to the engineered TC
(179)	2019	NCT01343043	1/11	GlaxoSmithKline	NY-ESO-1	A*02	NY-ESO-1 SPEAR T cells	synovial sarcoma	42 pts	Cy ± Flu as per cohort	None	15/42, 35.7% (ORR) 1/42 (CR), 14/42 (PR), 24/42 (SD)	CRS grades 1 (2 pts), 2 (1 pts), and 3 (2 pts)
(164)	2020	NCT03399448	I	University of Pennsylvania	NY-ESO-1	A*02:01	8F TCR, CRISPR KO <i>TRAC/TRBC/PDCD1</i>	multiple myeloma, MRCLS	3 pts	Cy + Flu	None	0/3, 0% (ORR) 2/3 (SD)	None
(128)	2013	NCT01350401 NCT01352286	1/11	Adaptimmune GlaxoSmithKline	MAGE-A3	A*01	MAGE-A3a3a TCR (affinity enhanced)	melanoma, myeloma (Post-ASCT)	2 pts	Cy (melanoma pts)	None	NA	Off-target toxicity in cardiac tissue leading to 2 pt deaths
(129)	2013	NCT01273181	1/11	NCI	MAGE-A3	A*02:01	affinity enhanced TCR	various solid tumors	9 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	5/9, 55.6% (ORR) 1/9 (CR), 4/9 (PR)	Neurological toxicity (3 pts) 2 pt deaths.
(194)	2017	NCT02111850	1/11	NCI	MAGE-A3	DPB1*04:01		various solid tumors	17 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	4/17, 23.5% (ORR) 1/17 (CR), 3/17 (PR)	Fever (10 pts), Elevated ALT, AST, and creatinine (2 pts)
(181)	2015	UMIN000002395	I	Mie University	MAGE-A4	A*24:02		esophageal cancer	10 pts	None	Peptide vaccine	0/10, 0% (ORR/PR) 3/10 SD	None
(182)	2020	NCT03132922	I	Adaptimmune	MAGE-A4	A*02	ADP-A2M4 SPEAR T cells	various solid tumors	34 pts	Cy + Flu	None	7/28, 25% (ORR/PR) 11/28 (SD)	2 pt related deaths (aplastic anemia and CVA), not likely o target toxicity
(183)	2020	NCT04044859	I	Adaptimmune	MAGE-A4	A*02	ADP-A2M4CD8 SPEAR T cells	various solid tumors	5 pts	Cy + Flu	None	2/5, 40% (ORR/PR) 3/5 (SD)	No DLTs or SAEs
(184)	2021	NCT04044768	II	Adaptimmune	MAGE-A4	A*02	ADP-A2M4 SPEAR T cells	synovial sarcoma, MRCLS	37 pts	Cy + Flu	None	13/33, 39% (ORR) 11/33 (PR), 2/33 (CR), 15/33 (SD)	CRS grades 1-2 (21 pts), 3 (pt)
(185)	2018	NCT02989064 NCT02592577	I	Adaptimmune	MAGE-A10	A*02	MAGE-A10c796 TCR (affinity enhanced)	various solid tumors	8 pts	Cy ± Flu	None	0/8, 0% (ORR/PR)	CRS (1 pt), Increase in serun amylase (1 pt)
(186)	2019	NCT02280811	1/11	NCI	E6	A*02:01	E6 TCR	HPV-associated solid cancers	12 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	2/12, 16.7% (ORR/ PR)	None
(44)	2021	NCT02858310	1	NCI	E7	A*02:01	E7 TCR	HPV-associated carcinomas	12 pts	Cy + Flu	IL-2	4/12 (SD) 6/12, 50% (ORR/PR) 4/12 (SD)	1 DLT, not likely off target toxicity
(187)	2017	UMIN000011519	I	Several sponsors	WT1	A*24:02	TAK-1 TCR, siTCR	AML, MDS	8 pts	None	Peptide vaccine	Transient decrease of blasts in BM in 2 pts. SD in 1 pt.	No adverse events greater than grade 3
(188)	2019	NCT01640301	1/11	Fred Hutchinson CRC	WT1	A*02:01	TCR_{C4} , Allo EBV-specific T cells	AML (Post-HCT)	12 pts	None	IL-2	100% RFS vs 54% in comparative group	GVHD in several patients, no likely caused by TCR T cells, but rather HCT.

NA, Not Applicable. Bolded values highlight the overall response rates of the trials.

without instances of on- or off- target toxicity attributed to TCR T cells (164, 176–178, 193). Together, these studies demonstrate that NY-ESO-1 targeting TCR T therapies are safe and capable of eliciting potent antitumor responses.

Trials Targeting MAGE-A Family Antigens: Early Toxicity and Recent Success

The MAGE-A family of proteins have also served as highly attractive CGA targets, and results from several TCR T trials targeting members of this family are now available. Unfortunately, two early reports of trials targeting MAGE-A3 described fatal TCR T mediated toxicity. In one study, two patients treated with TCR T cells expressing an affinity enhanced MAGE-A3 specific TCR died of cardiac toxicity following TCR T infusion. Post hoc investigation into the cause of these fatalities revealed cross-reactivity of the affinity enhanced TCR towards Titin expressed in cardiomyocytes (127, 128). This study emphasized the need for extensive preclinical investigation into potential off-target reactivities of lead TCRs. In a study published the same year, nine patients with metastatic cancer were treated with TCR T cells expressing an affinity enhanced TCR recognizing a similar MAGE-A3 and MAGE-A12 epitope. Clinical responses were achieved in 5/9 (56%) of patients, including a durable complete response in one patient. However, three patients experienced severe neurotoxicity following TCR T cell infusion, with two patients dying as a result. Post hoc analysis identified unexpected expression of MAGE-A12 in a subset of neurons in the brain, and the observed toxicity was thus presumed to be due to ontarget off-tumor recognition of MAGE-A12 the brain (129). This study demonstrated the need for extensive preclinical characterization of cognate antigen targets in healthy tissue. A later study targeted MAGE-A3 with a high affinity HLA-DPB1*04:01 restricted TCR derived from a T regulatory cell. Objective responses were achieved in 4/17 (24%) of patients, with one patient achieving a durable complete response. Following TCR T treatment, one patient experienced grade 4 toxicities including increased ALT, AST, and creatinine, and eventually developed respiratory failure requiring hospitalization. A second patient experienced grade 3 toxicities of increased ALT, AST, and creatinine lasting two days. The cause of these toxicities was not described (194). Two recent reports of phase I trials of TCR T cells expressing an affinity-enhanced TCR specific for MAGE-A4 (ADP-A2M4 SPEAR T cells) to treat various solid cancers observed antitumor responses without evidence of serious TCR T mediated toxicity (182, 183). This year, Adaptimmune reported results of a phase II trial of ADP-A2M4 SPEAR T cells (now afamitresgene autoleucel) to treat patients with synovial sarcoma or myxoid/round cell liposarcoma (MRCLS). Here, objective responses were observed in 13/33 (39.4%) patients, including two durable complete responses, and disease control was achieved in 28/33 (84.8%) patients. Grades 1-2 CRS were observed in 21 patients and grade 3 CRS was observed in one patient. Based on this data, the company plans to file for afamitresgene autoleucel approval next year (184). In summary, results of early TCR T trials targeting MAGE-A3 demonstrated the need for more extensive preclinical testing of both on-target and off-target effects of lead TCRs and enhanced preclinical safety assessment strategies have emerged as a result of these studies. However, recent trials of Adaptimmune's MAGE-A4-targeting afamitresgene autoleucel have demonstrated strong efficacy treating solid cancers in the absence of major TCR T cell mediated toxicity and may be nearing FDA approval.

Emerging Targets

Recent results have demonstrated efficacy of TCR T cells targeting HPV antigens in patients with various HPVassociated solid cancers. Relatively modest efficacy was achieved in a study treating twelve patients with TCR T cells expressing an E6-specific TCR, with objective responses observed in 2/12 (17%) patients, with no dose-limiting toxicities (186). In a related study using a higher affinity TCR recognizing E7, objective responses were achieved in 6/12 (50%) patients, with one dose-limiting toxicity that was presumably unrelated to TCR T mediated toxicity (44). However, the duration of clinical responses observed in both trials were relatively short (2 - 9 months). Recent studies have also demonstrated safety and efficacy of TCR T trials targeting the cancer overexpression antigen WT1. In one study, twelve AML patients at high risk for relapse following hematopoietic cell transplant (HCT) were treated with allogenic EBV-specific T cells engineered to express a WT1 specific TCR. Relapse free survival was achieved in 100% of the TCR T treated patients, as compared to 54% relapse free survival post-HCT in a comparative group of eighty-eight AML patients at similar risk of relapse. Nine patients exhibited grade 1-2 GVHD following TCR T infusion, with one patient developing grade 3 acute GVHD. However, the GVDH was determined to be most likely caused by the use of allogenic T cells rather than the introduced TCR (188).

Experiences of TCR T vs CAR T Trials to Treat Solid Tumors to Date

Recent years have seen the emergence of clinical trials reporting on the safety and efficacy of TCR T therapeutics in the context of both hematological malignancies and solid tumors (Table 1). Several TCR T trials focused on the latter have achieved improved therapeutic outcomes as compared to those achieved in CAR T trials (195), and it now appears that TCR T therapeutics are closer to receiving FDA approval for the treatment of solid cancers. A possible explanation for this disparity lies in the biological differences between TCRs and CARs (Figure 1), including 1) the ability of TCRs to recognize HLA-presented antigens derived from any cellular compartment including high specificity antigens such as CGAs and viral antigens, 2) TCRs are considerably more sensitive to low concentrations of a target antigen as compared to CARs, particularly in the case of affinity-enhanced TCRs (12-14), and 3) unlike CAR T cells, engineered TCRs do not drive ligandindependent tonic signaling (196, 197), making them better equipped to maintain function in vivo. Ultimately, the aforementioned factors are speculated to play a role in the comparatively improved performance of TCR T therapeutics

targeting solid cancers, however, both fields are evolving rapidly with new antigen discoveries and further genetic engineering of the T cells, which should lead to improved efficacy in the upcoming solid tumor CAR T trials.

Remaining Challenges

Intense efforts have been made to understand and address factors that limit the efficacy and clinical applicability of T cell-based ACTs, including TCR T therapy. This section describes select challenges currently facing TCR T therapy and the strategies available to meet them.

Manufacturing Cost and Complexity

TCR T products typically require 1-3 weeks of manufacture and involve several relatively complex processing steps that must be performed in highly regulated good manufacturing process (GMP) facilities. Despite the relative complexity, current TCR T manufacturing processes generally result in high rates of successful product manufacture. However, the cost of these T cell products is high. This is demonstrated by the high costs of FDA approved CAR T therapies, which utilize similar manufacturing processes. For example, single infusions of axicabtagene ciloleucel or tisagenlecleucel cost \$373,000 and \$475,000, respectively (198). In response to this, a strategy under development by many groups is the use allogeneic, or off-the-shelf, TCR T and CAR T products. However, a major challenge facing this approach is the likelihood of GVHD mediated by allogeneic T cells. Strategies to mediate GVHD of allogeneic T cell products include the use of oligoclonal virusspecific T cells with tightly restricted antigen specificities (188, 199), invariant T cell subsets such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells (200) and iNKT cells (201), or TRAC/TRBC disrupted T cells (202). Another strategy to reduce the manufacturing cost of both TCR T and CAR T products is the use of non-viral gene delivery methods such as RNA electroporation (203, 204), transposons (205-207), and CRISPR/Cas9 (166).

T Cell Persistence

The ability of infused T cells to persist within the patient is an important factor mediating ACT antitumor efficacy (208). As such, intense efforts have been made to develop strategies that improve T cell persistence. Perhaps the most common strategy is to administer non-myeloablative lymphodepleting chemotherapy prior to T cell infusion, which alleviates competition of infused T cells with endogenous T cells for homeostatic cytokines such as IL-7 and IL-15, among other likely mechanisms (189). Several studies in mice have demonstrated that less differentiated T cell subsets (e.g., central memory and stem cell memory), have improved in vivo engraftment and persistence compared to highly differentiated T cells subsets (e.g., effector memory and terminally differentiated effectors) (209-211). As such, several strategies are now commonly employed to preserve less differentiated T cell subsets during ACT manufacture, including reduced expansion times and use of less differentiation-inducing cytokines (181, 212, 213). Some TCR T trials have further extended this approach by selecting specific T cell differentiation subsets prior to infusion (NCT02062359, NCT02408016). Another factor that limits T cell persistence is the paucity of costimulatory ligands within the tumor microenvironment. Several early TCR T trials performed coadministration of vaccines in efforts to provide TCR stimulation and costimulation *in vivo*. However, several of these studies failed to observe increased TCR T efficacy mediated by combination with vaccination (174, 176, 180). Genetic strategies to improve T cell costimulation include modified TCRs incorporating costimulatory domains (155) and coexpression of costim-only CARs (214) or domain swapped inhibitory receptors (215). Finally, several genetic strategies are also being explored to maintain T cell homeostatic cytokine signaling, including autosecreting IL-15 or IL-12 elements (216–219) and a constitutively active IL-7 receptor (220).

Immunosuppressive Tumor Microenvironment

Another obstacle faced by adoptively transferred T cells is the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME). The TME supports tumor survival by recruiting immunosuppressive cell types, including myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), regulatory T cells (Tregs), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) (221). Several pre-clinical studies of ACT are working to incorporate strategies to enable T cells to function in the hostile TME, including cotreatment with immune checkpoint blockade (222, 223), and genetic incorporation of inverted cytokine receptors (224) or MDSC targeting costimulatory receptors (214). A thorough understanding of the TME and its effect on T cells is necessary for the future success of ACT for solid cancers.

Tumor Intrinsic Escape Mechanisms

TCR T efficacy is influenced by the heterogeneity of cognateantigen expression by tumor cells. This is especially the case when targeting CGAs, such as NY-ESO-1 and MAGE-A family proteins, which are often heterogeneously expressed by tumors (36). Nonetheless, complete responses have been observed in patients treated with TCR T cells targeting NY-ESO-1 and MAGE-A family proteins (Table 1). This may be partially explained by a phenomenon known as epitope spreading, whereby the immune response mounted by the infused TCR T cells leads to priming and activation of endogenous T cells to other non-cognate tumor antigens. Indeed, epitope spreading has been observed in humans following vaccination (225) and ACT (226, 227). Several genetic engineering strategies have now been developed to promote epitope spreading, including constitutively expressing inflammatory cytokines IL-12 (217, 218) and IL-18 (228), CD40L (229), or the DC growth factor FLT3 (230). Another approach to address antigen heterogeneity is to genetically encode specificity towards multiple antigens. While several multitargeting approaches have been developed in the CAR T realm (231), far less progress has been made in the development of multitargeting TCR T therapies to date.

TCR T therapies are also susceptible to tumor cell escape through perturbations in APM pathways. Downregulation of HLA-class I and other APM components such as TAP1 has been observed in many cancer types (232, 233). The impact of these escape mechanisms has been clearly demonstrated in TCR T and TIL trials where mutations in tumor APM components resulted

in tumor escape and cancer progression (44, 67). These studies highlight an urgent need for strategies to address such tumor intrinsic mechanisms of escape, especially as we see further improvements of the antitumor efficacy of TCR T therapeutics. In cases of tumor downregulation of APM pathways, expression of these components may be recovered through administration of interferon (234) or epigenetic modifying drugs (235). Addressing cases where APM components are lost through hardwired genetic mutations is considerably more challenging. One strategy that has been investigated in mice is in situ gene delivery of $\beta 2M$ with an adenoviral vector (236). However, this approach delivered adenovirus into relatively small tumors (7 - 10 mm in diameter) by intratumoral injection, therefore it is unclear if this approach will be effective in patients whose tumors are large, inaccessible, and/or dispersed. Therefore, patients with hardwired loss of APM components will likely need to be treated with HLA-independent therapies such as CAR T. Interestingly, HLA-independent TCRs are also currently under development. These TCRs bind natively folded surface proteins similar to CARs, but possess binding affinities within the range of pMHC-TCR interactions (237).

CONCLUSIONS

Immunotherapies have swiftly risen to become one of the major pillars in cancer treatment. Among them, TCR-engineered T cell therapies are a rapidly growing, active, and evolving field. Since the first report of redirected T cell specificity through TCR transfer in 1986 (238), tremendous progress has been made in TCR T therapies and their applications. Emerging technologies and enhanced strategies have made TCR discovery efforts considerably more time and cost effective. This will allow for more groups to become involved in TCR targeting new tumor antigens and restricted to a broader range of HLAs. Several clinical findings from early TCR T trials have shaped the past decade of TCR T development. Toxicities observed in early trials

REFERENCES

- Rosenberg SA, Packard BS, Aebersold PM, Solomon D, Topalian SL, Toy ST, et al. Use of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Interleukin-2 in the Immunotherapy of Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. A Preliminary Report. N Engl J Med (1988) 319:1676–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJM 198812223192527
- 2. Weber EW, Maus MV, Mackall CL. The Emerging Landscape of Immune Cell Therapies. *Cell* (2020) 181:46–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.001
- Garber K. Driving T-Cell Immunotherapy to Solid Tumors. Nat Biotechnol (2018) 36:215–9. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4090
- Rudolph MG, Stanfield RL, Wilson IA. How TCRs Bind MHCs, Peptides, and Coreceptors. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:419–66. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.immunol.23.021704.115658
- Huang Y, Wange RL. T Cell Receptor Signaling: Beyond Complex Complexes. J Biol Chem (2004) 279:28827–30. doi: 10.1074/JBC. R400012200
- Anton van der Merwe P, Dushek O. Mechanisms for T Cell Receptor Triggering. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:47–55. doi: 10.1038/nri2887
- Davis MM. T Cell Receptor Gene Diversity and Selection. Annu Rev Biochem (1990) 59:475–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.59.070190.002355

have led to improved preclinical safety assessments of TCRs and a transition towards antigen targets with increased tumor specificity. Since 2015 there has been an influx of results of TCR T trials treating various solid cancers and hematological malignancies. Several of these trials have demonstrated impressive clinical responses in the absence of serious toxicities, and it now seems that the first approval of TCR T therapies for solid cancer may be around the corner. These early results give reason for optimism in the continued development of TCR T therapies for cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PS and LK contributed to the development, writing, and review of the article. VH contributed to the figures and review of the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Cancer Prevention and Research Institute of Texas (CPRIT) Grant ID: RR170024 and the Susan Komen Career Catalyst Research grant # CCR19606699.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Malcolm Brenner for editing the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 835762/full#supplementary-material

- Mørch AM, Bálint Š, Santos AM, Davis SJ, Dustin ML. Coreceptors and TCR Signaling – the Strong and the Weak of it. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2020) 8:597627. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.597627
- Abate-Daga D, Davila ML. CAR Models: Next-Generation CAR Modifications for Enhanced T-Cell Function. *Mol Ther - Oncolytics* (2016) 3:16014. doi: 10.1038/MTO.2016.14
- Robinson J, Halliwell JA, Hayhurst JD, Flicek P, Parham P, Marsh SGE. The IPD and IMGT/HLA Database: Allele Variant Databases. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43:D423–31. doi: 10.1093/NAR/GKU1161
- Gonzalez-Galarza FF, McCabe A, Melo dos Santos EJ, Jones J, Takeshita L, Ortega-Rivera ND, et al. Allele Frequency Net Database (AFND) 2020 Update: Gold-Standard Data Classification, Open Access Genotype Data and New Query Tools. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2020) 48:D783–8. doi: 10.1093/ NAR/GKZ1029
- Chandran SS, Klebanoff CA. T Cell Receptor-Based Cancer Immunotherapy: Emerging Efficacy and Pathways of Resistance. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 290:127–47. doi: 10.1111/IMR.12772
- Salter AI, Rajan A, Kennedy JJ, Ivey RG, Shelby SA, Leung I, et al. Comparative Analysis of TCR and CAR Signaling Informs CAR Designs With Superior Antigen Sensitivity and In Vivo Function. *Sci Signal* (2021) 14:eabe2606. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.abe2606

- Harris DT, Hager MV, Smith SN, Cai Q, Stone JD, Kruger P, et al. Comparison of T Cell Activities Mediated by Human TCRs and CARs That Use the Same Recognition Domains. *J Immunol* (2018) 200:1088–100. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1700236
- Majzner RG, Mackall CL. Tumor Antigen Escape From CAR T-Cell Therapy. Cancer Discovery (2018) 8:1219–26. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0442
- Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, et al. NY-ESO-1–Specific TCR–engineered T Cells Mediate Sustained Antigen-Specific Antitumor Effects in Myeloma. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:914–21. doi: 10.1038/nm.3910
- Frey N, Porter D. Cytokine Release Syndrome With Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Therapy. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2019) 25:e123–7. doi: 10.1016/J.BBMT.2018.12.756
- Fagerberg L, Jonasson K, Von Heijne G, Uhlén M, Berglund L. Prediction of the Human Membrane Proteome. *Proteomics* (2010) 10:1141–9. doi: 10.1002/PMIC.200900258
- Uhlén M, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Tissue-Based Map of the Human Proteome. *Science* (2015) 347:1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419
- Bausch-Fluck D, Goldmann U, Müller S, van Oostrum M, Müller M, Schubert OT, et al. The in Silico Human Surfaceome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2018) 115:E10988–97. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1808790115
- Ponterio E, De Maria R, Haas TL. Identification of Targets to Redirect CAR T Cells in Glioblastoma and Colorectal Cancer: An Arduous Venture. Front Immunol (2020) 11:565631. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.565631
- 22. Lim WA, June CH. The Principles of Engineering Immune Cells to Treat Cancer. Cell (2017) 168:724–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.016
- Watanabe K, Kuramitsu S, Posey ADJ, June CH. Expanding the Therapeutic Window for CAR T Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors: The Knowns and Unknowns of CAR T Cell Biology. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2486. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2018.02486
- 24. Vigneron N. Human Tumor Antigens and Cancer Immunotherapy. *BioMed Res Int* (2015) 2015:948501. doi: 10.1155/2015/948501
- Ilyas S, Yang JC. Landscape of Tumor Antigens in T Cell Immunotherapy. J Immunol (2015) 195:5117–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501657
- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour Antigens Recognized by T Lymphocytes: At the Core of Cancer Immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14:135–46. doi: 10.1038/nrc3670
- Kawakami Y, Eliyahu S, Delgado CH, Robbins PF, Rivoltini L, Topalian SL, et al. Cloning of the Gene Coding for a Shared Human Melanoma Antigen Recognized by Autologous T Cells Infiltrating Into Tumor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1994) 91:3515–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.9.3515
- Bakker ABH, Schreurs MWJ, De Boer AJ, Kawakami Y, Rosenberg SA, Adema GJ, et al. Melanocyte Lineage-Specific Antigen Gp100 Is Recognized by Melanoma-Derived Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes. J Exp Med (1994) 179:1005–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.3.1005
- 29. Cilloni D, Gottardi E, De Micheli D, Serra A, Volpe G, Messa F, et al. Quantitative Assessment of WT1 Expression by Real Time Quantitative PCR may be a Useful Tool for Monitoring Minimal Residual Disease in Acute Leukemia Patients. *Leukemia* (2002) 16:2115–21. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402675
- Inoue K, Ogawa H, Sonoda Y, Kimura T, Sakabe H, Oka Y, et al. Aberrant Overexpression of the Wilms Tumor Gene (WT1) in Human Leukemia. *Blood* (1997) 89:1405–12. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD.V89.4.1405
- Chen Y-T, Scanlan MJ, Sahin U, Tureci O, Gure AO, Tsang S, et al. A Testicular Antigen Aberrantly Expressed in Human Cancers Detected by Autologous Antibody Screening. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (1997) 94:1914– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.5.1914
- 32. Dhodapkar MV, Osman K, Teruya-Feldstein J, Filippa D, Hedvat CV, Iversen K, et al. Expression of Cancer/Testis (CT) Antigens MAGE-A1, MAGE-A3, MAGE-A4, CT-7, and NY-ESO-1 in Malignant Gammopathies is Heterogeneous and Correlates With Site, Stage and Risk Status of Disease. *Cancer Immun Arch* (2003) 3:9.
- Bergeron A, Picard V, LaRue H, Harel F, Hovington H, Lacombe L, et al. High Frequency of MAGE-A4 and MAGE-A9 Expression in High-Risk Bladder Cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 125:1365–71. doi: 10.1002/IJC.24503
- Duffour M-T, Chaux P, Lurquin C, Cornelis G, Boon T, van der Bruggen P. A MAGE-A4 Peptide Presented by HLA-A2 is Recognized by Cytolytic T

Lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol (1999) 29:3329-37. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199910)29:10<3329::AID-IMMU3329>3.0.CO;2-7

- 35. Yakirevich E, Sabo E, Lavie O, Mazareb S, Spagnoli GC, Resnick MB. Expression of the MAGE-A4 and NY-ESO-1 Cancer-Testis Antigens in Serous Ovarian Neoplasms. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9:6453–60.
- Scanlan MJ, Gure AO, Jungbluth AA, Old LJ, Chen Y-T. Cancer/testis Antigens: An Expanding Family of Targets for Cancer. *Immunol Rev* (2002) 188:22–32. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065x.2002.18803.x
- de Martel C, Plummer M, Vignat J, Franceschi S. Worldwide Burden of Cancer Attributable to HPV by Site, Country and HPV Type. *Int J Cancer* (2017) 141:664–70. doi: 10.1002/IJC.30716
- Perz JF, Armstrong GL, Farrington LA, Hutin YJF, Bell BP. The Contributions of Hepatitis B Virus and Hepatitis C Virus Infections to Cirrhosis and Primary Liver Cancer Worldwide. J Hepatol (2006) 45:529– 38. doi: 10.1016/J.JHEP.2006.05.013
- Thompson MP, Kurzrock R. Epstein-Barr Virus and Cancer. Clin Cancer Res (2004) 10:803–21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0670-3
- Khan G, Hashim MJ. Global Burden of Deaths From Epstein-Barr Virus Attributable Malignancies 1990-2010. *Infect Agent Cancer* (2014) 9:38. doi: 10.1186/1750-9378-9-38
- Pal A, Kundu R. Human Papillomavirus E6 and E7: The Cervical Cancer Hallmarks and Targets for Therapy. *Front Microbiol* (2020) 10:3116. doi: 10.3389/FMICB.2019.03116
- Yim E-K, Park J-S. The Role of HPV E6 and E7 Oncoproteins in HPV-Associated Cervical Carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res Treat* (2005) 37:319–24. doi: 10.4143/CRT.2005.37.6.319
- 43. Dawson CW, Port RJ, Young LS. The Role of the EBV-Encoded Latent Membrane Proteins LMP1 and LMP2 in the Pathogenesis of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma (NPC). *Semin Cancer Biol* (2012) 22:144–53. doi: 10.1016/J.SEMCANCER.2012.01.004
- 44. Nagarsheth NB, Norberg SM, Sinkoe AL, Adhikary S, Meyer TJ, Lack JB, et al. TCR-Engineered T Cells Targeting E7 for Patients With Metastatic HPV-Associated Epithelial Cancers. *Nat Med* (2021) 27:419–25. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-01225-1
- 45. Draper LM, Kwong ML, Gros A, Stevanović S, Tran E, Kerkar S, et al. Targeting of HPV-16+ Epithelial Cancer Cells by TCR Gene Engineered T Cells Directed Against E6. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21:4431–9. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-14-3341
- Cho H-I, Kim U-H, Shin A-R, Won J-N, Lee H-J, Sohn H-J, et al. A Novel Epstein–Barr Virus-Latent Membrane Protein-1-Specific T-Cell Receptor for TCR Gene Therapy. *Br J Cancer* (2018) 118:534–45. doi: 10.1038/BJC.2017.475
- Gottschalk S, Heslop H, Rooney C. Adoptive Immunotherapy for EBV-Associated Malignancies. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2005) 46:1–10. doi: 10.1080/ 10428190400002202
- Bollard CM, Gottschalk S, Torrano V, Diouf O, Ku S, Hazrat Y, et al. Sustained Complete Responses in Patients With Lymphoma Receiving Autologous Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Targeting Epstein-Barr Virus Latent Membrane Proteins. J Clin Oncol (2014) 32:798–808. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2013.51.5304
- Cho SG, Kim N, Sohn HJ, Lee SK, Oh ST, Lee HJ, et al. Long-Term Outcome of Extranodal Nk/T Cell Lymphoma Patients Treated With Postremission Therapy Using EBV LMP1 and LMP2a-Specific CTLs. *Mol Ther* (2015) 23:1401–9. doi: 10.1038/MT.2015.91
- Negrini S, Gorgoulis VG, Halazonetis TD. Genomic Instability an Evolving Hallmark of Cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2010) 11:220–8. doi: 10.1038/nrm2858
- Bailey MH, Tokheim C, Porta-Pardo E, Sengupta S, Bertrand D, Weerasinghe A, et al. Comprehensive Characterization of Cancer Driver Genes and Mutations. *Cell* (2018) 173:371-85. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.02.060
- Stratton MR, Campbell PJ, Futreal PA. The Cancer Genome. Nature (2009) 458:719–24. doi: 10.1038/NATURE07943
- Martínez-Jiménez F, Muiños F, Sentís I, Deu-Pons J, Reyes-Salazar I, Arnedo-Pac C, et al. A Compendium of Mutational Cancer Driver Genes. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020) 20:555–72. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0290-x
- 54. Reiter JG, Makohon-Moore AP, Gerold JM, Heyde A, Attiyeh MA, Kohutek ZA, et al. Minimal Functional Driver Gene Heterogeneity

Among Untreated Metastases. *Science* (2018) 361:1033-7. doi: 10.1126/ SCIENCE.AAT7171

- Armistead PM. Cellular Therapy Against Public Neoantigens. J Clin Invest (2019) 129:506–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI126116
- Pearlman AH, Hwang MS, Konig MF, Hsiue EH-C, Douglass J, DiNapoli SR, et al. Targeting Public Neoantigens for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Nat Cancer* (2021) 2:487–97. doi: 10.1038/s43018-021-00210-y
- Klebanoff CA, Wolchok JD. Shared Cancer Neoantigens: Making Private Matters Public. J Exp Med (2018) 215:5–7. doi: 10.1084/JEM.20172188
- Wang QJ, Yu Z, Griffith K, Hanada K, Restifo NP, Yang JC. Identification of T-Cell Receptors Targeting KRAS-Mutated Human Tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4:204–14. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0188
- Spoerke JM, Gendreau S, Walter K, Qiu J, Wilson TR, Savage H, et al. Heterogeneity and Clinical Significance of ESR1 Mutations in ER-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer Patients Receiving Fulvestrant. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:1–10. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11579
- Chandran SS, Ma J, Klatt MG, Dundar F, Bandlamudi C, Razavi P, et al. Immunogenicity of a Public Neoantigen Derived From Mutated PIK3CA. *bioRxiv* (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.04.08.439061
- Lythe G, Callard RE, Hoare RL, Molina-París C. How Many TCR Clonotypes Does a Body Maintain? J Theor Biol (2016) 389:214–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2015.10.016
- Balch CM, Riley LB, Bae YJ, Salmeron MA, Platsoucas CD, von EA, et al. Patterns of Human Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in 120 Human Cancers. Arch Surg (1990) 125:200–5. doi: 10.1001/ARCHSURG.1990. 01410140078012
- 63. Jin BY, Campbell TE, Draper LM, Stevanović S, Weissbrich B, Yu Z, et al. Engineered T Cells Targeting E7 Mediate Regression of Human Papillomavirus Cancers in a Murine Model. JCI Insight (2018) 3:e99499. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.99488
- 64. Lu YC, Zheng Z, Robbins PF, Tran E, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, et al. An Efficient Single-Cell RNA-Seq Approach to Identify Neoantigen-Specific T Cell Receptors. *Mol Ther* (2018) 26:379–89. doi: 10.1016/J.YMTHE.2017. 10.018
- Lu Y-C, Zheng Z, Lowery FJ, Gartner JJ, Prickett TD, Robbins PF, et al. Direct Identification of Neoantigen-Specific TCRs From Tumor Specimens by High-Throughput Single-Cell Sequencing. J Immunother Cancer (2021) 9:e002595. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-002595
- 66. Zacharakis N, Chinnasamy H, Black M, Xu H, Lu YC, Zheng Z, et al. Immune Recognition of Somatic Mutations Leading to Complete Durable Regression in Metastatic Breast Cancer. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:724–30. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0040-8
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-Cell Transfer Therapy Targeting Mutant KRAS in Cancer. N Engl J Med (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279
- Rosenberg SA, Yannelli JR, Yang JC, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Weber JS, et al. Treatment of Patients With Metastatic Melanoma With Autologous Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Interleukin 2. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst (1994) 86:1159–66. doi: 10.1093/JNCI/86.15.1159
- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP, Yang JC, Morgan RA, Dudley ME. Adoptive Cell Transfer: A Clinical Path to Effective Cancer Immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2008) 8:299–308. doi: 10.1038/NRC2355
- Wang S, Sun J, Chen K, Ma P, Lei Q, Xing S, et al. Perspectives of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocyte Treatment in Solid Tumors. *BMC Med* (2021) 19:1– 7. doi: 10.1186/S12916-021-02006-4
- 71. Lee S, Psyrri A, Sukari A, Thomas S, Wenham R, Gogas H, et al. Phase 2 Efficacy and Safety of Autologous Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocyte (TIL) Cell Therapy in Combination With Pembrolizumab in Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor-Naïve Patients With Advanced Cancers [Conference Presentation]. In: SITC. Washington, D.C., United States: J ImmunoTher Cancer (2021). doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-SITC2021.492
- Chinnasamy N, Wargo JA, Yu Z, Rao M, Frankel TL, Riley JP, et al. A TCR Targeting the HLA-A*0201–Restricted Epitope of MAGE-A3 Recognizes Multiple Epitopes of the MAGE-A Antigen Superfamily in Several Types of Cancer. J Immunol (2011) 186:685–96. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1001775
- 73. Kunert A, van Brakel M, van Steenbergen-Langeveld S, da Silva M, Coulie PG, Lamers C, et al. MAGE-C2–Specific TCRs Combined With Epigenetic Drug-Enhanced Antigenicity Yield Robust and Tumor-Selective T Cell

Responses. J Immunol (2016) 197:2541-52. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL. 1502024

- 74. Abrams SI, Khleif SN, Bergmann-Leitner ES, Kantor JA, Chung Y, Hamilton JM, et al. Generation of Stable CD4+ and CD8+ T Cell Lines From Patients Immunized With Ras Oncogene-Derived Peptides Reflecting Codon 12 Mutations. *Cell Immunol* (1997) 182:137–51. doi: 10.1006/CIMM.1997.1224
- 75. Heslop PIHE, Brenner MK, Rooney C, Krance C-IRA, Roberts WM, Rochester R, et al. Administration of Neomycin Resistance Gene Marked EBV Specific Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes to Recipients of Mismatched-Related or Phenotypically Similar Unrelated Donor Marrow Grafts. *Hum Gene Ther* (1994) 5:381–97. doi: 10.1089/HUM.1994.5.3-381
- 76. Greenberg SR, Riddell M, Rabin AP, Geballe WJ, Britt PD. Class I MHC-Restricted Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Recognition of Cells Infected With Human Cytomegalovirus Does Not Require Endogenous Viral Gene Expression(1991). Available at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/146/8/ 2795 (Accessed October 19, 2021).
- Reusser P, Riddell S, Meyers J, Greenberg P. Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Response to Cytomegalovirus After Human Allogeneic Bone Marrow Transplantation: Pattern of Recovery and Correlation With Cytomegalovirus Infection and Disease. *Blood* (1991) 78:1373–80. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD.V78.5.1373.1373
- Laubscher A, Bluestein HG, Spector SA, Zvaifler NJ. Generation of Human Cytomegalovirus-Specific Cytotoxic T-Lymphocytes in a Short-Term Culture. J Immunol Methods (1988) 110:69–77. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759 (88)90084-1
- Bethune MT, Li X-H, Yu J, McLaughlin J, Cheng D, Mathis C, et al. Isolation and Characterization of NY-ESO-1-Specific T Cell Receptors Restricted on Various MHC Molecules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2018) 115:E10702–11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1810653115
- Gerdemann U, Katari U, Christin AS, Cruz CR, Tripic T, Rousseau A, et al. Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Simultaneously Targeting Multiple Tumor-Associated Antigens to Treat EBV Negative Lymphoma. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:2258–68. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.167
- Leung WK, Workineh A, Mukhi S, Tzannou I, Brenner D, Watanabe N, et al. Evaluation of Cyclin A1-Specific T Cells as a Potential Treatment for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4:387–97. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2019000715
- Cafri G, Yossef R, Pasetto A, Deniger DC, Lu YC, Parkhurst M, et al. Memory T Cells Targeting Oncogenic Mutations Detected in Peripheral Blood of Epithelial Cancer Patients. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08304-z
- Malekzadeh P, Yossef R, Cafri G, Paria BC, Lowery FJ, Jafferji M, et al. Antigen Experienced T Cells From Peripheral Blood Recognize P53 Neoantigens. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26:1267–76. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-19-1874
- Arber C, Feng X, Abhyankar H, Romero E, Wu M-F, Heslop HH, et al. Survivin-Specific T Cell Receptor Targets Tumor But Not T Cells. J Clin Invest (2015) 125:157–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI75876
- Inozume T, Hanada K, Wang QJ, Ahmadzadeh M, Wunderlich JR, Rosenberg SA, et al. Selection of CD8+PD-1+ Lymphocytes in Fresh Human Melanomas Enriches for Tumor-Reactive T-Cells. J Immunother (2010) 33:956–64. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0B013E3181FAD2B0
- 86. Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Ilyas S, et al. Prospective Identification of Neoantigen-Specific Lymphocytes in the Peripheral Blood of Melanoma Patients. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:433–8. doi: 10.1038/NM.4051
- Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, Li YF, Turcotte S, Tran E, et al. PD-1 Identifies the Patient-Specific CD8⁺ Tumor-Reactive Repertoire Infiltrating Human Tumors. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:2246–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI73639
- Butler MO, Hirano N. Human Cell-Based Artificial Antigen-Presenting Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 257:191–209. doi: 10.1111/IMR.12129
- Kim JV, Latouche J-B, Rivière I, Sadelain M. The ABCs of Artificial Antigen Presentation. Nat Biotechnol (2004) 22:403–10. doi: 10.1038/nbt955
- Neal LR, Bailey SR, Wyatt MM, Bowers JS, Majchrzak K, Nelson MH, et al. The Basics of Artificial Antigen Presenting Cells in T Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapies. J Immunol Res Ther (2017) 2:68–79.
- 91. Sprouse ML, Blahnik G, Lee T, Tully N, Benarjee P, James EA, et al. Streamlined Single Cell TCR Isolation and Generation of Retroviral

Vectors for In Vitro and In Vivo Expression of Human TCRs. JoVE (J Vis Exp (2017) 127:e55379. doi: 10.3791/55379

- Rosati SF, Parkhurst MR, Hong Y, Zheng Z, Feldman SA, Rao M, et al. A Novel Murine T-Cell Receptor Targeting NY-ESO-1. *J Immunother* (2014) 37:135–46. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000019
- 93. Van Der Bruggen P, Russo E, Schultz GR, Cornelis T, Boon V, Stroobant V, et al. Identification of Five MAGE-A1 Epitopes Recognized by Cytolytic T Lymphocytes Obtained by *In Vitro* Stimulation With Dendritic Cells Transduced With MAGE-A1(1999). Available at: http://www.jimmunol. org/content/163/5/2928.full (Accessed October 17, 2021).
- Mariotti S, Nisini R. Generation of Human T Cell Clones. TC ell Protoc Second Ed (2009) 514:65–93. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-527-9_6
- Verhoef A. Production of Human T-Cell Clones. Methods Mol Med Allergy Methods Protoc (2008) 138:43–50. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-366-0_4
- 96. Thompson T, Boon PD, Greenberg C, Yee MJ, Gilbert SR, Riddell VG, et al. Isolation of Tyrosinase-Specific CD8+ and CD4+ T Cell Clones From the Peripheral Blood of Melanoma Patients Following In Vitro Stimulation With Recombinant Vaccinia Virus(1996). Available at: http://www.jimmunol.org/ content/157/9/4079 (Accessed November 4, 2020).
- Ho WY, Nguyen HN, Wolfl M, Kuball J, Greenberg PD. In Vitro Methods for Generating CD8+ T-Cell Clones for Immunotherapy From the Naïve Repertoire. J Immunol Methods (2006) 310:40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2005.11.023
- Pasetto A, Gros A, Robbins PF, Deniger DC, Prickett TD, Matus-Nicodemos R, et al. Tumor- and Neoantigen-Reactive T-Cell Receptors Can Be Identified Based on Their Frequency in Fresh Tumor. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4:734–43. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0001
- 99. Lulla PD, Tzannou I, Vasileiou S, Carrum G, Ramos CA, Kamble R, et al. The Safety and Clinical Effects of Administering a Multiantigen-Targeted T Cell Therapy to Patients With Multiple Myeloma. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12: eaaz3339. doi: 10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.AAZ3339
- 100. Parkhurst M, Gros A, Pasetto A, Prickett T, Crystal JS, Robbins P, et al. Isolation of T-Cell Receptors Specifically Reactive With Mutated Tumor-Associated Antigens From Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes Based on CD137 Expression. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23:2491–505. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-16-2680
- 101. Ma W, Vigneron N, Chapiro J, Stroobant V, Germeau C, Boon T, et al. A MAGE-C2 Antigenic Peptide Processed by the Immunoproteasome is Recognized by Cytolytic T Cells Isolated From a Melanoma Patient After Successful Immunotherapy. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 129:2427–34. doi: 10.1002/ IJC.25911
- 102. Kawakami Y, Eliyahu S, Delgado CH, Robbins PF, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, et al. Identification of a Human Melanoma Antigen Recognized by Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes Associated With *In Vivo* Tumor Rejection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1994) 91:6458. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.91.14.6458
- 103. Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu Y-C, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of Somatic Mutations in Human Gastrointestinal Cancers. *Science* (2015) 350:1387–90. doi: 10.1126/science.aad1253
- 104. Lu YC, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient Identification of Mutated Cancer Antigens Recognized by T Cells Associated With Durable Tumor Regressions. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20:3401–10. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0433
- 105. Hebeisen M, Allard M, Gannon PO, Schmidt J, Speiser DE, Rufer N. Identifying Individual T Cell Receptors of Optimal Avidity for Tumor Antigens. Front Immunol (2015) 6:582. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU. 2015.00582
- 106. Spear TT, Evavold BD, Baker BM, Nishimura MI. Understanding TCR Affinity, Antigen Specificity, and Cross-Reactivity to Improve TCR Gene-Modified T Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2019) 68:1881–9. doi: 10.1007/s00262-019-02401-0
- 107. Stone JD, Chervin AS, Kranz DM. T-Cell Receptor Binding Affinities and Kinetics: Impact on T-Cell Activity and Specificity. *Immunology* (2009) 126:165. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-2567.2008.03015.X
- Schmid DA, Irving MB, Posevitz V, Hebeisen M, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Sarria J-CF, et al. Evidence for a TCR Affinity Threshold Delimiting Maximal CD8 T Cell Function. J Immunol (2010) 184:4936–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000173
- 109. Zhao Y, Bennett AD, Zheng Z, Wang QJ, Robbins PF, Yu LYL, et al. High-Affinity TCRs Generated by Phage Display Provide CD4 + T Cells With the

Ability to Recognize and Kill Tumor Cell Lines. J Immunol (2007) 179:5845-54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.9.5845

- 110. Zhong S, Malecek K, Johnson LA, Yu Z, de Miera EV-S, Darvishian F, et al. T-Cell Receptor Affinity and Avidity Defines Antitumor Response and Autoimmunity in T-Cell Immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2013) 110:6973–8. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1221609110
- 111. Hu Z, Zhu L, Wang J, Wan Y, Yuan S, Chen J, et al. Immune Signature of Enhanced Functional Avidity CD8+ T Cells *In Vivo* Induced by Vaccinia Vectored Vaccine. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:1–12. doi: 10.1038/srep41558
- 112. Jurtz V, Paul S, Andreatta M, Marcatili P, Peters B, Nielson M. NetMHCpan-4.0: Improved Peptide-MHC Class I Interaction Predictions Integrating Eluted Ligand and Peptide Binding Affinity Data. J Immunol (2017) 199:3360–8. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1700893
- 113. Marcu A, Bichmann L, Kuchenbecker L, Kowalewski DJ, Freudenmann LK, Backert L, et al. HLA Ligand Atlas: A Benign Reference of HLA-Presented Peptides to Improve T-Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9:e002071. doi: 10.1136/JITC-2020-002071
- 114. Tanaka K. The Proteasome: Overview of Structure and Functions. Proc Jpn Acad (2009) 85:12–36. doi: 10.2183/PJAB.85.12
- 115. Guillaume B, Chapiro J, Stroobant V, Colau D, Van HB, Parvizi G, et al. Two Abundant Proteasome Subtypes That Uniquely Process Some Antigens Presented by HLA Class I Molecules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2010) 107:18599–604. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1009778107
- 116. Schultz E, Chapiro J, Lurquin C, Claverol S, Burlet-Schiltz O, Warnier G, et al. The Production of a New MAGE-3 Peptide Presented to Cytolytic T Lymphocytes by HLA-B40 Requires the Immunoproteasome. J Exp Med (2002) 195:391–9. doi: 10.1084/JEM.20011974
- 117. Guillaume B, Stroobant V, Bousquet-Dubouch M-P, Colau D, Chapiro J, Parmentier N, et al. Analysis of the Processing of Seven Human Tumor Antigens by Intermediate Proteasomes. J Immunol (2012) 189:3538–47. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1103213
- 118. Morel S, Lévy F, Burlet-Schiltz O, Brasseur F, Probst-Kepper M, Peitrequin A, et al. Processing of Some Antigens by the Standard Proteasome But Not by the Immunoproteasome Results in Poor Presentation by Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* (2000) 12:107–17. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80163-6
- 119. Chapiro J, Claverol S, Piette F, Ma W, Stroobant V, Guillaume B, et al. Destructive Cleavage of Antigenic Peptides Either by the Immunoproteasome or by the Standard Proteasome Results in Differential Antigen Presentation. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:1053–61. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.176.2.1053
- 120. Kalaora S, Lee JS, Barnea E, Levy R, Greenberg P, Alon M, et al. Immunoproteasome Expression is Associated With Better Prognosis and Response to Checkpoint Therapies in Melanoma. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:1– 12. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14639-9
- 121. Greenberg PD. Selecting and Validating Targets, Isolating High Affinity TCRs, and Engineering T Cells That Can Be Effective in Therapy, in: 2nd NCI Workshop on Cell-Based Immunotherapy for Solid Tumors. Available at: https://nci.rev.vbrick.com/ (Accessed October 20, 2021).
- 122. Liu Q, Hao C, Su P, Shi J. Down-Regulation of HLA Class I Antigen-Processing Machinery Components in Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinomas: Association With Disease Progression. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (2009) 44:960–9. doi: 10.1080/00365520902998679
- 123. Hasim A, Abudula M, Aimiduo R, Ma J-Q, Jiao Z. Post-Transcriptional and Epigenetic Regulation of Antigen Processing Machinery (APM) Components and HLA-I in Cervical Cancers From Uighur Women. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e44952. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044952
- 124. Parkhurst MR, Yang JC, Langan RC, Dudley ME, Nathan D-AN, Feldman SA, et al. T Cells Targeting Carcinoembryonic Antigen Can Mediate Regression of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer But Induce Severe Transient Colitis. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:620–6. doi: 10.1038/MT.2010.272
- 125. Yee C, Thompson JA, Roche P, Byrd DR, Lee PP, Piepkorn M, et al. Melanocyte Destruction After Antigen-Specific Immunotherapy of Melanoma: Direct Evidence of T Cell-mediated Vitiligo. J Exp Med (2000) 192:1637–44. doi: 10.1084/JEM.192.11.1637
- 126. Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, et al. Gene Therapy With Human and Mouse T-Cell Receptors Mediates Cancer Regression and Targets Normal Tissues Expressing Cognate Antigen. *Blood* (2009) 114:535–46. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2009-03-211714

- 127. Cameron BJ, Gerry AB, Dukes J, Harper JV, Kannan V, Bianchi FC, et al. Identification of a Titin-Derived HLA-A1–Presented Peptide as a Cross-Reactive Target for Engineered MAGE A3–Directed T Cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:197ra103. doi: 10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.3006034
- 128. Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, et al. Cardiovascular Toxicity and Titin Cross-Reactivity of Affinity-Enhanced T Cells in Myeloma and Melanoma. *Blood* (2013) 122:863–71. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2013-03-490565
- 129. Morgan R, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins P, Zheng Z, et al. Cancer Regression and Neurological Toxicity Following Anti-MAGE-A3 TCR Gene Therapy. *J Immunother* (2013) 36:133–51. doi: 10.1097/ CJI.0B013E3182829903
- 130. Almeida LG, Sakabe NJ, de Oliveira AR, Silva MCC, Mundstein AS, Cohen T, et al. CTdatabase: A Knowledge-Base of High-Throughput and Curated Data on Cancer-Testis Antigens. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2009) 37:D816–9. doi: 10.1093/NAR/GKN673
- Kunert A, Obenaus M, Lamers C, Blankenstein T, Debets R. T-Cell Receptors for Clinical Therapy: *In Vitro* Assessment of Toxicity Risk. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23:6012–20. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-1012
- 132. Luo X, Cui H, Cai L, Zhu W, Yang W, Patrick M, et al. Selection of a Clinical Lead TCR Targeting Alpha-Fetoprotein-Positive Liver Cancer Based on a Balance of Risk and Benefit. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:623. doi: 10.3389/ FIMMU.2020.00623
- 133. Sanderson J, Crowley D, Wiedermann G, Quinn L, Crossland K, Tunbridge H, et al. Preclinical Evaluation of an Affinity-Enhanced MAGE-A4-Specific T-Cell Receptor for Adoptive T-Cell Therapy. Oncoimmunology (2019) 9: e1682381. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2019.1682381
- Cai L, Caraballo Galva LD, Peng Y, Luo X, Zhu W, Yao Y, et al. Preclinical Studies of the Off-Target Reactivity of AFP158-Specific TCR Engineered T Cells. Front Immunol (2020) 11:607. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2020.00607
- Stone JD, Kranz DM. Role of T Cell Receptor Affinity in the Efficacy and Specificity of Adoptive T Cell Therapies. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:244. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2013.00244
- Minami Y, Weissman AM, Samelson LE, Klausner RD. Building a Multichain Receptor: Synthesis, Degradation, and Assembly of the T-Cell Antigen Receptor. *Biochemistry* (1987) 84:2688–92. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.9.2688
- 137. Bendle GM, Linnemann C, Hooijkaas AI, Bies L, de Witte MA, Jorritsma A, et al. Lethal Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Mouse Models of T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:565–70. doi: 10.1038/nm.2128
- 138. van Loenen MM, de BR, AL A, RS H, GL V, Willemze R, et al. Mixed T Cell Receptor Dimers Harbor Potentially Harmful Neoreactivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2010) 107:10972–7. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1005802107
- 139. Rosenberg SA. Of Mice, Not Men: No Evidence for Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Humans Receiving T-Cell Receptor-Transduced Autologous T Cells. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:1744–5. doi: 10.1038/MT.2010.195
- 140. Cohen CJ, Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced Antitumor Activity of Murine-Human Hybrid T-Cell Receptor (TCR) in Human Lymphocytes Is Associated With Improved Pairing and TCR/CD3 Stability. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:8878–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1450
- 141. Stripecke R, Villacres C, Skelton DC, Satake N, Halene S, Kohn DB. Immune Response to Green Fluorescent Protein: Implications for Gene Therapy. *Gene Ther* (1999) 6:1305–12. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3300951
- 142. Rosenzweig M, Connole M, Glickman R, Yue S-PS, Noren B, DeMaria M, et al. Induction of Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte and Antibody Responses to Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein Following Transplantation of Transduced CD34+ Hematopoietic Cells. *Blood* (2001) 97:1951–9. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD.V97.7.1951
- 143. Riddell SR, Elliott M, Lewinsohn DA, Gilbert MJ, Wilson L, Manley SA, et al. T-Cell Mediated Rejection of Gene-Modified HIV-Specific Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes in HIV-Infected Patients. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:216–23. doi: 10.1038/nm0296-216
- 144. Davis J, Theoret M, Zheng Z, Lamers C, Rosenberg S, Morgan R. Development of Human Anti-Murine T-Cell Receptor Antibodies in Both Responding and Nonresponding Patients Enrolled in TCR Gene Therapy Trials. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:5852–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1280

- 145. Bialer G, Horovitz-Fried M, Ya'acobi S, Morgan RA, Cohen CJ. Selected Murine Residues Endow Human TCR With Enhanced Tumor Recognition. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:6232–41. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.0902047
- 146. Sommermeyer D, Uckert W. Minimal Amino Acid Exchange in Human TCR Constant Regions Fosters Improved Function of TCR Gene-Modified T Cells. J Immunol (2010) 184:6223–31. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.0902055
- 147. Krshnan L, Park S, Im W, Call MJ, Call ME. A Conserved αβ Transmembrane Interface Forms the Core of a Compact T-Cell Receptor-CD3 Structure Within the Membrane. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113: E6649. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1611445113
- 148. Kuball J, Dossett ML, Wolfl M, Ho WY, Voss R-H, Fowler C, et al. Facilitating Matched Pairing and Expression of TCR Chains Introduced Into Human T Cells. *Blood* (2007) 109:2331–8. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2006-05-023069
- 149. Cohen CJ, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced Antitumor Activity of T Cells Engineered to Express T-Cell Receptors With a Second Disulfide Bond. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:3898–903. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3986
- 150. Haga-Friedman A, Horovitz-Fried M, Cohen CJ. Incorporation of Transmembrane Hydrophobic Mutations in the TCR Enhance Its Surface Expression and T Cell Functional Avidity. J Immunol (2012) 188:5538–46. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1103020
- 151. Voss R-H, Willemsen RA, Kuball J, Grabowski M, Engel R, Intan RS, et al. Molecular Design of the Cαβ Interface Favors Specific Pairing of Introduced Tcrαβ in Human T Cells. J Immunol (2008) 180:391–401. doi: 10.4049/ JIMMUNOL.180.1.391
- 152. Bethune MT, Gee MH, Bunse M, Lee MS, Gschweng EH, Pagadala MS, et al. Domain-Swapped T Cell Receptors Improve the Safety of TCR Gene Therapy. *Elife* (2016) 5:e19095. doi: 10.7554/ELIFE.19095
- 153. Willemsen RA, Weijtens MEM, Ronteltap C, Eshhar Z, Gratama JW, Chames P, et al. Grafting Primary Human T Lymphocytes With Cancer-Specific Chimeric Single Chain and Two Chain TCR. *Gene Ther* (2000) 7:1369–77. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301253
- 154. Sebestyén Z, Schooten E, Sals T, Zaldivar I, José ES, Alarcón B, et al. Human TCR That Incorporate Cd3 ζ Induce Highly Preferred Pairing Between Tcr α and β Chains Following Gene Transfer. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:7736–46. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.180.11.7736
- 155. Govers C, Sebestyén Z, Roszik J, van Brakel M, Berrevoets C, Szöőr Á, et al. TCRs Genetically Linked to CD28 and CD36 Do Not Mispair With Endogenous TCR Chains and Mediate Enhanced T Cell Persistence and Anti-Melanoma Activity. J Immunol (2014) 193:5315–26. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1302074
- 156. Willcoj BE, Gao GF, Wyer JR, O'callaghan CA, Jakobsen BK, Boulter JM, et al. Production of Soluble $\alpha\beta$ T-Cell Receptor Heterodimers Suitable for Biophysical Analysis of Ligand Binding. *Protein Sci* (2008) 8:2418–23. doi: 10.1110/PS.8.11.2418
- 157. Foley KC, Spear TT, Murray DC, Nagato K, Garrett-Mayer E, Nishimura MI. HCV T Cell Receptor Chain Modifications to Enhance Expression, Pairing, and Antigen Recognition in T Cells for Adoptive Transfer. *Mol Ther -Oncolytics* (2017) 5:105–15. doi: 10.1016/J.OMTO.2017.05.004
- Chung S, Wucherpfennig KW, Friedman SM, Hafler DA, Strominger JL. Functional Three-Domain Single-Chain T-Cell Receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U.S.A. (1994) 91:12654–8. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.91.26.12654
- Plaksin D, Polakova K, McPhie P, Margulies DH. A Three-Domain T Cell Receptor is Biologically Active and Specifically Stains Cell Surface MHC/ peptide Complexes. *J Immunol* (1997) 158:2218–27.
- 160. Zhang T, He X, Tsang TC, Harris DT. Transgenic TCR Expression: Comparison of Single Chain With Full-Length Receptor Constructs for T-Cell Function. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2004) 11:487–96. doi: 10.1038/sj.cgt.7700703
- 161. Voss R-H, Thomas S, Pfirschke C, Hauptrock B, Klobuch S, Kuball J, et al. Coexpression of the T-Cell Receptor Constant α Domain Triggers Tumor Reactivity of Single-Chain TCR-Transduced Human T Cells. *Blood* (2010) 115:5154–63. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2009-11-254078
- 162. Aggen DH, Chervin AS, Schmitt TM, Engels B, Stone JD, Richman SA, et al. Single-Chain V $\alpha\nu\beta$ T-Cell Receptors Function Without Mispairing With Endogenous TCR Chains. *Gene Ther* (2011) 19:365–74. doi: 10.1038/gt.2011.104

- 163. Provasi E, Genovese P, Lombardo A, Magnani Z, Liu P-Q, Reik A, et al. Editing T Cell Specificity Towards Leukemia by Zinc-Finger Nucleases and Lentiviral Gene Transfer. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:807. doi: 10.1038/NM.2700
- 164. Stadtmauer EA, Fraietta JA, Davis MM, Cohen AD, Weber KL, Lancaster E, et al. CRISPR-Engineered T Cells in Patients With Refractory Cancer. *Science* (2020) 367:eaba7365. doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.ABA7365
- 165. Campillo-Davo D, Fujiki F, Van den Bergh JMJ, De Reu H, Smits ELJM, Goossens H, et al. Efficient and Non-Genotoxic RNA-Based Engineering of Human T Cells Using Tumor-Specific T Cell Receptors With Minimal TCR Mispairing. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2503. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2018.02503
- 166. Roth TL, Puig-Saus C, Yu R, Shifrut E, Carnevale J, Li PJ, et al. Reprogramming Human T Cell Function and Specificity With Non-Viral Genome Targeting. *Nature* (2018) 559:405. doi: 10.1038/S41586-018-0326-5
- 167. Li Y, Moysey R, Molloy PE, Vuidepot AL, Mahon T, Baston E, et al. Directed Evolution of Human T-Cell Receptors With Picomolar Affinities by Phage Display. *Nat Biotechnol* (2005) 23:349–54. doi: 10.1038/nbt1070
- 168. Robbins PF, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Zhao Y, Wargo JA, Zheng Z, et al. Single and Dual Amino Acid Substitutions in TCR CDRs Can Enhance Antigen-Specific T Cell Functions. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:6116–31. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.180.9.6116
- 169. Holler PD, Holman PO, Shusta EV, O'Herrin S, Wittrup KD, Kranz DM. In Vitro Evolution of a T Cell Receptor With High Affinity for Peptide/MHC. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2000) 97:5387–92. doi: 10.1073/pnas.080078297
- 170. Hellman LM, Foley KC, Singh NK, Alonso JA, Riley TP, Devlin JR, et al. Improving T Cell Receptor On-Target Specificity via Structure-Guided Design. Mol Ther (2019) 27:300–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.12.010
- 171. Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer Regression in Patients After Transfer of Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes. *Science* (2006) 314:126–9. doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.1129003
- 172. Chodon T, Comin-Anduix B, Chmielowski B, Koya RC, Wu Z, Auerbach M, et al. Adoptive Transfer of MART-1 T-Cell Receptor Transgenic Lymphocytes and Dendritic Cell Vaccination in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20:2457–65. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3017
- 173. Moore T, Wagner C, Scurti G, Hutchens K, Godellas C, Clark A, et al. Clinical and Immunologic evaluation of Three Metastatic Melanoma Patients Treated With Autologous Melanoma-Reactive TCR-Transduced T Cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2018) 67:311–25. doi: 10.1007/S00262-017-2073-0
- 174. Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TLN, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, et al. A Pilot Trial Using Lymphocytes Genetically Engineered With an NY-ESO-1–Reactive T-Cell Receptor: Long-Term Follow-Up and Correlates With Response. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21:1019–27. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2708
- 175. Ishihara M, Kitano S, Hattori H, Miyahara Y, Kato H, Mishima H, et al. Tumor Responses and Early Onset Cytokine Release Syndrome in Synovial Sarcoma Patients Treated With a Novel Affinity-Enhanced NY-ESO-1-Targeting TCR-Redirected T Cell Transfer [Conference presentation]. Am Soc Clin Oncol (2019) 530. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_SUPPL.2530
- 176. Nowicki T, Berent-Maoz B, Cheung-Lau G, Huang R, Wang X, Tsoi J, et al. A Pilot Trial of the Combination of Transgenic NY-ESO-1-Reactive Adoptive Cellular Therapy With Dendritic Cell Vaccination With or Without Ipilimumab. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:2096–108. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3496
- 177. Butler MO, Sotov V, Saibil S, Bonilla L, Boross-Harmer S, Fyrsta M, et al. Adoptive T Cell Therapy With TBI-1301 Results in Gene-Engineered T Cell Persistence and Anti-Tumour Responses in Patients With NY-ESO-1 Expressing Solid Tumours. Ann Oncol (2019) 30:v481. doi: 10.1093/ ANNONC/MDZ253.009
- 178. Stadtmauer E, Faitg T, Lowther D, Badros A, Chagin K, Dengel K, et al. Long-Term Safety and Activity of NY-ESO-1 SPEAR T Cells After Autologous Stem Cell Transplant for Myeloma. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:2022– 34. doi: 10.1182/BLOODADVANCES.2019000194
- 179. Ramachandran I, Lowther D, Dryer-Minnerly R, Wang R, Fayngerts S, Nunez D, et al. Systemic and Local Immunity Following Adoptive Transfer of NY-ESO-1 SPEAR T Cells in Synovial Sarcoma. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7:276. doi: 10.1186/S40425-019-0762-2
- 180. Kageyama S, Ikeda H, Miyahara Y, Imai N, Ishihara M, Saito K, et al. Adoptive Transfer of MAGE-A4 T-Cell Receptor Gene-Transduced

Lymphocytes in Patients With Recurrent Esophageal Cancer. Clin Cancer Res (2015) 21:2268–77. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1559

- Berard M, Brandt K, Bulfone-Paus S, Tough DF. IL-15 Promotes the Survival of Naive and Memory Phenotype CD8 + T Cells. J Immunol (2003) 170:5018–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.10.5018
- 182. Hong DS, Van Tine BA, Olszanski AJ, Johnson ML, Liebner DA, Trivedi T, et al. Phase I Dose Escalation and Expansion Trial to Assess the Safety and Efficacy of ADP-A2M4 SPEAR T Cells in Advanced Solid Tumors [Conference Presentation]. In: 2020 ASCO Annual Meeting (American Society of Clinical Oncology). Journal of Clinical Immunology (2020) p. 102. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_SUPPL.102
- 183. Hong D, Clarke J, Johanns T, Kebriaei P, Heymach J, Galal A, et al. Initial Safety, Efficacy, and Product Attributes From the SURPASS Trial With ADP-A2M4CD8, a SPEAR T-Cell Therapy Incorporating an Affinity Optimized TCR Targeting MAGE-A4 and a CD8α Co-Receptor [Conference Presentation]. In: SITC 2020 (BMJ Specialist Journals). Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer (2020) p. A231. doi: 10.1136/JITC-2020-SITC 2020.0379
- 184. D'Angelo SP, Van Tine BA, Attia S, Blay J-Y, Strauss SJ, Morales CMV, et al. SPEARHEAD-1: A Phase 2 Trial of Afamitresgene Autoleucel (Formerly ADP-A2M4) in Patients With Advanced Synovial Sarcoma or Myxoid/ Round Cell Liposarcoma [Conference Presentation]. In: 2021 ASCO Annual Meeting (Wolters Kluwer Health). Journal of Clinical Immunology (2020) p. 11504-4. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_SUPPL.11504
- 185. Lam VK, Hong DS, Heymach J, Blumenschein GR, Creelan BC, Bradbury PA, et al. Initial Safety Assessment of MAGE-A10c796TCR T-Cells in Two Clinical Trials [Conference presentation]. Am Soc Clin Oncol (2018) 3056. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15_SUPPL.3056
- 186. Doran SL, Stevanović S, Adhikary S, Gartner JJ, Jia L, Kwong MLM, et al. T-Cell Receptor Gene Therapy for Human Papillomavirus-Associated Epithelial Cancers: A First-In-Human, Phase I/II Study. J Clin Oncol (2019) 37:2759–68. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.02424
- 187. Tawara I, Kageyama S, Miyahara Y, Fujiwara H, Nishida T, Akatsuka Y, et al. Safety and Persistence of WT1-Specific T-Cell Receptor Gene–Transduced Lymphocytes in Patients With AML and MDS. *Blood* (2017) 130:1985–94. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2017-06-791202
- 188. Chapuis AG, Egan DN, Bar M, Schmitt TM, McAfee MS, Paulson KG, et al. T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy Targeting WT1 Prevents Acute Myeloid Leukemia Relapse Post-Transplant. *Nat Med* (2019) 25:1064–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0472-9
- 189. Bechman N, Maher J. Lymphodepletion Strategies to Potentiate Adoptive T-Cell Immunotherapy–What are We Doing; Where are We Going? *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2021) 21:627–37. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2021. 1857361
- 190. Jiang T, Zhou C, Ren S. Role of IL-2 in Cancer Immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2016) 5:e1163462. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1163462
- Rosenberg SA. IL-2: The First Effective Immunotherapy for Human Cancer. J Immunol (2014) 192:5451–8. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1490019
- 192. D'Angelo S, Melchiori L, Merchant M, Bernstein D, Glod J, Kaplan R, et al. Antitumor Activity Associated With Prolonged Persistence of Adoptively Transferred NY-ESO-1 C259 T Cells in Synovial Sarcoma. *Cancer Discov* (2018) 8:944–57. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1417
- 193. Ishihara M, Kitano S, Hattori H, Miyahara Y, Kato H, Mishima H, et al. Tumor Responses and Early Onset Cytokine Release Syndrome in Synovial Sarcoma Patients Treated With a Novel Affinity-Enhanced NY-ESO-1-Targeting TCR-Redirected T Cell Transfer [Conference Presentation]. In: ASCO Annual Meeting (American Society of Clinical Oncology). (2019). p. 2530. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_SUPPL.2530
- 194. Lu Y, Parker L, Lu T, Zheng Z, Toomey M, White D, et al. Treatment of Patients With Metastatic Cancer Using a Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II-Restricted T-Cell Receptor Targeting the Cancer Germline Antigen MAGE-A3. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35:3322–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.5463
- 195. Wagner J, Wickman E, Derenzo C, Gottschalk S. CAR T Cell Therapy for Solid Tumors: Bright Future or Dark Reality? *Mol Ther* (2020) 28:2320–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.09.015
- 196. Calderon H, Mamonkin M, Guedan S. Analysis of CAR-Mediated Tonic Signaling. Methods Mol Biol (2020) 2086:223–36. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_17

- 197. Ajina A, Maher J. Strategies to Address Chimeric Antigen Receptor Tonic Signalling. Mol Cancer Ther (2018) 17:1795–815. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-1097
- 198. Fiorenza S, Ritchie DS, Ramsey SD, Turtle CJ, Roth JA. Value and Affordability of CAR T-Cell Therapy in the United States. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2020) 55:1706–15. doi: 10.1038/s41409-020-0956-8
- 199. Tzannou I, Papadopoulou A, Naik S, Leung K, Martinez CA, Ramos CA, et al. Off-The-Shelf Virus-Specific T Cells to Treat BK Virus, Human Herpesvirus 6, Cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr Virus, and Adenovirus Infections After Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35:3547–57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.73.0655
- Nussbaumer O, Koslowski M. The Emerging Role of γδ T Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Immuno-Oncol Technol* (2019) 1:3–10. doi: 10.1016/ j.iotech.2019.06.002
- 201. Heczey A, Liu D, Tian G, Courtney AN, Wei J, Marinova E, et al. Invariant NKT Cells With Chimeric Antigen Receptor Provide a Novel Platform for Safe and Effective Cancer Immunotherapy. *Blood* (2014) 124:2824. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2013-11-541235
- 202. Ren J, Liu X, Fang C, Jiang S, June CH, Zhao Y. Multiplex Genome Editing to Generate Universal CAR T Cells Resistant to PD1 Inhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23:2255–66. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1300
- 203. Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Cohen CJ, Gattinoni L, Palmer DC, Restifo NP, et al. High-Efficiency Transfection of Primary Human and Mouse T Lymphocytes Using RNA Electroporation. *Mol Ther* (2006) 13:151–9. doi: 10.1016/ J.YMTHE.2005.07.688
- 204. Birkholz K, Hombach A, Krug C, Reuter S, Kershaw M, Kämpgen E, et al. Transfer of mRNA Encoding Recombinant Immunoreceptors Reprograms CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells for Use in the Adoptive Immunotherapy of Cancer. *Gene Ther* (2009) 16:596–604. doi: 10.1038/gt.2008.189
- 205. Nakazawa Y, Huye LE, Dotti G, Foster AE, Vera JF, Manuri PR, et al. Optimization of the PiggyBac Transposon System for the Sustained Genetic Modification of Human T-Lymphocytes. J Immunother (2009) 32:826–36. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0B013E3181AD762B
- 206. Deniger DC, Pasetto A, Tran E, Parkhurst MR, Cohen CJ, Robbins PF, et al. Stable, Nonviral Expression of Mutated Tumor Neoantigen-Specific T-Cell Receptors Using the Sleeping Beauty Transposon/Transposase System. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24:1078–89. doi: 10.1038/MT.2016.51
- 207. Morita D, Nishio N, Saito S, Tanaka M, Kawashima N, Okuno Y, et al. Enhanced Expression of Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor in Piggybac Transposon-Engineered T Cells. *Mol Ther - Methods Clin Dev* (2018) 8:131– 40. doi: 10.1016/J.OMTM.2017.12.003
- Chan JD, Lai J, Slaney CY, Kallies A, Beavis PA, Darcy PK. Cellular Networks Controlling T Cell Persistence in Adoptive Cell Therapy. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2021) 21:769–84. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00539-6
- 209. Gattinoni L, Klebanoff CA, Palmer DC, Wrzesinski C, Kerstann K, Yu Z, et al. Acquisition of Full Effector Function *In Vitro* Paradoxically Impairs the *In Vivo* Antitumor Efficacy of Adoptively Transferred CD8+ T Cells. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115:1616–26. doi: 10.1172/JCI24480
- 210. Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Torabi-Parizi P, Kerstann K, Cardones AR, Finkelstein SE, et al. Central Memory Self/Tumor-Reactive CD8+ T Cells Confer Superior Antitumor Immunity Compared With Effector Memory T Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2005) 102:9571–6. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.0503726102
- 211. Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A Human Memory T-Cell Subset With Stem Cell-Like Properties. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:1290–7. doi: 10.1038/NM.2446
- 212. Klebanoff CA, Finkelstein SE, Surman DR, Lichtman MK, Gattinoni L, Theoret MR, et al. IL-15 Enhances the *In Vivo* Antitumor Activity of Tumor-Reactive CD8+ T Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101:1969–74. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.0307298101
- 213. Mo F, Yu Z, Li P, Oh J, Spolski R, Zhao L, et al. An Engineered IL-2 Partial Agonist Promotes CD8+ T Cell Stemness. *Nature* (2021) 597:544–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03861-0
- 214. Nalawade S, Shafer P, Bajgain P, McKenna K, Ali A, Kelly L, et al. Selectively Targeting Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Through TRAIL Receptor 2 to Enhance the Efficacy of CAR T Cell Therapy for Treatment of Breast Cancer. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9:e003237. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003237
- 215. Oda S, Daman A, Garcia N, Wagener F, Schmitt T, Tan X, et al. A CD200R-CD28 Fusion Protein Appropriates an Inhibitory Signal to Enhance T-Cell

Function and Therapy of Murine Leukemia. *Blood* (2017) 130:2410–9. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2017-04-777052

- 216. Feng J, Xu H, Cinquina A, Wu Z, Chen Q, Zhang P, et al. Treatment of Aggressive T Cell Lymphoblastic Lymphoma/leukemia Using Anti-CD5 CAR T Cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep (2021) 17:652–61. doi: 10.1007/S12015-020-10092-9
- 217. Pegram HJ, Lee JC, Hayman EG, Imperato GH, Tedder TF, Sadelain M, et al. Tumor-Targeted T Cells Modified to Secrete IL-12 Eradicate Systemic Tumors Without Need for Prior Conditioning. *Blood* (2012) 119:4133–41. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2011-12-400044
- Koneru M, Purdon TJ, Spriggs D, Koneru S, Brentjens RJ. IL-12 Secreting Tumor-Targeted Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Eradicate Ovarian Tumors In Vivo. Oncoimmunology (2015) 4:e994446. doi: 10.4161/ 2162402X.2014.994446
- 219. Hoyos V, Savoldo B, Quintarelli C, Mahendravada A, Zhang M, Vera J, et al. Engineering CD19-Specific T Lymphocytes With Interleukin-15 and a Suicide Gene to Enhance Their Anti-Lymphoma/Leukemia Effects and Safety. *Leukemia* (2010) 24:1160–70. doi: 10.1038/LEU.2010.75
- 220. Shum T, Omer B, Tashiro H, Kruse RL, Wagner DL, Parikh K, et al. Constitutive Signaling From an Engineered IL7 Receptor Promotes Durable Tumor Elimination by Tumor-Redirected T Cells. *Cancer Discov* (2017) 7:1238–47. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-0538
- 221. Ma S, Li X, Wang X, Cheng L, Li Z, Zhang C, et al. Current Progress in Car-T Cell Therapy for Solid Tumors. *Int J Biol Sci* (2019) 15:2548–60. doi: 10.7150/ ijbs.34213
- 222. Irving M, de Silly RV, Scholten K, Dilek N, Coukos G. Engineering Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cells for Racing in Solid Tumors: Don't Forget the Fuel. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:267. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00267
- 223. Martinez M, Moon EK. CAR T Cells for Solid Tumors: New Strategies for Finding, Infiltrating, and Surviving in the Tumor Microenvironment. Front Immunol (2019) 10:128. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00128
- 224. Bajgain P, Tawinwung S, D'Elia L, Sukumaran S, Watanabe N, Hoyos V, et al. CAR T Cell Therapy for Breast Cancer: Harnessing the Tumor Milieu to Drive T Cell Activation. *J Immunother Cancer* (2018) 6:1–13. doi: 10.1186/ s40425-018-0347-5
- 225. Corbière V, Chapiro J, Stroobant V, Ma W, Lurquin C, Lethé B, et al. Antigen Spreading Contributes to MAGE Vaccination-Induced Regression of Melanoma Metastases. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:1253–62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2693
- 226. Chapuis AG, Roberts IM, Thompson JA, Margolin KA, Bhatia S, Lee SM, et al. T-Cell Therapy Using Interleukin-21–Primed Cytotoxic T-Cell Lymphocytes Combined With Cytotoxic T-Cell Lymphocyte Antigen-4 Blockade Results in Long-Term Cell Persistence and Durable Tumor Regression. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34:3787–95. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.65.5142
- 227. Vasileiou S, Lulla PD, Tzannou I, Watanabe A, Kuvalekar M, Callejas WL, et al. T-Cell Therapy for Lymphoma Using Nonengineered Multiantigen-Targeted T Cells Is Safe and Produces Durable Clinical Effects. J Clin Oncol (2021) 39:1415–25. doi: 10.1200/JCO.20.02224
- 228. Avanzi MP, Yeku O, Li X, Wijewarnasuriya DP, van Leeuwen DG, Cheung K, et al. Engineered Tumor-Targeted T Cells Mediate Enhanced Anti-Tumor Efficacy Both Directly and Through Activation of the Endogenous Immune System. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23:2130–41. doi: 10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.04.051
- 229. Curran KJ, Seinstra BA, Nikhamin Y, Yeh R, Usachenko Y, Van Leeuwen DG, et al. Enhancing Antitumor Efficacy of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Through Constitutive CD40L Expression. *Mol Ther* (2015) 23:769–78. doi: 10.1038/MT.2015.4
- 230. Lai J, Mardiana S, House IG, Sek K, Henderson MA, Giuffrida L, et al. Adoptive Cellular Therapy With T Cells Expressing the Dendritic Cell Growth Factor Flt3L Drives Epitope Spreading and Antitumor Immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21:914–26. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0676-7
- 231. Shah NN, Maatman T, Hari P, Johnson B. Multi Targeted CAR-T Cell Therapies for B-Cell Malignancies. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:146. doi: 10.3389/ FONC.2019.00146
- 232. Jhunjhunwala S, Hammer C, Delamarre L. Antigen Presentation in Cancer: Insights Into Tumour Immunogenicity and Immune Evasion. Nat Rev Cancer (2021) 21:298–312. doi: 10.1038/s41568-021-00339-z
- Dhatchinamoorthy K, Colbert JD, Rock KL. Cancer Immune Evasion Through Loss of MHC Class I Antigen Presentation. Front Immunol (2021) 12:636568. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.636568

- Propper DJ, Chao D, Braybrooke JP, Bahl P, Thavasu P, Balkwill F, et al. Low-Dose IFN-γ Induces Tumor MHC Expression in Metastatic Malignant Melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9:84–92.
- 235. Vlková V, Štěpánek I, Hrušková V, Šenigl F, Mayerová V, Šrámek M, et al. Epigenetic Regulations in the Ifnγ Signalling Pathway: Ifnγ-Mediated MHC Class I Upregulation on Tumour Cells Is Associated With DNA Demethylation of Antigen-Presenting Machinery Genes. Oncotarget (2014) 5:6923. doi: 10.18632/ONCOTARGET.2222
- 236. Del Campo AB, Aptsiauri N, Méndez R, Zinchenko S, Vales A, Paschen A, et al. Efficient Recovery of HLA Class I Expression in Human Tumor Cells After Beta2-Microglobulin Gene Transfer Using Adenoviral Vector: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Scand J Immunol* (2009) 70:125– 35. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-3083.2009.02276.X
- 237. Hiscox MJ, Wasmuth A, Williams CL, Foot JN, Wiedermann GE, Fadda V, et al. In Vitro Selection and Engineering of a Human Leukocyte Antigen-Independent T-Cell Receptor Recognizing Human Mesothelin [Conference Presentation]. In: ASGCT 2021. (2021).
- 238. Dembić Z, Haas W, Weiss S, Mccubrey J, Kiefer H, Von Boehmer H, et al. Transfer of Specificity by Murine α and β T-Cell Receptor Genes. *Nature* (1986) 320:232–8. doi: 10.1038/320232a0

Conflict of Interest: PS and VH have submitted a patent application for TCR discovery.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Shafer, Kelly and Hoyos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





GMP-Compliant Manufacturing of TRUCKs: CAR T Cells targeting GD₂ and Releasing Inducible IL-18

Wolfgang Glienke^{1*†}, Anna Christina Dragon^{2†}, Katharina Zimmermann^{3†}, Alexandra Martyniszyn-Eiben¹, Mira Mertens¹, Hinrich Abken⁴, Claudia Rossig⁵, Bianca Altvater⁵, Krasimira Aleksandrova⁶, Lubomir Arseniev⁶, Christina Kloth³, Andriana Stamopoulou³, Thomas Moritz³, Holger N. Lode⁷, Nikolai Siebert⁷, Rainer Blasczyk², Lilia Goudeva², Axel Schambach^{3,8*‡}, Ulrike Köhl^{1,6,9,10‡}, Britta Eiz-Vesper^{2‡} and Ruth Esser^{1‡}

¹ ATMP-GMP Development Unit, Institute of Cellular Therapeutics, Integrated Research and Treatment Center for Transplantation, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ² Institute of Transfusion Medicine and Transplant Engineering, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ³ Division of Hematology/Oncology, Institute of Experimental Hematology, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ⁴ Leibniz Institute for Immunotherapy, Div Genetic Immunotherapy, Regensburg, Germany, ⁵ Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, University Children's Hospital Muenster, Muenster, Germany, ⁶ Cellular Therapy Center, Institute of Cellular Therapeutics, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ⁷ Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, University Medicine Greifswald, Greifswald, Germany, ⁸ Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁹ Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI), Leipzig, Germany, ¹⁰ Clinical Immunology, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-engineered T cells can be highly effective in the treatment of hematological malignancies, but mostly fail in the treatment of solid tumors. Thus, approaches using 4th advanced CAR T cells secreting immunomodulatory cytokines upon CAR signaling, known as TRUCKs ("T cells redirected for universal cytokine-mediated killing"), are currently under investigation. Based on our previous development and validation of automated and closed processing for GMP-compliant manufacturing of CAR T cells, we here present the proof of feasibility for translation of this method to TRUCKs. We generated IL-18-secreting TRUCKs targeting the tumor antigen GD₂ using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] system using a recently described "all-in-one" lentiviral vector combining constitutive anti-GD₂ CAR expression and inducible IL-18. Starting with 0.84 x 10⁸ and 0.91 x 10⁸ T cells after enrichment of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ we reached 68.3-fold and 71.4-fold T cell expansion rates, respectively, in two independent runs. Transduction efficiencies of 77.7% and 55.1% was obtained, and yields of 4.5 x 10^9 and 3.6 x 10^9 engineered T cells from the two donors, respectively, within 12 days. Preclinical characterization demonstrated antigen-specific GD₂-CAR mediated activation after cocultivation with GD₂-expressing target cells. The functional capacities of the clinical-scale manufactured TRUCKs were similar to TRUCKs generated in laboratory-scale and were not impeded by cryopreservation. IL-18 TRUCKs were activated in an antigen-specific manner by co-cultivation with GD₂-expressing target cells indicated by an increased expression of activation markers (e.g. CD25, CD69) on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and an enhanced release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and cytolytic mediators (e.g. IL-2,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Del Bufalo, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italv

Reviewed by:

Paul G. Schlegel, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany Manish Malviya, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Wolfgang Glienke wglienke@yahoo.de Axel Schambach Schambach.Axel@mh-hannover.de

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[‡]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 December 2021 Accepted: 25 February 2022 Published: 24 March 2022

Citation:

Glienke W, Dragon AC, Zimmermann K, Martyniszyn-Eiben A, Mertens M, Abken H, Rossig C, Altvater B, Aleksandrova K, Arseniev L, Kloth C, Stamopoulou A, Moritz T, Lode HN, Siebert N, Blasczyk R, Goudeva L, Schambach A, Köhl U, Eiz-Vesper B and Esser R (2022) GMP-Compliant Manufacturing of TRUCKs: CAR T Cells Targeting GD₂ and Releasing Inducible IL-18. Front. Immunol. 13:839783. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.839783

61

granzyme B, IFN- γ , perforin, TNF- α). Manufactured TRUCKs showed a specific cytotoxicity towards GD₂-expressing target cells indicated by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release, a decrease of target cell numbers, microscopic detection of cytotoxic clusters and detachment of target cells in real-time impedance measurements (xCELLigence). Following antigen-specific CAR activation of TRUCKs, CAR-triggered release IL-18 was induced, and the cytokine was biologically active, as demonstrated in migration assays revealing specific attraction of monocytes and NK cells by supernatants of TRUCKs co-cultured with GD₂-expressing target cells. In conclusion, GMP-compliant manufacturing of TRUCKs is feasible and delivers high quality T cell products.

Keywords: TRUCK, IL-18, GD2-CAR, Prodigy, GMP, 4th generation CAR

INTRODUCTION

One of the most significant recent developments in cancer therapy is the CAR T cell technology. To enable and improve CAR T cell proliferation, anti-tumor activity, and in vivo persistence, advanced generations of CARs have been developed (1). A promising strategy to target solid tumors with their phenotypic heterogeneity has led to the fourth generation of CARs also known as TRUCKs or armored CARs (2, 3). TRUCKs are CAR T cells that release a transgenic protein upon CAR engagement of cognate antigen and signaling. TRUCKs are thereby used as "living factories" to produce and deposit substances with anti-tumor activity in the targeted tissue. These factors include cytokines, such as IL (interleukin)-12 and IL-18, but also enzymes and costimulatory ligands augmenting T cell activation. Innate immune cells are attracted and activated by IL-12 or IL-18 (4) to eliminate antigen-low expressing or antigen-negative cancer cells within the tumor (2). CAR T cells engineered with inducible IL-18 release improve T cell effector functions towards superior activity against pancreatic and lung tumors in mice that were refractory to CAR T cells without cytokines (5, 6). In this study we focused on the manufacturing of TRUCKs targeting disialoganglioside GD₂. Physiological expression of GD₂ is restricted to low densities on neurons, skin melanocytes and peripheral pain fibers (7). GD_2 is highly and consistently expressed in childhood cancer neuroblastoma and can be found on the cell surface of other solid cancer entities including breast cancer (8), osteosarcoma (9), melanoma (10), glioblastoma (11), small cell lung cancer (12), retinoblastoma (13), soft tissue sarcoma (14) and Ewing sarcoma (15, 16).

 GD_2 therefore is a promising target for redirected immunotherapy. Initial GD_2 -CAR T cell clinical studies targeting neuroblastoma by first to third generation CAR T cells showed moderate or transient anti-tumor responses but failed to produce sustained remissions, emphasizing the need to modulate the T cell response (17–19). With the increasing expectation of GD_2 as a broad target for CAR T cell therapy and the expected benefit in applying TRUCKs with transgenic IL-18 release, there is a need to manufacture such cellular medicinal products in a safe, validated and reproducible fashion. CAR T cell manufacturing for clinical use is a complex process and places high standard demands on safety, quality and efficacy. Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls (CMC) even in the preclinical phase of drug development includes significant quality attributes and critical process parameters, including cell composition and transduction efficiency, assessment of potency, product sterility, process validation, stability and production at multiple manufacturing sites (20). The CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (Miltenyi Biotec B.V. & Co. KG) allows ex vivo magnetic bead-based cell separation followed by activation, transduction, expansion, final formulation and sampling of T cells in one device leading to robust, reproducible and automated, supervised cost-effective manufacturing processes [Process of CAR T cell Therapy in Europe EHA Guidance Document, 2019 (21)]. The feasibility of the T cell transduction (TCT) process for use in automated and closed GMP-compliant manufacturing of CAR T cells on the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] platform, as shown by us and others (22-25) is here extended to the manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ as an example. Preclinical characterization showed equivalent quality and function of the final clinical-scale products compared to manually produced IL-18 TRUCKs in laboratory-scale.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human Sample Materials

For the manufacturing of TRUCKs in a clinical-scale process (n=2) on the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and for the manufacturing of laboratory-scale TRUCKs (n=3) lymphapheresis products from two healthy donors (D1 and D2) were obtained from the Institute for Transfusion Medicine of Hannover Medical School (MHH) after donors' written informed consent. According to standard donation requirements, the donors had no signs of acute infection and no previous history of blood transfusion.

IL-18 TRUCK Construct and Production of Lentiviral Supernatants

The generation of the lentiviral IL-18 TRUCK SIN vector was described previously (26). In brief, the lentiviral 3^{rd} generation

SIN vector pCCL.PPT.NFATsyn.hIL18.PGK.GD2CAR.PRE was used. The human codon-usage optimized ORF second-generation CAR containing scFv (14.G2a), human IgG1- hinge, CD28 transmembrane, CD137 (4-1BB), and CD3ζ signaling domains was flanked by restriction enzymes AgeI and SalI and cloned into the lentiviral "all-in-one" SIN vector driven by an hPGK promoter (27). A schematic map of the construct is presented in Supplement Figure S8. The construct was confirmed by sequencing (Microsynth SeqLab, Germany). Lentiviral vector particles were generated as described previously (26, 28). Briefly, 5×10^6 293T cells were used for calcium phosphate transfection in the presence of 25 µM chloroquine. For transfection, the following plasmids were used: lentiviral vector plasmid (10 µg), pcDNA3.HIV-1.GP.4 × CTE (lentiviral gag/pol) (12 µg) (29), pRSV-Rev (5 µg; kindly provided by T. Hope, Northwestern University Chicago, IL), and VSVg-encoding pMD.G (1.5 µg) (30). For better standardization, pcDNA3.HIV-1.GP.4×CTE, pRSV-Rev and pMD.G were produced and purified by PlasmidFactory (Bielefeld, Germany). After 36 h and 48 h of transfection, supernatants were harvested and concentrated via ultracentrifugation at 4°C and 13,238×g or 82,740×g for 16 h or 2 h, respectively. The particles were resuspended in $TexMACS^{TM}$ GMP medium. Lentiviral supernatant was titrated in HT1080 fibroblasts via spinoculation-mediated transduction, i. e. 1×10^5 cells were seeded, the supernatant containing viral particles and 4 µg/ml protamine sulfate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) were added and cells were centrifuged (1 h, 800× g, 37 C). Three days post transduction, transduction efficiency was determined via flow cytometric staining of GD₂-CAR expression and functional viral vector titers were calculated from samples with GD2-CAR expression percentages of \leq 30% to avoid cells with multiple integrations (26, 31).

GMP-Compliant Manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ With CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (Clinical-Scale Process)

GMP-compliant manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs was performed using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] platform, which allows for automated cell processing in a closed system controlled by operating software version V1.3 and process software for T cell transduction (TCT) version V2.0 (released). For overview of clinical-scale process see **Figure 1**. Within the scope of the automatically running process, the input of different variable process parameters like time points of transduction, media exchange, culture wash, harvesting and volume of media exchange is possible. Buffer, media, starting cell material and vector were connected directly to TS520 *via* sterile tubing welder device (TSCDII Terumo BCT).

The applied materials were either medicinal products with a marketing approval (HSA, PEI.H.03272.01.1), GMP-grade reagents and tubing sets from Miltenyi Biotec (designed following the recommendations of USP <1043> on ancillary materials and/or compliant with the requirements laid down in the Ph. Eur. Chapter 5.2.12, where applicable), or approved medical devices (DMSO, Composol, SSP+, transfer bags, connections, syringes). The pool-Human Serum P-HS/Tü was

purchased from the Centre for Clinical Transfusion Medicine Tübingen/ZKT and certified as suitable for manufacturing of pharmaceutical products. The single non-regulated reagent was the vector, designed and produced at the Institute of Experimental Hematology, Hannover Medical School, Division of Hematology/Oncology. Detailed information regarding the materials was recorded, including the supplier, lot number, and expiration date. Starting material for manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs were CD3+ T cells derived from a non-mobilized lymphapheresis. Cell processing started within 24 h after product collection with immunomagnetic enrichment of $1 \ge 10^9$ CD4+ and CD8+ T cells using CliniMACS® CD4 Reagent, CliniMACS[®] CD8 Reagent and CliniMACS[®] PBS/EDTA buffer supplemented with human serum albumin (HSA, Human albumin 200 g/l Baxalta, Shire Deutschland GmbH, Berlin, Germany) to a final concentration of 0.5%. For cultivation, the basal TexMACSTM GMP medium was supplemented with 12.5 ng/ml MACS GMP Recombinant Human IL-7, 12.5 ng/ml MACS GMP Recombinant Human IL-15 and 3% heatinactivated human AB serum (pool-human serum P-HS/Tü, Centre for Clinical Transfusion Medicine Tübingen/ZKT, Germany) until day 5. T cells were activated for 72 h (day 0 to day 3) with CD3/CD28 MACS GMP T Cell TransAct Beads. On day 1 of culture transduction took place by adding 10 ml lentiviral vector with a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 29 D1 and 10 D2 in total volume of 100 ml. At day 3, CD3/CD28 T cell TransAct beads and non-bound vector were washed out (culture wash) and culture volume increased to 200 ml. The culture was fed every 12 - 24 h after day 5 of culture. Hereby the concentration of AB serum in the culture was reduced continuously using supplemented ${\rm TexMACS}^{\rm TM}$ GMP medium without AB serum for further medium exchange. On day of harvest (day 12), cells were formulated in Composol PS (Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany) with 2.86% (w/v) HSA (D1) or SSP+ (D2) (Maco Pharma International GmbH, Langen, Germany) with 3.33% HSA for later cryopreservation. During cultivation, the temperature and atmosphere was maintained at 37°C with 5% CO2. After 3 days of static culture shaking modus was activated (culture agitation) enabling high cell concentrations in the limited volume of the CentriCult Chamber.

Monitoring of Culture and In-Process Controls

Total cell number and viability was analyzed by flow cytometric analysis as described below. The glucose concentration of the cell-free culture supernatant was determined with the blood glucose meter Accu-Chek[®] Aviva (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). For analysis of pH during cell cultivation pH-indicator strips MColorpHastTM pH 6.5 - 10.0 (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) were used.

Flow Cytometric Characterization of IL-18 TRUCKs Manufactured in Clinical-Scale Process

Flow cytometric analysis was performed by using anti-human monoclonal antibodies. Cellular composition antibody table is



PIGURE 1 | Schematic diagram of producing IL-18 TROCKs targeting GD₂ utilizing the ClinitMACS Prodigy[®] automated cell processor (clinitCal-scale process). The entire 12-day process from lymphapheresis material to formulated final products was performed using the ClinitMACS Prodigy[®]. **Day -1**: Overnight storage of the lymphapheresis at 4°C. **Day 0**: Immunomagnetic enrichment of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells. Start of T cell activation with CD3/CD28 TransAct Beads (day 0-3) and cultivation in TexMACSTM basal medium supplemented with IL-7, IL-15 and human AB serum until day 5. **Day 1-3**: Lentiviral transduction. **Day 3**: Culture wash and start of culture agitation. **Day 5**: Switch to TexMACSTM basal medium supplemented with IL-7, IL-15 without human AB serum for following media exchanges. **Day 12**: Wash of cells and harvest in 100 ml formulation buffer for following cryopreservation. During T cell expansion several feeding steps by medium exchange were included in the activity matrix.

shown in Supplementary Table 1. Transduction efficiency was determined by GD₂-CAR detection with the antibody Ganglidiomab, which was conjugated with Phycoerythrin (PE) by Miltenvi Biotec, herein after referred to as Ganglidiomab-PE. The antigen-specific single-chain variable fragment (scFv) of the GD_2 -CAR is derived from the anti- GD_2 antibody 14G2a (32, 33). Ganglidiomab is a monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody to 14G2a and therefore allows for a direct detection of the GD₂-CAR on cells. Subsequently antibody staining (10 min at RT) cells were incubated (10 min at RT) with freshly prepared red blood cell lysis solution (Miltenyi Biotec). T cell phenotype antibody panel is shown in Supplementary Table 1. After antibody staining (10 min at RT in PBS supplemented with 4% FCS) cells were washed and resuspended with PBS supplemented with 4% FCS (both Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). Prior to flow cytometric analysis 7-AAD and Flow-Count Fluorospheres (both Beckman Coulter) were added to the samples for dead cell discrimination and single platform cell quantification, respectively. Flow

cytometric analysis was performed with the Navios flow cytometer (Navios 3L 10C, Software 1.3, Beckman Coulter). For gating strategies see **Supplement Figures S6**, 7.

Cell Lines and Cell Culture

The cell lines 293T, HT1080, HT1080-GD₂ and SH-SY5Y were cultivated as recently described (26). NK-92 cells (human natural killer lymphoma #ACC 488; DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany) were cultivated in RPMI 1640 medium (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine (c.c.pro, Oberdorla, Germany) and 400 IU/mL human IL-2 (Proleukin S, Novartis Pharma GmbH, Nürnberg, Germany). THP-1 (human acute monocytic leukemia, #ACC 16; DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany) cells were cultivated in RPMI 1640 medium with 2 mM L-glutamine, 2-mercaptoethanol to a final concentration of 0.05 mM, 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (HI-FBS), and 50 IU/ml penicillin and 50 µg/ml streptomycin. All cells were tested for mycoplasma

contamination on a regular basis using the MycoAlert[™] Mycoplasma Detection Kit (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Laboratory Manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ (Laboratory-Scale Process)

CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells isolated by the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (see clinical-scale manufacturing) were transduced and expanded as previously described (34). Briefly, they were activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at a ratio of 1:1 in TexMACSTM (Miltenyi Biotec) with 3% human serum (c.c.pro, Oberdorla, Germany) supplemented with 12.5 ng/ml IL-7 and IL-15 (PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA). On the following day, T cells were either left untransduced or transduced with lentiviral particles by spinoculation using an MOI of 7 and addition of 5 µg/ml Polybrene Infection/ Transfection Reagent (Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA, USA). The anti-CD3/CD28 beads were removed on the following day and cells were further cultivated in TexMACSTM medium supplemented with 3% human serum, 12.5 ng/ml IL-7 and IL-15 and splitting 1:2 every 2 - 3 days for a total expansion time of 12 days.

Cryopreservation and Thawing of IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂

Untransduced and transduced T cells were cryopreserved in Composol[®] PS Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany/2.86% (w/v) HSA (Biotest, Dreieich, Germany) (D1) and SSP+ (Maco Pharma International GmbH, Langen, Germany) supplemented with 3.33% (w/v) HSA (D2), respectively after manufacturing by adjusting the cell counts and addition of DMSO (CryoSure-DMSO, USP grade; WAK Chemie, Steinbach, Germany) to a final concentration of 10% (v/v). After cryopreservation in a < -80°C freezer overnight, the cells were stored in the vapor phase above liquid nitrogen at < -140°C. For T cell phenotype analysis cells were thawed in RPMI 1640 medium with 20% (v/v) FCS (both Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and rested for 1 h in RPMI 1640 with 10% FCS (37°C, 5% (v/v) CO₂) before flow cytometric analysis. For functional analysis of the cryopreserved cells, they were thawed and seeded in TexMACSTM medium in a cell density of 2.5 x 10⁶ cells/ml and rested overnight.

Co-Culture of Laboratory- and Clinical-Scale IL-18 TRUCKs With Target Cells

Directly after expansion or after cryopreservation and thawing (cryo), functionality of the laboratory- and clinical-scale IL-18 TRUCKs in comparison to untransduced T cells was assessed by co-culturing them with target cells. For flow cytometry and soluble mediator measurements, 5×10^4 target cells were seeded in 800 µl of their respective culture medium, which was removed after 4 - 24 h followed by addition of effector cells according to the specified effector-to-target (E:T) ratio in 800 µl CTL medium. For cytotoxicity, microscopy and intracellular cytokine assessment, 2×10^4 target cells were seeded in 200µl and co-cultured with effector cells accordingly.

Flow Cytometry of Laboratory-Scale Experiments

The antibodies used for flow cytometric analysis are listed in **Supplement Table S1**. The transduction efficiency was analyzed with the Ganglidiomab-PE mAb. Intracellular staining of TNF- α was performed by using the IntraPrep Permeabilization Reagent (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were read on a BD FACSCantoTM Flow Cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). To determine cytotoxicity of engineered T cells, target cells were gated as CD3⁻ cells. Percentage of killed cells was normalized to untransduced cell co-cultures using the following formula:

CD3⁻ cell killing = 100 % - CD3⁻ cell frequency (co-culture) CD3⁻ cell frequency (respoctive co-culture with untransduced T cells)

Multiplex Cytokine Analysis

Cytokine concentrations in the supernatant were determined using a customized LEGENDplexTM Multi-Analyte Flow Assay (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), which allowed for the detection of human IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-18, granzyme B, perforin, interferon (IFN)- γ , and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α . Samples were analyzed with LEGENDplex v8.0 software (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA).

Determination of Cytotoxicity by LDH Assay

The release of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) into the cell culture supernatant was assessed by using the Cytotoxicity Detection Kit (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Cells lysed by adding Triton X-100 (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) to a final concentration of 1% to all control wells served as maximum controls. Absorbance was assessed at a wavelength of 490 nm with a reference wavelength of 690 nm on a Synergy 2 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader (Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA). LDH release (%) was calculated according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Microscopy

Transmitted-light microscope images of co-cultures of target and effector cells were taken with an Olympus IX81 microscope combined with a digital B/W camera using 10x objective lenses and analyzed with Xcellence Pro image software (all from Olympus, Hamburg, Germany). Representative pictures are shown.

XCelligence

Target cell killing by cryopreserved and thawed TRUCKs was furthermore determined with the XCelligence RTCA S16 Real Time Cell Analyzer and using E-Plates 16 PET (both ACEA Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA). Background impedance of all wells was assessed with cell culture medium measurements. Afterwards, target cells were seeded in an amount of 1×10^5 cells (SH-SY5Y) or 2×10^4 cells (HT1080, HT1080-GD₂) in 200 µl of their respective culture medium and adhesion was checked by measurements every 30 min. T cells were added after target cell adhesion shown by a constant impedance after 19 – 25 h. For this, 150 μ l medium were carefully removed and replaced by T cells in the specified E:T-ratios in 150 μ l CTL medium. Impedance was measured every 30 min. Cell indices were normalized to the respective indices after T cell addition.

Cell Migration Assay

To test the chemo-attractive potential of supernatants that were derived from co-culture experiments of primary human T cells transduced with the IL-18 TRUCK vector and GD₂⁺ target cells, migration assays with THP-1 or NK-92 cells were performed using a Boyden chamber (NeuroProbe, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) as recently described (26). The cell number was calculated using an Olympus IX71 microscope and imageJ 1.53k software. To normalize results from different plates, cell numbers of migrated cells towards untransduced T cells as background migration were subtracted from all values for each plate.

Isolation of Genomic DNA and Determination of the VCN by qPCR

Genomic DNA was isolated from 1 x 10^6 transduced or untransduced cells (-20°C frozen cell pellets) with the QIAamp[®] DNA blood mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The determination of the VCN by qPCR was performed as recently described (35).

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism V.9.1.2 using the Kruskal-Wallis and uncorrected Dunn's test. Only mean ranks of preselected data sets were compared: large-scale TRUCKs cultured alone or co-cultured with different target cells, large-scale TRUCKs co-cultured with different target cells immediately after generation (indicated by black asterisks) or cryopreservation (indicated by grey asterisks), large-scale TRUCKs co-cultured with different target cells in comparison to the same co-cultures with all laboratory-scale manufactured cells. Significant differences are shown (*p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01).

RESULTS

GMP-Compliant Manufacturing Process of IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ Using Automated Cell Processing in a Closed System

To assess feasibility, we performed two complete GMPcompliant processes (D1 and D2 with two individual donor lymphocyte products) to manufacture IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ using an automated TCT protocol for CliniMACS Prodigy[®] as shown in **Figure 1**.

Recovery and Purity of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ Cells Enriched in an Automated Process

Starting with the lymphapheresis, $1.14 \times 10^9 \text{ D1}$ and $1.17 \times 10^9 \text{ D2}$, respectively, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells (20.6% D1 and 46.1% D2 of unstimulated short time lymphapheresis) were applied for enrichment. An amount of $0.67 \times 10^9 \text{ D1}$ and $0.88 \times 10^9 \text{ D2} \text{ CD4}^+$

and CD8⁺ cells were obtained representing a recovery of 58.8% D1 and 75.2% D2. Thereby, the isolation of CD4⁺ cells with a recovery of 63.9% D1 and 84.04% D2 was more effective than enrichment of CD8⁺ cells with 46.8% D1 and 61.7% D2 recovery, respectively (**Figure 2A**). The achieved T cell purities and cell compositions are shown in **Figure 2B**. Due to the CD8 based isolation procedure, NK as well as NKT cells were not completely depleted releasing 7.6% D1 and 4.4% D2 contaminating NKT cells in the final cell product (**Figure 2B**). The CD4/CD8 ratio pre-enrichment was 2.1 D1 and 1.6 D2 and post-enrichment 2.9 D1 and 2.2 D2 reflecting a superior recovery of CD4⁺ cells (**Figure 2D**).

Expanded IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ Display a High Purity and Favorable Phenotype

In accordance with the TCT protocol, the cell expansion started with 0.84 x 10⁸ D1 and 0.9 x 10⁸ D2 viable T cells (corresponding 1.18 x 10⁸ D1 and 1.0 x 10⁸ D2 viable WBC) after enrichment of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells. The expansion rate during the 12-day manufacturing process was 68.3-fold D1 and 71.4-fold D2 for T cells. Viability of the cells was >96% during the whole process until final harvest (Figure 2C). Cell concentration increased in a constant culture volume from 3.8×10^6 /ml D1 on day 5 and 5.5 x 10^{6} /ml D2 to 31.2 x 10^{6} /ml D1 and 34.2 x 10^{6} /ml D2 in the final products (Figure S1A). Monitoring of cell culture condition revealed a pH of 7.0 - 7.1 and a glucose level above the critical level of 100 mg/dl. (Figure S1B). T cell purity and cell composition of the final products is shown in Figure 2B. During expansion, the CD4/CD8 ratio increased in the first run from 2.9 to 3.3 D1 but decreased slightly in the second run from 2.2 to 2.0 D2 (Figure 2D). The proportion of T cell phenotypes during ex vivo cell expansion was analyzed by comparing T cell phenotypes in the initial product post CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ enrichment at process day 0 and in the final product at process day 12 as shown in Figure 2F.

Transduction of T Cells With the "All-In-One" Lentiviral Vector Is Highly Efficient

The recently described "all-in-one" lentiviral vector (26) encoding constitutive GD_2 CAR and inducible IL-18 expression was used for cell transduction on day 1 of the manufacturing process with a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 29 for D1 and 10 for D2 derived T cells. The percentage of transduced CD3⁺ cells in the final product, was 74.9% D1 and 52.2% D2, while CD4⁺ cells exhibited a higher transduction efficiency (80.6% D1 and 65.8% D2) compared to CD8⁺ cells (57.2% D1 and 26.5% D2) (**Figure 2E**). The VCN determined by qPCR of genomic DNA in the final products were 2.6 D1 and 2.4 D2 copies/cell, respectively.

Preclinical *In Vitro* Characterization Using Clinical- and Laboratory-Scale Manufactured TRUCKs

IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD_2 manufactured using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (referred to as clinical-scale TRUCKs)



FIGURE 2 | Automated GMP-compliant manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (clinical-scale process). (A) Recovery (cell population in percent of cell population pre-enrichment) of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells after enrichment. (B) Cell composition after enrichment of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells and in the final products. The achieved T cell purity in the positive fraction (PF) was 79.1% D1 and 87.7% D2 with contaminating CD56+CD3+ NKT cells (12.0% D1 and 3.8% D2), CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells (6.4% D1 and 6.8% D2), CD14⁺ monocytes (1.9% D1 and 0.6% D2) and CD20⁺ B cells (0.2% D1 and 0.5% D2). Cell composition of the final products (FP) with a purity of 92.1% D1 and 95.0% D2 T cells (CD3⁺/CD56⁻) and impurities with NKT cells (7.6% D1 and 4.4% D2) as well as residual 0.1% D1 and 0.2% D2 NK cells. Residual B cells (0.05% D2) were detected but no monocytes in the final products. (C) Expansion and viability of T cells (CD3+ CD56) during 12-day manufacturing. (D) CD4/CD8 ratio during cultivation. The CD4/CD8 ratio changed during the manufacturing process (post-enrichment) from 2.9 to 3.3 D1 and 2.2 to 2.0 D2 in the final products. (E) Transduction rate of CD3⁺ cells and CD4⁺ CD8⁺ subtypes in the final products. (F) T cell phenotypic analysis of the starting material on day 0 (lymphapheresis) and in the final products on day 12. The analyses were performed by flow cytometry based on the expression of CD45RO, CCR7 and CD95 among viable CD3⁺ cells to define naïve (T_N: CD45RO⁻, CCR7⁺, CD95⁻), stem-cell memory (T_{SCM}: CD45RO⁻, CCR7⁺, CD95⁺), central memory (T_{CM}: CD45RO⁺, CCR7⁺ CD95⁺), effector memory (T_{EM}: CD45RO⁺, CCR7⁻ CD95⁺) and effector (T_{EF}: CD45RO⁻, CCR7⁻ CD95⁺) T cell subsets. T_N (33.1% D1 and 30.0% D2), T_{CM} (25.1% and 11.8% D2) and T_{EM} (37.6% D1 and 53.0% D2) cells were present in the initial product with differences in the T cell subsets (T_{SCM}: 2.2% D1 and 0.62% D2, T_{FF}: 2.1% D1 and 4.62% D2). In contrast, the final TRUCK products harbored cells with less differentiated memory phenotypes with a T_{CM} (56.9% D1 and 8.17% D2) and T_{SCM} (18.3% D1 and 8.62% D2) cells, T_{EM} (23.6% D1 and 72.74% D2) and T_{EF} (1.2% D1 and 9.9% D1 an D2) cells and the decrease of T_N (<0.1% D1 and 0.54% D2) cells For cell composition, cells (B, D) were gated as viable CD45⁺ cells using lineage-specific markers: T cells (CD3+ CD56-), monocytes (CD14+), NK cells (CD56+ CD16+), NKT cells (CD56+ CD3+), B cells (CD20+). n = 2.

were compared to the respective TRUCKs generated under laboratory conditions (referred to as laboratory-scale TRUCKs). These cells were manufactured manually as previously described (34) using the same isolated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell starting population, lentiviral vector, expansion media, cytokines, and experimental timing. Untransduced T cells as well as GD₂ TRUCKs with inducible EGFP expression (referred to as EGFP-TRUCKs) were generated in laboratory scale and served as controls. From a starting fraction of 0.6 x 10^6 cells, laboratory-scale TRUCKs expanded to a cell number of 48 x 10^6 cells, which was slightly lower compared to untransduced T cells and EGFP-TRUCKs with final cell numbers of 53 x 10^6 and 54 x 10^6 cells, respectively (**Figure S2A**). Both, laboratory- and clinical-scale IL-18 TRUCKs, showed an enhanced frequency of CD4⁺ T cells after expansion with CD4/CD8 ratios of 2.2 for clinical- and 2.1 for laboratory-scale TRUCKs, whereas it was

0.79 for untransduced T cells (Figures 3A, B). Utilizing the recently described "all-in-one" vector" (26), we obtained a high percentage of transduced cells with 65% and 85% under clinical scale as well as under laboratory conditions, respectively, with a higher frequency of transduced CD4⁺ T cells than CD8⁺ T cells (Figures 3C, D). Activation marker expression on clinical-scale TRUCKs, assessed after expansion of T cells with anti-CD3/ CD28 stimulation and IL-7 and IL-15 supplementation, revealed CD25 and CD69 expression on CD3⁺ T cells (45% and 24%, respectively), moderate CD154 expression on CD4⁺ cells (13%) and absent CD137 expression on CD8⁺ cells (Figures 3E-H); similar data were obtained for laboratory-scale cells. Clinical use of modified cells often requires cryopreservation to allow for centralized manufacturing and administration flexibility (36). To assess the feasibility of cryopreservation of the obtained T cell product, the manufactured T cells were also characterized after freezing and thawing. Cryopreservation of clinical-scale IL-18 TRUCKs did not significantly change their activation state, CD4/ CD8 ratios and frequency of transduced cells (Figures 3A, B, **D-H**).

Clinical-Scale-Manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ Specifically Respond to GD⁺₂ Target Cells With an Increase of Activation Marker Expression

We tested the ability of the generated TRUCKs to recognize and react towards GD₂⁺ target cells. Manufactured cells were cocultivated either with GD2 HT1080, HT1080 cells expressing GD_2 or with the GD_2^+ neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y as target cells and examined for activation marker expression. Clinicalscale IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ responded with increased expression of CD25 and CD69 by 50 - 64% and 35 - 45%, respectively, on all CD3⁺ T cells to both GD₂-expressing target cells, whereas no specific response towards unmodified HT1080 cells was detected (Figures 4B, C and S3A-D). The slightly lower activation response towards SH-SY5Y in comparison to HT1080-GD₂ coincides with the lower GD₂ expression levels (26). Clinical-scale compared to laboratory-scale TRUCKs exhibited a similar activation marker increase for all markers and target cells, and also cryopreserved TRUCKs did not show significantly different responses regarding expression of CD137 on CD8⁺ and CD154 on CD4⁺ T cells, the same effects were observed, indicating cells of the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ populations in manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs were specifically and effectively activated in response to GD₂⁺ target cells (Figures 4A, D, E and **S3E-H**). Assessment of respective activation marker expression levels as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) or in further effectorto-target (E:T) ratios confirmed the observed results (Figures S3A-H).

Clinical-Scale-Manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ Increased Release of Cytokines Upon Target Recognition

The release of cytokines by manufactured cells into the cell coculture supernatants upon target contact was assessed. In cocultures with HT1080-GD₂ cells and, to a lower extent also with SH-SY5Y cells, the release of several cytokines and cytolytic factors was upregulated in clinical-scale IL-18 TRUCKs compared to background secretion: IL-2 (108 and 25-fold), IL-4 (39 and 23-fold), IL-10 (5.8 and 2.2-fold), interferon (IFN)- γ (70 and 49-fold), granzyme B (290 and 150-fold), perforin (3.7 and 2.7-fold) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α (430 and 380-fold; all in an E:T ratio of 8:1) (**Figures 5** and **S4**). Thereby, antigen-induced cytokine release by clinical-scale TRUCKs was similar compared to laboratory-scale TRUCKs and, furthermore, cryopreservation of cells did not significantly change the secretion pattern. A higher expression of TNF- α , by IL-18 TRUCKs upon specific target contact was confirmed by intracellular staining (**Figure S3I**).

Clinical-Scale-Manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ Specifically Eliminate GD₂⁺ Target Cells

Finally, the killing capacity of manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ was determined by flow cytometric analysis of target cells in the co-cultures. Relative to co-cultures of untransduced T cells with HT1080-GD₂ and SH-SY5Y, clinicalscale TRUCKs eliminated 69 - 88% of HT1080-GD2 and 65 - 86% of SH-SY5Y cells at different E:T ratios, whereas the frequency of HT1080 in co-cultures with the clinical-scale TRUCKs was on the level of untransduced T cells or laboratory-scale manufactured cells, likely representing expected allo-reactivity (Figure 6A). Compared to TRUCKs generated in the laboratory-scale, clinical-scale-manufactured TRUCKs exhibited a similar cytotoxic ability to eliminate GD_2^+ target cells, which was moreover not impeded by cryopreservation. The release of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) into the supernatant as parameter for cytolysis confirmed the result; cytotoxicity was enhanced in co-cultures of both IL-18 TRUCKs with HT1080-GD₂ cells (18-23% and 0-17% for large- and laboratory-scale TRUCKs, respectively) compared to the respective co-cultures with unmodified HT1080 cells, in which LDH was not released above background of cells cultured alone (Figure S5A). Target cell death by LDH release in co-cultures of clinical-scale TRUCKs with SH-SY5Y was also enhanced (6-16%) and similar to the cytotoxicity by laboratory-scale TRUCKs (2-8%). LDH measurements in the co-cultures with cryopreserved T cells revealed a similar cytotoxic capability towards GD₂⁺ target cells. Real-time measurement of target cell viability confirmed these results. After addition of both TRUCKs to adherent SH-SY5Y cells, the cell index was rapidly reduced, resulting in almost complete absence of adherent target cells after co-cultivation with laboratory- or clinical-scale TRUCKs for 60 h in different ratios (Figures 6B, C). Transmitted-light microscopy visualized the process of target cell elimination. In co-cultures of HT1080 with all T cell products, cells are distributed equally, and the target cells stayed viable in all E:T ratios (Figure 6D). In co-cultures of both TRUCKs with HT1080-GD₂ or SH-SY5Y, the target cells were diminished or even absent after 72 h and T cells formed large clusters around the target cells. For thawed TRUCKs, the clusters tended to be even larger and already appeared at low E:T ratios in co-cultures with SH-SY5Y cells (Figure S5B).

68



FIGURE 3 | Clinical-scale-manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ are transduced and pre-activated at similar efficacies compared to laboratory-scalemanufactured TRUCKs. IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ were generated using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (clinical-scale TRUCK; n=2) or under laboratory conditions (lab.-scale TRUCK; n=3). Untransduced T cells (lab.-scale untransduced; n=3) as well as GD₂ TRUCKs with inducible EGFP expression (EGFP-TRUCK; n=3) served as control. The manufactured cells were either characterized directly after the generation process (d12) or after cryopreservation and thawing (cryo). (**A**, **B**) Frequency of (**A**) CD4⁺ and (**B**) CD8⁺ T cells in the final cell product. (**C**, **D**) Percentage of CAR⁺ cells of (**C**) CD3⁺ cells shown as representative plots and (**D**) CD3⁺, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells as assessed by staining of the scFv-domain of TRUCKs with a Ganglidiomab antibody after expansion. (**E**–**H**) Expression of the activation markers (**E**) CD25 on CD3⁺, (**F**) CD69 on CD3⁺, (**G**) CD137 on CD8⁺ and (**H**) CD154 on CD4⁺ T cells. (**A**, **B**, **D**–**H**) Data are shown as mean ± SD. Statistical differences of large-scale TRUCKs directly after generation or cryopreservation as well as in comparison to laboratory-scale manufactured cells were assessed by Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test, significant differences are shown (*p ≤ 0.05).

Clinical-Scale-Manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs Targeting GD₂ Released IL-18 in a Target-Specific Manner Leading to Innate Immune Cell Attraction

To address the ability of the generated TRUCKs to selectively release IL-18 following CAR engagement of GD₂ target antigen, the cytokine was measured in the co-culture supernatants. Importantly, the release of IL-18 into the cell culture supernatant by freshly-generated or cryopreserved clinical-scale TRUCKs was induced in a target-specific manner up to 41 pg/ml upon HT1080-GD₂ and 18 pg/ml upon SH-SY5Y encounter (**Figure 7A**). To assess the effect of anti-GD₂ IL-18 TRUCK-induced cytokines with respect to the recruitment of innate

immune cells, we used a modified Boyden chamber assay to compare the migration potential of cell supernatants collected from co-culture experiments of IL-18 TRUCKs vs. untransduced T cells and GD_2^+ target cells (HT1080-GD₂ and SH-SY5Y) to promote the recruitment of monocytes (THP-1 cells) and NK cells (NK-92 cells). The capacity of IL-18 containing supernatants to recruit innate immune cells was shown by positive Giemsa staining of the transwell membrane through which migrating cells were recruited (**Figure 7B**). Giemsa staining of migrated cells revealed that increased numbers of the monocytic cells THP-1 as well as NK-92 cells were recruited by supernatants collected from IL-18 TRUCKs co-cultured with HT1080-GD₂ or SH-SY5Y target cells compared to



FIGURE 4 | Clinical-scale-manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ specifically respond to GD^{\pm} target cells with an increase of activation marker expression. IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ were generated using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (clinical-scale TRUCK; n=2) or under laboratory conditions (lab.-scale TRUCK; n=3). Untransduced T cells (lab.-scale untransduced; n=3) as well as GD₂ TRUCKs with inducible EGFP expression (EGFP-TRUCK; n=3) served as control. The manufactured cells were tested for GD₂-CAR-mediated activation either directly after the generation process (d12) or after cryopreservation and thawing (cryo) by co-cultivation with the indicated target cells for 48h in an effector-to-target (E:T) ratio of 4:1 or cultivation alone (T cells only). (**A**–**E**) Frequency of (**A**) CD137⁺ of CD8⁺ as representative plots, (**B**) CD25⁺ of CD3⁺, (**C**) CD69⁺ of CD3⁺, (**D**) CD137⁺ of CD8⁺ and (**E**) CD154⁺ of CD4⁺ T cells as determined by flow cytometry. (**B**–**E**) A dashed line indicates background levels of the respective expression by untransduced T cells (grey), EGFP-TRUCKs (blue), as well as clinical-scale (red) and laboratory-scale (green) TRUCKs cultured alone. Data is shown as mean \pm SD. Statistical differences of clinical-scale TRUCKs co-cultured with different target cells after generation or cryopreservation as well as in comparison to laboratory-scale manufactured cells were assessed by Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test, significant differences are shown (*p ≤ 0.05, **p ≤ 0.01).



FIGURE 5 | Clinical-scale-manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ specifically react to target recognition with increased release of soluble mediators. IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ were generated using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (clinical-scale TRUCK; n=2) or under laboratory conditions (lab.-scale TRUCK; n=3). Untransduced T cells (lab.-scale untransduced; n=3) as well as GD₂ TRUCKs with inducible EGFP expression (EGFP-TRUCK; n=3) served as control. The manufactured cells were tested for functionality either directly after the generation process (d12) or after cryopreservation and thawing (cryo) by co-cultivation with the indicated target cells in an effector-to-target (E:T) ratio of 8:1 or cultivation of T cells only. The concentration of released cytokines (**A**) IL-2, (**B**) IL-4, (**C**) IL-10, (**D**) granzyme B, (**E**) IFN- γ , (**F**) perforin, and (**G**) TNF- α in the cell culture supernatants after 48 h was assessed by LEGENDPlexTM. (**F**) A dashed line indicates background levels of the respective cytokine release by untransduced T cells (grey), EGFP-TRUCKs (blue), as well as clinical-scale (red) and laboratory-scale (green) TRUCKs cultured alone. (**A**-**G**) Data are shown as mean ± SD. Statistical differences of clinical-scale TRUCKs co-cultured with different target cells after generation or cryopreservation as well as in comparison to all laboratory-scale manufactured cells were assessed by Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test, significant differences are shown (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01).


FIGURE 6 | Clinical-scale-manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ specifically eliminate GD₂⁺ target cells. IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ were generated using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (clinical-scale TRUCK; n=2) or under laboratory conditions (lab.-scale TRUCK; n=3). Untransduced T cells (lab.-scale untransduced; n=3) as well as GD₂ TRUCKs with inducible EGFP expression (EGFP-TRUCK; n=3) served as control. The manufactured cells were tested for cytotoxicity either directly after the generation process (d12) or after cryopreservation and thawing (cryo) by co-cultivation with the indicated target cells and in the indicated effector-to-target (E:T) ratios. (A) Target cell killing after 48h was measured by flow cytometry as percentage of killed CD3⁻ cells relative to those eliminated in co-cultures with untransduced T cells. Data is shown as mean \pm SD. Statistical differences of large-scale TRUCKs co-cultured with different target cells directly after generation or cryopreservation as well as in comparison to all laboratory-scale manufactured cells were assessed by Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test, whereby only significant differences are shown (" $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$). (B, C) Killing of SH-SY5Y cells by the generated cells (B) directly after their generation (here: lab.-scale untransduced n=2, clinical-scale TRUCK n=1) or (C) after cryopreservation and thawing was determined with the XCelligence Real-Time Cell Analyzer. Cell indices were normalized to the respective indices after T cell addition. Data is shown as mean. (D) Representative transmitted-light microscope images of co-cultures of fresh effector cells with target cells taken after 48 h by an Olympus IX81 microscope combined with a digital B/W camera using 10x objective lenses.

untransduced T cells, EGFP-TRUCKs or upon co-culture with GD₂ target cells, likely as a result of induced IL-18 cytokine secretion (**Figures 7C, D**). Taken together, supernatants from TRUCKs releasing IL-18 in an inducible manner by CAR activation upon antigen recognition exhibit an innate immune cell recruitment potential *in vitro* indicating IL-18 biological activity.

DISCUSSION

In general, CAR and TRUCK vector design is a critical aspect for the generation of engineered T cells. Especially, the costimulatory domains within the CAR might be of high interest to improve CAR T-cell activity and long-lasting persistence with reduced T cell exhaustion, also with respect to the targeted tumor antigen (37). TRUCKs additionally combine the redirected CAR T cell attack with the on-site release of a biologically active protein while avoiding its systemic toxicity, thereby holding promise to modulate the environment of the targeted solid tumor. The cytokine of choice within the TRUCK concept should be chosen with respect to the desired immune response within the tumor microenvironment (TME). The IL-18 cytokine creates a proinflammatory environment, recruits bystander effector cells to the tumor site and enhances cytolytic activity (4–6). Therefore, IL-18 was an attractive cytokine for the development of the "all-in-one" lentiviral vector combining constitutive anti-GD₂ CAR expression and inducible IL-18 (26) as well as for the automated and closed processing for GMP-compliant manufacturing process for CAR T cells (24, 25).

TRUCKs combine the redirected CAR T cell attack with the on-site release of a biologically active protein while avoiding its systemic toxicity, thereby holding promise to modulate the environment of the targeted solid tumor. Further development of the strategy is based on design and broad *in vitro* characterization of the "all-in-one" lentiviral vector combining constitutive anti-GD₂ CAR expression and inducible IL-18 (26) as well as on an automated and closed processing for GMP-compliant manufacturing process for CAR T cells (24, 25). We present the proof of feasibility for translation of the method to activate and expand IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ for clinical application.

Our protocol is optimized to produce CAR-engineered T cells in clinically sufficient numbers under GMP-compliance using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] platform that integrates different steps of manufacturing including cell isolation, activation, transduction, cell washing, cultivation and formulation of the final product in a single process and thus minimizes variability emanating from various manual work steps. The fully integrated modular system allows for flexibility and standardized procedure at the same time, which is the key for the production of personalized cell products of various kinds. Multiple steps are required to produce gene modified effector cells starting with enrichment of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subset followed by activation, transduction and expansion of effector cells. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ enrichment is regarded as a safety procedure to decrease blast counts in the culture (38). CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ enrichment also decreases contaminating cells such as monocytes, which inhibit CAR T cell expansion (39). The primary objective was the feasibility of cell production for 3 dose levels (e. g. 5×10^5 , 1×10^6 , and 3×10^6 anti-GD₂ IL-18 TRUCKs/ kg). For enrichment of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells the TCT process is limited to a maximum of 3 x 10⁹ target cells. This means for our two processes that only a part (20.6% D1 and 46.1% D2) of the lymphapheresis from a healthy donor was used for enrichment. Likewise, only part of enriched cells (12.5% D1 and 10.0% D2) could be applied for activation and expansion. Due to the limited culture volume and growth area, it is recommended to start with 1 $x 10^8$ cells. Any remainder may be frozen as backup for the patient.

After $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ enrichment we found high T cell purities with low contaminating cell populations of $CD8^+$ NK and NKT cells which are not removed during the $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ enrichment step also described by other groups (23, 38). With a T cell expansion rate of 68.3-fold D1 and 71.4-fold D2 and a transduction rate of 77.7% D1 and 55.1% D2 we reached sufficient cell doses of 4.8×10^9 D1 and 3.7×10^9 D2 IL-18 TRUCKs. This would allow for the application of 60.0×10^6 cells/ kg respectively 46.0×10^6 cells/kg IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ to a recipient weighing 80 kg even in a multi-dose base. We and others show the eligibility of the T cell transduction (TCT) process developed by Miltenyi Biotec with fixed process parts (enrichment, activation and transduction) as well as the possibility of variable culture set up by modular programming of the activity matrix (22–25, 38, 40–43).

Safety aspects in the clinical use of Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products (ATMPs) have high priority. Lentiviral vectors are known to have a lower risk for mutational oncogenesis than γ -retroviral vectors (38). The European Medicines Agency (28) reflection paper (EMA/CAT/190186/ 2012) on the management of clinical risks deriving from insertional mutagenesis highlighted the VCN as a risk factor for oncogenesis and recommended risk assessment and management of the integration copy numbers, integration profile and sites in cellular products. The IL-18 TRUCK final products contained 2.6 D1 and 2.4 D2 copies/cell, respectively, which is below 5 copies/cell that is considered to be safe (44). The transduction rate of 74.9% D1 and 52.2% D2 in the final products was higher than reported by other groups using CliniMACS Prodigy[®] for production of CAR T cells (22, 23, 25, 38, 40-43, 45). Transduction efficiency was higher for CD4⁺ compared to $CD8^+$ T cells as also shown by previous reports (25, 43).

To prolong the *in vivo* persistence of CAR T cells in patients, enrichment of cell products with less differentiated T cell subsets such as central memory (T_{CM}) or stem cell memory T (T_{SCM}) T cells is thought to be crucial. These subpopulations have gained substantial attention, as the adoptive transfer of even low numbers of T cells from these subsets can reconstitute robust and long-term maintained immune responses (46, 47). IL-18 TRUCK final product T cells from Donor 1 showed a T_{cm}/T_{scm} phenotype while Donor 2 showed predominantly a T_{EM} phenotype. CD3/CD28 activation and culture of naïve T (48) cells in presence of IL-7 and IL-15 promotes the acquisition of T_{CM} or T_{SCM} phenotypes (22, 23, 38, 49). This is in line with previous reports (23, 43). In addition, whereas T cells expressing CARs with CD28 domains predominantly differentiate into effector memory T (T_{EM}) cells, in vitro expansion of 4-1BBcontaining CAR T cells as the TRUCKs used here produces a higher proportion of T_{CM} cells (50). We also demonstrate, that the TRUCK manufacturing process did not lead to unspecific secretion of IL-18 even after T cell activation with TransAct (CD3/CD28) and cytokines (IL-7 and IL-15).

In vitro characterization of the obtained engineered T cell product revealed an upregulation of activation markers (CD25, CD69, CD137 and CD154) on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and a variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines and cytotoxic mediators (IL-2, IL-4, granzyme B, perforin, IFN- γ , TNF- α) upon specific recognition of GD₂-expressing target cells, but not after cocultivation with a control cell line lacking the target. In addition, TRUCKs induced release of the engineered cytokine



FIGURE 7 | Clinical-scale-manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ released IL-18 in a target-specific manner leading to innate immune cell attraction. IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ were generated using the CliniMACS Prodigy[®] (clinical-scale TRUCK; n=2) or under laboratory conditions (lab.-scale TRUCK; n=3). Untransduced T cells (lab-scale untransduced; n=3) as well as GD₂ TRUCKs with inducible EGFP expression (EGFP-TRUCK; n=3 [except for D, in which n=1]) served as control. The manufactured cells were tested for functionality either directly after the generation process (d12) or after cryopreservation and thawing (cryo) by co-cultivation with the indicated target cells in the indicated effector-to-target (E:T) ratios or cultivation alone (T cells only). (A) The concentration of released cytokines in the cell culture supernatants after 48h was assessed by LEGENDPlexTM. The chemoattractive potential of IL-18 released by TRUCKs upon target recognition in terms of the migration of (B, C) THP-1 and (D) NK-92 cells was assessed. Supernatant of engineered T cells cultured alone (T cells only) or together with the indicated target cells for 48 h was placed in a Boyden chamber, covered with an 8 µm polycarbonate membrane and incubated for another 4h. Medium served as the control supernatant. Cells migrated through the membranes were Giemas stained. (B) Representative pictures of Giemas atained THP-1 cells (viet) on the bottom of the membrane. (C, D) The number of cells that migrated through the membrane was determined. To normalize results from different plates, cell numbers of migrate cells towards untransduced T cells (grey), EGFP-TRUCKs (blue), as well as clinical-scale (green) TRUCKs cultured alone. Statistical differences of large-scale TRUCKs co-cultured with different target cells after generation or cryopreservation as well as in comparison to laboratory-scale (manufer target cells after generation or cryopreservation as well as in comparison to laboratory-scale manufactured cells were assessed by Krus

IL-18 in an antigen-dependent manner and mediated a very low background secretion upon co-cultivation with target-negative cells or spontaneous release without target cells. The risk of toxicity for IL-18 TRUCKs is different to IL-12 TRUCKs that revealed severe toxicity of T cells engineered with inducible IL-12 in a melanoma mouse model due to off-target cytokine secretion (4). However, other studies with IL-12 TRUCKs reported a safe administration into mice and such toxicities were not observed for IL-18 TRUCKs (2, 3, 5, 51). GMP-compliant manufactured IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD₂ showed a high cytotoxic capability and were able to eliminate tumor cells while forming clusters around target cells. IL-18 TRUCKs show higher toxicities against high GD₂-expressing target cells confirming the *in vitro* studies by Wiebel et al. (52).

To accurately quantify and confirm cytotoxicity towards target cells, we combined different methodologies including the label-free, real-time monitoring by impedance measurements, flow cytometric analysis allowing for concurrent phenotypic evaluation of TRUCKs, and detection of pro-inflammatory cytokines as indirect and cytotoxic mediators as direct parameter of cell lysis in the co-culture. Kiesgen (53) et al. comprehensively compare the power and limitation of different cytotoxicity assays and emphasize that especially impedance-based assays display a superior sensitivity and signal-to-background ratio over the "gold standard" ⁵¹chromium-release assay making it possible to evaluate even low E:T ratios as most appropriate to resemble physiological conditions. Such low E:T ratios would be interesting to evaluate in further experiments, since the manufactured TRUCKs exhibited rapid elimination of SH-SY5Y cells in the lowest E:T ratio of 1:1. Moreover, in vitro tests using repeated antigen stimulation or inclusion of immunosuppressive factors present in the TME are increasingly being used and could give an insight about persistence and exhaustion level of the generated TRUCKs upon high antigen stress.

We show similar manufacturing of clinical-scale and laboratory-scaled IL-18 TRUCKs concerning transduction and amplification efficiency and cellular functionality. After cryopreservation of the T cell products, the specificity and cytotoxicity of TRUCKs was maintained. Attempts to treat solid tumors with redirected T cells have largely failed so far, with very few patients responding and with only transient and partial tumor regression (17, 18, 48, 54-57). The poor clinical outcome is thought to be due at least in part to an unfavorable environment in the tumor tissue that suppresses CAR T cell responses. TRUCK-secreted cytokine IL-18 led to increased recruitment of monocytes and NK cells in an in vitro cell migration assay. This may contribute to reprogramming the tumor stroma towards a more favorable environment for CAR T cell function, thereby enhancing their efficacy in the treatment of solid tumors. Furthermore, IL-18 was shown to polarize TRUCKs towards more potent pro-inflammatory effector cells that do not drive into functional exhaustion in the long term (5).

In conclusion, GMP-compliant manufacturing of IL-18 TRUCKs targeting GD_2 using the automated closed CliniMACS Prodigy[®] system is feasible and enables the manufacturing of a sufficient number of cells for clinical application. The automatic mode of

operation improves standardization and robustness of the manufacturing process. This benefits the manufacturing at different sites for an academia-initiated multicenter trial. The smooth adaption of the process established and validated for the manufacturing of CAR T cells to generate IL-18 TRUCKs encourages the translation of the procedure to other cells and targets.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

For this study the donors gave their written informed consent and approval was granted by the corresponding ethics committee (No. 2829-2015). The study was approved by the ethics committee of Hannover Medical School (2519-2014, 2830-2015, 3639-2017).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: RE, WG, BE-V, AD, UK, KZ, and ASc. Methodology: AD, WG, RE, MM, AM-E, CK, ASt, KZ, and ASc. Formal analysis: WG, AD, RE, AM-E, MM, CK, ASt, KZ, and KA. Resources: HL, NS, and CR. Writing original draft application: WG, AD, RE, and AM-E. Writing review and editing: all authors. Supervision: HA, LA, TM, RB, LG, ASc, BE-V, and UK. Funding acquisition: BE-V, HA, TM, RB, ASc, UK, and CR. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the following grants: "From CARs to TRUCKs: Induction of a concerted antitumor immune response by engineered T cells" (Deutsche Krebshilfe/German Cancer Aid-Priority Program in Translational Oncology #111975) and DFG-funded SFB738 (projects C4 & C9) and Cluster of Excellence REBIRTH (EXC62/2).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The pQPCR-Stdx4"-plasmid was kindly provided by Michael Rothe. We thank Anna-Magdalena Bartels, Andrea Quaiser, Sarina Lukis and Elvira Schulde for excellent technical assistance. Furthermore, we would like to thank Dr. Bastian Schirmer and Prof. Dr. Detlef Neumann (Institute of Pharmacology, Hannover Medical School) for providing the XCelligence RTCA S16 Real Time Cell Analyzer. We thank Thea Boehm and Caren Clark (Miltenyi Biotec) for helpful discussions and valuable technical advice for the development of process protocol for automated cell-manufacturing. We also thank Carole Batkai for editing the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Kagoya Y, Tanaka S, Guo T, Anczurowski M, Wang CH, Saso K, et al. A Novel Chimeric Antigen Receptor Containing a JAK-STAT Signaling Domain Mediates Superior Antitumor Effects. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(3):352–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.4478
- Chmielewski M, Kopecky C, Hombach AA, Abken H. IL-12 Release by Engineered T Cells Expressing Chimeric Antigen Receptors can Effectively Muster an Antigen-Independent Macrophage Response on Tumor Cells That Have Shut Down Tumor Antigen Expression. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(17):5697– 706. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0103
- Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Kerkar SP, Zhang L, Morgan RA, Restifo NP, et al. Local Delivery of Interleukin-12 Using T Cells Targeting VEGF Receptor-2 Eradicates Multiple Vascularized Tumors in Mice. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18 (6):1672–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3050
- Kunert A, Chmielewski M, Wijers R, Berrevoets C, Abken H, Debets R. Intra-Tumoral Production of IL18, But Not IL12, by TCR-Engineered T Cells is non-Toxic and Counteracts Immune Evasion of Solid Tumors. Oncoimmunology (2017) 7(1):e1378842. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017. 1378842
- Chmielewski M, Abken H. CAR T Cells Releasing IL-18 Convert to T-Bet (high) FoxO1(low) Effectors That Exhibit Augmented Activity Against Advanced Solid Tumors. *Cell Rep* (2017) 21(11):3205–19. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2017.11.063
- Tokarew N, Ogonek J, Endres S, von Bergwelt-Baildon M, Kobold S. Teaching an Old Dog New Tricks: Next-Generation CAR T Cells. *Br J Cancer* (2019) 120(1):26–37. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0325-1
- Svennerholm L, Bostrom K, Fredman P, Jungbjer B, Lekman A, Mansson JE, et al. Gangliosides and Allied Glycosphingolipids in Human Peripheral Nerve and Spinal Cord. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1994) 1214(2):115–23. doi: 10.1016/ 0005-2760(94)90034-5
- Seitz CM, Schroeder S, Knopf P, Krahl AC, Hau J, Schleicher S, et al. GD2-Targeted Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Prevent Metastasis Formation by Elimination of Breast Cancer Stem-Like Cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2020) 9 (1):1683345. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2019.1683345
- Chulanetra M, Morchang A, Sayour E, Eldjerou L, Milner R, Lagmay J, et al. GD2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor Modified T Cells in Synergy With Sub-Toxic Level of Doxorubicin Targeting Osteosarcomas. *Am J Cancer Res* (2020) 10(2):674–87.
- Navid F, Santana VM, Barfield RC. Anti-GD2 Antibody Therapy for GD2-Expressing Tumors. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2010) 10(2):200–9. doi: 10.2174/156800910791054167
- Golinelli G, Grisendi G, Prapa M, Bestagno M, Spano C, Rossignoli F, et al. Targeting GD2-Positive Glioblastoma by Chimeric Antigen Receptor Empowered Mesenchymal Progenitors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2020) 27(7-8):558–70. doi: 10.1038/s41417-018-0062-x
- Grant SC, Kostakoglu L, Kris MG, Yeh SD, Larson SM, Finn RD, et al. Targeting of Small-Cell Lung Cancer Using the Anti-GD2 Ganglioside Monoclonal Antibody 3F8: A Pilot Trial. *Eur J Nucl Med* (1996) 23(2):145– 9. doi: 10.1007/BF01731837
- Andersch L, Radke J, Klaus A, Schwiebert S, Winkler A, Schumann E, et al. CD171- and GD2-Specific CAR-T Cells Potently Target Retinoblastoma Cells in Preclinical *In Vitro* Testing. *BMC Cancer* (2019) 19(1):895. doi: 10.1186/ s12885-019-6131-1
- Chang HR, Cordon-Cardo C, Houghton AN, Cheung NK, Brennan MF. Expression of Disialogangliosides GD2 and GD3 on Human Soft Tissue Sarcomas. *Cancer* (1992) 70(3):633–8. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19920801) 70:3<633::AID-CNCR2820700315>3.0.CO;2-F
- Kailayangiri S, Altvater B, Spurny C, Jamitzky S, Schelhaas S, Jacobs AH, et al. Targeting Ewing Sarcoma With Activated and GD2-Specific Chimeric

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 839783/full#supplementary-material

Antigen Receptor-Engineered Human NK Cells Induces Upregulation of Immune-Inhibitory HLA-G. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6(1):e1250050. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1250050

- Casey DL, Lin TY, Cheung NV. Exploiting Signaling Pathways and Immune Targets Beyond the Standard of Care for Ewing Sarcoma. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:537. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00537
- Heczey A, Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dakhova O, Durett A, Grilley B, et al. CAR T Cells Administered in Combination With Lymphodepletion and PD-1 Inhibition to Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25(9):2214– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.05.012
- Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dotti G, Pule M, Yvon E, Myers GD, et al. Antitumor Activity and Long-Term Fate of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Positive T Cells in Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Blood* (2011) 118(23):6050–6. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2011-05-354449
- Straathof K, Flutter B, Wallace R, Jain N, Loka T, Depani S, et al. Antitumor Activity Without on-Target Off-Tumor Toxicity of GD2-Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12 (571). doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abd6169
- Cauchon NS, Oghamian S, Hassanpour S, Abernathy M. Innovation in Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls-A Regulatory Perspective From Industry. J Pharm Sci (2019) 108(7):2207–37. doi: 10.1016/j.xphs.2019.02.007
- 21. Chomienne C, Sierra J, Einsele H, Jäger U. EHA Guidance Document: The Process of CAR-T Cell Therapy in Europe. *HemaSphere* (2019).
- Mock U, Nickolay L, Philip B, Cheung GW, Zhan H, Johnston ICD, et al. Automated Manufacturing of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells for Adoptive Immunotherapy Using CliniMACS Prodigy. *Cytotherapy* (2016) 18(8):1002–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.05.009
- Lock D, Mockel-Tenbrinck N, Drechsel K, Barth C, Mauer D, Schaser T, et al. Automated Manufacturing of Potent CD20-Directed Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells for Clinical Use. *Hum Gene Ther* (2017) 28(10):914–25. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.111
- Priesner C, Aleksandrova K, Esser R, Mockel-Tenbrinck N, Leise J, Drechsel K, et al. Automated Enrichment, Transduction, and Expansion of Clinical-Scale CD62L(+) T Cells for Manufacturing of Gene Therapy Medicinal Products. *Hum Gene Ther* (2016) 27(10):860–9. doi: 10.1089/hum.2016.091
- 25. Aleksandrova K, Leise J, Priesner C, Melk A, Kubaink F, Abken H, et al. Functionality and Cell Senescence of CD4/ CD8-Selected CD20 CAR T Cells Manufactured Using the Automated CliniMACS Prodigy(R) Platform. *Transfus Med Hemother* (2019) 46(1):47–54. doi: 10.1159/000495772
- 26. Zimmermann K, Kuehle J, Dragon AC, Galla M, Kloth C, Rudek LS, et al. Design and Characterization of an "All-In-One" Lentiviral Vector System Combining Constitutive Anti-GD2 CAR Expression and Inducible Cytokines. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(2):375–96. doi: 10.3390/cancers12020375
- Kailayangiri S, Altvater B, Lesch S, Balbach S, Gottlich C, Kuhnemundt J, et al. EZH2 Inhibition in Ewing Sarcoma Upregulates GD2 Expression for Targeting With Gene-Modified T Cells. *Mol Ther* (2019) 27(5):933–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.02.014
- Klapdor R, Wang S, Hacker U, Buning H, Morgan M, Dork T, et al. Improved Killing of Ovarian Cancer Stem Cells by Combining a Novel Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Based Immunotherapy and Chemotherapy. *Hum Gene Ther* (2017) 28(10):886–96. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.168
- Schambach A, Bohne J, Chandra S, Will E, Margison GP, Williams DA, et al. Equal Potency of Gammaretroviral and Lentiviral SIN Vectors for Expression of O6-Methylguanine-DNA Methyltransferase in Hematopoietic Cells. *Mol Ther* (2006) 13(2):391–400. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.08.012
- Yang Y, Vanin EF, Whitt MA, Fornerod M, Zwart R, Schneiderman RD, et al. Inducible, High-Level Production of Infectious Murine Leukemia Retroviral Vector Particles Pseudotyped With Vesicular Stomatitis Virus G Envelope Protein. *Hum Gene Ther* (1995) 6(9):1203–13. doi: 10.1089/hum.1995.6.9-1203

- Fehse B, Kustikova OS, Bubenheim M, Baum C. Pois(s)on-it's a Question of Dose. *Gene Ther* (2004) 11(11):879–81. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3302270
- 32. Lode HN, Schmidt M, Seidel D, Huebener N, Brackrock D, Bleeke M, et al. Vaccination With Anti-Idiotype Antibody Ganglidiomab Mediates a GD(2)-Specific Anti-Neuroblastoma Immune Response. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62(6):999–1010. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1413-y
- 33. Siebert N, Seidel D, Eger C, Brackrock D, Reker D, Schmidt M, et al. Validated Detection of Anti-GD2 Antibody Ch14.18/CHO in Serum of Neuroblastoma Patients Using Anti-Idiotype Antibody Ganglidiomab. J Immunol Methods (2013) 398-399:51–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2014.04.001
- 34. Dragon AC, Zimmermann K, Nerreter T, Sandfort D, Lahrberg J, Kloth C, et al. CAR-T Cells and TRUCKs That Recognize an EBNA-3C-Derived Epitope Presented on HLA-B*35 Control Epstein-Barr Virus-Associated Lymphoproliferation. J Immunother Cancer (2020) 8(2). doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-000736
- 35. Bialek-Waldmann JK, Domning S, Esser R, Glienke W, Mertens M, Aleksandrova K, et al. Induced Dendritic Cells Co-Expressing GM-CSF/ IFN-Alpha/Twt1 Priming T and B Cells and Automated Manufacturing to Boost GvL. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2021) 21:621–41. doi: 10.1016/ j.omtm.2021.04.004
- 36. Panch SR, Srivastava SK, Elavia N, McManus A, Liu S, Jin P, et al. Effect of Cryopreservation on Autologous Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Characteristics. *Mol Ther* (2019) 27(7):1275–85. doi: 10.1016/ j.ymthe.2019.05.015
- Quintarelli C, Orlando D, Boffa I, Guercio M, Polito VA, Petretto A, et al. Choice of Costimulatory Domains and of Cytokines Determines CAR T-Cell Activity in Neuroblastoma. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7(6):e1433518. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1433518
- 38. Blaeschke F, Stenger D, Kaeuferle T, Willier S, Lotfi R, Kaiser AD, et al. Induction of a Central Memory and Stem Cell Memory Phenotype in Functionally Active CD4(+) and CD8(+) CAR T Cells Produced in an Automated Good Manufacturing Practice System for the Treatment of CD19(+) Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2018) 67(7):1053–66. doi: 10.1007/s00262-018-2155-7
- Stroncek DF, Lee DW, Ren J, Sabatino M, Highfill S, Khuu H, et al. Elutriated Lymphocytes for Manufacturing Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. J Transl Med (2017) 15(1):59. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1160-5
- Zhu F, Shah N, Xu H, Schneider D, Orentas R, Dropulic B, et al. Closed-System Manufacturing of CD19 and Dual-Targeted CD20/19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Using the CliniMACS Prodigy Device at an Academic Medical Center. *Cytotherapy* (2018) 20(3):394–406. doi: 10.1016/ j.jcyt.2017.09.005
- Zhang W, Jordan KR, Schulte B, Purev E. Characterization of Clinical Grade CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Produced Using Automated CliniMACS Prodigy System. Drug Des Devel Ther (2018) 12:3343–56. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S175113
- 42. Castella M, Boronat A, Martin-Ibanez R, Rodriguez V, Sune G, Caballero M, et al. Development of a Novel Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor: A Paradigm for an Affordable CAR T Cell Production at Academic Institutions. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2019) 12:134–44. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2018.11.010
- Castella M, Caballero-Banos M, Ortiz-Maldonado V, Gonzalez-Navarro EA, Sune G, Antonana-Vidosola A, et al. Point-Of-Care CAR T-Cell Production (ARI-0001) Using a Closed Semi-Automatic Bioreactor: Experience From an Academic Phase I Clinical Trial. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:482. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.00482
- 44. Zhao Y, Stepto H, Schneider CK. Development of the First World Health Organization Lentiviral Vector Standard: Toward the Production Control and Standardization of Lentivirus-Based Gene Therapy Products. *Hum Gene Ther Methods* (2017) 28(4):205–14. doi: 10.1089/hgtb.2017.078
- 45. Vedvyas Y, McCloskey JE, Yang Y, Min IM, Fahey TJ, Zarnegar R, et al. Manufacturing and Preclinical Validation of CAR T Cells Targeting ICAM-1 for Advanced Thyroid Cancer Therapy. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):10634. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46938-7
- Busch DH, Frassle SP, Sommermeyer D, Buchholz VR, Riddell SR. Role of Memory T Cell Subsets for Adoptive Immunotherapy. *Semin Immunol* (2016) 28(1):28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2016.02.001

- Rafiq S, Hackett CS, Brentjens RJ. Engineering Strategies to Overcome the Current Roadblocks in CAR T Cell Therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17 (3):147–67. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0297-y
- Keu KV, Witney TH, Yaghoubi S, Rosenberg J, Kurien A, Magnusson R, et al. Reporter Gene Imaging of Targeted T Cell Immunotherapy in Recurrent Glioma. Sci Transl Med (2017) 9(373). doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aag2196
- Martinez M, Moon EK. CAR T Cells for Solid Tumors: New Strategies for Finding, Infiltrating, and Surviving in the Tumor Microenvironment. Front Immunol (2019) 10:128. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00128
- Kawalekar OU, O'ConnorRS, Fraietta JA, Guo L, McGettigan SE, Posey AD Jr, et al. Distinct Signaling of Coreceptors Regulates Specific Metabolism Pathways and Impacts Memory Development in CAR T Cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3):712. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.023
- Zhang L, Kerkar SP, Yu Z, Zheng Z, Yang S, Restifo NP, et al. Improving Adoptive T Cell Therapy by Targeting and Controlling IL-12 Expression to the Tumor Environment. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(4):751–9. doi: 10.1038/ mt.2010.313
- Wiebel M, Kailayangiri S, Altvater B, Meltzer J, Grobe K, Kupich S, et al. Surface Expression of the Immunotherapeutic Target GD2 in Osteosarcoma Depends on Cell Confluency. *Cancer Rep (Hoboken)* (2021) e1394. doi: 10.1002/cnr2.1394
- Kiesgen S, Messinger JC, Chintala NK, Tano Z, Adusumilli PS. Comparative Analysis of Assays to Measure CAR T-Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity. *Nat Protoc* (2021) 16(3):1331–42. doi: 10.1038/s41596-020-00467-0
- 54. Ahmed N, Brawley VS, Hegde M, Robertson C, Ghazi A, Gerken C, et al. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) -Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells for the Immunotherapy of HER2-Positive Sarcoma. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33(15):1688–96. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.0225
- 55. Feng K, Guo Y, Dai H, Wang Y, Li X, Jia H, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells for the Immunotherapy of Patients With EGFR-Expressing Advanced Relapsed/Refractory Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Sci China Life Sci* (2016) 59(5):468–79. doi: 10.1007/s11427-016-5023-8
- Beatty GL, Haas AR, Maus MV, Torigian DA, Soulen MC, Plesa G, et al. Mesothelin-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor mRNA-Engineered T Cells Induce Anti-Tumor Activity in Solid Malignancies. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(2):112–20. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0170
- 57. O'Rourke DM, Nasrallah MP, Desai A, Melenhorst JJ, Mansfield K, Morrissette JJD, et al. A Single Dose of Peripherally Infused EGFRvIII-Directed CAR T Cells Mediates Antigen Loss and Induces Adaptive Resistance in Patients With Recurrent Glioblastoma. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9(399). doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa0984

Conflict of Interest: HA, ASc, and KZ have submitted a patent application describing the "all-in-one" TRUCK vector technology. The University Medicine of Greifswald licensed Ganglidiomab to AnYxis Immuno-oncology for commercialization.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Glienke, Dragon, Zimmermann, Martyniszyn-Eiben, Mertens, Abken, Rossig, Altvater, Aleksandrova, Arseniev, Kloth, Stamopoulou, Moritz, Lode, Siebert, Blasczyk, Goudeva, Schambach, Köhl, Eiz-Vesper and Esser. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Leukemia's Next Top Model? Syngeneic Models to Advance Adoptive Cellular Therapy

Jaquelyn T. Zoine^{1†}, Sarah E. Moore^{1,2†} and M. Paulina Velasquez^{1*}

¹ Department of Bone Marrow Transplantation and Cellular Therapy, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN, United States, ² Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul G. Schlegel, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Benny J. Chen, Duke University, United States

*Correspondence:

M. Paulina Velasquez Paulina.velasquez@stjude.org

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 07 March 2022 Published: 25 March 2022

Citation:

Zoine JT, Moore SE and Velasquez MP (2022) Leukemia's Next Top Model? Syngeneic Models to Advance Adoptive Cellular Therapy. Front. Immunol. 13:867103. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.867103 In recent years, there has been an emphasis on harnessing the immune system for therapeutic interventions. Adoptive cell therapies (ACT) have emerged as an effective option for B-cell derived hematological malignancies. Despite remarkable successes with ACT, immune dysregulation and the leukemia microenvironment can critically alter clinical responses. Therefore, preclinical modeling can contribute to the advancement of ACT for leukemias. Human xenografts, the current mainstay of ACT in vivo models, cannot evaluate the impact of the immunosuppressive leukemia microenvironment on adoptively transferred cells. Syngeneic mouse models utilize murine tumor models and implant them into immunocompetent mice. This provides an alternative model, reducing the need for complicated breeding strategies while maintaining a matched immune system, stromal compartment, and leukemia burden. Syngeneic models that evaluate ACT have analyzed the complexity of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, T cell receptor transgenics, and chimeric antigen receptors. This review examines the immunosuppressive features of the leukemia microenvironment, discusses how preclinical modeling helps predict ACT associated toxicities and dysfunction, and explores publications that have employed syngeneic modeling in ACT studies for the improvement of therapy for leukemias.

Keywords: adoptive cell immunotherapy, leukemia, syngeneic animal model, leukemia microenvironment, cell therapy

78

Abbreviations: ALL, Acute lymphocytic leukemia; AML, Acute myeloid leukemia;ACT, Adoptive cell therapy; $\alpha\beta$, Alphabeta; CARs, Chimeric antigen receptors; CLL, Chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CML, Chronic myeloid leukemia; CTL, Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte; DC, Dendritic cell; FMuLV, Friend murine leukemia virus; FBL-3, Friend virus-induced erythroleukemia; $\gamma\delta$, Gamma-delta; GEMM, Genetically engineered mouse model; HSC, Hematopoietic stem cell; HLH, Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis; HGF, Hepatocyte growth factor; IDO, Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; IL, Interleukin; LSC, Leukemia stem cell; MSCs, Mesenchymal stromal cells; mCD19-CAR, Murine CD19-CAR; MDSC, Myeloid derived suppressor cells; NK, Natural killer; PDX, Patient derived xenograft; scFv, Single chain variable fragment; TCRs, T cell receptors; Tregs, T regulatory cells; TGF- β , Transforming growth factor β ; TIL, Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte; TME, Tumor microenvironment; LSTRA, Virally-induced syngeneic leukemia.

INTRODUCTION

Adoptive cell therapy (ACT) is the expansion and infusion of immune cells, including natural killer (NK) cells, gamma-delta ($\gamma\delta$) T cells, and alpha-beta ($\alpha\beta$) T cells, into patients for therapeutic benefit. Advancements in the field of ACT have resulted in engineered cellular products that express performance-enhancing receptors, such as cytokine receptors, T cell receptors (TCRs), or chimeric antigen receptors (CARs). Overall, the innovation of genetically engineered immune cells in the ACT setting has resulted in improved outcomes, especially for patients with B-cell derived hematologic malignancies (1, 2). However, challenges remain like antigen selection and overcoming an immunosuppressive microenvironment (3–5).

Despite promising preclinical ACT data, patients can fail to respond to treatment once a strategy is translated into the clinic. One of the many factors contributing to failed ACT is a highly immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME), causing adoptively transferred cells to become dysfunctional or exhausted (6). Structural components, soluble factors, and immune cells found within the leukemic TME contribute to a hostile environment in the bone marrow niche, which poses a threat to adoptively transferred cells. Leukemic blasts can reprogram both the structural components of the microenvironment and the function of immune cell populations, allowing for a more favorable environment for leukemia progression (7).

These immune interactions are understudied in preclinical ACT models. The most frequently used preclinical model to determine ACT anti-leukemia activity is a xenograft model. Xenograft models assess human cellular products against human cells, making it feasible to study multiple human-derived cell lines with different genetic drivers of leukemogenesis. However, xenografts lack a functional immune system and tumor heterogeneity found in leukemia patients preventing them from having the necessary rigor to predict clinical responses (8, 9). Therefore, there is room for improvement in preclinical modeling to achieve continued development of effective immunotherapies for leukemias.

Syngeneic models encompass allografts of mouse tumors in immunocompetent mice. This allows for evaluation of toxicities, including on-target/off-tumor side effects, and the immunosuppressive microenvironments (8). Immunocompetent models have not been readily adapted to ACT studies, in part, because of the difficulty to isolate and expand murine immune cells, lack of homology between targeted proteins, and cross-reactivity of CAR T cells' single chain variable fragments (scFv). Despite inherent hurdles to establishing syngeneic models, they provide an avenue to ensure the optimization of ACT against hematological malignancies. In this review, we evaluate the role of the bone marrow niche and leukemia microenvironment on leukemogenesis, assess available models to test ACT, and discuss literature that utilizes syngeneic modeling to evaluate ACT.

BONE MARROW NICHE/LEUKEMIA MICROENVIRONMENT

The bone marrow microenvironment is essential for the pathogenesis and progression of leukemias (10, 11). The

niche provides a physical sanctuary site for developing rare populations of leukemic cells and harbors an immunosuppressive environment that downregulates the natural immune surveillance required to eliminate tumor cells successfully. When choosing a model of ACT, it is essential to consider structural and immune components within each *in vivo* model (**Figure 1**). As investigators design new cellular immunotherapies, there has been an emphasis on understanding the impact the TME will have on therapeutic success.

There are two major patterns in leukemia relapse: i) the initial clone gains mutations; or ii) a subclone survives initial treatments (12). In most cases the relapse clone is characterized as a leukemia stem cell (LSC) (13). LSCs have distinct properties from bulk leukemic cells, such as limitless self-renewal and initiation of leukemia. LSCs are inherently less susceptible to traditional chemotherapeutics and can escape immune surveillance (14).

Structurally, the bone marrow contains two anatomically different hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) niches, known as the central and endosteal, that are crucial for the production and maintenance of healthy HSCs (15, 16). Within these compartments, HSCs are regulated by endothelial, osteoblastic, and stromal cell components, specifically mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) (17, 18). MSCs are multipotent cells that make up most of the structural components of the bone marrow stroma. In a leukemic state, MSCs play a large role in the leukemia pathogenesis through two major mechanisms: 1) providing physical protection of leukemic cells and 2) reprogramming of bone marrow niche (14, 19). Thus, MSCs and the bone marrow stroma play an important role in leukemia progression and relapse but are not commonly considered in most models of ACT.

Soluble factors, such as cytokines, chemokines, and enzymes, are important components of the TME that suppress the endogenous immune response and support leukemia progression. Compared to the healthy bone marrow landscape, leukemia cytokine signatures show an increase in transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) levels (20). These two factors help mediate T cell suppression and reduce expression of NK cells (20, 21). Increases in anti-inflammatory cytokine, interleukin (IL)-10, are observed in a variety of leukemia models, and often limit ACT functionality (22). Chemokines play an important role in both trafficking of leukemic cells and cellular immunotherapies. The CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine pathway, is involved in the homing of HSCs within the bone marrow (23). CXCL12 secreted by the bone marrow along with the upregulated expression of CXCR4 on leukemia blasts increases the homing of tumor cells to the bone marrow (24). Once the leukemic blasts are within the bone marrow niche, they are protected structurally, capable of secreting anti-inflammatory soluble factors, and dysregulating immune cell populations.

In addition, concentrations of certain enzymes within the bone marrow contribute to leukemia progression (23, 24). Blasts mediate expression of arginase II, promoting a low arginine microenvironment. The limited arginine drives monocytes to a suppressive phenotype while suppressing T cell expansion (5). Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygnenase (IDO) is also released by blasts, which converts CD4+ T cells into T regulatory cells (Tregs), thus enhancing the suppressive capacity of the microenvironment (5).



Created with BioRender com

Leukemia-induced remodeling of the TME alters the structural and chemical components within the bone marrow and influences immune cell populations. The leukemia microenvironment comprises innate (dendritic cells [DC] and macrophages) and adaptive (myeloid derived suppressor cells [MDSCs], Tregs, and NK cells) immune cells. Leukemic cells hinder the maturation of DCs, often promoting immune tolerance and thus inducing the development of Tregs (25). TME-associated macrophages can be inhibitory or stimulatory, but their inhibitory function diminishes the anti-tumor activity of adoptively transferred cells within the TME (26). MDSCs arise from myeloid progenitors and are a subset of immature myeloid cells that lead to NK-cell dysfunction and recruitment of Tregs, among other immunosuppressive cells (27, 28). They are difficult to model and contribute to the failure of many AML therapeutic interventions, making them a potential therapeutic target.

The bone marrow microenvironment plays an aggressive role in leukemia progression, highlighting the importance of using preclinical models to evaluate interactions between the host immune system, leukemic TME, and adoptively transferred cells. However, there is limited work analyzing the contribution of the immune system and microenvironment on effective cellular therapies for leukemia. The advancement of these interventions relies on the active exploration and adaptation of preclinical modeling, and especially in the syngeneic context.

PRECLINICAL LEUKEMIA MODELING FOR ACT

Xenograft Models

The initial development of ACTs for leukemias has been aided by using human xenografts. These models have allowed functional evaluation of human cell therapy products against human cell lines or patient tumors (patient-derived xenograft- PDX). In addition, they have facilitated high throughput screening of many ACT interventions. PDXs provide a heterogenous leukemia model but lack a comprehensive and intact immune system required to adequately study ACT interventions. In addition, human T cells can recognize mouse xenoantigens in this setting, increasing the risk of graft-versus-host disease. Alternatives to human xenografts include using humanized PDXs, genetically engineered mouse models (GEMMs), and syngeneic mouse models (8, 9).

Humanized Models

PDXs are the best option to increase the heterogeneity of leukemic burden. The major difference between a humanized or nonhumanized PDX model is the reconstitution of human immune cells in the immunocompromised mouse (29). Immune reconstitution is not maintained for long periods due to the high turnover of bone marrow cells and decreased engraftment of human cells within a mouse (29, 30). There is no guarantee that each immune population will reconstitute within the mouse,

leading to differences in the humanized immune system and an inaccurate or incomplete representation of an immune system (30). In humanized models, there is an added challenge of patient leukemia cells engrafting within the same timeframe of complete immune cell reconstitution. Humanized PDXs are time-consuming to establish with a low yield of implantation and are not reliable when screening multiple interventions in a timely manner.

Genetically Engineered Mouse Models

GEMMS are unique murine models which genetically manipulate the somatic activation of oncogenes or inactivation of tumor suppressors to elicit de novo tumor development (31). Leukemias that arise from these genetic alterations typically mimic histological and molecular features of human disease. An advantage to this model is the maturation of leukemia cells within an immunocompetent host. This allows researchers to analyze scenarios of immune pressure on leukemia development which can then result in genomic instability. While this strengthens the tumor heterogeneity within the system, murine leukemia can mature to express unique tumor-associated antigens between mice with the same genetic manipulation (9). This makes studies utilizing GEMMs challenging to reproduce because of their genetic drift within "equivalent" models. Because ACT, such as CAR T cells, rely on targeting a tumor antigen on the surface of leukemia cells, GEMMs do not provide the consistency to measure antigen specificity. Also, without knowing the surface proteins on each mouse in a GEMM experiment it is difficult to study immune escape mechanisms, such as lineage switch or antigen down-regulation (9). Additionally, these systems can be unpredictable with variable latencies and penetrance.

Syngeneic Mouse Models

Syngeneic models use murine cell lines or virally-transduced murine HSCs to express genes of interest (i.e., oncogene amplification, knock out tumor suppressors, overexpress fusion proteins) that result in leukemia initiation (32). They do not require the complex breeding necessary in GEMMs but do not have the advantage of leukemic development within the native immune system. They offer a rigorous option to test cellular immunotherapies due to their rapid growth, reproducibility, intact immune system, and hostile leukemia microenvironment. However, they can lack heterogeneity and there are few readily available leukemia options (9).

To bypass the lack of immune system in human leukemia models, the complicated breeding of GEMMs, and the difficulty in generating relevant syngeneic leukemia tumor models, researchers have expressed human antigens on readily available murine ALL tumor cells to test CAR T cells (8, 9, 32). However, this is confounded by the potential of the mouse's endogenous immune response to recognize the human antigen, making it difficult to discern the cause of the autoimmune response (8, 9, 32). It is noteworthy that GEMMs and syngeneic models utilize mouse biology to draw conclusions on human therapeutic interventions. In addition, they are difficult to adapt to replicate cell-based immunotherapy for hematologic malignancies successfully. Despite this, given the significant contributions the immune system and TME have on leukemia progression and relapse, it is essential to accurately mimic these systems for successful ACT evaluation.

SYNGENEIC MODELS EVALUATING ACT FOR HEME MALIGNANCIES

There are limited syngeneic leukemia models that have been used for ACT evaluation. While several murine B-ALL models exist, the C1498 cell line has served as one of the only commercially available murine AML cell lines and has been sparingly used in ACT research (33–35). The studies presented below highlight their utility, allowing for toxicity evaluation as well as the careful mechanistic dissection of ACT.

Syngeneic Models Evaluating Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte (CTL) or Transgenic TCR Responses

As early as 1981, investigators used in vitro sensitization or immunization to generate murine lymphocytes specific to murine tumor antigens. Cheever et al. isolated splenocytes from BALB/c mice and cultured them in vitro in the presence of virally-induced syngeneic leukemia (LSTRA), an ascitic lymphoma originally induced in newborn BALB/c mice with Moloney leukemia virus. This exposure was meant to sensitize the murine lymphocytes to LSTRA (36). They did not find any direct evidence supporting a link between in vitro culture of lymphoid cells with LSTRA and increased antitumor activity in vivo. However, they observed that depletion of the T cell population diminished antitumor effectors, demonstrating the importance of T cells in antitumor activity (36). Subsequently, another syngeneic leukemia model expanded tumor-specific T cells from spleens of FBL-3 (friend virus-induced erythroleukemia) ex vivo. Although they determined that immunized mice responded to antigen in vivo, they also observed that antigen naive T cells extracted from mice became dependent on IL-2, limiting the therapeutic potential of the T cells. They overcame this hurdle by exposing the extracted T cells to anti-CD3 antibody and IL-2 (37). These studies were instrumental in the advancement of tumorinfiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) therapy tumor models.

Several syngeneic systems have been used to assess leukemiaspecific immune responses. Mumprecht et al., for example evaluated responses to 2 different CML models including a chronic (BCR/ABL) and a blast crisis CML (BCR/ABL-NUP98/HOXA9) model that had been previously described (38, 39). Mumprecht et al. determined that mice that received a lower tumor burden and had disease elimination developed a LCMV-gp33- specific CTL response, while mice that had CML progression lacked persistence of CTLs (40). In a follow up study, they determined that elimination of CD8+ T cells in a CML model led to disease progression and that IL-7 secreted by CML helped maintain a CTL response, leading to stable disease as it is characteristic of chronic phase CML (41). This data highlights the importance of syngeneic modeling cellular immunotherapies to pursue effective non-cellular therapy-based combinations. Zhou et al. used C57BL/6 bearing C1498 murine AML to evaluate the impact of Tregs on adoptively transferred tumorreactive CTLs (35). They showed that anti-AML reactive CTLs had potent antitumor activity *in vitro* but not *in vivo*, due to the presence of tumor-localized Tregs. To bypass this hurdle, they pretreated tumor bearing mice with IL-2 diphtheria toxin restoring CTL proliferation and effect.

Syngeneic leukemia models have also been utilized to evaluate responses and the biology of transgenic TCRs, highlighting their versatility to investigate the effects of ACT. One group of investigators evaluated long-lasting antitumor activity of CD8+ T cells specific to the gag epitope of an oncogenic Friend murine leukemia virus (FMuLV) model (42, 43) and confirmed leukemia control after injection of T cells expressing a transgenic TCR. Other investigators have used a syngeneic C1498 model to better understand mechanisms of immune evasion using TCR transgenic mice (34).

Syngeneic Models for CAR T Cell-Based Immunotherapy

CD19-CAR T cells have improved outcomes for patients with relapsed/refractory B cell malignancies. However, xenograft mouse models used to test the CD19-CAR are limited in determining how T cell function is affected by Tregs, possible off-target/on-tumor activity of the CAR, and possible immune rejection of adoptively transferred T cells. With that in mind, Cheadle et al. designed a first generation murine CD19-CAR (mCD19-CAR) which allowed for temporary tumor regression in an A20 murine lymphoma model. Importantly, mCD19-CAR infusion did not result in any overt toxicities (44). Kochenderfer et al. subsequently generated a second generation CAR that achieved reduction in lymphoma burden, albeit with limited CAR T cell persistence (45). This corresponds with comparisons between first- and second-generation CAR constructs in humans and reiterates the importance of a costimulatory domain for enhanced antitumor activity.

Davila et al. subsequently tested this mCD19-CAR in a E μ -ALL01 B-ALL model, a leukemia with similar genetic and cellular characteristics as adult human B-ALL (46). In this study, they were able to prove that mCD19-CAR T cells recognize and kill E μ -ALL01 leukemia cells. They also noted that CD8+ mCD19-CAR T cells allowed for long-term tumor control. Most importantly, the established syngeneic model allowed them to dissect the effects of lymphodepletion and T cell dose on the effector function of CAR T cells.

In addition, B-ALL models have been used to further investigate complications stemming from ACT. One group used a E2aPBX murine pre-B ALL model to study the function granule-mediated cytotoxicity in anti-mCD19-CAR T cell efficacy (47). Researchers knocked out perforin from mCD19-CAR T cells and discovered perforin was not required for cytotoxicity and when tested *in vivo*, perforin knockout CD19-CAR T cells produced more proinflammatory cytokines than WT counterparts (47). This led to the mice developing hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH)-like toxicities.

Furthermore, Jacoby et al. demonstrated lineage switch after mCD19-CAR T cell therapy, evaluating late relapses in 2 different B-ALL models (E2a.PBX and E μ -RET) (4). They

demonstrated that Eµ-RET leukemia did not show lineage switch upon relapse after mCD19-CAR T cell treatment. However, mice bearing E2a:PBX exposed to mCD19CAR T cells underwent lineage switch upon relapse, showing downregulation of Pax5 and Ebf1. They could recapitulate this lineage switch by deletion of Pax5 or Ebf1. This study further demonstrated the utility of syngeneic models in the quest to optimize CAR T cell therapy for hematological malignancies.

CONCLUSION

Developing effective ACT for leukemias still poses several challenges requiring a better understanding of both the adoptively infused cells and the TME. Although clinical trials provide the ultimate test for ACT, murine models can be a powerful tool to gain insight. One of the largest drawbacks of current preclinical modeling of leukemia targeted ACTs, is that it heavily relies on xenografts which lack a representative immune system and TME. Syngeneic models offer an alternative to better evaluate these factors. However, the availability of certain leukemia syngeneic models, such as AML, are still limited and establishing new systems can often be time consuming and unreliable (8, 9, 32). Additionally, it is not always possible to adapt human-target ACT towards respective murine antigen counterparts. For example, the evaluation of CAR T cell therapies is limited by finding an antigen recognition domain (i.e. scFv) that recognizes the corresponding cell surface murine antigen. In addition, trafficking of adoptively transferred cells to the TME can greatly affect the efficacy of treatment (48). Thus, several factors that impact homing, such as target antigen expression, immune cell populations (25-28, 48), and chemokine production (23) are important to recognize and incorporate into preclinical modeling. Syngeneic models provide these factors and allow for a better understanding of immune cell trafficking to the tumor site. Nevertheless, the field of syngeneic experimentation has adapted to include additional genetic modifications on cellular products such as cytokine receptors on mCAR T cells (49). The analysis of ACT therapies in syngeneic models can aid in answering critical questions and warrants further exploration and development.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ, SM, and MV conceptualized the manuscript and provided content. All authors reviewed, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Assisi Foundation of Memphis and the American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities (ALSAC).

REFERENCES

- 1. Garber HR, Mirza A, Mittendorf EA, Alatrash G. Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for Leukemia. *Mol Cell Ther* (2014) 2:25. doi: 10.1186/2052-8426-2-25
- Lulla PD, Mamonkin M, Brenner MK. Adoptive Cell Therapy for Acute Myeloid Leukemia and T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer J* (2019) 25(3):199–207. doi: 10.1097/ppo.00000000000376
- Orlando EJ, Han X, Tribouley C, Wood PA, Leary RJ, Riester M, et al. Genetic Mechanisms of Target Antigen Loss in CAR19 Therapy of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(10):1504–6. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-018-0146-z
- Jacoby E, Nguyen SM, Fountaine TJ, Welp K, Gryder B, Qin H, et al. CD19 CAR Immune Pressure Induces B-Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia Lineage Switch Exposing Inherent Leukaemic Plasticity. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7(1):12320. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12320
- Epperly R, Gottschalk S, Velasquez MP. A Bump in the Road: How the Hostile AML Microenvironment Affects CAR T Cell Therapy. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:262. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00262
- Höpken UE, Rehm A. Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment of Leukemia and Lymphoma. *Trends Cancer* (2019) 5(6):351-64. doi: 10.1016/ j.trecan.2019.05.001
- Colmone A, Amorim M, Pontier AL, Wang S, Jablonski E, Sipkins DA, et al. Leukemic Cells Create Bone Marrow Niches That Disrupt the Behavior of Normal Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells. *Science* (2008) 322(5909):1861–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1164390
- Kohnken R, Porcu P, Mishra A. Overview of the Use of Murine Models in Leukemia and Lymphoma Research. (2017) 7:. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2017.00022
- Olson B, Li Y, Lin Y, Liu ET, Patnaik A. Mouse Models for Cancer Immunotherapy Research. *Cancer Discov* (2018) 8(11):1358-65. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0044
- Cardoso BA. The Bone Marrow Niche The Tumor Microenvironment That Ensures Leukemia Progression. Adv Exp Med Biol (2020) 1219:259–93. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-34025-4_14
- Kumar B, Garcia M, Weng L, Jung X, Murakami JL, Hu X, et al. Acute Myeloid Leukemia Transforms the Bone Marrow Niche Into a Leukemia-Permissive Microenvironment Through Exosome Secretion. *Leukemia* (2018) 32(3):575–87. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.259
- Ding L, Ley TJ, Larson DE, Miller CA, Koboldt DC, Welch JS, et al. Clonal Evolution in Relapsed Acute Myeloid Leukaemia Revealed by Whole-Genome Sequencing. *Nature* (2012) 481(7382):506–10. doi: 10.1038/nature10738
- Vetrie D, Helgason GV, Copland M. The Leukaemia Stem Cell: Similarities, Differences and Clinical Prospects in CML and AML. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020) 20(3):158–73. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0230-9
- Soto CA, Lo Celso C, Purton LE, Frisch BJ. From the Niche to Malignant Hematopoiesis and Back: Reciprocal Interactions Between Leukemia and the Bone Marrow Microenvironment. *JBMR Plus* (2021) 5(10):e10516. doi: 10.1002/jbm4.10516
- Acar M, Kocherlakota KS, Murphy MM, Peyer JG, Oguro H, Inra CN, et al. Deep Imaging of Bone Marrow Shows Non-Dividing Stem Cells Are Mainly Perisinusoidal. *Nature* (2015) 526(7571):126–30. doi: 10.1038/nature15250
- Ding L, Morrison SJ. Haematopoietic Stem Cells and Early Lymphoid Progenitors Occupy Distinct Bone Marrow Niches. *Nature* (2013) 495 (7440):231–5. doi: 10.1038/nature11885
- Butler JM, Nolan DJ, Vertes EL, Varnum-Finney B, Kobayashi H, Hooper AT, et al. Endothelial Cells Are Essential for the Self-Renewal and Repopulation of Notch-Dependent Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Cell Stem Cell* (2010) 6(3):251– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.02.001
- Sacchetti B, Funari A, Michienzi S, Di Cesare S, Piersanti S, Saggio I, et al. Self-Renewing Osteoprogenitors in Bone Marrow Sinusoids Can Organize a Hematopoietic Microenvironment. *Cell* (2007) 131(2):324–36. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2007.08.025
- Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia Is Organized as a Hierarchy That Originates From a Primitive Hematopoietic Cell. Nat Med (1997) 3(7):730–7. doi: 10.1038/nm0797-730
- Zhi-Gang Z, Wei-Ming L, Zhi-Chao C, Yong Y, Ping Z. Immunosuppressive Properties of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Derived From Bone Marrow of Patient With Hematological Malignant Diseases. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2008) 49 (11):2187–95. doi: 10.1080/10428190802455875

- Rouce RH, Shaim H, Sekine T, Weber G, Ballard B, Ku S, et al. The TGF-Beta/ SMAD Pathway Is an Important Mechanism for NK Cell Immune Evasion in Childhood B-Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Leukemia* (2016) 30(4):800–11. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.327
- Han Y, Dong Y, Yang Q, Xu W, Jiang S, Yu Z, et al. Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells Express ICOS Ligand to Promote the Expansion of Regulatory T Cells. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2227. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02227
- Klein RS, Rubin JB, Gibson HD, DeHaan EN, Alvarez-Hernandez X, Segal RA, et al. SDF-1 Alpha Induces Chemotaxis and Enhances Sonic Hedgehog-Induced Proliferation of Cerebellar Granule Cells. *Development* (2001) 128 (11):1971–81. doi: 10.1242/dev.128.11.1971
- 24. de Lourdes Perim A, Amarante MK, Guembarovski RL, de Oliveira CE, Watanabe MA. CXCL12/CXCR4 Axis in the Pathogenesis of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL): A Possible Therapeutic Target. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2015) 72(9):1715–23. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1830-x
- 25. Rickmann M, Macke L, Sundarasetty BS, Stamer K, Figueiredo C, Blasczyk R, et al. Monitoring Dendritic Cell and Cytokine Biomarkers During Remission Prior to Relapse in Patients With FLT3-ITD Acute Myeloid Leukemia. Ann Hematol (2013) 92(8):1079–90. doi: 10.1007/s00277-013-1744-y
- 26. Al-Matary YS, Botezatu L, Opalka B, Hones JM, Lams RF, Thivakaran A, et al. Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells Polarize Macrophages Towards a Leukemia Supporting State in a Growth Factor Independence 1 Dependent Manner. *Haematologica* (2016) 101(10):1216–27. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.143180
- Schouppe E, Mommer C, Movahedi K, Laoui D, Morias Y, Gysemans C, et al. Tumor-Induced Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Subsets Exert Either Inhibitory or Stimulatory Effects on Distinct CD8+ T-Cell Activation Events. Eur J Immunol (2013) 43(11):2930–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343349
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells: Immune-Suppressive Cells That Impair Antitumor Immunity and Are Sculpted by Their Environment. J Immunol (2018) 200(2):422–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701019
- Guil-Luna S, Sedlik C, Piaggio E. Humanized Mouse Models to Evaluate Cancer Immunotherapeutics. Annu Rev Cancer Biol (2021) 5(1):119–36. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-050520-100526
- Ishikawa F, Yasukawa M, Lyons B, Yoshida S, Miyamoto T, Yoshimoto G, et al. Development of Functional Human Blood and Immune Systems in NOD/SCID/IL2 Receptor {Gamma} Chain(Null) Mice. *Blood* (2005) 106 (5):1565–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-02-0516
- Kersten K, de Visser KE, van Miltenburg MH, Jonkers J. Genetically Engineered Mouse Models in Oncology Research and Cancer Medicine. *EMBO Mol Med* (2017) 9(2):137–53. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201606857
- Jacoby E, Chien CD, Fry TJ. Murine Models of Acute Leukemia: Important Tools in Current Pediatric Leukemia Research. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:95. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00095
- Mopin A, Driss V, Brinster C. A Detailed Protocol for Characterizing the Murine C1498 Cell Line and Its Associated Leukemia Mouse Model. Journal of Visualized Experiments. *JoVE* (2016) 116):54270. doi: 10.3791/54270
- Chen X, MacNabb BW, Flood B, Blazar BR, Kline J. Divergent Fates of Antigen-Specific CD8+ T Cell Clones in Mice With Acute Leukemia. *Cell Rep* (2021) 37(6):109991. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109991
- 35. Zhou Q, Bucher C, Munger ME, Highfill SL, Tolar J, Munn DH, et al. Depletion of Endogenous Tumor-Associated Regulatory T Cells Improves the Efficacy of Adoptive Cytotoxic T-Cell Immunotherapy in Murine Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Blood* (2009) 114(18):3793–802. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-208181
- Cheever MA, Greenberg PD, Fefer A. Adoptive Therapy of Established Syngeneic Leukemia by Cells Primarily Sensitized *In Vitro. Cancer Res* (1981) 41(7):2658–63.
- 37. Crossland KD, Lee VK, Chen W, Riddell SR, Greenberg PD, Cheever MA. T Cells From Tumor-Immune Mice Nonspecifically Expanded *In Vitro* With Anti-CD3 Plus IL-2 Retain Specific Function *In Vitro* and Can Eradicate Disseminated Leukemia *In Vivo. J Immunol* (1991) 146(12):4414–20.
- Ren R. Mechanisms of BCR-ABL in the Pathogenesis of Chronic Myelogenous Leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer (2005) 5(3):172–83. doi: 10.1038/nrc1567
- Dash AB, Williams IR, Kutok JL, Tomasson MH, Anastasiadou E, Lindahl K, et al. A Murine Model of CML Blast Crisis Induced by Cooperation Between BCR/ABL and NUP98/HOXA9. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2002) 99(11):7622– 7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.102583199

- Mumprecht S, Schürch C, Schwaller J, Solenthaler M, Ochsenbein AF. Programmed Death 1 Signaling on Chronic Myeloid Leukemia–Specific T Cells Results in T-Cell Exhaustion and Disease Progression. *Blood* (2009) 114 (8):1528–36. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-179697
- Mumprecht S, Schürch C, Scherrer S, Claus C, Ochsenbein AF. Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia Maintains Specific CD8(+) T Cells Through IL-7 Signaling. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(10):2720–30. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201040404
- 42. Ohlén C, Kalos M, Hong DJ, Shur AC, Greenberg PD. Expression of a Tolerizing Tumor Antigen in Peripheral Tissue Does Not Preclude Recovery of High-Affinity CD8+ T Cells or CTL Immunotherapy of Tumors Expressing the Antigen. J Immunol (2001) 166(4):2863–70. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.166.4.2863
- Dossett ML, Teague RM, Schmitt TM, Tan X, Cooper LJ, Pinzon C, et al. Adoptive Immunotherapy of Disseminated Leukemia With TCR-Transduced, CD8+ T Cells Expressing a Known Endogenous TCR. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17 (4):742–9. doi: 10.1038/mt.2008.300
- 44. Cheadle EJ, Hawkins RE, Batha H, O'Neill AL, Dovedi SJ, Gilham DE. Natural Expression of the CD19 Antigen Impacts the Long-Term Engraftment But Not Antitumor Activity of CD19-Specific Engineered T Cells. J Immunol (2010) 184(4):1885–96. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901440
- 45. Kochenderfer JN, Yu Z, Frasheri D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive Transfer of Syngeneic T Cells Transduced With a Chimeric Antigen Receptor That Recognizes Murine CD19 can Eradicate Lymphoma and Normal B Cells. *Blood* (2010) 116(19):3875–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-265041
- 46. Davila ML, Kloss CC, Gunset G, Sadelain M. CD19 CAR-Targeted T Cells Induce Long-Term Remission and B Cell Aplasia in an Immunocompetent Mouse Model of B Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *PLoS One* (2013) 8 (4):e61338. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061338
- 47. Ishii K, Pouzolles M, Chien CD, Erwin-Cohen RA, Kohler ME, Qin H, et al. Perforin-Deficient CAR T Cells Recapitulate Late-Onset Inflammatory

Toxicities Observed in Patients. J Clin Invest (2020) 130(10):5425–43. doi: 10.1172/JCI130059

- 48. James SE, Orgun NN, Tedder TF, Shlomchik MJ, Jensen MC, Lin Y, et al. Antibody-Mediated B-Cell Depletion Before Adoptive Immunotherapy With T Cells Expressing CD20-Specific Chimeric T-Cell Receptors Facilitates Eradication of Leukemia in Immunocompetent mice. *Blood* 114, 5454–63. doi doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-232967
- Lanitis E, Rota G, Kosti P, Ronet C, Spill A, Seijo B, et al. Optimized Gene Engineering of Murine CAR-T Cells Reveals the Beneficial Effects of IL-15 Coexpression. J Exp Med (2020) 218(2):e20192203. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20192203

Conflict of Interest: MV and JZ hold patent applications in the field of gene and cell therapy.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zoine, Moore and Velasquez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emerging Strategies in TCR-Engineered T Cells

Fang Wei, Xiao-Xia Cheng, John Zhao Xue and Shao-An Xue*

Genetic Engineering Laboratory, School of Biological & Environmental Engineering, Xi'An University, Xi'An, China

Immunotherapy of cancer has made tremendous progress in recent years, as demonstrated by the remarkable clinical responses obtained from adoptive cell transfer (ACT) of patient-derived tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)modified T cells (CAR-T) and T cell receptor (TCR)-engineered T cells (TCR-T). TCR-T uses specific TCRS optimized for tumor engagement and can recognize epitopes derived from both cell-surface and intracellular targets, including tumor-associated antigens, cancer germline antigens, viral oncoproteins, and tumor-specific neoantigens (neoAgs) that are largely sequestered in the cytoplasm and nucleus of tumor cells. Moreover, as TCRS are naturally developed for sensitive antigen detection, they are able to recognize epitopes at far lower concentrations than required for CAR-T activation. Therefore, TCR-T holds great promise for the treatment of human cancers. In this focused review, we summarize basic, translational, and clinical insights into the challenges and opportunities of TCR-T. We review emerging strategies used in current ACT, point out limitations, and propose possible solutions. We highlight the importance of targeting tumor-specific neoAgs and outline a strategy of combining neoAg vaccines, checkpoint blockade therapy, and adoptive transfer of neoAq-specific TCR-T to produce a truly tumorspecific therapy, which is able to penetrate into solid tumors and resist the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. We believe such a combination approach should lead to a significant improvement in cancer immunotherapies, especially for solid tumors, and may provide a general strategy for the eradication of multiple cancers.

Keywords: T cell receptor, genetic engineering, cancer immunotherapy, TCR-engineering, new strategies

Abbreviations: CAR, Chimeric antigen receptor; CDR3, Complementarity-determining region 3; C α : Constant alpha; C β : Constant beta; CRISPR, Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat; CRS: Cytokine release syndrome; CSR, Chimeric switch receptor; CTL, Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte; CTLA4: Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated Antigen 4; EBV, Epstein-Barr Virus; GvHD, Graft-vs-host disease; HLA, Human leukocyte antigen; IFN γ , Interferon gamma; IL2, Interleukin 2; LCK, Lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase; mC α , Murine Constant alpha; MDSC, Myeloid-derived suppressor cells; MHC, Major histocompatibility complex; PBMC, Peripheral blood mononuclear cell; PLK, Polylinker; Sc, Single chain; Sc-TCR, Single-chain T-cell receptor; siRNA, Small interfering RNA; sgRNA, Single guide RNA; TAA, Tumor associated antigen; TALENs, Transcription activator-like effector nucleases; Tcm, Central memory T cells; TCR, T-cell receptor; TGF- β ; Transforming growth factor- β ; TNF α , Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; Treg, Regulatory T cells; TRAC, T cell receptor constant-alpha; TRBC, T cell receptor constant-beta; Tscm, Stem cell memory T cells; WT1, Wilms' tumor 1.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ignazio Caruana, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Jochen Buechner, Oslo University Hospital, Norway Donovan Flumens, Laboratory of Experimental Hematology, University of Antwerp, Belgium Sara Mastaglio, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence:

Shao-An Xue shao-an.xue@ucl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 07 January 2022 Accepted: 03 March 2022 Published: 30 March 2022

Citation:

Wei F, Cheng X-X, Xue JZ and Xue S-A (2022) Emerging Strategies in TCR-Engineered T Cells. Front. Immunol. 13:850358. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.850358

INTRODUCTION

Immunotherapy of cancer based on adoptive cell transfer (ACT) of T lymphocytes can be classified into three approaches. The first, tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) therapy, harvests naturally occurring T cells that have already penetrated patient tumors, expands them *ex vivo*, and then re-infuses them into patients (1, 2). However, it is often very difficult to isolate tumor-specific TILs, which are not present in all patients or may generate too few cells for therapeutic efficacy.

The second approach, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)modified T cells (CAR-T), bypasses this problem by directly engineering T cells with known tumor-specific CARs. CARs are fusion molecules that link a single-chain antibody with T-cell activation signaling domains such as CD28-CD3 ζ (3) or 4-1BB-CD3 ζ (4). When a CAR is transduced into human T cells, the antibody fragment is expressed on the surface of the engineered T cells to recognize a tumor antigen expressed on tumor cells, while the CD28-CD3 ζ or 4-1BB-CD3 ζ domain delivers a stimulatory signal once the antibody binds to a tumor antigen, activating CAR-T cells to attack the tumor.

CAR-T cells are not restricted by MHC molecules, and thus one CAR-T construct can be used to treat any patient regardless of genetic background. Currently, the most widely used and successful CAR is the CD19-CAR, which recognizes the CD19 molecule expressed on the surface of B cells, thus can eliminate some B-cell-derived leukemias and lymphomas (5, 6), including complete response in nearly 90% of B-cell leukemia patients (5). However, antibody-based CARs can only recognize antigens expressed on the cell surface, and not intracellular antigens, limiting the number of targets and potential tumor types addressable by CAR-T therapy.

The third approach, T cell receptor (TCR)-engineered T cells (TCR-T), uses TCRS as found on native T cells to confer specificity, instead of antibody-based CARs. TCRS can be isolated from tumor-reactive T cells and further modified for enhanced expression and functions. TCRS can recognize both cell-surface and intracellular targets, these include neoantigens (neoAgs) that arise from mutations and are specific to tumor cells. The disadvantage of using TCR-T is that TCRS are restricted by MHC molecules, thus any given TCR can only be used to treat patients with the corresponding MHC genetic background. In the following sections, we describe the settings in which TCR-T may prove most effective.

TCR-T IMMUNOTHERAPY FOR CANCER AS A COMPLEMENT TO CAR-T

CAR-T has been most successful in hematological malignancies (7–10), with FDA-approved therapies targeting CD19 (Kymriah, Yescarta, Tecartus, Breyanzi) and BCMA (Abecma) as of December 2021. CD19-CAR-T can achieve complete response in nearly 90% of B cell leukemia patients, although 50% of patients may nonetheless relapse (11). One of the major reasons for this relapse is loss of surface expression of CD19 from tumor

cells (12), thus evading recognition by CD19-CAR-T cells. These patients may no longer respond to CD19-CAR-T, although targeting different antigens may still be viable, in which case TCR-T may be used as a late-line option. For example, a recent study reported transfer of WT1-TCR-engineered donor T cells into AML patients at high risk of relapse following allogeneic stem cell transplantation, 12/12 treated patients achieved relapse-free survival (13), compared to 54% in a concurrent group of 88 similar high-risk patients, and WT1-TCR-T cells also showed prolonged persistence and maintenance of antigen-specific polyfunctional activity.

The greater opportunity for TCR-T may exist in solid tumors, where CAR-T has been less effective (14-16). The mechanisms behind these limitations are poorly understood and under active investigation. CAR-T recognition is limited to surface antigens, and moreover CAR-T activation requires higher concentration of target antigens (17, 18). This lower sensitivity helps avoid damage to normal tissues with low antigen expression (19), but conversely may be unsuitable for tumors with similarly low tumor antigen expression. For example, CAR-T specific for anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) showed variable efficacy towards different cell lines depending on expression level of ALK (17). Recently, a study investigated B cell malignancies with up to 33-fold lower CD20 expression than healthy B cells - below the concentration required to activate CAR-T - but found that CD20-specific TCR-T clones with high avidity were able to overcome self-tolerance and eliminate these tumor cells (20). It is estimated that CAR-T cells need in the order of hundreds of target molecules to be activated (17, 18, 21), whereas TCR-T can be activated by a single target molecule (22).

Initial clinical studies of TCR-T in solid tumors have shown promising results (23, 24). An affinity-enhanced NYESO1-TCR achieved 45-55% clinical response rate in metastatic melanoma patients (25, 26), and 50-61% clinical response rate in metastatic synovial sarcoma patients (25–27). The same NYESO1-TCR achieved 80% clinical response rate in multiple myeloma patients without apparent side effects, including 70% complete response rate with median progression-free survival of 19 months (28). Recently, a phase 1 trial of TCR-T targeting HPV-16 E7 in metastatic HPV-associated epithelial cancers achieved 50% clinical response rate (6/12 patients), including 4/8 patients refractory to PD-1 blockade (29).

In recent years, neoAgs have been discovered as a class of immunogenic tumor-specific antigens that are derived from tumor-specific mutations of self-proteins (30–32) or from tumor-causing oncogenic viral proteins (33) in the estimated 15% of human cancers attributed to viruses (34). T cells specific for neoAgs and viral proteins would not have undergone central thymic tolerance selection, making it possible to isolate high-avidity T cell clones against these targets. These antigens are rarely expressed on the cell surface, and represent a therapeutic opportunity in solid tumors using TCR-T that CAR-T may be unable to match (35).

Despite these promising results (24–27, 29), several hurdles remain to be overcome to realize the true promise of TCR-T immunotherapy. In early clinical trials, some non-responder patients lacked *in vivo* persistence of the infused T cells (36, 37), suggesting that the transferred TCR-T cells need additional support to enhance their *in vivo* survival. Some patients with late relapse showed no evidence of T cell infiltration in the tumor, and moreover infused TCR-T cells face a hostile immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME). In the following sections, we discuss current and future engineering strategies to address these challenges to deliver effective and long-lasting tumor control to a broad range of cancer patients.

OVERCOMING THE CHALLENGES OF TCR-T CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Enhancing TCR Expression and Function Through Reducing TCR Mis-Pairing

TCR-T therapy relies on mRNA or viral transduction of tumorreactive TCR genes to redirect T cell specificity towards tumor cells. However, using either mRNAs or randomly integrating viruses to deliver the exogenous TCR, leaves the endogenous TCR genes intact. Therefore, this could potentially result in some degree of mis-pairing between the introduced and endogenous TCR chains (38–40). Mis-pairing poses certain safety risks, as T cells expressing mis-paired TCRS may be auto-reactive against the patient's MHC molecules. Indeed, a murine study showed that TCR mis-pairing in the context of adoptive transfer of TCRgene-modified T cells combined with increased conditioning resulted in graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) and serious animal death (41). Similarly, an *in vitro* study of human EBVtransformed lymphoblastoid cell lines showed that mis-paired TCRS drove potentially dangerous off-target toxicity (42).

Several strategies have been explored to prevent TCR mispairing (43, 44). The interaction between TCR α and TCR β chains is largely governed by the invariant $C\alpha/C\beta$ -interface (45), enabling modification of this region to prevent pairing with endogenous TCRS. Reciprocal "knob-hole" amino acid changes in the center of the TCR C domains led to preferential pairing of the modified chains while disfavoring combinations with native TCR chains (46). Introduction of an additional interchain disulfide bond within the TCR $C\alpha/C\beta$ -interface (47) also enhanced the pairing of the modified chains whilst reducing the efficiency of pairing with wild-type chains (48, 49). This preferential pairing of cysteine-modified TCR chains has accounted for improved TCR gene expression and enhanced antitumor activity of transduced T cells (50). Replacing the human TCR constant domains with whole (49, 51, 52) or partial (53, 54) murine sequences represents an alternative strategy to reduce unwanted mis-pairing, and can also increase the expression level of the introduced TCR genes (51). The enhanced expression of the human/murine hybrid TCR in human T cells may be partly due to the greater binding capacity of the murine TCR constant domains to human CD3 molecules when compared with human TCR constant domains (51). Finally, instead of using murine sequences, exchanging the human TCR constant domains $C\alpha$ and $C\beta$ with each other (domain swapping), or replacing $C\alpha$ and $C\beta$ with the

corresponding $\gamma\delta$ TCR constant domains, could also generate functional TCRS with reduced mis-pairing and improved safety profile (55). However, it is important to note that the individual TCR subfamily V-domains and even the antigen-binding CDR3 α/β -loops may also contribute to the interaction of TCR α and β chains (56, 57), and hence manipulation of the TCR constant domains can only partially reduce the frequency of mis-pairing, rather than eliminate the risk completely.

Another common approach to reduce mis-pairing is to generate a so-called single-chain TCR (Sc-TCR) by covalently linking the V α and V β domains with a polylinker (PLK), resulting in a single polypeptide which will in theory inhibit mis-pairing through steric hindrance (58). T-cell-activation signaling upon antigen encounter is provided by fusion of CD3 ζ onto the C β -chain within the Sc-TCR. Using this approach, Sebestyen et al. showed preferential pairing between CD3 ζ -modified TCR α and β chains while reducing mis-pairing with unmodified TCR chains (59). To develop this concept further, Aggen et al. replaced the constant domains of the Sc-TCR construct with a CD28 or 4-1BB together with CD3ζ or LCK signaling domains (60). Although this strategy was able to reduce mis-pairing, activation of these T cells upon antigen encounter no longer followed natural TCR signaling pathways, but rather that of conventional CARs. Because CAR signaling is less efficient than that of the TCR complex (23, 61), Voss et al. developed an alternative Sc-TCR scaffold Va-PLK-VB-CB plus $C\alpha$ (62), relying on assembly with the native CD3 complex for more physiologic T-cell signaling. To stabilize the structure of the Sc-TCR, we introduced an extra new disulfide bond between the V α and the polylinker, which strengthens the interaction between the V α and V β domains, favoring surface expression of the Sc-TCR, while also greatly reduced TCR mis-pairing (63). One of the potential drawbacks of using this technology is that not all of the TCRS can form a stable Sc-TCR. According to our experience, some of the weak TCRS can not be expressed on the surface of T cells as a Sc-TCR due to the weak interaction between the V α and V β domains. With such weak TCR, genetic engineering of certain frame work regions of the TCR may be able to help to resolve the problem (64).

Aside from TCR protein design, another way of reducing TCR mis-pairing and its related side effects is to knock out the endogenous TCRS via genetic engineering, which also reduces competition for CD3 binding from endogenous TCRS (65). Several strategies have been explored to achieve this goal, including the use of siRNAs (66, 67), zinc-finger nucleases (68), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) (69, 70), and CRISPR/Cas9 technologies (71, 72). As the CRISPR/Cas9 has several advantages, including (i) simple and highly efficient editing, (ii) rapid and affordable manufacturing, (iii) versatile multiplex genome editing through simultaneously targeting several genes, and (iv) user-friendly and easily deliverable. Therefore, this CRISPR/Cas9 system holds great promise and may lead the way for future genetic engineering of T cells for cancer immunotherapy (73). The feasibility of genome editing using CRISPR/Cas9 targeting the TRAC and TRBC loci was recently demonstrated in primary T cells (71, 74).

Using multiplex genome editing, the beta-2 microglobulin class I MHC and PD-1 genes can also be disrupted alongside the TCR α and β genes (75, 76). Removal of endogenous TCR and class I MHC eliminates allogeneic antigen recognition and reduces risk of GvHD and donor T cell rejection, generating allogeneic 'universal' T cells that can be infused in any recipient (77, 78), as opposed to autologous T cells that can only be re-infused into the donor patient. The immune checkpoint gene PD-1 is removed to enhance T cell activity, for which reason the T cell suppressor LAG-3 has also been knocked out to improve anticipate that other immune inhibitory receptors such as TGF β receptors can also be disrupted to generate universal CAR-T and TCR-T cells with enhanced resistance to the inhibitory TME.

TCR-T cells have been generated by TCR transduction of T cells in which the endogenous TCR α chain (80), β chain (81), or both α and β chains (82) were removed using CRISPR/Cas9, or by orthotopic replacement of TCR- $\alpha\beta$ chains with tumor reactive TCRS using CRISPR/Cas9 (83, 84), resulting in engineered TCR-T cells with enhanced TCR expression and prolonged control of tumor growth in preclinical murine models. However, for clinical use, the potential off-target toxicity of the CRISPR/Cas9 technology has to be taken into considerations (85). A recent study showed that DNA breaks introduced by sgRNA/Cas9 can lead to on-target mutagenesis, such as large deletions and genomic rearrangements at the targeted sites in mouse embryonic stem cells and in a human differentiated cell line (86). Therefore, strategies for improving safety of the CRISPR/Cas9 technology need to be put in place. To reduce the off-target toxicity, high-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nuclease has been developed (87), and a recent review has provided many strategies about how to refine the CRISPR/ Cas9 technology for clinical applications (88). Recently, a phase 1 clinical trial was designed to test multiplex CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing of T cells from patients with advanced, refractory cancer (89), in which endogenous TCR α and β chains were removed to prevent mis-pairing, and PD-1 removed to avoid T cell exhaustion. The NYESO1-TCR engineered T cells persisted for up to 9 months and trafficked to tumor sites, demonstrating proof-of-concept for multiplex CRISPR gene editing in cell therapy. Another study applied CRISPR-edited T cells in patients with refractory nonsmall-cell lung cancer also concluded that clinical application of CRISPR-Cas9 gene-edited T cells is generally safe and feasible (90).

To achieve the best results of maximally reducing mis-pairing and enhancing expression and function of the tumor-specific TCR, we have recently combined multiple strategies by knocking out endogenous TCR using CRISPR/Cas9 together with transduction of a single-chain EBV-specific TCR (EBV-Sc-TCR) (91). This almost eliminated mis-pairing between the introduced EBV-Sc-TCR and endogenous TCR chains, and we further enhanced tumor-specific TCR expression, functional avidity, and IL-2 production by introducing an extra intrachain disulfide bond between the V α and the poly-linker (91).

Enhancing Persistence and Anti-Tumor Functions of the Genetically Engineered T Cells

T cell persistence is a fundamental requisite for durable immunosurveillance, as many clinical trials revealed that most non-responder patients showed no in vivo persistence of the infused tumor specific T cells (36, 37), and in contrast, patients who achieved complete response or relapse-free survival and tumor control showed robust proliferative capacity and longterm persistence of engineered T cells (13, 27). To maintain persistence of the transferred T cells, a variety of cytokines have been coadministered to support T cell survival and expansion. The standard ACT regimen comprises lymphodepletion with cytotoxic agents, including cyclophosphamide and fludarabine, followed by administration of recombinant human IL-2 after T cell transfer (92). Systemic delivery of IL-2, is known to expand T cells while maintaining functional activity (93), has achieved durable regression in some metastatic melanoma and renal cancer patients (94), is approved by the FDA, and is used in both CAR-T and TCR-T immunotherapy of cancers today. However, there is evidence suggests that IL-2 may preferentially expand CD4⁺ regulatory T (Treg) cells rather than tumor-killing CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) (95, 96). Therefore, recent attention has focused on modifying the IL-2 molecule to preferentially bind and activate CD8⁺ CTLs over Treg cells (97). For example, a half-life-extended super mutant IL-2 conjugated to a tumor-targeting antibody allowed more efficient CTL stimulation and expansion in the TME, resulting in significantly improved complete response rate and lower tumor relapse in vivo (97).

IL-7, is a hematopoietic cytokine regulating multiple aspects of T cell biology (98), is essential for T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation, and promotes the survival of naïve and memory T cells by upregulating the antiapoptotic molecule Bcl-2 (99, 100). IL-7 supplementation improved the persistence and efficacy of transferred T cells, supporting its usage as an adjuvant for adoptive immunotherapy (101). When IL-7 was coexpressed in NKG2D-based CAR-T cells, it enhanced CAR-T persistence and expansion while inhibiting apoptosis and exhaustion (102). Similarly, IL-7 co-expression in GPC3-CAR-T cells improved CAR-T efficacy toward liver cancer (103).

IL-12 is a major contributor to effective anti-tumor immune responses (104), stimulating the effector functions of activated T cells and NK cells *via* induction of cytotoxic enzymes such as perforin and cytokines such as IFN- γ (104, 105). Cytotoxic enzymes can mediate direct killing of tumor cells (106), while production of IFN γ from NK cells as well as CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells inhibits tumor growth (107, 108). IL-12 further modifies the TME through inhibition of Tregs (107), upregulating MHC class I presentation on tumor cells (109, 110), and converting immunosuppressive M2 macrophages into activated antitumor M1 macrophages (111). IL-12 also prevents the activationinduced cell death of naïve CD8⁺ T cells, favoring their survival and differentiation towards the effector phenotype to sustain anti-tumor activity against mouse models of melanoma (112).

These studies demonstrate that IL-12 is not only required for the activation of anti-tumor cytotoxic immune responses, but also directly relieves immune suppression (107). However, systemic administration of IL-12 is very toxic (113), severely limiting its utility in clinical applications. To minimize systemic exposure and potential toxicity while maintaining the beneficial effects of IL-12, several strategies have been explored, for example local delivery (114, 115), encapsulating IL-12 with nanoparticles or heparin (116, 117). Alternatively, deleting the N-terminal signal peptide of IL-12 or tethering IL-12 to the surface of TCR-engineered T cells via a membrane anchor prevents secretion (118, 119), thereby attenuating toxicity while improving antitumor efficacy. These treatment strategies may have broad applications to cellular therapy with TILs, CAR-T, and TCR-T cells. A recent multi-center phase 1 trial used a chemically activatable IL-12 gene delivered into the tumor site, where IL-12 expression triggered by the drug veledimex achieved conversion of an immunologically "cold" TME to an inflamed "hot" TME with increased influx of IFN-γ-producing T cells (120). IL-18 is another cytokine that shares biological effects with IL-12 but with reduced toxicity (121). Recent studies exploring IL-18 in the place of IL-12 suggest that CAR-T cells engineered to secrete IL-18 enhances CAR-T cell survival and antitumor activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* by producing IFN- γ and several other cytokines, stimulating expansion of human CD4⁺ cells as well as activating the endogenous immune system in immunocompetent mice (122, 123).

IL-15 is known to stimulate the generation of stem cell memory T cells (Tscm) with potential to sustain durable T cell responses (124). Unlike IL-2, IL-15 does not bind to the IL-2R α chain, and thus does not stimulate Tregs and may have a more selective effect. When compared with IL2, IL15 tend to enhance CAR-T cell antitumor activity by preserving their Tscm phenotype (125). A comparison of CAR-T cell expansion in the presence of IL-2, IL-15, or a combination of IL-15/IL-7, revealed that IL-15 best enhances CAR-T persistence and function in a mouse model of multiple myeloma (126). Preclinical observations strongly support the antitumor activity of IL-15 mediated by CD8⁺ T cells (127), and IL-15 coexpression in CD19-CAR-T not only revealed a strong killing effect against leukemia cells, but most of the persistent T cells were phenotypically consistent with Tscm that drive long-term persistence (128).

To improve IL-15 half-life and effectiveness *in vivo*, IL-15 was associated with IL-15-receptor- α to form a pre-bound IL-15/IL-15R α dimer, which showed stronger antitumor activity than IL-15 monomer (129). Recently, subcutaneous injection of recombinant human IL15 was tested in patients with advanced solid tumors, although the treatment produced substantial increases in circulating NK and CD8⁺ T cells, nonetheless, no objective responses were observed (130). However, when IL-15/IL-15R α sushi-domain was co-expressed on CD5-specific CAR-T cells, and tested in a patient with relapsed T-lymphoblastic lymphoma with CNS infiltration, a rapid ablation of the CNS lymphoblasts to undetectable levels within 4 weeks and disease remission was observed (131). To address IL-15-induced

immune checkpoint activation, IL-15 can also be combined with anti-PD-(L)1 and anti-CTLA-4 antibodies (132).

IL-21 is a newly discovered member of the common γ -chain family of cytokines. Like IL-12 and IL-15, and in contrast to IL-2, IL-21 does not stimulate Tregs, instead, it inhibits Treg expansion through suppression of Foxp3, thus favoring the enrichment of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells (133). IL-21 facilitates the maturation and enhances the cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells, and promotes the differentiation of memory CD8⁺ T cells (134, 135). IL-21 synergizes when combined with IL-12 to further inhibit Tregs (136), and synergizes when combined with IL-15 to expand CD28expressing antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells (137, 138). Utilizing these characteristics, IL-21 performed much better than IL-2 or IL-15 during *in vitro* generation of antigen-specific CD8⁺ CTL and in an *in vivo* murine model of cancer immunotherapy (139, 140). In murine tumor models, intratumoral injection of IL-21 strongly inhibited tumor growth and increased the frequency of tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells and mice survival (141). In a phase 1/2 trial, 4 out of 4 leukemia patients who received WT1specific CTL generated in the presence of IL-21 demonstrated both relapse-free survival without GvHD and did not need further anti-leukemic treatment (142).

To reduce the toxicity and increase the half-life of IL-21, IL-21 has been conjugated to tumor-targeting antibodies such as anti-EGFR antibody (143), selectively expanding functional CTLs while restricting exhausted T cells in the TME. IL-21 upregulates perforin and granzyme expression in memory and effector CD8⁺ T cells (144), thus augments the antitumor activity of CD8⁺ T cells (145), consistent with the requirement of IL-21 for the long-term maintenance and function of CD8⁺ T cells (146). IL-21 fused to anti-PD-1 antibody stimulated generation of Tscm with enhanced cell proliferation and tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells, outperforming anti-PD-1 antibody and IL-21 infused as separate treatments (147). These results demonstrated that IL-21 can be used alone or in combination with other cytokines to produce tumor-specific T cells with a memory phenotype, with enhanced persistence, proliferative capacity, and antitumor efficacy for adoptive cancer immunotherapies.

Endogenous immune cells can act as a "sink" for administered cytokines (148), thus the use of a lymphodepleting conditioning regimen prior to ACT helps to spare the limited cytokines for the transferred T cells. Moreover, conditioning can also eliminate immunosuppressive Tregs and MDSCs (149), further supporting the engraftment and expansion of engineered T cells and improving therapy persistence and efficacy (150, 151).

Finally, purposeful selection of T cell sub-populations is another way to enhance persistence and functionality of the adoptively transferred T cells. Less differentiated T cells such as Tscm and central memory (Tcm) cells are more effective than effector T cells when transferred into tumor-bearing mice (152), thus CAR modification of naïve T cells can generate antigenspecific Tscm and Tcm cells with long *in vivo* persistence which mediated robust, long-lasting antitumor responses (153, 154). To preserve this early differentiated T cell population, tumorspecific CTLs can be stimulated by a combination of IL-21 and anti-CD3/anti-CD28 antibody-conjugated microbeads or nanomatrices (155, 156). Addition of IL-21 alone or in combination with other cytokines (such as IL-7 and IL-15) into the expansion culture, can further support the enrichment and expansion of Tscm cells with superior antitumor activity (157), consistent with recent clinical data that WT1-TCR engineered T cells generated in the presence of IL-21 showed long-lasting persistence with superior anti-leukemia activity in humans (13, 142).

Enhancing the Homing and Penetration of Engineered T Cells Into Solid Tumors

To achieve tumor eradication, cancer-specific CTLs need to migrate and penetrate into solid tumors (158), driven by interactions between tumor-secreted chemokines and chemokine receptors expressed on CTLs (159–163). This process is rate-limited when CTLs express chemokine receptors at low density or that do not match the specific chemokines secreted by the tumors (164, 165). This creates an opportunity to engineer tumor-specific T cells' chemokine receptors to match known chemokines or cytokines abundant in the TME, with encouraging results for enhanced CTL homing and antitumor efficacy.

The chemokines CCL2, CCL7, and CCL8 are expressed in many cancer types as well as cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), MDSCs, and mesenchymal stem cells found in the TME, which support the tumor growth and metastasis (164). All three of these chemokines are ligands for the CCR2 receptor, thus when CCR2b was transduced together with a CAR specific for GD2 into human T cells, these modified T cells showed enhanced trafficking with >10-fold improved homing to CCL2-secreting neuroblastoma, and significantly enhanced activity against neuroblastoma xenografts in vivo (166). The same approach, resulted in 12.5-fold increase in infiltration of CAR-T specific for mesothelin into established mouse tumors, and significantly enhanced antitumor activity and tumor eradication (167). When CCR2 was transduced together with a TCR specific for WT1 into CD3⁺ human T cells, double gene-modified CD3⁺ T cells demonstrated CCL2-tropic tumor trafficking and potentiated antitumor activity against WT1-expressing LK79 lung cancer cells both in vitro and in vivo (168). Similarly, transduction of CCR2 into TCR-T cells specific for the SV40 large T antigen, enhanced recruitment into CCL2-expressing metastatic prostate adenocarcinoma, and improved in vivo antitumor effect (169).

Multiple chemokine ligands for the CXCR2 receptor are expressed in many tumors (170), and also promote tumor initiation, proliferation, migration, metastasis, and immune invasion. Thus, CXCR2 has been explored intensively for cancer immunotherapy. Human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tumor tissues and cell lines express several chemokine ligands for CXCR2, however, both human peripheral T cells and TILs of HCC lack expression of CXCR2. In a recent study (171), Liu et al. transduced human T cells with a GPC3-CAR together with CXCR2; compared with CAR-T cells without CXCR2, these cells exhibited identical cytotoxicity but significantly increased migration in vitro, as well as accelerated in vivo trafficking and tumor-specific accumulation in a xenograft tumor model. Similarly, CXCR2 enhanced trafficking and in vivo antitumor efficacy of CAR-T cells specific for integrin $\alpha v\beta 6$ in advanced pancreatic and ovarian tumor xenograft models (172). In the TCR-T field, when CXCR2 was transduced into pmel-1 TCR transgenic T cells (173), or MAGE-A3-specific TCR-engineered T cells (174), the CXCR2-TCR-T cells showed increased in vivo homing, enhanced tumor infiltration, and preferential accumulation in tumor sites in mice, with enhanced survival and tumor regression compared with mice receiving control TCR-T cells. These results indicate that introduction of the CXCR2 gene into tumor-specific T cells can enhance their homing and localization to tumors and improve antitumor immune responses. CXCR2 has also been used to enhance the migration and homing of NK cells to CXCL5-expressing renal cell carcinomas (175). Recently, Jin et al. used radiation therapy to induce tumor secretion of IL-8 (CXCL8), and found that CD70-CAR-engineered T cells expressing either of the IL-8 receptors CXCR1 or CXCR2, showed enhanced migration and persistence, leading to complete tumor regression and immunologic memory in models of aggressive tumors, including glioblastoma, ovarian, and pancreatic cancers (176). Like radiation therapy, chemotherapy may also induce chemokine secretion from tumor cells, resulting in increased homing and infiltration of adoptively transferred T cells (177). These studies indicate that genetic engineering of tumor-specific T cells with chemokine receptors can be combined with conventional radiation and chemotherapy to enhance antitumor efficacy. CXCR1 has also been used to enhance migration and tumor infiltration of NK cells modified with a CAR specific for NKG2D (178).

Other chemokine receptors used in this way include CCR4 and CXCR4. Similarly, coexpression of CCR4 enhanced migration of CD30-specific CAR-T cells in response to CCL17 secreted by Hodgkin's lymphoma in murine xenografts (179). CXCR4 has also been explored as a means of recruiting T cells into the bone marrow, whose microenvironment is suggested to improve memory T cell formation and self-renewal. Khan (180) et al. overexpressed CXCR4 in CD8⁺ T cells, observing enhanced migration toward CXCL12-expressing cells in the bone marrow, with enhanced memory differentiation, expansion, persistence, and antitumor function of adoptively transferred T cells. CXCR4 also enhanced migration of NK cells to bone marrow as a means of targeting bone-marrow-resident tumor cells such as leukemia (181). CXCR4-modified CAR-NK cells also significantly improved survival and tumor regression of mice bearing glioblastoma (182).

Aside from engineering T cells with chemokine receptors, chemokines can be directly introduced into tumors to enhance T cell recruitment. For example, intratumoral injection of CXCL2 plasmid DNA combined with inactivated Sendai virus envelope, suppressed the growth of murine breast cancers and inhibited lung metastasis through recruitment of CTLs and neutrophils, further enhanced with anti-PD-1 antibodies to inhibit T cell

exhaustion (183). Chemokines can also be introduced into tumors through chemokine-armed oncolytic viruses, which simultaneously, replicate within and directly kill tumor cells to amplify antitumor efficacy (184). T cells can also be engineered to express both chemokines and cytokines to improve antitumor efficacy. For example, transduction of CAR-T cells to express IL-7 and the chemokine CCL-19, not only enhanced T cell survival, infiltration and accumulation in the tumor, but also achieved complete regression of pre-established solid tumors and prolonged mouse survival (185). When the chemokine CCL21 and IL7 was transduced into CAR-T cells, it significantly improved survival and infiltration of both CAR-T and dendritic cells in the tumor, leading to complete tumor remission (186).

Overcoming the Immunosuppressive Tumor Micro-Environment

Infiltration of genetically engineered T cells into the tumor is only the first step in fighting cancers. Tumor cells inhabit a heterogeneous microenvironment of infiltrating and resident host cells, secreted factors and extracellular matrix (187). Infiltrated cells include immune cells, such as T cells (TILs and Tregs), macrophages (M1 and M2), and MDSCs, and secreted factors include the immunosuppressive cytokines IL-10 and TGF β . The TME also includes stromal cells such as CAFs and TAMs. These components can mutually interact to induce a supportive milieu for malignant cell growth, migration, and metastasis, that evades the immune system and tumor-specific CTLs (188, 189).

Most tumor stromal cells in the TME express the immunosuppressive checkpoint ligand PD-L1 (190–192), which can interact with PD-1 expressed on T cells, resulting in inhibition of antitumor function and exhaustion of adoptively transferred TILs (193), CAR-T (194) and TCR-T (195). This effect can be relieved *via* checkpoint blockade with anti-PD-1 (196–199) and anti-PD-L1 (200, 201) antibodies. CTLA-4 expressed on activated T cells have a similar effect, as CTLA-4 binds to CD80/86 on antigen-presenting cells with higher affinity in competition with the T cell costimulation molecule CD28, dampening antitumor immunity (202). Anti-CTLA4 antibodies both block the interaction between CTLA4 and CD80/86, and can also deplete Tregs (203), thus facilitate the costimulation and expansion of tumor-specific CTL with improved clinical benefits (204, 205).

Checkpoint inhibitors alone induce a response rate of approximately 20% of patients in one meta-analysis (206), and some responding patients will develop resistance (207). One important resistance mechanism is the upregulation of PD-L1 expression on tumor cells treated with immunotherapy, resulting in T cell exhaustion and relapse (207, 208). Immune checkpoint blockade is also associated with significant and in some cases lifethreatening toxicity (209). An alternative approach to eliminating the immunosuppressive effect of PD-1 on tumorspecific CTLs uses CRISPR/Cas9 technology to remove PD-1 from CAR-T (210), and TCR-T cells (89). It is possible to go beyond PD-1-deletion by introducing a chimeric switch receptor (CSR) consisting of a PD-1 extracellular domain (PD1ex) and CD28 intracellular domain (CD28in). When this PD-1:CD28 CSR was transduced together with a CAR (211, 212) or TCR (213, 214) into T cells, the engineered CTLs still interact with PD-L1 on tumor cells, but delivers a costimulation signal via CD28 rather than an inhibitory signal. CAR-T cells generated using this strategy show increased cytokine production (211), enhanced killing ability, and increase in central memory T cells (212). Similarly, this PD-1:CD28 CSR enhanced TCR-T cells to increase cytokine production and cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo (213), and prevented PD-L1 upregulation and Th2 polarization in the TME (214). CSR TCR-T cells also synergized with anti-PD-L1 antibody to secrete more IFNy compared with control TCR-T (214). Recently, this strategy has begun to be used in the clinic. In a CD-19 CAR-T study of relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (215), 6 patients who progressed following CD19-CAR-T therapy, were given CAR-T cells engineered with CSR PD1ex-CD28in, of which 3/6 patients achieved complete remission, and 1/6 achieved partial response. In another study, in relapsed/ refractory PD-L1⁺ B-cell lymphoma (216), CSR-engineered CAR-T cells targeting CD19 showed superior T-cell proliferation, cytokine production, and cancer cell killing in vitro and in vivo. Among 17 treated adult patients, 10 patients had objective response (58.8%), including 7 with complete remission (41.2%). In both trials no severe neurologic toxicity or cytokine release syndrome was observed. Endogenous PD-1 was not depleted in these trials, thus we anticipate additional opportunity to enhance antitumor activity by combining CSRengineered T cells with PD-1 knockout. The same CD28 CSR approach has also been applied to the immune checkpoint molecules TIGIT (T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains) and CTLA-4. Co-transduction of a TIGIT : CD28 CSR together with a tumor-specific TCR or CAR into human T-cells, drove enhanced cytokine production and superior anti-tumor function in a xenograft model of established human melanoma tumors (217). Transduction of a CTLA-4:CD28 CSR into tumorspecific T cells, resulted in elevated IFN- γ and IL-2 production and enhanced antitumor effect without systemic autoimmunity (218). A recent study engineered a CTLA4:CD28-CD3z CSR with the intracellular domains of both CD28 and CD3z, demonstrating increased cytokine production and cytotoxicity in vitro and in xenograft models (219). These engineered CAR-T cells were found to accumulate in tumors and to target MDSCs without severe GvHD or CRS (219).

Among the multiple immunosuppressive factors secreted within the TME, TGF- β plays a central role driving tumor signaling, remodeling, and metabolism (220). TGF- β is produced by many cell types including tumor cells, stromal cells and Tregs (221), and stimulates autocrine and paracrine signaling to promote angiogenesis (222), suppress CD8⁺ and T_h1 anti-tumor responses (223), and induce epithelial-to –mesenchymal transition of neoplastic cells and thus facilitate tumor invasion (224). Recent clinical data associated patient non-responders to checkpoint blockade with TGF- β signaling (225). Therefore, blocking TGF- β signaling in the TME could

potentiate antitumor responses. Indeed, one possible mechanism of anti-CTLA4 antibody therapy is the depletion of immunosuppressive TGF- β -producing Treg cells (203), thus facilitating the costimulation and expansion of tumor-specific CTL with improved clinical benefit (204, 205). To further improve on the efficacy of checkpoint inhibitor antibodies, bifunctional antibody-ligand traps comprising an antibody targeting CTLA-4 or PD-L1 fused to a TGF β receptor II ectodomain (TGF β RIIecd) have been generated (226), in which TGF β RIIecd sequesters TGF- β secreted in the TME, while the checkpoint inhibitor antibody depletes Tregs and facilitates the CTL costimulation. This dual strategy may be more effective against cancers that are resistant to immune checkpoint inhibitors alone.

As an alternative to TGF- β sequestration, tumor-reactive T cells can be transduced with a dominant-negative TGFB receptor-II (dnTGFβRII), generating TGF-β-resistant antitumor T cells (227). TCR-T cells expressing dnTGFβRII demonstrated complete tumor regression and prolonged survival in a mouse model of advanced and invasive prostate carcinoma. In a recent clinical study, patients with relapsed Hodgkin lymphoma were treated with EBV-specific T cells engineered to express dnTGFBRII, and 4/8 patients showed an objective clinical response (228), demonstrating that TGFβresistant tumor-specific T cells can persist safely in patients and potentially enhance the efficacy of T cell immunotherapy. To take advantage of the high concentration of TGF- β in the TME, a recent study fused the TGF- β receptor II (TGF β RII) extracellular domain to the intracellular domain of 4-1BB to convert the immunosuppressive effect of TGF- β into an immunostimulatory signal (229). The same cells were also transduced with a CAR-CD3^{\zet} targeting the prostate-specific antigen and an inverted cytokine receptor consisting of the IL-4R extracellular domain fused to the IL-7R intracellular domain. Coexpression of these 3 transgenic receptors generated an additive effect with improved expansion, persistence, tumor lysis, and selective antitumor activity in vivo. Transduction of the TGFβRII-41BB CSR together with a NYESO1-specific TCR promoted abundant effector cytokine production in T cells, resulting in markedly enhanced tumor clearance in an in vivo solid tumor model (230). Like TGF- β , the Fas ligand-mediated T cell death signal that is highly expressed in the TME can also be converted into pro-survival signal via CSR, by fusing the Fas extracellular domain with the 4-1BB intracellular domain (231), resulting in engineered T cells with increased pro-survival signaling, proliferation, antitumor function, and enhanced in vivo efficacy against leukemia and pancreatic cancer mouse models. These studies clearly demonstrate the potential for using CSRs to convert the TME's immunosuppressive signals into immunostimulatory signals in engineered antitumor T cells.

Enhancing Tumor-Specific Killing by Targeting Neoantigens

Over the past decade, many tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) have been discovered and investigated as targets for cancer immunotherapy. These include the cancer testis antigens (e.g.,

New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma 1 (NY-ESO)-1) (25), melanoma-associated antigen (MAGE-A3 (174), MAGE-A4) (232), differentiation antigens (e.g., melanoma antigen recognized by T-cells 1 (MART-1) (233), tyrosinase/gp100 (234), overexpressed oncogenes (e.g., Wilms' Tumor antigen 1 (WT1) (13, 235, 236), surviving (237), tumor suppressor genes (e.g., TP53) (238); and TAAs that are organ-specific (e.g., prostate-specific antigens) (239) or cell-type-specific antigens that are transiently expressed during differentiation (e.g., terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase) (240), or normally expressed only during embryonic development (e.g., carcinoembryonic antigen) (241). While many of these have advanced to the clinic, the residual expression of many TAAs in normal tissues often leads to toxicity from TAA-targeted therapy (234, 242-244). There is therefore a need to target truly tumorspecific antigens. This is the basis for targeting antigens from oncogenic viruses, such as HPV (245), EBV (246) and HBV (247), which can potentially eradicate virus-induced cancer cells (248, 249).

While most cancers are not viral in origin, they share a hallmark of genomic instability (250), which often leads to the occurrence of a large number of mutations. Mutant amino acid coding sequences can be expressed, processed, and presented on the surface of tumor cells as cancer-specific neoAgs, and subsequently recognized by T cells. CTLs targeting neoAgs are less likely to react against normal tissues or face immune tolerance. Indeed, evidence from treatment of cancers with checkpoint blockade suggests that tumors with higher mutational burden are likely to respond to immunotherapy (251, 252). In a study of 266 cancer patients, responders to checkpoint blockade therapy more often had tumors harboring TILs (so-called 'hot' tumors), while non-responders had tumors with few TILs ('cold' tumors) (253). It is thought that tumors harboring more mutations generate more neoAgs, which can be recognized by neoAg-specific TILs (254). These TILs are frequently suppressed in the TME by immune checkpoint molecules such as CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1, but can be reactivated following checkpoint blockade and thus able to induce tumor regression. As a result, cancers with high mutational load, such as melanoma and lung cancer, are more susceptible to checkpoint blockade therapies. There is also evidence that checkpoint blockade not only increases the number but also enhances the antitumor activity of neoAgspecific TILs (255).

Combining these clinical data, we hypothesize that immunotherapy through checkpoint blockade could be further augmented with neoantigen vaccines. Such vaccines could stimulate and amplify neoAg-specific TILs, which are released and reactivated upon checkpoint blockade to destroy tumor cells. Indeed, a personalized RNA-based vaccine was recently used to treat stage III and IV melanoma patients (256). All 13 patients developed T cell responses against multiple neo-epitopes, and each patient developed T cells against at least three mutations. Vaccination reduced rate of metastases and sustained progression-free survival in 8 patients. Notably, 1 patient showed complete response when the vaccination was combined with PD-1 blockade therapy. In another study, 4/6 neoAg-vaccinated patients showed no tumor recurrence at 25 months after treatment, while 2/6 patients with recurrent disease subsequently showed complete tumor regression following treatment with anti-PD-1 therapy (257). A phase Ib trial combining a personalized neoAg vaccine with PD-1 blockade found durable, neoAg-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses in all 82 treated patients, and T cells migrated to metastatic tumors and mediated tumor cell killing (258). Many clinical studies suggest that neoAg-specific T cells are the main mediators of tumor destruction in patients who responded to checkpoint blockade therapy (252, 259) or adoptive T cell transfer (260, 261). Both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ neoAg-specific T cells contribute to lasting tumor clearance (262-265), and work continues to develop strategies to promote maximal cytotoxic T cell responses (266).

SUMMARY AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

The power of the human immune system in fighting cancer has been demonstrated by the adoptive transfer of TILs (1, 2) and CAR-T therapy for hematological malignancies (5, 6). However, the promise of adoptive cell therapy for solid tumors has not yet been fully realized (14, 15). TCR-T therapy holds a number of advantages over alternative strategies. TCRS can recognize epitopes derived from both surface and intracellular proteins, enabling detection of a much broader range of targets compared to CAR-T, including TAAs, cancer germline antigens, viral oncoproteins, and neoAgs. Moreover, TCRS have naturally developed to sensitively detect low epitope concentrations, down to as little as a single molecule. Recent clinical research on TCR-T has produced meaningful responses in a variety of cancers (24-27), and in some cases durable and curative responses in solid tumor patients (29, 262-265). However, as many of these studies mainly targeted TAAs, we envisage targeting tumor-specific neoAgs to produce more profound antitumor immune responses. To achieve the goal of complete eradication of solid tumors, several aspects need to be considered:

1. Targeting tumor-specific antigens, combining neoAg vaccines, checkpoint blockade therapy, and adoptive transfer of genetically engineered neoAg-specific T cells (Figure 1). While targeting neoAgs can achieve complete tumor regressions in some settings, combination strategies are likely to expand their utility and increase response rates. We propose to extend the concept of combining neoAg vaccines and checkpoint blockade therapy, together with the adoptive transfer of neoAg-specific T cells as a generalizable therapeutic strategy. This starts with highthroughput screening of large patient cohorts encompassing multiple tumor types - to identify and collect a library of patient-derived neoAgs. This will enable vaccination using combinations of unique and shared cancerspecific neoAgs, to be tested in conjunction with checkpoint blockade therapies. In a second step, we propose to isolate neoAg-specific CTLs from responding patients, especially the CTLs specific for neoAgs representing driver mutations, to construct a TCR library that can be used to generate cell therapies for patients where vaccination is not effective (267). Challenges faced in this step include the limited availability of patient derived materials and the low frequencies of neoAg-specific T cells from patients. To overcome these limitations, Stronen et al. developed a strategy for the induction and isolation of neoAg reactive T cells from healthy donor T cell repertoires (268), which contain higher frequency of neoAg reactive T cells that are not affected by the patient's TME. Recently, this strategy has been optimized by Ali et al. into a standard protocol which will facilitate the isolation of neoAg specific T cells for cancer immunotherapy (269).

- 2. Eliminating TCR mis-pairing. Although neoAgs represent ideal targets for cancer immunotherapy, nonetheless, they are frequently ignored by patient's TILs (268). Under such situation, adoptive transfer of high avidity neoAg-specific TCR-T cells will be a valuable supplementation to the neoAg vaccine and check point blockade therapies. However, mispairing of introduced TCR with endogenous TCRS could potentially cause auto-reactivity against patient's MHC molecules, thus thoughtful innovations in TCR engineering technology could be incorporated. In this regard, genetic engineering of the TCR constant domains can be combined with design of a single-chain TCR, and the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing can be used to orthotopically replace the endogenous TCR with tumor reactive TCR (83, 84). Through applying these recent innovative technologies in T cell engineering, TCR mis-pairing can be eliminated, while generating antitumor T cells with enhanced TCR expression and functions.
- 3. Maintaining long-lasting immunosurveillance against tumors and keeping patients in relapse-free survival. To achieve this goal, a fundamental requisite is persistence of genetically engineered T cells after ACT. Provision of cytokines can play important roles in supporting T cell survival and functions (99, 100, 137, 138), but is often associated with severe cytotoxicity if delivered systemically (113). Therefore, controlled and targeted delivery of cytokines through genetic engineering of tumor-specific T cells (116–119), can not only support T cell survival and generate long-term memory T cells (124, 138), but can also modify the TME to create an inflammatory environment (109, 111), and maintain a "hot" tumor milieu that self-sustains the antitumor immune responses (120).
- 4. Facilitating migration and penetration of genetically engineered T cells into the solid tumor (158). Genetic engineering of tumor-specific T cells with chemokine receptors that match chemokines secreted by the TME can be adopted to recruit T cells to the tumor sites (168, 174). For enhanced antitumor effect, chemokines and cytokines can be combined (185, 186), and introduced through oncolytic viruses or vaccine adjuvants (159, 184). Radiation and chemotherapy can further augment ACT by stimulating chemokine secretion from tumor cells, increasing homing



FIGURE 1 | Cancer immunotherapy by combining neoAg vaccine and chekpoint blockade therapy together with adoptive transfer of neoAg-specific TCR-T. (A) Combination of neoAg vaccine and chekpoint blockade therapy. NeoAg vaccines can be used to stimulate and expand tumor reactive CTLs in the circulation system. When these expanded CTLs come into the TME, they will be inactivated by the check point molecules such as PDL1 and CTLA4, or by the immunosuppressive cytokine such as TGF-B (left). Using check point blockade therapies such as anti-PD(L)1 or anti-CTLA4 to block the check point interactions (middle) or using immunomodulatory cytokines such as IL-12 (right) to convert the tumor associated macrophage M2 into activated antitumor M1, these neoAg vaccine expanded CTLs can be reactivated and attack the tumor. (B) Genetically engineered TCR-T cells as a complement to neoAg vaccine and chekpoint blockade therapy. Radiation and chemotherapy can induce secretion of chemokines, which could potentially attract the tumor reactive CTLs to the tumor site. But more than offten, tumor reactive CTLs from patients are either too rare or with low avidity, thus could not control the tumor growth, as reflected by the fact that only a proportion of patients responded to neoAg vaccines or check point blockade therapies. Therefore, genetic engineering strategies could be used to complement the neoAg vaccines and check point blockade therapies. (1). By transducing patient's T cells with neoAg-specific TCR, we could obtain truly tumor specific T cells. (2). Expanding these neoAg-specific TCR-T cells with IL-15 or IL-21, we could potentially acquire T cells with early differentiated phenotype of Tscm and Tcm. (3). By introducing chemokine receptor genes into these TCR modified T cells, these TCR-T cells could be attracted to the tumor site. (4). By expressing chimeric switch receptor (CSR) on these neoAg-specific TCR-T cells, the immunosuppressive effect of certain immune suppression factors such as PD-L1 or TGF-B within the TME could be potentially converted into immunostimulatory signals inside these TCR-T cells. Thus, with these innovative engineering strategies, we could not only obtain sufficient numbers of high avidity, early differentiated long lasting tumor reactive TCR-T cells, but these T cells could also be attracted and infiltrate into the solid tumor, and within the TME, these TCR-T cells would have the ability not only to resist the the immunosuppressive effect of the TME, but could also get stimulated and further expanded by neoAg vaccine and check point blockade therapies, and finally achieve the ultimate goal of destroying the tumor.

and infiltration of adoptively transferred T cells into solid tumors with enhanced antitumor activity (176, 177).

5. Overcoming the immunosuppressive effects of the hostile TME and fully realizing the antitumor potential of engineered T cells. The TME represents a formidable hostile environment for antitumor T cells and favors tumor growth, metastasis, and immune evasion. The field has made advances in blocking the immunosuppressive factors of the TME (206), and developed innovative genetic engineering strategies to convert immunosuppressive ligands/factors into

immunostimulatory signals (211–214, 229). These strategies can not only remodel the immunosuppressive network within the TME (230), and convert 'cold' tumors lacking TILs into 'hot' tumors with genetically engineered T cells, but can also enhance T cell co-stimulation and survival, and produce TME-resistant antitumor T cells (214, 231, 270). These TME-resistant T cells can be further expanded by neoAg vaccines, and their antitumor activity can be further enhanced by the checkpoint blockade therapies, and potentially lead to complete tumor eradication. With the fast development and innovation of genetic engineering technologies, incorporating the aspects summarized above into the TCR-T therapeutics development, TCR-engineered T cells can be made truly tumor-specific and have the ability to migrate and penetrate into solid tumors, and become TME-resistant. TCR-T has potential to become a powerful tool for fighting cancers, especially solid tumors where other approaches have been less effective. By combining neoAg vaccines, checkpoint blockade therapy, and the adoptive transfer of neoAg-specific TCR-engineered T cells, we believe such a combination approach could lead to significant improvement in cancer immunotherapies, and this approach is scalable across different tumor types, and may provide a general strategy for the eradication of multiple cancers.

REFERENCES

- Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer Regression and Autoimmunity in Patients After Clonal Repopulation With Antitumor Lymphocytes. *Science (New York NY)* (2002) 298(5594):850–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1076514
- Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME. Cancer Regression in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma After the Transfer of Autologous Antitumor Lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2004) 101(Suppl 2):14639–45. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0405730101
- Maher J, Brentjens RJ, Gunset G, Rivière I, Sadelain M. Human T-Lymphocyte Cytotoxicity and Proliferation Directed by a Single Chimeric TCRzeta/CD28 Receptor. Nat Biotechnol (2002) 20(1):70–5. doi: 10.1038/nbt0102-70
- 4. Song DG, Ye Q, Carpenito C, Poussin M, Wang LP, Ji C, et al. *In Vivo* Persistence, Tumor Localization, and Antitumor Activity of CAR-Engineered T Cells Is Enhanced by Costimulatory Signaling Through CD137 (4-1bb). *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(13):4617–27. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-11-0422
- Anagnostou T, Riaz IB, Hashmi SK, Murad MH, Kenderian SS. Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy in Acute Lymphocytic Leukaemia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Lancet Haematol* (2020) 7(11):e816– e26. doi: 10.1016/s2352-3026(20)30277-5
- Brudno JN, Kochenderfer JN. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapies for Lymphoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2018) 15(1):31–46. doi: 10.1038/ nrclinonc.2017.128
- Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, et al. T Cells With Chimeric Antigen Receptors Have Potent Antitumor Effects and Can Establish Memory in Patients With Advanced Leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3 (95):95ra73. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842
- Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells for Acute Lymphoid Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2013) 368(16):1509–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults With B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2018) 378(5):439–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709866
- Boyiadzis MM, Dhodapkar MV, Brentjens RJ, Kochenderfer JN, Neelapu SS, Maus MV, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor (Car) T Therapies for the Treatment of Hematologic Malignancies: Clinical Perspective and Significance. J Immunother Cancer (2018) 6(1):137. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0460-5
- Ruella M, Maus MV. Catch Me If You Can: Leukemia Escape After CD19-Directed T Cell Immunotherapies. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J* (2016) 14:357– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2016.09.003
- Orlando EJ, Han X, Tribouley C, Wood PA, Leary RJ, Riester M, et al. Genetic Mechanisms of Target Antigen Loss in CAR19 Therapy of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Nat Med (2018) 24(10):1504–6. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-018-0146-z
- Chapuis AG, Egan DN, Bar M, Schmitt TM, McAfee MS, Paulson KG, et al. T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy Targeting WT1 Prevents Acute Myeloid Leukemia Relapse Post-Transplant. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(7):1064–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0472-9

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC-81972883); Social Development & Scientific Technology Key Project of Shaanxi Province (2016SF-079); and Scientific Technology Program & Innovation Fund of Xi'An City Special Project (CXY1531WL12).

- Newick K, O'Brien S, Moon E, Albelda SM. Car T Cell Therapy for Solid Tumors. Annu Rev Med (2017) 68:139–52. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-062315-120245
- D'Aloia MM, Zizzari IG, Sacchetti B, Pierelli L, Alimandi M. Car-T Cells: The Long and Winding Road to Solid Tumors. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9(3):282. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0278-6
- Zhang BL, Qin DY, Mo ZM, Li Y, Wei W, Wang YS, et al. Hurdles of CAR-T Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy Directed Against Solid Tumors. *Sci China Life Sci* (2016) 59(4):340–8. doi: 10.1007/s11427-016-5027-4
- Walker AJ, Majzner RG, Zhang L, Wanhainen K, Long AH, Nguyen SM, et al. Tumor Antigen and Receptor Densities Regulate Efficacy of a Chimeric Antigen Receptor Targeting Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25(9):2189–201. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.06.008
- Watanabe K, Terakura S, Martens AC, van Meerten T, Uchiyama S, Imai M, et al. Target Antigen Density Governs the Efficacy of Anti-CD20-CD28-CD3 Z Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified Effector CD8+ T Cells. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(3):911–20. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402346
- Caruso HG, Hurton LV, Najjar A, Rushworth D, Ang S, Olivares S, et al. Tuning Sensitivity of CAR to Egfr Density Limits Recognition of Normal Tissue While Maintaining Potent Antitumor Activity. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75 (17):3505–18. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-15-0139
- 20. Jahn L, van der Steen DM, Hagedoorn RS, Hombrink P, Kester MG, Schoonakker MP, et al. Generation of CD20-Specific TCRS for TCR Gene Therapy of CD20low B-Cell Malignancies Insusceptible to CD20-Targeting Antibodies. Oncotarget (2016) 7(47):77021–37. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12778
- Watanabe K, Kuramitsu S, Posey ADJr., June CH. Expanding the Therapeutic Window for CAR T Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors: The Knowns and Unknowns of CAR T Cell Biology. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02486
- Huang J, Brameshuber M, Zeng X, Xie J, Li QJ, Chien YH, et al. A Single Peptide-Major Histocompatibility Complex Ligand Triggers Digital Cytokine Secretion in CD4(+) T Cells. *Immunity* (2013) 39(5):846–57. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2013.08.036
- Chandran SS, Klebanoff CA. T Cell Receptor-Based Cancer Immunotherapy: Emerging Efficacy and Pathways of Resistance. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 290 (1):127–47. doi: 10.1111/imr.12772
- Tsimberidou AM, Van Morris K, Vo HH, Eck S, Lin YF, Rivas JM, et al. T-Cell Receptor-Based Therapy: An Innovative Therapeutic Approach for Solid Tumors. J Hematol Oncol (2021) 14(1):102. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01115-0
- Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME, et al. Tumor Regression in Patients With Metastatic Synovial Cell Sarcoma and Melanoma Using Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes Reactive With Ny-Eso-1. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29(7):917–24. doi: 10.1200/jco.2010.32.2537
- Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TL, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, et al. A Pilot Trial Using Lymphocytes Genetically Engineered With an Ny-Eso-1-Reactive T-Cell Receptor: Long-Term Follow-Up and Correlates With Response. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(5):1019–27. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-14-2708

- D'Angelo SP, Melchiori L, Merchant MS, Bernstein D, Glod J, Kaplan R, et al. Antitumor Activity Associated With Prolonged Persistence of Adoptively Transferred Ny-Eso-1 (C259)T Cells in Synovial Sarcoma. *Cancer Discov* (2018) 8(8):944–57. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1417
- Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, et al. Ny-Eso-1-Specific TCR-Engineered T Cells Mediate Sustained Antigen-Specific Antitumor Effects in Myeloma. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(8):914– 21. doi: 10.1038/nm.3910
- Nagarsheth NB, Norberg SM, Sinkoe AL, Adhikary S, Meyer TJ, Lack JB, et al. TCR-Engineered T Cells Targeting E7 for Patients With Metastatic HPV-Associated Epithelial Cancers. *Nat Med* (2021) 27(3):419–25. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-020-01225-1
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA. 'Final Common Pathway' of Human Cancer Immunotherapy: Targeting Random Somatic Mutations. Nat Immunol (2017) 18(3):255–62. doi: 10.1038/ni.3682
- Vormehr M, Diken M, Boegel S, Kreiter S, Türeci Ö, Sahin U. Mutanome Directed Cancer Immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2016) 39:14–22. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.12.001
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in Cancer Immunotherapy. Science (New York NY) (2015) 348(6230):69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- Liao JB. Viruses and Human Cancer. Yale J Biol Med (2006) 79(3-4):115–22.
 zur Hausen H. Viruses in Human Cancers. Science (New York NY) (1991) 254
- (5035):1167-73. doi: 10.1126/science.165974335. Garber K. Driving T-Cell Immunotherapy to Solid Tumors. Nat Biotechnol
- (2018) 36(3):215–9. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4090
 36. Michalek J, Kocak I, Fait V, Zaloudik J, Hajek R. Detection and Long-Term in Vivo Monitoring of Individual Tumor-Specific T Cell Clones in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(11):6789–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.11.6789
- Fraietta JA, Lacey SF, Orlando EJ, Pruteanu-Malinici I, Gohil M, Lundh S, et al. Determinants of Response and Resistance to CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (Car) T Cell Therapy of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):563–71. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0010-1
- Schumacher TN. T-Cell-Receptor Gene Therapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2 (7):512–9. doi: 10.1038/nri841
- Xue SA, Stauss HJ. Enhancing Immune Responses for Cancer Therapy. Cell Mol Immunol (2007) 4(3):173–84.
- Schmitt TM, Ragnarsson GB, Greenberg PD. T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy for Cancer. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) 20(11):1240-8. doi: 10.1089/ hum.2009.146
- Bendle GM, Linnemann C, Hooijkaas AI, Bies L, de Witte MA, Jorritsma A, et al. Lethal Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Mouse Models of T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(5):565–70. doi: 10.1038/nm.2128
- van Loenen MM, de Boer R, Amir AL, Hagedoorn RS, Volbeda GL, Willemze R, et al. Mixed T Cell Receptor Dimers Harbor Potentially Harmful Neoreactivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107(24):10972–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005802107
- Sommermeyer D, Neudorfer J, Weinhold M, Leisegang M, Engels B, Noessner E, et al. Designer T Cells by T Cell Receptor Replacement. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(11):3052–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636539
- Govers C, Sebestyén Z, Coccoris M, Willemsen RA, Debets R. T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy: Strategies for Optimizing Transgenic TCR Pairing. *Trends Mol Med* (2010) 16(2):77–87. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2009.12.004
- 45. Garcia KC, Degano M, Stanfield RL, Brunmark A, Jackson MR, Peterson PA, et al. An Alphabeta T Cell Receptor Structure at 2.5 a and Its Orientation in the TCR-MHC Complex. *Science (New York NY)* (1996) 274(5285):209–19. doi: 10.1126/science.274.5285.209
- 46. Voss RH, Willemsen RA, Kuball J, Grabowski M, Engel R, Intan RS, et al. Molecular Design of the Calphabeta Interface Favors Specific Pairing of Introduced TCRalphabeta in Human T Cells. J Immunol (2008) 180 (1):391-401. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.1.391
- Boulter JM, Glick M, Todorov PT, Baston E, Sami M, Rizkallah P, et al. Stable, Soluble T-Cell Receptor Molecules for Crystallization and Therapeutics. *Protein Eng* (2003) 16(9):707–11. doi: 10.1093/protein/gzg087
- Kuball J, Dossett ML, Wolfl M, Ho WY, Voss RH, Fowler C, et al. Facilitating Matched Pairing and Expression of TCR Chains Introduced Into Human T Cells. *Blood* (2007) 109(6):2331–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-023069
- Thomas S, Xue SA, Cesco-Gaspere M, San José E, Hart DP, Wong V, et al. Targeting the Wilms Tumor Antigen 1 by TCR Gene Transfer: TCR Variants

Improve Tetramer Binding But Not the Function of Gene Modified Human T Cells. J Immunol (2007) 179(9):5803–10. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.9.5803

- Cohen CJ, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced Antitumor Activity of T Cells Engineered to Express T-Cell Receptors With a Second Disulfide Bond. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(8):3898– 903. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-3986
- Cohen CJ, Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced Antitumor Activity of Murine-Human Hybrid T-Cell Receptor (TCR) in Human Lymphocytes Is Associated With Improved Pairing and TCR/CD3 Stability. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(17):8878–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-1450
- 52. Hart DP, Xue SA, Thomas S, Cesco-Gaspere M, Tranter A, Willcox B, et al. Retroviral Transfer of a Dominant TCR Prevents Surface Expression of a Large Proportion of the Endogenous TCR Repertoire in Human T Cells. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15(8):625–31. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3303078
- Bialer G, Horovitz-Fried M, Ya'acobi S, Morgan RA, Cohen CJ. Selected Murine Residues Endow Human TCR With Enhanced Tumor Recognition. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(11):6232–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902047
- Sommermeyer D, Uckert W. Minimal Amino Acid Exchange in Human TCR Constant Regions Fosters Improved Function of TCR Gene-Modified T Cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(11):6223–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902055
- Bethune MT, Gee MH, Bunse M, Lee MS, Gschweng EH, Pagadala MS, et al. Domain-Swapped T Cell Receptors Improve the Safety of TCR Gene Therapy. *Elife* (2016) 5:e19095. doi: 10.7554/eLife.19095
- Richman SA, Aggen DH, Dossett ML, Donermeyer DL, Allen PM, Greenberg PD, et al. Structural Features of T Cell Receptor Variable Regions That Enhance Domain Stability and Enable Expression as Single-Chain Valphavbeta Fragments. *Mol Immunol* (2009) 46(5):902–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2008.09.021
- 57. Heemskerk MH, Hagedoorn RS, van der Hoorn MA, van der Veken LT, Hoogeboom M, Kester MG, et al. Efficiency of T-Cell Receptor Expression in Dual-Specific T Cells Is Controlled by the Intrinsic Qualities of the TCR Chains Within the TCR-CD3 Complex. *Blood* (2007) 109(1):235–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-013318
- Willemsen RA, Weijtens ME, Ronteltap C, Eshhar Z, Gratama JW, Chames P, et al. Grafting Primary Human T Lymphocytes With Cancer-Specific Chimeric Single Chain and Two Chain TCR. *Gene Ther* (2000) 7(16):1369– 77. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301253
- Sebestyén Z, Schooten E, Sals T, Zaldivar I, San José E, Alarcón B, et al. Human TCR That Incorporate CD3zeta Induce Highly Preferred Pairing Between TCRalpha and Beta Chains Following Gene Transfer. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(11):7736–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.11.7736
- Aggen DH, Chervin AS, Schmitt TM, Engels B, Stone JD, Richman SA, et al. Single-Chain Vαvβ T-Cell Receptors Function Without Mispairing With Endogenous TCR Chains. *Gene Ther* (2012) 19(4):365–74. doi: 10.1038/ gt.2011.104
- Harris DT, Kranz DM. Adoptive T Cell Therapies: A Comparison of T Cell Receptors and Chimeric Antigen Receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2016) 37 (3):220–30. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2015.11.004
- Voss RH, Thomas S, Pfirschke C, Hauptrock B, Klobuch S, Kuball J, et al. Coexpression of the T-Cell Receptor Constant Alpha Domain Triggers Tumor Reactivity of Single-Chain TCR-Transduced Human T Cells. *Blood* (2010) 115 (25):5154–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-254078
- 63. Knies D, Klobuch S, Xue SA, Birtel M, Echchannaoui H, Yildiz O, et al. An Optimized Single Chain TCR Scaffold Relying on the Assembly With the Native CD3-Complex Prevents Residual Mispairing With Endogenous TCRS in Human T-Cells. Oncotarget (2016) 7(16):21199–221. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.8385
- 64. Thomas S, Mohammed F, Reijmers RM, Woolston A, Stauss T, Kennedy A, et al. Framework Engineering to Produce Dominant T Cell Receptors With Enhanced Antigen-Specific Function. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):4451. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12441-w
- Ahmadi M, King JW, Xue SA, Voisine C, Holler A, Wright GP, et al. CD3 Limits the Efficacy of TCR Gene Therapy in Vivo. *Blood* (2011) 118(13):3528– 37. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-346338
- 66. Ochi T, Fujiwara H, Okamoto S, An J, Nagai K, Shirakata T, et al. Novel Adoptive T-Cell Immunotherapy Using a WT1-Specific TCR Vector Encoding Silencers for Endogenous TCRS Shows Marked Antileukemia Reactivity and Safety. Blood (2011) 118(6):1495–503. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-02-337089

- Bunse M, Bendle GM, Linnemann C, Bies L, Schulz S, Schumacher TN, et al. RNAI-Mediated TCR Knockdown Prevents Autoimmunity in Mice Caused by Mixed TCR Dimers Following TCR Gene Transfer. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22 (11):1983–91. doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.142
- Provasi E, Genovese P, Lombardo A, Magnani Z, Liu PQ, Reik A, et al. Editing T Cell Specificity Towards Leukemia by Zinc Finger Nucleases and Lentiviral Gene Transfer. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(5):807–15. doi: 10.1038/nm.2700
- Berdien B, Mock U, Atanackovic D, Fehse B. Talen-Mediated Editing of Endogenous T-Cell Receptors Facilitates Efficient Reprogramming of T Lymphocytes by Lentiviral Gene Transfer. *Gene Ther* (2014) 21(6):539–48. doi: 10.1038/gt.2014.26
- Qasim W, Zhan H, Samarasinghe S, Adams S, Amrolia P, Stafford S, et al. Molecular Remission of Infant B-All After Infusion of Universal Talen Gene-Edited CAR T Cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9(374). doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaj2013
- Eyquem J, Mansilla-Soto J, Giavridis T, van der Stegen SJ, Hamieh M, Cunanan KM, et al. Targeting a CAR to the Trac Locus With CRISPR/Cas9 Enhances Tumour Rejection. *Nature* (2017) 543(7643):113–7. doi: 10.1038/ nature21405
- Gaj T, Gersbach CA, Barbas CF 3rd. Zfn, Talen, and CRISPR/Cas-Based Methods for Genome Engineering. *Trends Biotechnol* (2013) 31(7):397–405. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.04.004
- Knott GJ, Doudna JA. CRISPR-Cas Guides the Future of Genetic Engineering. Science (New York NY) (2018) 361(6405):866–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aat5011
- 74. Roth TL, Puig-Saus C, Yu R, Shifrut E, Carnevale J, Li PJ, et al. Reprogramming Human T Cell Function and Specificity With Non-Viral Genome Targeting. *Nature* (2018) 559(7714):405–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0326-5
- Ren J, Liu X, Fang C, Jiang S, June CH, Zhao Y. Multiplex Genome Editing to Generate Universal CAR T Cells Resistant to PD1 Inhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(9):2255–66. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-16-1300
- Ren J, Zhang X, Liu X, Fang C, Jiang S, June CH, et al. A Versatile System for Rapid Multiplex Genome-Edited CAR T Cell Generation. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8 (10):17002–11. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.15218
- 77. Georgiadis C, Preece R, Nickolay L, Etuk A, Petrova A, Ladon D, et al. Long Terminal Repeat CRISPR-CAR-Coupled "Universal" T Cells Mediate Potent Anti-Leukemic Effects. *Mol Ther* (2018) 26(5):1215–27. doi: 10.1016/ j.ymthe.2018.02.025
- Liu X, Zhang Y, Cheng C, Cheng AW, Zhang X, Li N, et al. CRISPR-Cas9-Mediated Multiplex Gene Editing in CAR-T Cells. *Cell Res* (2017) 27(1):154– 7. doi: 10.1038/cr.2016.142
- Zhang Y, Zhang X, Cheng C, Mu W, Liu X, Li N, et al. CRISPR-Cas9 Mediated Lag-3 Disruption in CAR-T Cells. *Front Med* (2017) 11(4):554–62. doi: 10.1007/s11684-017-0543-6
- Mastaglio S, Genovese P, Magnani Z, Ruggiero E, Landoni E, Camisa B, et al. Ny-Eso-1 TCR Single Edited Stem and Central Memory T Cells to Treat Multiple Myeloma Without Graft-Versus-Host Disease. *Blood* (2017) 130 (5):606–18. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-732636
- Legut M, Dolton G, Mian AA, Ottmann OG, Sewell AK. CRISPR-Mediated TCR Replacement Generates Superior Anticancer Transgenic T Cells. *Blood* (2018) 131(3):311–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-05-787598
- 82. Morton LT, Reijmers RM, Wouters AK, Kweekel C, Remst DFG, Pothast CR, et al. Simultaneous Deletion of Endogenous TCR $\alpha\beta$ for TCR Gene Therapy Creates an Improved and Safe Cellular Therapeutic. *Mol Ther* (2020) 28 (1):64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.10.001
- Schober K, Müller TR, Gökmen F, Grassmann S, Effenberger M, Poltorak M, et al. Orthotopic Replacement of T-Cell Receptor A- and B-Chains With Preservation of Near-Physiological T-Cell Function. *Nat Biomed Eng* (2019) 3 (12):974–84. doi: 10.1038/s41551-019-0409-0
- Schober K, Müller TR, Busch DH. Orthotopic T-Cell Receptor Replacement-An "Enabler" for TCR-Based Therapies. *Cells* (2020) 9(6). doi: 10.3390/ cells9061367
- Zhang XH, Tee LY, Wang XG, Huang QS, Yang SH. Off-Target Effects in CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Genome Engineering. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2015) 4(11):e264. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2015.37
- Kosicki M, Tomberg K, Bradley A. Repair of Double-Strand Breaks Induced by CRISPR-Cas9 Leads to Large Deletions and Complex Rearrangements. *Nat Biotechnol* (2018) 36(8):765–71. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4192

- Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, et al. High-Fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 Nucleases With No Detectable Genome-Wide Off-Target Effects. *Nature* (2016) 529(7587):490–5. doi: 10.1038/nature16526
- Hirakawa MP, Krishnakumar R, Timlin JA, Carney JP, Butler KS. Gene Editing and CRISPR in the Clinic: Current and Future Perspectives. *Biosci Rep* (2020) 40(4):BSR20200127. doi: 10.1042/bsr20200127
- Stadtmauer EA, Fraietta JA, Davis MM, Cohen AD, Weber KL, Lancaster E, et al. Crispr-Engineered T Cells in Patients With Refractory Cancer. *Science* (*New York NY*) (2020) 367(6481):eaba7365. doi: 10.1126/science.aba7365
- Lu Y, Xue J, Deng T, Zhou X, Yu K, Deng L, et al. Safety and Feasibility of CRISPR-Edited T Cells in Patients With Refractory Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Nat Med (2020) 26(5):732–40. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0840-5
- 91. Xue SA, Chen Y, Voss RH, Kisan V, Wang B, Chen KK, et al. Enhancing the Expression and Function of an Ebv-TCR on Engineered T Cells by Combining Sc-TCR Design With CRISPR Editing to Prevent Mispairing. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 17(12):1275–7. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-0396-9
- Dutcher JP, Schwartzentruber DJ, Kaufman HL, Agarwala SS, Tarhini AA, Lowder JN, et al. High Dose Interleukin-2 (Aldesleukin) - Expert Consensus on Best Management Practices-2014. *J Immunother Cancer* (2014) 2(1):26. doi: 10.1186/s40425-014-0026-0
- 93. Rosenberg SA. Il-2: The First Effective Immunotherapy for Human Cancer. J Immunol (2014) 192(12):5451–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1490019
- Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss G, Margolin K, et al. High-Dose Recombinant Interleukin 2 Therapy for Patients With Metastatic Melanoma: Analysis of 270 Patients Treated Between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol (1999) 17(7):2105–16. doi: 10.1200/jco.1999.17.7.2105
- Sim GC, Martin-Orozco N, Jin L, Yang Y, Wu S, Washington E, et al. Il-2 Therapy Promotes Suppressive Icos+ Treg Expansion in Melanoma Patients. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(1):99–110. doi: 10.1172/jci46266
- Chinen T, Kannan AK, Levine AG, Fan X, Klein U, Zheng Y, et al. An Essential Role for the Il-2 Receptor in T(Reg) Cell Function. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(11):1322–33. doi: 10.1038/ni.3540
- Sun Z, Ren Z, Yang K, Liu Z, Cao S, Deng S, et al. A Next-Generation Tumor-Targeting Il-2 Preferentially Promotes Tumor-Infiltrating CD8(+) T-Cell Response and Effective Tumor Control. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):3874. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11782-w
- Bradley LM, Haynes L, Swain SL. Il-7: Maintaining T-Cell Memory and Achieving Homeostasis. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26(3):172–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2005.01.004
- Fry TJ, Mackall CL. The Many Faces of Il-7: From Lymphopoiesis to Peripheral T Cell Maintenance. J Immunol (2005) 174(11):6571–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6571
- Rathmell JC, Farkash EA, Gao W, Thompson CB. Il-7 Enhances the Survival and Maintains the Size of Naive T Cells. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(12):6869–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.12.6869
- 101. Ding ZC, Habtetsion T, Cao Y, Li T, Liu C, Kuczma M, et al. Adjuvant Il-7 Potentiates Adoptive T Cell Therapy by Amplifying and Sustaining Polyfunctional Antitumor CD4+ T Cells. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):12168. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12488-z
- 102. He C, Zhou Y, Li Z, Farooq MA, Ajmal I, Zhang H, et al. Co-Expression of Il-7 Improves NKG2D-Based CAR T Cell Therapy on Prostate Cancer by Enhancing the Expansion and Inhibiting the Apoptosis and Exhaustion. *Cancers* (2020) 12(7):1969. doi: 10.3390/cancers12071969
- 103. Xiong X, Xi J, Liu Q, Wang C, Jiang Z, Yue SY, et al. Co-Expression of Il-7 and Ph20 Promote Anti-Gpc3 CAR-T Tumour Suppressor Activity in Vivo and in Vitro. *Liver Int* (2021) 41(5):1033–43. doi: 10.1111/liv.14771
- 104. Tugues S, Burkhard SH, Ohs I, Vrohlings M, Nussbaum K, Vom Berg J, et al. New Insights Into Il-12-Mediated Tumor Suppression. *Cell Death Differ* (2015) 22(2):237–46. doi: 10.1038/CDd.2014.134
- 105. Vignali DA, Kuchroo VK. Il-12 Family Cytokines: Immunological Playmakers. Nat Immunol (2012) 13(8):722–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2366
- 106. Hashimoto W, Osaki T, Okamura H, Robbins PD, Kurimoto M, Nagata S, et al. Differential Antitumor Effects of Administration of Recombinant Il-18 or Recombinant Il-12 Are Mediated Primarily by Fas-Fas Ligand- and Perforin-Induced Tumor Apoptosis, Respectively. J Immunol (1999) 163 (2):583–9.
- 107. Cao X, Leonard K, Collins LI, Cai SF, Mayer JC, Payton JE, et al. Interleukin 12 Stimulates Ifn-Gamma-Mediated Inhibition of Tumor-Induced

Regulatory T-Cell Proliferation and Enhances Tumor Clearance. Cancer Res (2009) 69(22):8700–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-09-1145

- 108. Matsushita H, Hosoi A, Ueha S, Abe J, Fujieda N, Tomura M, et al. Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Block Tumor Growth Both by Lytic Activity and Ifnγ-Dependent Cell-Cycle Arrest. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(1):26–36. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-14-0098
- 109. Kerkar SP, Goldszmid RS, Muranski P, Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Reger RN, et al. Il-12 Triggers a Programmatic Change in Dysfunctional Myeloid-Derived Cells Within Mouse Tumors. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(12):4746–57. doi: 10.1172/jci58814
- 110. Suzuki S, Umezu Y, Saijo Y, Satoh G, Abe Y, Satoh K, et al. Exogenous Recombinant Human Il-12 Augments Mhc Class I Antigen Expression on Human Cancer Cells in Vitro. *Tohoku J Exp Med* (1998) 185(3):223–6. doi: 10.1620/tjem.185.223
- 111. Yu X, Wu B, Ma T, Lin Y, Cheng F, Xiong H, et al. Overexpression of Il-12 Reverses the Phenotype and Function of M2 Macrophages to M1 Macrophages. Int J Clin Exp Pathol (2016) 9(9):8963–72.
- 112. Díaz-Montero CM, El Naggar S, Al Khami A, El Naggar R, Montero AJ, Cole DJ, et al. Priming of Naive CD8+ T Cells in the Presence of Il-12 Selectively Enhances the Survival of CD8+CD62lhi Cells and Results in Superior Anti-Tumor Activity in a Tolerogenic Murine Model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57(4):563–72. doi: 10.1007/s00262-007-0394-0
- 113. Leonard JP, Sherman ML, Fisher GL, Buchanan LJ, Larsen G, Atkins MB, et al. Effects of Single-Dose Interleukin-12 Exposure on Interleukin-12-Associated Toxicity and Interferon-Gamma Production. *Blood* (1997) 90 (7):2541–8.
- 114. Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Kerkar SP, Zhang L, Morgan RA, Restifo NP, et al. Local Delivery of Interleukin-12 Using T Cells Targeting VEGF Receptor-2 Eradicates Multiple Vascularized Tumors in Mice. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18 (6):1672–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-11-3050
- 115. Nguyen KG, Vrabel MR, Mantooth SM, Hopkins JJ, Wagner ES, Gabaldon TA, et al. Localized Interleukin-12 for Cancer Immunotherapy. Front Immunol (2020) 11:575597. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.575597
- 116. Li J, Lin W, Chen H, Xu Z, Ye Y, Chen M. Dual-Target Il-12-Containing Nanoparticles Enhance T Cell Functions for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cell Immunol* (2020) 349:104042. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104042
- 117. Hwang MP, Fecek RJ, Qin T, Storkus WJ, Wang Y. Single Injection of Il-12 Coacervate as an Effective Therapy Against B16-F10 Melanoma in Mice. *J Control Rel* (2020) 318:270–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.12.035
- 118. Wang P, Li X, Wang J, Gao D, Li Y, Li H, et al. Re-Designing Interleukin-12 to Enhance Its Safety and Potential as an Anti-Tumor Immunotherapeutic Agent. Nat Commun (2017) 8(1):1395. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01385-8
- 119. Zhang L, Davies JS, Serna C, Yu Z, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA, et al. Enhanced Efficacy and Limited Systemic Cytokine Exposure With Membrane-Anchored Interleukin-12 T-Cell Therapy in Murine Tumor Models. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(1):e000210. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000210
- 120. Chiocca EA, Yu JS, Lukas RV, Solomon IH, Ligon KL, Nakashima H, et al. Regulatable Interleukin-12 Gene Therapy in Patients With Recurrent High-Grade Glioma: Results of a Phase 1 Trial. *Sci Transl Med* (2019) 11(505): eaaw5680. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaw5680
- 121. Robertson MJ, Mier JW, Logan T, Atkins M, Koon H, Koch KM, et al. Clinical and Biological Effects of Recombinant Human Interleukin-18 Administered by Intravenous Infusion to Patients With Advanced Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(14 Pt 1):4265–73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-06-0121
- 122. Hu B, Ren J, Luo Y, Keith B, Young RM, Scholler J, et al. Augmentation of Antitumor Immunity by Human and Mouse CAR T Cells Secreting Il-18. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20(13):3025–33. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.002
- 123. Avanzi MP, Yeku O, Li X, Wijewarnasuriya DP, van Leeuwen DG, Cheung K, et al. Engineered Tumor-Targeted T Cells Mediate Enhanced Anti-Tumor Efficacy Both Directly and Through Activation of the Endogenous Immune System. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23(7):2130–41. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.051
- 124. Pilipow K, Roberto A, Roederer M, Waldmann TA, Mavilio D, Lugli E. Il15 and T-Cell Stemness in T-Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(24):5187–93. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-15-1498
- 125. Alizadeh D, Wong RA, Yang X, Wang D, Pecoraro JR, Kuo CF, et al. Il15 Enhances CAR-T Cell Antitumor Activity by Reducing Mtorc1 Activity and Preserving Their Stem Cell Memory Phenotype. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7(5):759–72. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-18-0466

- 126. Battram AM, Bachiller M, Lopez V, Fernández de Larrea C, Urbano-Ispizua A, Martín-Antonio B. Il-15 Enhances the Persistence and Function of Bcma-Targeting CAR-T Cells Compared to Il-2 or Il-15/Il-7 by Limiting CAR-T Cell Dysfunction and Differentiation. *Cancers* (2021) 13(14):3534. doi: 10.3390/cancers13143534
- 127. Klebanoff CA, Finkelstein SE, Surman DR, Lichtman MK, Gattinoni L, Theoret MR, et al. Il-15 Enhances the in Vivo Antitumor Activity of Tumor-Reactive CD8+ T Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101(7):1969–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0307298101
- 128. Hurton LV, Singh H, Najjar AM, Switzer KC, Mi T, Maiti S, et al. Tethered Il-15 Augments Antitumor Activity and Promotes a Stem-Cell Memory Subset in Tumor-Specific T Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113(48): E7788–e97. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610544113
- 129. Dubois S, Patel HJ, Zhang M, Waldmann TA, Müller JR. Preassociation of Il-15 With Il-15r Alpha-Igg1-Fc Enhances Its Activity on Proliferation of Nk and CD8+/CD44high T Cells and Its Antitumor Action. J Immunol (2008) 180(4):2099–106. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2099
- 130. Miller JS, Morishima C, McNeel DG, Patel MR, Kohrt HEK, Thompson JA, et al. A First-In-Human Phase I Study of Subcutaneous Outpatient Recombinant Human II15 (Rhil15) in Adults With Advanced Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(7):1525–35. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-17-2451
- 131. Feng J, Xu H, Cinquina A, Wu Z, Chen Q, Zhang P, et al. Treatment of Aggressive T Cell Lymphoblastic Lymphoma/Leukemia Using Anti-CD5 CAR T Cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep (2021) 17(2):652–61. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10092-9
- Waldmann TA, Dubois S, Miljkovic MD, Conlon KC. Il-15 in the Combination Immunotherapy of Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:868. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00868
- Li Y, Yee C. Il-21 Mediated Foxp3 Suppression Leads to Enhanced Generation of Antigen-Specific CD8+ Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes. *Blood* (2008) 111(1):229–35. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-05-089375
- 134. Tian Y, Cox MA, Kahan SM, Ingram JT, Bakshi RK, Zajac AJ. A Context-Dependent Role for Il-21 in Modulating the Differentiation, Distribution, and Abundance of Effector and Memory CD8 T Cell Subsets. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(5):2153–66. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401236
- 135. Allard EL, Hardy MP, Leignadier J, Marquis M, Rooney J, Lehoux D, et al. Overexpression of Il-21 Promotes Massive CD8+ Memory T Cell Accumulation. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(11):3069–77. doi: 10.1002/ eji.200637017
- 136. Tian Y, Yuan C, Ma D, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Zhang W, et al. Il-21 and Il-12 Inhibit Differentiation of Treg and Th17 Cells and Enhance Cytotoxicity of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells in Patients With Cervical Cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer (2011) 21(9):1672–8. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e3182358955
- 137. Zeng R, Spolski R, Finkelstein SE, Oh S, Kovanen PE, Hinrichs CS, et al. Synergy of Il-21 and Il-15 in Regulating CD8+ T Cell Expansion and Function. J Exp Med (2005) 201(1):139–48. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041057
- Alves NL, Arosa FA, van Lier RA. Il-21 Sustains CD28 Expression on Il-15-Activated Human Naive CD8+ T Cells. J Immunol (2005) 175(2):755–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.2.755
- Li Y, Bleakley M, Yee C. Il-21 Influences the Frequency, Phenotype, and Affinity of the Antigen-Specific CD8 T Cell Response. *J Immunol* (2005) 175 (4):2261–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2261
- 140. Hinrichs CS, Spolski R, Paulos CM, Gattinoni L, Kerstann KW, Palmer DC, et al. Il-2 and Il-21 Confer Opposing Differentiation Programs to CD8+ T Cells for Adoptive Immunotherapy. *Blood* (2008) 111(11):5326–33. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-09-113050
- 141. Søndergaard H, Galsgaard ED, Bartholomaeussen M, Straten PT, Odum N, Skak K. Intratumoral Interleukin-21 Increases Antitumor Immunity, Tumor-Infiltrating CD8+ T-Cell Density and Activity, and Enlarges Draining Lymph Nodes. J Immunother (2010) 33(3):236–49. doi: 10.1097/ CJI.0b013e3181c0c1cb
- 142. Chapuis AG, Ragnarsson GB, Nguyen HN, Chaney CN, Pufnock JS, Schmitt TM, et al. Transferred WT1-Reactive CD8+ T Cells Can Mediate Antileukemic Activity and Persist in Post-Transplant Patients. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(174):174ra27. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004916
- 143. Deng S, Sun Z, Qiao J, Liang Y, Liu L, Dong C, et al. Targeting Tumors With Il-21 Reshapes the Tumor Microenvironment by Proliferating PD-1intTIM-

3-CD8+ T Cells. JCI Insight (2020) 5(7):e132000. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.132000

- 144. White L, Krishnan S, Strbo N, Liu H, Kolber MA, Lichtenheld MG, et al. Differential Effects of Il-21 and Il-15 on Perforin Expression, Lysosomal Degranulation, and Proliferation in CD8 T Cells of Patients With Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 (Hiv). *Blood* (2007) 109(9):3873–80. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-09-045278
- Darcy PK. Il-21 Priming Enhances T-Cell Immunotherapy. Blood (2008) 111 (11):5268–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-142505
- 146. Yi JS, Du M, Zajac AJ. A Vital Role for Interleukin-21 in the Control of a Chronic Viral Infection. *Science (New York NY)* (2009) 324(5934):1572–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1175194
- 147. Li Y, Cong Y, Jia M, He Q, Zhong H, Zhao Y, et al. Targeting Il-21 to Tumor-Reactive T Cells Enhances Memory T Cell Responses and Anti-PD-1 Antibody Therapy. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):951. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21241-0
- 148. Klebanoff CA, Khong HT, Antony PA, Palmer DC, Restifo NP. Sinks, Suppressors and Antigen Presenters: How Lymphodepletion Enhances T Cell-Mediated Tumor Immunotherapy. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26(2):111– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004.12.003
- 149. Gattinoni L, Finkelstein SE, Klebanoff CA, Antony PA, Palmer DC, Spiess PJ, et al. Removal of Homeostatic Cytokine Sinks by Lymphodepletion Enhances the Efficacy of Adoptively Transferred Tumor-Specific CD8+ T Cells. J Exp Med (2005) 202(7):907–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050732
- 150. Hirayama AV, Gauthier J, Hay KA, Voutsinas JM, Wu Q, Gooley T, et al. The Response to Lymphodepletion Impacts Pfs in Patients With Aggressive Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Treated With CD19 CAR T Cells. *Blood* (2019) 133(17):1876–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-887067
- 151. Muranski P, Boni A, Wrzesinski C, Citrin DE, Rosenberg SA, Childs R, et al. Increased Intensity Lymphodepletion and Adoptive Immunotherapy–How Far Can We Go? *Nat Clin Pract Oncol* (2006) 3(12):668–81. doi: 10.1038/ ncponc0666
- 152. Gattinoni L, Klebanoff CA, Palmer DC, Wrzesinski C, Kerstann K, Yu Z, et al. Acquisition of Full Effector Function in Vitro Paradoxically Impairs the in Vivo Antitumor Efficacy of Adoptively Transferred CD8+ T Cells. J Clin Invest (2005) 115(6):1616–26. doi: 10.1172/jci24480
- 153. Sabatino M, Hu J, Sommariva M, Gautam S, Fellowes V, Hocker JD, et al. Generation of Clinical-Grade CD19-Specific CAR-Modified CD8+ Memory Stem Cells for the Treatment of Human B-Cell Malignancies. *Blood* (2016) 128(4):519–28. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-11-683847
- 154. Biasco L, Izotova N, Rivat C, Ghorashian S, Richardson R, Guvenel A, et al. Clonal Expansion of T Memory Stem Cells Determines Early Anti-Leukemic Responses and Long-Term CAR T Cell Persistence in Patients. *Nat Cancer* (2021) 2(6):629–42. doi: 10.1038/s43018-021-00207-7
- 155. Alvarez-Fernández C, Escribà-Garcia L, Vidal S, Sierra J, Briones J. A Short CD3/CD28 Costimulation Combined With Il-21 Enhance the Generation of Human Memory Stem T Cells for Adoptive Immunotherapy. J Transl Med (2016) 14(1):214. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-0973-y
- 156. Arcangeli S, Falcone L, Camisa B, De Girardi F, Biondi M, Giglio F, et al. Next-Generation Manufacturing Protocols Enriching TScm CAR T Cells Can Overcome Disease-Specific T Cell Defects in Cancer Patients. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1217. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01217
- 157. Singh H, Figliola MJ, Dawson MJ, Huls H, Olivares S, Switzer K, et al. Reprogramming CD19-Specific T Cells With Il-21 Signaling Can Improve Adoptive Immunotherapy of B-Lineage Malignancies. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71 (10):3516–27. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-10-3843
- Melero I, Rouzaut A, Motz GT, Coukos G. T-Cell and Nk-Cell Infiltration Into Solid Tumors: A Key Limiting Factor for Efficacious Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov* (2014) 4(5):522–6. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0985
- 159. Bobanga ID, Petrosiute A, Huang AY. Chemokines as Cancer Vaccine Adjuvants. Vaccines (Basel) (2013) 1(4):444-62. doi: 10.3390/ vaccines1040444
- 160. Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, et al. Chemokine Expression in Melanoma Metastases Associated With CD8+ T-Cell Recruitment. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(7):3077–85. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-08-2281

- 161. Mullins IM, Slingluff CL, Lee JK, Garbee CF, Shu J, Anderson SG, et al. Cxc Chemokine Receptor 3 Expression by Activated CD8+ T Cells Is Associated With Survival in Melanoma Patients With Stage Iii Disease. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(21):7697–701. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-04-2059
- 162. Lança T, Costa MF, Gonçalves-Sousa N, Rei M, Grosso AR, Penido C, et al. Protective Role of the Inflammatory CCR2/CCL2 Chemokine Pathway Through Recruitment of Type 1 Cytotoxic Γδ T Lymphocytes to Tumor Beds. J Immunol (2013) 190(12):6673–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300434
- 163. Zsiros E, Duttagupta P, Dangaj D, Li H, Frank R, Garrabrant T, et al. The Ovarian Cancer Chemokine Landscape Is Conducive to Homing of Vaccine-Primed and CD3/CD28-Costimulated T Cells Prepared for Adoptive Therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(12):2840–50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-14-2777
- 164. Korbecki J, Kojder K, Simińska D, Bohatyrewicz R, Gutowska I, Chlubek D, et al. Cc Chemokines in a Tumor: A Review of Pro-Cancer and Anti-Cancer Properties of the Ligands of Receptors CCR1, CCR2, CCR3 and CCR4. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(21):8412. doi: 10.3390/ijms21218412
- 165. Sackstein R, Schatton T, Barthel SR. T-Lymphocyte Homing: An Underappreciated Yet Critical Hurdle for Successful Cancer Immunotherapy. Lab Invest (2017) 97(6):669-97. doi: 10.1038/ labinvest.2017.25
- 166. Craddock JA, Lu A, Bear A, Pule M, Brenner MK, Rooney CM, et al. Enhanced Tumor Trafficking of Gd2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells by Expression of the Chemokine Receptor CCR2b. J Immunother (2010) 33 (8):780–8. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181ee6675
- 167. Moon EK, Carpenito C, Sun J, Wang LC, Kapoor V, Predina J, et al. Expression of a Functional CCR2 Receptor Enhances Tumor Localization and Tumor Eradication by Retargeted Human T Cells Expressing a Mesothelin-Specific Chimeric Antibody Receptor. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(14):4719–30. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-11-0351
- 168. Asai H, Fujiwara H, An J, Ochi T, Miyazaki Y, Nagai K, et al. Co-Introduced Functional CCR2 Potentiates in Vivo Anti-Lung Cancer Functionality Mediated by T Cells Double Gene-Modified to Express WT1-Specific T-Cell Receptor. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(2):e56820. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0056820
- 169. Garetto S, Sardi C, Martini E, Roselli G, Morone D, Angioni R, et al. Tailored Chemokine Receptor Modification Improves Homing of Adoptive Therapy T Cells in a Spontaneous Tumor Model. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(28):43010–26. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9280
- 170. Hertzer KM, Donald GW, Hines OJ. CXCR2: A Target for Pancreatic Cancer Treatment? *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2013) 17(6):667–80. doi: 10.1517/ 14728222.2013.772137
- 171. Liu G, Rui W, Zheng H, Huang D, Yu F, Zhang Y, et al. CXCR2-Modified CAR-T Cells Have Enhanced Trafficking Ability That Improves Treatment of Hepatocellular CARcinoma. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50(5):712–24. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948457
- 172. Whilding LM, Halim L, Draper B, Parente-Pereira AC, Zabinski T, Davies DM, et al. CAR T-Cells Targeting the Integrin Avβ6 and Co-Expressing the Chemokine Receptor CXCR2 Demonstrate Enhanced Homing and Efficacy Against Several Solid Malignancies. *Cancers* (2019) 11(5):674. doi: 10.3390/cancers11050674
- 173. Peng W, Ye Y, Rabinovich BA, Liu C, Lou Y, Zhang M, et al. Transduction of Tumor-Specific T Cells With CXCR2 Chemokine Receptor Improves Migration to Tumor and Antitumor Immune Responses. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(22):5458–68. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-10-0712
- 174. Idorn M, Skadborg SK, Kellermann L, Halldórsdóttir HR, Holmen Olofsson G, Met Ö, et al. Chemokine Receptor Engineering of T Cells With CXCR2 Improves Homing Towards Subcutaneous Human Melanomas in Xenograft Mouse Model. Oncoimmunology (2018) 7(8):e1450715. doi: 10.1080/ 2162402x.2018.1450715
- 175. Kremer V, Ligtenberg MA, Zendehdel R, Seitz C, Duivenvoorden A, Wennerberg E, et al. Genetic Engineering of Human Nk Cells to Express CXCR2 Improves Migration to Renal Cell CARcinoma. J Immunother Cancer (2017) 5(1):73. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0275-9
- 176. Jin L, Tao H, Karachi A, Long Y, Hou AY, Na M, et al. CXCR1- or CXCR2-Modified CAR T Cells Co-Opt Il-8 for Maximal Antitumor Efficacy in Solid Tumors. Nat Commun (2019) 10(1):4016. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11869-4

- 177. Hu J, Sun C, Bernatchez C, Xia X, Hwu P, Dotti G, et al. T-Cell Homing Therapy for Reducing Regulatory T Cells and Preserving Effector T-Cell Function in Large Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(12):2920–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-17-1365
- 178. Ng YY, Tay JCK, Wang S. CXCR1 Expression to Improve Anti-Cancer Efficacy of Intravenously Injected CAR-Nk Cells in Mice With Peritoneal Xenografts. *Mol Ther Oncolytics* (2019) 16:75–85. doi: 10.1016/ j.omto.2019.12.006
- 179. Di Stasi A, De Angelis B, Rooney CM, Zhang L, Mahendravada A, Foster AE, et al. T Lymphocytes Coexpressing CCR4 and a Chimeric Antigen Receptor Targeting CD30 Have Improved Homing and Antitumor Activity in a Hodgkin Tumor Model. *Blood* (2009) 113(25):6392–402. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2009-03-209650
- 180. Khan AB, Carpenter B, Santos ESP, Pospori C, Khorshed R, Griffin J, et al. Redirection to the Bone Marrow Improves T Cell Persistence and Antitumor Functions. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(5):2010–24. doi: 10.1172/jci97454
- 181. Jamali A, Hadjati J, Madjd Z, Mirzaei HR, Thalheimer FB, Agarwal S, et al. Highly Efficient Generation of Transgenically Augmented CAR Nk Cells Overexpressing CXCR4. Front Immunol (2020) 11:2028. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.02028
- 182. Müller N, Michen S, Tietze S, Töpfer K, Schulte A, Lamszus K, et al. Engineering Nk Cells Modified With an Egfrviii-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor to Overexpress CXCR4 Improves Immunotherapy of Cxcl12/Sdf-1α-Secreting Glioblastoma. J Immunother (2015) 38(5):197–210. doi: 10.1097/cji.00000000000082
- 183. Pan YC, Nishikawa T, Chang CY, Tai JA, Kaneda Y. CXCL2 Combined With Hvj-E Suppresses Tumor Growth and Lung Metastasis in Breast Cancer and Enhances Anti-PD-1 Antibody Therapy. *Mol Ther Oncolytics* (2021) 20:175– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.omto.2020.12.011
- 184. Nishio N, Diaconu I, Liu H, Cerullo V, Caruana I, Hoyos V, et al. Armed Oncolytic Virus Enhances Immune Functions of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells in Solid Tumors. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74 (18):5195–205. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-14-0697
- 185. Adachi K, Kano Y, Nagai T, Okuyama N, Sakoda Y, Tamada K. Il-7 and Ccl19 Expression in CAR-T Cells Improves Immune Cell Infiltration and CAR-T Cell Survival in the Tumor. *Nat Biotechnol* (2018) 36(4):346–51. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4086
- 186. Luo H, Su J, Sun R, Sun Y, Wang Y, Dong Y, et al. Coexpression of Il7 and CCL21 Increases Efficacy of CAR-T Cells in Solid Tumors Without Requiring Preconditioned Lymphodepletion. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26 (20):5494–505. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-20-0777
- 187. Anderson NM, Simon MC. The Tumor Microenvironment. Curr Biol (2020) 30(16):R921–r5. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2020.06.081
- 188. Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L, Wei F, Lian Y, Wu Y, et al. Role of Tumor Microenvironment in Tumorigenesis. J Cancer (2017) 8(5):761–73. doi: 10.7150/jca.17648
- 189. Gunaydin G. Cafs Interacting With Tams in Tumor Microenvironment to Enhance Tumorigenesis and Immune Evasion. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:668349. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.668349
- 190. Cha JH, Chan LC, Li CW, Hsu JL, Hung MC. Mechanisms Controlling PD-L1 Expression in Cancer. *Mol Cell* (2019) 76(3):359–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2019.09.030
- 191. Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, et al. Activated Monocytes in Peritumoral Stroma of Hepatocellular CARcinoma Foster Immune Privilege and Disease Progression Through PD-L1. J Exp Med (2009) 206(6):1327–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082173
- 192. Bloch O, Crane CA, Kaur R, Safaee M, Rutkowski MJ, Parsa AT. Gliomas Promote Immunosuppression Through Induction of B7-H1 Expression in Tumor-Associated Macrophages. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(12):3165–75. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-12-3314
- Thommen DS, Schumacher TN. T Cell Dysfunction in Cancer. Cancer Cell (2018) 33(4):547–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.012
- 194. Kenderian SS, Ruella M, Shestova O, Klichinsky M, Gill SI. Identification of PD1 and Tim3 as Checkpoints That Limit Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Efficacy in Leukemia. *Blood* (2015) 126(23):852. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V126.23.852.852
- 195. Abate-Daga D, Hanada K, Davis JL, Yang JC, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Expression Profiling of TCR-Engineered T Cells Demonstrates

Overexpression of Multiple Inhibitory Receptors in Persisting Lymphocytes. *Blood* (2013) 122(8):1399–410. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-495531

- 196. Cherkassky L, Morello A, Villena-Vargas J, Feng Y, Dimitrov DS, Jones DR, et al. Human CAR T Cells With Cell-Intrinsic PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade Resist Tumor-Mediated Inhibition. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(8):3130–44. doi: 10.1172/jci83092
- 197. Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual Blockade of PD-1 and Ctla-4 Combined With Tumor Vaccine Effectively Restores T-Cell Rejection Function in Tumors. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(12):3591–603. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-4100
- 198. Kallies A, Zehn D, Utzschneider DT. Precursor Exhausted T Cells: Key to Successful Immunotherapy? Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(2):128–36. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0223-7
- 199. Balança CC, Salvioni A, Scarlata CM, Michelas M, Martinez-Gomez C, Gomez-Roca C, et al. PD-1 Blockade Restores Helper Activity of Tumor-Infiltrating, Exhausted PD-1hiCD39+ CD4 T Cells. JCI Insight (2021) 6(2): e142513. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.142513
- 200. Pilon-Thomas S, Mackay A, Vohra N, Mulé JJ. Blockade of Programmed Death Ligand 1 Enhances the Therapeutic Efficacy of Combination Immunotherapy Against Melanoma. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3442–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904114
- 201. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and Activity of Anti-PD-L1 Antibody in Patients With Advanced Cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Rowshanravan B, Halliday N, Sansom DM. CTLA-4: A Moving Target in Immunotherapy. *Blood* (2018) 131(1):58–67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-741033
- 203. Tang F, Du X, Liu M, Zheng P, Liu Y. Anti-CTLA-4 Antibodies in Cancer Immunotherapy: Selective Depletion of Intratumoral Regulatory T Cells or Checkpoint Blockade? *Cell Biosci* (2018) 8:30. doi: 10.1186/s13578-018-0229-z
- 204. Sharma P, Allison JP. The Future of Immune Checkpoint Therapy. *Science* (*New York NY*) (2015) 348(6230):56–61. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa8172
- 205. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, MCDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved Survival With Ipilimumab in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(8):711-23. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1003466
- 206. Carretero-González A, Lora D, Ghanem I, Zugazagoitia J, Castellano D, Sepúlveda JM, et al. Analysis of Response Rate With Anti PD1/PD-L1 Monoclonal Antibodies in Advanced Solid Tumors: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(9):8706–15. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.24283
- 207. Benci JL, Xu B, Qiu Y, Wu TJ, Dada H, Twyman-Saint Victor C, et al. Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* (2016) 167(6):1540–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.11.022
- Boussiotis VA. Molecular and Biochemical Aspects of the PD-1 Checkpoint Pathway. N Engl J Med (2016) 375(18):1767–78. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMra1514296
- 209. Michot JM, Bigenwald C, Champiat S, Collins M, Carbonnel F, Postel-Vinay S, et al. Immune-Related Adverse Events With Immune Checkpoint Blockade: A Comprehensive Review. *Eur J Cancer* (2016) 54:139–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2015.11.016
- 210. Rupp LJ, Schumann K, Roybal KT, Gate RE, Ye CJ, Lim WA, et al. CRISPR/ Cas9-Mediated PD-1 Disruption Enhances Anti-Tumor Efficacy of Human Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):737. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-00462-8
- 211. Liu X, Ranganathan R, Jiang S, Fang C, Sun J, Kim S, et al. A Chimeric Switch-Receptor Targeting PD1 Augments the Efficacy of Second-Generation CAR T Cells in Advanced Solid Tumors. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76 (6):1578–90. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-15-2524
- 212. Chen C, Gu YM, Zhang F, Zhang ZC, Zhang YT, He YD, et al. Construction of PD1/CD28 Chimeric-Switch Receptor Enhances Anti-Tumor Ability of C-Met CAR-T in Gastric Cancer. *Oncoimmunology* (2021) 10(1):1901434. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2021.1901434
- 213. Ankri C, Shamalov K, Horovitz-Fried M, Mauer S, Cohen CJ. Human T Cells Engineered to Express a Programmed Death 1/28 Costimulatory Retargeting

Molecule Display Enhanced Antitumor Activity. J Immunol (2013) 191 (8):4121–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203085

- 214. Schlenker R, Olguín-Contreras LF, Leisegang M, Schnappinger J, Disovic A, Rühland S, et al. Chimeric PD-1:28 Receptor Upgrades Low-Avidity T Cells and Restores Effector Function of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes for Adoptive Cell Therapy. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77(13):3577–90. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.Can-16-1922
- 215. Liang Y, Liu H, Lu Z, Lei W, Zhang C, Li P, et al. CD19 CAR-T Expressing PD-1/CD28 Chimeric Switch Receptor as a Salvage Therapy for Dlbcl Patients Treated With Different CD19-Directed CAR T-Cell Therapies. *J Hematol Oncol* (2021) 14(1):26. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01044-y
- 216. Liu H, Lei W, Zhang C, Yang C, Wei J, Guo Q, et al. CD19-Specific CAR T Cells That Express a PD-1/CD28 Chimeric Switch-Receptor Are Effective in Patients With PD-L1-Positive B-Cell Lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27 (2):473–84. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-20-1457
- 217. Hoogi S, Eisenberg V, Mayer S, Shamul A, Barliya T, Cohen CJ. A Tigit-Based Chimeric Co-Stimulatory Switch Receptor Improves T-Cell Anti-Tumor Function. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):243. doi: 10.1186/ s40425-019-0721-y
- 218. Shin JH, Park HB, Oh YM, Lim DP, Lee JE, Seo HH, et al. Positive Conversion of Negative Signaling of CTLA4 Potentiates Antitumor Efficacy of Adoptive T-Cell Therapy in Murine Tumor Models. *Blood* (2012) 119(24):5678–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-09-380519
- 219. Lin S, Cheng L, Ye W, Li S, Zheng D, Qin L, et al. Chimeric CTLA4-CD28-CD3z T Cells Potentiate Antitumor Activity Against CD80/CD86-Positive B Cell Malignancies. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:642528. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.642528
- 220. Angioni R, Sánchez-Rodríguez R, Viola A, Molon B. TGF-β in Cancer: Metabolic Driver of the Tolerogenic Crosstalk in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancers* (2021) 13(3):401. doi: 10.3390/cancers13030401
- 221. Turley SJ, Cremasco V, Astarita JL. Immunological Hallmarks of Stromal Cells in the Tumour Microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15 (11):669–82. doi: 10.1038/nri3902
- 222. Bhowmick NA, Neilson EG, Moses HL. Stromal Fibroblasts in Cancer Initiation and Progression. *Nature* (2004) 432(7015):332–7. doi: 10.1038/ nature03096
- 223. Thomas DA, Massagué J. TGF-Beta Directly Targets Cytotoxic T Cell Functions During Tumor Evasion of Immune Surveillance. *Cancer Cell* (2005) 8(5):369–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2005.10.012
- 224. Mueller MM, Fusenig NE. Friends or Foes Bipolar Effects of the Tumour Stroma in Cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2004) 4(11):839–49. doi: 10.1038/ nrc1477
- 225. Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGFβ Attenuates Tumour Response to PD-L1 Blockade by Contributing to Exclusion of T Cells. *Nature* (2018) 554(7693):544–8. doi: 10.1038/ nature25501
- 226. Ravi R, Noonan KA, Pham V, Bedi R, Zhavoronkov A, Ozerov IV, et al. Bifunctional Immune Checkpoint-Targeted Antibody-Ligand Traps That Simultaneously Disable TGFβ Enhance the Efficacy of Cancer Immunotherapy. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):741. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02696-6
- 227. Bendle GM, Linnemann C, Bies L, Song JY, Schumacher TN. Blockade of TGF-β Signaling Greatly Enhances the Efficacy of TCR Gene Therapy of Cancer. J Immunol (2013) 191(6):3232–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301270
- 228. Bollard CM, Tripic T, Cruz CR, Dotti G, Gottschalk S, Torrano V, et al. Tumor-Specific T-Cells Engineered to Overcome Tumor Immune Evasion Induce Clinical Responses in Patients With Relapsed Hodgkin Lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(11):1128–39. doi: 10.1200/jco.2017.74.3179
- 229. Sukumaran S, Watanabe N, Bajgain P, Raja K, Mohammed S, Fisher WE, et al. Enhancing the Potency and Specificity of Engineered T Cells for Cancer Treatment. *Cancer Discov* (2018) 8(8):972–87. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1298
- 230. Roth TL, Li PJ, Blaeschke F, Nies JF, Apathy R, Mowery C, et al. Pooled Knockin Targeting for Genome Engineering of Cellular Immunotherapies. *Cell* (2020) 181(3):728–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.039
- 231. Oda SK, Anderson KG, Ravikumar P, Bonson P, Garcia NM, Jenkins CM, et al. A Fas-4-1bb Fusion Protein Converts a Death to a Pro-Survival Signal and Enhances T Cell Therapy. J Exp Med (2020) 217(12):e20191166. doi: 10.1084/jem.20191166

- 232. Kageyama S, Ikeda H, Miyahara Y, Imai N, Ishihara M, Saito K, et al. Adoptive Transfer of Mage-A4 T-Cell Receptor Gene-Transduced Lymphocytes in Patients With Recurrent Esophageal Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(10):2268–77. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-14-1559
- 233. Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer Regression in Patients After Transfer of Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes. *Science (New York NY)* (2006) 314(5796):126–9. doi: 10.1126/ science.1129003
- 234. Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, et al. Gene Therapy With Human and Mouse T-Cell Receptors Mediates Cancer Regression and Targets Normal Tissues Expressing Cognate Antigen. *Blood* (2009) 114(3):535–46. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-211714
- 235. Xue SA, Gao L, Thomas S, Hart DP, Xue JZ, Gillmore R, et al. Development of a Wilms' Tumor Antigen-Specific T-Cell Receptor for Clinical Trials: Engineered Patient's T Cells Can Eliminate Autologous Leukemia Blasts in Nod/Scid Mice. *Haematologica* (2010) 95(1):126–34. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2009.006486
- 236. Tawara I, Kageyama S, Miyahara Y, Fujiwara H, Nishida T, Akatsuka Y, et al. Safety and Persistence of WT1-Specific T-Cell Receptor Gene-Transduced Lymphocytes in Patients With Aml and Mds. *Blood* (2017) 130(18):1985–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-791202
- 237. Garg H, Suri P, Gupta JC, Talwar G, Dubey S. Survivin: A Unique Target for Tumor Therapy. *Cancer Cell Int* (2016) 16(1):1–14. doi: 10.1186/s12935-016-0326-1
- 238. Echchannaoui H, Petschenka J, Ferreira EA, Hauptrock B, Lotz-Jenne C, Voss RH, et al. A Potent Tumor-Reactive P53-Specific Single-Chain TCR Without on- or Off-Target Autoimmunity In Vivo. *Mol Ther* (2019) 27 (1):261–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.11.006
- 239. Kantoff PW, Schuetz TJ, Blumenstein BA, Glode LM, Bilhartz DL, Wyand M, et al. Overall Survival Analysis of a Phase Ii Randomized Controlled Trial of a Poxviral-Based Psa-Targeted Immunotherapy in Metastatic Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28(7):1099–105. doi: 10.1200/ jco.2009.25.0597
- 240. Ali M, Giannakopoulou E, Li Y, Lehander M, Virding Culleton S, Yang W, et al. T Cells Targeted to Tdt Kill Leukemic Lymphoblasts While Sparing Normal Lymphocytes. Nat Biotechnol (2021) 1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41587-021-01089-x
- 241. Parkhurst MR, Yang JC, Langan RC, Dudley ME, Nathan DA, Feldman SA, et al. T Cells Targeting CARcinoembryonic Antigen Can Mediate Regression of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer But Induce Severe Transient Colitis. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(3):620–6. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.272
- 242. Palmer DC, Chan CC, Gattinoni L, Wrzesinski C, Paulos CM, Hinrichs CS, et al. Effective Tumor Treatment Targeting a Melanoma/Melanocyte-Associated Antigen Triggers Severe Ocular Autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105(23):8061–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710929105
- 243. Morgan RA, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins PF, Zheng Z, et al. Cancer Regression and Neurological Toxicity Following Anti-Mage-A3 TCR Gene Therapy. J Immunother (2013) 36(2):133–51. doi: 10.1097/ CJI.0b013e3182829903
- 244. Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, et al. Cardiovascular Toxicity and Titin Cross-Reactivity of Affinity-Enhanced T Cells in Myeloma and Melanoma. *Blood* (2013) 122(6):863– 71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-490565
- 245. Faridi R, Zahra A, Khan K, Idrees M. Oncogenic Potential of Human Papillomavirus (Hpv) and Its Relation With Cervical Cancer. Virol J (2011) 8:269. doi: 10.1186/1743-422x-8-269
- 246. Raab-Traub N. Novel Mechanisms of Ebv-Induced Oncogenesis. Curr Opin Virol (2012) 2(4):453–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2012.07.001
- Lupberger J, Hildt E. Hepatitis B Virus-Induced Oncogenesis. World J Gastroenterol (2007) 13(1):74–81. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i1.74
- 248. Wang XG, Revskaya E, Bryan RA, Strickler HD, Burk RD, Casadevall A, et al. Treating Cancer as an Infectious Disease–Viral Antigens as Novel Targets for Treatment and Potential Prevention of Tumors of Viral Etiology. *PLoS One* (2007) 2(10):e1114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001114
- 249. Tashiro H, Brenner MK. Immunotherapy Against Cancer-Related Viruses. Cell Res (2017) 27(1):59–73. doi: 10.1038/cr.2016.153
- 250. Negrini S, Gorgoulis VG, Halazonetis TD. Genomic Instability-an Evolving Hallmark of Cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2010) 11(3):220–8. doi: 10.1038/ nrm2858

- 251. Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic Correlates of Response to CTLA-4 Blockade in Metastatic Melanoma. *Science (New York NY)* (2015) 350(6257):207–11. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad0095
- 252. Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer Immunology. Mutational Landscape Determines Sensitivity to PD-1 Blockade in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Science (New York NY)* (2015) 348 (6230):124–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1348
- 253. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-Intrinsic B-Catenin Signalling Prevents Anti-Tumour Immunity. *Nature* (2015) 523(7559):231–5. doi: 10.1038/nature14404
- 254. Samstein RM, Lee CH, Shoushtari AN, Hellmann MD, Shen R, Janjigian YY, et al. Tumor Mutational Load Predicts Survival After Immunotherapy Across Multiple Cancer Types. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51(2):202-6. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0312-8
- 255. Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint Blockade Cancer Immunotherapy Targets Tumour-Specific Mutant Antigens. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):577–81. doi: 10.1038/ nature13988
- 256. Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Löwer M, et al. Personalized RNA Mutanome Vaccines Mobilize Poly-Specific Therapeutic Immunity Against Cancer. *Nature* (2017) 547(7662):222–6. doi: 10.1038/ nature23003
- 257. Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An Immunogenic Personal Neoantigen Vaccine for Patients With Melanoma. *Nature* (2017) 547(7662):217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- 258. Ott PA, Hu-Lieskovan S, Chmielowski B, Govindan R, Naing A, Bhardwaj N, et al. A Phase Ib Trial of Personalized Neoantigen Therapy Plus Anti-PD-1 in Patients With Advanced Melanoma, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, or Bladder Cancer. *Cell* (2020) 183(2):347–62. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2020.08.053
- 259. van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor Exome Analysis Reveals Neoantigen-Specific T-Cell Reactivity in an Ipilimumab-Responsive Melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2013) 31(32):e439– 42. doi: 10.1200/jco.2012.47.7521
- 260. Robbins PF, Lu YC, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining Exomic Sequencing Data to Identify Mutated Antigens Recognized by Adoptively Transferred Tumor-Reactive T Cells. *Nat Med* (2013) 19 (6):747–52. doi: 10.1038/nm.3161
- 261. Cohen CJ, Gartner JJ, Horovitz-Fried M, Shamalov K, Trebska-McGowan K, Bliskovsky VV, et al. Isolation of Neoantigen-Specific T Cells From Tumor and Peripheral Lymphocytes. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(10):3981–91. doi: 10.1172/jci82416
- 262. Lu YC, Yao X, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Dudley ME, Yang JC, et al. Mutated Ppp1r3b Is Recognized by T Cells Used to Treat a Melanoma Patient Who Experienced a Durable Complete Tumor Regression. *J Immunol* (2013) 190 (12):6034–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202830
- 263. Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu YC, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of Somatic Mutations in Human Gastrointestinal Cancers.

Science (New York NY) (2015) 350(6266):1387-90. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad1253

- 264. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer Immunotherapy Based on Mutation-Specific CD4+ T Cells in a Patient With Epithelial Cancer. *Science (New York NY)* (2014) 344(6184):641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102
- 265. Veatch JR, Jesernig BL, Kargl J, Fitzgibbon M, Lee SM, Baik C, et al. Endogenous CD4(+) T Cells Recognize Neoantigens in Lung Cancer Patients, Including Recurrent Oncogenic Kras and Erbb2 (Her2) Driver Mutations. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7(6):910–22. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-18-0402
- 266. Blass E, Ott PA. Advances in the Development of Personalized Neoantigen-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2021) 18(4):215– 29. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-00460-2
- 267. Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, et al. Cancer Immunotherapy. A Dendritic Cell Vaccine Increases the Breadth and Diversity of Melanoma Neoantigen-Specific T Cells. *Science (New York NY)* (2015) 348(6236):803–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa3828
- 268. Strønen E, Toebes M, Kelderman S, van Buuren MM, Yang W, van Rooij N, et al. Targeting of Cancer Neoantigens With Donor-Derived T Cell Receptor Repertoires. Science (New York NY) (2016) 352(6291):1337–41. doi: 10.1126/ science.aaf2288
- 269. Ali M, Foldvari Z, Giannakopoulou E, Böschen ML, Strønen E, Yang W, et al. Induction of Neoantigen-Reactive T Cells From Healthy Donors. *Nat Protoc* (2019) 14(6):1926–43. doi: 10.1038/s41596-019-0170-6
- 270. Menk AV, Scharping NE, Rivadeneira DB, Calderon MJ, Watson MJ, Dunstane D, et al. 4-1bb Costimulation Induces T Cell Mitochondrial Function and Biogenesis Enabling Cancer Immunotherapeutic Responses. *J Exp Med* (2018) 215(4):1091–100. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171068

Conflict of Interest: SAX is an inventor on patents describing a Sc-TCR technology.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wei, Cheng, Xue and Xue. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Design and Evaluation of TIM-3-CD28 Checkpoint Fusion Proteins to Improve Anti-CD19 CAR T-Cell Function

Franziska Blaeschke¹, Eva Ortner¹, Dana Stenger^{1,2}, Jasmin Mahdawi¹, Antonia Apfelbeck¹, Nicola Habjan¹, Tanja Weißer¹, Theresa Kaeuferle^{1,3}, Semjon Willier¹, Sebastian Kobold^{2,4} and Tobias Feuchtinger^{1,2,3*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul G. Schlegel, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Frank M. Cichocki, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States Karl-Johan Malmberg, Oslo University Hospital, Norway Johanna Olweus, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence:

Tobias Feuchtinger tobias.feuchtinger@med.unimuenchen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 December 2021 Accepted: 01 March 2022 Published: 06 April 2022

Citation:

Blaeschke F, Ortner E, Stenger D, Mahdawi J, Apfelbeck A, Habjan N, Weißer T, Kaeuferle T, Willier S, Kobold S and Feuchtinger T (2022) Design and Evaluation of TIM-3-CD28 Checkpoint Fusion Proteins to Improve Anti-CD19 CAR T-Cell Function. Front. Immunol. 13:845499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.845499 ¹ Department of Pediatric Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplantation, Dr. von Hauner Children's Hospital, University Hospital, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich (LMU), Munich, Germany, ² German Cancer Consortium (DKTK), Munich, Germany, ³ National Center for Infection Research (DZIF), Munich, Germany, ⁴ Center for Integrated Protein Science Munich (CIPSM) and Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine IV, Klinikum der LMU München, Munich, Germany

Therapeutic targeting of inhibitory checkpoint molecules in combination with chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells is currently investigated in a variety of clinical studies for treatment of hematologic and solid malignancies. However, the impact of co-inhibitory axes and their therapeutic implication remains understudied for the majority of acute leukemias due to their low immunogenicity/mutational load. The inhibitory exhaustion molecule TIM-3 is an important marker for the interaction of T cells with leukemic cells. Moreover, inhibitory signals from malignant cells could be transformed into stimulatory signals by synthetic fusion molecules with extracellular inhibitory receptors fused to an intracellular stimulatory domain. Here, we designed a variety of different TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins to turn inhibitory signals derived by TIM-3 engagement into T-cell activation through CD28. In the absence of anti-CD19 CAR, two TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors with large parts of CD28 showed strongest responses in terms of cytokine secretion and proliferation upon stimulation with anti-CD3 antibodies compared to controls. We then combined these two novel TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins with first- and second-generation anti-CD19 CAR T cells and found that the fusion receptor can increase proliferation, activation, and cytotoxic capacity of conventional anti-CD19 CAR T cells. These additionally armed CAR T cells showed excellent effector function. In terms of safety considerations, the fusion receptors showed exclusively increased cytokine release, when the CAR target CD19 was present. We conclude that combining checkpoint fusion proteins with anti-CD19 CARs has the potential to increase T-cell proliferation capacity with the intention to overcome inhibitory signals during the response against malignant cells.

Keywords: CAR T cells, checkpoint fusion proteins, pediatric leukemia, acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), TIM-3, CD19, CD28

INTRODUCTION

Adoptive cell therapy using chimeric antigen receptor-(CAR-) modified T cells has induced high initial response rates in patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and B-cell lymphoma (1-3). These encouraging clinical studies led to approval of multiple CD19-targeting CAR products in the last couple of years (4-6). However, not all patients benefit from CAR T-cell treatment, and 40-60% experience relapse in the course of their disease (3, 5). Moreover, treatment of solid tumors with CAR T cells has not been broadly effective to date. Major causes for nonresponse and relapse are insufficient CAR T-cell expansion and loss of CAR Tcell persistence as well as mutation or downregulation of the target antigen (7-9). The ability to escape the attack of the immune system is a very particular characteristic of malignant tumors. In order to do so, tumors can utilize and redirect immune checkpoint axes, which are physiologically used to balance T-cell responses between activation and inhibition in order to allow sufficient control of infections while preventing autoimmunity (10). Immune checkpoint blockade has been used to reactivate and redirect antitumor T cells and is currently investigated as single therapy and in combination with anti-CD19 and other CAR specificities (11).

TIM-3 (T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-containing protein 3) is a type I transmembrane protein that belongs to the TIM family of proteins (12). It is expressed on not only activated T cells but also other immune cell types such as natural killer (NK) cells, myeloid cells, and regulatory T cells (Tregs). Interestingly, unlike other checkpoint receptors such as PD-1 (programmed cell death protein 1), TIM-3 has no known inhibitory signaling motifs in the intracellular domain, but five tyrosines that seem to interact with BAT3 and Fyn (13, 14). Upon binding of TIM-3 to its ligands, the tyrosines get phosphorylated, BAT3 gets released from the complex, and TIM-3 starts to inhibit the T-cell activation. Known ligands of TIM-3 include galectin-9, HMGB1 (high mobility group box protein 1), phosphatidylserine, and CEACAM1 (CEA cell adhesion molecule 1) (15-17). While galectin-9 and HMGB1 are soluble ligands that can be secreted by a variety of different cell types, phosphatidylserine expression is induced on apoptotic cells. The most recently discovered ligand, CEACAM1, is a membrane protein expressed on T cells, but also other immune cells and tumor cells such as melanoma. Increased expression of TIM-3 on T cells has been associated with terminal differentiation and dysfunction (18). In a previous work by our group, we identified TIM-3 expression on bone marrow T cells as a marker of dismal prognosis in pediatric ALL patients and showed that TIM-3 overexpression can inhibit antileukemic Tcell responses mediated by Blinatumomab (19). While TIM-3 blockade is currently investigated in multiple clinical trials, mostly in combination with PD-(L)1 blockade, the exact mechanism of TIM-3 blockade is not known yet as it might interfere with multiple cell types.

The combination of immune checkpoint blockade with genetically modified T cells has shown promising results in early clinical trials. However, as the CAR but not the therapeutic antibody is tumor-specific, checkpoint blockade can lead to systemic side effects (20). In order to specifically block inhibitory

checkpoint axes only on tumor-specific T cells, checkpoint fusion proteins were developed. These fusion proteins usually consist of the extracellular domains of the inhibitory molecule (e.g., PD-1) fused to stimulatory intracellular domains (e.g., CD28) to redirect inhibitory signals toward T-cell stimulation. In the last couple of years, PD-1-CD28, TIM-3-CD28, and CD200R-CD28 fusion receptors were described (21–26). Here, we describe a systematic evaluation of TIM-3-CD28 fusion protein designs to specifically overcome inhibitory signals with the potential to increase CAR Tcell functionality and persistence.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Generation of CAR T Cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from whole blood using Biocoll separation solution (Biochrom). Next, T cells were purified using CD4/8 MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions. T cells were cultured in TexMACS GMP media (Miltenyi Biotec) plus 2.5% human AB serum (kindly provided by Prof. Ramin Lotfi, University Hospital Ulm, Institute for Transfusion Medicine and German Red Cross Blood Services Baden-Wuerttemberg-Hessen, Institute for Clinical Transfusion Medicine and Immunogenetics, Ulm) supplemented with 12.5 ng/ml IL-7 and IL-15 (human, premium grade, Miltenyi Biotec). T cells were activated using T Cell TransAct, human (Miltenyi Biotec) per the manufacturer's recommendation.

Retroviral particles were generated using producer cells (293Vec-RD114) kindly provided by BioVec Pharma. Supernatant was frozen and stored at -80°C.

T cells were washed and transduced two days after activation. Twenty-four-well plates were coated with 2.5ug RetroNectin Reagent (Takara) followed by a 30-min blocking step (2% Albumin Fraction V, Sigma-Aldrich) and one wash step (1:40 dilution of HEPES 1M (Biochrom) in PBS). The viral supernatant was centrifuged on the coated wells (3,000g, 90 min, 32°C) and discarded afterward. T cells were added and centrifuged 450g for 10 min at 32°C. T cells were washed 48 h after transduction and put back into T-cell media, now containing 6 U/ml IL-2 in addition to IL-7/-15. Cellular composition and T-cell phenotype were analyzed by flow cytometry before cells were frozen on day 12 after transduction. Transduction rates were analyzed by flow cytometric staining of c-myc-FITC (Miltenyi Biotec) and TIM-3-BV421 (Biolegend). For assays, transduction rates were adjusted to the construct with the lowest transduction rate by adding untransduced T cells. Effector cell count refers to the number of CAR/fusion receptor-positive T cells. CD19- and/or CEACAM1-transduced K562 cells were used as target cells unless otherwise stated. Multiple T-cell transductions were not performed; T cells were only transduced once in the process.

Proliferation Assay

T cells were labeled with a CellTrace Violet (CTV) Cell Proliferation Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Labeled T cells were co-cultured with target cells at a 1:1 effector-to-target (E:T) ratio for 72 h. Percent proliferating cells and absolute cell counts were analyzed using a MACSQuant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotec).

Cytotoxicity Assay

After NK cell depletion using CD56 MicroBeads according to the manufacturer's instruction (Miltenyi Biotec), T cells were cocultured with CTV-labeled target cells (ThermoFisher Scientific) at different E:T ratios. The absolute number of remaining target cells was evaluated after 48 h using a MACSQuant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotec) to calculate the killing capacity of CAR T cells.

Intracellular Cytokine Stain (ICS)

T cells and target cells were co-cultured for 6 h. Two hours after stimulation, 10 ug/ml Brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich) was added. Cells were washed and stained after the indicated time. Intracellular cytokine stain for IFN- γ -PE (BD), TNF- α -PacificBlue (Biolegend), and IL-2-APC (BD) was performed using the FIX & PERM cell Fixation and Permeabilization kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the supplier's information. Intracellular cytokine stains were analyzed using a MACSQuant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotec).

Surface Marker Stain

Activation markers were analyzed by flow cytometry 14 h after starting the co-culture of T cells with target cells at a 1:1 E:T ratio. Anti-CD25-PE, anti-CD69-PE-Vio770, anti-CD137-APC, anti-CD8-APC-Vio770, anti-CD4-VioGreen, and anti-c-myc-FITC (all Miltenyi Biotec) and TIM-3-BV421 (Biolegend) were used. Surface marker stains were analyzed using a MACSQuant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotec).

CD3 Coating Assays

CD3 coating assays were performed as previously described (21). Briefly, 96-well plates were coated with CD3 monoclonal antibody (HIT3a, ThermoFisher Scientific). Anti-CD3 of 2ug/ ml or 0.25ug/ml anti-CD3 were used for ICS or proliferation assays, respectively. Ligands galectin-9 and HMGB1 were added at 200 ng/well. Fusion receptor-positive T cells (0.1e6) were added per well, and proliferation/cytokine stains were performed after 72 and 6 h, respectively.

Cell Lines

Cell lines were regularly tested for the absence of contamination/ mycoplasma and STR-typed. Cell lines were cultured in RPMI (Biochrom) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma-Aldrich), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, ThermoFisher Scientific), and 1% L-glutamine (Gibco, ThermoFisher Scientific).

Correlation Analysis (RNA-seq)

Correlation analysis was done using publicly available RNAseq datasets and the online platform by H.E. Miller, correlationAnalyzeR, (2021), GitHub repository, https://github. com/Bishop-Laboratory/correlationAnalyzeR.

Statistics

Statistics were performed using GraphPad Prism. Statistical significance was calculated using t-test or one-way ANOVA as outlined in the figure legends. P values: * <0.05, ** <0.01, **** <0.001, **** <0.0001. Mean plus standard error mean is shown unless stated otherwise.

RESULTS

Systematic Design of TIM-3-CD28 Fusion Proteins

We first analyzed TIM-3 expression on anti-CD19 CAR T cells and found a rapid induction of TIM-3 expression already after a single stimulation with CD19⁺ target cells (Figure 1A). When analyzing the target cells for the expression of the membranebound ligand of TIM-3, CEACAM1, we observed that many leukemia and lymphoma cell lines upregulate CEACAM1 when exposed to Th1 cytokines IFN- γ and TNF- α (Figure 1B). As T cells can potentially also express CEACAM1 and contribute to CAR T-cell inhibition through TIM-3, we next checked correlation analyses of publicly available RNA-seq data (Figure 1C). We found that in healthy immune cell datasets, TIM-3 (HAVCR2) and CEACAM1 expression levels are inversely correlated hinting toward the fact that TIM-3 and CEACAM1 are usually not expressed simultaneously. In contrast, in immune cancer datasets, TIM-3 and CEACAM1 expressions are strongly correlated. As we did not observe TIM-3 expression on leukemic cell lines (Supplementary Figure 1A), we hypothesize that high TIM-3 levels on T cells (or other immune cells) in cancer might correlate with CEACAM1 expression on target or T cells. To transform TIM-3-mediated inhibition into CD28-based co-stimulation (Figure 1D), we generated a variety of different TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors (Figure 1E). While fusion receptor 1 (TIM-3/28-1) had a CD8 transmembrane domain, in analogy to CARs, the other fusion receptors 2-6 were comprised of either the TIM-3 or the CD28 transmembrane domain. TIM-3/28-6 had the largest portions of CD28 as it had been shown before that the cysteine in amino acid position 141 of CD28 can increase signaling through the receptor (23). We first retrovirally transduced only the fusion receptors without a CAR into primary human T cells to check expression levels and basic functionality. Transduction rates were analyzed by flow cytometric staining for TIM-3 (Figure 1F). While the CD8-containing fusion receptor TIM-3/28-1 showed decreased transduction rates, receptors 2-6 showed robust transduction



inhibition into co-stimulation. (E) Schematic illustrations of the six different fusion proteins designed for this study. (F) Exemplary flow plot showing transduction of TIM-3/28-2 into primary human T cells as analyzed by TIM-3 expression in flow cytometry. (G) Transduction rates as analyzed by flow cytometric staining of TIM-3. N \geq 3 individual donors. Data are representative of three independent experiments. AA, amino acid; SSC, side scatter. Schematic illustrations created using biorender.com.

rates of >60% (**Figure 1G**). When analyzing the geometric mean fluorescence intensity, we observed differences between the TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins hinting at a different number of molecules per cell based on the type of construct used (**Supplementary Figure 1B**). The transduced T cells consisted mainly of CD8⁺ T cells 12 days after transduction, and the distribution of cell types was not significantly different between the fusion receptors or untransduced T cells (**Supplementary** Figure 1C). The T-cell phenotype was slightly switched toward more effector memory T cells in constructs 2–6 compared to untransduced T cells or T cells transduced with construct 1 (Supplementary Figure 1D). Differences in viability throughout the culture were not observed (Supplementary Figure 1E). Expansion rates after transduction were comparable (Supplementary Figure 1F) with a slight advantage for untransduced T cells.



significance. Physiologic expression levels of TIM-3 ligands are shown in Supplementary Figure 3. * <0.05, ** <0.01, *** <0.001, *** <0.0001, ns, not significant.

TIM-3-CD28-Fusion Proteins With Parts of CD28 for the Hinge Region Exhibit Largest Proliferation Potential and

Cytokine Release

We next tested the different fusion receptor T cells in response to CD3 stimulus and observed that the fusion proteins TIM-3-CD28-5 and TIM-3-CD28-6 showed the highest fold change of proliferating cells (with vs. without CD3 stimulation) as analyzed by CTV staining (**Figure 2A**). Background proliferation without CD3 stimulation was below 20% at that timepoint for all constructs (**Supplementary Figure 2A**). This effect was amplified in the presence of the mostly membrane-bound ligand CEACAM1 and the soluble ligands galectin-9 and HMGB1 (**Figures 2B, C**). When analyzing the cells by intracellular cytokine staining of IFN- γ and TNF- α , we found that all fusion proteins can enhance IFN- γ release while only some of them show an effect in TNF- α secretion (**Figures 2D, E**).

TIM-3-CD28-5 and -6 were identified as fusion receptors with highest levels of cytokine release. Background cytokine secretion without CD3 stimulation was below 10% for all constructs (**Supplementary Figures 2B, C**). Cytokine release could only be amplified by the addition of HMGB1 to the culture; the other ligands did not lead to significant changes in cytokine levels tested on the two best-performing constructs (**Supplementary Figures 2D-G**). For reference, physiologic expression levels of TIM-3 ligands were extracted from publicly available RNA-seq datasets and are shown in **Supplementary Figure 3**.

Generation of Anti-CD19 CAR T Cells With TIM-3-CD28 Fusion Proteins

As TIM-3-CD28-5 and -6 were the fusion receptor designs with the highest proliferation and cytokine release, we tested these two constructs in combination with the first- and second-generation CAR T cells. Thus, we created multicistronic constructs with an


FMC63-based anti-CD19 CAR and the fusion receptor separated by a 2A cleavage site as depicted in **Figure 3A**. We included a myc tag into the CAR construct for better detection in flow cytometry. Primary human T cells were transduced with the six different CAR constructs plus a truncated anti-CD19 CAR (19t) control, which is lacking intracellular signaling domains. Coexpression of the fusion receptor and CAR was confirmed by flow cytometry (**Figure 3B**). All fusion receptor-CAR combinations showed comparable transduction rates of around 60% (**Figure 3C**) and no difference in viability throughout the culturing process (**Supplementary Figures 4A, B**).

TIM-3-CD28 Fusion Proteins Can Increase CAR T-Cell Functionality

First, we tested whether the fusion proteins can increase the functionality of first-generation CAR T cells as a model system for a suboptimal (and thus optimizable) CAR setting. As expected, we observed a slight decrease in killing capacity of conventional first-generation CARs without fusion protein when the cells got co-cultured with CD19⁺/CEACAM1⁺ compared to CD19⁺/CEACAM1⁻ target cells (**Supplementary Figure 5A**). Next, we co-cultured first-generation CAR T cells with or without the fusion receptor with CD19⁺/CEACAM1⁺ target

cells. Indeed, the addition of the fusion receptor significantly increased the killing capacity of conventional CAR T cells (Figure 4A). The same trends were observed after co-culture with CD19⁺/CEACAM⁻ target cells (Supplementary Figure 5B). When analyzing the proliferative capacity of the fusion receptor first-generation CAR T cells, we interestingly observed an increased frequency of proliferating fusion protein CARs compared to conventional CARs without the addition of target cells (Figure 4B). The same trend was observed when analyzing absolute CAR T-cell counts (Supplementary Figure 5C). Looking back at the behavior of the cells during the culturing process, we confirmed this finding as the fusion receptors showed higher proliferative capacity in the absence of target cells (Figure 4C). As this result might raise concerns of limited target specificity and potential off-target side effects, we next measured the cytokine release of the fusion protein CAR T cells both in the absence and presence of target cells (Figure 4D). Reassuringly, we did not see cytokine release of the fusion protein CAR T cells in the absence of targets, while in the presence of targets, they were able to increase the cytokine release beyond levels detected by conventional first-generation CARs. Moreover, CAR T cells with TIM-3-CD28 fusion protein showed higher levels of CD25 compared to conventional CARs



FIGURE 4 | Functionality of anti-CD19 CAR T cells with TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins. (A) Killing of CD19⁺/CEACAM⁺ K562 target cells by first-generation anti-CD19 CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins was calculated after 48 h of co-culture. N = 1 individual donor in technical duplicates for 1:1 E:T ratio and n = 2 individual donors in technical duplicates for 0.1:1 E:T ratio. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. (B) First-generation anti-CD19 CAR T cells were co-cultured with target cells (CD19⁺/CEACAM⁺ K562) for 72 h, and percent proliferating cells were analyzed by flow cytometry (CTV). N = 2 individual donors in technical duplicates. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. (C) Fold expansion of different CAR T-cell constructs throughout the culture process. Cell count was normalized on the day of transduction. N = 2 individual donors. (D) First-generation anti-CD19 CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins were co-cultured with target cells (CD19⁺/CEACAM⁺ K562), and cytokine production was analyzed by intracellular cytokine statin for IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 6 h after the start of the co-culture. (E) Second-generation CAR T cells with/without fusion protein were co-cultured with target cells (CD19⁺/CEACAM⁺ K562), and proliferative potential both in terms of percent proliferating cells (E) and absolute CAR cell count (F) were analyzed after 72 h. N = 2 individual donors in technical duplicates. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. (G) CD25 surface expression was evaluated by flow cytometry 14 h after target cell contact (CD19⁺/CEACAM⁺ K562). N = 2 individual donors, each in technical duplicates. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. (G) CD25 surface expression was evaluated by flow cytometry 14 h after target cell contact (CD19⁺/CEACAM⁺ K562). N = 2 individual donors, each in technical duplicates. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. Da

(Supplementary Figure 5D), potentially making them an interesting modification in situations of IL-2 competition seen in the presence of regulatory T cells. Surprisingly, we observed higher levels of early differentiation marker CD62L on fusion protein CAR T cells (Supplementary Figure 5E), which translated to decreased percentages of terminally differentiated effector cells and higher percentages of early differentiated stem cell-like memory (Tscm) and central memory (Tcm) cells in fusion protein CARs (Supplementary Figure 5F). We next investigated second-generation CAR T cells with 4-1BB-based co-stimulation. Again, we observed that the killing capacity of conventional second-generation CARs is slightly decreased when the target cells express CEACAM1⁺ (Supplementary Figure 6A). When combining TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins with conventional second-generation CAR T cells, we saw comparable trends to the combination with first-generation CAR T cells. While the fusion proteins were not able to increase short-term (48 h) killing capacity of second-generation CARs (Supplementary Figure 6B), fusion receptor CAR T cells showed higher proliferative potential in the absence of target cells. After the addition of targets, the percent proliferating cells were potentially maxed out at around 80% (Figure 4E). The trend of increased T-cell numbers without the addition of targets was again seen in the second-generation CARs (although not significant) when looking at the growth curves (Supplementary Figure 6C) and confirmed by analyzing the CAR T-cell counts during the proliferation assay (Figure 4F). Surprisingly, the percentage of cytokine-secreting T cells was decreased in fusion receptor second-generation CAR T cells (Supplementary Figure 6D). Consistent with the findings in firstgeneration CARs, we again observed increased levels of CD25 expression (Figure 4G) and decreased levels of late-effector phenotype (Supplementary Figure 6E) in fusion protein CAR T cells. In summary, TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptor CAR T cells can improve conventional CAR T cells in certain situations. Despite decreased percent cytokine secretion in second-generation CAR T cells, short-term killing is not decreased and TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins can mediate higher CAR numbers, increased proliferative potential, CD25 expression, and earlier differentiation states of CAR T cells.

DISCUSSION

Despite high initial response rates in B-cell precursor leukemia and lymphoma, anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapy can lack long-term efficacy due to multiple factors including limited CAR T-cell proliferation and persistence (3, 27). In recent work, we and others showed that TIM-3 expression on T cells can limit antileukemic T-cell responses both in terms of cytokine release and proliferation (19, 28). Here, we found that TIM-3 gets upregulated on conventional anti-CD19 CAR T cells after a single stimulation with target cells potentially to prevent excessive stimulation. On the other hand, we identified substantial upregulation of the TIM-3 ligand CEACAM1 on leukemic cell lines upon simulation of a Th1 attack. In publicly available RNA-seq data, a correlation in immune cancer between TIM-3 and CEACAM1 expression is seen, which is consistent with reports by other groups that have shown an overexpression of both TIM-3 and CEACAM1 on tumor-infiltrating T cells in a variety of different tumors (29). While the exact impact of CEACAM1 expression and the expression of the other TIM-3 ligands in childhood leukemia is unknown, our group has recently shown that the three protein-based ligands are detectable on RNA level and identified high TIM-3 expression on bone marrow T cells as a prediction marker of dismal prognosis hinting to an important role of the inhibitory TIM-3 axis in ALL (19). We thus decided to generate TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors to turn TIM-3-mediated inhibition into CD28-based stimulation. For fusion receptor TIM-3-CD28-1, we decided to test a CD8 transmembrane domain as this domain has been used in CAR T cells and shows good surface expression. However, in our experiments, transduction with TIM-3-CD28-1 yielded the lowest transduction rates and geometric mean fluorescent intensity. This is in line with a report by Schlenker et al. (30) who tested PD-1-CD28 fusion proteins and showed that their CD8 transmembrane design led to lowest percent PD-1⁺ cells. The other five TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins tested here comprised of different portions of TIM-3 and CD28 proteins. As recent reports of CD200R-CD28 fusion receptors have indicated that using larger parts of CD28 including the membrane-proximal extracellular cysteine in amino acid position 141 is superior to other designs (23), we tested TIM-3-CD28 receptors with large CD28 fragments and very short TIM-3 parts, too. To ensure a physiologic distance in the immune synapse between the artificial TIM-3 and its binding partners, we kept the total number of extracellular amino acids stable. In analogy to previous reports of PD-1-CD28 fusion proteins (21), we next tested the activation and proliferation potential of the different fusion receptors by stimulating the T cells with CD3 antibody. While TIM-3-CD28-1 and -2 did not show increased proliferative potential, the two receptors with the largest CD28 parts exerted the highest fold change in proliferation when the percent proliferating cells before/after target cell addition were compared. While the background proliferation (without CD3 stimulation) was <20% for all constructs, it was the lowest for TIM-3-CD28-5 and -6, which contributed to the increased fold change. However, we chose fold change as a readout because the aim was to identify the fusion protein with the highest dynamic range (low background proliferation, strong response to CD3 stimulation). As expected, the proliferative effect was potentiated by adding the soluble form of the different protein-based TIM-3 ligands to the culture. The impact of CEACAM1 addition was rather minimal compared to the other ligands. There are two potential explanations for this finding: 1) We added the soluble version of CEACAM1, and the impact of soluble CEACAM1 on TIM-3 signaling in T cells is not well understood yet. 2) The activated T cells themselves most likely expressed CEACAM1 on the surface, which would dilute the effect of adding additional CEACAM1 to the culture. Increases in proliferative capacity and FC of cytokine release compared to untransduced T cells were observed even without the addition of the ligands. This further underlined the possibility that the activated or bystander T cells could upregulate or secrete the respective ligands. As TIM-3-CD28-5 and -6 also showed the

highest dynamic range in cytokine release, we decided to follow up on these two receptors and cloned them into multicistronic constructs in combination with first- and second-generation anti-CD19 CARs. We decided to pair the CD28-based fusion proteins with 4-1BB-mediated costimulation for the secondgeneration CAR to investigate potential synergistic effects of CD28 and 4-1BB. While the addition of the fusion proteins to first-generation CARs showed slightly increased cytotoxicity against CD19⁺/CEACAM1⁺ target cells, the fusion receptors were not able to increase killing beyond the level of secondgeneration CARs. Notably, short-term killing assays (48 h) represent prompt effector function, while the expected advantage of the TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptor is pointing toward longevity of T cells. Further in vivo studies to evaluate the long-term proliferative and killing capacity would be helpful to analyze the full therapeutic potential of the switch receptors. The strength of the TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors described here appears to be mostly in terms of proliferation and increased CAR T-cell numbers. Interestingly, without restimulation of the cells, we observed a stronger proliferative advantage of the fusion receptors when paired with a CAR (Figure 4C; Supplementary Figure 6C) compared to fusion receptors that were not combined with a CAR (Supplementary Figure 1F). Reasons for that are speculative but could include differences in soluble or membranebound ligand levels, a small amount of tonic signaling through the CAR, or remaining small numbers of CD19⁺ cells in the culture that could provide some background activation to the CAR T cells. While the fusion receptors led to higher CAR numbers and increased proliferation even in the absence of target cells, we did not detect substantial cytokine release without target cell presence. However, the addition of these receptors into CAR T cells might require additional safety considerations, such as suicide switches or synthetic circuits. Further studies are needed to understand the proliferative behavior of TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors. To clearly dissect the role of the different domains in activating the fusion receptor, mutations could be introduced into the CD28 signaling or the TIM-3/ligand binding domain to disrupt the signal and investigate the specificity and signal transduction of the receptor. Moreover, transcriptional/gene set enrichment analyses will describe the proliferative phenotype and ensure that the increase in proliferation does not lead to long-term dysfunction/exhaustion in the fusion receptor CAR T cells. Overexpressing TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins together with second-generation CAR T cells led to decreased percentages of IL-2 releasing cells. However, this effect might be outweighed by the increased overall number of CAR T cells with a fusion receptor. The slightly increased percentage of fusion protein positive cells expressing CD62L as a marker of early T-cell differentiation states might create an additional benefit. An interesting finding was the increased levels of CD25 that might render fusion protein CAR T cells more effective in situations of competition for IL-2 or presence of Tregs. Moreover, increased levels of CD25 might have contributed to the proliferative phenotype of the fusion protein CAR T cells. Although they were cultured with minimal levels of exogenous IL-2, the bystander/surrounding CAR T cells most likely produced IL-2, which might have led to a competitive advantage of the fusion

protein CAR T cells. In analogy to reports of PD-1-CD28 fusion proteins that seem to increase functionality of low avidity TCRs rather than high avidity TCRs (30), the TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors might work best in a more challenging setting of, e.g., lower CAR affinity, tonic signaling, or in a solid tumor microenvironment with a high expression of multiple TIM-3 ligands. Genetically modified CAR T cells in combination with checkpoint fusion receptors are a promising treatment alternative to systemic combinations of checkpoint inhibitors together with CAR T cells. While checkpoint inhibitors can cause severe systemic side effects and usually have to be administered multiple times, the fusion receptors will only be expressed specifically on CAR T cells when both the CAR construct and fusion receptor are introduced into the T cell using a polycistronic construct. The rationale is that CAR T cells with a fusion receptor can persist after a single infusion and will not have side effects beyond the known CAR-related complications as shown in recent CAR T-cell trials with PD-1-CD28 fusion proteins (31). Last year, Zhao et al. (26) published a TIM-3-CD28 fusion protein that uses the transmembrane and intracellular domain of CD28 and the extracellular domain of TIM-3 and is thus similar to TIM-3/ CD28-4 from our study. Their design mediated increased persistence and antitumor efficacy when combined with a second-generation anti-CD19 CAR. Differences between the two studies include the CAR design as well as the transduction method and the culturing of the cells. While their protocol uses 50 U/ml IL-2, our culturing protocol uses lower levels of IL-2 (6 U/ml) in combination with IL-7 and IL-15, which might have contributed to differences in the two studies. Because Oda etal. (23) had recently shown that using larger parts of CD28 for fusion proteins can be beneficial due to a potential cysteine bond in the extracellular part of CD28, we decided to analyze different portions of CD28 systematically. Our study underlines the finding that including larger parts of CD28 into fusion protein designs might offer possibilities to expand the proliferative potential even further. Thus, the present systematic characterization of TIM-3-CD28 fusion receptors can lay the groundwork for future investigations of these receptors in CAR settings other than the clinically used second-generation anti-CD19 CARs. Further analysis of TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins could include combination with other CAR specificities, other target cell lines with different expression levels/secretion of the TIM-3 ligands, blocking experiments, as well as co-culture with primary B-precursor blasts. Subsequent evaluation in suitable in vivo models (e.g., conventional xenograft or patient-derived xenografts) may reveal additional potential of TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethikkommission bei der Medizinischen Fakultät der LMU München. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The approach of the study was set up by TF, FB and SK. Experimental design was done by FB and DS. Fusion proteins were designed by FB, TF and SK. EO, FB, JM, AA, SW, DS, TW, NH and TK performed experiments. FB and TF wrote the manuscript. The manuscript was reviewed by all co-authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Kinderkrebshilfe Ebersberg e.V., Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) -SFB- TRR 338/1 2021 -452881907, Gesellschaft für Kinderkrebsforschung, Bettina Bräu Stiftung, and the Gertrud und Hugo Adler Stiftung. SW was supported by the Else-Kröner-Fresenius Stiftung, and DS was supported by the German Cancer Research Center/German Cancer Consortium (DKTK). SK is supported by the Marie-Sklodowska-Curie Program Training Network for Optimizing Adoptive T cell therapy (Grant 955575), funded by the H2020 Program of the European Union, the Hector foundation, the International Doctoral Program i Target: Immunotargeting of Cancer funded by the Elite Network of Bavaria; Melanoma Research Alliance Grants 409510; the German Cancer Aid; the Ernst-Jung-Stiftung (SK); LMU Munich's Institutional Strategy LMUexcellent within the framework of the German Excellence Initiative (SK); the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung; by the European Research Council Grant 756017, ARMOR-T (to SK), by the German Research Foundation (DFG), the SFB- TRR 338/1 2021 -452881907, the Fritz-Bender-Foundation, and the José-Carreras Foundation. EO was supported by the Kind-Philipp-Stiftung, AA was supported by the Bettina Bräu Stiftung, and JM was supported by the German Cancer Aid (Deutsche Krebshilfe).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Nadine Stoll for excellent technical assistance.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 845499/full#supplementary-material Supplementary Figure 1 | Expression levels of TIM-3, cellular composition, and quality control. (A) Leukemia and lymphoma cell lines were stimulated with 100 ng/ml TNF- α for 48 h, and TIM-3 expression was evaluated by flow cytometry with/without stimulation. Experiment was performed in technical triplicates. (B) GeoMean fluorescent intensity of TIM-3 on T cells transduced with the different fusion proteins as determined by flow cytometry. N \geq 3 individual donors. Cellular composition (C) and phenotype (D) of the T-cell culture 12 days after transduction were analyzed by flow cytometric staining for CD3, CD4, CD8, CD56, c-myc, CD14, and CD19 (C) and CD62L, CD45RO, and CD95 (D). N \geq 3 individual donors. Viability (E) and expansion rate (F) of transduced T cells were evaluated by trypan blue stain/cell count throughout the culture period. N \geq 3 individual donors. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments (B–F). Teff, effector T cells; Tem, effector memory T cells; Tom, central memory T cells; Tscm, stem cell-like memory T cells; Tn, naïve T cells.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Proliferation and cytokine release of fusion proteintransduced T cells. (A) Fusion receptor-transduced T cells were cultured without prior anti-CD3 coating. Percent proliferating T cells was evaluated by CTV staining. (B, C) Background cytokine release of fusion receptor T cells without prior anti-CD3 stimulation. (D–G) Fusion protein-transduced T cells were cultured with/without anti-CD3 and the soluble ligands galectin-9 and HMGB1. Cytokine release was determined by intracellular cytokine stain for IFN- γ (D, E) and TNF- α (F, G). Experiments were performed in two individual donors and technical duplicates. Data are representative of two independent experiments. Unpaired t-test was performed to determine significance (D–G). FC, fold change; ns, not significant. Physiologic expression levels of TIM-3 ligands are shown in Supplementary Figure 3.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Expression levels of TIM-3 ligands. Physiologic expression levels of TIM-3 ligands CEACAM1 (A), Galectin-9 (B), and HMGB1 (C) were extracted from publicly available RNA-seq data (DICE dataset, https://dice-database.org/).

Supplementary Figure 4 | Viability of first- and second-generation CAR T cells. Viability of first-generation (**A**) and second-generation (**B**) CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins was analyzed by trypan blue staining throughout the culture period. N = 2 individual donors. Data are representative of two independent experiments.

Supplementary Figure 5 | Efficacy of first-generation CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins. (A) First-generation CAR T cells were co-cultured with CEACAM1+ or CEACAM1⁻ target cells for 48 h. Cytotoxicity analysis revealed slightly reduced killing capacity against the CEACAM-expressing cell line. N = 2 donors in technical triplicates. (B) First-generation CAR T cells with/without TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins were co-cultured with CEACAM1- target cells, and cytotoxicity was evaluated 48 h later. N = 2 individual donors in technical duplicates. (C) Firstgeneration CAR T cells with/without TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins were co-cultured with CEACAM1+ target cells, and changes in absolute CAR T-cell count were detected by flow cytometry after 72 h. N = 2 individual donors in technical replicates. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. (D) CD25 surface expression was evaluated by flow cytometry on first-generation CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins +/- target cells. N = 2 individual donors in technical duplicates. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. (E) CD62L expression on first-generation CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins 12 days after transduction. N = 1 donor in technical duplicates. (F) T-cell subpopulation of first-generation CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins was analyzed by flow cytometry staining for CD62L, CD45RO, and CD95 on day 12 after transduction. N = 1 donor in technical duplicates. Data are representative of two independent experiments (A-D) and of one experiment (E, F), respectively. Teff, effector T cells; Tem, effector memory T cells; Tcm, central memory T cells; Tscm, stem cell-like memory T cells; Tn, naïve T cells; E:T, effector-to-target ratio.

Supplementary Figure 6 | Efficacy of second-generation CAR T cells with/ without fusion proteins. (A) Second-generation CAR T cells were co-cultured with CEACAM1⁺ or CEACAM1⁻ target cells for 48 h. Cytotoxicity analysis revealed slightly reduced killing capacity against the CECAM1-expressing cell line. N = 2 donors in technical triplicates. Data are representative of two independent experiments. (B) Killing capacity of second-generation CAR T cells with/without TIM-3-CD28 fusion proteins was analyzed 48 h after starting the co-culture with CD19⁺/CEACAM1⁻ or CEACAM⁺ target cells. N = 1 individual donor in technical duplicates for the 1:1 E/T ratio in the CEACAM⁺ condition and n = 2 individual donors in technical duplicates for all other conditions. Data are representative of at least one independent experiment. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical significance. **(C)** Fold expansion (relative to cell count on day of transduction) was calculated for second-generation CARs +/- fusion protein throughout the culture process. N = 2 individual donors. **(D)** Intracellular cytokine stain was performed after co-culturing second-generation CAR T cells with/

REFERENCES

- Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells for Acute Lymphoid Leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 368:1509–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T Cells Expressing CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptors for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia in Children and Young Adults: A Phase 1 Dose-Escalation Trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385:517–28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (14)61403-3
- Gardner RA, Finney O, Annesley C, Brakke H, Summers C, Leger K, et al. Intent-To-Treat Leukemia Remission by CD19 CAR T Cells of Defined Formulation and Dose in Children and Young Adults. *Blood* (2017) 129:3322–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769208
- Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA, et al. Axicabtagene Ciloleucel CAR T-Cell Therapy in Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2017) 377:2531–44. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1707447
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults With B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2018) 378:439–48. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1709866
- 6. O'leary MC, Lu X, Huang Y, Lin X, Mahmood I, Przepiorka D, et al. FDA Approval Summary: Tisagenlecleucel for Treatment of Patients With Relapsed or Refractory B-Cell Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:1142–6. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2035
- Orlando EJ, Han X, Tribouley C, Wood PA, Leary RJ, Riester M, et al. Genetic Mechanisms of Target Antigen Loss in CAR19 Therapy of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:1504–6. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0146-z
- Ruella M, Xu J, Barrett DM, Fraietta JA, Reich TJ, Ambrose DE, et al. Induction of Resistance to Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Therapy by Transduction of a Single Leukemic B Cell. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:1499–503. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0201-9
- Shah NN, Fry TJ. Mechanisms of Resistance to CAR T Cell Therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2019) 16:372–85. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0184-6
- Pardoll DM. The Blockade of Immune Checkpoints in Cancer Immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer Immunotherapy Using Checkpoint Blockade. Science (2018) 359:1350–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060
- Monney L, Sabatos CA, Gaglia JL, Ryu A, Waldner H, Chernova T, et al. Th1-Specific Cell Surface Protein Tim-3 Regulates Macrophage Activation and Severity of an Autoimmune Disease. *Nature* (2002) 415:536–41. doi: 10.1038/ 415536a
- Lee J, Su EW, Zhu C, Hainline S, Phuah J, Moroco JA, et al. Phosphotyrosine-Dependent Coupling of Tim-3 to T-Cell Receptor Signaling Pathways. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 31:3963–74. doi: 10.1128/MCB.05297-11
- 14. Rangachari M, Zhu C, Sakuishi K, Xiao S, Karman J, Chen A, et al. Bat3 Promotes T Cell Responses and Autoimmunity by Repressing Tim-3-Mediated Cell Death and Exhaustion. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1394–400. doi: 10.1038/nm.2871
- Zhu C, Anderson AC, Schubart A, Xiong H, Imitola J, Khoury SJ, et al. The Tim-3 Ligand Galectin-9 Negatively Regulates T Helper Type 1 Immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:1245–52. doi: 10.1038/ni1271
- Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-Infiltrating DCs Suppress Nucleic Acid-Mediated Innate Immune Responses Through Interactions Between the Receptor TIM-3 and the Alarmin HMGB1. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:832–42. doi: 10.1038/ni.2376

without fusion protein with target cells. **(E)** T cell subpopulation of secondgeneration CAR T cells with/without fusion proteins was analyzed by flow cytometry staining for CD62L, CD45RO, and CD95 on day 12 after transduction. Data are representative of two independent experiments **(C, D)** and of one experiment **(E)**, respectively. Teff, effector T cells; Tem, effector memory T cells; Tcm, central memory T cells; Tscm, stem cell-like memory T cells; Tn, naïve T cells; E:T, effector-to-target ratio; IFN- γ , interferon gamma; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor alpha; IL-2, interleukin-2.

- Huang YH, Zhu C, Kondo Y, Anderson AC, Gandhi A, Russell A, et al. CEACAM1 Regulates TIM-3-Mediated Tolerance and Exhaustion. *Nature* (2015) 517:386–90. doi: 10.1038/nature13848
- Wolf Y, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK. TIM3 Comes of Age as an Inhibitory Receptor. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20:173–85. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0224-6
- Blaeschke F, Willier S, Stenger D, Lepenies M, Horstmann MA, Escherich G, et al. Leukemia-Induced Dysfunctional TIM-3(+)CD4(+) Bone Marrow T Cells Increase Risk of Relapse in Pediatric B-Precursor ALL Patients. *Leukemia* (2020) 34:2607–20. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0793-1
- Martins F, Sofiya L, Sykiotis GP, Lamine F, Maillard M, Fraga M, et al. Adverse Effects of Immune-Checkpoint Inhibitors: Epidemiology, Management and Surveillance. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2019) 16:563–80. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0218-0
- Kobold S, Grassmann S, Chaloupka M, Lampert C, Wenk S, Kraus F, et al. Impact of a New Fusion Receptor on PD-1-Mediated Immunosuppression in Adoptive T Cell Therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst (2015) 107. doi: 10.1093/jnci/ djv146
- 22. Liu X, Ranganathan R, Jiang S, Fang C, Sun J, Kim S, et al. A Chimeric Switch-Receptor Targeting PD1 Augments the Efficacy of Second-Generation CAR T Cells in Advanced Solid Tumors. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76:1578–90. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-15-2524
- Oda SK, Daman AW, Garcia NM, Wagener F, Schmitt TM, Tan X, et al. A CD200R-CD28 Fusion Protein Appropriates an Inhibitory Signal to Enhance T-Cell Function and Therapy of Murine Leukemia. *Blood* (2017) 130:2410–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-777052
- 24. Rataj F, Kraus FBT, Chaloupka M, Grassmann S, Heise C, Cadilha BL, et al. PD1-CD28 Fusion Protein Enables CD4+ T Cell Help for Adoptive T Cell Therapy in Models of Pancreatic Cancer and Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1955. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01955
- Blaeschke F, Stenger D, Apfelbeck A, Cadilha BL, Benmebarek MR, Mahdawi J, et al. Augmenting Anti-CD19 and Anti-CD22 CAR T-Cell Function Using PD-1-CD28 Checkpoint Fusion Proteins. *Blood Cancer J* (2021) 11:108. doi: 10.1038/s41408-021-00499-z
- Zhao S, Wang C, Lu P, Lou Y, Liu H, Wang T, et al. Switch Receptor T3/28 Improves Long-Term Persistence and Antitumor Efficacy of CAR-T Cells. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003176
- Tokarew N, Ogonek J, Endres S, Von Bergwelt-Baildon M, Kobold S. Teaching an Old Dog New Tricks: Next-Generation CAR T Cells. Br J Cancer (2019) 120:26–37. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0325-1
- Rezaei M, Tan J, Zeng C, Li Y, Ganjalikhani-Hakemi M. TIM-3 in Leukemia; Immune Response and Beyond. Front Oncol (2021) 11:753677. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.753677
- Zhang Y, Cai P, Li L, Shi L, Chang P, Liang T, et al. Co-Expression of TIM-3 and CEACAM1 Promotes T Cell Exhaustion in Colorectal Cancer Patients. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2017) 43:210–8. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2016.12.024
- Schlenker R, Olguin-Contreras LF, Leisegang M, Schnappinger J, Disovic A, Ruhland S, et al. Chimeric PD-1:28 Receptor Upgrades Low-Avidity T Cells and Restores Effector Function of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes for Adoptive Cell Therapy. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77:3577–90. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1922
- Liu H, Lei W, Zhang C, Yang C, Wei J, Guo Q, et al. CD19-Specific CAR T Cells That Express a PD-1/CD28 Chimeric Switch-Receptor Are Effective in Patients With PD-L1-Positive B-Cell Lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27:473–84. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1457

Conflict of Interest: FB and SK: Patent applications have been filed in the field of immuno-oncology. SK has licensed IP to TCR2 Inc, Boston, USA and Carina

Biotech, Adelaide, Australia. SK has received research support from TCR2 Inc, Boston, USA and Arcus Biosciences, San Francisco, USA. SK has received honoraria from TCR2 Inc, BMS, and Novartis.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in

this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Blaeschke, Ortner, Stenger, Mahdawi, Apfelbeck, Habjan, Weißer, Kaeuferle, Willier, Kobold and Feuchtinger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Impact of Manufacturing Procedures on CAR T Cell Functionality

Norihiro Watanabe^{1*}, Feiyan Mo^{1,2} and Mary Kathryn McKenna¹

¹ Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Texas Children's Hospital and Houston Methodist Hospital, Houston, TX, United States, ² Graduate Program in Translational Biology and Molecular Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

The field of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) modified T cell therapy has rapidly expanded in the past few decades. As of today, there are six CAR T cell products that have been approved by the FDA: KYMRIAH (tisagenlecleucel, CD19 CAR T cells), YESCARTA (axicabtagene ciloleucel, CD19 CAR T cells), TECARTUS (brexucabtagene autoleucel, CD19 CAR T cells), BREYANZI (lisocabtagene maraleucel, CD19 CAR T cells), ABECMA (idecabtagene vicleucel, BCMA CAR T cells) and CARVYKTI (ciltacabtagene autoleucel, BCMA CAR T cells). With this clinical success, CAR T cell therapy has become one of the most promising treatment options to combat cancers. Current research efforts focus on further potentiating its efficacy in non-responding patients and solid tumor settings. To achieve this, recent evidence suggested that, apart from developing next-generation CAR T cells with additional genetic modifications, *ex vivo* culture conditions could significantly impact CAR T cell functionality – an often overlooked aspect during clinical translation. In this review, we focus on the *ex vivo* manufacturing process for CAR T cells and discuss how it impacts CAR T cell function.

Keywords: CAR T cell, *ex vivo* expansion, culture media, serum, cytokines, pharmacological inhibitor, manufacturing time, cryopreservation

INTRODUCTION

With the promising clinical success of CD19 CAR T cell therapy for B-cell lineage malignancies (1–4), there have been more and more publications focusing on ways to enhance CAR T cell function by complex genetic engineering (5–7). However, less attention has been paid to culture methods for the *ex vivo* maintenance of therapeutic T cells, a necessary step to generate CAR T cells for both preclinical research and clinical implementation, and their effects on the quality of cell products. The general procedure for manufacturing CAR T cell begins with isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Next, PBMCs or T cells that have been further enriched from PBMCs are stimulated with antibody-coated beads (e.g. Dynabeads) or plate-bound antibodies to induce T cell activation and then genetically modified using lentiviral vectors (8, 9), gamma-retroviral vectors (10, 11) or other delivery methods (12, 13) to express the cell surface CAR molecule. Subsequently, these engineered T cells are expanded in culture to reach the required cell numbers for either experimental testing or clinical treatment. Importantly, *ex vivo* culture conditions are completely different from the homeostatic environment *in vivo*, warranting detailed investigations on the impact of each manufacturing step on T cell quality. For instance,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shigeki Yagyu, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan

Reviewed by:

Lingshuang Sheng, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Naomi Taylor, National Cancer Institute (NIH), United States

*Correspondence: Norihiro Watanabe

nwatanab@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 February 2022 Accepted: 15 March 2022 Published: 13 April 2022

Citation:

Watanabe N, Mo F and McKenna MK (2022) Impact of Manufacturing Procedures on CAR T Cell Functionality. Front. Immunol. 13:876339. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.876339 reagents used for *ex vivo* CAR T cell expansion, including media, sera, cytokines, and additional medium supplements, can collectively mount a significant impact on CAR T cell function. Additionally, the duration of CAR T cell expansion before cryopreservation can also affect the overall potency of CAR T cells. As the effects of different T cell enrichment/stimulation methods and gene delivery procedures have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (14), here we will focus on the impact of culture conditions, summarize and discuss how each component/step affects CAR T cell function.

IMPACT OF CULTURE MEDIA

Selection of media is one of the first considerations for *ex vivo* CAR T cell expansion. Historically, RPMI-1640 medium has been widely used for T cell manufacturing. It is however unclear if this is the best choice for generating clinical-grade CAR T cells. Currently, there are a variety of media available in the market, all designed to support optimal T cell expansion. It is therefore important to compare and choose the right medium, with the first and foremost objective being sufficient T cell expansion that meets the required cell doses for treatment.

Sato et al. compared expansion of OKT3-stimulated PBMCs in different media (RPMI-1640, AIM-V and Optimizer) supplemented with low concentrations of autologous serum (1-8%) in the presence of IL-2 (175 IU/mL) (15). The 7-day fold expansion of T cells in each medium was 52.7 \pm 13.1 (RPMI-1640), 25.9 \pm 16.8 (AIM-V) and 55.5 \pm 20.6 (Optimizer). However, fold expansion on day 12 was similar between Optimizer (1180 \pm 51) and AIM-V (1110 \pm 71) but lower in RPMI-1640 (not defined). Of note, serum concentration was 8% at the beginning of culture and was diluted every 2-3 days when new media were replenished, with the resulting serum concentration reaching 1% on day 7 and maintaining at that level. These results demonstrated that T cell expansion in RPMI-1640 is highly dependent on serum concentrations.

In another study, Lu et al. compared three serum-free media (SFM): Optimizer, X-VIVO15 and TexMACS, for *ex vivo* OKT3stimulated T cell expansion in the presence of IL-2 (300 IU/mL) for 6 days (16). Using SFM is ideal for clinical manufacturing of CAR T cell products, since it prevents or reduces the risk of inconsistent CAR T cell functionality resulting from lot-to-lot variations of serum quality (17–19). Among the three SFM tested, Optimizer resulted in the greatest number of stimulated T cells. However, the overall cell expansion in all SFM conditions was significantly lower than that in the AIM-V medium supplemented with 5% human serum (HS), which was their institutional standard for CAR T cell manufacture.

Finally, Xu et al. performed a comprehensive medium comparison study evaluating the growth of anti-CD3/CD28-activated T cells in various medium formulations, either with or without serum addition (20). Here, they compared RPMI-1640 (+10%FBS), IMDM (+10%FBS), AIM-V (+10% human AB serum), Optimizer, X-VIVO 15, and StemSpan SFEM, all supplemented with exogenous IL-2 (1,000 IU/mL). Over the

course of a 10-day *ex vivo* cell expansion period, the authors found that activated T cells maintained in the Optimizer medium achieved the highest T cell number. In addition, they characterized T cell memory phenotypes at the end of expansion, but did not observe any statistical difference among various culture conditions. It is important to point out that this finding is contradictory to the one reported by Lu et al. where AIM-V (+5% HS) outperformed Optimizer in terms of cell expansion. This could be in part due to the difference in the cytokine concentrations and/or sources of sera used by those two groups. Although future studies from independent groups with side-byside comparisons are still required, these aforementioned three studies suggest that the choice of media has a significant impact on *ex vivo* expansion of OKT3- or OKT3/CD28-stimulated T cells used for CAR T cell generation.

In addition to cell expansion, an equally important goal is to generate CAR T cell products with the highest function possible. Medvec et al. compared CAR T cell function after growing them in different media (21) and reported that in the absence of serum supplementation, a chemically defined medium, 1B2H, supported ex vivo T cell proliferation to a similar level with that of the X-VIVO15 SFM, with selective expansion of T cells exhibiting a more differentiated phenotype (CCR7-CD27-). Anti-CD19 CAR T cells expanded in 1B2H showed potent in vivo anti-tumor activity with improved T cell persistence compared to CAR T cells expanded in X-VIVO15, even though CAR T cells maintained in X-VIVO15 contained slightly higher percentages of T cells with a less differentiated phenotype at the end of ex vivo expansion. However, these results conflict with a number of published studies demonstrating the importance of maintaining a less differentiated T cell phenotype for prolonged in vivo T cell persistence in adoptive T cell therapies (22-26). Although the authors did not elucidate the underlying mechanism of 1B2Hinduced enhancement of in vivo anti-tumor activity, their data indicated that 1B2H might have the potential to improve expansion of CAR T cells generated from cancer patients whose T cells are prone to poor proliferation with a more differentiated phenotype. Notably, the authors also evaluated the effect of HS in 1B2H which will be discussed in the following section. Above results are summarized in Table 1.

IMPACT OF SERA AND SERUM SUBSTITUTES

While the cell therapy field is shifting towards SFM, most current clinical CAR T cell manufacturing protocols still utilize sera to support *ex vivo* T cell growth (16, 27). Currently, fetal bovine serum (FBS) and HS have been widely used for CAR T cell manufacture. Since the use of FBS may be immunogeneic and has the potential to transmit non-human pathogen(s), human-derived supplements are preferable for clinical application. In addition to HS, multiple serum substitutes derived from human blood have been tested in CAR T cell manufacture. For example, Ghassemi et al. investigated the effect of Physiologix XF (Phx), a concentrated extract from human transfusion grade whole blood

Activation method	Cytokine	Medium	Serum	Expansion period	Cell ex	pansion	Ref
Plate-bound OKT3	IL-2	RPMI-1640	autologous serum	7 and 12 days	52.7±13.1	Lowest (not specified)	(15)
(3.3 μg/mL)	(175 IU/mL)	AIM-V	(8% gradually reduced to 1%)		25.9±16.8	1110±71	. ,
		Optimizer			55.5±20.6	1180±51	
Soluble OKT3 (50ng/mL)	IL-2 (300 IU/mL)	Optimizer X-VIVO15 TexMACS	()	6 days) > Optimizer > > TexMACS	(16)
		AIM-V	5% HS				
		RPMI-1640 IMDM	10% FBS			42.3 × 10 ⁵ 87.0 × 10 ⁵	
Dynabeads Human T-Activator CD3/CD28	IL-2 (1000 IU/mL)	AIM-V	10% AB serum	10 days	426.0 ±	46.6 × 10 ⁵	(20)
		Optimizer	()		549.0 ±	82.7 × 10 ⁵	
		X-VIVO15			374.0 ± 9	98.0 × 10 ⁵	
		StemSpan SFEM			110.6 ± 2	23.4 × 10 ⁵	
Dynabeads Human	Not specified	RPMI-1640 AIM-V	(-)	15 days		15 >>> AIM-V > I-1640	(21)
T-Expander CD3/CD28		X-VIVO15					
		1B2H (+ glucose & galactose)					

TABLE 1 | Impact of media on cell expansion.

fractions as a serum replacement, on CAR T cell expansion and function (28). They used different media, namely RPMI-1640, X-VIVO15 and Optimizer, and compared Phx (2%)-supplemented media with serum-containing media (10%FBS + RPMI1640, 5% HS + X-VIVO15, 5%HS + Optimizer). Phx-supplemented media exhibited comparable T cell expansion to serum-containing media, with the exception of the 10%FBS + RPMI condition that led to the greatest T cell expansion after 9-11 days of culture. The authors further analyzed the metabolites contained in Phx and HS and found modestly elevated levels of carnosine along with several monosaccharide derivatives in Phx compared to HS. Supplying carnosine to HS-containing media enhanced the expression of genes delivered by lentiviral vectors and shifted the metabolic profile of activated T cells from a glycolytic state to an oxidative one, which has been shown to correlate with superior anti-tumor function (29-32). Although the authors did not show the metabolic profile of CAR T cells expanded in Phx-supplemented Optimizer, in a mouse xenograft model of neuroblastoma, GD2 CAR T cells cultured under this condition exhibited more potent tumor control compared to T cells expanded in HS-containing Optimizer.

Our group has also explored the effect of three different types of sera: FBS, human AB serum and human platelet lysate (HPL), on CAR T cell function during *ex vivo* expansion (33). There was no difference in CAR T cell expansion when 10% of each serum was supplemented to the base medium (1:1 mixture of RMPI-1640 and Click's medium), however, when serum concentrations were titrated down to 5% and 2.5%, FBS was unable to support CAR T cell expansion while similar levels of robust expansion were achieved across the HPL conditions regardless of concentrations. Strikingly, CAR T cells expanded in the HPL- supplemented medium maintained a large fraction of less differentiated T cells (naïve and central memory) compared to those cultured with other sera assessed by both cell surface phenotypes and gene expression signatures. As a result, HPL-cultured CAR T cells showed potent *in vivo* anti-tumor activity in both hematological (B cell leukemia treated with CD19 CAR) and solid tumor (pancreatic adenocarcinoma treated with PSCA CAR) models with prolonged T cell persistence. Another benefit of choosing HPL for CAR T cell manufacture is its lot-to-lot consistency, as demonstrated by Canestrari et al. in a study where they compared cytokine levels in ten different lots of HPL (34).

Because serum composition is very complex, it is hard to pinpoint which factor(s) in HPL is responsible for its superior performance. Nonetheless, we were able to show that transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF β 1), which plays an important role in memory T cell pool formation (35, 36), is elevated in HPL compared to human AB serum by human proteomic analysis (34). Indeed, supplementing TGF β 1 into the FBS-containing medium greatly increased the percentage of CAR T cells with a less differentiated phenotype during *ex vivo* expansion, consistent with another independent report (37). However, not surprisingly, since TGF β 1 is a potent immunosuppressive cytokine, the antitumor effect of TGF β 1-exposed CAR T cells was strongly inhibited in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, suggesting that there are multiple cytokines/proteins in HPL contributing to enhanced CAR T cell function.

It is worth noting that although a number of publications, including aforementioned ones, have shown the benefit of serum supplementation, Medvec et al. reported negative effects resulting from serum addition under certain culture conditions (14), in a study described in the previous section. When comparing the effects of a chemically defined medium 1B2H and X-VIVO15 SFM, they found that CD19 CAR T cells showed significantly lower percentages of TNFa (+) and IL-2 (+) cells upon K562-CD19 stimulation when they were expanded in the presence of HS compared to those without HS. However, this was only observed when CAR T cells were generated from healthy donors rather than multiple myeloma patient samples. Despite this inferior cytokine secretion profile, 1B2H (serum-free)-expanded CAR T cells showed the most potent in vivo anti-tumor effects when compared to 1B2H (HS), X-VIVO15 (HS) and X-VIVO15 (serum-free) conditions. Although the underlying mechanism is still unknown, these results suggested that depending on the choice of medium, serum components might have an undesireable impact on CAR T cell function. Above results are summarized in Table 2.

IMPACT OF EXOGENOUS CYTOKINES

The addition of exogenous cytokines in cell culture promotes CAR T cell expansion and alters T cell phenotype and function. IL-2 is the most common cytokine used to expand CAR T cells including commercial products, such as KYMRIAH and YESCARTA (38, 39). Yet, preclinical studies utilizing other common gamma-chain (yc) cytokines such as IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21 have led to more effective immunotherapies and clinical investigations are underway (14, 40, 41). Therefore, the choice of cytokine supplementation during CAR T cell manufacturing must be considered to achieve enhanced T cell effector function and persistence.

In many current protocols, peripheral blood lymphocytes that are redirected to tumors with CARs are expanded in IL-2. IL-2 is primarily secreted from activated T cells and plays a role in T cell proliferation, differentiation, and contraction through activation induced cell death (42). IL-2 has been shown to promote both Th1 and Th2 effector T cell differentiation while inhibiting Th17 polarization. It also results in the expansion of regulatory T cells which express the high affinity IL-2 receptor and are known to limit inflammatory responses and impede anti-tumor activity (43). In a study comparing the expansion and efficacy of CD19 CAR T cells grown in IL-2 versus IL-7/15, two other homeostatic cytokines, IL-2-cultured CAR T cells (hereafter IL-2 CAR T cells) highly expressed the CAR molecule on day three post transduction and expanded 100 folds during two weeks of culture (44). IL-2 CAR T cells were robust in killing tumor cells both in vitro and in vivo, but overtime CAR T cells expanded in IL-7/15 outperformed IL-2 CAR T cells with increased expansion and improved persistence. Furthermore, IL-2 CAR T cells contained more regulatory T cells and expressed higher levels of PD-1 after multiple rounds of antigen stimulation, leading the authors to suggest that IL-2 CAR T cells are more exhausted compared to IL-7/15-expanded ones. Similar results were also found by Xu and colleagues that among CAR T cells expanded with different common yc cytokines, IL-2-exposed CAR T cells exhibited the poorest anti-tumor function (45). This particular study comprehensively measured the effect of single cytokine supplement on an anti-Folate receptor alpha-CAR and determined that addition of IL-2, IL-7, or IL-15 resulted in the greatest fold expansion compared to other conditions including no cytokine, IL-18, and IL-21. However, IL-21-exposed CAR T cells exhibited the greatest expansion of less differentiated CAR T cells defined by the CD62L+CCR7+CD27+CD28+ phenotype and therefore prolonged persistence in in vivo models. The authors suggested that while IL-2 had been widely used in the generation of clinical-grade CAR T cells, it might not be the best condition, but rather IL-7- and IL-15-expanded CAR T cells exhibited better properties (expansion, cytotoxicity, cytokine secretion) before in vivo infusion and IL-15- and IL-21-cultured CAR T cells might be best suited for optimal in vivo activity (45).

IL-21 is also a member of the common γc cytokine family and has been shown to enrich a less differentiated phenotype of T cells (46). In combination with IL-2, IL-21 supplemented to CAR T cell culture media was found to increase CAR T cell proliferation, promote outgrowth of naïve and memory T cells, improve antitumor function and also increase the expression of CAR molecules on the surface of T cells transfected with the Sleeping Beauty transposon (47). The improved CAR expression with IL-21 supplement after lentiviral transduction was also observed in studies by Du et al., through dampened IFNy expression (48).

Serum	Medium	Cell expansion	Outcomes	Ref	
10% FBS 2% Phx	RPMI-1640	Greatest expansion in	5% HS vs 2% Phx in Optimizer		
5% HS 2% Phx	X-VIVO15	10% FBS+RPMI-1640 compared to other conditions	 enhanced lentiviral-mediated gene expression in Phx enhanced GD2 CAR T cell activity <i>in vivo</i> in Phx 		
5% HS 2% Phx	Optimizer				
10% FBS	RPMI-1640	Comparable in 10% serum	HPL-maintained T cells had a less-differentiated phenotype in vitro		
10% AB serum	+ Click's medium	conditions (lower expansion in FBS if % serum is reduced)	 HPL-cultured CAR T cells exhibited enhanced proliferation upon <i>in vitro</i> antigen stimulation HPL-expanded CD19 CAR and PSCA CAR T cells exhibited superior <i>in vivc</i> 		
10% HPL			anti-tumor effect with prolonged T cell persistence		
(–) 5% HS	X-VIVO 15	Comparable	CD19 CAR T cells cultured in 1B2H (no serum) showed better in vivo anti-	(21)	
(–) 5% HS	1B2H (+ glucose & galactose)		tumor effect compared to the ones in 1B2H (5% HS)		

While IL-21 alone did not result in robust CAR T cell proliferation (45), when used in combination with other cytokines such as IL-7 and IL-15, IL-21 improved CAR T cell effector function (48).

With the discovery that T cells exhibiting a less differentiated phenotype, such as stem-cell like memory cells (T_{SCM}), are correlated with improved clinical outcomes, many studies have worked to maintain this population in CAR T cell products (49). In an effort to continue the use of IL-2, Kaartinen and colleagues titrated the dose of IL-2 for CD19 CAR T cell expansion and found that low doses of IL-2 (5 U/ml) resulted in less differentiated T cells but at the cost of reduced expansion, similar to that of no cytokine supplementation, and less effector function (50). The authors did note that if in vitro expanded T_{SCM} cells exhibited similar homing features to their physiological counterparts, then those cells might not have a strong capacity to enter the periphery and reach the tumor sites, and thus might not be the best product for solid tumor treatment. However, studies to preserve minimally differentiated T cells in ex vivo expansion are of current interest due to their potentially enhanced anti-tumor activity via increased persistence. Ultimately the combination of cytokines such as IL-7 and IL-15 have shown promise to preserve CD45RA+CCR7+ and CD45RA-CCR7+ T cells with improved proliferation after antigen exposure (42, 51). Above results are summarized in Table 3.

Interestingly, besides the common γc cytokine family and IL-18, *ex vivo* expanded CAR T cells in the presence of TGF β 1 has also been shown to promote central memory T cell accumulation and BCMA-targeting CAR T cells exhibited improved antitumor activity when exposed to TGF β 1 (37).

IMPACT OF PHARMACOLOGICAL INHIBITORS

Standard *ex vivo* expansion procedures often inevitably accelerate terminal differentiation and senescence of T cells, since initial TCR stimulation, CAR tonic signaling, and cytokine signaling can all lead to activation of signaling transduction pathways that drive effector T cell differentiation. In addition, as most cancer patients have undergone multiple rounds of pre-treatment, their T cells often exhibit an exhausted and/or senescent phenotype, resulting in poor expansion and functionality of their CAR T cell products. Therefore, multiple studies supplemented T cell culture with pharmacological inhibitors that specifically suppressing cellular programs that drive T cell terminal differentiation, exhaustion, and/or senescence, in order to reinvigorate patients' T cells and improve CAR T cell fitness during manufacture (**Table 4**).

As integrated signals from CD3ζ, costimulatory molecules and cytokine receptors lead to activation of a vast signaling transduction network in T cells, the majority of studies targeted critical components of a chosen signaling pathway, in order to selectively block pathways that mediate effector T cell differentiation while sparing pathways that contribute to T cell activation, proliferation, and memory formation. The most extensively explored pathway to date is PI3K/AKT/mTOR, a pathway known to facilitate T cell proliferation and effector differentiation through promoting glycolytic metabolism and functional suppression of the

transcription factor FOXO1 (60, 62). Two independent groups reported that compared to conventionally grown CD19 CAR T cells, the addition of AKT inhibitors during manufacture resulted in enrichment of CAR T cells with a CD62L-expressing central memory (T_{CM}) phenotype and enhanced anti-tumor efficacy in different xenograft models, without compromising cell yields (62, 63). Multiple other studies have targeted PI3K, a kinase upstream of AKT, and demonstrated that PI3K blockade helped a variety of CAR T cells maintain a less differentiated phenotype with enhanced in vivo persistence and anti-tumor efficacy (52-57). Of note, one study compared the effect of blocking AKT versus PI3K δ (a subset of PI3Ks) using mesothelin-specific CAR T cells and found that PI3K\delta inhibition upregulated the stem cell memory transcription factor TCF7 more than AKT inhibition, translating to better in vivo anti-tumor efficacy (56). Another study compared the efficacy of inhibitors specific to different subsets of PI3Ks and found that PI3K\delta suppression resulted in better CAR T cell functionality compared to PI3Ky blockade in vitro (55). Importantly, two studies also demonstrated the feasibility of utilizing PI3K blockade to generate CD19 CAR T cells with superior anti-tumor activity in xenograft models of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL), using T cells derived from CLL patients (54, 57).

Apart from targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway components, several studies took advantage of other signaling pathways involved in T cell activation. One such study used ibrutinib to inhibit interleukin-2-inducible T-cell kinase (ITK) signaling that is involved in T cell differentiation (58). This approach improved the overall quality of CD19 CAR T cells generated from CLL patients, in that the ibrutinib-treated CAR T cells expressed lower percentages of exhaustion markers including PD-1, TIM-3 and LAG-3, and had elevated TNFα and IFNγ production following target stimulation in vitro (58). Another group used sorted CD8+CD62L+CD45RA+ naïve precursor T cells as the starting material, genetically engineered and expanded them in the presence of a mixture of IL-7, IL-21 and glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK- 3β) inhibitor TWS119 (59). As GSK- 3β destabilizes β -catenin (61), an activator of transcription factors (e.g., LEF/TCF) that facilitate expression of genes responsible for memory T cell differentiation, addition of the GSK-3ß inhibitor along with IL-7 and IL-21 enriched for CD19 CAR-expressing CD45RO-CCR7 +CD45RA+CD62L+CD27+CD95+ T_{SCM} that showed enhanced metabolic fitness and long-lasting anti-tumor activity in a leukemia xenograft model. A third study identified that inhibition of p38 kinase, a key driver of T cell senescence (64, 65), led to an increased percentage of CD62L⁺ human CD19 CAR T cells with elevated IFNy production following *in vitro* stimulation (66). They also showed that murine CD19 CAR T cells cultured in the presence of the p38 inhibitor had augmented anti-tumor activity in vivo (66). Last but not least, it has been reported that reversible yet complete blockade of CAR tonic signaling during manufacture using dasatinib (67, 68), a Src-family kinase inhibitor suppressing the function of LCK/FYN (69) that transmits CAR activation signals from CD3ζ to downstream Syk-family kinases, resulted in GD2 CAR T cells enriched for the CD62L+CD45RO+ $\rm T_{CM}$ subset, with lower expression of exhaustion markers including PD-1, TIM3, and

 TABLE 3 | Impact of exogenous cytokines on CAR T cell expansion and function.

CAR	c	Cytokine	Expansion	Phenotype	Notes	Re
19BBz	IL-2 (20	00U/mL)	100-fold (2 weeks)	Promoted CD8+ Effector Memory (CD45RA-CD62L-, CD45RA+CD62L-)	- Treg expansion	(44
19002		Dng/mL) (10ng/mL)	>200-fold (2 weeks)	Promoted CD8+ naïve (CD45RA+CD62L+) & central memory (CD45RA-CD62L+)	- ↓ apoptosis - ↑ engraftment - ↑ anti-tumor activity	
	IL-2 (10ng/mL)		150-fold (2 weeks)	Mature Effectors (CD45RA-CD62L- & CD45RA+CD62L-)	-↓apoptosis, - ↑TNFα	
C4-27z & CD19-27z	IL-7 (10ng/mL)		150-fold (2 weeks)	Highest T _{SCM} population (CD45RA+CD62L+CD95+)	-↓apoptosis -↑proliferation capacity	
	IL-15 (10ng/mL)		150-fold (2 weeks)	Promote T _{CM} (CD45RA-CD62L+)	-↓apoptosis -↑anti-tumor activity <i>in vivo</i>	
	IL-18 (10ng/mL) 30-fold (2 weeks) IL-21 (10ng/mL) 50-fold (2 weeks)		. ,	Phenotype similar to no cytokine control Increased CD62L+	- ↑ Granzyme - ↑ <i>in vivo</i> T cell persistence - Preserved CAR expression	
CD19-CD28z	z IL-2	0 U/mL	11-fold (10 days)	Early memory T cells (T _{SCM}) CD95+CD45RO-CD45RA+CD27+ present with low IL-2 and short expansion time		
		5 U/mL	12-fold (10 days)		- More IL-2 decreased early memory T cells	(EO)
		20 U/mL	39-fold (10 days)			(50)
		100 U/mL	60-fold (10 days)			
		300 U/mL	62-fold (10 days)			
CD19RCD28	IL-2 (50 +IL-21)U/mL) (30ng/mL)	39.2-fold (14 days)	CD8+ memory and naïve cells	 ↑ CAR expression overtime ↑ antitumor activity compared to IL-2 alone 	(47)
	IL-2 (150U/mL) Approx.100-fold (12 days) IL-7 (10ng/mL) Approx.20-fold (12 days) IL-15 (10ng/mL) Approx.70-fold (12 days) IL-2 (150U/mL) >100-fold (12 days) +IL-21 (20ng/mL) >100-fold (12 days) IL-7 (10ng/mL) Approx.70-fold (12 days) IL-7 (10ng/mL) Approx.70-fold +IL-21 (20ng/mL) (12 days) IL-7 (10ng/mL) Approx.30-fold +IL-21 (20ng/mL) (12 days) IL-15 (10ng/mL) >100-fold (12 days) +IL-21 (20ng/mL) >100-fold (12 days)			IL-21 promoted naïve like and T _{CM}		
Her.2 BBz			>100-fold (12 days)		-IL-21 ↑CAR expression by reducing IFNγ	(48)
					- IL-15 + IL-21 best combination for expansion and effector function	
			>100-fold (12 days)			
			>100-fold (12 days)			

TABLE 4 | Summarization of studies on pharmacological inhibitors.

Pharmacological inhibitors	Cellular targets	CAR specificity	Ref	
Akt inhibitor VIII (aka Akti-1/2; PubChem Compound Identification: 10196499)	AKT	CD19	(52, 53)	
LY294002	PI3K	CD33	(54)	
bb007	PI3K	BCMA	(55)	
Idelalisib (aka CAL-101)	ΡΙ3Κδ	CD19	(56)	
Idelalisib (aka CAL-101)	ΡΙ3Κδ	Mesothelin	(57, 58)	
Umbralisib (aka TGR-1202)	ΡΙ3Κδ	Mesothelin	(57)	
Eganelisib (aka IPI-549)	ΡΙ3Κγ	Mesothelin	(57)	
Duvelisib	ΡΙ3Κδ/ΡΙ3Κγ	CD19	(59)	
Ibrutinib	ITK	CD19	(60)	
TWS119	GSK-3β	CD19	(61)	

LAG-3, as well as augmented *in vivo* function in a xenograft tumor model, compared to non-treated CAR T cells (70).

Besides signaling cascade blockade, other efforts to maintain minimally differentiated CAR T cells include epigenetic and metabolic interventions. One example is the a bromodomain and extra-terminal motif (BET) protein inhibitor JQ-1, which enabled enrichment of human CD19 CAR T cells with T_{SCM} and T_{CM} phenotypes as well as superior in vivo persistence and antitumor effects (71). Notably, ex vivo treatment of JQ-1 also reinvigorated exhausted and dysfunctional CD19 CAR T cells sourced from non-responding CLL patients (72). Mechanistically, BET proteins represent a protein family responsible for epigenetic marker recognition and transcriptional factor recruitment. Suppression of the BET protein BRD4 downregulates BATF gene expression in CD8⁺ T cells, thereby inhibiting T cell differentiation into the effector memory phenotype (71). Blocking BRD4 also leads to upregulation of CAR transgene expression and methylcytosine dioxygenase TET2 gene (73) downregulation, ultimately improving functionality of CAR T cells derived from non-responding CLL patients (72). In terms of metabolic regulation, one study used avasimibe to inhibit the function of ACAT1, a key cholesterol esterification enzyme that reduces the plasma membrane cholesterol level of CD8+ T cells, thereby decreasing the level of TCR clustering and signaling (74). Blocking ACAT1 resulted in enrichment of CD8+ CD19 CAR T cells with enhanced in vitro cytotoxicity (75).

In addition to enriching T cells with a desirable memory phenotype, recent development also utilized pharmacological inhibitors to maintain CAR T cells with other preferred functionality. Nian et al. (76) showed that tonic signaling of EpCAM-specific CAR T cells during ex vivo expansion resulted in hyperactivation of mTORC1, which downregulated CXCR4 and impaired the ability of CAR T cells to migrate to bone marrow. By using rapamycin to attenuate mTORC1 signaling during ex vivo expansion, the treated CAR T cells, compared to untreated CAR T cells, had elevated CXCR4 expression, enhanced bone marrow infiltration capacity, and augmented cytotoxicity against bone marrow resident leukemic cells in various xenograft models of human acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In addition, they also observed similar functional improvement using a CD33specific CAR, indicating that this strategy might be generally applicable with different CAR constructs.

IMPACT OF CULTURE PERIOD

Currently, T cells for generating CAR T cell products are sourced from patients themselves. The total manufacturing time varies depending on how much starting material (PBMCs or isolated T cells) is available and how fast patient-derived T cells grow. In some cases, patients failed to respond to treatment due to rapid disease progression during the lengthy manufacturing period. Therefore, much effort is being made to reduce the manufacturing time. Moreover, studies also suggested that a shortened ex vivo culture period correlated with improved CAR T cell functionality. Ghassemi et al. (77) compared function of CD19 CAR T cells harvested after short- (day 3 or 5) and long-term (day 9) culture. The authors showed that short-manufactured CAR T cells exhibited more robust tumor control compared to long-manufactured ones in a mouse xenograft model. Other groups have observed comparable results in similar xenograft mouse models (78, 79) as well as clinical trials (78, 80). In reality, due to prior lymphodepleting cancer treatment, the short-term ex vivo expansion protocol may not be feasible for patients with reduced T cell counts and activity. Nevertheless, these results suggested that circumstances permitting, shortened manufacturing time should be opted for. It is however worth noting that although the above studies mentioned maintenance of a less-differentiated T cell phenotype in short-manufactured CAR T cells as a reason for functional enhancement, the surface makers they used to define memory populations including CCR7 and CD45RO will appear artificially high shortly after antigen stimulation, including in vitro CD3 stimulation (81-85). Therefore, it requires extra caution when interpreting memory phenotype data from highly activated CAR T cells that are produced in a short manufacture period.

IMPACT OF CRYOPRESERVATION

At the end of the manufacturing process, CAR T cells are often cryopreserved, allowing sufficient time to complete quality control tests and flexible scheduling for infusion into patients. As cryopreservation may affect the viability and functionality of T cells, several groups have looked into its effect on CAR T cell products. Lee et al. demonstrated that there was no difference between fresh and frozen/thawed CD20 CAR T cells in terms of phenotype, cytokine secretion and in vivo cytotoxicity (86). Of note, they used the Cryostor medium to freeze CAR T cells, stored in liquid nitrogen overnight, and then thawed the next day for experimental use. A similar preclinical observation was reported by Xu et al. where in vivo functionality of BCMA CAR T cells between fresh versus one-month cryopreservation (10%DMSO + 90% FBS) groups was comparable, with only a slight decrease of cytokine levels produced from frozen/thawed CAR T cells (87).

To investigate the effect of cryopreservation on CAR T cell products used in the clinic, Panch et al. (88) retrospectively evaluated data from a total of 158 frozen/thawed autologous CAR T cell lines and PBMCs that are used as starting material for CAR T cell generation (freezing medium containing 5% DMSO and 6% pentastarch with 4% human serum albumin) across 6 single-center clinical trials. Overall, cryopreservation procedure did not affect clinical outcomes. In addition to patient samples, they also looked into frozen/thawed CAR T cells generated from healthy donors and demonstrated that these cells had early apoptotic cell surface markers and activation of apoptotic pathways, mitochondrial dysfunction, and cell cycle damage pathways (88). In another retrospective clinical study, Su et al. reported similar results where fresh and cryopreserved (Cryostor-CS10) CD19 CAR T cells produced comparable clinical outcomes (89). In contrast, Shah et al. observed that peak CAR T cell expansion levels and the overall response rate (ORR) were improved in patients who received fresh CD20/CD19 tandem bispecific CAR T cells compared to cryopreserved ones, indicating potential advantages of fresh products over frozen/thawed ones (90). Given the limited number of reports available, more future studies are needed to determine the impact of cryopreservation.

OTHER FACTORS THAT MAY IMPACT CAR T CELL FUNCTION

As described above, ex vivo CAR T cell manufacture involves multiple, albeit straightforward, steps and variable factors. Beyond those reviewed above, there are other factors that may affect CAR T cell function. During Current Good Manufacturing Practice (CGMP) manufacture, CAR T cells can be expanded in culture plates, flasks, bags or much larger culture vessels such as G-Rex devices and rocking bioreactors (e.g. WAVE bioreactors) to simplify the process. Furthermore, CliniMACS Prodigy system provides a fully-automated manufacture system to generate clinical-grade CAR T cells. Advantages and disadvantages of these devices have been summarized in detail by another review (91). Validation studies of CAR T cell manufacture in each system (92-99) to date mainly focused on cell yields. One should keep in mind that it is difficult to compare the performance of different devices due to their distinct characteristics, such as volume of medium added, being a closed or open (semi-open) system and "static vs moving" culture. Those factors further dictate the optimal cell seeding density, efficacy of gas exchange and degree of pH alteration in each device. Although a simplified and large scale closed system is preferable for clinical CAR T cell manufacture due to its consistency in product quality and reduced complexity as well as risk of contamination, most preclinical studies utilize culture plates and flasks. Therefore, it is important to consider the effect of different culture devices for CAR T cell manufacture. During clinical translation, standard operating procedures need to be tailored to individual devices in order to maximize CAR T cell potency.

DISCUSSION

Although extensive efforts have been spent on inventing genetic engineering methods to enhance CAR T cell potency, fewer studies to date focused on the optimization of *ex vivo* cell expansion conditions. However, as discussed in the current review, the choice of reagents for ex vivo CAR T cell expansion can drastically affect the quality of therapeutic T cells, emphasizing the need for more detailed investigations. In general, most studies have found that culture methods leading to preservation of less differentiated, less exhausted, and/or less glycolytic CAR T cells during ex vivo expansion yielded T cell products with higher antitumor potency in vivo. This is consistent with prior observations that enhanced glycolytic metabolism impaired long-term memory formation of CD8+ CAR T cells (29, 31) and that CAR T cells generated from T_N and T_{CM} populations showed superior in vivo performance compared to CAR T cells derived from T_{EM} cells (22-26). Further, clinical evidence indicated that CAR T cells in complete-responding patients were enriched in memory-related genes while those from non-responders upregulated transcriptional pathways associated with effector differentiation, glycolysis, exhaustion and apoptosis (30). These data suggested that CAR T cells with long-lived memory phenotypes and enhanced metabolic fitness are desirable for clinical use.

During clinical translation, while it might be pragmatically difficult to standardize culture conditions for CAR T cells across different institutions, careful considerations must be given to the manufacturing process design, in order to maximize the potency of each final product. It is important to note that our knowledge about the effect of manufacturing methods remains insufficient, in that the number of studies investigating this aspect is limited and that many of these efforts relied on CAR T cell expansion (product quantity) as the sole readout, while overlooking the importance of CAR T cell functionality (product quality). To fill this gap of knowledge, future studies, especially clinical trials, will need to systemically evaluate the impact of different ex vivo expansion methods during each manufacturing step on both the quantity and quality of therapeutic T cells. Furthermore, new types of media, sera and serum substitutes, as well as other reagents are expected to be developed in the future, which will provide combinatorial and synergistic effects to boost CAR T cell function. Combining the optimal manufacturing procedure with additional innovative genetic engineering approaches will allow us to achieve our ultimate goal of developing an effective CAR T cell therapy for cancer patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FM drafted the impact of pharmacological inhibitor section. MM drafted the impact of exogenous cytokine section. NW drafted all remaining sections. All coauthors reviewed and edited the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute 5T32HL092332-17 and the National Cancer Institute F99CA253757. Cancer Prevention and Research Institute of Texas HIHR RP210158.

REFERENCES

- Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T Cells Expressing CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptors for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia in Children and Young Adults: A Phase 1 Dose-Escalation Trial. *Lancet (Lond Engl)* (2015) 385:517–28. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)61403-3
- Gardner RA, Finney O, Annesley C, Brakke H, Summers C, Leger K, et al. Intent-To-Treat Leukemia Remission by CD19 CAR T Cells of Defined Formulation and Dose in Children and Young Adults. *Blood* (2017) 129:3322–31. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2017-02-769208
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults With B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. New Engl J Med (2018) 378:439–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMOA 1709866
- Park JH, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of CD19 CAR Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *New Engl J Med* (2018) 378:449–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMOA1709919
- Rafiq S, Hackett CS, Brentjens RJ. Engineering Strategies to Overcome the Current Roadblocks in CAR T Cell Therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17:147–67. doi: 10.1038/S41571-019-0297-Y
- Tian Y, Li Y, Shao Y, Zhang Y. Gene Modification Strategies for Next-Generation CAR T Cells Against Solid Cancers. J Hematol Oncol (2020) 13:54. doi: 10.1186/S13045-020-00890-6
- DeRenzo C, Gottschalk S. Genetic Modification Strategies to Enhance CAR T Cell Persistence for Patients With Solid Tumors. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:218. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2019.00218
- Poorebrahim M, Quiros-Fernandez I, Fakhr E, Cid-Arregui A. Generation of CAR-T Cells Using Lentiviral Vectors. *Methods Cell Biol* (2022) 167:39–69. doi: 10.1016/BS.MCB.2021.07.001
- Moço PD, de Abreu Neto MS, Fantacini DMC, Picanço-Castro V. Optimized Production of Lentiviral Vectors for CAR-T Cell. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton* NJ) (2020) 2086:69–76. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_5
- Watanabe N, McKenna MK. Generation of CAR T-Cells Using γ-Retroviral Vector. *Methods Cell Biol* (2022) 167:171–83. doi: 10.1016/BS.MCB.2021. 06.014
- Mo F, Mamonkin M. Generation of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Using Gammaretroviral Vectors. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)* (2020) 2086:119–30. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_8
- Chicaybam L, Abdo L, Bonamino MH. Generation of CAR+ T Lymphocytes Using the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)* (2020) 2086:131–7. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_9
- Androulla MN, Lefkothea PC. In Vitro-Transcribed (IVT)-mRNA CAR Therapy Development. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ) (2020) 2086:87–117. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_7
- Stock S, Schmitt M, Sellner L. Optimizing Manufacturing Protocols of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells for Improved Anticancer Immunotherapy. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20:6223. doi: 10.3390/IJMS20246223
- Sato K, Kondo M, Sakuta K, Hosoi A, Noji S, Sugiura M, et al. Impact of Culture Medium on the Expansion of T Cells for Immunotherapy. *Cytotherapy* (2009) 11:936–46. doi: 10.3109/14653240903219114
- Lu TL, Pugach O, Somerville R, Rosenberg SA, Kochenderfer JN, Better M, et al. A Rapid Cell Expansion Process for Production of Engineered Autologous CAR-T Cell Therapies. *Hum Gene Ther Methods* (2016) 27:209–18. doi: 10.1089/HGTB.2016.120
- 17. Baker M. Reproducibility: Respect Your Cells! *Nature* (2016) 537:433–5. doi: 10.1038/537433A
- Koch E, Hopmann C, Fröhlich LF, Schebb NH. Fatty Acid and Oxylipin Concentration Differ Markedly Between Different Fetal Bovine Serums: A Cautionary Note. *Lipids* (2021) 56:613–6. doi: 10.1002/LIPD.12321
- Zheng X, Baker H, Hancock WS, Fawaz F, McCaman M, Pungor E. Proteomic Analysis for the Assessment of Different Lots of Fetal Bovine Serum as a Raw Material for Cell Culture. Part IV. Application of Proteomics to the Manufacture of Biological Drugs. *Biotechnol Prog* (2006) 22:1294–300. doi: 10.1021/BP0601210
- Xu H, Wang N, Cao W, Huang L, Zhou J, Sheng L. Influence of Various Medium Environment to *In Vitro* Human T Cell Culture. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* (2018) 54:559–66. doi: 10.1007/S11626-018-0273-3

- Medvec AR, Ecker C, Kong H, Winters EA, Glover J, Varela-Rohena A, et al. Improved Expansion and *In Vivo* Function of Patient T Cells by a Serum-Free Medium. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2017) 8:65–74. doi: 10.1016/ J.OMTM.2017.11.001
- Sommermeyer D, Hudecek M, Kosasih PL, Gogishvili T, Maloney DG, Turtle CJ, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells Derived From Defined CD8+ and CD4+ Subsets Confer Superior Antitumor Reactivity *In Vivo. Leukemia* (2016) 30:492–500. doi: 10.1038/LEU.2015.247
- Berger C, Jensen MC, Lansdorp PM, Gough M, Elliott C, Riddell SR. Adoptive Transfer of Effector CD8+ T Cells Derived From Central Memory Cells Establishes Persistent T Cell Memory in Primates. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:294–305. doi: 10.1172/JCI32103
- Wang X, Berger C, Wong CLW, Forman SJ, Riddell SR, Jensen MC. Engraftment of Human Central Memory-Derived Effector CD8+ T Cells in Immunodeficient Mice. *Blood* (2011) 117:1888–98. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2010-10-310599
- Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A Human Memory T Cell Subset With Stem Cell-Like Properties. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:1290–7. doi: 10.1038/NM.2446
- Turtle CJ, Hanafi LA, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, et al. CD19 CAR-T Cells of Defined CD4+:CD8+ Composition in Adult B Cell ALL Patients. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:2123–38. doi: 10.1172/JCI85309
- Alnabhan R, Gaballa A, Mörk LM, Mattsson J, Uhlin M, Magalhaes I. Media Evaluation for Production and Expansion of Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *Cytotherapy* (2018) 20:941–51. doi: 10.1016/J.JCYT. 2018.04.007
- Ghassemi S, Martinez-Becerra FJ, Master AM, Richman SA, Heo D, Leferovich J, et al. Enhancing Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Anti-Tumor Function Through Advanced Media Design. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2020) 18:595–606. doi: 10.1016/J.OMTM.2020.07.008
- Kawalekar OU, O'Connor RS, Fraietta JA, Guo L, McGettigan SE, Posey AD, et al. Distinct Signaling of Coreceptors Regulates Specific Metabolism Pathways and Impacts Memory Development in CAR T Cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44:380–90. doi: 10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2016.01.021
- Fraietta JA, Lacey SF, Orlando EJ, Pruteanu-Malinici I, Gohil M, Lundh S, et al. Determinants of Response and Resistance to CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cell Therapy of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:563–71. doi: 10.1038/S41591-018-0010-1
- Sukumar M, Liu J, Ji Y, Subramanian M, Crompton JG, Yu Z, et al. Inhibiting Glycolytic Metabolism Enhances CD8+ T Cell Memory and Antitumor Function. J Clin Invest (2013) 123:4479–88. doi: 10.1172/JCI69589
- Geiger R, Rieckmann JC, Wolf T, Basso C, Feng Y, Fuhrer T, et al. L-Arginine Modulates T Cell Metabolism and Enhances Survival and Anti-Tumor Activity. Cell (2016) 167:829–842.e13. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2016.09.031
- 33. Torres Chavez A, McKenna MK, Canestrari E, Dann CT, Ramos CA, Lulla P, et al. Expanding CAR T Cells in Human Platelet Lysate Renders T Cells With *In Vivo* Longevity. *J immunotherapy Cancer* (2019) 7:330. doi: 10.1186/ S40425-019-0804-9
- 34. Canestrari E, Steidinger HR, McSwain B, Charlebois SJ, Dann CT. Human Platelet Lysate Media Supplement Supports Lentiviral Transduction and Expansion of Human T Lymphocytes While Maintaining Memory Phenotype. J Immunol Res (2019) 2019:3616120. doi: 10.1155/2019/3616120
- 35. Ma C, Zhang N. Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling is Constantly Shaping Memory T-Cell Population. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2015) 112:11013–7. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.1510119112
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Abrogation of TGFbeta Signaling in T Cells Leads to Spontaneous T Cell Differentiation and Autoimmune Disease. *Immunity* (2000) 12:171–81. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80170-3
- Dahmani A, Janelle V, Carli C, Richaud M, Lamarche C, Khalili M, et al. Tgfß Programs Central Memory Differentiation in *Ex Vivo*-Stimulated Human T Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7:1426–39. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0691
- Locke FL, Ghobadi A, Jacobson CA, Miklos DB, Lekakis LJ, Oluwole OO, et al. Long-Term Safety and Activity of Axicabtagene Ciloleucel in Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma (ZUMA-1): A Single-Arm, Multicentre, Phase 1-2 Trial. Lancet Oncol (2019) 20:31–42. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30864-7
- Vairy S, Garcia JL, Teira P, Bittencourt H. CTL019 (Tisagenlecleucel): CAR-T Therapy for Relapsed and Refractory B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Drug Design Dev Ther (2018) 12:3885–98. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S138765

- Xu Y, Zhang M, Ramos CA, Durett A, Liu E, Dakhova O, et al. Closely Related T-Memory Stem Cells Correlate With *In Vivo* Expansion of CAR.CD19-T Cells and Are Preserved by IL-7 and IL-15. *Blood* (2014) 123:3750–9. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2014-01-552174
- Cieri N, Camisa B, Cocchiarella F, Forcato M, Oliveira G, Provasi E, et al. IL-7 and IL-15 Instruct the Generation of Human Memory Stem T Cells From Naive Precursors. *Blood* (2013) 121:573–84. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2012-05-431718
- Dwyer CJ, Knochelmann HM, Smith AS, Wyatt MM, Rivera GOR, Arhontoulis DC, et al. Fueling Cancer Immunotherapy With Common Gamma Chain Cytokines. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10. doi: 10.3389/ FIMMU.2019.00263
- Liao W, Lin JX, Leonard WJ. Interleukin-2 at the Crossroads of Effector Responses, Tolerance, and Immunotherapy. *Immunity* (2013) 38:13–25. doi: 10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2013.01.004
- 44. Zhou J, Jin L, Wang F, Zhang Y, Liu B, Zhao T. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T (CAR-T) Cells Expanded With IL-7/IL-15 Mediate Superior Antitumor Effects. *Protein Cell* (2019) 10:764–9. doi: 10.1007/S13238-019-0643-Y
- 45. Xu XJ, Song DG, Poussin M, Ye Q, Sharma P, Rodríguez-García A, et al. Multiparameter Comparative Analysis Reveals Differential Impacts of Various Cytokines on CART Cell Phenotype and Function *Ex Vivo* and *In Vivo. Oncotarget* (2016) 7:82354–68. doi: 10.18632/ONCOTARGET. 10510
- 46. Hinrichs CS, Spolski R, Paulos CM, Gattinoni L, Kerstann KW, Palmer DC, et al. IL-2 and IL-21 Confer Opposing Differentiation Programs to CD8+ T Cells for Adoptive Immunotherapy. *Blood* (2008) 111:5326–33. doi: 10.1182/ BLOOD-2007-09-113050
- Singh H, Figliola MJ, Dawson MJ, Huls H, Olivares S, Switzer K, et al. Reprogramming CD19-Specific T Cells With IL-21 Signaling Can Improve Adoptive Immunotherapy of B-Lineage Malignancies. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:3516–27. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3843
- Du L, Nai Y, Shen M, Li T, Huang J, Han X, et al. IL-21 Optimizes the CAR-T Cell Preparation Through Improving Lentivirus Mediated Transfection Efficiency of T Cells and Enhancing CAR-T Cell Cytotoxic Activities. *Front Mol Biosci* (2021) 8:675179. doi: 10.3389/FMOLB.2021.675179
- Arcangeli S, Falcone L, Camisa B, de Girardi F, Biondi M, Giglio F, et al. Next-Generation Manufacturing Protocols Enriching T SCM CAR T Cells Can Overcome Disease-Specific T Cell Defects in Cancer Patients. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1217. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU.2020.01217
- Kaartinen T, Luostarinen A, Maliniemi P, Keto J, Arvas M, Belt H, et al. Low Interleukin-2 Concentration Favors Generation of Early Memory T Cells Over Effector Phenotypes During Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Expansion. *Cytotherapy* (2017) 19:689–702. doi: 10.1016/J.JCYT.2017.03.067
- Marton C, Mercier-Letondal P, Galaine J, Godet Y. An Unmet Need: Harmonization of IL-7 and IL-15 Combination for the *Ex Vivo* Generation of Minimally Differentiated T Cells. *Cell Immunol* (2021) 363:104314. doi: 10.1016/J.CELLIMM.2021.104314
- Zheng W, O'Hear CE, Alli R, Basham JH, Abdelsamed HA, Palmer LE, et al. PI3K Orchestration of the *In Vivo* Persistence of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells. *Leukemia* (2018) 32:1157–67. doi: 10.1038/S41375-017-0008-6
- 53. Perkins MR, Grande S, Hamel A, Horton HM, Garrett TE, Miller SM, et al. Manufacturing an Enhanced CAR T Cell Product By Inhibition of the PI3K/ Akt Pathway During T Cell Expansion Results in Improved *In Vivo* Efficacy of Anti-BCMA CAR T Cells. *Blood* (2015) 126:1893–3. doi: 10.1182/ BLOOD.V126.23.1893.1893
- Stock S, Übelhart R, Schubert ML, Fan F, He B, Hoffmann JM, et al. Idelalisib for Optimized CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 145:1312–24. doi: 10.1002/IJC.32201
- 55. Dwyer CJ, Arhontoulis DC, Rangel Rivera GO, Knochelmann HM, Smith AS, Wyatt MM, et al. *Ex Vivo* Blockade of PI3K Gamma or Delta Signaling Enhances the Antitumor Potency of Adoptively Transferred CD8 + T Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50:1386–99. doi: 10.1002/EJI.201948455
- Bowers JS, Majchrzak K, Nelson MH, Aksoy BA, Wyatt MM, Smith AS, et al. Pi3kδ Inhibition Enhances the Antitumor Fitness of Adoptively Transferred CD8 + T Cells. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1221. doi: 10.3389/FIMMU. 2017.01221

- Funk CR, Wang S, Chen KZ, Waller A, Sharma A, Edgar CL, et al. Pi3kδ/γ Inhibition Promotes Human CART Cell Epigenetic and Metabolic Reprogramming to Enhance Antitumor Cytotoxicity. *Blood* (2022) 139:523– 37. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD.2021011597
- Fan F, Yoo HJ, Stock S, Wang L, Liu Y, Schubert ML, et al. Ibrutinib for Improved Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Production for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients. *Int J Cancer* (2021) 148:419–28. doi: 10.1002/IJC.33212
- Sabatino M, Hu J, Sommariva M, Gautam S, Fellowes V, Hocker JD, et al. Generation of Clinical-Grade CD19-Specific CAR-Modified CD8+ Memory Stem Cells for the Treatment of Human B-Cell Malignancies. *Blood* (2016) 128:519–28. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2015-11-683847
- Menk AV, Scharping NE, Moreci RS, Zeng X, Guy C, Salvatore S, et al. Early TCR Signaling Induces Rapid Aerobic Glycolysis Enabling Distinct Acute T Cell Effector Functions. *Cell Rep* (2018) 22:1509–21. doi: 10.1016/ J.CELREP.2018.01.040
- Gattinoni L, Ji Y, Restifo NP. Wnt/beta-Catenin Signaling in T-Cell Immunity and Cancer Immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:4695–701. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0356
- 62. Klebanoff CA, Crompton JG, Leonardi AJ, Yamamoto TN, Chandran SS, Eil RL, et al. Inhibition of AKT Signaling Uncouples T Cell Differentiation From Expansion for Receptor-Engineered Adoptive Immunotherapy. JCI Insight (2017) 2:e95103. doi: 10.1172/JCI.INSIGHT.95103
- Urak R, Walter M, Lim L, Wong CLW, Budde LE, Thomas S, et al. *Ex Vivo* Akt Inhibition Promotes the Generation of Potent CD19CAR T Cells for Adoptive Immunotherapy. *J immunotherapy Cancer* (2017) 5:26. doi: 10.1186/S40425-017-0227-4
- 64. Lanna A, Henson SM, Escors D, Akbar AN. The Kinase P38 Activated by the Metabolic Regulator AMPK and Scaffold TAB1 Drives the Senescence of Human T Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:965–72. doi: 10.1038/NI.2981
- Lanna A, Gomes DCO, Muller-Durovic B, McDonnell T, Escors D, Gilroy DW, et al. A Sestrin-Dependent Erk-Jnk-P38 MAPK Activation Complex Inhibits Immunity During Aging. Nat Immunol (2017) 18:354–63. doi: 10.1038/NI.3665
- 66. Gurusamy D, Henning AN, Yamamoto TN, Yu Z, Zacharakis N, Krishna S, et al. Multi-Phenotype CRISPR-Cas9 Screen Identifies P38 Kinase as a Target for Adoptive Immunotherapies. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 37:818–833.e9. doi: 10.1016/J.CCELL.2020.05.004
- Mestermann K, Giavridis T, Weber J, Rydzek J, Frenz S, Nerreter T, et al. The Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Dasatinib Acts as a Pharmacologic On/Off Switch for CAR T Cells. *Sci Trans Med* (2019) 11:eaau5907. doi: 10.1126/ SCITRANSLMED.AAU5907
- Weber EW, Lynn RC, Sotillo E, Lattin J, Xu P, Mackall CL. Pharmacologic Control of CAR-T Cell Function Using Dasatinib. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:711–7. doi: 10.1182/BLOODADVANCES.2018028720
- Palacios EH, Weiss A. Function of the Src-Family Kinases, Lck and Fyn, in T-Cell Development and Activation. Oncogene (2004) 23:7990-8000. doi: 10.1038/SJ.ONC.1208074
- Weber EW, Parker KR, Sotillo E, Lynn RC, Anbunathan H, Lattin J, et al. Transient Rest Restores Functionality in Exhausted CAR-T Cells Through Epigenetic Remodeling. *Sci (New York NY)* (2021) 372:eaba1786. doi: 10.1126/ SCIENCE.ABA1786
- Kagoya Y, Nakatsugawa M, Yamashita Y, Ochi T, Guo T, Anczurowski M, et al. BET Bromodomain Inhibition Enhances T Cell Persistence and Function in Adoptive Immunotherapy Models. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:3479–94. doi: 10.1172/JCI86437
- 72. Kong W, Dimitri A, Wang W, Jung IY, Ott CJ, Fasolino M, et al. BET Bromodomain Protein Inhibition Reverses Chimeric Antigen Receptor Extinction and Reinvigorates Exhausted T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Clin Invest (2021) 131:e145459. doi: 10.1172/JCI145459
- 73. Fraietta JA, Nobles CL, Sammons MA, Lundh S, Carty SA, Reich TJ, et al. Disruption of TET2 Promotes the Therapeutic Efficacy of CD19-Targeted T Cells. *Nature* (2018) 558:307–12. doi: 10.1038/S41586-018-0178-Z
- 74. Yang W, Bai Y, Xiong Y, Zhang J, Chen S, Zheng X, et al. Potentiating the Antitumour Response of CD8(+) T Cells by Modulating Cholesterol Metabolism. *Nature* (2016) 531:651–5. doi: 10.1038/NATURE17412
- 75. Zhao L, Li J, Liu Y, Kang L, Chen H, Jin Y, et al. Cholesterol Esterification Enzyme Inhibition Enhances Antitumor Effects of Human Chimeric Antigen

Receptors Modified T Cells. J Immunotherapy (Hagerstown Md : 1997) (2018) 41:45–52. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000207

- 76. Nian Z, Zheng X, Dou Y, Du X, Zhou L, Fu B, et al. Rapamycin Pretreatment Rescues the Bone Marrow AML Cell Elimination Capacity of CAR-T Cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27:6026–38. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-21-0452
- 77. Ghassemi S, Nunez-Cruz S, O'Connor RS, Fraietta JA, Patel PR, Scholler J, et al. Reducing *Ex Vivo* Culture Improves the Antileukemic Activity of Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6:1100–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0405
- Yang J, He J, Zhang X, Wang Z, Zhang Y, Cai S, et al. A Feasibility and Safety Study of a New CD19-Directed Fast CAR-T Therapy for Refractory and Relapsed B Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Blood* (2019) 134:825–5. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2019-121751
- Engels B, Zhu X, Yang J, Price A, Sohoni A, Stein AM, et al. Preservation of T-Cell Stemness With a Novel Expansionless CAR-T Manufacturing Process, Which Reduces Manufacturing Time to Less Than Two Days, Drives Enhanced CAR-T Cell Efficacy. *Blood* (2021) 138:2848–8. doi: 10.1182/ BLOOD-2021-146246
- Zhang C, He J, Liu L, Wang J, Wang S, Liu L, et al. CD19-Directed Fast CART Therapy for Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: From Bench to Bedside. *Blood* (2019) 134:1340–0. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2019-128006
- Carrasco J, Godelaine D, van Pel A, Boon T, van der Bruggen P. CD45RA on Human CD8 T Cells Is Sensitive to the Time Elapsed Since the Last Antigenic Stimulation. *Blood* (2006) 108:2897–905. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2005-11-007237
- Schwendemann J, Choi C, Schirrmacher V, Beckhove P. Dynamic Differentiation of Activated Human Peripheral Blood CD8+ and CD4+ Effector Memory T Cells. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (2005) 175:1433–9. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.175.3.1433
- van Leeuwen EM, Gamadia LE, Baars PA, Remmerswaal EB, ten Berge IJ, van Lier RA. Proliferation Requirements of Cytomegalovirus-Specific, Effector-Type Human CD8+ T Cells. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (2002) 169:5838–43. doi: 10.4049/JIMMUNOL.169.10.5838
- 84. Sallusto F, Kremmer E, Palermo B, Hoy A, Ponath P, Qin S. Switch in Chemokine Receptor Expression Upon TCR Stimulation Reveals Novel Homing Potential for Recently Activated T Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) 29:2037–45. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199906)29:06<2037::AID-IMMU2037>3.0.CO;2-V
- Suzuki M, Jagger AL, Konya C, Shimojima Y, Pryshchep S, Goronzy JJ, et al. CD8+CD45RA+CCR7+FOXP3+ T Cells With Immunosuppressive Properties: A Novel Subset of Inducible Human Regulatory T Cells. J Immunol (Baltimore Md : 1950) (2012) 189:2118–30. doi: 10.4049/ JIMMUNOL.1200122
- Lee SY, Olsen P, Lee DH, Kenoyer AL, Budde LE, O'Steen S, et al. Preclinical Optimization of a CD20-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Vector and Culture Conditions. J Immunother (Hagerstown Md : 1997) (2018) 41:19–31. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000199
- Xu H, Cao W, Huang L, Xiao M, Cao Y, Zhao L, et al. Effects of Cryopreservation on Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Functions. *Cryobiology* (2018) 83:40–7. doi: 10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2018.06.007
- Panch SR, Srivastava SK, Elavia N, McManus A, Liu S, Jin P, et al. Effect of Cryopreservation on Autologous Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Characteristics. *Mol therapy* (2019) 27:1275–85. doi: 10.1016/J.YMTHE. 2019.05.015
- Su T, Ying Z, Lu XA, He T, Song Y, Wang X, et al. The Clinical Outcomes of Fresh Versus Cryopreserved CD19-Directed Chimeric Antigen Receptor T

Cells in Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Patients. Cryobiology (2020) 96:106–13. doi: 10.1016/J.CRYOBIOL.2020.07.009

- Shah NN, Johnson BD, Schneider D, Zhu F, Szabo A, Keever-Taylor CA, et al. Bispecific Anti-CD20, Anti-CD19 CAR T Cells for Relapsed B Cell Malignancies: A Phase 1 Dose Escalation and Expansion Trial. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:1569–75. doi: 10.1038/S41591-020-1081-3
- Mizukami A, Swiech K. Platforms for Clinical-Grade CAR-T Cell Expansion. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ) (2020) 2086:139–50. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_10
- Fernández L, Fernández A, Mirones I, Escudero A, Cardoso L, Vela M, et al. GMP-Compliant Manufacturing of NKG2D CAR Memory T Cells Using CliniMACS Prodigy. Front Immunol (2019) 10:2361. doi: 10.3389/ FIMMU.2019.02361
- Jackson Z, Roe A, Sharma AA, Lopes FBTP, Talla A, Kleinsorge-Block S, et al. Automated Manufacture of Autologous CD19 CAR-T Cells for Treatment of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1941. doi: 10.3389/ FIMMU.2020.01941
- 94. Costariol E, Rotondi MC, Amini A, Hewitt CJ, Nienow AW, Heathman TRJ, et al. Demonstrating the Manufacture of Human CAR-T Cells in an Automated Stirred-Tank Bioreactor. *Biotechnol J* (2020) 15:e2000177. doi: 10.1002/BIOT.202000177
- Smith TA. CAR-T Cell Expansion in a Xuri Cell Expansion System W25. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ) (2020) 2086:151–63. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_11
- Ludwig J, Hirschel M. Methods and Process Optimization for Large-Scale CAR T Expansion Using the G-Rex Cell Culture Platform. *Methods Mol Biol* (Clifton NJ) (2020) 2086:165–77. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0146-4_12
- Gagliardi C, Khalil M, Foster AE. Streamlined Production of Genetically Modified T Cells With Activation, Transduction and Expansion in Closed-System G-Rex Bioreactors. *Cytotherapy* (2019) 21:1246–57. doi: 10.1016/ J.JCYT.2019.10.006
- Hollyman D, Stefanski J, Przybylowski M, Bartido S, Borquez-Ojeda O, Taylor C, et al. Manufacturing Validation of Biologically Functional T Cells Targeted to CD19 Antigen for Autologous Adoptive Cell Therapy. J Immunother (Hagerstown Md : 1997) (2009) 32:169–80. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0B013E318194A6E8
- 99. Coeshott C, Vang B, Jones M, Nankervis B. Large-Scale Expansion and Characterization of CD3 + T-Cells in the Quantum [®] Cell Expansion System. J Trans Med (2019) 17:258. doi: 10.1186/S12967-019-2001-5

Conflict of Interest: NW received research funding from Sexton Biotechnologies for HPL-related studies.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Watanabe, Mo and McKenna. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Rapid Generation of TCR and CD8αβ Transgenic Virus Specific T Cells for Immunotherapy of Leukemia

Gagan Bajwa¹ and Caroline Arber^{1,2*}

¹ Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston Methodist Hospital and Texas Children's Hospital, Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Oncology UNIL CHUV, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV), University of Lausanne (UNIL), and Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research Lausanne Branch, Lausanne, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul G. Schlegel, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Andreas Beilhack, Julius Maximilian University of Würzburg, Germany Rupert Handgtretinger, University of Tübingen, Germany

> *Correspondence: Caroline Arber caroline.arber@unil.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 December 2021 Accepted: 29 March 2022 Published: 29 April 2022

Citation:

Bajwa G and Arber C (2022) Rapid Generation of TCR and CD8αβ Transgenic Virus Specific T Cells for Immunotherapy of Leukemia. Front. Immunol. 13:830021. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.830021 **Background:** Virus-specific T cells (VSTs) are an attractive cell therapy platform for the delivery of tumor-targeted transgenic receptors. However, manufacturing with conventional methods may require several weeks and intensive handling. Here we evaluated the feasibility and timelines when combining IFN- γ cytokine capture (CC) with retroviral transduction for the generation of T cell receptor (TCR) and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ (TCR8) transgenic VSTs to simultaneously target several viral and tumor antigens in a single product.

Methods: Healthy donor peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stimulated with cytomegalovirus (CMV) and Epstein-Barr-Virus (EBV) peptide mixtures derived from immunogenic viral proteins, followed by CC bead selection. After 3 days in culture, cells were transduced with a retroviral vector encoding four genes (a survivin-specific $\alpha\beta$ TCR and CD8 $\alpha\beta$). TCR8-transgenic or control VSTs were expanded and characterized for their phenotype, specificity and anti-viral and anti-tumor functions.

Results: CC selected cells were efficiently transduced with TCR8. Average fold expansion was 269-fold in 10 days, and cells contained a high proportion of CD8+ T central memory cells. TCR8+ VSTs simultaneously expressed native anti-viral and transgenic anti-survivin TCRs on their cell surface. Both control and TCR8+ VSTs produced cytokines to and killed viral targets, while tumor targets were only recognized and killed by TCR8+ VSTs.

Conclusions: IFN- γ cytokine capture selects and activates CMV and EBV-specific memory precursor CD8+ T cells that can be efficiently gene-modified by retroviral transduction and rapidly *ex vivo* expanded. Our multi-specific T cells are polyfunctional and recognize and kill viral and leukemic targets expressing the cognate antigens.

Keywords: immunotherapy, virus-specific T cells, cytokine capture, transgenic TCR, transgenic CD8, engineered T cells, interferon-gamma

INTRODUCTION

Adoptive transfer of virus specific T cells (VSTs) rapidly restores antiviral immunity and prevents or treats viral infections after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) (1). VSTs are both safe and effective when manufactured from the original stem cell donor or from unrelated partially HLA matched third party healthy donors (1, 2), setting the stage for their use as a cellular therapy platform for the delivery of engineered receptors targeting tumor-associated antigens (recently reviewed in (3)). Indeed, leukemia targeted chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) such as CD19-CARs in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) or T cell receptors (TCRs) targeting Wilms Tumor 1 (WT1) or the minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1H in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) have been expressed in VSTs and infused to patients post-transplant (4-9). Safety and some efficacy was demonstrated with CD19-CAR-modified VSTs produced from the stem cell donor (4-6), while feasibility and efficacy with TCRmodified VSTs was variable among studies (7, 8).

Manufacturing of engineered VSTs is challenging and operator intensive. Certain steps are performed in open systems such as flow cytometry-based sorting (7), or require knowledge of the targeted epitope such as streptamer-selection (8). Other processes require live Epstein Barr Virus (EBV) for the generation of autologous lymphoblastoid cell lines (4–6), several types of viral vectors for the transduction of antigen presenting cells and transduction of VSTs (3, 6), and prolonged *ex vivo* culture over several weeks (4–7).

For broader applicability of such multi-antigen targeted therapies, the complexity of the production processes needs to be reduced (recently reviewed in (10)). Here, we investigated at small scale if Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) cytokine capture (CC) selected virus-specific memory T cells from healthy donors are sufficiently enriched and activated to directly proceed to retroviral transduction introducing an HLA-A*02:01 restricted survivin targeted TCR (11) in combination with CD8 $\alpha\beta$ (TCR8) to redirect VSTs to a broad tumor-associated antigen (12, 13). We have previously demonstrated that the incorporation of CD8 $\alpha\beta$ as a transgene restores anti-viral activity of TCR transgenic VSTs, and redirects CD4+ T cells to the class I restricted cognate antigen (12, 13). CC is attractive because it is compatible with fully closed production of VSTs independently of donor HLA and can select T cells with diverse TCR repertoires recognizing various immunogenic epitopes (14-16). Now we show that enrichment and activation of anti-viral memory T cells by CC followed by retroviral transduction reduces manufacturing time by 7-10 days, reduces the overall complexity of the process, and yields cells with simultaneous anti-viral and anti-tumor activity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Lines

BV173 and K562 cell lines were obtained from the German Cell Culture Collection (DSMZ) or the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), respectively, and maintained in complete RPMI 1640 media (Hyclone, Thermo Scientific) supplemented with 10% or 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Hyclone), 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco) and 1% glutamax (Gibco) (13). 293T cells (ATCC) were maintained in complete IMDM media (Hyclone) containing 10% FBS, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 1% glutamax.

Healthy Donor Buffy Coats

Buffy coats from CMV seropositive de-identified healthy human volunteers were procured from the Gulf Coast Regional Blood Center (Houston, TX, USA). HLA-A2 status was determined by FACS analysis and HLA-A2 positive donors were selected for the experiments.

Generation of Retroviral Vectors and Supernatant

The design of the retroviral vector encoding the survivin-specific (s24) TCR and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ has been described previously (**Figure 1A**) (11–13). Retroviral supernatant was prepared by transient co-transfection of 293T cells with RD114 and Pegpam plasmids and the SFG vector containing the genes of interest (11).

Generation of Gene Modified Virus-Specific T Cells Using IFN-γ Cytokine Capture and Retroviral Transduction

PBMCs were isolated from buffy coats using density gradient centrifugation by Lymphoprep (Accurate Chemical and Scientific Corporation), resuspended in T cell complete media (1:1 mixture of RPMI 1640 and Click's media, Hyclone, supplemented with 10% FBS, Hyclone, 1% penicillinstreptomycin, 1% glutamax) and rested overnight at 37°C (10⁷ PBMCs per 2 ml in complete media/well in 24-well plate). After incubation, PBMCs were stimulated with a mixture of CMV and EBV pepmixes (CMV pp65, CMV IE1, EBV LMP2, EBV BZLF1, EBV EBNA, 1 µg/ml, all from JPT Technologies) and HLA-A*02:01 restricted immunodominant peptides (CMV pp65 derived NLV: NLVPMVATV, immediate early EBV BRLF1derived YVL: YVLDHLIVV, early EBV BMLF1-derived GLC, 1 µg/ml, all from Genemed Synthesis) for 6 h at 37°C. The combination of pepmixes and peptides was chosen based on antigen expression patterns of CMV and EBV infection in the post-transplant period (1). IFN- γ secreting cells were isolated using the IFN- γ secretion assay-cell enrichment kit (Miltenyi Biotech, #130-054-202) according to the manufacturer's recommendations (Figure 1B). IFN- γ secreting cells were plated in complete media with IL7 (10 ng/mL, R&D Systems), IL15 (10 ng/mL, R&D Systems) and IL21 (30 ng/mL, R&D Systems), and the irradiated IFN- γ -negative fraction (30 Gy) was used as a feeder layer (0.02-0.5 $\times 10^{6}$ IFN- γ captured cells per 0.5×10^6 feeder cells per well in 24-well plate). After 3 days, IFN- γ cytokine captured VSTs were harvested and transduced with retroviral supernatant encoding the survivin-specific $\alpha\beta$ TCR and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ (TCR8, Figure 1A) on retronectin coated plates or exposed to retronectin coated plates without viral particles (for non-transduced VSTs). VSTs were expanded for 5-7 days in the



presence of cytokines IL7 (10 ng/mL, R&D Systems), IL15 (10 ng/mL, R&D Systems) and IL21 (30 ng/mL, R&D Systems). A second stimulation (S2) was performed to evaluate the further expansion potential of the engineered VSTs. S2 was performed with CMV/EBV pepmix/peptide and HLA-A*02:01 restricted survivin peptide LMLGEFLKL (the cognate antigen of the transgenic TCR, Genemed synthesis) pulsed irradiated (40 Gy) autologous activated T cells (previously activated on OKT3/anti-CD28 coated plates) and irradiated (100 Gy) K562cs cells (K562 cells engineered to express CD80, CD83, CD86, 41BBL and CD32) at a ratio of 1:1:5 (**Figure 1B**) in G-Rex gas permeable culture devices (WilsonWolf, Saint Paul, USA) as previously described (17).

Immunophenotyping

For evaluation of cell surface marker expression, cells were stained with FITC-, phycoerythrin (PE-), allophycocyanin (APC), V450-, PerCP, APC-AF750 or Krome orange-conjugated antibodies (Abs) against CD4, CD8, CD45RO, CD62L, CCR7, CD45RA, CD56, TCR $\gamma\delta$, CD271, CD19, 7-AAD (BD Biosciences), murine TCR β constant region (ebiosciences), NLV pentamer (Proimmune) or survivin LML dextramer (Immudex) for 30 min at 4°C. The degranulation assay was performed as described previously (13). Briefly, VSTs (10⁶) were treated with golgi-plug/brefeldin A (Invitrogen) and CD107a/b VioBlue (BD Biosciences) followed by appropriate

stimulations: CMV/EBV specific viral pepmixes or single peptide (pp65, IE1, LMP2, BZLF1, EBNA1, GLC, 1 µg/ml), survivinspecific LML peptide, viral pepmixes/peptide plus LML peptide, PMA (25 ng/ml)/Ionomycin (1 µg/ml) or control Influenza matrix protein GIL (GILGFVFTL, Genemed synthesis) peptide (negative control) for 4 h at 37°C. Intracellular staining (ICS) was performed using anti-human IFN- γ -FITC and TNF- α -PE (BD Biosciences) antibodies. The samples were acquired on a FACS Canto with BD FACSDiva software, and analysis was performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.).

IFN-γ **ELIS**pot

For quantification of IFN- γ producing cells by ELISpot, VSTs (10⁵ per well) were plated in triplicates and stimulated with individual pepmixes/peptides (1 µg/ml) or cell lines (BV173 or K562) at 1:1 ratio (10⁵ cells per well) or media alone. Plates were incubated at 37°C/5% CO₂ over-night and developed. Spot Forming Units (SFUs) were enumerated by ZellNet.

Co-Culture Assay and Cytokine Detection

To determine the anti-tumor function, VSTs and BV173 cells were co-cultured at E:T ratio of 1:5 without exogenous cytokines. Supernatants from co-cultures were harvested after 24 h and were stored at -80°C for cytokine analysis. After 3 days, residual VSTs and tumor cells were enumerated using CountBright Beads (Life Technologies) and FACS analysis. Cytokines were quantified in supernatants using the MILLIPLEX Human CD8+ T-cells Magnetic Beads Panel (EMD Millipore) and a Luminex 200 instrument (Luminex).

⁵¹Chromium Release Assay

In vitro short-term cytotoxicity of VSTs was assessed using a standard ⁵¹Cr-release assay as described previously (13). Briefly, autologous activated T cells (targets) were pulsed with the indicated peptides or pepmixes (1 μ g/ml) and labeled with ⁵¹Cr for 1 h. VSTs and target cells were incubated at various ratios for 4 h. For controls, target cells were incubated in media alone or with 1% triton-X 100 (Sigma-Aldrich) to measure the spontaneous and the maximum release, respectively. The mean percentage of specific lysis of triplicate wells was calculated as follows: [(test counts – spontaneous counts)/(maximum counts – spontaneous counts)] x100%.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics was used to summarize the data. Comparison between groups was made using student's t-test or One-Way ANOVA whichever was appropriate. GraphPad prism 6 (GraphPad software, Inc., La Jolla, CA) or higher was used for statistical analysis. P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Rapid Generation of Transgenic VSTs by IFN-γ Cytokine Capture and Retroviral Transduction

To rapidly generate genetically engineered TCR8+ VSTs from healthy donors, we used the IFN- γ cytokine capture selection system to enrich for CMV and EBV-specific memory T cells upon peptide stimulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells, followed by retroviral transduction. The scheme of the retroviral vector (Figure 1A) and the cell isolation, transduction and expansion process (Figure 1B) is shown in Figure 1 and is fully Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) laboratory compatible. The average yield of IFN-y secreting VSTs from 50x10⁶ PBMCs was 0.15x10⁶ (range 3.13x10⁴ - 2.2x10⁶, n=8, **Figure 1C**). VSTs isolated by IFN- γ CC were sufficiently activated by the isolation to directly proceed to retroviral transduction on day 3 (TCR8+ vs NT VSTs, %mTCR+ cells; 66±9% vs 0.8±0.4%, p<0.0001, mean±SD, n=8) (Figure 2A). TCR8+ VSTs efficiently bound the survivin-specific dextramer compared to non-transduced (NT) VSTs (TCR8+ vs NT VSTs, %mTCR+Dex+; 42±7% vs 0.3±0.4%, p<0.0001, mean±SD, n=8, Figure 2A). Both, TCR8+ and NT VST lines were enriched in NLV+ cells (TCR8+ vs NT VSTs; 18±15.8% vs 28±27%, mean ±SD, p=ns, n=5), based on NLV-pentamer staining that is used to detect CMV specific cells within the product (Figure 2B). Non-transduced and TCR8+ VSTs expanded well with comparable fold expansions after first (S1) (NT: 294±267-fold, TCR8+: 269±285-fold) and second (S2) (NT: 6284±6646-fold, TCR8+: 5877±6682-fold) stimulation respectively (mean±SD, n=5, Figure 2C). Phenotypically, both NT and TCR8+ VSTs consisted predominantly of CD3+CD8+ T cells (NT: 95±3%, TCR8+: 93±3%, mean±SD, n=8) with low percentages of CD3+ CD4+ T cells (NT: 3±3%, TCR8+: 1±1%, mean±SD, n=8) (Figure 2D). We found a complete absence of NK cells (CD3-CD56+) and TCR $\gamma\delta$ + T cells in our products. However, TCR8+ VSTs contained slightly increased frequencies of CD3+CD56+ activated T cells as compared to NT VSTs (NT vs TCR8+: 0±0 vs $10\pm10\%$, p=ns, n=8) (Figure 2E). The memory subset distribution in the CD3+CD8+ compartment revealed high proportions of central memory T cells (T_{CM}) in both, NT and TCR8+ VSTs (NT vs TCR8+, naïve (T_N) 1.9±1.9% vs 2.5±2.7%, T_{CM} ; 75±18% vs 81±12%, effector memory (T_{EM}) 22±18% vs 16± 11%, terminally differentiated (T $_{\rm EMRA})$ 0.8±1.2% vs 0.7±0.9%, p=ns, n=6) (Figure 2F). Thus, we show that the combination of IFN- γ capture and retroviral transduction can rapidly generate engineered T cell products with simultaneous anti-viral and antitumor specificities that are highly enriched in CD8+ T_{CM} cells.

IFN-γ Capture TCR8+ VSTs React Against the Targeted Viral and Tumor Antigens

Next, we assessed antigen specific function of NT and TCR8+ VSTs by IFN-y ELISPOT and intracellular cytokine staining (ICS). As expected, TCR8+ but not NT VSTs produced IFN- γ in response to the cognate survivin peptide (LML) or the HLA-A*02:01+survivin+ leukemia cell line BV173, targeted by the transgenic TCR (IFN-γ SFCs NT vs TCR8+ VSTs; LML: 7.0±3.7 vs 577±268, p=0.003; BV173: 71.5±122 vs 925±246 p<0.0001, n=6, mean±SD) (Figure 3A, top left). Importantly, both NT and TCR8+ VSTs showed comparable anti-viral reactivities against CMV (pp65 and IE1 pepmix) and EBV (LMP2, EBNA1 and BZLF1 pepmixes, GLC and YVL peptides) antigens, while a small but significant reduction in NLV reactivity was observed with TCR8+ VSTs (Figure 3A). These results were corroborated by ICS where we found similar degranulation (CD107a/b), IFN- γ and TNF-α levels in NT and TCR8+ VSTs in response to viral antigens (Figure 3B). Again, the survivin derived LML peptide was only recognized by TCR8+ but not NT VSTs. Thus, IFN- γ capture TCR8+ VSTs are specific for and reactive against both the targeted tumor and viral antigens, and anti-viral reactivities are not altered by the transduction and forced expression of TCR8.

IFN- γ capture TCR8+ VSTs Kill Viral and Tumor Targets *in vitro*

We next evaluated the cytotoxicity of NT and TCR8+ VSTs in co-cultures and in a 4-hour ⁵¹Chromium-release assay. When we co-cultured NT or TCR8+ VSTs with HLA-A*02:01+survivin+ BV173 leukemia cells, we observed significant killing of target cells by TCR8+ but not NT VSTs (residual tumor cell count NT vs TCR8+: $2.3\pm0.6x10^6$ vs $0.04\pm0.07x10^6$, p=0.0004, mean±SD, n=6) (**Figure 4A**, left). No difference in the VST counts at the end of the co-cultures was seen (**Figure 4A**, right). We also analyzed cytokine secretion and lytic granules present in the co-



FIGURE 2 | Phenotypic characterization and fold expansion of TCR8+ VSTs. (A) Representative FACS plots (left) and summary (right) of transduction efficiencies (mTCR β , CD271) and transgenic TCR specificity [LML dextramer (Dex)]. NT: non-transduced. NT vs TCR8+, mean \pm SD, ****p <0.0001, n=8 in both. (B) Representative FACS plots (left) and summary (right) of CMV-specific T cells in NT and TCR8+ VSTs. NT vs TCR8+, mean \pm SD, n=5, p=ns. Dot color indicates individual donors. (C) Fold expansion of NT (open circles) and TCR8+ (blue circles) VSTs after first (S1) and second (S2) stimulation. (D) Distribution of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, representative FACS plots (left) and summary (right) (gated on total live cells), mean \pm SD, n=5. (E) Analysis of NK cells (CD56+CD3-), activated T cells (CD56+CD3+), or TCR $\gamma\delta$ T cells (TCR $\gamma\delta$ +CD3+) in NT and TCR8+ VSTs. Representative FACS plots (left) and summary (bottom) (gated on live CD3+CD8+ T cells) of memory phenotype of VSTs: naïve (T_N), central memory (T_{CM}), effector memory (T_{EM}) and terminally differentiated (T_{EMRA}) subsets characterized in NT and TCR8+ VSTs based on CD45RO and CD62L staining, n=5, mean \pm SD. ns, not significant.



FIGURE 3 | TCR8+ VSTs are multi-antigen specific for survivin and viral (CMV and EBV) antigens. (A) NT or TCR8+ VSTs after S1 were stimulated with viral (CMV and EBV) pepmixes/peptides, survivin peptide, or leukemia cell lines (BV173: HLA-A2*02:01+survivin+ or K562: HLA-A2-) for 24 h and IFN- γ spot forming cells (SFC) were measured by ELISPOT, n=6, mean ± SD: NT vs TCR8+, LML peptide: **p=0.003, BV173: *****p<0.0001, NLV peptide: *p=0.035, pp65, IE1, LMP2, BZLF, EBNA1, GLC peptide, YVL peptide: mean ± SD, p=ns, n=6. (B) NT or TCR8+ VSTs were stimulated with viral pepmixes, LML peptide, viral pepmixes plus LML peptide, PMA/lonomycin (25 ng/ml) or irrelevant influenza GIL peptide (negative control) for 4 h and stained for degranulation (CD107a/b) and intracellular IFN- γ and TNF- α followed by FACS analysis. The percentage of cells expressing CD107a/b+/IFN γ + (top left), CD107a/b+/TNF α + (top middle) and (CD107a/b+/IFN γ +/TNF α + (polyfunctional, top right) are shown. Dots, mean ± SD, n=3 donors. Representative FACS plots are shown on the bottom (gated on total live cells, then gated on CD107a/b+ cells) for NT (left) and TCR8 (right). ns, not significant.

culture supernatant 24 hours after tumor challenge. TCR8+ VSTs produced significant amounts of T_H1 cytokines including IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-10 (NT vs TCR8+ VSTs: IFN- γ ; 0.9±1.0 vs 8.1±4.0 ng/ml, p=0.017, TNF- α ; 0.02±0.01 vs 1.2±0.9 ng/ml, p=0.017, IL-10; 0.3±0.2 vs 2.8±2.1 ng/ml, p=0.028, mean±SD, n=6) and cytolytic granules (GZMB NT vs TCR8+: 2.7±1.5 vs 6.8±4.0 ng/ml, p=0.02, mean±SD, n=6) (**Figure 4B**). We detected GZMA and perforin release into the supernatant of NT VSTs even though no cytotoxicity was observed. In a 4-hour ⁵¹Chromium-release cytotoxicity assay, we found that activated autologous T cells pulsed with viral peptides were efficiently lysed by both, NT and TCR8+ VSTs at various E:T ratios, while un-pulsed targets were not killed (**Figure 4C**, mean \pm SD, n=3 donors, each plated in technical triplicates). HLA-



FIGURE 4 | TCR8+ VSTs are cytotoxic *in vitro* against the cognate viral and tumor targets. **(A)** Co-culture of NT or TCR8+ VSTs with BV173 leukemia cells (HLA-A2*02:01+survivin+); E:T ratio 1:5. Residual BV173 cells (left) or VSTs (right) quantified by FACS on day 3, NT vs TCR8+, mean ± SD, Tumor cells: ***p=0.0004; VSTs: p=ns; n=6. **(B)** Cytokine quantification in supernatants after 24 hours of coculture, NT vs TCR8+, mean ± SD, IFN-γ, TNF-α, Granzyme (Gzm) B, GM-CSF, IL-10 and IL-4: *p<0.05, n=6. **(C)** Percent specific lysis of peptide/pepmix pulsed or unpulsed activated autologous T cells or BV173 cells by NT or TCR8+ VSTs in a 4-hour ⁵¹Cr-release assay at E:T ratios of 40:1, 20:1, 10:1, 5:1, mean ± SD, n=4. **(D)** Summary of percent specific lysis at E:T 10:1 ratio depicting individual donors (colored dots). NT vs TCR8+, mean ± SD, NLV peptide, CMV pooled, EBV pooled: p=ns; BV173 cells: *p=0.01, n=3, paired t-test. ns, not significant.

A*02:01+survivin+ BV173 leukemia cells were only killed by TCR8+ but not NT VSTs. Donor heterogeneity with regards to CMV and/or EBV reactivity was high, as illustrated in **Figure 4D**. For example, anti-viral specificity from donor #9 was almost exclusively directed against EBV and not against CMV, while the other two evaluated donors showed simultaneous responses against both viruses. The anti-leukemic activity conferred by the transgenic TCR was much more

consistent across donors. Thus, we demonstrate that TCR8+ VSTs generated with our approach are cytotoxic and functional against both viral and tumor targets.

DISCUSSION

Here we present an approach for the rapid generation of engineered human T cells with simultaneous anti-viral and anti-tumor activity (**Figure 5**). With the IFN- γ cytokine capture system we efficiently enriched and activated anti-viral memory CD8+ T cells that were directly amenable for retroviral transduction, significantly reducing the complexity of manufacturing compared to previously established processes. Transgenic co-expression of the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ co-receptor with the tumor targeted TCR ensured sufficient co-receptor availability for both endogenous anti-viral and transgenic anti-tumor TCRs. T cells generated with our approach efficiently recognized and killed both viral and tumor targets.

Our approach has significant advantages over other established processes for the production of engineered VSTs and allows considering moving to a semi-automated closed process. The most important advantages are that (1) no live virus is necessary for the production of lymphoblastoid cell lines, (2) viral antigen presentation and T cell activation is achieved with peptide pulsing of peripheral blood mononuclear cells and no additional generation of antigen presenting cells is necessary, (3) a one-step procedure is sufficient for T cell selection and activation that allows to directly proceed to gene-modification after a short culture period, (4) selection is performed with magnetic columns and does not require flow cytometry-based sorting, and importantly (5) the approach significantly reduces manufacturing time as well as the number of manipulations needed for product generation. IFN-y captured VSTs can be potentially modified using non-viral gene delivery systems such as transposons or CRISPR/Cas9, that are more versatile and cost-effective (18). In addition, we plan to upscale the approach and reduce the need for open manufacturing steps. For example, cytokine capture as well as gene modification and cell expansion could be adapted to the capabilities of an automated

closed manufacturing platform such as for example the CliniMACS Prodigy system (16, 19).

Nevertheless, we also identified some disadvantages, which include in our hands (1) the almost exclusive enrichment for CD8+ T cells, and (2) a high donor variability in T cell yield after the CC selection procedure. In fact, virus-specific CD4+ T cells play a key role in the development of long-lasting antiviral immunity by potentiating cytotoxic CD8+ T cell responses, by providing help to B cells for efficient and long-lasting antibody responses, and by direct cytotoxic effects (20-22). Upon adoptive transfer of VSTs to immunocompromised patients after HSCT, the CD4+ T cell compartment was instrumental for the development of longlasting viral control (23). The lack of CD4+ T cell enrichment in our study may be due to the fact that our stimulation with the viral pepmixes was performed over 6 hours only, compared to previous literature where the stimulation lasted 16 hours (14, 24), a factor that needs to be evaluated in the future. The high variability in viral antigen-specific cell frequency is consistent with previous observations (14, 16, 24) and confirms the fact that circulating anti-viral memory T cell frequency varies over a broad range in different individuals.

VSTs are an interesting cell therapy platform for the development of allogeneic off-the shelf engineered T cell therapies. Several academic clinical trials have demonstrated safety and efficacy in controlling viral infections in immunocompromised patients after solid organ transplant or allogeneic HSCT with the infusion of third-party donor derived banked VSTs in partially HLA matched settings (25-30). Third party VST cell therapy is now on the way to commercialization. Because VSTs express a viral antigen restricted TCR repertoire, they did not produce significant graftversus host disease in infused patients across studies. However, in vivo persistence was shorter when compared to VSTs derived from HLA matched donors [recently reviewed in (3)] indicating significant rejection by host T or NK cells. Recently, additional engineering strategies have been developed to confer resistance to rejection to the gene-modified VSTs (31, 32) which further enhances potential future applicability as a more general cell therapy platform.



In summary, we show that manufacturing of gene-engineered VSTs can be simplified and shortened by combining IFN- γ cytokine capture and retroviral transduction. Our process is scalable, amenable to the use of non-viral gene delivery systems, and yields highly multifunctional T cells with both anti-viral and anti-tumor activity. Clinical translation of our approach can be envisioned in a clinical trial with the goal to prevent or treat viral infection and malignant relapse in patients after allogeneic stem cell transplant.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors upon reasonable request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

REFERENCES

- Bollard CM, Heslop HE. T Cells for Viral Infections After Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant. *Blood* (2016) 127(26):3331–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-01-628982
- O'Reilly RJ, Prockop S, Hasan A, Doubrovina E. Therapeutic Advantages Provided by Banked Virus-Specific T-Cells of Defined HLA-Restriction. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2019) 54(Suppl 2):759–64. doi: 10.1038/s41409-019-0614-1
- Perez C, Gruber I, Arber C. Off-The-Shelf Allogeneic T Cell Therapies for Cancer: Opportunities and Challenges Using Naturally Occuring "Universal" Donor T Cells. Front Immunol (2020) 11:583716. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.583716
- Cruz CR, Micklethwaite KP, Savoldo B, Ramos CA, Lam S, Ku S, et al. Infusion of Donor-Derived CD19-Redirected Virus-Specific T Cells for B-Cell Malignancies Relapsed After Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplant: A Phase 1 Study. *Blood* (2013) 122(17):2965–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-506741
- Rossig C, Pule M, Altvater B, Saiagh S, Wright G, Ghorashian S, et al. Vaccination to Improve the Persistence of CD19CAR Gene-Modified T Cells in Relapsed Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Leukemia* (2017) 31 (5):1087–95. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.39
- Lapteva N, Gilbert M, Diaconu I, Rollins LA, Al-Sabbagh M, Naik S, et al. T-Cell Receptor Stimulation Enhances the Expansion and Function of CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Expressing T Cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25 (24):7340–50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3199
- Chapuis AG, Egan DN, Bar M, Schmitt TM, McAfee MS, Paulson KG, et al. T Cell Receptor Gene Therapy Targeting WT1 Prevents Acute Myeloid Leukemia Relapse Post-Transplant. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(7):1064–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0472-9
- van Balen P, Jedema I, van Loenen MM, de Boer R, van Egmond HM, Hagedoorn RS, et al. HA-1h T-Cell Receptor Gene Transfer to Redirect Virus-Specific T Cells for Treatment of Hematological Malignancies After Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Phase 1 Clinical Study. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1804. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01804
- Campillo-Davo D, Anguille S, Lion E. Trial Watch: Adoptive TCR-Engineered T-Cell Immunotherapy for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2021) 13(18). doi: 10.3390/cancers13184519

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GB designed research, performed experiments, analyzed, and interpreted results and wrote the manuscript. CA designed research, supervised the entire study, analyzed and interpreted results and wrote the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work was supported by a Leukemia & Lymphoma Society Translational Research Program Grant (6490-16), the Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV) and the University of Lausanne, Switzerland, all to CA. Open access funding was provided by the University of Lausanne.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank members of the Center for Cell and Gene Therapy at Baylor College of Medicine and the Ludwig Lausanne Branch at the University of Lausanne for helpful discussions and suggestions. We thank Cynthia Perez for critical reading of the manuscript.

- Abou-El-Enein M, Elsallab M, Feldman SA, Fesnak AD, Heslop HE, Marks P, et al. Scalable Manufacturing of CAR T Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Blood Cancer Discov* (2021) 2(5):408–22. doi: 10.1158/2643-3230.BCD-21-0084
- Arber C, Feng X, Abhyankar H, Romero E, Wu MF, Heslop HE, et al. Survivin-Specific T Cell Receptor Targets Tumor But Not T Cells. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(1):157–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI75876
- Rath JA, Bajwa G, Carreres B, Hoyer E, Gruber I, Martinez-Paniagua MA, et al. Single-Cell Transcriptomics Identifies Multiple Pathways Underlying Antitumor Function of TCR- and CD8alphabeta-Engineered Human CD4(+) T Cells. Sci Adv (2020) 6(27):eaaz7809. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaz7809
- Bajwa G, Lanz I, Cardenas M, Brenner MK, Arber C. Transgenic CD8alphabeta Co-Receptor Rescues Endogenous TCR Function in TCR-Transgenic Virus-Specific T Cells. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(2):e001487. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001487
- Feuchtinger T, Opherk K, Bethge WA, Topp MS, Schuster FR, Weissinger EM, et al. Adoptive Transfer of Pp65-Specific T Cells for the Treatment of Chemorefractory Cytomegalovirus Disease or Reactivation After Haploidentical and Matched Unrelated Stem Cell Transplantation. *Blood* (2010) 116(20):4360–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-262089
- Priesner C, Esser R, Tischer S, Marburger M, Aleksandrova K, Maecker-Kolhoff B, et al. Comparative Analysis of Clinical-Scale IFN-Gamma-Positive T-Cell Enrichment Using Partially and Fully Integrated Platforms. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:393. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00393
- Kim N, Nam YS, Im KI, Lim JY, Jeon YW, Song Y, et al. Robust Production of Cytomegalovirus Pp65-Specific T Cells Using a Fully Automated IFN-Gamma Cytokine Capture System. *Transfus Med Hemother* (2018) 45(1):13–22. doi: 10.1159/000479238
- Ngo MC, Ando J, Leen AM, Ennamuri S, Lapteva N, Vera JF, et al. Complementation of Antigen-Presenting Cells to Generate T Lymphocytes With Broad Target Specificity. J Immunother (2014) 37(4):193–203. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000014
- Irving M, Lanitis E, Migliorini D, Ivics Z, Guedan S. Choosing the Right Tool for Genetic Engineering: Clinical Lessons From Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells. *Hum Gene Ther* (2021) 32(19-20):1044–58. doi: 10.1089/hum.2021.173
- Joedicke JJ, Grosskinsky U, Gerlach K, Kunkele A, Hopken UE, Rehm A. Accelerating Clinical-Scale Production of BCMA CAR T Cells With Defined

Maturation Stages. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev (2022) 24:181-98. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2021.12.005

- Novy P, Quigley M, Huang X, Yang Y. CD4 T Cells are Required for CD8 T Cell Survival During Both Primary and Memory Recall Responses. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(12):8243–51. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8243
- Pourgheysari B, Piper KP, McLarnon A, Arrazi J, Bruton R, Clark F, et al. Early Reconstitution of Effector Memory CD4+ CMV-Specific T Cells Protects Against CMV Reactivation Following Allogeneic SCT. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2009) 43(11):853–61. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2008.403
- Swain SL, McKinstry KK, Strutt TM. Expanding Roles for CD4(+) T Cells in Immunity to Viruses. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12(2):136–48. doi: 10.1038/ nri3152
- 23. Walter EA, Greenberg PD, Gilbert MJ, Finch RJ, Watanabe KS, Thomas ED, et al. Reconstitution of Cellular Immunity Against Cytomegalovirus in Recipients of Allogeneic Bone Marrow by Transfer of T-Cell Clones From the Donor. N Engl J Med (1995) 333(16):1038–44. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199510193331603
- Rauser G, Einsele H, Sinzger C, Wernet D, Kuntz G, Assenmacher M, et al. Rapid Generation of Combined CMV-Specific CD4+ and CD8+ T-Cell Lines for Adoptive Transfer Into Recipients of Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplants. *Blood* (2004) 103(9):3565–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-09-3056
- Haque T, Wilkie GM, Jones MM, Higgins CD, Urquhart G, Wingate P, et al. Allogeneic Cytotoxic T-Cell Therapy for EBV-Positive Posttransplantation Lymphoproliferative Disease: Results of a Phase 2 Multicenter Clinical Trial. *Blood* (2007) 110(4):1123–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-12-063008
- 26. Leen AM, Bollard CM, Mendizabal AM, Shpall EJ, Szabolcs P, Antin JH, et al. Multicenter Study of Banked Third-Party Virus-Specific T Cells to Treat Severe Viral Infections After Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Blood* (2013) 121(26):5113–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-486324
- Withers B, Blyth E, Clancy LE, Yong A, Fraser C, Burgess J, et al. Long-Term Control of Recurrent or Refractory Viral Infections After Allogeneic HSCT With Third-Party Virus-Specific T Cells. *Blood Adv* (2017) 1(24):2193–205. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017010223
- Withers B, Clancy L, Burgess J, Simms R, Brown R, Micklethwaite K, et al. Establishment and Operation of a Third-Party Virus-Specific T Cell Bank

Within an Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplant Program. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2018) 24(12):2433-42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.08.024

- Tzannou I, Watanabe A, Naik S, Daum R, Kuvalekar M, Leung KS, et al. "Mini" Bank of Only 8 Donors Supplies CMV-Directed T Cells to Diverse Recipients. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3(17):2571-80. doi: 10:1182/ bloodadvances201900
- Prockop S, Doubrovina E, Suser S, Heller G, Barker J, Dahi P, et al. Off-The-Shelf EBV-Specific T Cell Immunotherapy for Rituximab-Refractory EBV-Associated Lymphoma Following Transplantation. J Clin Invest (2020) 130 (2):733–47. doi: 10.1172/JCI121127
- Quach DH, Becerra-Dominguez L, Rouce RH, Rooney CM. A Strategy to Protect Off-the-Shelf Cell Therapy Products Using Virus-Specific T-Cells Engineered to Eliminate Alloreactive T-Cells. J Transl Med (2019) 17(1):240. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-1988-y
- Mo F, Watanabe N, McKenna MK, Hicks MJ, Srinivasan M, Gomes-Silva D, et al. Engineered Off-the-Shelf Therapeutic T Cells Resist Host Immune Rejection. *Nat Biotechnol* (2021) 39(1):56–63. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0601-5

Conflict of Interest: CA and GB receive licensing fees from Immatics. GB is a current employee of Immatics. CA has patents and pending patent applications in the field of engineered T-cell therapies. GB has pending patent applications in the field of engineered T cell therapies.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bajwa and Arber. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



CAR-T Therapy for Pediatric High-Grade Gliomas: Peculiarities, Current Investigations and Future Strategies

Laura Antonucci¹, Gabriele Canciani¹, Angela Mastronuzzi¹, Andrea Carai², Giada Del Baldo¹ and Francesca Del Bufalo^{1*}

¹ Department of Paediatric Haematology and Oncology, Cell and Gene Therapy, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Neuroscience and Neurorehabilitation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rachel Koldej, Royal Melbourne Hospital, Australia

Reviewed by:

Jessica Foster, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Michael Brown, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Australia David Akhavan, University of Kansas Medical Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Francesca Del Bufalo francesca.delbufalo@opbg.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 04 May 2022

Citation:

Antonucci L, Canciani G, Mastronuzzi A, Carai A, Del Baldo G and Del Bufalo F (2022) CAR-T Therapy for Pediatric High-Grade Gliomas: Peculiarities, Current Investigations and Future Strategies. Front. Immunol. 13:867154. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.867154 High-Grade Gliomas (HGG) are among the deadliest malignant tumors of central nervous system (CNS) in pediatrics. Despite aggressive multimodal treatment - including surgical resection, radiotherapy and chemotherapy - long-term prognosis of patients remains dismal with a 5-year survival rate less than 20%. Increased understanding of genetic and epigenetic features of pediatric HGGs (pHGGs) revealed important differences with adult gliomas, which need to be considered in order to identify innovative and more effective therapeutic approaches. Immunotherapy is based on different techniques aimed to redirect the patient own immune system to fight specifically cancer cells. In particular, T-lymphocytes can be genetically modified to express chimeric proteins, known as chimeric antigen receptors (CARs), targeting selected tumor-associated antigens (TAA). Disialoganglioside GD2 (GD-2) and B7-H3 are highly expressed on pHGGs and have been evaluated as possible targets in pediatric clinical trials, in addition to the antigens common to adult glioblastoma – such as interleukin-13 receptor alpha 2 (IL-13 α 2), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER-2) and erythropoietin-producing human hepatocellular carcinoma A2 receptor (EphA2). CAR-T therapy has shown promise in preclinical model of pHGGs but failed to achieve the same success obtained for hematological malignancies. Several limitations, including the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME), the heterogeneity in target antigen expression and the difficulty of accessing the tumor site, impair the efficacy of T-cells. pHGGs display an immunologically cold TME with poor T-cell infiltration and scarce immune surveillance. The secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines (TGF- β , IL-10) and the presence of immunesuppressive cells - like tumor-associated macrophages/microglia (TAMs) and myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) - limit the effectiveness of immune system to eradicate tumor cells. Innovative immunotherapeutic strategies are necessary to overcome these hurdles and improve ability of T-cells to eradicate tumor. In this review we describe the distinguishing features of HGGs of the pediatric population and of their TME, with a focus on the most promising CAR-T therapies overcoming these hurdles.

Keywords: high-grade gliomas (HGG), CAR-T therapies, immunotherapy, tumor microenvironment (TME), next generation CAR-T cells

PEDIATRIC HIGH-GRADE GLIOMAS (PHGGS)

Pediatric HGGs are among the most common malignant brain tumors in pediatrics and represent the leading cause of cancer related death in childhood (1). Traditionally, pediatric and adult gliomas were commonly classified according to the WHO grading, with HGGs including WHO grade III and IV aggressive tumors (2). Over the last years, key differences in epigenomic and genetic features between pHGGs and their adult counterparts emerged, despite analogies in aggressiveness and histology (3). In 2021 WHO Classification of CNS tumors, pediatric gliomas are differentiated from adults- on the heels of 2016 WHO classification - and the term "glioblastoma" is abandoned in pediatric oncologic setting (4). Four groups of pHGGs are now described: Diffuse midline glioma, H3 K27altered; Diffuse hemispheric glioma, H3 G34-mutant; Diffuse pediatric-type high-grade glioma, H3-wildtype and IDHwildtype; and Infant-type hemispheric glioma (Table 1). Diffuse midline glioma, H3 K27-altered had already been included in previous classification but the term "altered" aims at including other mechanisms besides previously reported H3-K27 mutations. This group encompasses DIPG, one of the most aggressive types of pHGG. Diffuse hemispheric gliomas, H3 G34-mutant typically arise in cerebral hemispheres and are characterized by a G34R/V substitution of histone H3 due to a mutation of H3F3A gene (5). Diffuse pediatric-type high-grade glioma, H3-wildtype and IDH-wildtype encompass a heterogeneous group of pHGGs not showing either H3 or IDH mutations. Finally, Infant-type hemispheric glioma include HGGs occurring in infant and newborns. This latter includes 3 subgroups distinguished by molecular features: subgroup 1 involves alterations in one of the genes ALK, ROS1, NTRK1/2/ 3, or MET; subgroup 2, RAS/MAPK pathway alterations and hemispheric localization; subgroup 3 refers to tumors with RAS/ MAPK mutations arising in midline structures (6–8). Molecular characterization of the first subgroup of this class promoted investigation of target therapies, such as Larotrectinib for NTRKfusion positive pHGGs (NCT02576431).

Even though our knowledge on biological and molecular features of pHGGs largely increased during the past years, therapeutic approaches remain limited and ineffective. Current multimodal treatments encompass surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, reaching 5-year survival rate less than 20% (9). New therapeutic strategies are necessary and novel immunotherapies hold great promise for possible effective treatment.

CAR-T CELLS

The principle of immunotherapy relies on restoring the physiological ability of immune system to recognize and eliminate tumor cells. This goal can be achieved through a wide variety of approaches and, so far, development of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) expressing T cells is one of the ultimate advances in this field. CAR-T cells are T lymphocytes genetically modified by either viral vectors (retroviral or lentiviral) or by non-viral approaches (sleeping beauty transposition) to express a chimeric construct deriving from the fusion of the variable portions of a monoclonal antibody single chain to the signal transduction domains of the CD3 z chain (10). This structure combines the specificity of MHC-independent antibody recognition with the anti-tumor potential of T lymphocytes, thus allowing to transfer any antigenic specificity to T cells. In order to potentiate the antitumor efficacy of these constructs, second-generation CAR-T cells have been created by the inclusion of one costimulatory domain, such as the CD28, 41BB or OX40 molecules, resulting in a higher capacity for cytokine production, a greater expansion and a longer persistence (11). Subsequently, the combination of two signal domains into third-generation CAR-T constructs showed a further increase in the activation profile (12). CAR-T therapy has given outstanding results against several B-cell malignancies and myeloma, in both adults and children. Currently, the clinical trials reported so far on CAR-T cells directed towards the CD19 antigen, widely expressed by acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells (ALL), has documented a strong tumor activity (13, 14) even in patients highly resistant to conventional treatments or relapsed after allogeneic transplantation, obtaining CR rates of approximately 80%. Unfortunately, the results obtained so far with CAR-T cells in solid tumors have been less effective and fewer clinical trials or case reports have been reported in the literature. Several limits can hinder the development of CAR-T in solid tumors, including: the difficulty of finding a suitable target antigen (the so-called "antigen dilemma"), the strongly immunosuppressive TME, the limited persistence in vivo and finally, the insufficient T

TABLE 1	Pediatric-type High Gra	de Gliomas according to new	2021 WHO CNS classification.
---------	-------------------------	-----------------------------	------------------------------

Group	Molecular Features	Localization	References	
Diffuse midline glioma, H3 K27-altered	H3 K27 mutations, EZHIP overexpression, other H3 K27 alterations.	Thalamus, brainstem, spinal cord	(4)	
Diffuse hemispheric glioma, H3 G34-mutant	H3 G34 mutations.	Cerebral hemispheres	(4, 5)	
Diffuse pediatric-type high-grade glioma, H3-wildtype and IDH-wildtype	Wild-type H3 and IDH gene families.	Cerebral hemispheres and midline structures	(4)	
Infant-type hemispheric glioma.	Subgroup 1: RTK- driven Fusion genes involving ALK, ROS1, NRK and MET	Cerebral hemispheres	(4, 6–8)	
	Subgroup 2: RAS/MAPK pathway mutations Subgroup 3: RAS/MAPK pathway mutations	Cerebral hemispheres Thalamus, brainstem, spinal cord		

cell trafficking and homing to tumors and the limited persistence of exhausted T cells.

ACTUAL AND PROMISING TARGET ANTIGENS IN PHGGS

The first antigens proposed for targeting pHGGs derive from studies conducted on adult gliomas, in particular HER-2, EphA2 and IL-13R α 2 (15).

HER-2 is a tyrosine kinase receptor overexpressed in HGGs, whose levels of expression correlate to poor outcome not only in GBM but also in other pediatric tumors, such as medulloblastoma (16, 17). HER-2 is detected at low levels in normal, healthy brain whereas is overexpressed on CNS cancer stem cells, making it an effective and safe target for the treatment of HGGs (18). Monoclonal antibodies (moAbs) recognizing HER-2 showed extraordinary results in the treatment of breast cancer, but the presence of blood brain barrier (BBB) limits their use for brain tumors. Differently from moAbs, T-cells can cross the BBB and traffic to brain tissue and cerebrospinal fluid from blood flow to recognize tumor cells, as demonstrated by clinical response of melanoma brain metastasis after intravenous infusion of adoptive tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and by the detection of CD19-CAR-T in cerebrospinal fluids of patients with ALL (19, 20). Indeed, Ahmed et al. tested the safety of intravenous injection of virus-specific (VS) CAR-T cells directed to HER-2 in a phase I clinical trial on patients affected by high grade gliomas: with 17 patients treated, including 7 children <18 years, the approach resulted to be safe, without any dose-limiting toxicity (DLT)

reported (21). Interestingly, one of the adolescent patients with unresectable right thalamic HGG showed the reduction of 30% of the longest tumor diameter lasted for 9.2 months and an Overall Survival (OS) of 34.2 months after two infusions of CAR-T cells (21). In order to target CNS tumors, CAR-T can be delivered locally in tumor resection cavity or in the ventricular system with improved tumor control, even at lower doses, and reduced systemic circulation and toxicity, as recently highlighted by Theruvat et al. and Donovan et al. (22-24). Currently, two clinical trials are evaluating intracranial injection of Anti-HER-2 CAR-T for treatment of pHGGs (NCT02442297; NCT03500991) (Table 2). Preliminary results of the phase 1 trial "BrainChild-01" showed that repetitive intracranial infusion of HER-2 CAR-T on a cohort of pediatric and young adult patients with CNS tumors is safe, well tolerated, and able to induce immune response (18). Two other clinical trials, namely "Brainchild-02" and "BrainChild-03", are evaluating the effectiveness of locoregional infusion of CAR-T cells targeting EGFR and B7-H3, respectively (NCT03638167 NCT04185038).

EphA2 is a tyrosine kinase receptor involved in oncogenic pathways in several tumors, including breast cancer, lung cancer and HGG (25). High expression of EphA2 has been correlated to worse clinical outcomes in adult HGG and recently the same association was confirmed in pediatric HGGs (26). Preclinical studies reported a promising antitumoral activity of EphA2redirected CAR-T-cells for the treatment of HGG. Recently, results of the first-in-human trial of intravenous administration EphA2-CAR-T in patients with high grade gliomas showed safety and transient clinical responses (27). However, the trial enrolled patients >18 years, therefore the efficacy of EphA2- CAR-T in pediatric cohorts remains to be investigated.

Official title	Antigenic target	Administration	Responsible party	NCT
T Cells Expressing HER2-specific Chimeric Antigen Receptors (CAR) for Patients With HER2-Positive CNS Tumors (iCAR)	HER-2	Locoregional delivery	Nabil Ahmed, Baylor College of Medicine	02442297
HER2-specific CAR-T Cell Locoregional Immunotherapy for HER2-positive Recurrent/Refractory Pediatric CNS Tumors	HER-2	Locoregional delivery	Julie Park, Seattle Children's Hospital	03500991
Genetically Modified T-cells in Treating Patients With Recurrent or Refractory Malignant Glioma	IL13Rα2	Locoregional delivery	City of Hope Medical Center	02208362
EGFR806-specific CAR-T Cell Locoregional Immunotherapy for EGFR-positive Recurrent or Refractory Pediatric CNS Tumors	EGFR	Locoregional delivery	Julie Park, Seattle Children's Hospital	03638167
GD2 CAR-T Cells in Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Gliomas (DIPG) & Spinal Diffuse Midline Glioma(DMG)	GD-2	Intravenous injection after Lymphodepletion with Cyclophosphamide/Fludarabine Chemotherapy	Crystal Mackall, Stanford University	04196413
C7R-GD2.CAR-T Cells for Patients With GD2-expressing Brain Tumors (GAIL-B)	GD-2	Intravenous injection Lymphodepletion with Cyclophosphamide/Fludarabine Chemotherapy	Bilal Omer, Baylor College of Medicine	04099797
Study of B7-H3-Specific CAR-T Cell Locoregional Immunotherapy for Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma/Diffuse Midline Glioma and Recurrent or Refractory Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors	B7-H3	Locoregional delivery	Julie Park, Seattle Children's Hospital	04185038
B7-H3-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Autologous T-Cell Therapy for Pediatric Patients With Solid Tumors (3CAR)	B7-H3	Intravenous injection Lymphodepletion with Cyclophosphamide/Fludarabine Chemotherapy	St. Jude Children's Research Hospital	04897321

IL13R α 2 is a monomeric, high-affinity, IL13 receptor, detected at high levels in more than 50% of HGGs, whose overexpression is associated with poor outcomes (28). Brown et al. started a clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy of intracranial infusion of IL13R α 2-CAR-T in adult and pediatric patients with HGGs (NCT02208362). The first published results show safety of the therapeutic approach and documented a complete radiographic response in a patient for up to 7.5 months (29).

Recently, both GD2 and B7-H3 were found to be highly expressed in pediatric diffuse midline glioma (DIPG). Interestingly, Haydar et al. established a hierarchy of antigens expressions in pediatric brain tumors showing that, despite a high heterogeneity, GD2 and B7-H3 maintain the highest expression as compared to IL-13R α 2, HER2 and EphA2 (30). These data suggest the importance of focusing on these targets for pHGGs rather than antigens mostly relevant in adult gliomas.

GD2 is involved in mechanisms of cell growth, motility and invasiveness of several pediatric tumors like neuroblastoma, Ewing's Sarcoma and pHGGs (31). After the promising results of clinical trials using several generations of GD2-CAR-T cells to treat patients affected by neuroblastoma, first, and other GD2⁺ solid tumors, after, (NCT03373097; NCT04099797) this approach is currently under preclinical and clinical evaluation also for pHGG (32, 33); NCT05298995). In particular, Mount and Majzner et al. demonstrated uniform and high levels of GD2 on H3-K27 diffuse midline glioma cells and developed a secondgeneration GD2 CAR construct which showed efficient antitumor activity in DMG PDXs models (34), leading to the activation of a phase I clinical trial, currently enrolling pediatric patients. They published the results of the first 4 patients with H3K27-altered diffuse midline glioma (DMG) treated in the trial and showed that the toxicity profile strongly depends on the tumor location and is manageable and reversible with intensive supportive care (35). In addition, reduction of neurological deficits and radiological improvement after CAR-T administration were reported. In particular, in one of the treated patients, affected by spinal cord DMG, a reduction of 90% of the tumor volume after the first intravenous administration and a further reduction of neoplasm dimensions of 80% after a second intraventricular injection was observed (34). At Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital we are currently activating a phase I clinical trial to test the safety and, preliminarily, efficacy of thirdgeneration (incorporating 4.1BB and CD28 costimulatory domains) GD2-CAR T cells, infused i.v., for the treatment of pediatric patients affected by CNS tumors (36); NCT05298995). In particular, in view of the correlation between tumor location and toxicity, the study has an innovative design of sequential enrollment of patients into 3 different arms, the first being represented by medulloblastoma and other embryonal tumor (arm A), the second by hemispheric HGG (arm B) and the third by tumors with midline location, at higher risk of severe toxicity, namely thalamic HGG, DMG, DIPG (arm C).

B7-H3 is a transmembrane protein with important immune inhibition functions, belonging to the B7 family of immune checkpoint proteins, and is overexpressed in several pediatric malignancies - including pHGGs (37). Majzner et al. tested the efficacy of B7-H3 CAR-T in xenografts models of several different paediatric solid tumors, including osteosarcoma, medulloblastoma and Ewing's sarcoma) (38). Interestingly, they showed a potent antitumor activity, strictly dependent on the antigen density on tumors, which resulted to be aberrantly high compared to healthy tissues (38). The results is extremely important, considering the wide expression of the antigen in normal tissues. Recently, phase 1 clinical trials exploring the safety of either loco-regional or intravenous infusion of B7-H3 CAR-T cells for the treatment of paediatric patients with solid tumors, including pHGGs, started (NCT04185038; NCT04897321).

As already mentioned, the success of CAR-T cell therapy relies on the choice of target antigens highly expressed on tumor cells, amongst several factors. However, the recognition of a single antigen is limited by the possible occurrence of the so-called "antigen escape" phenomenon: either the down-regulation of the target antigen or the selection of already negative subclones by the pressure of the treatment, in highly heterogeneous tumors, can represent the cause of subsequent tumor recurrence. This issue is particularly relevant in the setting of pHGG which are extremely heterogeneous and often characterized by subpopulations of tumor cells with different antigen expression. For this reason, CAR-T cells able to recognize multiple antigens on target cells by incorporating 2 antigen targeting domains within one CAR construct have been developed. For HGG, a tandem CAR (TanCAR) targeting simultaneously HER-2 and IL-13Rα2 was designed (39). TanCAR-T cells showed an elevated capacity to lyse glioma cells in vitro and in vivo and to prevent tumor recurrence in the animal model. Moreover, CAR-T cells targeting 3 glioblastoma associated antigens (HER2, IL13R02, and EphA2) were also developed and showed even more effectiveness as compared to the bispecific CAR-T (40). Another interesting strategy to overcome antigenic escape in HGG is the combination of CAR-T cells with Bi-specific T-cell engagers (BiTEs) targeting different antigens. Choi et al. developed EGFRvIII-redirected CAR-T cells secreting EGFR-BiTEs in the tumor site (41). This strategy was tested in mouse models and resulted capable of dulling the antigenic loss effects. Moreover,since systemic administration of EGFR-BiTE could induce offtumor toxicities - the local release by these CAR-T cells reduces the risk of cytotoxic T-cells activity on healthy tissues expressing EGFR.

TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT IN ADULT AND PEDIATRIC HIGH-GRADE GLIOMA

The complex intra- and inter-tumor heterogeneity of the tumor microenvironment (TME) plays a crucial role in mediating tumor progression and resistance to therapy (42). Several different cells, including tumor-associated glioma stem cells (GSC), stromal cells (resident brain glial cells, oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, ependymal cells, microglia) and infiltrating immune cells, are key regulators of growth and vascularization of HGGs (43, 44).

In adult HGGs, TME presents a wide range of immune suppressive mechanisms preventing tumor recognition and

eradication by the innate and adaptive immune system. The presence of immuno-suppressive cytokines (TGF- β , IL-10), chemokines, and regulatory immune-suppressive cells, such as tumor-associated macrophages/microglia (GAMs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), limits the effectiveness of current therapies and are briefly review below (45–47).

GSCs are characterized by their self-renewal properties and play a key role in drug escape mechanisms, for example driving radiation-induced DNA methylation changes after radiotherapy (48) GSCs can promote a microinvasion of healthy tissues in areas that support their proliferation - such as subventricular, perinecrotic and perivascular areas (49) - evading therapeutic agents and contributing to recurrence of disease. Recently, a mouse model of disease derived by orthotopic transplantation of GSCs of pHGGs samples was developed (50). Methylation, histology and clinical outcomes resembled accurately the patients' tumors of origin, indicating the ability of GSCs to differentiate in tumor cells. One of the most innovative approaches targeting GSCs niche in pHGGs is represented by immunovirotherapy (51). Friedman et al. observed the ability of oncolytic HSV-1 to kill tumor cells and CD133+ GSCs in preclinical models (52). Results from a phase 1 clinical trial on the use of oncolytic HSV1 in patients with pHGGs indicated the safety of this approach (53). Combining T-cells based therapies with this kind of modern immunological approaches affecting GSCs could significantly improve tumor control.

GAMs represent an important component of the glioma microenvironment (54) constituting the main proportion of infiltrating cells in adult and pediatric HGGs (i.e., glioblastoma and DIPG) (55, 56). Inside the tumor, GAMs usually acquire a specific phenotype of activation that favors tumor growth, angiogenesis and promotes the invasion of normal brain parenchyma. Most of the macrophages recruited into TME, polarize toward an M2-like phenotype and exhibit suppression of the proliferation and functionality of tumor-infiltrating T cells through the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines (57). In adult HGG, GAMs have been extensively described as pivotal drivers of progression and survival of malignant cells in the TME (58). Hence, several anti-GAMs aproaches are currently under evaluation for treatment of adult GBM. Recently, Lin et al. studied TME and GAMs features specifically in DIPG (59). Although DIPG tumor cells produce Colony Stimulating Factor 1 (CSF1), a cytokine associated with the M2 protumorigenic phenotype, DIPG-associated macrophages do not seem to have the characteristic of macrophages of type 2 (56, 60). Transcriptome analysis have shown that GAMs from DIPG express lower levels of some inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (IL6, IL1A, IL1B, CCL3, CCL4) compared to adult HGG-associated macrophages. Moreover, Engler et al. observed a negative correlation between levels of GAMs accumulation and survival rate in adult HGGs but not in pediatric tumors, highlighting the marked biological differences between the pediatric and adult counterpart (59). In addition, the analysis of lymphocyte infiltrate in primary DIPG tissues reveals the lack of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), defining it as a immunologically "cold" tumor (56). For this reason, adoptive

immunotherapies (e.g. CAR-T cells) leading to the transferal of T-cells in the TME represents a promising strategy to induce a strong inflammatory and antitumor response.

MDSCs are involved in immune suppression in several types of cancers, including HGG (61). Although only few studies focus on their role specifically in pHGGs, recently Mueller et al. reported a correlation between high levels of circulating MDSCs and poor prognosis in patients with DIPG, suggesting a role in immunosuppression and tumor escape mechanisms in pHGGs as well (62). Moreover, MDSCs showed to impair efficacy of immunotherapy in other pediatric tumors such as neuroblastoma, representing a relevant target to improve efficacy of modern CAR-T cells therapies (63).

Successful immune escape of tumor cells includes also the production of soluble factors in the microenvironment by tumor cells (TGF- β , LDH5), the induction of co-inhibitory molecules (PD-1, LAG-3 and TIM-3) and the release of immunosuppressive factors (CSF-1, VEGF, PGE2, NO, Arg I, IDO and Gal-1) (64). In adult HGG the production of lactate dehydrogenase isoform 5 (LDH5) and TGF- β impairs NK cells cytotoxic function, usually relevant for the elimination of glioma cells (65). Although in adult HGGs there is a strong infiltration of NK and myeloid cells into the tumor, a similar finding in pediatric brain tumors has not been reported (66).

NEXT GENERATION CAR-T CELLS AND COMBINED STRATEGIES

Solid tumor, including pHGG, showed important mechanisms of resistance to current CAR-T cell therapies. Important obstacles to CAR-T efficacy is the presence of immunosuppressive factors in TME – including, but not limited to, TGF- β , PD-1 or CTLA4 mediated signals (67, 68) – which prevent CAR-T cells expansion and finally induce their exhaustion (69). For this reason, strategies able to circumvent these barriers are needed to improve the effectiveness of CAR-T therapies for pHGGs.

Recently, CAR-T cells releasing transgenic cytokines after activation at tumor site have been developed. This approach was conceived to overcome the insufficient production of proinflammatory cytokines by T cells accumulated in the tumor environment. In details, T-cells redirected for universal cytokinemediated killing (TRUCKs) cells are fourth generation CAR-T cells, armed with immune stimulatory cytokines that improve CAR-T cell expansion and persistence (70) (Figure 1). In details, CAR-T cells can be engineered with inducible expression cassette for the cytokine of interest, including IL-7, CCL-19, IL-15, IL-18, and IL-1 (71-73). In particular, transgenic expression of IL-15 could be an appealing strategy to enhance CAR-T cell effector function in HGGs patients, thanks to the well-known ability of this cytokine to induce a more memory stem cell-like phenotype of transduced T cells (73). The group of Krenciute et al. for example, showed an increased persistence and a greater antitumor activity of IL-13Ra2-CAR-T cells expressing IL-15 constitutively as compared to conventional IL-13Ra2-CAR-T cells (74, 75). Also, anti-GD2 TRUCKs secreting IL-12 or IL-18



after activation have been developed, showing improved T-cells activation and increased monocyte recruitment after in vitro migration assay (76). On one hand, cytokines release following CAR-T-cells activation results in improved CAR-T cell persistence and stronger antitumor activity, both in vitro and in vivo. On the other hand, continuous release of secreted cytokine could cause toxicities, limiting the clinical therapeutic window of these CAR-T cells (74). This limitation could be overcome by the development of CAR-T cells expressing constitutively active cytokine receptors, such as IL-2, IL-7, and IL-15 receptors, able to activate the relative intracellular axis, instead of releasing the soluble cytokines. In particular, the expression of constitutively signaling IL-7 receptor (C7R) on a EphA2-CAR-T produced promising results in terms of proliferation, survival and antitumoral activity of CAR-T cells both in vitro and in orthotopic xenograft models of HGG (77).

Another major obstacle provided by the TME, to the activation and expansion of CAR-T cells is represented by the widely expressed immune checkpoint receptors – such as PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3, and LAG-3. Conventional immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) blocking CTLA-4 (i.e. ipilimumab) or PD-1 (i.e. nivolumab) have shown great success in some solid tumors, including non-small cell lung cancer and metastatic melanoma, but not in HGGs, probably owing to the negligible infiltration of effector T cells in these tumors and to the low mutational burden of pHGGs, leading to few immunogenic tumor neoantigens (78-80). Nevertheless, combined with CART cells, ICIs might improve the ability of the transgenic T cells to exert their antitumor activity, overcoming the exhaustion induced by the TME (81). In preclinical models of glioma, checkpoint blockade has been studied as an adjuvant to improve the efficacy of CAR-T therapy. For example, combination of HER-2 redirected CAR-T cells with anti-PD1 antibody induced enhancement of CAR-T cells activity against HGG cells in vitro (82). Furthermore, Song et al. reported the ability of anti-PD1 antibodies to improve EGFRvIII-CAR-T cells antitumoral effects in a mouse model of HGG (83), suggesting that PD1 blockade might represent an effective strategy. Based on these promising pre-clinical studies, two phase I clinical trials are currently investigating 2nd generation CAR-T cells in combination with pembrolizumab or nivolumab for the treatment of adult patients with HGG (NCT03726515; NCT04003649).

Interestingly, the role of some intracellular signaling pathways in the activity of CAR-T cells has been investigated, unveiling new potential approaches to improve CAR-T cells efficacy. For example, the diacylglycerol kinase (DGK), a physiologic negative regulator of the signal transduction of the T-cell receptor (TCR), is able to negatively regulate CAR-T cell activation (84). Therefore, the knockout of DGK can induce an improvement of the anti-tumor cytotoxicity of CAR-T cells. In a mouse glioma model, EGFRvIII-CAR-T cells lacking DGK revealed elevated effector function of the transgenic CAR-T cells, with increased antitumor activity and tumor infiltration (85). Moreover, recently, we reported that the co-administration of linsitinib – a dual IGF1R/IR inhibitor – is able to improve GD2-CAR-T antitumor activity and increase tumor cell death of primary cells of H3K27 diffuse midline glioma, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (86). These results support the hypothesis that the use of combinatorial approaches might potentiate the efficacy of CAR-T cells for the treatment of pHGGs.

Another promising and sophisticated immunotherapy approach is represented by oncolytic viruses (OV): genetically modified viral agents able to replicate in tumor cells with a negligible replication ability in non-neoplastic cells (87). OV antitumoral activity is based on two mechanisms: i) induction of direct lysis of tumor cells through infection and replication; ii) stimulation of effector function and antitumor activity of the T cells in TME. The latter mechanism as shown to be extremely relevant, if not even the most relevant, in the antitumor activity of OV and represents the rational for combining OV and CAR-T cells for the treatment of solid tumors, with the aim to increase trafficking and antitumoral cytotoxicity of T-cells in TME (88). In particular, Huang et al. studied a preclinical model of the combination of anti-B7-H3 CAR-T cells with and IL-7-loaded oncolytic adenovirus (oAD-IL7) for the treatment of HGG (89). The combined strategy promoted T-cells proliferation and antitumoral activity in vitro and reduced mortality in the xenograft mouse models (89). Conversely, there are some controversial results showing the inefficacy of OVs and CAR-T cells combination for HGGs. Recently, it was observed that the pro-inflammatory activity of an OV (VSVmIFNβ) can impair EGFRvIII CAR-T cells cytotoxicity against HGG cells (90). The reason of these unexpected results may lie on the complexity of inflammation mechanisms occurring in TME, which need to be better understood in order to develop precise, effective, and safe combination strategies involving CAR-T cells. Moreover, the group of Park et al. developed an interesting combined strategy exploiting OVs to induce the expression of the CAR target in infected tumor cells, hence increasing CAR-T cells antitumoral activity (91). In details, in this approach an engineered OV delivers a transgene leading to the expression of a truncated form of CD19 (CD19t) on the neoplastic cells, promoting the cytotoxic activity of CD19-CAR-T cells.

Lastly, reduced T-Cell trafficking and homing in the TME was underlined as one of the major obstacles of CAR-T therapies. In particular, reduced production of chemokines and modification of Extra-Cellular Matrix (ECM) are involved in hindering the migration of T-cell to the tumor site (92). Interestingly, Jin et al. developed CAR-T cells expressing chemokines receptors (CXCR1 and CXCR2) to improve intratumoral trafficking (93). The results observed in xenograft models of HGG confirmed the efficacy of this approach, unveiling the importance of increased T-cells homing to improve CAR-T therapies efficacy. Moreover, the CNS location adds a relevant and peculiar obstacle to the migration of CAR T cells to tumor: the presence of the BBB, a permeability barrier characterized by the connection, through tight junctions, of endothelial cells with the luminal and abluminal membranes lining the capillaries of the brain. Despite the documented ability of i.v. administered CAR T-cells to cross the BBB, as already mentioned, targeted delivery of T cells at the level of the CNS is an attractive option to reduce systemic toxicity and increase CAR T-cell concentration at tumor site. Indeed, as mentioned above, a superior efficacy with reduced toxicity of intraventricular/intrathecal administration of CAR-T cells was already shown (23, 29) and the strategy represents a valid and promising approach to circumvent the BBB obstacle.

Despite all the presented approaches show great potential to improve CAR-T cell function and safety in preclinical models, their use in clinical setting is limited at present. The results of future clinical trials will shed new lights on potential and limitations of these highly innovative approaches.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE STRATEGIES

Conventional therapies, radiation and chemotherapy are not sufficient for achieving a sustained disease remission in patients affected by HGG, both in adult that pediatric patients, and new therapeutic strategies are necessary. Immunotherapy is a new therapeutic approach that harnesses the inherent activity of the immune system to control and eliminate malignant cells. To date, CAR-T cell therapy has shown promise in early clinical trials in HGG patients but could not achieve the same sustained success observed in hematological malignancies. Several hurdles, including the immunosuppressive TME, the heterogeneity in target antigen expression and the difficulty of accessing the tumor site, impair the antitumor efficacy of CAR-T cells. Several CAR-T antigenic targets have been considered so far, and recently GD2 and B7-H3 look very promising for pediatric tumors. However, heterogeneity of expression is a limiting factor for single antigen-redirected CAR-T in solid tumors. For this reason, considering innovative strategies such as next generation CAR-T cells or combinatory approaches with other immunotherapy agents (e.g. BiTEs, Oncolytic viruses and ICIs) could improve tumor control. "Next generation" or multivalent CAR-T have been developed and might have a large impact on treatment of pHGG, improving efficacy of T cells therapies and overcoming obstacles of TME.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LA, GC, and FB conceived the article. LA and GC compiled the review and prepared the draft of the manuscript. FB, AM, AC, and GB critically reviewed the manuscript. FB edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work was partly supported by grants from: AIRC (Associazione Italiana Ricerca sul Cancro, My First AIRC – ID 20450 - to FB) and Ministero della Salute (Ricerca Corrente and 5x1000 to FB).

REFERENCES

- Rizzo D, Ruggiero A, Martini M, Rizzo V, Maurizi P, Riccardi R. Molecular Biology in Pediatric High–Grade Glioma: Impact on Prognosis and Treatment. *BioMed Res Int* (2015) 2015:215135. doi: 10.1155/2015/215135
- Abedalthagafi M, Mobark N, Al-Rashed M, AlHarbi M. Epigenomics and Immunotherapeutic Advances in Pediatric Brain Tumors. *NPJ Precis Oncol* (2021) 5:34. doi: 10.1038/s41698-021-00173-4
- Jones C, Karajannis MA, Jones DTW, Kieran MW, Monje M, Baker SJ, et al. Pediatric High–Grade Glioma: Biologically and Clinically in Need of New Thinking. *Neuro–Oncol* (2017) 19:153–61. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now101
- Louis DN, Perry A, Wesseling P, Brat DJ, Cree IA, Figarella–Branger D, et al. The 2021 WHO Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: A Summary. *Neuro–Oncol* (2021) 23:1231–51. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noab106
- Lim KY, Won JK, Park C-K, Kim S-K, Choi SH, Kim T, et al. H3 G34– Mutant High-Grade Glioma. *Brain Tumor Pathol* (2021) 38:4–13. doi: 10.1007/s10014-020-00378-8
- Clarke M, Mackay A, Ismer B, Pickles JC, Tatevossian RG, Newman S, et al. Infant High–Grade Gliomas Comprise Multiple Subgroups Characterized by Novel Targetable Gene Fusions and Favorable Outcomes. *Cancer Discov* (2020) 10:942–63. doi: 10.1158/2159–8290.CD–19–1030
- Ceglie G, Vinci M, Carai A, Rossi S, Colafati GS, Cacchione A, et al. Infantile/ Congenital High–Grade Gliomas: Molecular Features and Therapeutic Perspectives. *Diagn Basel Switz* (2020) 10:E648. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics10090648
- Guerreiro Stucklin AS, Ryall S, Fukuoka K, Zapotocky M, Lassaletta A, Li C, et al. Alterations in ALK/ROS1/NTRK/MET Drive a Group of Infantile Hemispheric Gliomas. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:4343. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12187-5
- 9. Ceglie G, Del Baldo G, Agolini E, Rinelli M, Cacchione A, Del Bufalo F, et al. Cancer Predisposition Syndromes Associated With Pediatric High–Grade Gliomas. *Front Pediatr* (2020) 8:561487. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.561487
- Slaney CY, Kershaw MH, Darcy PK. Trafficking of T Cells Into Tumors. Cancer Res (2014) 74:7168–74. doi: 10.1158/0008–5472.CAN-14–2458
- Bordry N, Broggi MAS, de Jonge K, Schaeuble K, Gannon PO, Foukas PG, et al. Lymphatic Vessel Density is Associated With CD8+ T Cell Infiltration and Immunosuppressive Factors in Human Melanoma. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7:e1462878. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1462878
- De Bock K, Cauwenberghs S, Carmeliet P. Vessel Abnormalization: Another Hallmark of Cancer? Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2011) 21:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2010.10.008
- Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler–Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T Cells Expressing CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptors for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia in Children and Young Adults: A Phase 1 Dose–Escalation Trial. *Lancet Lond Engl* (2015) 385:517–28. doi: 10.1016/ S0140–6736(14)61403–3
- Park JH, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long– Term Follow–up of CD19 CAR Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2018) 378:449–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709919
- Patterson JD, Henson JC, Breese RO, Bielamowicz KJ, Rodriguez A. CAR T Cell Therapy for Pediatric Brain Tumors. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1582. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01582
- Mineo J-F, Bordron A, Baroncini M, Maurage C-A, Ramirez C, Siminski R-M, et al. Low HER2–Expressing Glioblastomas are More Often Secondary to Anaplastic Transformation of Low–Grade Glioma. J Neurooncol (2007) 85:281–7. doi: 10.1007/s11060–007–9424–1
- Gilbertson R, Wickramasinghe C, Hernan R, Balaji V, Hunt D, Jones-Wallace D, et al. Clinical and Molecular Stratification of Disease Risk in Medulloblastoma. Br J Cancer (2001) 85:705–12. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2001.1987
- Vitanza NA, Johnson AJ, Wilson AL, Brown C, Yokoyama JK, Künkele A, et al. Locoregional Infusion of HER2-specific CAR T Cells in Children and Young Adults With Recurrent or Refractory CNS Tumors: An Interim Analysis. *Nat Med* (2021) 27:1544–52. doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01404-8
- Hong JJ, Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME, Yang JC, White DE, Butman JA, et al. Successful Treatment of Melanoma Brain Metastases With Adoptive Cell Therapy. *Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2010) 16:4892–8. doi: 10.1158/1078–0432.CCR–10–1507
- Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells for Sustained Remissions in Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2014) 371:1507–17. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1407222

- Ahmed N, Brawley V, Hegde M, Bielamowicz K, Kalra M, Landi D, et al. HER2–Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor–Modified Virus–Specific T Cells for Progressive Glioblastoma: A Phase 1 Dose–Escalation Trial. JAMA Oncol (2017) 3:1094–101. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0184
- Akhavan D, Alizadeh D, Wang D, Weist MR, Shepphird JK, Brown CE. CAR T Cells for Brain Tumors: Lessons Learned and Road Ahead. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 290:60–84. doi: 10.1111/imr.12773
- Theruvath J, Sotillo E, Mount CW, Graef CM, Delaidelli A, Heitzeneder S, et al. Locoregionally Administered B7–H3–Targeted CAR T Cells for Treatment of Atypical Teratoid/Rhabdoid Tumors. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:712– 9. doi: 10.1038/s41591–020–0821–8
- Donovan LK, Delaidelli A, Joseph SK, Bielamowicz K, Fousek K, Holgado BL, et al. Locoregional Delivery of CAR T Cells to the Cerebrospinal Fluid for Treatment of Metastatic Medulloblastoma and Ependymoma. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:720–31. doi: 10.1038/s41591–020–0827–2
- Wilson K, Shiuan E, Brantley-Sieders DM. Oncogenic Functions and Therapeutic Targeting of EphA2 in Cancer. Oncogene (2021) 40:2483–95. doi: 10.1038/s41388-021-01714-8
- Arnone CM, Polito VA, Mastronuzzi A, Carai A, Diomedi FC, Antonucci L, et al. Oncolytic Adenovirus and Gene Therapy With EphA2–BiTE for the Treatment of Pediatric High–Grade Gliomas. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9: e001930. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020–001930
- Lin Q, Ba T, Ho J, Chen D, Cheng Y, Wang L, et al. First-in-Human Trial of EphA2-Redirected CAR T-Cells in Patients With Recurrent Glioblastoma: A Preliminary Report of Three Cases at the Starting Dose. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:694941. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.694941
- 28. Brown CE, Badie B, Barish ME, Weng L, Ostberg JR, Chang W–C, et al. Bioactivity and Safety of IL13Rα2–Redirected Chimeric Antigen Receptor CD8+ T Cells in Patients With Recurrent Glioblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2015) 21:4062–72. doi: 10.1158/1078–0432.CCR–15– 0428
- Brown CE, Alizadeh D, Starr R, Weng L, Wagner JR, Naranjo A, et al. Regression of Glioblastoma After Chimeric Antigen Receptor T–Cell Therapy. *N Engl J Med* (2016) 375:2561–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1610497
- 30. Haydar D, Houke H, Chiang J, Yi Z, Odé Z, Caldwell K, et al. Cell-surface Antigen Profiling of Pediatric Brain Tumors: B7–H3 Is Consistently Expressed and can be Targeted *via* Local or Systemic CAR T–Cell Delivery. *Neuro–Oncol* (2021) 23:999–1011. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noaa278
- Nazha B, Inal C, Owonikoko TK. Disialoganglioside GD2 Expression in Solid Tumors and Role as a Target for Cancer Therapy. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1000. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01000
- 32. Heczey A, Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dakhova O, Durett A, Grilley B, et al. CAR T Cells Administered in Combination With Lymphodepletion and PD–1 Inhibition to Patients With Neuroblastoma. *Mol Ther J Am Soc Gene Ther* (2017) 25:2214–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.05.012
- Merli P, Algeri M, Del Bufalo F, Locatelli F. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation in Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Curr Hematol Malig Rep* (2019) 14:94–105. doi: 10.1007/s11899–019–00502–2
- Mount CW, Majzner RG, Sundaresh S, Arnold EP, Kadapakkam M, Haile S, et al. Potent Antitumor Efficacy of Anti–GD2 CAR T Cells in H3–K27M+ Diffuse Midline Gliomas. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:572–9. doi: 10.1038/s41591– 018–0006–x
- Majzner RG, Ramakrishna S, Yeom KW, Patel S, Chinnasamy H, Schultz LM, et al. GD2–CAR T Cell Therapy for H3K27M–mutated Diffuse Midline Gliomas. *Nature* (2022) 603:934–41. doi: 10.1038/s41586–022–04489–4
- 36. Quintarelli C, Orlando D, Boffa I, Guercio M, Polito VA, Petretto A, et al. Choice of Costimulatory Domains and of Cytokines Determines CAR T-Cell Activity in Neuroblastoma. *OncoImmunology* (2018) 7:e1433518. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1433518
- Maachani UB, Tosi U, Pisapia DJ, Mukherjee S, Marnell CS, Voronina J, et al. B7–H3 as a Prognostic Biomarker and Therapeutic Target in Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors. *Transl Oncol* (2020) 13:365–71. doi: 10.1016/ j.tranon.2019.11.006
- Majzner RG, Theruvath JL, Nellan A, Heitzeneder S, Cui Y, Mount CW, et al. CAR T Cells Targeting B7–H3, a Pan–Cancer Antigen, Demonstrate Potent Preclinical Activity Against Pediatric Solid Tumors and Brain Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2019) 25:2560–74. doi: 10.1158/1078– 0432.CCR–18–0432
- Hegde M, Mukherjee M, Grada Z, Pignata A, Landi D, Navai SA, et al. Tandem CAR T Cells Targeting HER2 and IL13Rα2 Mitigate Tumor Antigen Escape. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:3036–52. doi: 10.1172/JCI83416
- 40. Bielamowicz K, Fousek K, Byrd TT, Samaha H, Mukherjee M, Aware N, et al. Trivalent CAR T Cells Overcome Interpatient Antigenic Variability in Glioblastoma. *Neuro-Oncol* (2018) 20:506–18. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox182
- Choi BD, Yu X, Castano AP, Bouffard AA, Schmidts A, Larson RC, et al. CAR-T Cells Secreting BiTEs Circumvent Antigen Escape Without Detectable Toxicity. *Nat Biotechnol* (2019) 37:1049–58. doi: 10.1038/ s41587-019-0192-1
- 42. Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental Regulation of Tumor Progression and Metastasis. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:1423–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- 43. Da Ros M, De Gregorio V, Iorio AL, Giunti L, Guidi M, de Martino M, et al. Glioblastoma Chemoresistance: The Double Play by Microenvironment and Blood–Brain Barrier. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19:E2879. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19102879
- Wolf KJ, Chen J, Coombes J, Aghi MK, Kumar S. Dissecting and Rebuilding the Glioblastoma Microenvironment With Engineered Materials. *Nat Rev Mater* (2019) 4:651–68. doi: 10.1038/s41578–019–0135–y
- Perng P, Lim M. Immunosuppressive Mechanisms of Malignant Gliomas: Parallels at Non-CNS Sites. Front Oncol (2015) 5:153. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2015.00153
- Kamran N, Alghamri MS, Nunez FJ, Shah D, Asad AS, Candolfi M, et al. Current State and Future Prospects of Immunotherapy for Glioma. *Immunotherapy* (2018) 10:317–39. doi: 10.2217/imt-2017-0122
- Lindau D, Gielen P, Kroesen M, Wesseling P, Adema GJ. The Immunosuppressive Tumour Network: Myeloid–Derived Suppressor Cells, Regulatory T Cells and Natural Killer T Cells. *Immunology* (2013) 138:105– 15. doi: 10.1111/imm.12036
- Danielsson A, Barreau K, Kling T, Tisell M, Carén H. Accumulation of DNA Methylation Alterations in Paediatric Glioma Stem Cells Following Fractionated Dose Irradiation. *Clin Epigenet* (2020) 12:26. doi: 10.1186/ s13148-020-0817-8
- Lombard A, Digregorio M, Delcamp C, Rogister B, Piette C, Coppieters N. The Subventricular Zone, a Hideout for Adult and Pediatric High–Grade Glioma Stem Cells. Front Oncol (2020) 10:614930. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.614930
- Larsson S, Wenger A, Dósa S, Sabel M, Kling T, Carén H. Cell Line-Based Xenograft Mouse Model of Paediatric Glioma Stem Cells Mirrors the Clinical Course of the Patient. *Carcinogenesis* (2018) 39:1304–9. doi: 10.1093/carcin/ bgy091
- Friedman GK, Raborn J, Kelly VM, Cassady KA, Markert JM, Gillespie GY. Pediatric Glioma Stem Cells: Biologic Strategies for Oncolytic HSV Virotherapy. Front Oncol (2013) 3:28. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00028
- 52. Friedman GK, Langford CP, Coleman JM, Cassady KA, Parker JN, Markert JM, et al. Engineered Herpes Simplex Viruses Efficiently Infect and Kill CD133 + Human Glioma Xenograft Cells That Express CD111. J Neurooncol (2009) 95:199–209. doi: 10.1007/s11060-009–9926-0
- Friedman GK, Johnston JM, Bag AK, Bernstock JD, Li R, Aban I, et al. Oncolytic HSV-1 G207 Immunovirotherapy for Pediatric High–Grade Gliomas. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:1613–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2024947
- Ma J, Chen CC, Li M. Macrophages/Microglia in the Glioblastoma Tumor Microenvironment. Int J Mol Sci (2021) 22:5775. doi: 10.3390/ijms22115775
- Dello Russo C, Lisi L, Tentori L, Navarra P, Graziani G, Combs CK. Exploiting Microglial Functions for the Treatment of Glioblastoma. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2017) 17:267–81. doi: 10.2174/1568009616666160813191240
- 56. Lin GL, Nagaraja S, Filbin MG, Suvà ML, Vogel H, Monje M. Noninflammatory Tumor Microenvironment of Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma. Acta Neuropathol Commun (2018) 6:51. doi: 10.1186/s40478-018-0553-x
- Grégoire H, Roncali L, Rousseau A, Chérel M, Delneste Y, Jeannin P, et al. Targeting Tumor Associated Macrophages to Overcome Conventional Treatment Resistance in Glioblastoma. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:368. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00368
- Hambardzumyan D, Gutmann DH, Kettenmann H. The Role of Microglia and Macrophages in Glioma Maintenance and Progression. *Nat Neurosci* (2016) 19:20–7. doi: 10.1038/nn.4185

- Engler JR, Robinson AE, Smirnov I, Hodgson JG, Berger MS, Gupta N, et al. Increased Microglia/Macrophage Gene Expression in a Subset of Adult and Pediatric Astrocytomas. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e43339. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0043339
- Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. Transcriptional Profiling of the Human Monocyte-to-Macrophage Differentiation and Polarization: New Molecules and Patterns of Gene Expression. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 (2006) 177:7303–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7303
- Won W-J, Deshane JS, Leavenworth JW, Oliva CR, Griguer CE. Metabolic and Functional Reprogramming of Myeloid–Derived Suppressor Cells and Their Therapeutic Control in Glioblastoma. *Cell Stress* (2019) 3:47–65. doi: 10.15698/cst2019.02.176
- Mueller S, Taitt JM, Villanueva–Meyer JE, Bonner ER, Nejo T, Lulla RR, et al. Mass Cytometry Detects H3.3K27M–Specific Vaccine Responses in Diffuse Midline Glioma. J Clin Invest (2020) 130:6325–37. doi: 10.1172/JCI140378
- 63. Tumino N, Weber G, Besi F, Del Bufalo F, Bertaina V, Paci P, et al. Polymorphonuclear Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Impair the Anti-Tumor Efficacy of GD2.CAR T-Cells in Patients With Neuroblastoma. J Hematol Oncol J Hematol Oncol (2021) 14:191. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01193-0
- 64. Fanelli GN, Grassini D, Ortenzi V, Pasqualetti F, Montemurro N, Perrini P, et al. Decipher the Glioblastoma Microenvironment: The First Milestone for New Groundbreaking Therapeutic Strategies. *Genes* (2021) 12:445. doi: 10.3390/genes12030445
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of Tumor Suppressor PTEN Function Increases B7–H1 Expression and Immunoresistance in Glioma. Nat Med (2007) 13:84–8. doi: 10.1038/nm1517
- 66. Lieberman NAP, DeGolier K, Kovar HM, Davis A, Hoglund V, Stevens J, et al. Characterization of the Immune Microenvironment of Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: Implications for Development of Immunotherapy. *Neuro-Oncol* (2019) 21:83–94. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noy145
- 67. Kloss CC, Lee J, Zhang A, Chen F, Melenhorst JJ, Lacey SF, et al. Dominant-Negative TGF-β Receptor Enhances PSMA-Targeted Human CAR T Cell Proliferation And Augments Prostate Cancer Eradication. *Mol Ther J Am Soc Gene Ther* (2018) 26:1855–66. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.003
- 68. Yin Y, Boesteanu AC, Binder ZA, Xu C, Reid RA, Rodriguez JL, et al. Checkpoint Blockade Reverses Anergy in IL-13Rα2 Humanized scFv-Based CAR T Cells to Treat Murine and Canine Gliomas. *Mol Ther Oncolytics* (2018) 11:20–38. doi: 10.1016/j.omto.2018.08.002
- Sterner RC, Sterner RM. CAR–T Cell Therapy: Current Limitations and Potential Strategies. *Blood Cancer J* (2021) 11:69. doi: 10.1038/s41408–021– 00459–7
- Chmielewski M, Abken H. TRUCKs: The Fourth Generation of CARs. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2015) 15:1145–54. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2015.1046430
- Avanzi MP, Yeku O, Li X, Wijewarnasuriya DP, van Leeuwen DG, Cheung K, et al. Engineered Tumor-Targeted T Cells Mediate Enhanced Anti-Tumor Efficacy Both Directly and Through Activation of the Endogenous Immune System. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23:2130–41. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.051
- 72. Hu B, Ren J, Luo Y, Keith B, Young RM, Scholler J, et al. Augmentation of Antitumor Immunity by Human and Mouse CAR T Cells Secreting Il–18. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20:3025–33. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.002
- Hurton LV, Singh H, Najjar AM, Switzer KC, Mi T, Maiti S, et al. Tethered IL-15 Augments Antitumor Activity and Promotes a Stem–Cell Memory Subset in Tumor–Specific T Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113:E7788–97. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610544113
- 74. Krenciute G, Prinzing BL, Yi Z, Wu M–F, Liu H, Dotti G, et al. Transgenic Expression of IL15 Improves Antiglioma Activity of IL13Rα2–CAR T Cells But Results in Antigen Loss Variants. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5:571–81. doi: 10.1158/2326–6066.CIR–16–0376
- Alizadeh D, Wong RA, Yang X, Wang D, Pecoraro JR, Kuo C–F, et al. IL15 Enhances CAR–T Cell Antitumor Activity by Reducing Mtorc1 Activity and Preserving Their Stem Cell Memory Phenotype. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7:759–72. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0466
- 76. Zimmermann K, Kuehle J, Dragon AC, Galla M, Kloth C, Rudek LS, et al. Design and Characterization of an "All-in-One" Lentiviral Vector System Combining Constitutive Anti-GD2 CAR Expression and Inducible Cytokines. *Cancers* (2020) 12:E375. doi: 10.3390/cancers12020375

- 77. Shum T, Omer B, Tashiro H, Kruse RL, Wagner DL, Parikh K, et al. Constitutive Signaling From an Engineered IL7 Receptor Promotes Durable Tumor Elimination by Tumor–Redirected T Cells. *Cancer Discov* (2017) 7:1238–47. doi: 10.1158/2159–8290.CD–17–0538
- Schulze AB, Schmidt LH. PD-1 Targeted Immunotherapy as First-Line Therapy for Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients. J Thorac Dis (2017) 9:E384–6. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.118
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved Survival With Ipilimumab in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:711–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab Versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:2521–32. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1503093
- Land CA, Musich PR, Haydar D, Krenciute G, Xie Q. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T–Cell Therapy in Glioblastoma: Charging the T Cells to Fight. J Transl Med (2020) 18:428. doi: 10.1186/s12967–020–02598–0
- Shen L, Li H, Bin S, Li P, Chen J, Gu H, et al. The Efficacy of Third Generation Anti–HER2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Combination With PD1 Blockade Against Malignant Glioblastoma Cells. Oncol Rep (2019) 42:1549– 57. doi: 10.3892/or.2019.7263
- Song Y, Liu Q, Zuo T, Wei G, Jiao S. Combined Antitumor Effects of Anti-EGFR Variant III CAR-T Cell Therapy and PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade on Glioblastoma in Mouse Model. *Cell Immunol* (2020) 352:104112. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104112
- Riese MJ, Wang L–CS, Moon EK, Joshi RP, Ranganathan A, June CH, et al. Enhanced Effector Responses in Activated CD8+ T Cells Deficient in Diacylglycerol Kinases. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:3566–77. doi: 10.1158/0008– 5472.CAN–12–3874
- Jung I-Y, Kim Y-Y, Yu H-S, Lee M, Kim S, Lee J. CRISPR/Cas9–Mediated Knockout of DGK Improves Antitumor Activities of Human T Cells. *Cancer Res* (2018) 78:4692–703. doi: 10.1158/0008–5472.CAN–18–0030
- 86. de Billy E, Pellegrino M, Orlando D, Pericoli G, Ferretti R, Businaro P, et al. Dual IGF1R/IR Inhibitors in Combination With GD2–CAR T–cells Display a Potent Anti–Tumor Activity in Diffuse Midline Glioma H3K27M–Mutant. *Neuro–Oncol* (2021) noab300. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noab300
- Raja J, Ludwig JM, Gettinger SN, Schalper KA, Kim HS. Oncolytic Virus Immunotherapy: Future Prospects for Oncology. *J Immunother Cancer* (2018) 6:140. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0458-z

- Guedan S, Alemany R. CAR–T Cells and Oncolytic Viruses: Joining Forces to Overcome the Solid Tumor Challenge. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2460. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02460
- Huang J, Zheng M, Zhang Z, Tang X, Chen Y, Peng A, et al. Interleukin-7– Loaded Oncolytic Adenovirus Improves CAR-T Cell Therapy for Glioblastoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother CII* (2021) 70:2453–65. doi: 10.1007/s00262-021-02856-0
- Evgin L, Huff AL, Wongthida P, Thompson J, Kottke T, Tonne J, et al. Oncolytic Virus–Derived Type I Interferon Restricts CAR T Cell Therapy. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3187. doi: 10.1038/s41467–020–17011–z
- Park AK, Fong Y, Kim S–I, Yang J, Murad JP, Lu J, et al. Effective Combination Immunotherapy Using Oncolytic Viruses to Deliver CAR Targets to Solid Tumors. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12:eaaz1863. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaz1863
- Nicolas–Boluda A, Donnadieu E. Obstacles to T Cell Migration in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis* (2019) 63:22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cimid.2018.12.006
- Jin L, Tao H, Karachi A, Long Y, Hou AY, Na M, et al. CXCR1- or CXCR2modified CAR T Cells Co-Opt IL-8 for Maximal Antitumor Efficacy in Solid Tumors. Nat Commun (2019) 10:4016. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11869-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Antonucci, Canciani, Mastronuzzi, Carai, Del Baldo and Del Bufalo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Past, Present, and Future of Non-Viral CAR T Cells

Alex Moretti^{1†}, Marianna Ponzo^{1†}, Charles A. Nicolette², Irina Y. Tcherepanova², Andrea Biondi^{1,3,4*} and Chiara F. Magnani^{1,5}

¹ Tettamanti Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, University of Milano-Bicocca/Fondazione Monza e Brianza per il Bambino e la sua Mamma (MBBM), Monza, Italy, ² Colmmune Inc., Durham, NC, United States, ³ Department of Pediatrics, University of Milano - Bicocca, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Clinica Pediatrica, University of Milano - Bicocca/Fondazione MBBM, Monza, Italy, ⁵ Department of Medical Oncology and Hematology, University Hospital Zurich and University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Adoptive transfer of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T lymphocytes is a powerful technology that has revolutionized the way we conceive immunotherapy. The impressive clinical results of complete and prolonged response in refractory and relapsed diseases have shifted the landscape of treatment for hematological malignancies, particularly those of lymphoid origin, and opens up new possibilities for the treatment of solid neoplasms. However, the widening use of cell therapy is hampered by the accessibility to viral vectors that are commonly used for T cell transfection. In the era of messenger RNA (mRNA) vaccines and CRISPR/Cas (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat-CRISPR-associated) precise genome editing, novel and virusfree methods for T cell engineering are emerging as a more versatile, flexible, and sustainable alternative for next-generation CAR T cell manufacturing. Here, we discuss how the use of non-viral vectors can address some of the limitations of the viral methods of gene transfer and allow us to deliver genetic information in a stable, effective and straightforward manner. In particular, we address the main transposon systems such as Sleeping Beauty (SB) and piggyBac (PB), the utilization of mRNA, and innovative approaches of nanotechnology like Lipid-based and Polymer-based DNA nanocarriers and nanovectors. We also describe the most relevant preclinical data that have recently led to the use of non-viral gene therapy in emerging clinical trials, and the related safety and efficacy aspects. We will also provide practical considerations for future trials to enable successful and safe cell therapy with non-viral methods for CAR T cell generation.

Keywords: non-viral vectors, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR T), gene therapy, immunotherapy, adoptive cell transfer, cancer therapy, transposons, mRNA

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Rise of CAR T Immunotherapy in Hematological Malignancies

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy represents a revolutionary therapeutic reality. To unleash T cells against cancer, an artificial receptor has been generated fusing the antigen-binding domain of a monoclonal antibody with a T-cell receptor (TCR)-derived signaling domain, including costimulatory components (1, 2). CAR-mediated recognition of a tumor-associated antigen triggers

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Del Bufalo, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Maria Teresa Lupo Stanghellini, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Dimitrios Laurin Wagner, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

*Correspondence:

Andrea Biondi abiondi.unimib@gmail.com

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 28 April 2022 Published: 09 June 2022

Citation:

Moretti A, Ponzo M, Nicolette CA, Tcherepanova IY, Biondi A and Magnani CF (2022) The Past, Present, and Future of Non-Viral CAR T Cells. Front. Immunol. 13:867013. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.867013

146

the activation of engineered T cells that consequently exert a response, characterized by potent cytotoxicity, cytokine secretion, and proliferation. The possibility of combining T cell lymphocyte effector functions with antibody specificity in a single component is appealing because it allows for a T cellmediated immune response against the tumor in a major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-unrestricted manner. This strategy eliminates the need of designing different receptors according to the Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) haplotypes, as in the case of tumor specific TCR gene transfer. This type of immunotherapy is a multi-step process. Immune cells, typically of autologous origin, are collected, modified in specialized

laboratories, and then infused into the patient undergoing lymphodepleting therapy to increase engraftment. The early concept formulated more than 30 years ago went through an extensive series of costimulatory design optimizations, which coupled the CD3- ζ domain with CD28 or 4-1BB costimulation, leading to impressive clinical results in patients with high-risk hematological malignancies (3–8).

To date, the clinical application that has determined the success of CAR T cells has been conducted mainly targeting the CD19 and CD22 molecules in B cell-Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (B-ALL) and B cell lymphoma (9–12) and against B-Cell Maturation Antigen (BCMA) for multiple myeloma (13, 14). In B-ALL, adoptive immunotherapy with CAR T cells achieved more than 80% complete response (CR) in the early stages of treatment and a sustained response through the establishment of immunological memory with 12-month event-free survival rates of 50% (3, 15). In diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), the CR was between 40 and 60% in multiple studies with different CAR T cell products while 12-months progression-free survival (PFS) was 40% (10, 11, 16, 17). The results in Mantle Cell Lymphoma and Relapsed/ Refractory (R/R) Follicular Lymphoma are even more encouraging with a CR of 67% and 80%, and a PFS of 61% and 74%, respectively (18, 19). Finally, in Multiple Myeloma (MM), the CR is 33% while the PFS is 8.8 months (20). In light of these data (21), the U.S Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved five CAR T cell therapies, Abecma (idecabtagene vicleucel), Breyanzi (lisocabtagene maraleucel), Kymriah (tisagenlecleucel), Tecartus (brexucabtagene autoleucel), Yescarta (axicabtagene ciloleucel) as of January 2022. All of them are also authorized in Europe. Besides these five, the FDA recently approved ciltacabtagene autoleucel (CARVYKTI, cilta-cel, Janssen and Johnson & Johnson), a CAR T product direct against BCMA. Furthermore, China's National Medical Products Administration (NMPA) recently approved the autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cell product, relmacabtagene autoleucel, that was established based on a process platform of Juno Therapeutics. Progress has been made to implement CAR T cell therapies in Australia, China, Japan, Switzerland, Singapore and Canada and the approval status worldwide is summarized in Table 1 and Figure 1. Kymriah and Yescarta have been commercially available since 2017 and 2018, respectively, and have been infused into nearly half a million patients worldwide.

1.2 Need for a More Flexible System to Allow Future CAR T Cell Engineering

Having shown such high therapeutic efficacy in hematological malignancies, the field is moving surprisingly fast, facing new challenges, and approaching other kinds of applications. Despite the high CR rate in hematological malignancies, patients with a high tumor burden and characterized by a history of multiple prior lines of therapy often do not respond. In some cases, the achieved responses do not last long. Relapses are mainly associated with loss of functional CAR T cells or the appearance of relapses in which the antigen recognized by the

TABLE 1 | Commercial CAR T products and their indication and availability worldwide.

Active substance	Name	Indications	Manufacturer	Approvals	Target	Costimulatory domain
tisagenlecleucel	Kymriah	Pediatric and young adult R/R acute lymphoblastic leukemia; Adult R/R DLBCL; R/R follicular lymphoma	Novartis	FDA, EMA, Health Canada, Swissmedic, Japan's MHLW, Singapore's HSA, Australian TGA, UK's NICE	CD19	CD137
axicabtagene ciloleucel	Yescarta	R/R large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL, PMBCL, high grade B-cell lymphoma, DLBCL arising from FL)	Kite Pharma and Gilead	FDA, EMA, Health Canada, Swissmedic, Japan's MHLW, China's NMPA, Australian TGA, UK's NICE	CD19	CD28
brexucabtagene autoleucel	Tecartus	Mantle cell lymphoma; Adult lymphoblastic leukemia	Kite Pharma and Gilead	FDA, EMA, Swissmedic, UK's NICE, Health Canada	CD19	CD28
lisocabtagene maraleuecel	Breyanzi	R/R large B-cell lymphoma	BMS and Juno Therapeutics	FDA, Japan's MHLW, EMA	CD19	CD137
idecabtagene vicleucel	Abecma	Multiple myeloma	BMS and Bluebird Bio	FDA, EMA, Health Canada, Swissmedic, Japan	BCMA	CD137
ciltacabtagene autoleucel	CARVYKTI	Multiple myeloma	Janssen and Johnson & Johnson	FDA	BCMA	CD137
relmacabtagene autoleucel	Carteyva	R/R large B-cell lymphoma	JW Therapeutics	China's NMPA	CD19	CD137

MHLW, Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare; HAS, Health Sciences Authority; TGA, Therapeutic Goods Administration; NMPA, National Medical Products Administration; NICE The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence.



CAR has a decreased expression or is completely absent, as in the case of CD19-negative relapses. For solid tumors, treatment with CAR T cells have not yet proven to be efficacious and it remains a challenge as of today. Few antigens with restricted expression to solid cancer and non-vital organs have been identified so far. Homing to the tumor is a critical aspect because T cells must migrate from the bloodstream through the endothelial cells that make up the tumor vasculature. In addition, the tumor microenvironment often has an immunosuppressive and hypoxic environment that impacts on T cell persistence by inducing a hypofunctional state. Unfortunately, clinical studies in solid tumors demonstrate a severely limited response. With this in mind, it is increasingly becoming urgent to combine CAR weapons with multiple targeting options and different functionalities, i.e., de novo cytokine production, activating signaling molecules and pro-inflammatory ligands, checkpoint blockages, increased trafficking with chemokines, receptors and extracellular matrix degrading enzyme, safety switches. Some of the issues associated to the current CAR T cell design that we need to face in the future are summarized in (22).

Addressing such challenges requires the development of approaches that move beyond single-target immunotherapy towards a building-block concept à la Lego or Minecraft, the popular video game that allows for endless combination opportunity. T cells can be modified to express CARs with different specificities and can therefore be equipped to improved efficacy, safety, and applicability. So far, the way most CAR T cell therapies approved or investigated in clinical trials are produced is utilizing viral vectors, particularly gammaretroviral and lentiviral vectors. Viral vectors are standardized systems with efficient gene transfer and a longterm history of application that demonstrates safety in the context of adoptive T cell therapy (23). However, the ability of viral vectors to transduce long gene cassettes is constrained by the capsid dimension. Viral capsids are about 100 nm in diameter and often cannot fit more than 8-9 kb (24). The use of two separate vectors for delivery of two different transgenes is often not efficient. Furthermore, viral production for the clinical application is a process that generally takes two-three weeks and is performed under good manufacturing practice (GMP) conditions in biosafety level 2 (BSL2) facilities, needing trained staff resources. The resulting high costs, limited number of available manufacturing facilities globally, and lot size limitations complicate their accessibility. This complexity along with the need for personalized treatment ultimately impacts the final price of CAR T product, which is particularly high and can reach up to \$475,000 per person to which must be added the cost of hospitalization, and follow-up visits. Currently, CAR T therapies are often recommended for late-stage patients who have exhausted all other treatment options. Given recent data supporting the advancement of CAR T cell therapy to earlier lines of treatment (25, 26), it appears to be increasingly important to implement reductions in current spending.

For the future to come, genetic engineering technologies must address issues such as logistical complexities impacting on costs and availability, cargo limitations, and flexibility. We therefore need to take measures to mitigate these challenges and start using more versatile and flexible technologies to make CAR T cells capable of migrating to the tumor site, recognizing heterogeneous tumors, and surviving in hostile environments. To support the adoption of future CAR T cell therapies, non-viral vectors have been proposed, validated preclinically in their ability to generate functional CAR T cells, and more recently applied in pioneer clinical trials. Non-viral gene transfer allows for an easier manufacturing process with lower costs of goods and rapid availability and may have less constraint on cargo capacity.

1.3 Stable Gene Transfer: Viral Transduction vs. Non-Viral Transfection

Gene therapy is an advanced medicine application in which the delivery of genetic material into cells is exploited to confer additional or restore impaired features to treat patients with a wide range of diseases, including genetic disorders, cancer, infectious and immunologic diseases, resulting in long-term therapeutic effects. Gene transfer can be classified as stable or transient depending on whether the genetic material is integrated into the host cell genome. To achieve stable gene transfer, integration of an expression cassette consisting of promoter, leader, transgene and transcriptional termination and polyadenylation sequences is needed. When there is integration into the genome, the transgene is stably expressed, and expression of the inserted gene persists in daughter cells resulting from cell division. In contrast, in the absence of integration, as for mRNA and plasmid vectors, expression will be lost as cells divide. Adoptive cell therapy with CAR T cells utilize ex vivo gene therapy that predominantly uses stable gene transfer. Gene transfer can be achieved through the process of viral transduction that utilizes the inherent ability of viruses and viral vectors to introduce genetic material into a variety of cell types. Alternatively, introduction of naked nucleic acids, including supercoiled DNA, messenger RNA (mRNA), small interfering RNA (siRNA), and guide RNA (gRNA), can be achieved by non-viral transfection. Transfection relies on the formation of transient pores in the cell membrane or, alternatively, endocytosis through the use of different chemical or physical techniques, such as electroporation, liposomes, and nanoparticles.

1.3.1 Viral Transduction

In the case of retroviral vectors, transduction requires the formation of infectious particles containing the transfer plasmid encoding the transgene flanked by Long Terminal Repeat (LTRs) and including the ψ (psi) encapsidation signal. Generally, infectious particles are generated by introducing the necessary viral sequences, i.e. *gal-pol, rev, env* coding sequences into the producer cell line by means of separated plasmids. Separation of the sequences required for virus formation allows the generation of a replication-deficient virus that is capable of infecting mammalian cells and integrate the genetic materials into the cellular genome but does not retain the natural ability to generate new viruses. Integration of DNA into the genome allows stable transduction of the T cell clone and its lineage, leading to long-term expression of the transgene in cells capable of long-term survival, and thus making CAR T cells living drugs.

The mechanism of integration of the cassette into the genome relies on the action of reverse transcriptase and integrase, encoded by the *pol* gene. Gammaretroviral vectors derived from Moloney murine leukemia virus (MLV) vectors integrate preferentially near transcription start sites (TSS) and in transcriptional regulatory regions, whereas Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-derived lentiviral vectors have a bias towards transcriptionally active regions (27-29). Integration of a transgene into the genome carries with it the risk of insertional oncogenesis, which is closely related to the propensity of each vector for a particular integration profile. In the case of gammaretroviral vectors there is thus a higher likelihood of inducing aberrant gene expression, which can result in the activation of oncogenes, whereas lentiviruses potentially have a greater risk of disrupting gene expression or leading to the expression of gene fragments that could theoretically lead to tumor-suppressor gene inactivation. However, this is particularly relevant in gene therapy applied to hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC) (30, 31), while T cells have been considered to have a low susceptibility to transformation. Indeed, long-term safety has been demonstrated after viral transfection (23). No T cell transformation has been observed even in cases of gammaretroviral vector insertion into an oncogene, such as Cbl, and destruction of a tumor suppressor gene such as Tet Methylcytosine dioxygenase 2 (TET2) by lentiviral vector integration, as has been reported in patients treated with anti-CD19 and anti-CD22 CAR T cells (32, 33).

The two vectors also differ in the mode of infection, which also has practical implications. Gammaretroviral vectors can only infect cells with active cell division, whereas lentiviral vectors are able to transduce non-dividing as well as the dividing cells, but most current protocols activate T cells prior to transduction (34). In addition, lentiviral genomes are more complex than those of gammaretroviruses, making LV production more complicated. Both viral vectors suffer from a number of disadvantages as gene transfer vectors, including i. limited insert size, ii. difficulty in producing high titers of stable vector particles, iii. potential generation of replication competent retroviruses/lentiviruses (RCR/RCL) during production, and iiii. in vivo recombination with sequences from other viruses, such as post HIV infection (35, 36). The generation of RCR/RCL in vitro or in vivo is currently only a theoretical risk, as there have been no cases of recombination in cellular products or in patients treated with ex vivo gene therapy to date. Finally, viral vectors have an intrinsic risk of immunogenicity, caused by humoral and cellular immune response towards vector-encoded epitopes, which might limit the efficacy and persistence of transduced cells (37).

1.3.2 Non-Viral Transfection

Stable gene transfer delivery can also be achieved by using the non-viral integrative vectors represented by transposons. In this case, integration is obtained by means of transposase, an enzyme that binds to sequences in the genome called transposons and catalyzes their movement by a cut-and-paste or a replicative transposition mechanism. The existence of mobile sequences in the genome was originally discovered by the Nobel Prizewinning geneticist Barbara McClintock in the 1940s while studying kernel color variability in maize (38). The repositioning of genes encoding for pigments resulted in a variety of coloration patterns. The "jumping genes" in maize were then called transposable elements (TE), or transposons, and

we now know that they are quite abundant in the genome, constituting more than 80% of the maize genome and about 40% of the human's one, meaning that around 40% of the human genome has undergone the process of transposition over the course of human evolution (39). Transposition is known to cause genetic diversity and adaptability, such as color change in maize or antibiotic resistance in bacteria. This is likely the reason why genes encoding for transposases are widely distributed in the genome of most organisms (40). This class of genes belongs to the superfamily of polynucleotidyl transferases that comprises RNase H, Recombination-activating gene (RAG) proteins, and retroviral integrases. Indeed, RAG enzymes have been proposed to originate from TEs and have a pretty similar mechanistic features (41), that allow them to alter gene structure as in V(D) J rearrangements.

TEs are divided into two classes of TE, retrotransposons and DNA transposons. Retrotransposons move through a copy-andpaste mechanism using an RNA intermediate, represent the most frequent class of transposons in the human genome, and comprise Long Terminal Repeat (LTR) transposons, long interspersed nuclear elements (LINEs), and short interspersed nuclear elements (SINEs) (42). DNA transposable elements move through a DNA intermediate via a cut-and-paste mechanism and are the ones used in gene transfer applications. Most DNA transposon families have an element encoding a transposase gene flanked by inverted terminal repeats (ITRs). Transposase recognizes and binds elements incorporated into ITRs, catalyzes the excision of the transposon element from its original position, and integrates it into another position in the genome. The DNA sequence is inserted without the need for sequence homology. Transposon-based vector systems have been generated by splitting the transposase and the ITRs into two components, so that the transgene cassette lies between the two ITRs in a transposon vector. Throughout the next section, we will focus on the different transposons available for clinical applications, with an emphasis on the most widely used transposon systems, Sleeping Beauty (SB) and piggyBac (PB). Transposase is delivered in a 'trans' configuration to better control the system and avoid residual expression, which could then potentially lead to remobilization of the transposon into other genomic compartments which is currently the most prominent safety concern of this type of vector. One of the possibilities to deliver transposon and transposase to generate CAR T cells is through the use of a dual plasmid system, one for the gene of interest and the other for the enzyme, by electroporation of primary T cells, but has some limitations that can be solved by using mRNA and DNA vectors with decreased size compared to conventional plasmids. Anyway, these two-component vector systems are less complex than viral vectors and relies on relatively low costs of goods. Plasmids can be produced in very large quantities, so that the estimated costs are 5 to 10 times lower than the viral process (43). Compared to other vectors, they have a larger cargo size which is particularly relevant for future multi-targeting applications. The integration profile of transposon vectors depends on the transposase used, with some showing a bias towards specific

regions, as in viral vectors, while others demonstrate a close-torandom and safer profile with no preference, and we will see how relevant this is in the next subsection. Unlike viral vectors, transfection with transposon systems works well in both preactivated and resting primary T cells, leading to transgene expression even in naïve cells (44). The ability of transposons to transfect non-dividing and naïve cells might be exploited to increase the persistence of CAR T cells *in vivo*. In contrast to viral systems, which have weak preferences at the site of integration in terms of DNA sequence recognition, transposons recognize a consensus sequence (45).

Non-viral transposon vectors prove versatility, low immunogenicity, and ease of production. However, they are often associated with lower transfection efficiencies than viruses. This may be in part due to the toxicity associated with electroporation in the presence of DNA. Though, there could also be reasons related to the type of gene material, viral material being generally more efficient than plasmid DNA, and the integration pattern itself. Finally, the possibility of transposon vectors interacting with endogenous human DNA and protein sequences is a theoretical safety concern. Fortunately, mammals do not contain transposon DNA sequences sufficiently similar to be cleaved by SB transposase, and there is no human protein sufficiently similar to SB transposase to re-mobilize a SB vector integrated into the genome. Instead, the human PGBD5 gene, apparently derived from PB transposases, has been shown to encode for a transposase capable of mobilizing insect PB transposons in human cell cultures (46). It remains unclear whether cross-reactions between the endogenous human transposase and the PB transposon vector can occur and undermine the genomic integrity of the transduced cells, raising a potential risk in the context of using this vector for genetic engineering (47).

Non-viral delivery of mRNA allows for transient transfection and is generally achieved by electroporation or nanoparticles (48). Once into the cell and without the need to reach the cell nucleus, the mRNA is translated into the encoded protein that can be stabilized when prolonged expression is needed and is generally lost after 2-4 cell divisions, which is why this technique is particularly suited to applications using non-proliferating cells. Along with safety, the main advantage of this approach is the availability of protocols for clinical translation of mRNA strategies, thanks in part to SARS-CoV-2 vaccine research. As of March 30, 2022, 64,4% of the worldwide population (49, 50), including the authors of this paper, have received at least one dose of Covid-19 vaccine and most of them thanks to advancements in nucleic acid delivery protocols. The lack of integration avoids the risk of genotoxicity associated with integrating vectors and transient expression safeguards against long-term toxicities, making this strategy a good approach to test the safety of first-in-human CARs, targeting molecules with expression in healthy tissues. The drawback of using transient gene transfer is the short-term potency that is counterproductive in strategies such as CAR T cell immunotherapy whose benefits are mainly associated with rapid in vivo expansion and generation of T cell memory and immunosurveillance.

and sofe means from the denser DNA to an

Conversely, mRNA delivery is a versatile, flexible, and safe means for all technologies involving a hit-and-run mechanism that requires only transient expression, such as for nuclease complex in gene editing, epitopes in vaccination, and transposase in stable nonviral gene transfer.

2 PURPOSE OF THE REVIEW: NON-VIRAL APPROACHES FOR T CELL ENGINEERING

Despite great enthusiasm followed the approval by FDA of CAR T cell products on the market, confounding challenges persist for products based on ex vivo lentiviral or gammaretroviral transduction. Since their introduction, transposon-based platforms seem to represent a feasible, cheaper and useful alternative to mediate gene transfer, and pioneer clinical studies are currently emerging. We aim here to explore the world of non-viral vectors navigating through their advantages and drawbacks. In the next paragraphs, we will be reviewing preclinical and clinical applications of the SB and PB transposons, the utilization of the mRNA, and the modalities to deliver non-viral vector into the cellular nucleus, such as electroporation and nanocarriers. We will then be discussing the critical aspects related to the safety and efficacy, with the intention to provide practical considerations for exploiting these tools in future clinical studies. Finally, we provide our vision for future gene therapy with the advent of novel challenges, such as multi-targeting design, but also innovative tools, including DNA nanovectors and improved gene-editing technologies. From this perspective, technologies such as CRISPR/Cas9 are expanding the possibilities available in the field of adoptive T cell therapy as reviewed in (51). Their application in combination with viral techniques falls beyond the scope of this review, whereas we will discuss the virus-free CRISPR-Cas9 approach in the session related to future directions. We are encouraged by the prospect of non-viral vectors simplifying the CAR T supply chain, making it less expensive, safer, and efficacious.

3 SLEEPING BEAUTY

3.1 Vector Design and Delivery

Awakened after a long evolutionary "sleep", SB was reconstructed from inactive transposon sequences present in fish genomes, becoming the first transposon to show activity in vertebrate cells (52), thereby leading new horizons for gene therapy [reviewed in (53–61)]. Based on classical Tc1/mariner DNA Class II TE, these "jumping" units are able to translocate from one genomic position to another through a cut-and-paste mechanism (62). The SB vector is constituted by two functional components: the transposon DNA, which carries the gene of interest flanked by ITRs, and the SB transposase, which recognizes the ITR sequences and mobilizes the transgene from the donor DNA to an acceptor site inside the genome (63, 64).

During the years, many attempts have been made to improve the design of the SB vectors, leading to the generation of several variants. Regarding the original transposon vector, referred to as pT, the modification of nucleotide residues within the ITR sequences by means of mutations, additions or deletions have give rise to in improved versions such as pT2, pT3, pT2B, and, lastly, pT4 (65, 66), which has an optimized donor vector architecture. Similarly, transposase has also been extensively optimized to increase the transposition efficiency. The first SB10 transposase has passed through different mutagenized hyperactive versions including the second-generation SB11 transposase, approximately threefold more active than the first-generation SB transposase, to the more recent SB100X, holding 100-fold increase activity than the first-generation enzyme (67). The hyperactive SB100X system has shown to allow for efficient and stable gene transfer in various cell types, including primary human T cells (68), in a non-homologous recombination restriction manner. Identification of the crystal structure of the transposase catalytic domain has recently allowed the design of hyperactive transposase variants, including the SB transposase mutant (I212S), named hySB100X, which has 30% higher transposition activity than SB100X (69). The enzyme can also be modified to catalyze the excision but not the genomic re-introduction, leading to extrachromosomal circles similar to the excision circles formed during the process of VDJ recombination. The exc+/int- mutant can be exploited for transient transgenesis, e.g. to remove reprogramming factors after generation of pluripotent stem cells (69). Similar to what have been implemented for the CRISPR/Cas9 systems, attempts have been made to deliver the SB100X as a protein. However, the SB transposases showed intrinsic protein instability, associated with low solubility as well as aggregating properties. For this reason, efforts to improve their chemical properties have led to the generation of a new highly soluble variant (hsSB), including the C176S and I212S substitutions, which has shown high self-penetrating properties (70). The efficiency of this new type of SB transposase was tested in human and mammalian cells such as stem cells, both of embryonic and hematopoietic origin, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and primary cells such as human T cells. hsSB was able to generate anti-CD19 CAR T cells, even though with a lower transduction efficiency, displaying antitumor activity analogous to CAR T cells engineered with viral vectors in xenograft mice (71).

The integration of the excised transposon takes place in a closeto-random manner inside the genome when the transposase finds a target site characterized by a TA dinucleotide (72) as illustrated in **Figure 2**. When the transposase recognizes the ITR sequences flanking the SB donor transposon and binds them, it induces double-stranded breaks through the formation of a synaptic complex. The resulting excision site is rapidly repaired by host non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) and the terminal sequences of the SB transposon that are formed after the cleavage generate a



characteristic footprint in the donor DNA. At this point, the transposon-transposase complex is free to find an appropriate target site in the genome and integrate inside, leading to target site duplication flanking the integrated element (73).

The peculiar integration bias has been deeply investigated through genome-wide integration analyses comparing SB with PB and Tol2 (74). The target site selection of SB, PB, MLV-derived gammaretroviral and HIV-derived lentiviral systems was compared in primary human CD4+ T cells. SB transposons demonstrated to have the highest probability to target safe harbors thanks to its unbiased, close-to-random integration profile as compared to other methods which instead showed a bias for transcriptional start sites, CpG islands and DNaseI hypersensitive sites (45). Therefore, the mechanistic features of SB make it a vehicle with a favorable risk-benefit assessment (45).

A big advantage of this type of strategy compared to viral systems is the greater cargo capacity, though there is an inverse correlation between the size of the insert and the efficiency of the transposition mechanism (75, 76). Optimal cargo size is under 6 kb but the sandwich version, comprising two complete transposon units flanking the cargo in an inverted orientation, favors an increase in load up to 11 kb thereby extending cloning

capability of the SB based vectors (77, 78). Moreover, when combined with bacterial artificial chromosome (BACs), SB was shown to deliver transgenes up to 100 kb at reasonable efficiencies in human embryonic stem (ES) cells (79, 80).

Many attempts have been made to manage toxicity caused by the electroporation process. Since the damage is dependent on the amount of DNA delivered and the magnitude of voltage pulses in the electroporation process, the toxicity can be relieved by reducing the size of the SB vector and delivering the transposase in other forms than DNA plasmid. In this context, recent applications foresee the use of the SB transposase in the form of mRNA or recombinant protein and a minicircle vector (MC) encoding the transposon (71, 81). The transposase mRNA results in increased biosafety due to the fact that mRNA does not run the risk of chromosomal integration and allows transient expression of the enzyme. This aspect will be dealt with in more detail in paragraph 5.2. MCs are produced from plasmids through site-specific recombination to eliminate bacterial origin of replication and antibiotic resistance genes and retain exclusively the transgene with its promoter. The presence of antibiotic resistance gene in plasmids as a selection marker represent a safety concern for the risk of horizontal dissemination into pathogenic bacteria. MCs have a

better transposition rate with a gene transfer 5-fold higher compared to conventional plasmids and additionally a lower toxicity (82). The use of bacteria plasmids can trigger an immune response by the host caused by the activation *via* Toll-like receptors by the unmethylated CpG motif in the bacterial DNA sequence. The lack of bacterial sequences inside MCs favors their lower immunogenicity (83). Unfortunately, there are currently no commercial large-scale GMP producers of MCs, hindering commercialization.

3.2 Preclinical Evidence

The ability of SB vectors to provide long-term expression *in vivo* has been demonstrated in multiple preclinical studies spanning a wide range of fields, ranging from the application in cancer to multiple diseases, reviewed by Hodge and colleagues (84).

The first representative studies that demonstrated the feasibility of SB technology to generate anti-CD19 CAR T cells from peripheral blood or cord blood were reported by Dr. Huang at the University of Minnesota, and Dr. Cooper at the MD Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC, Houston, TX, USA) (85, 86). They showed that SB transposase can be delivered either as plasmid DNA or mRNA in combination with a CAR-encoding transposon plasmid into T cells by electroporation to produce functional anti-CD19 CAR T cells. To achieve a high transduction of the final cell product, electroporated T cells were expanded by multiple stimulations with CD19+ artificial antigen-presenting cells (APCs), resulting in rapid outgrowth of CAR expressing T cells.

Our group developed a clinical-grade protocol to engineered T cells differentiated towards memory T cells with a CD8+CD56 + phenotype in vitro, namely cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells with different CAR molecules (87), including the anti-CD19 CAR, anti-CD123 CAR, anti-BAFFR CAR, and anti-CD33 CAR. We transfected CIK cells with the SB11 transposase and the pT vector (44, 87). The choice of the T cell population was based on the high safety profile with minimal occurrence of graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) (88), that allows the use of donor-derived cells in clinical trials (89-91). In order to mitigate cell damage induced by electroporation, we developed an improved platform for SB-mediated engineering by stimulating electroporated T cells with irradiated autologous PBMCs as feeder cells. A single stimulation step allowed us to achieve a sufficient number of CAR T cells for clinical applications and up to 80% transgene expression in CIK cells as well as conventional T cells (44, 87). The key benefit of our methods is the limited manipulation, avoiding multiple stimulations. We confirmed the close-to-random distribution of integrations in engineered CAR T cells and the absence of integration near cancer related genes (87). Adoptive transfer of anti-CD19 CAR or anti-CD123 CAR lymphocytes led to a significant anti-tumor response in B-ALL and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) disseminated disease models, respectively. The preclinical evaluation phase demonstrated the possibility of generating with this platform CAR T cells characterized by a dose-dependent therapeutic effect in patient-derived xenograft models, in the absence of toxicity,

through a robust and reproducible production process (44). Recently, the platform was applied to generate anti-CD33 CAR T cells by using the hyperactive SB100X transposase and the pT4 vector, which showed improved transduction efficiency compared to SB11 and pT systems and *in vivo* activity toward chemotherapy resistant/residual AML cells (92).

Another example of enhanced SB-mediated engineering is the one proposed by Monjezi et al. using SB100X and a pT2-based MCs. The author stimulated T cells with anti-CD3/CD28 beads before electroporation and the resulting transduction efficiency was about 30%. Prior to functional testing, EGFRt-positive CAR T cells were purified and expanded with irradiated CD19+ feeder cells. The resulting anti-CD19 CAR T cells have potent anti-tumor responses and was shown to be equally functional as anti-CD19 CAR T cells prepared by lentiviral transduction *in vitro* and *in vivo* (81).

In recent years, more and more functional advancements are taking place to reduce ex vivo manipulation of CAR T cells in order to preserve their persistence and anti-tumor activity (93). One of these efforts is represented by the study of Chicaybam and collaborators, demonstrating the possibility of generating SBengineered anti-CD19 CAR T cells in 8 days activating with Transact (Miltenyi Biotec) after electroporation. The resulting cell populations exhibit robust antileukemic activity both in vitro and in vivo associated with a central memory phenotype (94). The same group demonstrated that CAR T cells can be generated by SB and used without the need of stimulation and expansion. Similar in vivo activity was demonstrated by CAR T cells injected 24 hours after electroporation and cells expanded with anti-CD3/ CD28 coated beads for 8 days (95). This point-of-care technology can even be optimized by co-expression of a safety switch and a membrane-bound version of interleukin-15 (mbIL15) to enhance safety and in vivo persistence and demonstrated anti-tumor activity against CD19+ tumors and prolonged T cell survival in mouse models (96).

This approach has been utilized for the development of UltraCAR T platform based on the use of the non-viral system to deliver multiple genes by SB vectors. Using this platform, Chan et al., developed autologous cells co-expressing a CD33 CAR and mbIL15 (PRGN-3006) for the treatment of r/r AML and high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). This platform shortened the manufacturing process and allows infusion of the product the day after transduction, obviating the need for ex vivo cells expansion. In preclinical validation, in vivo administration of a single dose of PRGN-3006 UltraCAR T cells significantly improved the overall survival of AML-bearing mice compared to CAR T cells lacking mbIL15 (97). The same group developed a PRGN-3007 UltraCAR T co-expressing mbIL15, a CAR specific for receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1 (ROR1) that is frequently overexpressed in hematological and solid tumors, a safety switch, and a novel mechanism for intrinsic blockade of PD-1 gene expression. Notably, preclinical data demonstrated the safety and the improved anti-tumor activity of PRGN-3007 compared with the control ROR1 CAR T (98).

The optimized donor-vector architecture of the pT4 vector coupled to the use of the hyperactive SB100X allows the

generation CAR T cells engineered with bicistronic vectors. Using this platform, CAR T cells were incorporated with the inducible Caspase 9 (iC9) safety switch and showed anti-leukemic activity in mouse models and were as efficient as CAR T cells generated with a LV vector (99). Furthermore, this system was used to combine the expression of anti-CD33 CAR and the chemokine receptor CXCR4 to increase CARCIK cell homing to the bone marrow niche (100).

Recent evidence reveals the suitability of the SB vector to enable engineering of primary natural killer (NK) cells with anti-CD19 CAR, which showed a safe genomic integration profile and antitumor activity *in vivo* (101). Manufacturing protocols associated with preclinical studies employing SB in the context of CAR T cells are summarized in **Table 2**.

3.3 Clinical Applications

Following promising results obtained in the preclinical phase, the group of Cooper et al. contributed to the clinical debut of SB-engineered anti-CD19 CAR T cells and provided proof of concept of the convenience of SB transposition for CAR T cell engineering. Two pilot clinical trials (NCT00968760, NCT01497184) confirm the safety of SB-engineered anti-CD19 CAR T cells in 26 patients with B-ALL and non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma as adjuvant therapy after autologous or allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells transplant (HSCT) (103). Cell product manufacturing included T cell nucleofection with the transposase SB11 plasmid and pT2 vector encoding a second generation anti-CD19 CAR with CD28 as a costimulatory agent and ex vivo propagation for approximately 28 days with multiple stimulations using artificial APCs and cytokines. Patients were subsequently enrolled in a long-term follow-up study lasting up to 15 years and the persistence of genetically modified T cells was monitored annually using droplet digital polymerase chain reaction (ddPCR) and flow cytometry. Limited expansion and absence of B-cell aplasia were reported. However, CAR+ T cells were detected up to 4 years after infusion in autologous HSCT recipients and 2 years in allogeneic HSCT recipients (104).

TABLE 2 | Manufacturing protocols associated with preclinical studies employing SB in the context of CAR T cells.

Background	Description	Vector	Electroporation	Stimulation	Transduction and Yield	Reference
B-ALL and AML	Anti-CD19 CAR-T cells showed proof-of-concept tumor eradication in B- ALL xenograft models; anti-CD123 CAR T cells controlled KG-1 AML in xenograft models	CD19CAR/pT MNDU3 transposon (15 μg) + pCMV-SB11 transposase (5 μg)	10^7 peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) using 4D- Nucleofector system (Program EO-115) with P3 Primary Cell 4D-Nucleofector X kit (Lonza)	Autologous PBMCs irradiated with 60Gy γ-rays are added after electroporation and OKT-3 is added at day 1. IL-2 is added weekly.	CAR expression: 75.6% for CD123.CAR and 80% for CD19.CAR Large scale T cell expansion: 23-fold in 18-21 days CAR T cell expansion: from 60×10^6 to 8.6×10^8	Magnani et al; 2018 (44)
AML	Anti-CD33 CAR-T cells showed delaying AML progression in patient-derived xenograft models	CD33CAR/pT transposon (15 µg) + SB100X-pT4 transposase (0.5 µg)	As Magnani et al.;2016 (87)	As Magnani et al.;2016 (87)	CD33CAR expression: 63.7%T cell expansion: 38.8- fold after 3 weeks.	Rotiroti et al.;2020 (92)
Glioma	Production of EGFRvIII CART cells in two weeks showed superior therapeutic efficacy in mice bearing established orthotopic gliomas	EGFRvIIICAR pT/neo transposon (10 μg) + pCMV-SB11 transposase (5 μg)	20 × 10^6 PBMCs or T cells using Amaxa Nucleofector 2B (Lonza) with program U-014 in T-cell electroporation buffer (Lonza)	CAR T cells were stimulated with 100 Gy-irradiated EGFRvIII+ K562 ells in the presence of IL-21. After7 days, T cells were restimulated in the presence of IL-2 and IL-21.	CAR T cell (back calculated inferred numerical expansion): From 10^6 to around 5×10^7 in two weeks and 10^9 in 30 daysEGFRvIII CAR expression: around 90%	Caruso et al.;2019 (102)
CD19+ B- cell malignancies	Anti-CD19 CAR-T cells generated in 8 days showed effective antitumor response in mice xenografted with RS4;11 or Nalm-6 B-cell leukemias	pT3 19BBz CAR transposon (20 μg) + pCMV- SB100x transposase (1 μg)	10^7 PBMC using Amaxa Nucleofector 2B with program U-14	After electroporation cells are cultured with IL-2 and, 2h later, are activated with T Cell TransAct (Miltenyi Biotec)	Absolute number of T-cell expansion: from 10^7 to 3.6×10^7 after 8 days of cultureCAR expression range: 20.4%–37.3%	Chicaybam et al.;2020 (94)
Lymphoma	anti-CD19 CAR T cells engineered with MC SB vectors eradicated lymphoma cells in Raji xenograft model	pT2 CAR EGFRt MC DNA (1 μg) +pCMV- SB100X MC (1:1 ratio) or pCMV-SB100X mRNA (1:4 ratio)	T cells are activated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and on day 2 electroporated (1×10^6 T cells) using 4D-Nucleofector	After electroporation T cells are propagated with IL-2. Prior to functional testing, EGFRt-positive T cells are enriched and expanded with irradiated CD19+ feeder cells for at least 7 days	CAR T cell expansion: From 1×10^6 to around 20×10^6 (MC-MC) and 12×10^6 (MC- mRNA) in 2 weeksCAR expression: 49.8% for MC- MC and about 40% for MC- mRNA on day14	Monetzi et al;2017 (81)

Since long manufacturing processes and multiple stimulations are known to impair T cell fitness, resulting in decreased efficacy *in vivo*, in collaboration with Ziopharm Oncology (Boston, MA), a second-generation approach was developed by reducing to 2 weeks the time require for coculture with feeder cells. A clinical trial was designed (NCT02529813) in which CAR T cells have been infused in combination with a Fludarabine- and Cyclophosphamide-based lymphodepletion regimen in adult and pediatric patients with active CD19+ malignancies (105). This trial aim is to provide data supporting a 3rd-generation point-of-care trial to very rapidly manufacture (< 2 days) anti-CD19 CAR T cells in absence of feeder cells (96).

Thanks to the in-house establishment of a clinical-grade platform to obtain non-viral CAR T cells in about 20 days (44), we designed a multicenter phase I/II trial in B-ALL patients relapsed after allogeneic HSCT (NCT03389035). Donor-derived anti-CD19 CAR T cells were generated by electroporation with the SB11 transposase-encoding plasmid and a transposon expressing a third-generation CAR and differentiation into CIK cells (CARCIK-CD19). Cells were manufactured from 50 mL of peripheral blood from the allotransplant donor. A total of 21 patients, 4 children and 17 adults were lymphodepleted and treated with a single infusion of CARCIK-CD19 product. In most patients, potent CAR T cell expansion and long-term persistence were achieved, which was associated with anti-leukemic activity and induction of a sustained response. Moreover, integration site analysis performed on patients' peripheral blood demonstrated that SB integration pattern, with absence of preference for transcriptional start sites and promoters, is maintained after infusion. High polyclonal marking and population diversity confirmed the positive safety profile of the SB technology (43). Cytokine release syndrome (CRS) was observed in six patients and neurotoxicity in two patients while acute GvHD was never observed (106). As a reinforcement of the previously implemented study, a new trial in our centers that involves retreatment of patients has recently begun and patient enrollment is currently underway.

Besides the reported trials, CAR T studies using the SB platform are currently underway in the USA and Europe.

Given the promising preclinical data of UltraCAR T cells, two clinical trials have been launched. Specifically, a Phase 1/1b firstin-human dose escalation/dose expansion study (NCT03927261) is evaluating the safety of PRGN-3006 UltraCAR T co-expressing an anti-CD33 CAR and mbIL15 in adult patients with r/r AML, hypomethylating agents (HMA) failure, high risk MDS and chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML). Preliminary data showed that PRGN-3006 infusion was well tolerated and achieved a 50% response rate in patients treated with lymphodepletion, associated with CAR T cell expansion and persistence (107).

A second study (NCT03907527), evaluating the safety of PRGN-3005 UltraCAR T cells co-expressing an anti-MUC16 CAR, mbIL15 and a kill switch in the treatment of patients with platinum resistant ovarian cancer patients is ongoing (108).

The CARAMBA trial has been recently launched as a joint effort supported by an EU Horizon grant and is using mRNA encoding the hyperactive SB100X transposases in conjunction with CAR transposon supplied as an MC vector. In this Phase I/ II clinical trial autologous anti-slam family member 7 (SLAMF7) CAR T cells are being used against MM to investigate the feasibility, safety, and anti-myeloma efficacy (109).

4 PIGGYBAC

4.1 Vector Design

PB was originally isolated from the cabbage looper moth Trichoplusia ni over 30 years ago and has been optimized over the years (110). As with the SB vector, the PB system is constituted by the PB transposase (PBase), in the form of mRNA or DNA, and a separate transfer plasmid carrying the desired genetic cargo (111). It belongs to the class of DNA transposases and to improve its transposition efficiency, the transposase has been optimized through random mutations resulting in useful variants such as the hyperactive version of PBase (hyPBase) (112). Another interesting variant is the excision competent/integration defective (exc+int-) PB transposase that allows transient transgenesis, by enabling excision in the absence of re-integration into the host genome. One potential application of exc+int- PBase would be the transient introduction of transcription factors for transgenefree iPSC production, the same as for the exc+/int- mutant of SB100X. The exc+int- PBase can be fused to zinc finger proteins binding to safe harbors to favor integration into to specific genomic regions (113).

The design of PB transposon vectors is characterized by a single open-reading frame (ORF) flanked by ITRs that in PB are characteristically asymmetric. The transposase recognizes ITRs flanking the transposon and catalyzes transgene excision and integration into genomic DNA by a cut-and-paste mechanism. Specifically, the transposition involves a series of hydrolysis and transesterification reactions with the generation of a DNA intermediate in which DNA hairpins provide exonuclease protection for the transposon ends. One of the peculiar features of PB is its specificity towards TTAA sites for integration in contrast to SB's preference for TA dinucleotides. Although PB can integrate into any TTAA target site, the epigenetic status may affect integration site preference of PB transposons. Another attractive characteristic of the PB transposase is the lack of a DNA footprint after its excision (see Figure 2). In contrast to the mobilization of other conventional DNA transposons like SB, which are associated with NHEJ of the donor DNA (114), PB does not require DNA synthesis. Indeed, as long as an active transposase persists in the cell, integrated transposons can be remobilized to new sites. In the event that the transposon has integrated into a gene, the footprints created at the excision site could produce undesirable mutations of the gene in which they were left. This feature is an advantage of the PB system from the safety perspective.

PB has a higher transposition activity for transposon mobilization than SB in mammalian cells (115), a larger cargo capacity (up to 14 kb) than viral vectors, and allows multiple transgene delivery through the design of multicistronic cassettes (116). Moreover, like gammaretrovirus, PB showed a preference for integration near TSSs, CpG islands and DNaseI hypersensitive sites, the consequence being that the risk of gene dysregulation is increased (73). Furthermore, analyzing integration sites occupied under the selective pressure provided in insertional mutagenesis (IM) screens, it has been demonstrated that PB compared to SB, is more prone to association with oncogenes (117).

Recently, the discovery in human genome of the human piggyBac transposable element derived 5 (PGBD5) has raised possible safety concerns in PB-gene transfer application (46, 118). Indeed, the presence of PGBD5 could allow the remobilization of PB transposons in human cells with a higher risk of genes dysregulation. With respect to this aspect, however, there is still considerable uncertainty. Beckermann T. M. et al., observed that transposition activity is probably restricted within species to cognate ITR sequences and in particular, PGBD5 appeared in their study, unable to bind, excise or integrate PB transposon in human cells (119).

Therefore, PB has a series of useful characteristics for genetic engineering: i. a higher transposition activity than SB, ii. its precise excision from an insertion site, restoring the site to its pre-transposon state without DNA footprint, iii. its wide range of applications such as mutagenesis, introduction of reprogramming factors to generate iPSCs, and gene transfer. For the purpose of the review, we focus on the application of PB transposon system in the CAR T production.

4.2 Preclinical Evidence

One of the most challenging issues using transposons is the toxicity of the transduction procedure. In particular, electroporation in the presence of exogenous DNA is toxic and decreases cell survival to less than 40% after 24h from transfection. To improve the efficiency of PB transfection, different approaches have been tested such as the addition of survival-promoting cytokines such as IL-7 or IL-15 that increase the frequency of gene expression and the ability of the transduced cells to expand. Alternatively, T cell expansion was stimulated by the use of feeder cells represented by autologous PBMCs or other sources such as the K562 cells, modified to express costimulatory molecules. Therefore, the quality of the final CAR T product depends on several factors that go from the construct characteristics (such as cargo size, costimulatory domains, spacers) to the manufacturing platform. Many preclinical studies exploited PB as a tool to generate CAR T cells for hematological malignancies and solid tumors.

One of the first pieces of evidence of the potential for the PB platform to stably transfect human T cells in cancer therapy were reported by Nakazawa Y. et al. They obtained stable gene expression in about 20% of primary T cells without selection, improved to 40% with the addition of IL-15 (120). In a subsequent study by the same group, a significant increase in

CAR expression was achieved using irradiated activated T cells as feeders and alternative means of TCR stimulation using viral antigens instead of anti-CD3/CD28 mAbs. Efficiency was further improved by reducing the size of the CAR cassette with the elimination of the long IgG1.CH2CH3 spacer (121). With this approach, PB-generated anti-CD19 CAR T were used to treat B-ALL cells in the central nervous system (CNS) in a xenograft mouse model comparing intra-venous and intracerebroventricular delivery. Direct CNS delivery of CAR T cells resulted in eradication of B-ALL from the CNS without fatal adverse events, proving the activity of PB-generated CAR T cell *in vivo* and suggesting this strategy as a possible therapeutic approach for isolated or advanced CNS disease (122).

The use of feeders to support generation of CAR T electroporated with non-viral transposons appears to be useful also for PB. Similar to what we first described for generating CAR T cells with SB (123), irradiated autologous PBMCs have been used to efficiently produce CAR T cells (124). Although the generation of anti-CD19 CAR T cells with the PB transposon system was demonstrated to be efficient using feeders, first attempts showed poor *in vivo* activity due to the interactions between the CAR spacer and Fc gamma receptor-expressing cells. Optimization of the construct led to the generation of an anti-CD19 CAR lacking the spacer IgG1 Fc region which demonstrated superior efficacy in a murine B-ALL xenograft model. Moreover, the inclusion of 4-1BB costimulatory domain had greater efficacy *in vitro* and *in vivo* at lower CAR T cell doses than those with a CD28 costimulatory domain (111).

Most of the manufacturing protocols for viral CAR T production activate T cells with anti-CD3/CD28 stimulation and the addition of IL-2 during culture. This system may have some limitations when applied to cells electroporated with transposons, such as the expansion of non-transduced T cells and the enrichment of terminal effector T cells at the expense of the immature stages. An alternative approach is the activation of the CAR T receptor by its cognate ligand or specific anti-CAR antibody in the presence of IL-4 and IL-7, which led to selected expansion of functional anti-CD19 CAR T cells, resulting in 90% of CAR positive cells. Moreover, the addition of IL-21 to the IL-4 and IL-7 mixture improves the immunophenotype of CAR T cells with more represented immature stages with less expression of exhaustion molecules such as PD-1, LAG-3, and TIM-3 (125).

CAR-mediated stimulation is often required to obtain sufficient numbers of CAR+ cells. For instance, none of the previously reported methods, including HER2-expressing tumor cells, irradiated activated feeder T cells with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies, and autologous irradiated PBMCs alone, was able to improve the expansion of anti-HER2 CAR T cells modified with PB. Conversely, stimulation with autologous PBMCs engineered with HER2 and costimulatory molecules such as CD80 and 4-1BBL enhanced the expansion of anti-HER2 CAR T cells modified with PB. At the end of the expansion, the cellular product was enriched in CAR T stem cell memory-like cells and exerts anti-leukemic activity *in vitro* and *in vivo* (126).

Another manufacturing platform developed to reduce T cell exhaustion applied PBMCs pulsed with a pool of viral peptides

and IL-7 and IL-15 in the first week, followed by stimulation on anti-CD3 or anti-CD28 mAbs-coated plates. With this protocol, in the setting of neuroblastoma, functional anti-GD2 CAR T cells were associated to low expression of PD-1 and improved naïve/ stem cell memory phenotype. In addition, the authors suggested a possible synergistic effect of PB anti-GD2 CAR T cells and MEK inhibitors (i.e. trametinib) regardless of the mutation status of the MAPK pathway in tumor cells with an enhanced efficacy of CAR T therapy in the setting of neuroblastoma (127).

CAR T cells directed against granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor (hGMR or CD116) generated with PB were used in a non-human primate (NHP) model to evaluate their safety (128). To generate cynomolgus macaque CAR T cells, electroporated PBMCs were cultured in the presence of human IL-15 and IL-7 with the addition of immature dendritic cells, derived from autologous cynomolgus PBMCs using human IL-4 and GM-CSF.

The anti-hGMR CAR T design has been further optimized by substitution of the antigen-binding domain with a mutated GM-CSF and CH2CH3 hinge with a G4S spacer and an improved anti-tumor activity against CD116+ AML was demonstrated both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (129).

Another issue with classic transposon transduction protocols is their reliance on bacteria for the production of plasmid vectors. To avoid undesired qualities of bacterial plasmids, including activation of host immune responses, antibiotic resistance, and endotoxins, CAR+ T cells were produced by co-electroporation of a linear DNA transposon and mRNA encoding the PB transposase, reaching a transfection efficiency of 60% and a vector copy number (VCN) of less than 3 copies of transgene per transduced cell. The linear vector was prepared enzymatically in vitro by PCR whereas mRNA was obtained through in vitro transcription. Electroporated cells were cultivated in presence of IL-4, IL-7, and IL-21 and maintained an early memory immunophenotype at the end of the differentiation (125). Similarly, the possibility to include the gene of interest flanked by ITRs in doggybone DNA vectors (dbDNA) was investigated. dbDNA are synthetic, linear, covalently closed DNA vectors that can be inexpensively and rapidly produced in vitro at large scale in a bacteria-free system from the parent plasmid. Unlike openended linear DNA which had a propensity for integration, dbDNA with their covalently closed ends has a lower tendency to integrate with a reduced risk of undesirable genomic integration of PB transposase. Using two linear dbDNAs containing PB transposase and the anti-CD19 CAR cassette incorporating 200bp sequences flanking the ITRs, respectively, it was possible to produce CAR T cells in vitro (130). The manufacturing protocols for PB-generated CAR T cells are summarized in Table 3.

4.3 Clinical Applications

Growing preclinical data supporting the feasibility and safety of the PB-based platform for CAR T manufacturing have allowed this system to enter clinical trials. The Australian CARTELL trial is a phase-I study (ACTRN12617001579381) to investigate the efficacy and safety of donor-derived antiCD19 CAR T cells obtained through the PB transposon system in patients with relapsed and refractory CD19+ B-cell malignancies after HLA-matched sibling HSCT. Early results suggested activity similar to that of anti-CD19 CAR T cells generated with viral vectors with a high response rate. However, two of 10 treated patients developed malignant CAR 19 T cell tumor, one of whom died of disease-related complications while the other patient was successfully treated (132). Malignant cells showed high transgene copy number (24 copies) in the first reported patient, CAR overexpression, alteration in genomic copy number variation, and insertion into the BACH2 and FYN genes. It is not yet clear which event caused the CAR T cell transformation, but it is widely accepted that the probability of insertional oncogenesis increases as the transgene copy number increases, which is why a limit of 5 VCNs is normally required by the regulatory authorities. Furthermore, it is likely that the numerous genomic deletions and insertions observed may have been driven by the use of a single high voltage pulse or excessive transposase activity. Insertional mutagenesis may also have contributed to the process of transformation. Both patients who developed lymphoma have an intronic integration in the BACH2 gene, whose expression is therefore downregulated. BACH2 is a DNA-binding and transcription-regulating protein that plays a key immunoregulatory role and has been previously associated with cutaneous T cells lymphomas (133). BACH2 is one of the genes most frequently targeted by HIV-1 insertion but HIV integration into BACH2 has never been associated with insertional mutagenesis (134). Hence for now there is no clear evidence of the contribution of these integrations to transformation.

Two phase I studies conducted respectively in Japan (UMIN Clinical Trials registry ID: UMIN000030984) and China (clinicaltrials.gov ID: NCT04289220) are investigating the feasibility and safety of anti-CD19 CAR T cells manufactured with the PB system. In the Japanese study, three patients with R/ R B-ALL were infused with 1x10^5 autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells per kilogram after lymphodepletion in cohort 1. All patients previously received HSCT. Interestingly, administration of T cells produced by PB was safe and none of the patients showed dose-limiting-toxicities so far. One patients showed a B-cell aplasia lasting 9 months (135).

Results from a phase I trial using PB-generated anti-EGFR CAR T in R/R advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) were recently published. Nine patients were treated with anti-EGFR CAR T cells, without grade 4 adverse events. Despite most patients showing the presence of circulating CAR T cells, only one patient showed a partial response while the other patients had persistent disease or progressed (NCT03182816) (136).

Although the results of transposon-engineered CAR T cells in clinical trials are preliminary, several early signs of clinical efficacy are emerging. A step forward has been made with anti-BCMA CAR T cells (P-BCMA-101) engineered through the PB platform for patients with R/R MM. To improve transposition, the manufacturing process was changed during the study to include the use of nanoplasmids that allow for the reduction of backbone

TABLE 3 | Manufacturing protocols associated with preclinical studies employing PB in the context of CAR T cells.

Background	Description	Vectors	Electroporation	Stimulation	Transduction and yield	Reference
PB transposon platform	Optimization of PB transposon platform for T-cells engineering using GFP as reporter	different quantities of pIRII-eGFP and pCMV-PB transposase	5x10^6 PBMCs using Nucleofector Device (Lonza, program U-014) with the human T- cell Nucleofector Kit	stimulation with CD3/CD28 mAbs and cytokines (IL-2, IL-15, IL-7, IL-4); transgenic T cells were selected on day 8 and expanded with feeder cells (autologous PBMCs or modified K562 cells)	Optimal results were obtained with 5µg of transposon and transposase with a transfection efficiency of 20%, improved to 30- 40% with addition of IL-15.	Nakazawa et al., 2009 (120)
B-ALL	anti-CD19 CAR-T cells lacking the spacer IgG1 Fc region demonstrated superior efficacy in murine B-ALL xenograft models	pVAX1PB (5µg) + pVAX1SPBase (5µg)	4x10^6 PBMCs using Neon Electroporator with single pulse, 20 ms and 2400 V	Electroporated cells were cultivated in presence of IL-15 and stimulated with irradiated autologous PBMCs on D1 and after every 7 days.	Expansion: 100-fold after 22 days CAR expression: from 35% to 97%, depending on the construct	Bishop D. C. et al., 2018 (111)
CD19+ B-cell malignancies	Anti-CD19 CAR T cells manufactured in the presence of IL-4, IL-7 and IL-21 showed effective cytotoxic activity <i>in vitro</i>	5 μg (2:1 mixture of PB transposon vector and pCMV- PB hyperactive- transposase)	4x10^6 PBMCs using Neon electroporator inbuffer T (1x20 ms/2300V)	Electroporated cells were stimulated the day after in the presence of IL-4, IL-7 and IL-21 (stimulation by CD19 expressed on the surface of B cells in PBMC)	CAR expression: 90% in the presence of IL-4, IL-7 and IL- 21. 30% when stimulated with anti- CD3/CD28 mAbs Expansion: from 4x10^6 to about 30-40×10^6 in 17 days and 100- 120×10^6 in 24 days	P. Ptackova et al., 2018 (131)
CD19+ B-cell malignancies	anti-CD19 CAR T cells generated with co- electroporation of linear DNA transposon and mRNA encoding transposase showed lytic activity <i>in vitro</i>	pPB DNA linear transposon produced by PCR (3-0,3µg) + hyPBase mRNA transposase (12 µg) with 3'-O-Me-m7G (5') PPP(5') G RNA cap structure	1x10^7 PBMCs electroporated as in Ptackova et al., 2018 (131)	stimulation with TransAct reagent the day after electroporation and expansion for 21 days in the presence of IL-4, IL-7, and IL-21	CAR expression: 60-70% after 14-21 day of expansion Expansion: from 1x10^7 to 1x10^7 in 14 days and 1x10^8 in 21 days	I. Kastankova et al., 2021 (125)
Neuroblastoma	Anti-GD2 CAR T cells manufactured using autologous PBMCs pulsed with a pool of viral peptides showed effective antitumor response in xenograft model when combined with MEK inhibitor	plRII-GD2-28Z CAR plasmid (7.5μg) + pCMV-PB transposase plasmid (7.5μg)	2x10^7 PBMCs using 4D- Nucleofector and the P3 Primary Cell 4D-Nucleofector X kit, program FI-115 [See Morita D. et al., 2018 (121)]	stimulation with 5x10^6 autologous PBMCs pulsed with MACS PepTivator (AdV5 Hexon, HCMVpp65, EBNA-1, and BZLF), IL-7 and IL-15. Transfer to anti- CD3 or anti-CD28 mAb-coated plates on day 7 and expansion in G-Rex 6 Multi- Well Cell Culture Plates (Wilson Wolf Corporation, New Brighton) on day 9	CAR expression: $44\% \pm 6\%$ at day 14 after transfection.	Tomida A. et al., 2021 (127)
HER2 positive solid tumor	HER2-CAR-T cells showed the ability to control Her2-positive tumor in mice	pIRII-HER2-28z plasmid (5µg) + pCMV-PB transposase plasmid (7.5µg)	20x10^6 PBMCs using 4D- Nucleofector and the P3 Primary Cell 4D-Nucleofector X kit, program FI-115 or the MaxCyte ATX protocol RTC 14-3.	Electroporated cells were stimuled with PBMC, electroporated with plasmid encoding tHER2, CD80 and 4-1BBL and UV-inactivated, on day 1 and cultivated in presence of IL-7 and IL-15 for 14 days	Expansion: 8 ± 1 fold CAR CAR expression: 60% ± 9% at day 14.	Nakamura K. Et al, 2021 (126)

size and bring ITRs closer. The cellular product showed a high composition of T stem cell memory (TSCM). Ninety patients have been treated with P-BCMA-101 and early results showed an overall response rate (ORR) 57% in the initial dose escalation and 73% in combination with Rituximab with remarkably low toxicity (clinicaltrials.gov ID: NCT03288493) (137).

5 mRNA

RNA has emerged as a versatile therapeutic reagent (138, 139). Seminal work by Malone more than 30 years ago demonstrated that RNA mixed with lipids can be absorbed by human cells and translate protein from it (140). Malone postulated in 1988 that if cells can create proteins from external mRNA then it might be possible to "treat mRNA as a drug". Since then, RNA has been used in other ways such as to restore functional expression of a mutated gene, knock out genes to silence expression (141, 142), modify cell phenotypes or to encode antigens. Here we focus on the use of RNA to modify leukocytes (143) to achieve temporary or long-term expression of CAR receptors in T cells.

5.1 Vector Design

Successful protein expression from RNA depends on its stability and translational efficiency. Those features are determined by cis-acting elements such as a 5' cap structure, polyA tail, and the composition of the coding sequence as well as untranslated regions that might be present on 5' and 3' ends of the molecule. These cis-acting elements in the RNA conspire with trans-acting cellular factors leading to translation and protein production.

The sequence of the RNA cassette can be encoded by a linearized DNA plasmid or by a PCR fragment that contains an RNA polymerase binding site or promoter, such as the bacteriophage T7 RNA polymerase to initiate the transcription reaction. Tools are available for coding sequence optimization including codon optimization for changing synonymous codons for enhanced expression in target tissues or cells, reducing secondary structures of the RNA that lower translation levels (144) or modification of the coding sequence itself to express more active isoforms (145, 146). More recently, producing RNA molecules with modified ribonucleosides such as pseudouridine has demonstrated improved translational capacity as well as diminished immunogenicity by decreased stimulation of Tolllike receptors (TLRs). This makes it particularly useful for work with immune cells, such as T cells, that express TLRs or as a vaccine (147). The first-in-man data for the use of RNA with modified 1-methyl pseudouridine became widely available with the advancement of mRNA Covid-19 vaccines (148, 149).

The cap structure at the 5' end of the RNA molecule, required for translation, can be incorporated in a co-transcriptional manner, using the m7G(5')pppG cap analog (150), Anti-Reverser Cap Analog (ARCA) (151), by enzymatic methods such as recombinant vaccinia virus capping enzyme (152, 153) or by a more advanced technology called CleanCap[®] which results in a natural structure of the RNA cap (type 1 cap).

A PolyA tail can be encoded in a transcription template containing a stretch of 64T nucleotides at the 3' end of the molecule (146). Some RNA molecules (145) require longer polyA tails for efficient expression and biological activity. However, the longer polyA tail cannot be encoded in the plasmid template due to the instability of long homopolymeric stretches in plasmid DNA (154). A longer polyA tail can be added using enzymatic polyadenylation. We and others reported that a longer poly(A) tail of 120 A residues as opposed to the more conventional poly (A) tail of 64 bases achieves higher protein expression levels (145, 155).

Additionally, both the 5' and 3' ends of an RNA molecule can be further modified with flanking untranslated regions (UTRs) to

enhance translation (155–161). **Figure 3** presents the design of a mRNA vector.

5.2 Preclinical Evidence

RNA lends itself to versatile transfection methods with cells including electroporation (162), cationic lipids (163), and cationic polymers (164). mRNA has been used in a number of *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical studies to introduce CARs into T cells for testing in model systems for hematological tumors chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), AML, ALL and solid tumors. Cytotoxicity and tumor growth inhibition was demonstrated in these models (165, 166). While mRNA-based therapies were shown to have reduced off target effects, lower toxicity and alleviate integration-associated safety concerns, the transient nature of protein expression was also a disadvantage in these applications. CAR constructs introduced into T cells with RNA was shown *in vitro* to last for 7 days (167) in absence of proliferation, and would limit the ability for the functionality of modified cells to persist.

A different approach to genetic modification of lymphocytes is to deliver a transgene of interest in the form of DNA together with RNA encoding a transposase enzyme. The first reported demonstration of successful gene transfer using an mRNAencoded transposase was in the SB11 system (168). It was shown that SB11 transposase RNA stabilized with 5' and 3' untranslated sequences of the Xenopus laevis beta-globin gene successfully integrated a puromycin resistance gene from a pT2/ PGK-Puro DNA plasmid in HT1080 human epithelial cells in vitro. The transposition efficiency as measured by puromycin resistance was greater using SB11 encoded by DNA compared RNA. The number of puromycin-resistant colonies per 10^6 cells plated was greatest with SB11 DNA under a UbC promotor (40X increase over a no SB11 control) followed by SB11 DNA under a PGK promotor (23X) and SB11 RNA using the PGK promotor (9X).

There are several advantages to encoding transposase enzymes in the form of mRNA when co-transduced into target cells along with a DNA vector encoding the gene of interest (168-170). One of the benefits of mRNA-based expression of a transposase is that its narrow window of transposase expression reduces the rate of secondary transposition events, which are caused by re-excision and re-integration of the transposon (171). Work conducted with a hyperactive form of Sleeping beauty, SB100X RNA, generated evidence that transposase can be used to efficiently integrate CARs into genomes of human T cells. An advantage of this approach is that the ratio of SB mRNA and DNA CAR construct can be precisely titrated to achieve durable integration with a low number of integrations per genome (68). The use of mRNA was also shown to allow for a transient, dosecontrolled expression of SB100X in the absence of cytotoxic effects in various cell types (172). Another form of transposase, PB delivered in the form of mRNA was also shown to genetically modify HeLa cells when co-transfected along with a DNA plasmid encoding the neomycin resistance gene (170). Similar to the outcome in the SB system, using an RNA-encoded transposase, the PB transposase RNA was less efficient by a



significant margin at transposition compared to PBase encoded by DNA.

It is important to note that the use of RNA to encode transposases needs to be optimized for that specific system. It is not possible to compare results from independently published studies due asynchronous variables such as different transposase species, capping methodologies, poly-A tail lengths, cis-acting untranslated sequences, and transfection methods. To dampen the risk of insertional mutagenesis associated to genetic modification of cells via chromosomal integration, the choice of the vector system should be taken in account to avoid insertion into proto-oncogenes or transcription start sites that can lead to unintended transformation via insertional mutagenesis. We opted for SB system on the basis of the safer, more random integration pattern, as it does not demonstrate preferences to insert the transgene in active genes or TSSs thereby lowering the probability of integration in oncogenic genes. As previously highlighted in 4.3 paragraph, it was recently reported that 2 of 10 patients treated with anti-CD19 CAR T generated with the PB transposase system developed CAR-expressing CD4+ T cell lymphoma (132). To our

knowledge, there have been no reports of insertional mutagenesis using the SB11 or SB100X transposase systems.

5.3 Clinical Applications

Potential safety advantages of transient CAR expression from mRNA may offer lower toxicity in both hematologic and solid tumor settings, especially outside of B-cell malignancies where off-tumor on-target collateral damage to healthy cells is a concern. Early phase clinical studies were conducted in hematological malignancies targeting CD123 and CD19 and in solid tumors targeting mesothelin and c-Met [reviewed in **Table 3** (165)].

While the studies report to be safe and generally lacking serious adverse events, one common denominator was the requirement for repeated dosing with 3-6 high doses. The need for multiple infusions of high doses of mRNA CAR T cells is most likely related to the lack of genetically modified cell persistence and aims to increase the duration of *in vivo* activity in these patients but repeat dosing may lead to other complications. Maus et al. reported a case of severe anaphylactic shock in a patient due to repeated doses of mesothelin-targeted CAR T cells, probably due to the murine

Non-Viral CAR T Cell Therapy

origin of the single-chain fragment variable (173). In addition, difficulties in producing enough mRNA CD123 CAR T product to sustain multiple doses have been reported, with only 60% of the planned T cell doses being able to be successfully produced, questioning about the feasibility of obtaining such a large starting material from patients. Given the lack of anti-leukemic efficacy, the trial was terminated, raising concerns about the efficacy of transient approaches to eradicate proliferating diseases. However, the study was able to confirm the safety of the approach, and thus proceed to clinical trials with a stable transfer approach using CAR T cells transduced with lentivirus (174).

6 ELECTROPORATION, HYBRID VIRAL-TRANSPOSON VECTORS AND NANOCARRIERS

6.1 Electroporation

Transfection or electroporation methods are typically used to deliver the mRNA and transposon vectors into cells. Indeed, nucleic acids are not able to penetrate spontaneously in target cells as viral vectors do through infection. To facilitate nucleic acid entry into cells, cells suspended in an electroporation cuvette are subjected to an electric field determined by a suitable electrical pulse. The process generate temporary pores in the cell membrane that allow vector penetration, and then seal up once the electric field is withdrawn. Once the nucleic acids enter the cell, they efficiently migrate into the nucleus. The electroporation efficiency depends on the voltage, the number of pulses, pulse width, and on the cell type and activation state. Furthermore, temperature, electroporation buffer, DNA and cell concentration influence the transduction efficiency. High-intensity pulses generally result in higher transduction efficiency but affect cellular viability. Small-scale electroporation can be achieved using Nucleofector 4D (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) Neon (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham) which use a cuvette and a pipette tip chamber, respectively. Other commercialized instruments are for example the Celetrix electroporation system (Celetrix, Manassas, VA, USA), and the BTX ECM 830 system (Harvard Bioscience, Hollistone USA). Commercially available electroporation devices for large-scale electroporation are Lonza LV unit and Maxcyte GTx (MaxCyte, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) platform. Lonza LV unit allows for closed electroporation of 1x10^7 to 1x10^9 cells. Maxcyte GTx device is a GMP-compliant, clinical-grade instrument and can electroporate up to 20x10^9 cells using flow electroporation technology.

6.2 Hybrid Viral-Transposon Vectors

Hybrid viral-transposon vector combine the entry properties of viral vectors with the integrative characteristic of transposons. This is particularly convenient when using recombinant adenovirus (Ad), a common vector due to its broad tropism, large carrying capacity, and optimal efficient transduction regardless the mitotic status of target cells. Ad has nonintegrative features and thus results in transient transgene expression. The addition of integrative elements into the viral genome could overcome this limitation. A recombinant Ad vector containing a PB-transposon was shown to allow the integration of the transgene into the genome in presence of PB-transposase, included in the vector design or co-delivered. With these methods, stable expression of a reporter transgene was achieved in 20-40% of mouse liver cells after infusion and lasts for at least 5 months (175). Similarly, various groups have combined AAV vectors with the PB transposon system for *in vivo* delivery to correct several diseases such as diabetes type 1 (176), cystic fibrosis (177), and others. Recombinant adeno-associated viral vectors (rAAVs), Herpes simplex virus type-1 (HSV) vectors, baculovirus expression vectors (BEVs) have been tested with the SB transposon system (178).

6.3 *In Vivo* CAR T Cell Generation and Nanocarriers

As previously discussed, most protocols for adoptive T cell therapies require the collection of T cells and their ex vivo genetic manipulation. Patients are connected to an apheresis machine for several hours to extract T cells. Manufacturing involves activating and transducing purified T cells, expanding them in vitro for approximately 2 weeks and finally washing and concentrating them prior to administration. Often cells have to be cryopreserved in a central facility and transported to remote treatment centers. Quality controls on final product are mandatory for each batch. Manufacturing must be conducted under GMP conditions, and the entire process is expensive and needs specific resources, facilities and economic capital. In addition, because most CAR T products are currently obtained from an autologous source and thus from the patient's own cells, there are no economies of scale. In order to overcome the complexity of ex vivo manufacturing, in vivo CAR T cell generation is emerging as a new prospect and exploits the use of liposomal formulations, nanoparticles (NP), cell-penetrating peptides or advanced electroporation methods (179).

In this context, there are many promising attempts using nanocarriers composed of polymeric or lipid nanoparticles to produce CAR T cells directly from the patient's circulating T cells. Nanocarriers composed of biodegradable polymers are coated with ligands that targets them to specific cells and can encapsulate different substances such as drugs or non-viral transgenes. Smith and collaborators loaded nanoparticles with a PB transposon/transposase system encoding CAR (180). To ensure the specific delivery of the gene cargo to T cells, they coupled T cell targeting anti-CD3ef(ab')2 fragments to the surface of biodegradable poly (beta-amino ester) NPs. They coencapsulated two PB plasmids, encoding a murine anti-CD19 (m194-1BBz) CAR and a hyperactive form of the PB transposase (iPB7), respectively, into the polymeric nanocarriers. DNAcarrying NPs were able to efficiently introduce the CAR genes into T cell nuclei, bind circulating T cells and cause tumor regression in mice with similar efficacies to adoptive T cell therapy. Although in situ programming of CAR T cells through injectable polymeric NPs is possible, this strategy has some limitations such as NP loading capacity which difficultly fits the large size of plasmids and the need to codelivery the transposase vector. Moreover, as soon as NPs are infused, the small number of *in situ* transfected CAR T cells needs antigen drive expansion to show a visible anti-tumor activity. For these reasons, the same group evaluated the use of *in vitro* transcribed (IVT) mRNA encoding disease specific CAR or TCR encapsulated in poly (beta-amino ester) NPs, coupled to anti-CD8 antibody for specific T cell delivery. IVT-mRNA has the advantages of being directly translated into therapeutic proteins, without the need to enter the nucleus, improving transfection rates and avoiding uncontrolled insertional mutations and promoter dependence. Using this technology, circulating T cells have been reprogrammed with leukemia specific CAR and showed an anti-tumor efficacy when NPs were provided with repetitive infusion (181).

Building on the dazzling success of the application of lipid NPs encapsulated mRNA (LNP-mRNA) vaccines formulated against SARS-CoV-2, the study by Rurik et al. provides a great proof of concept on the possibility of producing CAR T *in vivo* for the treatment of cardiac injury (182). By employing CD5targeted NPs, they succeeded in delivering the nanoparticles into T lymphocytes to generate CAR T *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro*, this strategy can drive the expression of an anti-FAP CAR efficiently (83% of cells expressing CAR measured by flow cytometry) and transiently, resulting in a dose-dependent killing activity similar to virally engineered cells. Administration of CD5-targeted LNP showed a reduction in fibrosis and restoration of cardiac function in a syngeneic model of cardiac injury, proving their ability to reprogram T cells *in* *vivo*. Although this platform is not suitable for diseases that require complete elimination of pathological cells, such as some forms of cancer, undoubtedly, for other applications, the ability to generate CAR T *in vivo* and the inherently transient nature of mRNA have the advantage of limiting toxicities, titrating doses, and offering an off-the-shelf process. **Figure 4** illustrates how non-viral CAR T cells can be generated through *in vivo* and *ex vivo* transfection.

7 NON-VIRAL CAR T CELL THERAPY: THE FUTURE

7.1 Nanovectors and Combination With Gene-Editing

To address future challenges, in addition to transposon platforms, an additional non-viral tool for gene engineering is represented by nanovectors whose use is gaining ground as a possible solution to overcome current barriers in gene delivery such as toxicity and low transfection efficiency. Among the latest advances in nanotechnology [reviewed in (183)], one of the most cutting-edge finding is reported by Bozza and collaborators, who developed a non-integrating DNA nanovector with the ability to generate CAR T cells that are active both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This platform contains no viral components and is capable of replicating extra-chromosomally in the nucleus of dividing cells,



leading to persistent transgene expression, in the absence of integration and consequently genotoxicity. Moreover, it also shares all the advantages of non-viral vectors: it seems to be non-immunogenic, easy, simple, versatile and affordable to produce (184).

Also on the manufacturing front, progress is being made through the employment of biomaterials developed to improve isolation, activation, and genetic modifications of CAR T cells [reviewed in (185)]. One example is the use of a synthetic DNA aptamer and complementary reversal agent technology that permit isolation of label-free CD8+ T cells with high purity and yield from PBMCs. The great advantage of this method is represented by the possibility to isolate multiple distinct T cell populations in a single isolation step through aptamers with different specificities. Biomaterials, such as polymers and particles are also emerging to facilitate the T-cell activation process by eliminating the bead removal step, the first example of which is Miltenyi's T Cell TransAct. Another area in which substantial investment is underway is the ability to make the CAR T manufacturing process scalable, through first of all automation and the use of closed systems, but also the use of allogeneic products, as reviewed by Abou-el-Enein and colleagues (186). To this end, our lab has applied CAR T cells manufactured in-house from allo-transplant donors in patients previously transplanted with HSCT. The proven safety and therapeutic efficacy of this approach represents a proof of concept towards an off-the-shelf product, and in this perspective, we are currently working on the design of a study that will employ haploidentical allogeneic cells outside the transplantation context.

In the field of integrative non-viral approach, site-specific insertion approaches are undergoing rapid technological advances, thanks also to the ease of use of systems such as CRISPR/Cas9, which have also led to early clinical developments in the field of immunotherapy (187). Interestingly, it has recently been reported that electroporation of Ribonucleoprotein (RNP) and linear double-strand long DNA (>1kb) template reduces the toxicity of double-strand linear template, a finding that validates CRISPR/Cas9 as part of the state-of the-art in virus-free genome engineering technologies. Yet, in this early study, the integration efficiency was around 10% when applied to insertion loads of 1500 bp, as in the case of replacing the endogenous TCR with the antigen-specific TCR 1G4 NY-ESO-1 (188). Gene editing and targeted knock-in (KI) depend on the processes of host DNA double-strand break (DSB) repair and homology-directed repair (HDR), respectively, and HDR generally occurs with low frequency in primary cells and is restricted to small transgenes. Despite the low transfection efficiency due to the above intrinsic properties, there has been quite some progress for non-viral gene editing in adoptive T cell therapy, particularly in TCR engineering. Compared to the other technologies described above, gene editing combined with targeted KI allows TCR replacement with concomitant removal of the endogenous TCR, resulting in physiological expression of the transgenic TCR through the endogenous promoter. When combined with the elimination of both the α - and β -chains, it allows

physiological TCR expression in absence of chain mispairing. Isolation of KI cells and *in vitro* expansion allow to reach highly purified cells to cope with the low efficiency of KI (189). In a direct comparison with conventional editing by viral transduction, orthotopic TCR replacement (OTR) using a library of 51 CMV-specific TCRs was characterized by more homogeneous and physiological TCR transcription, while surface expression by viral vectors was influenced by transgene copy number, leading to more variable TCR expression, with impact on *in vitro* and *in vivo* functionality (190).

Even under optimized condition, some cellular toxicity still limits the application of non-viral CRISPS/Cas9 and appears to depend on the electroporation of double strand DNA (dsDNA) and RNP aggregates into cells and the endogenous immune response triggered by innate DNA sensor protein pathway. To address the first challenge, Nguyen D. N. et al. used poly-Lglutamic acid, which physically disperse large RNP aggregates into smaller complexes. Additionally, they implemented the incorporation of a truncated Cas9 target sequence (tCTS) at the end of homology arms in order to facilitate the shuttling of the template into the nucleus. The combination of the two systems resulted in high KI efficiency of up to 50% in a wide set of primary human hematopoietic cells (191). To address the endogenous immune response, inhibition of the DNA sensor protein pathway was proposed in combination with insertion of a 2015 bp long CAR into the TRAC locus of human T cells via CRISPR/Cas9-mediated HDR. In conjunction with the poly-Lglutamic acid nanoparticle strategy, the use of DNA-sensor inhibitors and HDR enhancers achieved high editing efficiency with a insertion rate of 68% (192). Two other recent works have used the CRISPR/Cas9 platform to integrate a CAR with promising results. By targeting an anti-GD2 CAR into the first exon of TRAC locus, an average KI efficiency of 15% was obtained, improved up to 45% by increasing the length of the homology arms on both sides of the CAR with final DNA template size of 3,4 Kb and resulting in 34% CAR positive cells (193). Moreover, by using a hybrid single strand (ss) DNA HDR template incorporating CTS sites, increased KI was obtained, up to 40% efficiency in combination with small molecule inhibitors (194).

To provide DNA insertion in the absence of DSB and HDR, CRISPR/Cas9 has recently been combined with transposons to increase the efficiency of RNA-guided integration, using a transposase protein to catalyze the integration (195, 196). Recently, experiments have also been conducted to combine CRISPR/Cas9 with SB transposon. The transposase protein was fused to a catalytically inactive Cas9 for providing single guide RNA-dependent DNA insertion in the absence of DSB and HDR, leading to enrichment of integrations near the sgRNA targets (197). Recent results obtained with gene editing techniques demonstrate their suitability for future non-viral clinical applications. Approaches to identify and reduce the risk of genomic rearrangements and translocations may obviate concerns associated with the collateral damage of the technique and thus allow for greater development of potential clinical applications of gene editing in immunotherapy.

	Characteristics and peculiarities	Pros/Cons	Technical requirement	Impact of costs
Viral vectors	Gammaretroviral vectors: Infection only in cycling cells Integration near TSS Lentiviral vectors: Infection in cycling/non cycling cells Integration in transcriptional regulatory region	Pros: Stable transduction Long term expression Cons: Limiting insert size Difficulty to scale synthesis up Risk of insertional oncogenesis More immunogenicity	Biosafety Level 2 Trained staff Cryopreserved facility	High costs Limited number of available manufacturing facilities globally, and lot size limitations
Sleeping Beauty	Tc1/mariner DNA Class II TE Cut-and-paste mechanism of insertion Transposon/transposase system Transfection in pre-activated and resting primary cells Close to random integration TA dinucleotide as target site CAG footprint	Pros: Easy to scale synthesis up Large cargo size (up to 100 kb BACs) Versatility Low immunogenicity Cons: Toxicity related to transduction procedure	Electroporation Cryopreserved facility	Relatively low cost Easier manufacturing process
Piggy Bac	PB superfamily DNA Class II TE Cut-and-paste mechanism of insertion Transposon/transposase system Transfection in pre-activated and resting primary cells Preference of integration near TSSs, CpG islands and DNase I hypersensitive sites TTAA dinucleotide as target site No footprint	Pros: Easy to scale synthesis up Large cargo size (200 kb BACs) Versatility Low immunogenicity Higher transposition activity Cons: High risk of gene dysregulation Toxicity related to transduction procedure	Electroporation Cryopreserved facility	Relatively low cost Easier manufacturing process
mRNA	Absence of integration Transient transfection	Pros: Availability of protocols for clinics Versatility and flexibility Safety transient expression (SB100X and PB transposase) Cons (mRNA encoding CAR): Short term potency Need for multiple doses	Electroporation Cation lipids Cationic polymers	High doses of mRNA CAR T are required to achieve efficacy
Nanotechnology	Nanocarriers or lipid nanoparticles coated with ligands ensure encapsulation of non-viral transgenes Ability to reprogram T cells <i>in vivo</i>	Pros: Low toxicity Off -the-shelf process Cons: Limited cargo capacity	Devices for scale up production Specialized staff	Costs of nanoparticles production and costs of encapsulated material

8 CONCLUSION AND PRACTICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR FUTURE TRIALS

Successful CAR T cell therapies are so far associated with T cells engineered with viral vectors. Yet, the emergence of relapse, the complexity of the manufacturing process, and the application of these technologies to other diseases including solid tumors, require a more complex design and gene transfer technology that fits these challenges. So much progress is being made with non-viral technologies to fill these gaps, and it is certain that a great step forward will be taken soon.

Previously discussed non-viral manufacturing methods are briefly summarize in **Table 4**.

Non-viral CAR T cells engineered with transposon vectors have already shown some efficacy in early-stage clinical trials, but whether such systems may also show unexpected toxicities and comparable clinical outcomes remains to be seen in additional clinical studies. For first-in-human clinical trials, certain precautions have been implemented to ensure safety given the novelty of the gene transfer method. In our study (43), given the low-risk classification associated with non-viral vectors, physical containment of the vector and transfected cell product was managed at biosafety level 1. The duration of in vitro cell culture ensured the absence of plasmids at the end of culture. Whether the bacterial sequences below the limits of detection is sufficient to protect from an immune response by the host against bacterial sequences, however, is currently unknown. The mean transgene copy number was set at 5 as an upper limit, in order to limit the potential risk of genotoxicity. Others are instead using 8 as release criteria for transposon-generated CAR T cell products. Despite the almost random insertion profile of the transgene into the T cell genome, the study of integrations ensured the monitoring of the clonality of the CAR T population post-infusion. Based on this clinical experience, we therefore recommend the use of vectors and the development of manufacturing platforms designed to contain transposase

activity and to limit the number of integrations, and the implementation of a detailed follow-up plan for clonality monitoring by integration site analysis.

We believe that the main takeaway from the efforts described in this review is the possibility of using novel non-viral engineering approaches in future clinical trials. In addition to non-viral integrating methods, we think that the use of episomal nanovectors may be advantageous for the *ex vivo* production of safer transfected cells. In addition, viral-transposon hybrid vectors and mRNA delivered by polymeric and lipid nanoparticles represent technological platforms that can generate stable or transient CAR T cells *in vivo*. We are on a learning curve and looking forward to seeing the results of these technologies in future clinical trials.

AUTHORS CONTRIBUTIONS

CM conceptualized, wrote, and edited the manuscript. MP, AM, and IT wrote the manuscript. MP and AM designed the figures

REFERENCES

- Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG. Specific Activation and Targeting of Cytotoxic Lymphocytes Through Chimeric Single Chains Consisting of Antibody-Binding Domains and the Gamma or Zeta Subunits of the Immunoglobulin and T-Cell Receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1993) 90:720–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.2.720
- Majzner RG, Mackall CL. Clinical Lessons Learned From the First Leg of the CAR T Cell Journey. *Nat Med* (2019) 25:1341–55. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0564-6
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults With B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2018) 378:439–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709866
- Gardner RA, Finney O, Annesley C, Brakke H, Summers C, Leger K, et al. Intent-To-Treat Leukemia Remission by CD19 CAR T Cells of Defined Formulation and Dose in Children and Young Adults. *Blood* (2017) 129:3322–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769208
- Turtle CJ, Hanafi L-A, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, et al. CD19 CAR-T Cells of Defined CD4+:CD8+ Composition in Adult B Cell ALL Patients. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:2123–38. doi: 10.1172/JCI85309
- Park JH, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of CD19 CAR Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 378:449–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709919
- Curran KJ, Margossian SP, Kernan NA, Silverman LB, Williams DA, Shukla N, et al. Toxicity and Response After CD19-Specific CAR T-Cell Therapy in Pediatric/Young Adult Relapsed/Refractory B-ALL. *Blood* (2019) 134:2361– 8. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019001641
- Ghorashian S, Kramer AM, Onuoha S, Wright G, Bartram J, Richardson R, et al. Enhanced CAR T Cell Expansion and Prolonged Persistence in Pediatric Patients With ALL Treated With a Low-Affinity CD19 CAR. *Nat Med* (2019) 25:1408–14. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0549-5
- Turtle CJ, Hanafi L-A, Berger C, Hudecek M, Pender B, Robinson E, et al. Immunotherapy of non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma With a Defined Ratio of CD8+ and CD4+ CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells. Sci Transl Med (2016) 8:355ra116. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf8621
- Schuster SJ, Bishop MR, Tam CS, Waller EK, Borchmann P, McGuirk JP, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Adult Relapsed or Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2019) 380:45–56. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1804980
- Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA, et al. Axicabtagene Ciloleucel CAR T-Cell Therapy in Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2017) 377:2531–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1707447

and prepared the tables. CN and AB edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

CM has received funding from Ministero della Salute, grant number GR-2016-02363491 and Fonds zur förderung des akademischen nachwuchses (FAN) of the University of Zurich (UZH). AB and CM have received funding from AIRC/Cancer Research UK (CRUK)/Spanish Association Against Cancer Scientific Foundation (FC AECC), grant number 22791 (Accelerator award).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Figures were created with biorender.com

- Fry TJ, Shah NN, Orentas RJ, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Ramakrishna S, et al. CD22-Targeted CAR T Cells Induce Remission in B-ALL That Is Naive or Resistant to CD19-Targeted CAR Immunotherapy. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:20–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4441
- Brudno JN, Maric I, Hartman SD, Rose JJ, Wang M, Lam N, et al. T Cells Genetically Modified to Express an Anti-B-Cell Maturation Antigen Chimeric Antigen Receptor Cause Remissions of Poor-Prognosis Relapsed Multiple Myeloma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2018) 36:2267–80. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.77.8084
- Raje N, Berdeja J, Lin Y, Siegel D, Jagannath S, Madduri D, et al. Anti-BCMA CAR T-Cell Therapy Bb2121 in Relapsed or Refractory Multiple Myeloma. *N Engl J Med* (2019) 380:1726–37. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1817226
- Pasquini MC, Hu Z-H, Curran K, Laetsch T, Locke F, Rouce R, et al. Real-World Evidence of Tisagenlecleucel for Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia and Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4:5414–24. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003092
- Nastoupil LJ, Jain MD, Feng L, Spiegel JY, Ghobadi A, Lin Y, et al. Standard-Of-Care Axicabtagene Ciloleucel for Relapsed or Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma: Results From the US Lymphoma CAR T Consortium. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2020) 38:3119–28. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.19.02104
- Abramson JS, Palomba ML, Gordon LI, Lunning MA, Wang M, Arnason J, et al. Lisocabtagene Maraleucel for Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphomas (TRANSCEND NHL 001): A Multicentre Seamless Design Study. *Lancet (Lond Engl)* (2020) 396:839–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31366-0
- Strati P, Ahmed S, Furqan F, Fayad LE, Lee HJ, Iyer SP, et al. Prognostic Impact of Corticosteroids on Efficacy of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy in Large B-Cell Lymphoma. *Blood* (2021) 137:3272–6. doi: 10.1182/ blood.2020008865
- Jacobson C, Chavez JC, Sehgal AR, William BM, Munoz J, Salles G, et al. Primary Analysis of Zuma-5: A Phase 2 Study of Axicabtagene Ciloleucel (Axi-Cel) in Patients With Relapsed/Refractory (R/R) Indolent Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (iNHL). *Blood* (2020) 136:40–1. doi: 10.1182/blood-2020-136834
- Munshi NC, Anderson LDJ, Shah N, Madduri D, Berdeja J, Lonial S, et al. Idecabtagene Vicleucel in Relapsed and Refractory Multiple Myeloma. N Engl J Med (2021) 384:705–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2024850
- Gill S, Brudno JN. CAR T-Cell Therapy in Hematologic Malignancies: Clinical Role, Toxicity, and Unanswered Questions. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ B (2021) 41:1–20. doi: 10.1200/EDBK_320085

- Roselli E, Faramand R, Davila ML. Insight Into Next-Generation CAR Therapeutics: Designing CAR T Cells to Improve Clinical Outcomes. J Clin Invest (2021) 131(2):e142030. doi: 10.1172/JCI142030
- Scholler J, Brady TL, Gwendolyn Binder-Scholl W-TH, Plesa G, Hege KM, Vogel AN, et al. Decade-Long Safety and Function of Retroviral-Modified Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 34:132ra53. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003761.Decade-Long
- Bulcha JT, Wang Y, Ma H, Tai PWL, Gao G. Viral Vector Platforms Within the Gene Therapy Landscape. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2021) 6:53. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00487-6
- 25. Kamdar M, Solomon SR, Arnason JE, Johnston PB, Glass B, Bachanova V, et al. Lisocabtagene Maraleucel (Liso-Cel), a CD19-Directed Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cell Therapy, Versus Standard of Care (SOC) With Salvage Chemotherapy (CT) Followed By Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation (ASCT) As Second-Line (21) Treatment in Pati. Blood (2021) 138:91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-147913
- Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Reagan PM, Miklos DB, et al. Comparison of 2-Year Outcomes With CAR T Cells (ZUMA-1) vs Salvage Chemotherapy in Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma. *Blood Adv* (2021) 5:4149–55. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003848
- Schröder ARW, Shinn P, Chen H, Berry C, Ecker JR, Bushman F. HIV-1 Integration in the Human Genome Favors Active Genes and Local Hotspots. *Cell* (2002) 110:521–9. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00864-4
- Wu X, Li Y, Crise B, Burgess SM. Transcription Start Regions in the Human Genome are Favored Targets for MLV Integration. *Science* (2003) 300:1749– 51. doi: 10.1126/science.1083413
- Wang GP, Levine BL, Binder GK, Berry CC, Malani N, McGarrity G, et al. Analysis of Lentiviral Vector Integration in HIV+ Study Subjects Receiving Autologous Infusions of Gene Modified CD4+ T Cells. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17:844–50. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.16
- Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, Soulier J, Lim A, Morillon E, et al. Insertional Oncogenesis in 4 Patients After Retrovirus-Mediated Gene Therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:3132–42. doi: 10.1172/ JCI35700
- Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Von Kalle C, Schmidt M, McCormack MP, Wulffraat N, Leboulch P, et al. LMO2-Associated Clonal T Cell Proliferation in Two Patients After Gene Therapy for SCID-X1. *Science* (2003) 302:415–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1088547
- 32. Shah NN, Qin H, Yates B, Su L, Shalabi H, Raffeld M, et al. Clonal Expansion of CAR T Cells Harboring Lentivector Integration in the CBL Gene Following Anti-CD22 CAR T-Cell Therapy. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:2317–22. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000219
- Fraietta JA, Nobles CL, Sammons MA, Lundh S, Carty SA, Reich TJ, et al. Disruption of TET2 Promotes the Therapeutic Efficacy of CD19-Targeted T Cells. *Nature* (2018) 558:307–12. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0178-z
- Milone MC, O'Doherty U. Clinical Use of Lentiviral Vectors. Leukemia (2018) 32:1529–41. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0106-0
- 35. U.S Food and Drug Administration. Testing of Retroviral Vector-Based Human Gene Therapy Products for Replication Competent Retrovirus During Product Manufacture and Patient Follow-Up - Draft Guidance for Industry. FDA (2018) 16. Docket number: FDA-1999-D-0081
- European Medicine Agency. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (Chmp) Guideline on Development and Manufacture of Lentiviral Vectors. *Reproduction* (2005).
- 37. Lamers CHJ, Willemsen R, van Elzakker P, van Steenbergen-Langeveld S, Broertjes M, Oosterwijk-Wakka J, et al. Immune Responses to Transgene and Retroviral Vector in Patients Treated With Ex Vivo-Engineered T Cells. *Blood* (2011) 117:72–82. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294520
- McClintock B. The Origin and Behavior of Mutable Loci in Maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci (1950) 36:344 LP–355. doi: 10.1073/pnas.36.6.344
- SanMiguel P, Tikhonov A, Jin YK, Motchoulskaia N, Zakharov D, Melake-Berhan A, et al. Nested Retrotransposons in the Intergenic Regions of the Maize Genome. *Science* (1996) 274:765–8. doi: 10.1126/science. 274.5288.765
- Feschotte C, Pritham EJ. DNA Transposons and the Evolution of Eukaryotic Genomes. Annu Rev Genet (2007) 41:331–68. doi: 10.1146/annurev. genet.40.110405.090448

- Carmona LM, Schatz DG. New Insights Into the Evolutionary Origins of the Recombination-Activating Gene Proteins and V(D)J Recombination. *FEBS J* (2017) 284:1590–605. doi: 10.1111/febs.13990
- Bordenstein SR, Reznikoff WS. Mobile DNA in Obligate Intracellular Bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol (2005) 3:688–99. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1233
- Magnani CF, Gaipa G, Lussana F, Belotti D, Gritti G, Napolitano S, et al. Sleeping Beauty-Engineered CAR T Cells Achieve Antileukemic Activity Without Severe Toxicities. J Clin Invest (2020) 130:6021–33. doi: 10.1172/ JCI138473
- Magnani CF, Mezzanotte C, Cappuzzello C, Bardini M, Tettamanti S, Fazio G, et al. Preclinical Efficacy and Safety of CD19CAR Cytokine-Induced Killer Cells Transfected With Sleeping Beauty Transposon for the Treatment of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Hum Gene Ther* (2018) 29:602–13. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.207
- 45. Gogol-Döring A, Ammar I, Gupta S, Bunse M, Miskey C, Chen W, et al. Genome-Wide Profiling Reveals Remarkable Parallels Between Insertion Site Selection Properties of the MLV Retrovirus and the Piggybac Transposon in Primary Human CD4+ T Cells. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24:592– 606. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.11
- Henssen AG, Henaff E, Jiang E, Eisenberg AR, Carson JR, Villasante CM, et al. Genomic DNA Transposition Induced by Human PGBD5. *Elife* (2015) 4:e10565. doi: 10.7554/eLife.10565
- Ivics Z. Endogenous Transposase Source in Human Cells Mobilizes Piggybac Transposons. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24:851–4. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.76
- Kowalski PS, Rudra A, Miao L, Anderson DG. Delivering the Messenger: Advances in Technologies for Therapeutic mRNA Delivery. *Mol Ther* (2019) 27:710–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.02.012
- 49. Ritchie H, Mathieu E, Ortiz-Ospina E, Roser M, Hasell J, Appel C, et al. Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19). (2020).
- Mathieu E, Ritchie H, Ortiz-Ospina E, Roser M, Hasell J, Appel C, et al. A Global Database of COVID-19 Vaccinations. *Nat Hum Behav* (2021) 5:947– 53. doi: 10.1038/s41562-021-01122-8
- Manfredi F, Cianciotti BC, Potenza A, Tassi E, Noviello M, Biondi A, et al. TCR Redirected T Cells for Cancer Treatment: Achievements, Hurdles, and Goals. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1689. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01689
- Ivics Z, Hackett PB, Plasterk RH, Izsvák Z. Molecular Reconstruction of Sleeping Beauty, a Tc1-Like Transposon From Fish, and Its Transposition in Human Cells. Cell (1997) 91:501–10. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80436-5
- Ivics Z, Izsvák Z. The Expanding Universe of Transposon Technologies for Gene and Cell Engineering. *Mobile DNA* (2010) 1:25. doi: 10.1186/1759-8753-1-25
- Ivics Z, Izsvák Z. Nonviral Gene Delivery With the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System. *Hum Gene Ther* (2011) 22:1043–51. doi: 10.1089/ hum.2011.143
- Ivics Z, Li MA, Mátés L, Boeke JD, Nagy A, Bradley A, et al. Transposon-Mediated Genome Manipulation in Vertebrates. *Nat Methods* (2009) 6:415– 22. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1332
- Izsvák Z, Hackett PB, Cooper LJN, Ivics Z. Translating Sleeping Beauty Transposition Into Cellular Therapies: Victories and Challenges. *BioEssays* (2010) 32:756–67. doi: 10.1002/bies.201000027
- 57. Hackett PB, Largaespada DA, Cooper LJN. and Transposase System for Human Application. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:674–83. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.2
- Hackett PBJr., Aronovich EL, Hunter D, Urness M, Bell JB, Kass SJ, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Sleeping Beauty Transposon-Mediated Gene Transfer in Preclinical Animal Studies. *Curr Gene Ther* (2011) 11:341–9. doi: 10.2174/ 156652311797415827
- Boehme P, Doerner J, Solanki M, Jing L, Zhang W, Ehrhardt A. The Sleeping Beauty Transposon Vector System for Treatment of Rare Genetic Diseases: An Unrealized Hope? *Curr Gene Ther* (2015) 15:255–65. doi: 10.2174/ 1566523215666150126121353
- Narayanavari SA, Chilkunda SS, Izsv Ak Z. Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Sleeping Beauty Transposition: From Biology to Applications. *Biochem Mol Biol* (2016) 52:18–44. doi: 10.1080/ 10409238.2016.1237935
- VandenDriessche T, Ivics Z, Izsvák Z, Chuah MKL. Emerging Potential of Transposons for Gene Therapy and Generation of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Blood* (2009) 114:1461–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-04-210427

- Finnegan DJ. Eukaryotic Transposable Elements and Genome Evolution. Trends Genet (1989) 5:103–7. doi: 10.1016/0168-9525(89)90039-5
- 63. Izsvák Z, Khare D, Behlke J, Heinemann U, Plasterk RH, Ivics Z. Involvement of a Bifunctional, Paired-Like DNA-Binding Domain and a Transpositional Enhancer in Sleeping Beauty Transposition. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:34581–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204001200
- Ammar I, Izsvák Z, Ivics Z. The Sleeping Beauty Transposon Toolbox. Methods Mol Biol (2012) 859:229–40. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-603-6_13
- 65. Wang J, DeClercq JJ, Hayward SB, Li PWL, Shivak DA, Gregory PD, et al. Highly Efficient Homology-Driven Genome Editing in Human T Cells by Combining Zinc-Finger Nuclease mRNA and AAV6 Donor Delivery. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2016) 44(3):e30. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1121
- 66. Cui Z, Geurts AM, Liu G, Kaufman CD, Hackett PB. Structure-Function Analysis of the Inverted Terminal Repeats of the Sleeping Beauty Transposon. J Mol Biol (2002) 318:1221–35. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(02) 00237-1
- Mátés L, Chuah MKL, Belay E, Jerchow B, Manoj N, Acosta-Sanchez A, et al. Molecular Evolution of a Novel Hyperactive Sleeping Beauty Transposase Enables Robust Stable Gene Transfer in Vertebrates. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41:753–61. doi: 10.1038/ng.343
- Jin Z, Maiti S, Huls H, Singh H, Olivares S, Mátés L, et al. The Hyperactive Sleeping Beauty Transposase SB100X Improves the Genetic Modification Of T Cells to Express a Chimeric Antigen Receptor. *Gene Ther* (2011) 18:849– 56. doi: 10.1038/gt.2011.40
- 69. Voigt F, Wiedemann L, Zuliani C, Querques I, Sebe A, Mátés L, et al. Sleeping Beauty Transposase Structure Allows Rational Design of Hyperactive Variants for Genetic Engineering. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:11126. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11126
- Amberger M, Ivics Z. Latest Advances for the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System: 23 Years of Insomnia But Prettier Than Ever: Refinement and Recent Innovations of the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System Enabling Novel, Nonviral Genetic Engineering Applications. *BioEssays* (2020) 42:1– 14. doi: 10.1002/bies.202000136
- Querques I, Mades A, Zuliani C, Miskey C, Alb M, Grueso E, et al. A Highly Soluble Sleeping Beauty Transposase Improves Control of Gene Insertion. *Nat Biotechnol* (2019) 37:1502–12. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0291-z
- Vigdal T, Kaufman C, Izsvák Z, Voytas D, Ivics Z. Common Physical Properties of DNA Affecting Target Site Selection of Sleeping Beauty and Other Tc1/mariner Transposable Elements. J Mol Biol (2002) 323:441–52. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(02)00991-9
- 73. Sandoval-Villegas N, Nurieva W, Amberger M, Ivics Z. Contemporary Transposon Tools: A Review and Guide Through Mechanisms and Applications of Sleeping Beauty, Piggybac and Tol2 for Genome Engineering. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(10):5084. doi: 10.3390/ijms22105084
- 74. Huang X, Guo H, Tammana S, Jung YC, Mellgren E, Bassi P, et al. Gene Transfer Efficiency and Genome-Wide Integration Profiling of Sleeping Beauty, Tol2, and PiggyBac Transposons in Human Primary T Cells. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:1803–13. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.141
- Izsvák Z, Ivics Z, Plasterk RH. Sleeping Beauty, a Wide Host-Range Transposon Vector for Genetic Transformation in Vertebrates. J Mol Biol (2000) 302:93–102. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.4047
- Fischer SEJ, van Luenen HGAM, Plasterk RHA. Cis Requirements for Transposition of Tc1-Like Transposons in C. Elegans. *Mol Gen Genet MGG* (1999) 262:268–74. doi: 10.1007/PL00008641
- Zayed H, Izsvák Z, Walisco O, Ivics Z. Development of Hyperactive Sleeping Beauty Transposon Vectors by Mutational Analysis. *Mol Ther* (2004) 9:292– 304. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2003.11.024
- Turchiano G, Latella MC, Döring AG, Cattoglio C, Mavilio F, Izsvák Z, et al. Correction: Genomic Analysis of Sleeping Beauty Transposon Integration in Human Somatic Cells. *PloS One* (2020) 15:e0228703. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0228703
- Rostovskaya M, Fu J, Obst M, Baer I, Weidlich S, Wang H, et al. Transposon-Mediated BAC Transgenesis in Human ES Cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2012) 40: e150–0. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks643
- Rostovskaya M, Naumann R, Fu J, Obst M, Mueller D, Stewart AF, et al. Transposon Mediated BAC Transgenesis *via* Pronuclear Injection of Mouse Zygotes. *Genesis* (2013) 51:135–41. doi: 10.1002/dvg.22362

- Monjezi R, Miskey C, Gogishvili T, Schleef M, Schmeer M, Einsele H, et al. Enhanced CAR T-Cell Engineering Using Non-Viral Sleeping Beauty Transposition From Minicircle Vectors. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:186–94. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.180
- Shankar R, Schmeer M, Schleef M. Minicircles: Next-Generation Gene Vectors. Cell Gene Ther Insights (2017) 3:285–300. doi: 10.18609/ cgti.2017.020
- Sharma N, Cai Y, Bak RO, Jakobsen MR, Schrøder LD, Mikkelsen JG. Efficient Sleeping Beauty DNA Transposition From DNA Minicircles. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2013) 2:e74–4. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2013.1
- Hodge R, Narayanavari SA, Izsvák Z, Ivics Z. Wide Awake and Ready to Move: 20 Years of Non-Viral Therapeutic Genome Engineering With the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System. *Hum Gene Ther* (2017) 28:842–55. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.130
- Huang X, Wilber AC, Bao L, Tuong D, Tolar J, Orchard PJ, et al. Stable Gene Transfer and Expression in Human Primary T Cells by the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System. *Blood* (2006) 107:483–91. doi: 10.1182/BLOOD-2005-05-2133
- Singh H, Manuri PR, Olivares S, Dara N, Dawson MJ, Huls H, et al. Redirecting Specificity of T-Cell Populations For CD19 Using the Sleeping Beauty System. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:2961–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5600
- Magnani CF, Turazzi N, Benedicenti F, Calabria A, Tenderini E, Tettamanti S, et al. Immunotherapy of Acute Leukemia by Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified Lymphocytes Using an Improved Sleeping Beauty Transposon Platform. Oncotarget (2016) 7:51581–97. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9955
- Introna M, Lussana F, Algarotti A, Gotti E, Valgardsdottir R, Micò C, et al. Phase II Study of Sequential Infusion of Donor Lymphocyte Infusion and Cytokine-Induced Killer Cells for Patients Relapsed After Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant J Am Soc Blood Marrow Transplant* (2017) 23:2070–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbmt.2017.07.005
- Introna M, Borleri G, Conti E, Franceschetti M, Barbui AM, Broady R, et al. Repeated Infusions of Donor-Derived Cytokine-Induced Killer Cells in Patients Relapsing After Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Phase I Study. *Haematologica* (2007) 92:952–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.11132
- Rambaldi A, Biagi E, Bonini C, Biondi A, Introna M. Cell-Based Strategies to Manage Leukemia Relapse: Efficacy and Feasibility of Immunotherapy Approaches. *Leukemia* (2015) 29:1–10. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.189
- Schmeel FC, Schmeel LC, Gast S-M, Schmidt-Wolf IGH. Adoptive Immunotherapy Strategies With Cytokine-Induced Killer (CIK) Cells in the Treatment of Hematological Malignancies. *Int J Mol Sci* (2014) 15:14632–48. doi: 10.3390/ijms150814632
- 92. Rotiroti MC, Buracchi C, Arcangeli S, Galimberti S, Valsecchi MG, Perriello VM, et al. Targeting CD33 in Chemoresistant AML Patient-Derived Xenografts by CAR-CIK Cells Modified With an Improved SB Transposon System. *Mol Ther* (2020) 28:1974–86. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.05.021
- Ghassemi S, Durgin JS, Nunez-Cruz S, Patel J, Leferovich J, Pinzone M, et al. Rapid Manufacturing of Non-Activated Potent CAR T Cells. *Nat BioMed* Eng (2022) 6:118–28. doi: 10.1038/s41551-021-00842-6
- 94. Chicaybam L, Abdo L, Viegas M, Marques LVC, de Sousa P, Batista-Silva LR, et al. Transposon-Mediated Generation of CAR-T Cells Shows Efficient Anti B-Cell Leukemia Response After Ex Vivo Expansion. *Gene Ther* (2020) 27:85–95. doi: 10.1038/s41434-020-0121-4
- 95. de Macedo Abdo L, Barros LRC, Saldanha Viegas M, Vieira Codeço Marques L, de Sousa Ferreira P, Chicaybam L, et al. Development of CAR-T Cell Therapy for B-ALL Using a Point-of-Care Approach. Oncoimmunology (2020) 9:1752592. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1752592
- 96. Chan T, Gallagher J, Cheng N-L, Carvajal-Borda F, Plummer J, Govekung A, et al. CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells With Safety Switch Produced Under "Point-of-Care" Using the Sleeping Beauty System for the Very Rapid Manufacture and Treatment of B-Cell Malignancies. *Blood* (2017) 130:1324. doi: 10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.1324.1324
- Chan T, Ma X, Carvajal-Borda F, Velez J, Plummer J, Shepard L, et al. Preclinical Characterization of Prgn-3006 Ultracar-TTM for the Treatment of AML and MDS: Non-Viral, Multigenic Autologous CAR-T Cells

Administered One Day After Gene Transfer. Blood (2019) 134:2660. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-130617

- 98. Chan T, Scott SP, Du M, Bolinger C, Poortman C, Shepard L, et al. Preclinical Evaluation of Prgn-3007, a Non-Viral, Multigenic, Autologous ROR1 Ultracar-T[®] Therapy With Novel Mechanism of Intrinsic PD-1 Blockade for Treatment of Hematological and Solid Cancers. *Blood* (2021) 138:1694. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-149203
- 99. Magnani CF, Myburgh R, Russkamp NF, Pascolo S, Shizuru JA, Neri D, et al. Anti-CD117 CAR T Cells Incorporating a Safety Switch Eradicate Acute Myeloid Leukemia and Deplete Human Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Blood* (2021) 138:2808. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-145195
- 100. Biondi M, Cerina B, Tomasoni C, Dotti G, Tettamanti S, Biondi A, et al. Combining the Expression of CD33.CAR and CXCR4 to Increase CAR-CIK Cell Homing to Bone Marrow Niche and Leukemic Stem Cell Eradication in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Blood* (2021) 138:2791. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-152394
- 101. Bexte T, Botezatu L, Miskey C, Campe J, Reindl LM, Gebel V, et al. Non-Viral Sleeping Beauty Transposon Engineered CD19-CAR-NK Cells Show a Safe Genomic Integration Profile and High Antileukemic Efficiency. *Blood* (2021) 138:2797. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-153999
- 102. Caruso HG, Tanaka R, Liang J, Ling X, Sabbagh A, Henry VK, et al. Shortened Ex Vivo Manufacturing Time of EGFRvIII-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cells Reduces Immune Exhaustion and Enhances Antiglioma Therapeutic Function. J Neurooncol (2019) 145:429–39. doi: 10.1007/s11060-019-03311-y
- 103. Kebriaei P, Singh H, Huls MH, Figliola MJ, Bassett R, Olivares S, et al. Phase I Trials Using Sleeping Beauty to Generate CD19-Specific CAR T Cells. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:3363–76. doi: 10.1172/JCI86721
- 104. Kebriaei P, Huls H, Olivares S, Orozco AF, Su S, Maiti SN, et al. Long Term Follow Up After Adoptive Transfer of CD19-Specific CAR+ T Cells Genetically Modified Via Non-Viral Sleeping Beauty S Ystem Following Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT). Blood (2017) 130:2059. doi: 10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.2059.2059
- Kebriaei P, Izsvák Z, Narayanavari SA, Singh H, Ivics Z. Gene Therapy With the Sleeping Beauty Transposon System. *Trends Genet* (2017) 33:852–70. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2017.08.008
- 106. Magnani CF, Gaipa G, Lussana F, Gritti G, Belotti D, Napolitano S, et al. Donor-Derived CAR T Cells Engineered With Sleeping Beauty in Pediatric and Adult Patients With Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Relapsed Post-HSCT. *Blood* (2021) 138:472. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-148703
- 107. Sallman DA, Elmariah H, Sweet K, Talati C, Mishra A, Cox CA, et al. Phase 1/1b Safety Study of Prgn-3006 Ultracar-T in Patients With Relapsed or Refractory CD33-Positive Acute Myeloid Leukemia and Higher Risk Myelodysplastic Syndromes. *Blood* (2021) 138:825. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-152692
- 108. Chan T, Chakiath M, Shepard L, Metenou S, Carvajal-Borda F, Velez J, et al. Abstract 6593: PRGN-3005 UltraCAR-TTM: Multigenic CAR-T Cells Generated Using non-Viral Gene Delivery and Rapid Manufacturing Process for the Treatment of Ovarian Cancer. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80:6593. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2020-6593
- 109. Prommersberger S, Reiser M, Beckmann J, Danhof S, Amberger M, Quade-Lyssy P, et al. CARAMBA: A First-in-Human Clinical Trial With SLAMF7 CAR-T Cells Prepared by Virus-Free Sleeping Beauty Gene Transfer to Treat Multiple Myeloma. *Gene Ther* (2021) 28:560–71. doi: 10.1038/s41434-021-00254-w
- 110. Chen Q, Luo W, Veach RA, Hickman AB, Wilson MH, Dyda F. Structural Basis of Seamless Excision and Specific Targeting by Piggybac Transposase. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3446. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17128-1
- 111. Bishop DC, Xu N, Tse B, O'Brien TA, Gottlieb DJ, Dolnikov A, et al. PiggyBac-Engineered T Cells Expressing CD19-Specific CARs That Lack IgG1 Fc Spacers Have Potent Activity Against B-ALL Xenografts. *Mol Ther* (2018) 26:1883–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.007
- 112. Yusa K, Zhou L, Li MA, Bradley A, Craig NL. A Hyperactive Piggybac Transposase for Mammalian Applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2011) 108:1531–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008322108
- 113. Li X, Burnight ER, Cooney AL, Malani N, Brady T, Sander JD, et al. PiggyBac Transposase Tools for Genome Engineering. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) 110(25):e2279–e2287. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1305987110

- Liu G, Aronovich EL, Cui Z, Whitley CB, Hackett PB. Excision of Sleeping Beauty Transposons: Parameters and Applications to Gene Therapy. J Gene Med (2004) 6(5):574–83.
- 115. Chiung-Yuan Wu S, James Meir Y-J, Coates CJ, Handler AM, Pelczar P, Moisyadi S, et al. Piggybac is a Flexible and Highly Active Transposon as Compared to Sleeping Beauty, Tol2, and Mos1 in Mammalian Cells. Natl Acad Sci USA (2006) 103(41):15008–13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606979103
- 116. Zhao S, Jiang E, Chen S, Gu Y, Shangguan AJ, Lv T, et al. PiggyBac Transposon Vectors: The Tools of the Human Gene Encoding. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* (2016) 5:120–5. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2016.01.05
- 117. de Jong J, Akhtar W, Badhai J, Rust AG, Rad R, Hilkens J, et al. Chromatin Landscapes of Retroviral and Transposon Integration Profiles. *PloS Genet* (2014) 10:e1004250. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004250
- Henssen AG, Koche R, Zhuang J, Jiang E, Reed C, Eisenberg A, et al. PGBD5 Promotes Site-Specific Oncogenic Mutations in Human Tumors. *Nat Genet* (2017) 49:1005–14. doi: 10.1038/ng.3866
- Beckermann TM, Luo W, Wilson CM, Veach RA, Wilson MH. Cognate Restriction of Transposition by Piggybac-Like Proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2021) 49:8135–44. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkab578
- 120. Nakazawa Y, Huye LE, Dotti G, Foster AE, Vera JF, Manuri PR, et al. Optimization of the PiggyBac Transposon System for the Sustained Genetic Modification of Human T Lymphocytes. *J Immunother* (2009) 32(8):826–36. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181ad762b
- 121. Morita D, Nishio N, Saito S, Tanaka M, Kawashima N, Okuno Y, et al. Enhanced Expression of Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor in Piggybac Transposon-Engineered T Cells. *Mol Ther - Methods Clin Dev* (2018) 8:131– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2017.12.003
- 122. Tanaka K, Kato I, Tanaka M, Morita D, Matsuda K, Takahashi Y, et al. Direct Delivery of Piggybac CD19 CAR T Cells Has Potent Anti-Tumor Activity Against ALL Cells in CNS in a Xenograft Mouse Model. *Mol Ther -Oncolytics* (2020) 18:37–46. doi: 10.1016/j.omto.2020.05.013
- 123. Biagi E, Biondi A, Magnani CF, Tettamanti S. Improved Method for the Generation of Genetically Modified Cells. Eur patent EP3018200A1 (2014).
- 124. Ramanayake S, Bilmon I, Bishop D, Dubosq M-C, Blyth E, Clancy L, et al. Low-Cost Generation of Good Manufacturing Practice–Grade CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor–Expressing T Cells Using Piggybac Gene Transfer and Patient-Derived Materials. *Cytotherapy* (2015) 17:1251–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.05.013
- 125. Kaštánková I, Štach M, Žižková H, Ptáčková P, Šmilauerová K, Mucha M, et al. Enzymatically Produced Piggybac Transposon Vectors for Efficient non-Viral Manufacturing of CD19-Specific CAR T Cells. *Mol Ther - Methods Clin Dev* (2021) 23:119–27. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2021.08.006
- 126. Nakamura K, Yagyu S, Hirota S, Tomida A, Kondo M, Shigeura T, et al. Autologous Antigen-Presenting Cells Efficiently Expand Piggybac Transposon CAR-T Cells With Predominant Memory Phenotype. *Mol Ther - Methods Clin Dev* (2021) 21:315–24. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2021.03.011
- 127. Tomida A, Yagyu S, Nakamura K, Kubo H, Yamashima K, Nakazawa Y, et al. Inhibition of MEK Pathway Enhances the Antitumor Efficacy of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Against Neuroblastoma. *Cancer Sci* (2021) 112:4026–36. doi: 10.1111/cas.15074
- 128. Morokawa H, Yagyu S, Hasegawa A, Tanaka M, Saito S, Mochizuki H, et al. Autologous Non-Human Primate Model for Safety Assessment of Piggybac Transposon-Mediated Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells on Granulocyte– Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor Receptor. *Clin Transl Immunol* (2020) 9(11):e1207. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1207
- 129. Hasegawa A, Saito S, Narimatsu S, Nakano S, Nagai M, Ohnota H, et al. Mutated GM-CSF-Based CAR-T Cells Targeting CD116/CD131 Complexes Exhibit Enhanced Anti-Tumor Effects Against Acute Myeloid Leukaemia. *Clin Transl Immunol* (2021) 10(5):e1282. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1282
- 130. Bishop DC, Caproni L, Gowrishankar K, Legiewicz M, Karbowniczek K, Tite J, et al. CAR T Cell Generation by Piggybac Transposition From Linear Doggybone DNA Vectors Requires Transposon DNA-Flanking Regions. *Mol Ther - Methods Clin Dev* (2020) 17:359–68. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2019.12.020
- 131. Ptáčková P, Musil J, Štach M, Lesný P, Němečková Š, Král V, et al. A New Approach to CAR T-Cell Gene Engineering and Cultivation Using Piggybac Transposon in the Presence of IL-4, IL-7 and IL-21. *Cytotherapy* (2018) 20:507–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2017.10.001

- 132. Micklethwaite KP, Gowrishankar K, Gloss BS, Li Z, Street JA, Moezzi L, et al. Investigation of Product-Derived Lymphoma Following Infusion of Piggybac-Modified CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *Blood* (2021) 138:1391–405. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021010858
- 133. Daniels J, Choi J. BACH2 is a Putative T-Cell Lymphoma Tumor Suppressor That may Play a Role in Product-Derived CAR T-Cell Lymphomas. *Blood* (2021) 138:2731–3. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021012641
- 134. Cesana D, Santoni de Sio FR, Rudilosso L, Gallina P, Calabria A, Beretta S, et al. HIV-1-Mediated Insertional Activation of STAT5B and BACH2 Trigger Viral Reservoir in T Regulatory Cells. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:498. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00609-1
- 135. Nishio N, Hanajiri R, Ishikawa Y, Murata M, Taniguchi R, Hamada M, et al. A Phase I Study of CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells Generated By the PiggyBac Transposon Vector for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Blood* (2021) 138:3831. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-150469
- 136. Zhang Y, Zhang Z, Ding Y, Fang Y, Wang P, Chu W, et al. Phase I Clinical Trial of EGFR-Specific CAR-T Cells Generated by the Piggybac Transposon System in Advanced Relapsed/Refractory non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2021) 147:3725–34. doi: 10.1007/ s00432-021-03613-7
- 137. Costello C, Derman BA, Kocoglu MH, Deol A, Ali AA, Gregory T, et al. Clinical Trials of BCMA-Targeted CAR-T Cells Utilizing a Novel Non-Viral Transposon System. *Blood* (2021) 138:3858. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-151672
- Dolgin E. The Tangled History of mRNA Vaccines. Nature (2021) 597:318– 24. doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-02483-w
- 139. Kuhn AN, Diken M, Kreiter S, Vallazza B, Türeci Ö, Sahin U. Determinants of Intracellular RNA Pharmacokinetics: Implications for RNA-Based Immunotherapeutics. *RNA Biol* (2011) 8:35–43. doi: 10.4161/rna.8.1.13767
- 140. Malone RW, Felgner PL, Verma IM. Cationic Liposome-Mediated RNA Transfection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1989) 86:6077–81. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.86.16.6077
- 141. Simon B, Harrer DC, Schuler-Thurner B, Schaft N, Schuler G, Dörrie J, et al. The siRNA-Mediated Downregulation of PD-1 Alone or Simultaneously With CTLA-4 Shows Enhanced *In Vitro* CAR-T-Cell Functionality for Further Clinical Development Towards the Potential Use in Immunotherapy of Melanoma. *Exp Dermatol* (2018) 27:769–78. doi: 10.1111/exd.13678
- 142. Siddiqi T, Soumerai JD, Wierda WG, Dubovsky JA, Gillenwater HH, Gong L, et al. Rapid MRD-Negative Responses in Patients With Relapsed/Refractory CLL Treated With Liso-Cel, a CD19-Directed CAR T-Cell Product: Preliminary Results From Transcend CLL 004, a Phase 1/2 Study Including Patients With High-Risk Disease Previously Treated With Ibrutinib. Blood (2018) 132:300. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-110462
- 143. Granot-Matok Y, Kon E, Dammes N, Mechtinger G, Peer D. Therapeutic mRNA Delivery to Leukocytes. J Control Release (2019) 305:165–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.05.032
- 144. Şen A, Kargar K, Akgün E, Pınar MÇ. Codon Optimization: A Mathematical Programing Approach. *Bioinformatics* (2020) 36:4012–20. doi: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/btaa248
- 145. Tcherepanova IY, Adams MD, Feng X, Hinohara A, Horvatinovich J, Calderhead D, et al. Ectopic Expression of a Truncated CD40L Protein From Synthetic Post-Transcriptionally Capped RNA in Dendritic Cells Induces High Levels of IL-12 Secretion. *BMC Mol Biol* (2008) 9:90. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-9-90
- 146. Tcherepanova I, Harris J, Starr A, Cleveland J, Ketteringham H, Calderhead D, et al. Multiplex RT-PCR Amplification of HIV Genes to Create a Completely Autologous DC-Based Immunotherapy for the Treatment of HIV Infection. *PloS One* (2008) 3:e1489. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001489
- 147. Karikó K, Muramatsu H, Welsh FA, Ludwig J, Kato H, Akira S, et al. Incorporation of Pseudouridine Into mRNA Yields Superior Nonimmunogenic Vector With Increased Translational Capacity and Biological Stability. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1833–40. doi: 10.1038/mt.2008.200
- 148. Jackson LA, Anderson EJ, Rouphael NG, Roberts PC, Makhene M, Coler RN, et al. An mRNA Vaccine Against SARS-CoV-2 - Preliminary Report. N Engl J Med (2020) 383:1920–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2022483
- 149. Mulligan MJ, Lyke KE, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, et al. Phase I/II Study of COVID-19 RNA Vaccine BNT162b1 in Adults. *Nature* (2020) 586:589–93. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2639-4

- Pasquinelli AE, Dahlberg JE, Lund E. Reverse 5' Caps in RNAs Made In Vitro by Phage RNA Polymerases. RNA (1995) 1:957–67.PMID 8548660
- 151. Stepinski J, Waddell C, Stolarski R, Darzynkiewicz E, Rhoads RE. Synthesis and Properties of mRNAs Containing the Novel "Anti-Reverse" Cap Analogs 7-Methyl(3'-O-Methyl)GpppG and 7-Methyl (3'-Deoxy)GpppG. RNA (2001) 7:1486–95.
- 152. Venkatesan S, Gershowitz A, Moss B. Modification of the 5' End of mRNA. Association of RNA Triphosphatase With the RNA Guanylyltransferase-RNA (Guanine-7-)Methyltransferase Complex From Vaccinia Virus. J Biol Chem (1980) 255:903–8. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(19)86118-5
- 153. Kuge H, Brownlee GG, Gershon PD, Richter JD. Cap Ribose Methylation of C-Mos mRNA Stimulates Translation and Oocyte Maturation in Xenopus Laevis. Nucleic Acids Res (1998) 26:3208–14. doi: 10.1093/nar/26.13.3208
- Elango N, Elango S, Shivshankar P, Katz MS. Optimized Transfection of mRNA Transcribed From a D(A/T)100 Tail-Containing Vector. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2005) 330:958–66. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.03.067
- 155. Holtkamp S, Kreiter S, Selmi A, Simon P, Koslowski M, Huber C, et al. Modification of Antigen-Encoding RNA Increases Stability, Translational Efficacy, and T-Cell Stimulatory Capacity of Dendritic Cells. *Blood* (2006) 108:4009–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-04-015024
- 156. Gingras AC, Raught B, Sonenberg N. Eif4 Initiation Factors: Effectors of mRNA Recruitment to Ribosomes and Regulators Of Translation. Annu Rev Biochem (1999) 68:913–63. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.68.1.913
- 157. Holcik M, Liebhaber SA. Four Highly Stable Eukaryotic mRNAs Assemble 3' Untranslated Region RNA-Protein Complexes Sharing Cis and Trans Components. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1997) 94:2410–4. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.94.6.2410
- 158. van der Velden AW, Thomas AA. The Role of the 5' Untranslated Region of an mRNA in Translation Regulation During Development. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (1999) 31:87–106. doi: 10.1016/s1357-2725(98)00134-4
- 159. Vivinus S, Baulande S, van Zanten M, Campbell F, Topley P, Ellis JH, et al. An Element Within the 5' Untranslated Region of Human Hsp70 mRNA Which Acts as a General Enhancer of mRNA Translation. *Eur J Biochem* (2001) 268:1908–17. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.2001.02064.x
- 160. Yu J, Russell JE. Structural and Functional Analysis of an mRNP Complex That Mediates the High Stability of Human Beta-Globin mRNA. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:5879–88. doi: 10.1128/MCB.21.17.5879-5888.2001
- 161. Barro M, Bravo C, Spencer E. Differential Usage of RNA Templates by the Rotavirus "In Vitro" Replication System. Arch Virol (2004) 149:1815–29. doi: 10.1007/s00705-004-0314-y
- 162. Van Tendeloo VF, Ponsaerts P, Lardon F, Nijs G, Lenjou M, Van Broeckhoven C, et al. Highly Efficient Gene Delivery by mRNA Electroporation in Human Hematopoietic Cells: Superiority to Lipofection and Passive Pulsing of mRNA and to Electroporation of Plasmid cDNA for Tumor Antigen Loading of Dendritic Cells. *Blood* (2001) 98:49–56. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.1.49
- 163. Zohra FT, Chowdhury EH, Tada S, Hoshiba T, Akaike T. Effective Delivery With Enhanced Translational Activity Synergistically Accelerates mRNA-Based Transfection. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2007) 358:373–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.04.059
- 164. Huth S, Hoffmann F, von Gersdorff K, Laner A, Reinhardt D, Rosenecker J, et al. Interaction of Polyamine Gene Vectors With RNA Leads to the Dissociation of Plasmid DNA-Carrier Complexes. J Gene Med (2006) 8:1416–24. doi: 10.1002/jgm.975
- 165. Soundara Rajan T, Gugliandolo A, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. In Vitro-Transcribed mRNA Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell (IVT mRNA CAR T) Therapy in Hematologic and Solid Tumor Management: A Preclinical Update. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(18): 6514. doi: 10.3390/ijms21186514
- 166. Beatty GL, Haas AR, Maus MV, Torigian DA, Soulen MC, Plesa G, et al. Mesothelin-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor mRNA-Engineered T Cells Induce Anti-Tumor Activity in Solid Malignancies. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:112–20. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0170
- 167. Zhao Y, Moon E, Carpenito C, Paulos CM, Liu X, Brennan AL, et al. Multiple Injections of Electroporated Autologous T Cells Expressing a Chimeric Antigen Receptor Mediate Regression of Human Disseminated Tumor. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70:9053–61. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2880
- 168. Wilber A, Frandsen JL, Geurts JL, Largaespada DA, Hackett PB, McIvor RS. RNA as a Source of Transposase for Sleeping Beauty-Mediated Gene

Insertion and Expression in Somatic Cells and Tissues. *Mol Ther* (2006) 13:625–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.10.014

- 169. Wilber A, Wangensteen KJ, Chen Y, Zhuo L, Frandsen JL, Bell JB, et al. Messenger RNA as a Source of Transposase for Sleeping Beauty Transposon-Mediated Correction of Hereditary Tyrosinemia Type I. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15:1280–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.mt.6300160
- 170. Bire S, Ley D, Casteret S, Mermod N, Bigot Y, Rouleux-Bonnin F. Optimization of the Piggybac Transposon Using mRNA and Insulators: Toward a More Reliable Gene Delivery System. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e82559. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082559
- 171. Liang Q, Kong J, Stalker J, Bradley A. Chromosomal Mobilization and Reintegration of Sleeping Beauty and PiggyBac Transposons. *Genesis* (2009) 47:404–8. doi: 10.1002/dvg.20508
- 172. Galla M, Schambach A, Falk CS, Maetzig T, Kuehle J, Lange K, et al. Avoiding Cytotoxicity of Transposases by Dose-Controlled mRNA Delivery. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) 39:7147–60. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr384
- 173. Maus MV, Haas AR, Beatty GL, Albelda SM, Levine BL, Liu X, et al. T Cells Expressing Chimeric Antigen Receptors can Cause Anaphylaxis in Humans. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1:26–31. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0006
- 174. Cummins KD, Frey N, Nelson AM, Schmidt A, Luger S, Isaacs RE, et al. Treating Relapsed / Refractory (RR) AML With Biodegradable Anti-CD123 CAR Modified T Cells. *Blood* (2017) 130:1359. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V130.Suppl_1.1359.1359
- 175. Smith RP, Riordan JD, Feddersen CR, Dupuy AJ. A Hybrid Adenoviral Vector System Achieves Efficient Long-Term Gene Expression in the Liver via Piggybac Transposition. Hum Gene Ther (2015) 26:377–85. doi: 10.1089/ hum.2014.123
- 176. La QT, Ren B, Logan GJ, Cunningham SC, Khandekar N, Nassif NT, et al. Use of a Hybrid Adeno-Associated Viral Vector Transposon System to Deliver the Insulin Gene to Diabetic NOD Mice. *Cells* (2020) 9(10):2227. doi: 10.3390/cells9102227
- 177. Cooney AL, Thornell IM, Singh BK, Shah VS, Stoltz DA, McCray PBJ, et al. A Novel AAV-Mediated Gene Delivery System Corrects CFTR Function in Pigs. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2019) 61:747–54. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2019-0006OC
- 178. Boehme P, Zhang W, Solanki M, Ehrke-Schulz E, Ehrhardt A. A High-Capacity Adenoviral Hybrid Vector System Utilizing the Hyperactive Sleeping Beauty Transposase SB100X for Enhanced Integration. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2016) 5:e337. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2016.44
- Hudecek M, Izsvák Z, Johnen S, Renner M, Thumann G, Ivics Z. Going non-Viral: The Sleeping Beauty Transposon System Breaks on Through to the Clinical Side. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol (2017) 52:355–80. doi: 10.1080/ 10409238.2017.1304354
- 180. Smith TT, Stephan SB, Moffett HF, McKnight LE, Ji W, Reiman D, et al. In Situ Programming of Leukaemia-Specific T Cells Using Synthetic DNA Nanocarriers. Nat Nanotechnol (2017) 12:813–22. doi: 10.1038/ NNANO.2017.57
- 181. Parayath NN, Stephan SB, Koehne AL, Nelson PS, Stephan MT. In Vitro-Transcribed Antigen Receptor mRNA Nanocarriers for Transient Expression in Circulating T Cells. In Vivo. Nat Commun (2020) 11:6080. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19486-2
- 182. Rurik JG, Tombacz I, Y A, O. MF P, Shewale SV, Li L, et al. CAR T Cells Produced *In Vivo* to Treat Cardiac Injury. *Science* (80-) (2022) 375:91–6. doi: 10.1126/science.abm0594
- 183. Gong N, Sheppard NC, Billingsley MM, June CH, Mitchell MJ. Nanomaterials for T-Cell Cancer Immunotherapy. Nat Nanotechnol (2021) 16:25–36. doi: 10.1038/s41565-020-00822-y
- 184. Bozza M, De Roia A, Correia MP, Berger A, Tuch A, Schmidt A, et al. APPLIED SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING A Nonviral, Nonintegrating DNA Nanovector Platform for the Safe, Rapid, and Persistent Manufacture of Recombinant T Cells. *Sci Adv* (2021) 7(16):eabf1333. doi: 10.1126/ sciadv.abf1333
- 185. Cardle II, Cheng EL, Jensen MC, Pun SH. Biomaterials in Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Process Development. Acc Chem Res (2020) 53:1724–38. doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.0c00335

- 186. Abou-El-Enein M, Elsallab M, Feldman SA, Fesnak AD, Heslop HE, Marks P, et al. Scalable Manufacturing of CAR T Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy. Blood Cancer Discov (2021) 2:408–22. doi: 10.1158/2643-3230.BCD-21-0084
- 187. Stadtmauer EA, Fraietta JA, Davis MM, Cohen AD, Weber KL, Lancaster E, et al. CRISPR-Engineered T Cells in Patients With Refractory Cancer. *Science* (2020) 367(6481):eaba7365. doi: 10.1126/science.aba7365
- 188. Roth TL, Puig-Saus C, Yu R, Shifrut E, Carnevale J, Li PJ, et al. Reprogramming Human T Cell Function and Specificity With Non-Viral Genome Targeting. *Nature* (2018) 559:405–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0326-5
- 189. Schober K, Müller TR, Gökmen F, Grassmann S, Effenberger M, Poltorak M, et al. Orthotopic Replacement of T-Cell Receptor α- and β-Chains With Preservation of Near-Physiological T-Cell Function. *Nat BioMed Eng* (2019) 3:974–84. doi: 10.1038/s41551-019-0409-0
- 190. Müller TR, Jarosch S, Hammel M, Leube J, Grassmann S, Bernard B, et al. Targeted T Cell Receptor Gene Editing Provides Predictable T Cell Product Function for Immunotherapy. *Cell Rep Med* (2021) 2(8):100374. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100374
- 191. Nguyen DN, Roth TL, Li PJ, Chen PA, Apathy R, Mamedov MR, et al. Polymer-Stabilized Cas9 Nanoparticles and Modified Repair Templates Increase Genome Editing Efficiency. *Nat Biotechnol* (2020) 38:44–9. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0325-6
- 192. Kath J, Du W, Thommandru B, Turk R, Amini L, Stein M, et al. Fast, Efficient and Virus-Free Generation of ≪Em<TRAC</em<-Replaced CAR T Cells. *bioRxiv* (2021) 2021.02.14.431017. doi: 10.1101/2021.02.14.431017
- 193. Mueller KP, Piscopo NJ, Forsberg MH, Saraspe LA, Das A, Russell B, et al. Production and Characterization of Virus-Free, CRISPR-CAR T Cells Capable of Inducing Solid Tumor Regression. *bioRxiv* (2021) 2021.08.06.455489. doi: 10.1101/2021.08.06.455489
- 194. Shy BR, Vykunta V, Ha A, Roth TL, Talbot A, Nguyen DN, et al. Hybrid ssDNA Repair Templates Enable High Yield Genome Engineering in Primary Cells for Disease Modeling and Cell Therapy Manufacturing. *bioRxiv* (2021) 2021.09.02.458799. doi: 10.1101/2021.09.02.458799
- 195. Strecker J, Ladha A, Gardner Z, Schmid-Burgk JL, Makarova KS, Koonin EV, et al. RNA-Guided DNA Insertion With CRISPR-Associated Transposases. *Science* (2019) 365:48–53. doi: 10.1126/science.aax9181
- 196. Klompe SE, Vo PLH, Halpin-Healy TS, Sternberg SH. Transposon-Encoded CRISPR-Cas Systems Direct RNA-Guided DNA Integration. *Nature* (2019) 571:219–25. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1323-z
- 197. Kovač A, Miskey C, Menzel M, Grueso E, Gogol-Döring A, Ivics Z. RNA-Guided Retargeting of Sleeping Beauty Transposition in Human Cells. *Elife* (2020) 9:e53868. doi: 10.7554/eLife.53868

Conflict of Interest: Authors CM and AB are inventors on a patent related to nonviral CAR-T cell therapy (European patent application 15801344), filed by the Tettamanti Foundation, and licensed to CoImmune. Authors CN and IT are executive officers of CoImmune. Author AB has received fundings from AIRC 5x1000 2018-21147, PRIN 2017-NAZ-0412, and the Ministero della Salute CAR-T project of the "Rete Oncologica".

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial conflict of interests.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Moretti, Ponzo, Nicolette, Tcherepanova, Biondi and Magnani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Review: Sustainable Clinical Development of CAR-T Cells – Switching From Viral Transduction Towards CRISPR-Cas Gene Editing

Dimitrios L. Wagner^{1,2,3†}, Ulrike Koehl^{4,5†}, Markus Chmielewski⁶, Christoph Scheid⁶ and Renata Stripecke^{6,7,8,9*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul G. Schlegel, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Tolga Sutlu, Boğaziçi University, Turkey Shigeki Yagyu, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan

*Correspondence:

Renata Stripecke stripecke.renata@mh-hannover.de; renata.stripecke@uk-koeln.de [†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 January 2022 Accepted: 06 May 2022 Published: 17 June 2022

Citation:

Wagner DL, Koehl U, Chmielewski M, Scheid C and Stripecke R (2022) Review: Sustainable Clinical Development of CAR-T Cells – Switching From Viral Transduction Towards CRISPR-Cas Gene Editing. Front. Immunol. 13:865424. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.865424 ¹ Berlin Center for Advanced Therapies (BeCAT), Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² BIH-Center for Regenerative Therapies (BCRT), Berlin Institute of Health (BIH) at Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Institute of Transfusion Medicine, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ Institute of Cellular Therapeutics, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ⁵ Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI) as well as Institute of Clinical Immunology, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany, ⁶ Clinic I for Internal Medicine, University Hospital Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁷ Laboratory of Regenerative Immune Therapies Applied, Research Center for Translational Regenerative Medicine (Rebirth), Department of Hematology, Hemostasis, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplantation, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ⁸ German Centre for Infection Research (DZIF), Partner site Hannover, Hannover, Germany, ⁹ Cancer Research Center Cologne Essen (CCCE), Cologne, Germany

T cells modified for expression of Chimeric Antigen Receptors (CARs) were the first genemodified cell products approved for use in cancer immunotherapy. CAR-T cells engineered with gammaretroviral or lentiviral vectors (RVs/LVs) targeting B-cell lymphomas and leukemias have shown excellent clinical efficacy and no malignant transformation due to insertional mutagenesis to date. Large-scale production of RVs/ LVs under good-manufacturing practices for CAR-T cell manufacturing has soared in recent years. However, manufacturing of RVs/LVs remains complex and costly, representing a logistical bottleneck for CAR-T cell production. Emerging gene-editing technologies are fostering a new paradigm in synthetic biology for the engineering and production of CAR-T cells. Firstly, the generation of the modular reagents utilized for gene editing with the CRISPR-Cas systems can be scaled-up with high precision under good manufacturing practices, are interchangeable and can be more sustainable in the long-run through the lower material costs. Secondly, gene editing exploits the precise insertion of CARs into defined genomic loci and allows combinatorial gene knock-ins and knock-outs with exciting and dynamic perspectives for T cell engineering to improve their therapeutic efficacy. Thirdly, allogeneic edited CAR-effector cells could eventually become available as "off-the-shelf" products. This review addresses important points to consider regarding the status quo, pending needs and perspectives for the forthright evolution from the viral towards gene editing developments for CAR-T cells.

Keywords: CAR-T, lentiviral, retrovirus, gene editing, GMP, CRISPR-Cas, GMP, mouse models

INTRODUCTION

Retroviruses integrate into the genome, are able to effectively and persistently infect T cells, and are non-cytotoxic and poorly immunogenic. Their bio-engineered descendants, pseudotyped gammaretroviral and lentiviral vector systems (RVs/LVs), emerged more than three decades ago as useful tools for gene therapies using T cells and hematopoietic stem progenitor cells (HSPCs) for correction of defective genes and treatment of monogenic blood disorders and metabolic diseases (1). RVs and LVs are currently the mostly used gene delivery systems for manufacturing of T cells expressing chimeric antigen receptors (CARs). Nonetheless, there were several ups-and-downs on the path to clinical translation of these "living drugs" that can instruct the development of gene-edited CAR-T cells generated by non-viral materials and the use of site-specific gene transfer.

In 1990, the first clinical trial of gene-modified T cells used RVmediated transfer of adenosine deaminase (ADA) for treatment of two children with severe combined immunodeficiency (ADA-SCID). The trial demonstrated engraftment, persistency and safety of the T cell gene therapy (2). Major improvements in efficacy and safety of multiple attenuated self-inactivating (SIN) RV/LV designs have significantly boosted the field of innate genetic defects corrected via gene therapy (3, 4). Thus, after more than two decades of clinical research and development, the European Commission granted market approval to GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) for ex vivo HSPC gene therapy for the treatment of ADA-SCID (5). The development of SIN viral designs drastically reduced the risks of insertional mutagenesis enabled better control of the transgene expression (6). These viral systems provided a robust insertion of a gene-of-interest (GOI), which was added to the genome of target cells (Figure 1).

Published clinical trial reports in 2011 and 2013 presented clinical objective responses against lymphoma and leukemia with CAR-T cells generated after SIN-LVs gene transfer (7, 8). To date, all CAR-T cell products approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and by the European Medicine Agency (EMA) for immunotherapy of lymphomas and/or leukemias are engineered via "add-on" transgenesis using SIN-LVs or SIN-RVs. These approved products target the B cell antigen CD19 including: LV-transduced CTL019 (KYMRIAH, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp) (8), RV-transduced KTE-C19 (YESCARTA, Kite Pharma, Inc., a Gilead Sciences Company) (9), RV-transduced brexucabtagene autoleucel (TECARTUS, Kite Pharma, Inc., a Gilead Sciences Company) (10) and LVtransduced liso-cell (BREYANZI, Juno Therapeutics, Inc., a Bristol-Myers Squibb Company) (11). LV-mediated gene delivery currently dominates CAR-T cell manufacturing. FDA/ EMA-supported combination trials exploring alternative targets to CD19 (CD20, CD22, CD30, and the B cell maturation antigen, BCMA) are planned to improve efficacy in the CAR-eligible leukemia/lymphoma patient population (12). In addition, bispecific CAR-T cells engineered with RV/LVs are in clinical testing (e.g. 2019-CD20-dual specific CAR-T cell product from Miltenyi Biomedicine) (13). In conclusion, SIN RVs/LVs have provided an important framework for the conception and clinical use of CAR-T cells as they are feasible and safe.

Alternative "add-on" transgenesis via DNA plasmid-based non-viral gene-modification technologies are being developed to replace viral systems in order to reduce the costs and facilitate the logistics of CAR-T cell manufacturing. CD19-specific CAR-T cells transfected with the Sleeping Beauty (SB) or piggyBac transposon showed exciting preclinical results (14) and promising results in early clinical trials (15). Sadly, unexpected and alarming insertional mutagenesis and T cell-lymphoma occurrences have been observed in some patients infused with CD19CAR-T cells produced with a highly active version of the piggyBac transposon system (16). Multiple transgene insertions and global transcriptional dysregulation through the strong promoters used are suspected to have caused the malignant transformation (15). Thus, additional preclinical studies and clinical monitoring efforts are urgently warranted for a better mechanistic understanding to prevent the onset and putative development of leukemias and lymphomas when using potentially pro-oncogenic transposon systems (17). Another pipeline in development is the transient transfection of T cells with mRNAs encoding CARs. Since the mRNA are degraded or diluted upon T cell expansion, the anti-tumor effect is predestined to be transient. The mRNA-CAR-T cell therapy would thus require repeated infusions, and it is yet not clear if this is a downside for this approach (18).

As an innovative alternative, clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) associated (Cas) 9 technology has emerged as a replacement for the "add-on" approaches with directed and precise T cell editing *via* "knock-in" (**Figure 1**). CRISPR-Cas allows the site-specific insertion of the CAR at potentially any point in the T cells genome, creating CAR-T cells with defined transgene copy numbers and predictable regulation of transgene expression. For example, the CAR transgene can be inserted within the early open reading frame of well-characterized genes, thereby disrupting the gene of interest ("knock-out") after "knock-in" of the CAR in a single genetic intervention. This technology is exceptionally useful to facilitate potent "off-the-shelf" CAR-T cells to reduce costs and avoid treatment delays in severely compromised patients.

Under the headings below, we explain how RVs/LVs became the current paradigm for gene modifications of CAR-T cells. We address some of the critical aspects regarding the development of gene-edited CAR-T cells to thrive as a program for the treatment of liquid and solid tumors. One important focus is on what was learned about the design, safety, manufacturing, upscaling, and quality control of CAR-T cell products generated with RV/LVs and the perspective for gene edited CAR-T cell products. In a next step, we extrapolate towards the need for new preclinical models, innovative design of clinical trials and monitoring of patients infused with allogeneic "off-the-shelf" gene-edited CAR-T cells.

PRINCIPLES AND USES OF RVs/LVs FOR CAR-T CELL ENGINEERING

Bioengineering of RV/LV systems for gene-modification of HSPC products has provided the fundamental know-how for subsequent



development of CAR-T cells. RVs/LVs have relied mostly on the third generation packaging system, whereby four plasmids are used for expression of the backbone vector, gag/pol, rev and env (19, 20). After infection of the activated and proliferating cells, the RNA genomes of RVs/LVs are converted through reverse transcription inside the cell into double-stranded DNAs capable of integrating into the chromatin (Figure 1A). Thus, the core of multicistronic RV/LV engineering is that a single vector will carry the combination of genes into the cells, however with quite unpredictable insertion patterns. An improvement was obtained with SIN mutations in the viral 3'LTR, disrupting the promoter/enhancer activity of the LTRs and enhancing the controlled expression through the internal promoter in the vector, and thereby minimizing the downstream expression of proto-oncogenes that could promote insertional mutagenesis (3). The design of RVs/LVs mostly include viral elements needed for packaging (parts of the LTRs, Ψ psi encapsidation signal), RNA reverse transcription (central polypurine tract, cPPT), internal non-methylated promoters (e.g. EF1- α), and the GOI (21) (Figure 1B). Since the gene cargo capacity of RVs/LVs spans from 7 to 10 Kb, additionally to the CAR (around 3 Kb), other transgenes can be combined as multicistrons interspaced with a 2A self-cleaving peptide or with internal ribosome entry site (IRES) elements.

As a result, there are numerous synthetic biology strategies relying on RV/LV systems to optimize the CAR gene-cargo, which include (i) tuning the affinity of the virally expressed CAR (s) to antigen(s) (22), (ii) use of different intracellular co-stimulatory domains in the CAR fusion protein such as CD28z, 4-1BB and other co-stimulation pathways directing the tonic power and/or persistency of T cell activation (23); (iii) metabolic editing to balance the oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid oxidation or glycolysis during T cell activation (24); (iv) combinatorial coexpression of immune-stimulatory cytokines to improve the T cell persistency and function (25); and (v) inclusion of inducible on/off systems such as co-expression of suicide genes, surface markers that enable immune depletion, or combination of activation/inhibitory CARs in the same cell (22).

The clinical performance obtained for RV/LV-engineered CAR-T cells in the treatment of B cell malignancies has not yet been achieved in the treatment of solid tumors. The main difficulties encountered are the lack of exclusive tumor-specific antigens and the immunosuppressive nature of the tumor microenvironment (26). Although the challenges may rely rather on tumor-specific factors than the technology used for CAR genedelivery, gene-editing may replace RVs/LVs for different approaches. For example, sophisticated tumor detection and targeting advances can be achieved by engineering T cells with CAR constructs expressed by RVs/LVs to function as comparative operators (27-29). Promising approaches based on the so-called TRUCK ("T cells redirected for antigen-unrestricted cytokineinitiated killing") strategy have recently emerged to increase the efficacy of CAR-T cells generated after RV transduction (30-32). TRUCKs combine the direct cytotoxic effect of the CAR-T cell on tumor cells with the immune modulating capacities of a proinflammatory cytokine (33). In order to achieve therapeutic concentrations of a selected cytokine in tumors and surrounding tissue, the transgene of interest is inducibly released by tumor-specific CAR-T cells, thereby preventing systemic toxicity. The TRUCK concept is currently being explored using a panel of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including interleukin (IL)-12, IL-15, IL-18, IL-23, and combinations thereof (33).

LARGE-SCALE MANUFACTURING OF CLINICAL-GRADE RVs/LVs

The large-scale manufacturing of RVs was initially based on development of stable packaging cell lines. During the past two decades, with the advent of the third generation LV packaging systems, the field has largely explored transient transfection of different DNA plasmids into packaging cells (such as adherent or non-adherent HEK293T cells). Transient transfection for packaging of RVs/LVs became an important technology as it bypasses the need of selecting, expanding and characterizing different master packaging cell lines carrying different constructs. RVs/LVs obtained after transient transfection were validated for different types of clinical applications such as gene modification of HSPCs for correction of defective genes (1), for harnessing dendritic cells for active immunotherapy against cancer (34, 35) and, more prominently, for gene modification of T cells for different types of adoptive immunotherapies (21).

The large-scale bioprocessing of LVs has in recent years adopted the use of bioreactors for perfusion transfection and culture of adherent and suspension cells. Several advances were obtained with the downstream processing of the viral particles with purification technologies (such as tangential flow filtration) (36, 37). Quality control (QC) of SIN-LVs is well established and includes: Vector identity (qPCR), Vector concentration/titer (ELISA), Vector functional titer (flow cytometry), residual plasmid DNA (VSV-G DNA qPCR), Residual host DNA (antigen-specific qPCR), detection of replication competent lentivirus (RCL), quantification of residual Benzonase (ELISA), total protein measurements (protein assay), microbiological control (bacteria and fungi assay), detection of endotoxin (LAL assay) as well as volume, pH and appearance (36).

Several obstacles still limit the applicability of large scale use of clinical LVs for medical care. The high costs of LVs for production of T cell therapies, is an important bottle-neck contributing to exorbitant costs of the cell products for a single treatment course (currently >300.000 US dollars in the United States) (37). Further, due to the currently limited manufacturing capacity for LVs, the commercially available CAR-T cell therapies are only regarded as a second-, third- or fourth-line therapeutic option for patients failing to respond to, or have relapsed after conventional therapies (37).

CLINICAL MANUFACTURING OF CAR-T CELLS GENERATED WITH LVs/RVs

A major challenge for academic institutions, such that CAR-T cells become a standard clinical strategy, is to scale out the GMP- compliant manufacturing (38-41). The entire manufacturing process for semi-automated or automated processes requires 12 days (range 6-22 days) (39, 42). The subsequent procedures include T cell activation, gene transduction, expansion and often cryopreservation after the final formulation. First, T cells, selected (e.g. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) or not, are commonly activated with agonistic anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies and expanded in the presence of stimulatory cytokines (mostly IL-7, IL-15 and/or IL-2) for 1-2 days (38). Afterwards, the viral vectors are added to the cell culture system, often in the presence of cationic adjuvants to enhance the transduction efficacy. Prior to large-scale CAR-T cell manufacturing, pilot lots are tested with different vector dosages to yield a satisfactory multiplicity of infection (M.O.I.), i.e., resulting in 5 or less viral copies per cell. After transduction, CAR-T cells are expanded in culture with cytokines for additional 5-10 days. Optimized GMP protocols using RVs/LVs have resulted in high gene delivery efficacy, resulting a range of 25-80% CAR-positive T cells including both CD4⁺CD3⁺ and CD8⁺CD3⁺ CAR-T cells after transduction and expansion. Since LV gene transfer is usually robust in actively replicating T cells, manual manufacturing methods can be efficiently replaced with closed automated systems (42, 43). Importantly, digitally controlled automated manufacturing systems can potentially improve the practicability and lower the costs associated with clean rooms and highly trained personnel for production of CAR-T cells for a broader patient usage (41). Thus, in sum, although the upstream production and testing of clinical grade RVs/LVs still remains complex and expensive, the downstream T cell transduction procedures are relatively straightforward, particularly with the launching of powerful automated cell manufacturing systems allowing consistent gene transfer efficacy, cell recovery and viability (Table 1).

TRANSGENE "KNOCK-IN" WITH CRISPR-Cas GENE EDITING

The 2020 Nobel Prize for Chemistry was awarded to Jennifer Doudna and Emmanuelle Charpentier, eight years after their original publication describing how the CRISPR RNAs (crRNAs) can guide recombinant Cas9 enzymes to recognize, bind and cut a DNA sequence of interest in vitro (44). They elucidated how a mature crRNA base-paired to trans-activating crRNA (tracrRNA) was able to form a duplex RNA structure, which guides the CRISPR-associated Streptococcus thermophilus and Streptococcus pyogenes (Sp)Cas9 proteins to the target DNA where it then introduces double-stranded (ds) breaks. They also demonstrated that dual-tracrRNA:crRNA when engineered as a single RNA chimera could also direct sequence-specific Cas9 dsDNA cleavage (44). The high flexibility and efficacy of the RNA-guided nuclease CRISPR represents a disruptive technology which has opened several doors for synthetic biology and cell therapies.

The use of a programmable nuclease to precisely edit DNA at specific loci was then used by Eyquem et al. to replace the endogenous T cell receptor (TCR) alpha chain with a CAR. They combined transfection of anti-CD3/CD28-stimulated T cells

	RV/LV	CRISPR-Cas RNP
Generation of Gene transfer system	Viral packaging and purification, customized, complex, costly	Highly adaptable and modular, RNA/ DNA synthesis and recombinant protein, simple
QC of gene transfer system	Complex molecular biology and virology, biochemical, biological tests	Simple biochemical synthesis and biochemical tests
PBMC/T cell activation	1-2 days	1-3 days
T cell modification	Virus plus adjuvant, overnight incubation	Several reagents, electroporation and resting
T cell expansion	>1000 fold relative to input	Up to 200 fold relative to input
Insertion in genome	Mostly random and in pro oncogenic hotspots	Targeted to specific loci but off sites possible
Multicistronic gene transfer	Feasible within gene cargo capacity	Remains to be optimized
Production of HLA-KO Allogenic CAR-T cells	Feasible with shRNAs or gRNAs expressed in viral vector, and with electroporation of mRNAs expressing TALENs	Feasible with gRNAs included in gene editing procedure

TABLE 1 | Comparison of technical ease, elements needed, procedures, and efficacies between retroviral vector and lentiviral vector (RV/LV) gene delivery systems with CRISPR-Cas gene editing for production of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells.

with Cas9-single guide (sg)RNA ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes followed by transduction with a recombinant adeno-associated virus serotype 6 (rAAV6) to deliver the DNA donor template and homology-directed DNA repair (HDR) arms for CAR integration into the first exon of TCR- α constant gene (*TRAC*) (45). They observed homogeneous CAR expression in human T cells and *TRAC*-integrated CAR-T cells therapeutically outperformed CAR-T cells generated *via* RV transduction in a preclinical mouse model of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Improving the design of the CD19-CAR was shown to further increase the potency of *TRAC*-replaced CAR-T cells in leukemia and lymphoma models (46). Subsequently, these advances were adopted by other groups for use of CAR-T cells in the context of haploidentical stem cell transplantation (47).

Fully non-viral gene editing approaches with DNA templates for CAR/TCR knock-ins are rapidly emerging (48) (**Table 2**). Roth et al. demonstrated the use of virus-free knock-in to replace the endogenous TCR with an ectopic TCR targeting the NY-ESO-1 cancer antigen (54). Cas9 RNPs were co-electroporated with a blunt-ended dsDNA HDR template (HDRT) with homology arms designed to introduce the α and β chains of the TCR into the *TRAC* gene (54). The resulting TCR-engineered T cells specifically recognized NY-ESO-1 and killed tumor cells expressing NY-ESO-1 *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Interestingly, the gene edited T cells engineered with the CRISPR-Cas system mounted better antitumor immune responses in a mouse model than T cells gene modified with lentiviral vector expressing the same TCR, probably because they could be better self-regulated to avoid exhaustion.

Both the automated and large-scale chemical production of the gRNAs and novel enzymatic techniques to synthesize the HDRT have sky-rocketed in recent years. Although still costly at the clinical stage, a large set of CRISPR products are broadly available for basic research from multiple commercial vendors. The number of manufacturers that provide GMP services for Cas enzymes and customized gRNAs or DNA templates is starting to expand, and due to demand and competition, will likely become more affordable for clinical use in the years to come. Since these products are chemically defined, the quality control analyses will be mostly chemical/biochemical. Furthermore, CRISPR-Cas related reagents have extraordinary stability. Some studies have successfully lyophilized defined RNP/DNA composition, which could further improve roll-out of the technology (55).

Unlike RVs/LVs, the RNP complexes used for gene editing lack the machinery to cross the cellular membrane and reach the chromatin within the intra-nuclear space (Table 1). Most published protocols use electroporation as means to introduce the RNP into the cell with minimal toxicity to T cells (56, 57) (58). However, co-delivery of large dsDNA donor templates required for CAR knock-in induces significant dose-dependent toxicity (50, 54) (Table 2). Physical shear stress, DNA damage responses as well as innate immune responses to free cytosolic RNA or DNA, endanger cell viability, gene modification and ultimately a good recovery of CAR⁺ viable T cells. In contrast to dsDNA, TCR-knock-in with ssDNA donor templates is less toxic, however with significantly reduced integration rates compared to dsDNA for pooled CAR knock-ins (49). Use of anionic adjuvants that disperse RNPs have been shown to reduce toxicity and increase efficacy of virus-free reprogramming with large dsDNA donor templates (55).

As a result of different optimization steps, in most publications on virus-free TCR/CAR knock-ins blunt-ended dsDNA or plasmids were used with the frequency of knock-in T cells reported in a range between 5-50% after 7-14 days of expansion (49, 50, 51, 52, 53). Based on experience of authors of this review, the number of recovered T cells 10 days after initiation of the editing procedure can reach 10-200 times the number of PBMCs used as input (51). Initial cell loss after electroporation and the modest expansion rate observed remain limiting factors warranting innovative technologies. These could include nanocarriers, liposome or virus-like particle-based delivery platforms for DNA and/or RNPs which circumvent electroporation procedures. Furthermore, synthetic DNA donor templates may be optimized or enhanced to decrease toxicity, increase efficacy, and reduce the risk for unintentional integration events.

In conclusion, the materials used for virus-free CRISPR-Cas editing are and will be easier to produce, store and distribute for clinical use than large-scale manufacturing of RVs/LVs. The current challenge is to further optimize and standardize the gene editing procedures to improve CAR T cell yields and manufacturing stability. Subsequently, virus-free knock-in methods should be adopted for automated manufacturing systems to accommodate future clinical scaling (41, 59).

Reference	Target Antigen and co-stimu- lation	Target Genetic Locus	Methods for Gene Editing	Frequency of CAR+ T Cells after Knock-in	Potency Assays in vitro and in vivo
Eyquem et al. Nature 2017 (45)	CD19 CD28 zeta	TRAC	sgRNA and Cas9 mRNA AAV-mediated HDR	Up to 40%(10e6 AAV dose)	In vitro culture with Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP or NIH-3T3/CD19
		B2M	sgRNA-Cas9 mRNA AAV-mediated HDR	14%	In vivo Nalm-6/fluc/GFP xenogra fted in NSG male mice
Feucht et al, Nature Medicine 2019 (46)	CD19 CD28 Zeta (+ITAM- mutated versions)	TRAC	sgRNA and Cas9 mRNA AAV-mediated HDR	60-75%	<i>In vitro</i> culture with Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP or NIH/3T3/CD19 <i>In vivo</i> Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP xenograftedin NSG male mice
Wiebking et al, Haematologica 2021 (47)	CD19 CD28 zeta	TRAC	sgRNA-Cas9RNP AAV-mediated HDR	>70%	In vitro co-culture cytotoxicity assays & cytokine production from supernatants (ELISA) In vivo Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP xenograft in NSG mice
Roth et al. Cell 2020 (49)	Different chimeric receptors (pool) + TCR e.g. TGFβR2- 41BB	TRAC	SgRNA-Cas9 RNP dsDNA-mediated HDR	5-6%	In vitro expansion, co-culture killing assay and <i>in vivo</i> solid tumor A375 melanoma xenograft in NSG mice
Ode et al. Cancers 2020 (50)	IL13Rα2 CD28	TRAC	sgRNA-Cas9RNP dsDNA-mediated HDR	20% (but low expression level)	none
Kath et al, Biorxiv preprint 2021 (51) In press Mol Ther Meth Clin Dev 2022	CD19 CD28 zeta	TRAC AAVS1	sgRNA-Cas9RNP dsDNA-medai ted HDR sgRNA-Cas9RNP dsDNA-medai ted HDR	25-68%(enhanced by drug co- treatments) 10-15%	In vitro co-culture cytotoxicity assays & intracellular staining of effector cytokineproduction In vivo Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP xenograft in NRG mice
Muller et al. Frontiersin Immunology 2021 (52)	HLA-A2 CD28 zeta	TRAC	sgRNA-Cas9RNP dsDNA-mediated HDR	ca. 8-10% (increased during expansion up to 90%)	In vitro assays for Treg function (phenotyping, activation status, proliferation suppression) In vivo mouse model of GvHD and xenogeneic GvHD
Jing et al. Small Methods 2021 (53)	CD19 or CD19/CD22 CD28 mutZeta or Zeta	TRAC	sgRNA-Cas9 RNP Minicircle pDNA-mediated HDR sgRNA-Cas9 RNP AAV-mediated HDR	10-18% (with two Cas9-target sequences in donor template & recombinant Cyclin D protein) No details regarding KI rates	In vitro expansion, co-culture cytotoxicity assays. (Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP) In vivo Nalm-6/fLuc/GFP xenograft in NSG mice

TABLE 2 | Examples of prominent studies using CRISPR system for genetic modification of T cells to produce CAR-T cells.

CLINICAL QUALITY CONTROL AND IN VITRO POTENCY ANALYSES OF CAR-T CELLS

In process and end process QC of CAR-T cells gene-modified with RVs/LVs include tests for cell identification (T cell number, cell viability, phenotypic characterization, expression of CAR or other transgenes), impurity measurements and safety (sterility, mycoplasma, endotoxin). More comprehensively, fluorescent-activated cell sorting (FACS) analyses of cell count, cell composition and transduction rate are established using basic panels including staining for CD3/CD4/CD8/CD14/CD16 CD45/CD56. A viability dye, such as 7AAD, is used for exclusion of dead cells. The panel also includes antibodies binding to the extracellular domains of the CAR-specific detection antigens (i.e., binding to the single-chain fragment variable, or scFv) in order to quantify the CAR expression levels and to determine the frequency of CAR⁺ cells within the T cell subpopulations (42). In addition, transduction efficiency can also be determined by quantitative PCR. Although highly

unlikely due to the use of SIN vectors, testing for the presence of replication-competent RV/LV particles (replication-competent retrovirus (RCRs) or the counterpart RCLs) by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) is mandatory. Besides the above described parameters, the DNA encoding the VSV-G viral envelope (that can be carried by the transduced cells) is quantified using real time qPCR (according to the European Pharmacopeia). In addition, *in vitro* potency assays are needed, such as co-culture of CAR-T cells and target cells and measurement of IFN- γ and other cytokines into the medium supernatant in response to T cell activation.

In addition to these validated batch-release QC parameters, several other optional analyses can be included as monitoring only for research purposes. In this respect, FACS-based multiparametric immunophenotyping is used in order to characterize cell subpopulations including fitness of the cells, naïve/effector and central memory T cells as well as expression of co-stimulatory and inhibitory checkpoint receptors. Quantification is done in both the final CAR-T cell product and in the peripheral blood of patients for immune monitoring of CAR-T cell persistence (60).

In contrast to the QC analyses of CAR-T cells generated *via* RV/LV transduction as described above, there is currently little clinical experience with CRISPR-Cas gene edited T cell products (61–64). Overall, gene-edited CAR-T cell products will require the same validated batch-release QC parameters as RV/LV-transduced CAR-T cell products. Clinical release criteria of CAR-T cells engineered by knock-in into the *TRAC* locus should be complemented by a stringent FACS assessment of residual T cells expressing TCR- α/β^+ in the final product. Additionally, quantification of residual xenogeneic Cas9 protein may be performed to avoid immunogenicity risks during short-expansion protocols (65). In our experience, Cas9 is usually rapidly diluted and degraded after transfection in highly proliferating T cells within just a few days (66).

Preclinical assessments and monitoring for research differ dramatically for gene-edited CAR T cells: The current main safety concern of gene-edited CAR T cells is related to unintended consequences of the nuclease activity, including off-target editing and chromosomal aberrations such as large deletions or translocations. Therefore, preclinical QC must include careful selection and off-target profiling of the gRNA and respective Cas enzyme. Regulators commonly request a set of assays to identify potential off-targets in the genome, which can include in silico prediction with computational tools, but must also include unbiased experimental approaches (67), which have been reviewed extensively elsewhere (68). Subsequently, in depth analysis of putative off-target sites must be performed typically by next generation sequencing (NGS). Large on-target deletions as well as other chromosomal arrangements are usually not detected by amplicon-based sequencing of predicted offtargets (69, 70). As standard karyotyping may not have the necessary sensitivity to identify these aberrations, novel NGSbased approaches including CAST-seq, a sensitive assay for identification and quantification of unintended chromosomal rearrangements have been developed (71). Clonality analysis at the preclinical stage may inform on excessive outgrowth of cell clones harboring driver mutations. However, recent evidence from a clinical trial with multiplex-gene edited T cells reported that cells harboring translocations between the intended cut-sites were lost, indicating decreased cell fitness of the aberrant cells (61, 62). Of note, as random integrations of double-stranded DNA templates are rare, HDR-based gene insertion has significantly reduced risk for insertional mutagenesis over RV/ LV (49). Past experience with in vitro assays for prediction of insertional genotoxicity was established for RV/LV systems and this knowledge can be applied to formally prove the safety of gene editing (72).

Exploiting endogenous transcription programs by gene editing knock-in can further circumvent the need for viral promoters or promoters that lead to supra-physiologic transcriptional activity and that can impact the expression of neighboring genes (73). Therefore, in order to predict and assess long-term safety of gene-edited CAR-T cells, forward-looking and validated assays that allow quantification of off-targets or translocations will be highly important. *In vitro* potency assays for gene-edited CAR-T cells can be largely adopted from previous experience listed above for CAR-T cells generated with RVs/LVs. Remarkably, analysis of cytokines released or cytotoxicity effects after co-culture of CAR-T cells generated by knock-in into TRAC with target cells may show increased antigen-specific reactivity, most likely because the TCR^{neg} CAR-T cell product lacks allo-reactive effects. This is an important finding, as TCR^{neg} CAR-T cells can be tested against panels of several patient-derived primary tumor cells. Allogeneic CAR-T cells could be recognized by the recipient patient's immune system which can limit their therapeutic efficacy by preventing cell persistence or reducing effector functions (74). Certain patient populations, including transplant recipients or heavily transfused patients, may already have allo-specific antibodies, which could inactivate off-the-shelf CAR-T cells. Careful matching of healthy-donor or additional genetic interventions may circumvent this problem. Standard assays to evaluate allogeneic cell compatibility including screening of patient serum for presence of antibodies recognizing the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) or other features of the allogeneic CAR-T cell product could be included to select a suitable gene-edited CAR-T cell product based on the patients given allo-sensitization (74).

PRECLINICAL MODELS FOR TESTING CAR-T CELLS AND OFF-THE-SHELF CAR-T CELLS

The *in vivo* response to CAR-T based immunotherapies varies due to substantial molecular heterogeneity and immune suppressive pathways of human tumors and the poorly understood mechanisms that determine CAR-T efficacy as well as to predict side effects (75). Nonetheless, preclinical mouse models used to demonstrate efficacy of CAR-T cells generated after RV/LV transduction were indispensable for their subsequent evaluation in clinical trials and ultimately for their clinical approval.

In general, the first proof-of-concept models use cell-line derived xenograft (CDX) tumor models. Cell lines are commercially available from repositories for comparative studies performed by different laboratories and some molecular pathways associated with cancer in the cell lines are well defined. For example, studies by Brentjens, Sadelain et al, second-generation CD19CAR-T cells (with the CD28zeta costimulatory domain) produced after RV transduction were validated in vivo, in SCID-Beige mice implanted intravenously with Nalm-6 cells expressing firefly luciferase (fLuc). The injected cells that develop into B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) in mice and can be monitored by optical imaging analyses (76). In the Nalm-6 model, ALL disease is systemic with involvement of the bone marrow and central nervous system (76). Studies by Tsukahara et al. evaluated the accumulation of CD19-CAR RV-modified Tcells in Burkitt's lymphoma lesions that develop in lymph node structures after i.v. implantation with the cell line Raji/fLuc (77). The Nalm-6/fLuc and Raji/fLuc xenograft models are useful

models that are still commonly used for comparative evaluation of new designs of CD19 CAR-T cells targeting leukemias and lymphomas generated after viral gene delivery or by gene editing (54, 78).

However, immortalized cancer cell lines, either expanded in vitro or grown as xenograft tumor models, cannot reflect the real complexity of human tumors and only provide limited insights into human malignancies (79). The cell lines do not accurately reflect the primary tumor in gene expression and tissue composition as they have been cultivated in laboratories for many years or even decades (80). Therefore, preclinical studies on such lines are not sufficient to offer personalized and welldifferentiated CAR-T cell immunotherapy in the future. As a dynamically emerging field, collections of primary tumors grafted into immunodeficient mice, patient-derived xenograft (PDX) mouse models. The mouse strain used for PDX-based studies is a very important determinant for the engraftment of cells for development of xenograft tumors. Several xenograft models are currently exploring non-obese diabetic (NOD)-scid mice or their derivatives because fewer human cells are phagocytosed by mouse macrophages (81). Further, a mutation in the interleukin 2 (IL-2) receptor common gamma chain (*Il2ry*), resulted in the NOD-scid-IL2ry^(-/-) (NSG) mouse strain lacking murine T and B cells and as well as natural killer (NK) cells (82). Thus, effective engraftment of different tumor cell lines in the NSG and in the related NOD/Shi-scid $IL2r\gamma^{(-/-)}$ (NOG) mouse strains has been adopted in several laboratories for evaluation of CAR-T cells produced after RV/LV transduction (79). Milone, June et al. initiated the innovative use of NSG mice implanted with primary ALL cells to test CD19CAR-T cells with the CD28 and/or 4-1BB intracellular domains generated by LV transduction (83). CD19CAR-T cells containing 4-1BB- ζ showed higher anti-leukemic efficacy compared to CD19CARs containing CD28- ζ signaling receptors and were significantly more persistent in vivo (83). Such mouse models using primary tumor samples reveal a more differentiated view on inter- and intra-tumor heterogeneity and more closely resemble the patient's tumor in terms of histopathologic and molecular properties, as well as response to selected therapy. In particular, solid tumor types such as lung cancer (80), breast cancer (84) and gastric cancer (85) associated with vascular, mesenchymal and inflammatory architecture can be better recapitulated in vivo with PDX-based xenograft models. These preclinical models reflecting tumor heterogeneity are key for obtaining an understanding of how this heterogeneity affects responses to CAR-T cell immunotherapy and how it may change during treatment both at the genomic and at the phenotypic levels (86-90).

However, although the abovementioned models are extremely useful, they have a major limitation. CDX and PDX models are primarily generated in immunodeficient mice. The absence of essential elements of the human immune system in these mice limits the significance of such models to investigate the role of the immune system and interactions with CAR-T cells in anti-tumor responses, safety and immune toxicity. Immunodeficient mice transplanted with human hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are considered "fully humanized" human immune system (HIS) models since, after several months, they reconstitute a humanized immune system. Human HSCs engraft in the bone marrow and then differentiate systemically into several types of human hematopoietic lineages, such as mature leukocytes and myeloid cells, despite the full mismatch between the human leukocyte antigens (HLAs) expressed on the human hematopoietic cells and the mouse MHC expressed on tissues. Humanized mice are new animal models designed to address some of these efficacy and safety risks associated with cytokine release syndrome, thereby making them an attractive alternative for preclinical immunotherapy research (79, 91).

Allogeneic gene-edited TCR^{neg} HLA-I^{neg} HLA-II^{neg} CAR-T cells I will require preclinical efficacy testing in mice expressing HLAs matched to the tumors. Further, since cells lacking expression of HLAs can be targeted by natural killer (NK) cells, humanized mouse models with NK cells and that simulate the tumor microenvironment will substantially facilitate basic and translational research on allogeneic gene-edited CAR-T cell-based immunotherapy (92, 93).

DESIGN OF CLINICAL TRIALS FOR TESTING ALLOGENEIC GENE-EDITED CAR-T CELLS

To date, several thousand patients have been treated or included in trials testing autologous RV/LV transduced CAR-T cells (94). Although allogeneic gene edited CAR-T cells may ease the procurement of CAR-T cells for patients in urgent need, the clinical trials will have to address several new aspects. For CAR-T cells produced after RV/LV transduction, the efficacy of the T cell therapy is associated with parameters such as disease indication, numbers of CAR-T cell product administered per kilogram (95). However, if the efficacy of the allogenic gene-edited CAR-T cells is substantially higher or lower, these associations would need to be re-evaluated. The major advantage of the allogeneic CAR-T cells for clinical study designs is that the product of one donor can be tested simultaneously in different subjects, which may result in more consistent data per donor-derived product. However, there may also be significant batch-to-batch product differences due to donor characteristics. Of note, one study could demonstrate that healthy donor-derived CD19CAR-T cells outperformed autologous leukemia patient-derived CAR-T cells in an in vivo xenograft model (96). Multiple reasons could explain the phenomenon: i) damage introduced by prior chemotherapy regimen, because patients were refractory to standard of care; ii) patient-intrinsic defects in effector immunity, which contributed to cancer development in the first place.

Importantly, clinical trials with autologous CAR-T cells produced after RV/LV transduction have established a clear toxicity profile, in particular cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and immune-effector cell associated neurotoxicity (ICANS) (97). With optimized clinical management standards, the rates of severe CRS and ICANS were markedly reduced and the results have been crucial to further expand the extended clinical application of CAR-T cells, e.g. in an outpatient setting. Of note, the timing of these complications can vary substantially between different CAR-T products, even for the same target. For BCMA targeted CAR-T therapies, CRS occurred within 1-7 days after infusion (98, 99). Similarly, for CD19 CAR-T cell therapies, the rate of neurological complications showed striking differences between two different cell products (100, 101). Thus, allogeneic gene-edited CAR-T cells will need to be benchmarked against these clinical results for CRS and ICANS obtained with autologous CAR-T cells, particularly because new immune-toxicities may emerge.

Regarding geno-toxicity, CAR-T cells generated with RV/LV transduction have shown an excellent safety profile. However, a recently, a trial of HLA-matched allogeneic CAR-T cells generated with the *hyperPiggyBac* transposon system, two out of ten children developed CAR-T derived lymphomas (102). Detailed genetic investigations were performed on biopsy material from tumor cells to elucidate the underlying pathogenesis. A high frequencies of genomic integration sites were found (16). Notably, in both lymphoma cases, *BACH2*, a gene involved in regulation of T cell plasticity, was downregulated with integration sites found within the *BACH2* locus (102). Although the mechanism of gene delivery by *hyperPiggyBac* and non-viral gene editing are different, these occurrences provide a note of caution regarding genotoxicity, as some loci may be hot-spots for insertional mutagenesis *via* HDR mechanisms.

Graft-versus-host-disease (GvHD) is not an issue in autologous CAR-T trials, however, if TCRs remain intact in allogeneic CAR-T cells, GvHD could become an additional relevant toxicity. In this case, it may have a different clinical presentation compared to GvHD presentation after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Biopsies in affected tissues could inform about relevant cellular infiltrates. Further, lymphodepletion regimens may have to be optimized to enable a high engraftment of allogeneic CAR-T cells.

In addition to response rate and progression-free survival as typical efficacy endpoints, CAR-T cell persistence and clonality are important parameters to assess in clinical trials. This is typically done by assessing the CAR on T cells by flow cytometry or PCR amplification of the corresponding gene insertion in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. In contrast to the early expansion phase, quantification may be hampered at later stages because of the detection limit of these assays, in particular when CAR-T cells migrate to tissue niches. There is much greater genetic diversity between host cells and gene-edited allogeneic CAR-T cells which may hamper their persistence, but this could also be exploited for detection purposes. In addition to analysis of the CAR, analysis of HLA chimerism could be performed. Although MHC mismatches can be potentially eliminated by the knock-out of HLA class I and II, minor histocompatibility complexes and other polymorphic proteins can still potentially lead to allo-sensitization and rejection of the gene-edited CAR-T cells (74).

While these new complexities and additional safety risks of allogeneic CAR-T cells must be acknowledged, there are also

significant advantages: Allogeneic CAR-T cells may be produced in large batches from healthy donor apheresis products and be made available as "off-the-shelf" products. This will dramatically shorten the delay between the decision to initiate CAR-T therapy and the actual delivery of the treatment. Currently, it may take up to 3 months from obtaining a production slot, organizing the apheresis, and shipping to the cell manufacturing facility, receiving the product, and infusing into the patient. Allogenic CAR-T cells may be available within a few days or even hours if stored at the site of care. In addition, the production of several batches from a single apheresis may substantially lower the cost of this treatment modality and thus alleviate the financial burden of CAR-T therapy.

PAVING THE WAY FOR GENE EDITED CAR-T CELLS: OUTLOOK AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

When considering a switch towards more innovative gene delivery approaches, i.e. from RV/LV systems to gene-edited non-viral CAR-T cells, several challenges need to be addressed until their broad clinical application:

- CAR-T cell performance will depend on the nature and location of transgene insertion. Identification of the optimal locus to allow for reasonable CAR expression level and its physiological regulation is paramount. As cargo payloads for HDR at a single locus are limited to the DNA repair mode (i.e., HDR), compact CAR formats and multicistronic knock-ins may be a first step toward enhanced CAR-T cells. However, improving the respective genetic cargo capacity using novel gene editors (e.g. CRISPR-integrases) or enhancing our ability for multiple knock-ins in a single CAR-T cell product will be needed for certain indications (e.g. solid cancers).
- The quality and safety of gene-edited/knocked-in CAR-T cells will largely depend on the gene editors used and what loci are targeted. Careful designs of gRNAs and HDRTs must be performed to avoid off-target effects and prevent insertional mutagenesis.
- The feasibility for clinical use is presently still limited by the relatively low number of recovered gene edited CAR-T cells as discussed above. New manufacturing and downstream technologies are required to decrease toxicity during gene editing. These could include, improved physical transfection systems, novel chemical transfection agents (e.g. lipid-nanoparticles) or pharmacological strategies to lower the cytotoxic effects of DNA double strand breaks that occur in the editing process. Furthermore, automated cell production, efficient expansion of T cells with favorable differentiation state and viable cell banking (for off-the-shelf purposes) are needed for success at clinical stage.
- Ultimately, the clinical potency of gene edited CAR-T cells will be strongly correlated with their *in vivo* activation upon antigen detection and persistence for long-term antitumor surveillance.
Herein, deducting the optimal strategy to improve allogeneic CAR-T cell persistence in immunocompetent hosts will be key to success: Choosing the right tool for genetic engineering, establishing advanced host conditioning protocols and potentially adding HLA-matching procedures are possible ways forward. The prospect of future off-the-shelf products will also require solid logistics for manufacturing, cryopreservation and distribution.

- The development of predictive *in vitro* assays and humanized mouse systems must be further enforced by the community to benchmark antitumor efficacy and safety (e.g. CRS, GvHD) of novel gene-edited CAR-T cell candidates. Due to the abundance of potential strategies to enhance gene-edited CAR-T cells in the future, stable and reproducible models are paramount to prioritize them in the translational efforts and early clinical trials.

Following the philosopher George Santayna's wise words "those who cannot remember the past are condemned to repeat it", the vast amount of knowledge acquired with CAR-T cells produced with viral systems will have to be remembered so that we are not condemned to experience again the past issues and, instead, to forthrightly improve the efficacy, safety and availability of gene edited CAR-T cells.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RS created the first concept of the manuscript, created the figure and tables, organized and distributed the headings and wrote the introduction and headings 1, 2, 6, 8 and 5, and revised the final

REFERENCES

- Naldini L, Trono D, Verma IM. Lentiviral Vectors, Two Decades Later. Science (2016) 353(6304):1101–2. doi: 10.1126/science.aah6192
- Blaese RM, Culver KW, Miller AD, Carter CS, Fleisher T, Clerici M, et al. T Lymphocyte-Directed Gene Therapy for ADA- SCID: Initial Trial Results After 4 Years. Science (1995) 270(5235):475–80. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5235.475
- Zufferey R, Nagy D, Mandel RJ, Naldini L, Trono D. Multiply Attenuated Lentiviral Vector Achieves Efficient Gene Delivery *In Vivo. Nat Biotechnol* (1997) 15(9):871–5. doi: 10.1038/nbt0997-871
- Kraunus J, Schaumann DH, Meyer J, Modlich U, Fehse B, Brandenburg G, et al. Self-Inactivating Retroviral Vectors With Improved RNA Processing. *Gene Ther* (2004) 11(21):1568–78. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3302309
- Tucci F, Scaramuzza S, Aiuti A, Mortellaro A. Update on Clinical *Ex Vivo* Hematopoietic Stem Cell Gene Therapy for Inherited Monogenic Diseases. *Mol Ther* (2021) 29(2):489–504. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.11.020
- Biasco L. M, Buning H, Schambach A. Analyzing the Genotoxicity of Retroviral Vectors in Hematopoietic Cell Gene Therapy. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2018) 8:21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2017.10.002
- Porter DL, Kalos M, Zheng Z, Levine B, June C. Chimeric Antigen Receptor Therapy for B-Cell Malignancies. J Cancer (2011) 2:331–2. doi: 10.7150/jca.2.331
- Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells for Acute Lymphoid Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2013) 368(16):1509–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- Locke FL, Neelapu SS, Bartlett NL, Siddiqi T, Chavez JC, Hosing CM, et al. Phase 1 Results of ZUMA-1: A Multicenter Study of KTE-C19 Anti-CD19 CAR T Cell Therapy in Refractory Aggressive Lymphoma. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25(1):285–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2016.10.020

manuscript. DW wrote headings 4, 5, 7 and 8, completed table 2, and revised the final manuscript. MC wrote headings 1 and 6. CS, wrote heading 7. UK wrote headings 2 and 3, and revised the final manuscript. All authors agree to be accountable for the content of the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

RS's laboratory is financed by grants of the German Center for Infections Research (DZIF-TTU07.912 to R.S.), by the Cancer Research Center Cologne Essen (CCCE), by the German Cancer Aid (Deutsche Krebshilfe Nr. 70114234 to RS) and by the Jackson Laboratory (USA, grant LV-HLA IO). DW has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 825392 (ReSHAPE-h2020.eu) and is generously supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BIH Center for Regenerative Therapies), a Berlin Institute of Health (BIH) Crossfield project fund of the BIH Research Focus Regenerative Medicine and the SPARK-BIH program.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This manuscript was kindly and thoughtfully edited by Nicola Brindle, from the Pre-award grant management and editing at BIH Center for Regenerative Therapy, Charité -Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

- Jain P, Nastoupil L, Westin J, Lee HJ, Navsaria L, Steiner RE, et al. Outcomes and Management of Patients With Mantle Cell Lymphoma After Progression on Brexucabtagene Autoleucel Therapy. *Br J Haematol* (2021) 192(2):e38–42. doi: 10.1111/bjh.17197
- Abramson JS, Palomba ML, Gordon LI, Lunning MA, Wang M, Arnason J, et al. Lisocabtagene Maraleucel for Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphomas (TRANSCEND NHL 001): A Multicentre Seamless Design Study. *Lancet* (2020) 396(10254):839–52. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)31366-0
- 12. Pearson AD, Rossig C, Mackall C, Shah NN, Baruchel A, Reaman G, et al. Paediatric Strategy Forum for Medicinal Product Development of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cells in Children and Adolescents With Cancer: ACCELERATE in Collaboration With the European Medicines Agency With Participation of the Food and Drug Administration. *Eur J Cancer* (2022) 160:112–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2021.10.016
- Shah NN, Johnson BD, Schneider D, Zhu F, Szabo A, Keever-Taylor CA, et al. Bispecific Anti-CD20, Anti-CD19 CAR T Cells for Relapsed B Cell Malignancies: A Phase 1 Dose Escalation and Expansion Trial. *Nat Med* (2020) 26(10):1569–75. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1081-3
- Monjezi R, Miskey C, Gogishvili T, Schleef M, Schmeer M, Einsele H, et al. Enhanced CAR T-Cell Engineering Using non-Viral Sleeping Beauty Transposition From Minicircle Vectors. *Leukemia* (2017) 31(1):186–94. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.180
- Magnani CF, Gaipa G, Lussana F, Belotti D, Gritti G, Napolitano S, et al. Sleeping Beauty-Engineered CAR T Cells Achieve Antileukemic Activity Without Severe Toxicities. J Clin Invest (2020) 130(11):6021–33. doi: 10.1172/JCI138473
- 16. Micklethwaite KP, Gowrishankar K, Gloss BS, Li Z, Street JA, Moezzi L, et al. Investigation of Product-Derived Lymphoma Following Infusion of

Piggybac-Modified CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells. *Blood* (2021) 138(16):1391–405. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021010858

- Rahrmann EP, Wolf NK, Otto GM, Heltemes-Harris L, Ramsey LB, Shu J, et al. Sleeping Beauty Screen Identifies RREB1 and Other Genetic Drivers in Human B-Cell Lymphoma. *Mol Cancer Res* (2019) 17(2):567–82. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-18-0582
- Barrett DM, Liu X, Jiang S, June CH, Grupp SA, Zhao Y. Regimen-Specific Effects of RNA-Modified Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Mice With Advanced Leukemia. *Hum Gene Ther* (2013) 24(8):717–27. doi: 10.1089/ hum.2013.075
- Dull T, Zufferey R, Kelly M, Mandel RJ, Nguyen M, Trono D, et al. A Third-Generation Lentivirus Vector With a Conditional Packaging System. J Virol (1998) 72(11):8463–71. doi: 10.1128/JVI.72.11.8463-8471.1998
- Milone MC, O'Doherty U. Clinical Use of Lentiviral Vectors. Leukemia (2018) 32(7):1529–41. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0106-0
- Olbrich H, Slabik C, Stripecke R. Reconstructing the Immune System With Lentiviral Vectors. *Virus Genes* (2017) 53(5):723–32. doi: 10.1007/s11262-017-1495-2
- Brandt LJB, Barnkob MB, Michaels YS, Heiselberg J, Barington T. Emerging Approaches for Regulation and Control of CAR T Cells: A Mini Review. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:326. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00326
- Zhao Z, Condomines M, van der Stegen SJC, Perna F, Kloss CC, Gunset G, et al. Structural Design of Engineered Costimulation Determines Tumor Rejection Kinetics and Persistence of CAR T Cells. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 28 (4):415–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.09.004
- 24. Zhang M, Jin X, Sun R, Xiong X, Wang J, Xie D, et al. Optimization of Metabolism to Improve Efficacy During CAR-T Cell Manufacturing. *J Transl Med* (2021) 19(1):499. doi: 10.1186/s12967-021-03165-x
- Chmielewski M, Hombach AA, Abken H. Of CARs and TRUCKs: Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T Cells Engineered With an Inducible Cytokine to Modulate the Tumor Stroma. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 257(1):83–90. doi: 10.1111/imr.12125
- Castellarin M, Watanabe K, June CH, Kloss CC, Posey ADJr. Driving Cars to the Clinic for Solid Tumors. *Gene Ther* (2018) 25(3):165–75. doi: 10.1038/ s41434-018-0007-x
- Wilkie S, van Schalkwyk MC, Hobbs S, Davies DM, van der Stegen SJ, Pereira AC, et al. Dual Targeting of ErbB2 and MUC1 in Breast Cancer Using Chimeric Antigen Receptors Engineered to Provide Complementary Signaling. J Clin Immunol (2012) 32(5):1059–70. doi: 10.1007/s10875-012-9689-9
- Bielamowicz K, Fousek K, Byrd TT, Samaha H, Mukherjee M, Aware N, et al. Trivalent CAR T Cells Overcome Interpatient Antigenic Variability in Glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2018) 20(4):506–18. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/ nox182
- 29. Lanitis E, Poussin M, Klattenhoff AW, Song D, Sandaltzopoulos R, June CH, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells With Dissociated Signaling Domains Exhibit Focused Antitumor Activity With Reduced Potential for Toxicity In Vivo. Cancer Immunol Res (2013) 1(1):43–53. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0008
- Chmielewski M, Abken H. CAR T Cells Releasing IL-18 Convert to T-Bet (high) FoxO1(low) Effectors That Exhibit Augmented Activity Against Advanced Solid Tumors. *Cell Rep* (2017) 21(11):3205–19. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2017.11.063
- Song Y, Liu Y, Hu R, Su M, Rood D, Lai L. *In Vivo* Antitumor Activity of a Recombinant IL7/IL15 Hybrid Cytokine in Mice. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2016) 15 (10):2413–21. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0111
- 32. Ma X, Shou P, Smith C, Chen Y, Du H, Sun C, et al. Interleukin-23 Engineering Improves CAR T Cell Function in Solid Tumors. *Nat Biotechnol* (2020) 38(4):448–59. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0398-2
- Chmielewski M, Abken H. TRUCKs: The Fourth Generation of CARs. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2015) 15(8):1145–54. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2015.1046430
- Pincha M, Sundarasetty BS, Stripecke R. Lentiviral Vectors for Immunization: An Inflammatory Field. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2010) 9 (3):309–21. doi: 10.1586/erv.10.9
- 35. Bialek-Waldmann JK, Domning S, Esser R, Glienke W, Mertens M, Aleksandrova K, et al. Induced Dendritic Cells Co-Expressing GM-CSF/ IFN-Alpha/Twt1 Priming T and B Cells and Automated Manufacturing to Boost GvL. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2021) 21:621–41. doi: 10.1016/ j.omtm.2021.04.004

- Perry C, Rayat A. Lentiviral Vector Bioprocessing. Viruses (2021) 13(2):1– 46. doi: 10.3390/v13020268
- Labbe RP, Vessillier S, Rafiq QA. Lentiviral Vectors for T Cell Engineering: Clinical Applications, Bioprocessing and Future Perspectives. *Viruses* (2021) 13(8):1–22. doi: 10.3390/v13081528
- Levine BL, Miskin J, Wonnacott K, Keir C. Global Manufacturing of CAR T Cell Therapy. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2017) 4:92–101. doi: 10.1016/ j.omtm.2016.12.006
- Kohl U, Arsenieva S, Holzinger A, Abken H. CAR T Cells in Trials: Recent Achievements and Challenges That Remain in the Production of Modified T Cells for Clinical Applications. *Hum Gene Ther* (2018) 29(5):559–68. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.254
- Buning H, Fehse B, Ivics Z, Kochanek S, Koehl U, Kupatt C, et al. Gene Therapy "Made in Germany": A Historical Perspective, Analysis of the Status Quo, and Recommendations for Action by the German Society for Gene Therapy. *Hum Gene Ther* (2021) 32(19-20):987–96. doi: 10.1089/ hum.2021.29178.hbu
- Vucinic V, Quaiser A, Luckemeier P, Fricke S, Platzbecker U, Koehl U. Production and Application of CAR T Cells: Current and Future Role of Europe. *Front Med* (*Lausanne*) (2021) 8:713401. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.713401
- 42. Aleksandrova K, Leise J, Priesner C, Melk A, Kubaink F, Abken H, et al. Functionality and Cell Senescence of CD4/ CD8-Selected CD20 CAR T Cells Manufactured Using the Automated CliniMACS Prodigy(R) Platform. *Transfus Med Hemother* (2019) 46(1):47–54. doi: 10.1159/000495772
- Maschan M, Caimi PF, Reese-Koc J, Sanchez GP, Sharma AA, Molostova O, et al. Multiple Site Place-of-Care Manufactured Anti-CD19 CAR-T Cells Induce High Remission Rates in B-Cell Malignancy Patients. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):7200. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-27312-6
- 44. Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E. A Programmable Dual-RNA-Guided DNA Endonuclease in Adaptive Bacterial Immunity. *Science* (2012) 337(6096):816–21. doi: 10.1126/ science.1225829
- 45. Eyquem J, Mansilla-Soto J, Giavridis T, van der Stegen SJ, Hamieh M, Cunanan KM, et al. Targeting a CAR to the TRAC Locus With CRISPR/ Cas9 Enhances Tumour Rejection. *Nature* (2017) 543(7643):113–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21405
- 46. Feucht J, Sun J, Eyquem J, Ho YJ, Zhao Z, Leibold J, et al. Calibration of CAR Activation Potential Directs Alternative T Cell Fates and Therapeutic Potency. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(1):82–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0290-5
- 47. Wiebking V, Lee CM, Mostrel N, Lahiri P, Bak R, Bao G, et al. Genome Editing of Donor-Derived T-Cells to Generate Allogenic Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells: Optimizing Alphabeta T Cell-Depleted Haploidentical Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Haematologica* (2021) 106(3):847–58. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2019.233882
- Razeghian E, Nasution MKM, Rahman HS, Gardanova ZR, Abdelbasset WK, Aravindhan S, et al. A Deep Insight Into CRISPR/Cas9 Application in CAR-T Cell-Based Tumor Immunotherapies. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2021) 12 (1):428. doi: 10.1186/s13287-021-02510-7
- Roth TL, Li PJ, Blaeschke F, Nies JF, Apathy R, Mowery C, et al. Pooled Knockin Targeting for Genome Engineering of Cellular Immunotherapies. *Cell* (2020) 181(3):728–744.e721. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.039
- Ode Z, Condori J, Peterson N, Zhou S, Krenciute G. CRISPR-Mediated Non-Viral Site-Specific Gene Integration and Expression in T Cells: Protocol and Application for T-Cell Therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(6):1–16. doi: 10.3390/cancers12061704
- Kath J, Weijie Du W, Pruene A, Braun T, Thommandru B, Turk R, et al. Pharmacological Interventions Enhance Virus-Free Generation of TRAC-Replaced CAR T Cells. *Mol Ther Meth Clin Dev.* (2022) 25:311–30.
- Muller YD, Ferreira LMR, Ronin E, Ho P, Nguyen V, Faleo G, et al. Precision Engineering of an Anti-HLA-A2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor in Regulatory T Cells for Transplant Immune Tolerance. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:686439. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.686439
- 53. Jing R, Jiao P, Chen J, Meng X, Wu X, Duan Y, et al. Cas9-Cleavage Sequences in Size-Reduced Plasmids Enhance Nonviral Genome Targeting of CARs in Primary Human T Cells. *Small Methods* (2021) 5(7):e2100071. doi: 10.1002/smtd.202100071
- 54. Roth TL, Puig-Saus C, Yu R, Shifrut E, Carnevale J, Li PJ, et al. Reprogramming Human T Cell Function and Specificity With non-Viral

Genome Targeting. Nature (2018) 559(7714):405-9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0326-5

- Nguyen DN, Roth TL, Li PJ, Chen PA, Apathy R, Mamedov MR, et al. Polymer-Stabilized Cas9 Nanoparticles and Modified Repair Templates Increase Genome Editing Efficiency. *Nat Biotechnol* (2020) 38(1):44–9. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0325-6
- 56. Schumann K, Lin S, Boyer E, Simeonov DR, Subramaniam M, Gate RE, et al. Generation of Knock-in Primary Human T Cells Using Cas9 Ribonucleoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A. (2015) 112(33):10437-42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1512503112
- Gundry MC, Brunetti L, Lin A, Mayle AE, Kitano A, Wagner D, et al. Highly Efficient Genome Editing of Murine and Human Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells by CRISPR/Cas9. *Cell Rep* (2016) 17(5):1453–61. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2016.09.092
- Gomes-Silva D, Srinivasan M, Sharma S, Lee CM, Wagner DL, Davis TH, et al. CD7-Edited T Cells Expressing a CD7-Specific CAR for the Therapy of T-Cell Malignancies. *Blood* (2017) 130(3):285–96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-01-761320
- Abou-El-Enein M, Elsallab M, Feldman SA, Fesnak AD, Heslop HE, Marks P, et al. Scalable Manufacturing of CAR T Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Blood Cancer Discovery* (2021) 2(5):408–22. doi: 10.1158/2643-3230.BCD-21-0084
- Blache U, Weiss R, Boldt A, Kapinsky M, Blaudszun AR, Quaiser A, et al. Advanced Flow Cytometry Assays for Immune Monitoring of CAR-T Cell Applications. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:658314. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.658314
- Stadtmauer EA, Fraietta JA, Davis MM, Cohen AD, Weber KL, Lancaster E, et al. CRISPR-Engineered T Cells in Patients With Refractory Cancer. *Science* (2020) 367(6481):1–12. doi: 10.1126/science.aba7365
- 62. Lu Y, Xue J, Deng T, Zhou X, Yu K, Deng L, et al. Safety and Feasibility of CRISPR-Edited T Cells in Patients With Refractory non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Nat Med (2020) 26(5):732–40. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0840-5
- Sheridan C. Off-The-Shelf, Gene-Edited CAR-T Cells Forge Ahead, Despite Safety Scare. Nat Biotechnol (2022) 40(1):5–8. doi: 10.1038/d41587-021-00027-1
- Morgan MA, Buning H, Sauer M, Schambach A. Use of Cell and Genome Modification Technologies to Generate Improved "Off-The-Shelf" CAR T and CAR NK Cells. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1965. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01965
- 65. Wagner DL, Amini L, Wendering DJ, Burkhardt LM, Akyuz L, Reinke P, et al. High Prevalence of Streptococcus Pyogenes Cas9-Reactive T Cells Within the Adult Human Population. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(2):242–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0204-6
- 66. Amini L, Wagner DL, Rossler U, Zarrinrad G, Wagner LF, Vollmer T, et al. CRISPR-Cas9-Edited Tacrolimus-Resistant Antiviral T Cells for Advanced Adoptive Immunotherapy in Transplant Recipients. *Mol Ther* (2021) 29 (1):32–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.09.011
- Abou-El-Enein M, Cathomen T, Ivics Z, June CH, Renner M, Schneider CK, et al. Human Genome Editing in the Clinic: New Challenges in Regulatory Benefit-Risk Assessment. *Cell Stem Cell* (2017) 21(4):427–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.stem.2017.09.007
- Bao XR, Pan Y, Lee CM, Davis TH, Bao G. Tools for Experimental and Computational Analyses of Off-Target Editing by Programmable Nucleases. *Nat Protoc* (2021) 16(1):10–26. doi: 10.1038/s41596-020-00431-y
- Kosicki M, Tomberg K, Bradley A. Repair of Double-Strand Breaks Induced by CRISPR-Cas9 Leads to Large Deletions and Complex Rearrangements. *Nat Biotechnol* (2018) 36(8):765–71. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4192
- Bothmer A, Gareau KW, Abdulkerim HS, Buquicchio F, Cohen L, Viswanathan R, et al. Detection and Modulation of DNA Translocations During Multi-Gene Genome Editing in T Cells. *CRISPR J* (2020) 3(3):177– 87. doi: 10.1089/crispr.2019.0074
- Turchiano G, Andrieux G, Klermund J, Blattner G, Pennucci V, El Gaz M, et al. Quantitative Evaluation of Chromosomal Rearrangements in Gene-Edited Human Stem Cells by CAST-Seq. *Cell Stem Cell* (2021) 28(6):1136– 1147 e1135. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2021.02.002
- Modlich U, Bohne J, Schmidt M, von Kalle C, Knoss S, Schambach A, et al. Cell-Culture Assays Reveal the Importance of Retroviral Vector Design for Insertional Genotoxicity. *Blood* (2006) 108(8):2545–53. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-024976

- 73. Sachdeva M, Busser BW, Temburni S, Jahangiri B, Gautron AS, Marechal A, et al. Author Correction: Repurposing Endogenous Immune Pathways to Tailor and Control Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Functionality. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):2357. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16301-w
- 74. Wagner DL, Fritsche E, Pulsipher MA, Ahmed N, Hamieh M, Hegde M, et al. Immunogenicity of CAR T Cells in Cancer Therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2021) 18(6):379–93. doi: 10.1038/s41571-021-00476-2
- 75. Marofi F, Motavalli R, Safonov VA, Thangavelu L, Yumashev AV, Alexander M, et al. CAR T Cells in Solid Tumors: Challenges and Opportunities. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2021) 12(1):81. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-02128-1
- Brentjens RJ, Santos E, Nikhamin Y, Yeh R, Matsushita M, La Perle K, et al. Genetically Targeted T Cells Eradicate Systemic Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Xenografts. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(18 Pt 1):5426–35. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0674
- Tsukahara T, Ohmine K, Yamamoto C, Uchibori R, Ido H, Teruya T, et al. CD19 Target-Engineered T-Cells Accumulate at Tumor Lesions in Human B-Cell Lymphoma Xenograft Mouse Models. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 438(1):84–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.07.030
- MacLeod DT, Antony J, Martin AJ, Moser RJ, Hekele A, Wetzel KJ, et al. Integration of a CD19 CAR Into the TCR Alpha Chain Locus Streamlines Production of Allogeneic Gene-Edited CAR T Cells. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25 (4):949–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.02.005
- 79. Stripecke R, Munz C, Schuringa JJ, Bissig KD, Soper B, Meeham T, et al. Innovations, Challenges, and Minimal Information for Standardization of Humanized Mice. *EMBO Mol Med* (2020) 12(7):e8662. doi: 10.15252/ emmm.201708662
- Daniel VC, Marchionni L, Hierman JS, Rhodes JT, Devereux WL, Rudin CM, et al. A Primary Xenograft Model of Small-Cell Lung Cancer Reveals Irreversible Changes in Gene Expression Imposed by Culture In Vitro. Cancer Res (2009) 69(8):3364–73. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4210
- Takenaka K, Prasolava TK, Wang JC, Mortin-Toth SM, Khalouei S, Gan OI, et al. Polymorphism in Sirpa Modulates Engraftment of Human Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(12):1313–23. doi: 10.1038/ni1527
- Shultz LD, Lyons BL, Burzenski LM, Gott B, Chen X, Chaleff S, et al. Human Lymphoid and Myeloid Cell Development in NOD/LtSz-Scid IL2R Gamma Null Mice Engrafted With Mobilized Human Hemopoietic Stem Cells. J Immunol (2005) 174(10):6477–89. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.10.6477
- Milone MC, Fish JD, Carpenito C, Carroll RG, Binder GK, Teachey D, et al. Chimeric Receptors Containing CD137 Signal Transduction Domains Mediate Enhanced Survival of T Cells and Increased Antileukemic Efficacy In Vivo. Mol Ther (2009) 17(8):1453–64. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.83
- du Manoir S, Orsetti B, Bras-Goncalves R, Nguyen TT, Lasorsa L, Boissiere F, et al. Breast Tumor PDXs are Genetically Plastic and Correspond to a Subset of Aggressive Cancers Prone to Relapse. *Mol Oncol* (2014) 8(2):431–43. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2013.11.010
- Zhu Y, Tian T, Li Z, Tang Z, Wang L, Wu J, et al. Establishment and Characterization of Patient-Derived Tumor Xenograft Using Gastroscopic Biopsies in Gastric Cancer. Sci Rep (2015) 5:8542. doi: 10.1038/srep08542
- Hegde M, Mukherjee M, Grada Z, Pignata A, Landi D, Navai SA, et al. Tandem CAR T Cells Targeting HER2 and IL13Ralpha2 Mitigate Tumor Antigen Escape. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(8):3036–52. doi: 10.1172/JCI83416
- Rabilloud T, Potier D, Pankaew S, Nozais M, Loosveld M, Payet-Bornet D. Single-Cell Profiling Identifies Pre-Existing CD19-Negative Subclones in a B-ALL Patient With CD19-Negative Relapse After CAR-T Therapy. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):865. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21168-6
- Teng R, Zhao J, Zhao Y, Gao J, Li H, Zhou S, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells Repressed Solid Tumors and Their Relapse in an Established Patient-Derived Colon Carcinoma Xenograft Model. *J Immunother* (2019) 42(2):33–42. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000251
- Labani-Motlagh A, Ashja-Mahdavi M, Loskog A. The Tumor Microenvironment: A Milieu Hindering and Obstructing Antitumor Immune Responses. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:940. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2020.00940
- 90. Shi J, Zhang Z, Cen H, Wu H, Zhang S, Liu J, et al. CAR T Cells Targeting CD99 as an Approach to Eradicate T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Without Normal Blood Cells Toxicity. *J Hematol Oncol* (2021) 14(1):162. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01178-z

- Cogels MM, Rouas R, Ghanem GE, Martinive P, Awada A, Van Gestel D, et al. Humanized Mice as a Valuable Pre-Clinical Model for Cancer Immunotherapy Research. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:784947. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.784947
- Jin CH, Xia J, Rafiq S, Huang X, Hu Z, Zhou X, et al. Modeling Anti-CD19 CAR T Cell Therapy in Humanized Mice With Human Immunity and Autologous Leukemia. *EBioMedicine* (2019) 39:173–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.ebiom.2018.12.013
- 93. Slabik C, Kalbarczyk M, Danisch S, Zeidler R, Klawonn F, Volk V, et al. CAR-T Cells Targeting Epstein-Barr Virus Gp350 Validated in a Humanized Mouse Model of EBV Infection and Lymphoproliferative Disease. *Mol Ther Oncolytics* (2020) 18:504-24. doi: 10.1016/ j.omto.2020.08.005
- 94. Leick MB, Maus MV, Frigault MJ. Clinical Perspective: Treatment of Aggressive B Cell Lymphomas With FDA-Approved CAR-T Cell Therapies. *Mol Ther* (2021) 29(2):433–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.10.022
- Larson RC, Maus MV. Recent Advances and Discoveries in the Mechanisms and Functions of CAR T Cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2021) 21(3):145–61. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-00323-z
- 96. Graham CE, Jozwik A, Quartey-Papafio R, Ioannou N, Metelo AM, Scala C, et al. Gene-Edited Healthy Donor CAR T Cells Show Superior Anti-Tumour Activity Compared to CAR T Cells Derived From Patients With Lymphoma in an *In Vivo* Model of High-Grade Lymphoma. *Leukemia* (2021) 35 (12):3581–4. doi: 10.1038/s41375-021-01324-z
- Brown BD, Tambaro FP, Kohorst M, Chi L, Mahadeo KM, Tewari P, et al. Immune Effector Cell Associated Neurotoxicity (ICANS) in Pediatric and Young Adult Patients Following Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T-Cell Therapy: Can We Optimize Early Diagnosis? *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:634445. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.634445
- Munshi NC, Anderson LDJr., Shah N, Madduri D, Berdeja J, Lonial S, et al. Idecabtagene Vicleucel in Relapsed and Refractory Multiple Myeloma. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(8):705–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2024850
- Berdeja JG, Madduri D, Usmani SZ, Jakubowiak A, Agha M, Cohen AD, et al. Ciltacabtagene Autoleucel, a B-Cell Maturation Antigen-Directed Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy in Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Multiple Myeloma (CARTITUDE-1): A Phase 1b/2 Open-Label Study. *Lancet* (2021) 398(10297):314–24. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00933-8
- 100. Schuster SJ, Bishop MR, Tam CS, Waller EK, Borchmann P, McGuirk JP, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Adult Relapsed or Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell

Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2019) 380(1):45–56. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1804980

- 101. Locke FL, Ghobadi A, Jacobson CA, Miklos DB, Lekakis LJ, Oluwole OO, et al. Long-Term Safety and Activity of Axicabtagene Ciloleucel in Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma (ZUMA-1): A Single-Arm, Multicentre, Phase 1-2 Trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20(1):31–42. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30864-7
- 102. Bishop DC, Clancy LE, Simms R, Burgess J, Mathew G, Moezzi L, et al. Development of CAR T-Cell Lymphoma in 2 of 10 Patients Effectively Treated With Piggybac-Modified CD19 CAR T Cells. *Blood* (2021) 138 (16):1504–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021010813

Conflict of Interest: RS has filed a patent application for generation of CAR-T cells targeting lytic herpes infections and is a founding shareholder and scientific consultant of BioSyngen/Zelltechs Lpt Ltd. DW has filed multiple patent applications on CRISPR-Cas gene editing and adoptive T cell therapy. CS is consultant for Bristol Myers Squibb, Janssen and Novartis regarding CAR-T cell therapy and is participating in clinical CAR-T studies from Bristol Myers Squibb, Janssen, Novartis and Miltenyi Biotec and is cooperating with Miltenyi Biotec in the production of CAR-T cells. UK states that she is a consultant in immuno-oncology for AstraZeneca, Affimed, Glycostem, GammaDelta and Zelluna, and that she has collaborations with Novartis and Miltenyi Biotec regarding the production of CAR-T cells.

 $\rm MC$ is co-inventor in $\,$ granted and filed patents describing CAR-T cells with additional functions to counteract the tumor microenvironment.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wagner, Koehl, Chmielewski, Scheid and Stripecke. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Shigeki Yagyu, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan

REVIEWED BY Christian M. Capitini, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States Chihaya Imai, Niigata University, Japan

*CORRESPONDENCE Loredana Cifaldi cifaldi@med.uniroma2.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 28 February 2022 ACCEPTED 01 July 2022 PUBLISHED 28 July 2022

CITATION

Focaccetti C, Benvenuto M, Pighi C, Vitelli A, Napolitano F, Cotugno N, Fruci D, Palma P, Rossi P, Bei R and Cifaldi L (2022) DNAM-1-chimeric receptor-engineered NK cells, combined with Nutlin-3a, more effectively fight neuroblastoma cells *in vitro*: a proof-of-concept study. *Front. Immunol.* 13:886319. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.886319

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Focaccetti, Benvenuto, Pighi, Vitelli, Napolitano, Cotugno, Fruci, Palma, Rossi, Bei and Cifaldi, This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

DNAM-1-chimeric receptorengineered NK cells, combined with Nutlin-3a, more effectively fight neuroblastoma cells *in vitro*: a proof-of-concept study

Chiara Focaccetti^{1†}, Monica Benvenuto^{1,2†}, Chiara Pighi³, Alessandra Vitelli⁴, Federico Napolitano⁴, Nicola Cotugno^{3,5}, Doriana Fruci⁶, Paolo Palma^{3,5}, Paolo Rossi^{5,7}, Roberto Bei¹ and Loredana Cifaldi^{1,7*}

¹Department of Clinical Sciences and Translational Medicine, University of Rome "Tor Vergata", Rome, Italy, ²Saint Camillus International University of Health and Medical Sciences, Rome, Italy, ³Research Unit of Clinical Immunology and Vaccinology, Dipartimento Pediatrico Universitario Ospedaliero (DPUO), Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesú, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁴ReiThera Srl, Rome, Italy, ⁵Chair of Pediatrics, Department of Systems Medicine, University of Rome "Tor Vergata", Rome, Italy, ⁶Department of Paediatric Haematology/Oncology and of Cell and Gene Therapy, Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁷Academic Department of Pediatrics (DPUO), Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Rome, Italy

Adoptive transfer of engineered NK cells, one of clinical approaches to fight cancer, is gaining great interest in the last decade. However, the development of new strategies is needed to improve clinical efficacy and safety of NK cellbased immunotherapy. NK cell-mediated recognition and lysis of tumor cells are strictly dependent on the expression of ligands for NK cell-activating receptors NKG2D and DNAM-1 on tumor cells. Of note, the PVR/CD155 and Nectin-2/CD112 ligands for DNAM-1 are expressed primarily on solid tumor cells and poorly expressed in normal tissue cells. Here, we generated human NK cells expressing either the full length DNAM-1 receptor or three different DNAM-1-based chimeric receptor that provide the expression of DNAM-1 fused to a costimulatory molecule such as 2B4 and CD3 ζ chain. Upon transfection into primary human NK cells isolated from healthy donors, we evaluated the surface expression of DNAM-1 and, as a functional readout, we assessed the extent of degranulation, cytotoxicity and the production of IFNy and TNF α in response to human leukemic K562 cell line. In addition, we explored the effect of Nutlin-3a, a MDM2-targeting drug able of restoring p53 functions and known to have an immunomodulatory effect, on the degranulation of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells in response to human neuroblastoma (NB) LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cell lines. By comparing NK cells transfected with four different plasmid vectors and through blocking experiments, DNAM-1-CD3ζ-engineered NK cells showed the strongest response. Furthermore, both LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells pretreated with Nutlin-3a were significantly more susceptible to DNAM-1-engineered NK cells than NK cells transfected with the empty vector. Our results provide a proofof-concept suggesting that the combined use of DNAM-1-chimeric receptorengineered NK cells and Nutlin-3a may represent a novel therapeutic approach for the treatment of solid tumors, such as NB, carrying dysfunctional p53.

KEYWORDS

NK cells, immunotherapy combined therapy, activating receptor, chimeric receptor, adoptive transfer of NK and CAR-NK cells, immunomodulation

Introduction

NK cells are cytotoxic lymphocytes that participate in innate immune responses and recognize virus-infected and transformed cells without prior specific sensitization or fine specificity. Recognition by NK cells of tumor or infected cells is mediated by specific activating receptors (1) that include NKG2D and the accessory molecule DNAX (DNAM-1, CD226) (2). Ligands for the NKG2D receptor are cell stressinducible molecules such as MICA, MICB (3), and a group of ULBPs (4), whereas ligands for the DNAM-1 receptor are Nectin-2 (CD112) and the poliovirus receptor (PVR, CD155 or nectin-like molecule) (5).

Ligands for the DNAM-1 receptor are expressed at high levels in response to cellular stress (6) in many tumor cell types, especially in solid tumors of epithelial and neuronal origin (7– 11), and in virus-infected cells (2, 12), including those infected by SARS-CoV-2 (13). The expression of these ligands can vary, determining the extent to which tumor or infected cells are able to evade the NK cell-mediated immune response (2, 8, 14).

Due to the reduced expression of NK cell-activating receptors in patients with hematological (15-17) and solid tumors (18-20), and the poor infiltration and impaired functions of NK cells in tumor microenvironment (TME) (21), multiple strategies have been adopted to enhance NK cell-mediated anticancer functions. Several approaches aimed at increasing the expression for NK cell-activating receptors (22-24) and their ligands (25, 26), or suppressing NK cell-inhibitory receptors (27-29) are emerging in preclinical studies and several clinical trials (ClinicalTrials.gov and Supplementary Table S1). However, if advanced results have been obtained for hematopoietic tumors, in the context of solid tumors many efforts are still needed. Furthermore, adoptive transfer of extra vivo expanded and activated NK cells in autologous and allogeneic settings, in combination with monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) recognizing immune checkpoint molecules (30, 31), activating cytokines and immunomodulatory drugs (25, 32) or engineered for Chimeric Antigen Receptors (CARs) (33), emerges as one of the first-line anti-cancer cell immunotherapy strategies with an

increasing number of therapeutic clinical successes [(34–36), ClinicalTrial.gov and Supplementary Table S1].

The effective activation of DNAM-1 ensures a proper signal to predispose NK cells to induce target cell lysis through cytotoxic granule exocytosis and cytokine production (37). For this reason and based on our previous studies (2, 25, 26, 38-41), here we engineered primary human NK cells to express the DNAM-1-chimeric receptor and explored their ability to recognize in vitro target cells including K562 and the LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR NB cell lines. Human DNAM-1 is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein of ~65 kiloDalton (kDa) containing two Ig-like domains; it is composed of an 18 amino acid (aa) leader sequence, an extracellular domain of 230 aa with two Ig-like C2-set domains, a transmembrane domain of 28 aa and a cytoplasmic region of 60 aa containing two residues (Tyr322 and Ser329) involved in DNAM-1-ligand mediated signal transduction. To explore the efficacy of DNAM-1chimeric receptor-engineered NK cells, we designed plasmid vectors containing the sequence expressing for DNAM-1 in frame with that for costimulatory molecules such as CD3 ζ and 2B4. CD3 ζ is a signal-transducing molecule that contains 3 immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) and is linked to several activating receptors expressed on the surface of NK cells (42, 43). It provides ITAMs for phosphorylation and activation of T cells expressing CARs, often referred to as firstgeneration CARs. 2B4 is a member of the CD2 family and recruits SAP and Fyn through cytoplasmic tyrosine motifs. The costimulatory sequence of CD3 ζ is an intra-cytoplasmic domain of 112 aa, while the intra-cytoplasmic domain of 2B4 is of 119 aa. We generated four constructs containing: i) the full-length (FL) DNAM-1 sequence, ii) the FL-DNAM-1 sequence in frame with the CD3 ζ (52-164 aa) sequence, iii) the DNAM-1 (1-275 aa) sequence, missing the Tyr322 and Ser329 residues, in frame with the CD3 ζ (52-164 aa) sequence, iv) the FL-DNAM-1 sequence in frame with both 2B4 (251-370 aa) and CD3 ζ (52-164 aa) sequences.

In addition, the potential of NK cells engineered with DNAM-1-based constructs to recognize target cells was evaluated in combination with Nutlin-3a, a small-molecule

known to antagonize MDM2, thereby restoring p53 function (44) and, as we previously reported (26), having a strong immunomodulatory function in NB cells. The increased susceptibility of the NB LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cell lines after *in vitro* treatment with Nutlin-3a to DNAM-1-engineered NK cells provides a proof-of-concept to design an innovative immunotherapeutic protocol to be adopted for a novel NK cell-based clinical approach to treat solid tumors with dysfunctional p53.

Materials and methods

NB cell lines, NK cells and reagents

The following human cell lines were used in this study: human erythro-leukemia cell line K562 (ATCC); NB cell line LA-N-5 (the Leibniz-Institute DMSZ), NB cell line SMS-KCNR (Children's Oncology Group Cell Culture). The cell lines were characterized by i) authentication by PCR-single-locustechnology (Eurofins-Genomic, Ebersberg, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer, ii) array CGH and iii) routinely tested to confirm the absence of Mycoplasma by Mycoplasma Detection kit (Venor-GeM Advance). Cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 2 mM glutamine, 100 mg/ml penicillin and 50 mg/ml streptomycin (Euroclone S.p.A.).

Human NK cells were isolated from blood of healthy donors by the RosetteSep NK-cell enrichment mixture method kit (StemCell Technologies) and Ficoll-Paque Plus (Lympholyte Cedarlane) centrifugation. NK cells were routinely checked for CD14⁻ CD19⁻ CD3⁻ CD56⁺ immunophenotype and the expression of activating receptors NKG2D, DNAM-1, NKG2C, the maturation marker CD57, the inhibitory receptor NKG2A, immune checkpoint receptors TIGIT and PD-1 and a panel of inhibitory/activating KIRs such as KIR2DL1/2DS1, KIR2DL2/ L3/S2, and KIR3DL1 by flow cytometry. The gate strategy adopted to analyze NK cells is shown in Supplementary Figure S1. NK cells with greater than 90% purity and positive for all four inhibitory receptors were suspended in NK MACS medium (Miltenyi Biotec) supplemented with NK MACS Supplement, AB serum and 500 IU/mL of recombinant human IL-2 (PeproTech). NK cells were cultured at 200 x 10³ cells/well in 96-well round-bottom plates at 37°C, divided every three days, after a week transferred in cell culture flask T-25 at 2x10⁶ cells/ ml, and used up to 20 days after isolation for experiments. NK cells, expanded in vitro at a rate of 15 to 20 times at day 20, were transfected with DNAM-1-based vectors to obtain DNAM-1engineered NK cells (as described below).

LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells were cultured at 37°C in 6well plates and, at 70% confluence, treated with Nutlin-3a (Cayman Chemical, dissolved in DMSO at 10 mmol/L) at 2 μ mol/L or DMSO as control (0.2 μ l/ml) for 48 hours. LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells treated with Nutlin-3a or DMSO were tested for the expression of PVR/CD155 and Nectin-2/CD112 (26) and used as target cells in NK cell degranulation assay.

Antibodies and flow cytometry

The following antibodies for flow cytometry were used: anti-CD107a-APC (H4A3), anti-CD3-AF700 (UCHT1), anti-CD3-PE-CF594 (UCHT1), anti-CD56-PE-Cy7 (B159), anti-CD56-PerCP Cy5.5 (B159), anti-CD57-PE (NK-1), anti-CD45-PE-Cy5 (HI30), anti-NKG2D-BV605 (1D11), anti-NKG2D-PE-CF594 (1D11), anti-CD16-BV510 (3G8), anti-DNAM-1-BV786 (DX11), anti-PD-1-BV421 (MIH4), anti-IFNγ-BV650 (4S.B3), anti-CD14-BV605 (M5E2), anti-CD19-BV650 (SJ25C1) purchased from BD Biosciences; anti-DNAM-1-APC (11A8), anti-NKp46-PE-Cy7 (9E2), anti-TNFα-AF700 (Mab11), anti-CD96-APC (NK92.39) purchased from Biolegend; anti-NKp30-PE (Z25), anti-KIR2DL1/2DS1-PE Cy5.5 (EB6B), anti-KIR2DL2/L3/S2-PE (GL-183) purchased from Beckman Coulter; anti-NKG2A-AF700 (131411), anti-KIR3DL1-APC (DX9) purchased from R&D Systems; anti-NKG2A-FITC (REA110), anti-NKG2C-PE (REA205) purchased from Miltenyi; anti-TIGIT-APC (MBSA43) purchased from eBioscience. All these antibodies were used according to the manufacturers' protocol. Prior to surface staining, NK cells were pre-stained with Live/DeadTM Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell Stain Kit (Invitrogen). Flow cytometry was performed by using FACSCantoTM II (BD Biosciences) or Cytoflex (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed by FlowJo Software.

Plasmids, DNAM-1-based constructs and NK cell transfection

Four synthetic genes were designed encoding human full length (FL) DNAM-1 and DNAM-1-based chimeric receptors: 1) FL-DNAM-1; 2) FL-DNAM-1 in frame with CD3ζ (52-164 aa); 3) DNAM-1 (1-275 aa, missing the Tyr322 and Ser329 residues) in frame with CD3ζ (52-164 aa); 4) FL-DNAM-1 in frame with both 2B4 (251-370 aa) and CD3ζ (52-164 aa). DNA sequences encoding the four constructs, optimized for human codon usage, were synthesized by Geneart, Thermofisher. The synthetic genes were then cloned into the expression vector pVJ under the control of the human CMV promoter. Aminoacid sequences of the four chimeric constructs are reported in Supplementary Material and Methods.

Human primary NK cells were *in vitro* expanded by NK MACS medium (Miltenyi Biotec) supplemented with NK MACS supplement and IL-2 and transfected by AmaxaTM P3 Primary Cell 4D-NucleofectorTM X Kit L (Lonza) through Nucleofector[®] Device (Lonza) with DNAM-1-based constructs (5µg) or the

empty vector as control, according to the manufacturing protocol. The pmaxGFPTM Vector provided by the Kit was used to transfect primary NK cells in order to evaluate the transfection efficacy (around 20%, according to the manufacturing protocol). At 24 hours after the transfection, DNAM-1-engineered NK cells were assessed for DNAM-1 surface expression, as well as other receptors, and used for experiments of degranulation, cytotoxicity and cytokine production assays by flow cytometry.

DNAM-1-engineered NK cell degranulation, cytotoxicity and cytokine production assays

The functions of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells were tested by degranulation, cytotoxicity and cytokine production assays. DNAM-1-engineered NK cells were co-cultured with K562, LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR target cells at 1:1 ratio for 3 hours, in complete medium in the presence of anti-CD107a (diluted 1:100). During the last 2 hours, GolgiStop (BD Bioscence) was added at 1:500 dilution. Cells were firstly pre-stained with Live/ Dead Kit (L/D), stained with anti-CD56, anti-CD16, anti-CD3, anti-CD14, anti-CD19, anti-CD45 and, then, the expression of CD107a was evaluated in the CD14⁻ CD19⁻ CD3⁻CD56⁺ CD16⁺ CD45⁺ subset by flow cytometry. For the blocking experiments, NK cells were pretreated for 20 min with 25 μ g/mL of neutralizing anti-DNAM-1 (DX11, BD-Pharmingen) or anti-NKG2D (149810, R&D Systems) before co-culture with K562 target cells.

The DNAM-1 engineered NK cell cytotoxic activity was tested by a standard 4-hour ⁵¹Cr-release assay. K562 cells were labelled with ⁵¹Cr [Amersham International; 100µCi (3.7 MBq)/ 1×10^6 cells] and were co-cultured (5 x 10^3) with DNAM-1 engineered NK cells at different effector-target (E:T) cell ratios, in 96-well plates round bottom in triplicates, and incubated at 37°C. At 4 hours of incubation, 25µL supernatant were removed, and the ⁵¹Cr release was measured with TopCount NXT beta detector (PerkinElmer Life Sciences). The percentage of specific lysis by counts per minute (cpm) was determined as follows: 100 x (mean cpm experimental release - mean cpm spontaneous release)/(mean cpm total release - mean cpm spontaneous release). Specific lysis was converted to lytic units (L.U.) calculated from the curve of the percentage lysis and defined as the number of NK cells required to produce 20% lysis of 10⁶ target cells during the 4-hour incubation.

IFN γ and TNF α production assays were performed by coculturing NK cells with K562 target cells at 1:1 ratio, in complete medium at 37°C for 12 hours. After 1 h, Brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich) 10 µg/ml was added to the co-culture. Cells were prestained with L/D, surface-stained as for the degranulation assay (as described above), fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde, permeabilized with Permeabilizing Solution (BD), stained with anti-IFN γ and -TNF α antibodies and analyzed in the CD14⁻ CD19⁻ CD3⁻CD56⁺ CD45⁺ subset by flow cytometry.

Statistical analysis

For all data, statistical significance was evaluated with the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test. Normalized values were analyzed for correlation by the regression analysis using GraphPad software. P values not greater than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

Results

Enhanced DNAM-1-engineered NK cell degranulation, cytotoxicity and cytokine production against K562 cells

First, we assessed whether transfection of NK cells with our four DNAM-1-based constructs [FL-DNAM-1, FL-DNAM-1-CD3ζ, DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3ζ, FL-DNAM-1-2B4-CD3ζ] (Figure 1) could affect the surface expression of DNAM-1. NK cells engineered with all four DNAM-1-based constructs showed significantly higher levels of DNAM-1 expression than NK cells transfected with empty vector, as evaluated by flow cytometry (Figure 2). Furthermore, both FL-DNAM-1- and FL-DNAM-1-CD3ζ-engineered NK cells showed significantly higher levels of DNAM-1 expression than NK cells engineered with DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3ζ and FL-DNAM-1-2B4-CD3ζ constructs (Figure 2B). In addition, the expression of activating receptors NKG2D, NKp30 (45) and NKp46 (46), the immune checkpoint molecules PD-1 and TIGIT (47), the inhibitory receptor CD96 which, together with TIGIT, is known to compete with DNAM-1 for binding to the same ligands (2), as well as the marker CD57 associated with terminal differentiation of NK cells (48) was unchanged in NK cells engineered with all four DNAM-1-based constructs (Figure 2C). These data suggest that in our model i) the intracellular domain of DNAM-1 stabilizes DNAM-1 surface expression; ii) the 2B4 sequence, in frame with DNAM-1 and CD3ζ sequences, partially destabilizes DNAM-1 expression levels; iii) the DNAM-1-based construct transfection does not affect the expression of other receptors.

Then, DNAM-1-engineered NK cells were analyzed for degranulation and cytotoxicity assays against K562 cells. As shown in Figures 3A, B, Supplementary Figure S2, the percentages of CD107a and cytotoxicity were significantly higher in NK cells transfected with all four DNAM-1 constructs than in those transfected with the empty vector. In addition, FL-DNAM-1-CD3ζ-engineered NK cells showed significantly higher CD107a expression and cytotoxicity compared to FL-DNAM-1-, DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3ζ- and FL-DNAM-1-2B4-CD3ζ-engineered NK cells (Figures 3B,



Supplementary Figure S2). These results suggest that in our model CD3 ζ chain conferred a stronger signal to DNAM-1engineered NK cells than to NK cells transfected with FL-DNAM-1 construct alone, leading to increased degranulation and cytotoxicity in response to a natural target such as K562 cells. However, it was less efficient in the absence of the DNAM-1 1 intracellular domain or in presence of 2B4 expression.

Furthermore, blocking experiments demonstrated that the chimeric DNAM-1 receptor was involved in the degranulation of NK cells engineered with DNAM-1-based constructs. Indeed, neutralization of DNAM-1 resulted in a drastic reduction of degranulation, with no differences between DNAM-1-engineered NK cells. In contrast, after neutralization of NKG2D, although resulting in a significant reduction of degranulation in all conditions, the differences between the engineered NK cells were comparable to those without neutralizing antibody, as a result of the remaining different contribution of DNAM-1 to the degranulation signal in each condition (Figures 3A, B).

In addition, DNAM-1-engineered NK cells were analyzed for the production of cytokines such as IFN γ and TNF α in response to K562 cells, by flow cytometry. As shown in Figures 3C, D, the percentage of both IFN γ and TNF α was significantly higher in NK cells transfected with FL-DNAM-1, FL-DNAM-1-CD3 ζ and DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3 ζ constructs than in those transfected with the empty vector. In addition, FL-DNAM-1-CD3 ζ -engineered NK cells showed significantly higher production of both cytokines IFN γ and TNF α compared to FL-DNAM-1-, DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3 ζ - and FL-DNAM-12B4-CD3 ζ -engineered NK cells (Figure 3D). Therefore, the FL-DNAM-1-CD3 ζ construct was shown to be the most effective to confer enhanced degranulation, cytotoxicity and production of both IFN γ and TNF α to NK cells in response to K562 cells.

Nutlin-3a enhances the susceptibility of LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells to DNAM-1-engineered NK cells

Next, we evaluated the degranulation of DNAM-1engineered NK cells in response to LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR NB cells. In addition, we evaluated the combined effect of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells with Nutlin-3a, a drug that antagonizes with MDM2 and, consequently, restores the functions of p53 (44), which is known to act as a transcription factor for genes encoding ligands for NK cell activating receptors (49), including PVR for DNAM-1 receptor as we reported (26). To test the effect of Nutlin-3a treatment on the susceptibility of NB cells to DNAM-1-engineered NK cells, LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells were treated with Nutlin-3a or DMSO as a control and used as target cells for DNAM-1-engineered NK cell degranulation assay. As shown in Figure 4, the CD107a percentage of NK cells transfected with the four DNAM-1 constructs in response to LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR cells (treated with DMSO as control) was significantly higher than that of NK cells transfected with empty vector (Figure 4B). Furthermore, the degranulation of FL-DNAM-1-CD3ζ-, DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3ζ- and FL-DNAM-1-2B4-CD3ζ-engineered NK cells in



response to LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR cells treated with DMSO was significantly higher than that of NK cells transfected with FL-DNAM-1 construct. Interestingly, the degranulation of FL-DNAM-1-CD3ζ-engineered NK cells was significantly higher than that of NK cells transfected with FL-DNAM-1-2B4-CD3 ζ construct in response to both NB cell lines. These data confirm that CD3 ζ chain conferred DNAM-1 constructs with a greater potential to mediate NK cell degranulation in response to NB cell lines such as LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells, which was instead less efficient in the presence of 2B4. Furthermore, Nutlin-3a was able to significantly increase the susceptibility of both LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells to NK cells under all conditions (Figure 4B), in agreement with our previous data (26). In response to LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR cells treated with Nutlin-3a, a significant increase in degranulation was found in NK cells transfected with DNAM-1-based constructs compared to NK cells transfected with empty vector, reflecting the data in response to LA-N-5- or SMS-KCNR treated with DMSO

(Figure 4B). Interestingly, in response to LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR cells treated with Nutlin-3a, while a significant increase in degranulation was assessed in NK cells transfected with the three DNAM-1-CD3ζ-based constructs compared to NK cells transfected with the FL-DNAM-1 construct, no differences was revealed between NK cells transfected with the three DNAM-1-CD3 ζ -based constructs (Figure 4B). These data suggest that Nutlin-3a increased the susceptibility of LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells to NK cells transfected with DNAM-1-CD3ζbased constructs regardless of the presence of the DNAM-1 intracellular domain or 2B4 sequences. Overall, these data indicated that in our model i) DNAM-1-engineered NK cells had an enhanced ability to recognize NB cell lines such as LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR, ii) that the CD3 ζ sequence in frame with DNAM-1 further enhanced this function, which was maintained by DNAM-1 intracellular domain, but did not require the 2B4 costimulatory sequence. Finally, Nutlin-3a treatment of NB LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells maximized the degranulation of



FIGURE 3

Enhanced degranulation and cytokine production of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells against K562. DNAM-1-engineered NK cells were tested for degranulation and cytokine production assays in response to K562. **(A)** Degranulation of NK cells engineered for the empty vector as control or for the four DNAM-1-based constructs as indicated, in the absence (medium) or presence of neutralizing anti-NKG2D or anti-DNAM-1 antibodies, measured as CD107a expression on co-culture with or without K562. The percentages of CD107a in NK cell subset are indicated in each plot. A representative experiment of four performed in NK cells isolated from independent healthy donors, and transfected with DNAM-1-constructs is shown. **(B)** Summary of degranulation of NK cells isolated from four independent healthy donors, transfected with DNAM-1-constructs, in the absence or presence of neutralizing antibodies. Dots correspond to the percentage of CD107a⁺ NK cells from each healthy donor transfected with the indicated DNAM-1-based constructs; horizontal bars indicate the mean; **p*<0.05; *p* value (two-tailed nonparametric Mann-Whitney test). **(C)** DNAM-1-engineered NK cells production of IFN γ and TNF α in co-culture with or without K562. The percentages of IFN γ + and TNF α + in NK cell subset are indicated in each plot. A representative experiment of four performed in NK cells isolated from four independent healthy donors and transfected with DNAM-1-constructs is shown. **(D)** Summary of cytokine production of NK cells isolated from four independent healthy donors and transfected with DNAM-1-constructs. Mean \pm SD; **p*<0.05; *p* value (two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney test).



FIGURE 4

Nutlin-3a boosted the susceptibility of NB LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells to DNAM-1-engineered NK cells. NB LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cell lines were left untreated (DMSO) or treated with Nutlin-3a at 2 μ mol/L for 48 hours and used as targets for degranulation assay of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells. (A) Degranulation of NK cells, measured as CD107a expression upon stimulation with LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR cells treated with DMSO or Nutlin-3a. The percentages of CD107a⁺ DNAM-1-engineered NK cells are indicated in each plot. A representative experiment of four performed in NK cells isolated from independent healthy donors and transfected with DNAM-1-constructs, in response to LA-N-5 or SMS-KCNR cells treated with DMSO (D) or Nutlin-3a (Nut-3a). Dots correspond to the percentage of CD107a⁺ NK cells from each healthy donor transfected with each indicated DNAM-1-based constructs; horizontal bars indicate the mean; **p*<0.05; *p* value (two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney test).

DNAM-1-engineered NK cells, thus providing a proof-ofconcept for which its administration, combined with adoptive transfer of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells, may prospectively represent a potential clinical approach.

Discussion

The treatment of solid tumors, including childhood cancers, still remains a major challenge for oncologists, despite significant advances with multimodal chemotherapy and radiation therapy regimens in combination with several recent immunotherapy approaches.

The efficacy of NK cells has been reported in several tumors as well as in viral infection (21, 50). Of note, the anticancer NK cell-mediated immune response in patients with malignancies is often impaired by the TME cells (e.g. macrophages, myeloid suppressor cells, and stromal/fibroblastic cells), which release inhibitory cytokines/factors (21). Recently, of great interest in the treatment of solid tumors is the adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded and activated NK cells which, due to their peculiar innate characteristics, relatively short lifespan, low risk of hyperproliferation in infused patients, higher safety than infused T cells, and low cost, are an excellent "off-the-shelf" product that could be adopted for a new anticancer therapeutic strategy (51). Furthermore, current good manufacturing practice (GMP) protocols for NK cell adoptive transfer provide for the expansion of NK cells with high activation and low exhaustion status and with greater trafficking and killing performance (34). Thus, the use of adoptive transfer of NK cells appears to be a promising clinical approach to eliminate cancer cells by overcoming the limitations imposed by TME (52, 53).

Currently, several clinical trials indicate that NK cell-based immunotherapy, in combination with cytokines, mAbs, including those recognizing immune checkpoint molecules, is indeed an effective and safe anticancer treatment (21). Furthermore, in the last decade, the use of CARs-armed NK cells, which are thus enhanced in the recognition of specific molecules expressed on the surface of tumor cells, thereby mediating greater tumor eradication, is increasingly emerging in the clinical setting [(54, 55), ClinicalTrial.gov and Supplementary Table S1].

Optimizing CAR signal transduction by incorporating additional costimulatory domains is a focal point for improving their anticancer function (56, 57). In addition, identifying anticancer drugs that have additional advantages of immunomodulatory effects, such as induction of ligands for NK cell-activating receptors, in supporting the NK cell- and CAR-NK cell-based immunotherapy still remains challenging (25). Therefore, in the search for more efficient and less toxic therapeutic approaches, new strategies are needed to support and improve NK cell-based immunotherapy of cancer. In this context, the Nutlin-3a-mediated restoration of the p53 function (58), whose abnormality contributes to the severity of various forms of cancer (59), has been widely recognized as an effective and non-toxic therapeutic approach (26, 58, 60).

Here, our results represent a proof-of-concept aimed at designing a novel immunotherapy approach for solid tumors based on the use of DNAM-1-chimeric receptor-engineered NK cells in combination with Nutlin-3a. Our data refer to an in vitro exploration on cellular models of NB, a solid tumor known to have dysfunctional p53 (61) and to be able to evade NK cellmediate immunosurveillance through down-regulation of ligands for NK cell activating-receptors (26, 38, 62, 63). Since the expression of ligands for NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptors is shared in many solid tumors (21, 25), this type of prospective therapeutic approach is expected to be effective not only for NB but also for a broad spectrum of solid tumors with p53 dysfunction, such as colorectal, breast, ovarian, lung and pancreatic cancers (64). Moreover, the DNAM-1 engineered NK cell-based approach should also be effective against infected cells, as the ligands PVR/CD155 and Nectin2/CD112 for DNAM-1 are mainly expressed, not only on solid tumor cells, but also on virus-infected cells (2, 5), including SARS-CoV-2 (13). Interestingly, these ligands are poorly expressed in normal tissues as reported on proteinatlas.org, thus assuming that the use of DNAM-1 engineered-NK cells may be safe.

The prospective success of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells is also supported by the encouraging results regarding to the use of NK cells engineered for different chimeric receptors such as anti-CD19, -PSMA, -5T4, -CD22, -BCMA, -ROBO1, NKG2D, NKG2D-ACE2, as reported in different clinical trials (ClinicalTrial.gov and Supplementary Table S1), and anti-GD2, -HER-2, -CS1, -CD20, -EGFR, -PSCA as reported in several preclinical studies (21, 55). Studies concerning the use of NKG2D-chimeric receptor engineered-NK cells, tested for the treatment of leukemia and solid tumors such as colorectal cancer, have shown promising results [(65, 66), ClinicalTrial.gov and Supplementary Table S1]. This latter type of chimeric receptor was designed to be expressed in concert with a molecule capable of ensuring signal transduction such as CD3 ζ chain and a costimulatory molecule for NKG2D, such as DAP10 (65). As for DNAM-1-chimeric receptors, encouraging data have been reported on engineered T cells against melanoma (67) and the engineered-NK-92 cell line against hepatocellular cancer cells (68) and sarcoma (69).

Here, we generated four different DNAM-1-based expression vectors consisting of the sequence for DNAM-1 in frame with that for the CD3 ζ chain and a costimulatory molecule such as 2B4. The choice of co-expressing DNAM-1 with the CD3 ζ chain and the costimulatory molecule 2B4 depended on several experimental evidences: i) CD3 ζ is a signal transduction molecule that contains three ITAMs associated with different activating receptors expressed on the

surface of NK cells (42, 43); it provides ITAMs for intracellular phosphorylation and, thus, activation of CAR-expressing T cells, often referred to as first-generation CARs (70); ii) 2B4 is a member of the CD2 family and recruits SAP and Fyn through tyrosine-based cytoplasmic motifs, thereby mediating its functional relationship with DNAM-1 (71).

We transfected primary human NK cells to obtain DNAM-1-engineered NK cells and performed functional assays against a natural NK cell-target such as K562 cell line and against NB cells such as LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cell lines, the latter treated or not with Nutlin-3a. When comparing the target cell recognition and cytokine production abilities of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells transfected with four different DNAM-1-based vectors, FL-DNAM-1-CD3 ζ proved to be the best. These data indicated that optimal activation of the DNAM-1 chimeric receptor required the FL-DNAM-1 sequence, including the intra-cytoplasmic sequence. These results were in line with those obtained in the mouse model demonstrating that Tyr319 (Tyr322 in human) is critical for murine DNAM-1-mediated signalling and cytotoxicity (72). Furthermore, optimal activation of the DNAM-1 chimeric receptor required the in-frame sequence CD3 ζ (52-164 aa). The cytoplasmic 2B4 domain (251-370 aa) appeared to impair activation, consistent with previous data reporting that anti-CD19-based CAR carrying the 2B4 sequence required both transmembrane and full cytoplasmic 2B4 domains to enhance activation of engineered primary NK cells (73); in contrast, CARs based on anti-CD5 (74) and -GPC3 (68) or -CD19 (75) and -mesothelin (76) carrying the intracytoplasmic 2B4 domain enhanced the activation of engineered NK-92 cell line or primary NK cells, respectively. Thus, both the type of CAR and the nature of NK cells would appear to affect the contribution of the 2B4 sequence to CAR performance differently. Furthermore, blocking experiments by using both anti-NKG2D and anti-DNAM-1 neutralizing antibodies demonstrated the involvement of chimeric DNAM-1 activating receptor in the recognition mediated by DNAM-1engineered NK cells of K562 cells. Interestingly, Nutlin-3a rendered both LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR NB cells significantly more susceptible to DNAM-1-engineered NK cells than NK cells transfected with empty vector. This indicated that a synergistic effect occurred between signals triggered by upregulated ligands for both NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptors through Nutlin-3amediated immunomodulation (26, 49) and DNAM-1 chimeric receptor. In addition, Nutlin-3a restored the differences between NK cells transfected with DNAM-1-CD3ζ-based constructs evaluated instead in response to DMSO-treated LA-N-5 and SMS-KCNR cells, indicating that it has an immunomodulatory effect that outperforms weaker NK cells transfected with DNAM-1-based constructs, such as DNAM-1 (1-275)-CD3ζ and FL-DNAM-1-2B4-CD3ζ constructs.

Of note, NK cells engineered for DNAM-1-chimeric receptor represent a further advantage in view of the fact that

the protocol for *in vitro* expansion and activation of human NK cells, which we adopted, involved the culture of mature, educated and armed cells with the progressive elimination of uneducated hyporesponsive cells (77). On the other hand, the increased expression of the DNAM-1 chimeric-receptor on DNAM-1-engineered NK cells should be an additional advantage over the expression of CD96 and TIGIT, two inhibitory receptors that compete with DNAM-1 for binding to PVR and Nectin-2 or PVR, respectively (2).

However, translating this experimental design to the clinical setting requires many other considerations. Current methods for transfection of primary NK cells for clinical use, such as those with retroviral and lentiviral vectors (78), including pseudotyping with a modified baboon envelop glycoprotein (BaEV-gp) (79), pseudoviral particles (80) or mRNA electroporation (81), to obtain stable, high-efficient, and in large-number DNAM-1-engineered NK cells suitable for the clinical grade, should be applied and, therefore, further investigations are required. In addition, the nontoxic dose of Nutlin-3a used in this study, which showed immunomodulatory effect in both in vitro and in vivo NB models, as we previously reported (26), or that of its analogues, combined with DNAM-1engineered NK cells, should be defined in the clinical setting based on the currently applied nontoxic doses of MDM2targeting drugs reported in several clinical trials for the treatment of different forms of solid tumors (ClinicalTrial.gov and Supplementary Table S2).

In conclusion, our results provided a proof-of-concept that the use of FL-DNAM-1-CD3 ζ engineered-NK cells in combination with immunomodulatory drugs, such as Nutlin-3a, could represent a novel immunotherapeutic approach to be employed for the treatment of solid tumors with dysfunctional p53. Furthermore, in view of the widely reported involvement of ligands for DNAM-1 in the immune response against cells infected with different types of viruses (2), including SARS-CoV-2 (13), these data suggest to extend the exploration of the use of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells in the context of viral infection.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

LC conceived the study and coordinated the project. LC, CF, MB and CP performed the experiments. LC, AV and FN designed DNAM-1-based constructs. LC, AV, NC, DF, PP, PR, and RB discussed the results and provided critical comments. LC wrote the manuscript. All authors critically revised and edited the paper. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by The Italian Ministry of Health (Rome, Italy) 5 X 1000 grant 2020 to LC.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Giuseppe Sconocchia, Sara Caratelli and Valeriana Cesarini for kindly providing technical support for the transfection of NK cells using Nucleofector[®] Device; Paola Vacca for kindly providing critical reagents.

Conflict of interest

Authors AV and FN are employed by ReiThera Srl.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Lanier LL. NK cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol (1998) 16:359–93. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.359

2. Cifaldi L, Doria M, Cotugno N, Zicari S, Cancrini C, Palma P, et al. DNAM-1 activating receptor and its ligands: How do viruses affect the NK cell-mediated immune surveillance during the various phases of infection? *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20 (15), 3715, 1–21. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153715

3. Bahram S, Bresnahan M, Geraghty DE, Spies T. A second lineage of mammalian major histocompatibility complex class I genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (1994) 91:6259–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.14.6259

4. Radosavljevic M, Cuillerier B, Wilson MJ, Clement O, Wicker S, Gilfillan S, et al. Cluster of ten novel MHC class I related genes on human chromosome 6q24.2-q25.3. *Genomics* (2002) 79:114–23. doi: 10.1006/geno.2001.6673

5. Bottino C, Castriconi R, Pende D, Rivera P, Nanni M, Carnemolla B, et al. Identification of PVR (CD155) and nectin-2 (CD112) as cell surface ligands for the human DNAM-1 (CD226) activating molecule. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198:557–67. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030788

Publisher's Note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.886319/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Gating strategy used to analyse NK cell subsets by flow cytometry. *In vitro*expanded and activated NK cells were checked for the expression of their specific markers at 0 (immediately after isolation from blood of healthy donors), 8, 15 days and before performing functional experiments (15-20 days) of *in vitro* culture in supplemented NK MACS medium. After gating singlet cells (side scatter-A versus side scatter-H), and alive cells (negative for Live/Dead staining), NK cells were identified by gating on CD14⁻ CD19⁻ CD3⁻ subsets to evaluate in CD56⁺ CD16⁺ subset the expression of surface markers, as indicated. NK cells expressing NKG2A, KIR2DL1/2DS1, KIR2DL2/ L3/S2 and KIR3DL1 were used for experiments. A representative staining of expanded and activated NK cells at 8 days of culture is shown. The expressions of CD3, CD56 and CD16 in cultured NK cells were compared to those in PBMCs isolated from the same healthy donors. The percentages of NK cells are shown in CD56 vs CD16 dot plots.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

The cytotoxic activity of DNAM-1-engineered NK cells was evaluated against K562 cells at the indicated effector:target (E:T) ratios by a standard 4-hour ⁵¹Cr-release assay. A representative experiment out of three performed is shown. The specific lysis from cytotoxic activity in triplicates were converted to L.U. 20% (right panel). The dots in the curves (left panel) and bars in the histogram (right panel) indicate the mean \pm SD of triplicates; **p*<0.05; *p* value (two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney test; in the left panel, *1, empty vector versus all four DNAM-1-based vectors; *2, FL-DNAM-1 vectors versus all three DNAM-1-CD3ζ-based vectors.

 Xiong P, Sang HW, Zhu M. Critical roles of co-activation receptor DNAX accessory molecule-1 in natural killer cell immunity. *Immunology* (2015) 146:369– 78. doi: 10.1111/imm.12516

7. Casado JG, Pawelec G, Morgado S, Sanchez-Correa B, Delgado E, Gayoso I, et al. Expression of adhesion molecules and ligands for activating and costimulatory receptors involved in cell-mediated cytotoxicity in a large panel of human melanoma cell lines. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58:1517–26. doi: 10.1007/s00262-009-0682-y

8. Castriconi R, Dondero A, Corrias MV, Lanino E, Pende D, Moretta L, et al. Natural killer cell-mediated killing of freshly isolated neuroblastoma cells: critical role of DNAX accessory molecule-1-poliovirus receptor interaction. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:9180–4. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2682

9. Gao J, Zheng Q, Xin N, Wang W, Zhao C. CD155, an onco-immunologic molecule in human tumors. *Cancer Sci* (2017) 108:1934–8. doi: 10.1111/cas.13324

10. Tahara-Hanaoka S, Shibuya K, Kai H, Miyamoto A, Morikawa Y, Ohkochi N, et al. Tumor rejection by the poliovirus receptor family ligands of

the DNAM-1 (CD226) receptor. *Blood* (2006) 107:1491–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-04-1684

11. Oshima T, Sato S, Kato J, Ito Y, Watanabe T, Tsuji I, et al. Nectin-2 is a potential target for antibody therapy of breast and ovarian cancers. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12:60. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-12-60

12. Mateo M, Generous A, Sinn PL, Cattaneo R. Connections matter-how viruses use cell-cell adhesion components. *J Cell Sci* (2015) 128:431–9. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.159400

13. Hsieh WC, Lai EY, Liu YT, Wang YF, Tzeng YS, Cui L, et al. NK cell receptor and ligand composition influences the clearance of SARS-CoV-2. *J Clin Invest* (2021) 131(21):e146408, 1–11. doi: 10.1172/JCI146408

14. Soriani A, Zingoni A, Cerboni C, Iannitto ML, Ricciardi MR, Di Gialleonardo V, et al. ATM-ATR-dependent up-regulation of DNAM-1 and NKG2D ligands on multiple myeloma cells by therapeutic agents results in enhanced NK-cell susceptibility and is associated with a senescent phenotype. *Blood* (2009) 113:3503–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-08-173914

15. Costello RT, Sivori S, Marcenaro E, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Mozziconacci MJ, Reviron D, et al. Defective expression and function of natural killer cell-triggering receptors in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* (2002) 99:3661–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.v99.10.3661

 El-Sherbiny YM, Meade JL, Holmes TD, McGonagle D, Mackie SL, Morgan AW, et al. The requirement for DNAM-1, NKG2D, and NKp46 in the natural killer cell-mediated killing of myeloma cells. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:8444–9. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-06-4230

17. Fauriat C, Mallet F, Olive D, Costello RT. Impaired activating receptor expression pattern in natural killer cells from patients with multiple myeloma. *Leukemia* (2006) 20:732–3. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404096

18. Pietra G, Manzini C, Rivara S, Vitale M, Cantoni C, Petretto A, et al. Melanoma cells inhibit natural killer cell function by modulating the expression of activating receptors and cytolytic activity. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:1407–15. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2544

19. Konjevic G, Mirjacic Martinovic K, Vuletic A, Jovic V, Jurisic V, Babovic N, et al. Low expression of CD161 and NKG2D activating NK receptor is associated with impaired NK cell cytotoxicity in metastatic melanoma patients. *Clin Exp Metastasis* (2007) 24:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10585-006-9043-9

 Balsamo M, Scordamaglia F, Pietra G, Manzini C, Cantoni C, Boitano M, et al. Melanoma-associated fibroblasts modulate NK cell phenotype and antitumor cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2009) 106:20847–52. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0906481106

21. Melaiu O, Lucarini V, Cifaldi L, Fruci D. Influence of the tumor microenvironment on NK cell function in solid tumors. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:3038. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03038

22. Sallman DA, Brayer J, Sagatys EM, Lonez C, Breman E, Agaugue S, et al. NKG2D-based chimeric antigen receptor therapy induced remission in a relapsed/ refractory acute myeloid leukemia patient. *Haematologica* (2018) 103:e424–6. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.186742

23. Xiao L, Cen D, Gan H, Sun Y, Huang N, Xiong H, et al. Adoptive transfer of NKG2D CAR mRNA-engineered natural killer cells in colorectal cancer patients. *Mol Ther* (2019) 27:1114–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.03.011

24. Curio S, Jonsson G, Marinovic SA. Summary of current NKG2D-based CAR clinical trials. *Immunother Adv* (2021) 1:ltab018. doi: 10.1093/immadv/ltab018

25. Cifaldi L, Locatelli F, Marasco E, Moretta L, Pistoia V. Boosting natural killer cell-based immunotherapy with anticancer drugs: a perspective. *Trends Mol Med* (2017) 23:1156–75. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2017.10.002

26. Veneziani I, Infante P, Ferretti E, Melaiu O, Battistelli C, Lucarini V, et al. Nutlin-3a enhances natural killer cell-mediated killing of neuroblastoma by restoring p53-dependent expression of ligands for NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptors. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2021) 9:170–83. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-20-0313

27. Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell* (2018) 175:1731–43.e1713. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014

28. Ruggeri I, Urbani E, Andre P, Mancusi A, Tosti A, Topini F, et al. Effects of anti-NKG2A antibody administration on leukemia and normal hematopoietic cells. *Haematologica* (2016) 101:626–33. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.135301

29. Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent antitumor immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19:723–32. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0

30. Khan M, Arooj S, Wang H. NK cell-based immune checkpoint inhibition. Front Immunol (2020) 11:167. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00167

31. Melaiu O, Lucarini V, Giovannoni R, Fruci D, Gemignani F. News on immune checkpoint inhibitors as immunotherapy strategies in adult and pediatric

solid tumors. Semin Cancer Biol (2022) 79:18-43. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2020.07.001

32. Miyazato K, Hayakawa Y. Pharmacological targeting of natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Sci* (2020) 111:1869–75. doi: 10.1111/cas.14418

33. Elahi R, Heidary AH, Hadiloo K, Esmaeilzadeh A. Chimeric antigen receptor-engineered natural killer (CAR NK) cells in cancer treatment; recent advances and future prospects. *Stem Cell Rev Rep* (2021) 17:2081–106. doi: 10.1007/s12015-021-10246-3

34. Kundu S, Gurney M, O'Dwyer M. Generating natural killer cells for adoptive transfer: expanding horizons. *Cytotherapy* (2021) 23:559–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2020.12.002

35. Lupo KB, Matosevic S. Natural killer cells as allogeneic effectors in adoptive cancer immunotherapy. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11(6):769, 1–25. doi: 10.3390/cancers11060769

36. Franks SE, Wolfson B, Hodge JW. Natural born killers: NK cells in cancer therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(8):2131, 1–21. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082131

37. Huntington ND, Martinet L, Smyth MJ. DNAM-1: would the real natural killer cell please stand up! *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:28537-8. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.5952

38. Brandetti E, Veneziani I, Melaiu O, Pezzolo A, Castellano A, Boldrini R, et al. MYCN is an immunosuppressive oncogene dampening the expression of ligands for NK-cell-activating receptors in human high-risk neuroblastoma. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6:e1316439. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1316439

39. Brandetti E, Focaccetti C, Pezzolo A, Ognibene M, Folgiero V, Cotugno N, et al. Enhancement of neuroblastoma NK-Cell-Mediated lysis through NF-kB p65 subunit-induced expression of FAS and PVR, the loss of which is associated with poor patient outcome. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(17):4368, 1–22. doi: 10.3390/ cancers13174368

40. Veneziani I, Brandetti E, Ognibene M, Pezzolo A, Pistoia V, Cifaldi L. Neuroblastoma cell lines are refractory to genotoxic drug-mediated induction of ligands for NK cell-activating receptors. *J Immunol Res* (2018) 2018:4972410. doi: 10.1155/2018/4972410

41. Veneziani I, Fruci D, Compagnone M, Pistoia V, Rossi P, Cifaldi L. The BETbromodomain inhibitor JQ1 renders neuroblastoma cells more resistant to NK cellmediated recognition and killing by downregulating ligands for NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptors. *Oncotarget* (2019) 10:2151–60. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26736

42. Farag SS, Fehniger TA, Ruggeri L, Velardi A, Caligiuri MA. Natural killer cell receptors: new biology and insights into the graft-versus-leukemia effect. *Blood* (2002) 100:1935–47. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-02-0350

43. Moretta L, Moretta A. Unravelling natural killer cell function: triggering and inhibitory human NK receptors. *EMBO J* (2004) 23:255–9. doi: 10.1038/ sj.emboj.7600019

44. Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, et al. *In vivo* activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. *Science* (2004) 303:844–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1092472

45. Pende D, Parolini S, Pessino A, Sivori S, Augugliaro R, Morelli L, et al. Identification and molecular characterization of NKp30, a novel triggering receptor involved in natural cytotoxicity mediated by human natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190:1505–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.10.1505

46. Sivori S, Vitale M, Morelli L, Sanseverino L, Augugliaro R, Bottino C, et al. p46, a novel natural killer cell-specific surface molecule that mediates cell activation. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186:1129–36. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.7.1129

47. Beldi-Ferchiou A, Caillat-Zucman S. Control of NK cell activation by immune checkpoint molecules. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18(10), 2129, 1–15. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102129

48. Bjorkstrom NK, Riese P, Heuts F, Andersson S, Fauriat C, Ivarsson MA, et al. Expression patterns of NKG2A, KIR, and CD57 define a process of CD56dim NK-cell differentiation uncoupled from NK-cell education. *Blood* (2010) 116:3853–64. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-04-281675

49. Textor S, Fiegler N, Arnold A, Porgador A, Hofmann TG, Cerwenka A. Human NK cells are alerted to induction of p53 in cancer cells by upregulation of the NKG2D ligands ULBP1 and ULBP2. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:5998–6009. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3211

50. Bjorkstrom NK, Strunz B, Ljunggren HG. Natural killer cells in antiviral immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2022) 22:112–23. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00558-3

51. Hu W, Wang G, Huang D, Sui M, Xu Y. Cancer immunotherapy based on natural killer cells: Current progress and new opportunities. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1205. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01205

52. Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17:1025–36. doi: 10.1038/ni.3518

53. Nayyar G, Chu Y, Cairo MS. Overcoming resistance to natural killer cell based immunotherapies for solid tumors. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:51. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2019.00051

54. Glienke W, Esser R, Priesner C, Suerth JD, Schambach A, Wels WS, et al. Advantages and applications of CAR-expressing natural killer cells. *Front Pharmacol* (2015) 6:21. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2015.00021

55. Oberschmidt O, Kloess S, Koehl U. Redirected primary human chimeric antigen receptor natural killer cells as an "Off-the-Shelf immunotherapy" for improvement in cancer treatment. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:654. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00654

56. Zenere G, Olwenyi OA, Byrareddy SN, Braun SE. Optimizing intracellular signaling domains for CAR NK cells in HIV immunotherapy: a comprehensive review. *Drug Discovery Today* (2019) 24:983–91. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2019.02.002

57. Gong Y, Klein Wolterink RGJ, Wang J, Bos GMJ, Germeraad WTV. Chimeric antigen receptor natural killer (CAR-NK) cell design and engineering for cancer therapy. *J Hematol Oncol* (2021) 14:73. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01083-5

58. Shangary S, Qin D, McEachern D, Liu M, Miller RS, Qiu S, et al. Temporal activation of p53 by a specific MDM2 inhibitor is selectively toxic to tumors and leads to complete tumor growth inhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105:3933–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0708917105

59. Zhu G, Pan C, Bei JX, Li B, Liang C, Xu Y, et al. Mutant p53 in cancer progression and targeted therapies. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:595187. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.595187

60. Carvajal D, Tovar C, Yang H, Vu BT, Heimbrook DC, Vassilev LT. Activation of p53 by MDM2 antagonists can protect proliferating cells from mitotic inhibitors. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:1918–24. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3576

61. Maris JM. Recent advances in neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 362:2202-11. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0804577

62. Marcus A, Gowen BG, Thompson TW, Iannello A, Ardolino M, Deng W, et al. Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. *Adv Immunol* (2014) 122:91–128. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800267-4.00003-1

63. Raffaghello L, Prigione I, Airoldi I, Camoriano M, Levreri I, Gambini C, et al. Downregulation and/or release of NKG2D ligands as immune evasion strategy of human neuroblastoma. *Neoplasia* (2004) 6:558–68. doi: 10.1593/ neo.04316

64. Duffy MJ, Synnott NC, O'Grady S, Crown J. Targeting p53 for the treatment of cancer. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 79:58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.07.005

65. Chang YH, Connolly J, Shimasaki N, Mimura K, Kono K, Campana D. A chimeric receptor with NKG2D specificity enhances natural killer cell activation and killing of tumor cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:1777–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3558

66. Imai C, Iwamoto S, Campana D. Genetic modification of primary natural killer cells overcomes inhibitory signals and induces specific killing of leukemic cells. *Blood* (2005) 106:376–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-12-4797

67. Wu MR, Zhang T, Alcon A, Sentman CL. DNAM-1-based chimeric antigen receptors enhance T cell effector function and exhibit *in vivo* efficacy against melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64:409–18. doi: 10.1007/s00262-014-1648-2

68. Huang Y, Zeng J, Liu T, Xu Q, Song X, Zeng J. DNAM1 and 2B4 costimulatory domains enhance the cytotoxicity of anti-GPC3 chimeric antigen receptor-modified natural killer cells against hepatocellular cancer cells *in vitro*. *Cancer Manag Res* (2020) 12:3247–55. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S253565

69. Sayitoglu EC, Georgoudaki AM, Chrobok M, Ozkazanc D, Josey BJ, Arif M, et al. Boosting natural killer cell-mediated targeting of sarcoma through DNAM-1 and NKG2D. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:40. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00040

70. Cartellieri M, Bachmann M, Feldmann A, Bippes C, Stamova S, Wehner R, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-engineered T cells for immunotherapy of cancer. *J BioMed Biotechnol* (2010) 2010:956304. doi: 10.1155/2010/956304

71. Shibuya K, Lanier LL, Phillips JH, Ochs HD, Shimizu K, Nakayama E, et al. Physical and functional association of LFA-1 with DNAM-1 adhesion molecule. *Immunity* (1999) 11:615–23. doi: 10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80136-3

72. Zhang Z, Wu N, Lu Y, Davidson D, Colonna M, Veillette A. DNAM-1 controls NK cell activation *via* an ITT-like motif. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212:2165–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150792

73. Altvater B, Landmeier S, Pscherer S, Temme J, Schweer K, Kailayangiri S, et al. 2B4 (CD244) signaling by recombinant antigen-specific chimeric receptors costimulates natural killer cell activation to leukemia and neuroblastoma cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:4857–66. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2810

74. Xu Y, Liu Q, Zhong M, Wang Z, Chen Z, Zhang Y, et al. 2B4 costimulatory domain enhancing cytotoxic ability of anti-CD5 chimeric antigen receptor engineered natural killer cells against T cell malignancies. *J Hematol Oncol* (2019) 12:49. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0732-7

75. Zhuang X, Long EO. NK cells equipped with a chimeric antigen receptor that overcomes inhibition by HLA class I for adoptive transfer of CAR-NK cells. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:840844. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.840844

76. Li Y, Hermanson DL, Moriarity BS, Kaufman DS. Human iPSC-derived natural killer cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptors enhance anti-tumor activity. *Cell Stem Cell* (2018) 23:181–92.e185. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.06.002

77. Boudreau JE, Hsu KC. Natural killer cell education and the response to infection and cancer therapy: Stay tuned. *Trends Immunol* (2018) 39:222–39. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.12.001

78. Xie G, Dong H, Liang Y, Ham JD, Rizwan R, Chen J. CAR-NK cells: A promising cellular immunotherapy for cancer. *EBioMedicine* (2020) 59:102975. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102975

79. Bari R, Granzin M, Tsang KS, Roy A, Krueger W, Orentas R, et al. Corrigendum: A distinct subset of highly proliferative and lentiviral vector (LV)-transducible NK cells define a readily engineered subset for adoptive cellular therapy. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2784. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02784

80. Christodoulou I, Rahnama R, Ravich JW, Seo J, Zolov SN, Marple AN, et al. Glycoprotein targeted CAR-NK cells for the treatment of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:763460. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.763460

81. Carlsten M, Childs RW. Genetic manipulation of NK cells for cancer immunotherapy: Techniques and clinical implications. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:266. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00266

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ignazio Caruana, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany

REVIEWED BY Stefan Ebert, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany Antonio Di Stasi, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Melita Irving Melita.Irving@unil.ch

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 23 May 2022 ACCEPTED 30 June 2022 PUBLISHED 05 August 2022

CITATION

Cribioli E, Giordano Attianese GMP, Coukos G and Irving M (2022) CAR T cells targeting the ganglioside NGcGM3 control ovarian tumors in the absence of toxicity against healthy tissues. *Front. Immunol.* 13:951143. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.951143

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Cribioli, Giordano Attianese, Coukos and Irving. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

CAR T cells targeting the ganglioside NGcGM3 control ovarian tumors in the absence of toxicity against healthy tissues

Elisabetta Cribioli[†], Greta Maria Paola Giordano Attianese[†], George Coukos and Melita Irving^{*}

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, Department of Oncology, University of Lausanne and University Hospital of Lausanne Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, Lausanne, Switzerland

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells have emerged as a powerful immunotherapeutic tool against certain hematological malignancies but a significant proportion of patients either do not respond or they relapse, sometimes as a result of target antigen loss. Moreover, limited clinical benefit has been reported for CAR therapy against epithelial derived solid tumors. A major reason for this is the paucity of solid tumor antigens identified to date that are broadly, homogeneously and stably expressed but not found on healthy tissues. To address this, here we describe the development and evaluation of CAR T cells directed against N-glycoslylated ganglioside monosialic 3 (NGcGM3). NGcGM3 derives from the enzymatic hydroxylation of N-acetylneuraminic acid (NAc) GM3 (NAcGM3) and it is present on the surface of a range of cancers including ovarian, breast, melanoma and lymphoma. However, while NAcGM3 is found on healthy human cells, NGcGM3 is not due to the 7deletion of an exon in the gene encoding for the enzyme cytidine monophospho-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase (CMAH). Indeed, unlike for most mammals, in humans NGcGM3 is considered a neoantigen as its presence on tumors is the result of metabolic incorporation from dietary sources. Here, we have generated 3 CARs comprising different single chain variable fragments (scFvs) originating from the well-characterized monoclonal antibody (mAb) 14F7. We show reactivity of the CAR T cells against a range of patient tumor fragments and we demonstrate control of NGcGM3⁺ SKOV3 ovarian tumors in the absence of toxicity despite the expression of CMAH and presence of NGcGM3⁺ on healthy tissues in NSG mice. Taken together, our data indicate clinical potential for 14F7-based CAR T cells against a range of cancers, both in terms of efficacy and of patient safety.

KEYWORDS

T cells, immunotherapy, tumors, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR), ganglioside

Introduction

While T cell receptors (TCRs) recognize peptide fragments displayed on antigen presenting cells in a major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-restricted manner, in principle CARs can be designed to target any cell surface expressed antigen, including a protein, carbohydrate, glycolipid or ganglioside (1). Indeed, CARs are synthetic modular receptors comprising an antigen binding ectodomain, usually a scFv, followed by a hinge, a transmembrane region, and endodomains needed for T cell activation (i.e., $CD3\zeta$) and co-stimulation (usually derived from CD28 or/and 41BB). Modification to CAR components, such as binding affinity of the scFv, hinge length/flexibility, and choice of costimulatory endodomain(s) (2), can have a profound impact on effector function, tumor control, and risk of on-target but off-tumor toxicity of the engineered T cells. In addition, T cell state/ phenotype (3) at the time of transfer, CAR density at the cell surface, and the number of CAR T cells engrafted in proportion to tumor burden and target antigen expression levels (4), can influence the risk of adverse patient reactions. In fact, most tumor antigens targeted by CARs are also found at varying levels on healthy tissues [reviewed in (5-7)].

Major continued investments in the development of CAR T cells for treating solid tumors are predicated on the unprecedented clinical success of CD19 directed CAR T cells of up to 70-90% complete, durable responses (including some that are curative) against acute and chronic leukemias (8–11). However, CD19 represents an ideal target for CAR therapy because it is largely restricted to B cells and it is typically homogeneously expressed. Moreover, the B cells themselves can provide costimulatory support (e.g. from CD80/86) to CAR T cells, and they are readily accessible (i.e., in the bloodstream and lymphatic system) rather than being sheltered within an oftentimes difficult to access and suppressive solid tumor microenvironment (TME, 5).

Important research efforts are underway to identify solid tumor antigens that are broadly, homogeneously, and stably expressed across multiple tumor types but absent from healthy tissues (i.e., a bona fide tumor antigen rather than a tumor *associated* antigen). A deletion variant of epidermal growth factor (EGFRvIII) is an example of a tumor-restricted target (it is a driver mutation in some forms of glioblastoma), but there is considerable intra- and intertumor heterogeneity (12, 13) and antigen loss has been reported in the clinic following CAR therapy (14). Recently, proof-of-principle for the development of CARs targeting the oncogenic immunopeptidome of neuroblastoma (so-called peptide-centric CARs) has been reported (15) but, although promising, clinical efficacy and safety, as well as applicability to other cancer-types, remains to be demonstrated (16).

Here, we sought to develop CARs directed against the ganglioside NGcGM3 which we propose is a promising target tumor antigen. Gangliosides have been implicated in tumor

establishment and metastases as well as in immune suppression, and numerous studies indicate that NGcGM3 is a negative prognostic marker [reviewed in (17)]. Briefly, gangliosides are glycosphingolipids having at least one sialic acid linked on the sugar chain. The two major sialic acid variants in mammals are Nacetylneuraminic acid (NAc) and N-glycolyneuraminic acid (NGc), but the latter is not found in normal human tissues due to the deletion of an exon in the gene encoding for the enzyme CMAH needed for converting NAc to NGc. Although humans lack CMAH activity, NGcGM3 derived from dietary sources (e.g., meat and dairy products) has been detected in the plasma membranes of a broad range of cancer-types including ovarian, breast, lung, melanoma, prostate, neuroblastoma, sarcoma and lymphoma as a result of their higher metabolic rate (17) and upregulation of sialin, a sialic acid transporter, by hypoxia (18). In our study, we have generated CAR T cells targeting NGcGM3 with scFv derived from the well-characterised mAb 14F7 (19, 20) and achieve in vitro activity against SKOV3 ovarian tumor cells as well as a range of patient biopsies. In addition, we demonstrate robust control of NGcGM3⁺ SKOV3 tumors in the absence of toxicity against healthy tissues.

Results

14F7-based CAR T cells demonstrate *in vitro* activity against SKOV3 tumor cells and a panel of patient derived tumor fragments

The IgG1 mAb 14F7 was originally generated by immunizing BALB/c mice with NGcGM3 conjugated to human very-low density lipoproteins in the presence of Freund's adjuvant (19, 20). We began our study by generating a panel of scFv-based CARs comprising the original murine variable heavy (V_H) domain of 14F7 and 3 previously described human variants of the variable light (V_L) domain (herein named 'human' (h) h1, h2 and h3) (21) in a pRRL based lentiviral vector. Briefly, the bicistronic lentiviral transfer vectors encode the human phosphoglycerate kinase (PGK) promoter, green fluorescent protein (GFP), a T2A sequence, and the human CD8 leader sequence followed by each of the CARs [scFv, hinge, transmembrane (TM) and intracellular (IC) domains derived from CD28 and CD3ζ, Figure 1A].

We efficiently transduced a Jurkat-NFAT-mCherry reporter cell line (Figure 1B) that we previously generated (22) to express each of the 3 CARs (Figure 1C). Because Jurkat cells are NGcGM3⁺ *in vitro* [by NGc uptake from fetal bovine serum (FBS) in the culture media, Figure 1D], they quickly became activated (as evaluated by mCherry expression) following transduction to express the CARs (Figure 1E). As a control, the transduced reporter cells were activated for 48h with Phorbol 12-Myristate 13-Acetate/Ionomycin (PMA/Iono) (Supplementary Figure 1A).



FIGURE 1

Anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells demonstrate reactivity *in vitro* against NGcGM3⁺ SKOV3 ovarian tumor cells and a panel of patient biopsies. (A) Schematic of lentiviral vectors encoding GFP and the different 14F7-based anti-NGcGM3 CARs. (B) Schematic of the vector used to generate Jurkat-mCherry reporter cells which were then transduced with the 3 CAR variants (CAR h1, h2 and h3) or not (UTD=untransduced) (C) Evaluation of CAR expression by transduced Jurkat-mCherry reporter cells as assessed by GFP expression measured by flow cytometric analysis. (D) NGcGM3 expression on Jurkat cell surfaces as assessed by flow cytometric analysis (top, in red) and secondary antibody staining alone control (bottom, in grey). (E) mCherry expression levels in transduced Jurkat-mCherry reporter cells at 48h (left) and representative dot plots of reporter gene and CAR expression (evaluated by GFP expression) (right). (F) Percent GFP expression by lentivirally transduced primary human T cells assessed by flow cytometry. (G) SKOV3 cell line NGcGM3 expression (in red) assessed by flowcytometry compared to control (secondary Ab alone, in grey). (H) Anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell killing of SKOV3 tumor cells (calculated as dead cell count/µm²) measured over days in an IncuCyte assay. (I) IFNy production by anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells upon 24h coculture with SKOV3 tumor cells. (J) Schematic of anti-NGcGM3 CAR untransduced (UTD) T cell coculture with patient tumor fragments. (K) IFNy release in anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell and tumor fragment coculture assays. Shown is average \pm standard deviation (SD) (F, I, K) or standard error mean (sem) (H) of different cultures. Statistical analysis by unpaired, two-tailed Mann-Whitney test (H) and paired, two-tailed t test (I). (**p< 0.01; *p < 0.05; ns, non-significant). All experiments were performed for a minimum of n=3 donors.

Having demonstrated the ability of the 3 different CARs to trigger mCherry expression in our reporter cell line, we subsequently efficiently transduced primary human T cells derived from the peripheral blood of healthy donors (Figure 1F). Coculture of the human CAR T cells with SKOV3 ovarian tumor cells which are NGcGM3⁺ *in vitro* (Figure 1G) revealed highest target cell killing by CAR h2 engineered T cells as evaluated in an IncuCyte assay (Figure 1H), but highest IFNγ production by CAR h3 T cells (Figure 1I).

Finally, we sought to test the reactivity of anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell against patient biopsies. We obtained a panel of ovarian, breast, cervical, uterine and colon tumor fragments, cancer-types previously shown to present NGcGM3 at their surface (17), and upon 48 or 72h coculture with CAR h3 T cells versus untransduced (UTD) T cells, we evaluated IFN γ production (Figure 1J). We observed varying levels of IFN γ release by the CAR h3 T cells in response to each of the tumor-types, but none by the UTD T cells (Figure 1K).

In summary, we built 3 different anti-NGcGM3 CARs and demonstrated *in vitro* reactivity of engineered T cells against the tumor cell line SKOV3 as well as a panel of patient biopsies. CAR h2 conferred the highest level of target cell killing and CAR h3 the highest level of IFN γ production by engineered human T cells *in vitro*.

14F7-based CAR T cells efficiently control the growth of NGcGM3⁺ SKOV3 ovarian tumors upon adoptive cell transfer

The human ovarian SKOV3 cell line has been previously gene-modified to express CMAH (named SKOV3 CMAH) needed for the enzymatic hydroxylation of NAcGM3 to NGcGM3, and it has been shown that intraperitioneal administration of humanized 14F7 mAb efficiently controls SKOV3 CMAH growth *in vivo* (23). With the aim of evaluating our anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells *in vivo*, we began by analysing NGcGM3 expression by wild type (wt) SKOV3 versus SKOV3 CMAH subcutaneous tumors *ex vivo* and confirmed elevated expression levels by the latter (Figure 2A).

For *in vivo* testing of the anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells we subcutaneously engrafted NSG mice with SKOV3 CMAH cells which are able to convert NAcGM3 to NGcGM3 (schematic shown in Figure 2B). Because CMAH is expressed in murine cells we transferred the T cells by peritumoral injection to avoid systemic on-target but off-tumor toxicity, or/and sequestration of the CAR T cells in healthy tissues. We measured significant tumor control by CAR h1 and h3 T cells as compared to treatment with UTD T cells and saline alone (Figure 2C). Evaluation of tumors at the end of the study revealed a similar and significant reduction in weight (Figure 2D) and comparable

T cell infiltration levels upon treatment with the 3 different CARs as compared to the controls (Figure 2E).

In two additional independent *in vivo* experiments with lower doses of CAR h3 T cells we demonstrated significant tumor control, a significant reduction in tumor weight at the end of the study, and confirmed significant CAR h3 T cell infiltration, as compared to UTD T cells (Supplementary Figures 1B–G). We further evaluated CAR h3 T cells *in vivo* against prostate (22Rv1) and Ewing's sarcoma (A673). While both of these cell lines uptake and present NGcGM3 *in vitro* (from FBS in the culture medium) (Figures 2F, G, top) we did not observe any tumor control *in vivo*. This is not unexpected because these human tumor cell lines do not express CMAH and the mice receive a vegetarian diet (i.e., there is not the possibility of NGcGM3 uptake by the tumors *in vivo*).

In summary, we demonstrated significant control of SKOV3 CMAH ovarian tumors upon adoptive transfer of 14F7-based anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells, but not of 22Rv1 prostate nor A673 sarcoma tumors.

Anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells do not cause toxicity against healthy tissues in NSG mice

NSG mice express the enzyme CMAH thus healthy murine cells can present enzymatically generated NGcGM3 in their outer membranes. However, while humans do not express CMAH, one cannot exclude the possibility of dietary uptake of NGcGM3 by normal tissues. Hence, we sought to evaluate the potential for anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell toxicity against healthy tissues in NSG mice as a surrogate for potential toxicity against human tissues arising from dietary uptake of NGcGM3 (24).

We intravenously injected both female and male NSG mice with a high dose of anti-NGcGM3 CAR h3 T cells (10⁷), as well as control GFP⁺ T cells and saline, and carefully monitored them for 9 days (schematic in Figure 3A). We observed no weight loss of the mice (Supplementary Figure 2A) nor signs of distress. In addition, hematocrit analysis of the blood 8 days post-adoptive cell transfer (ACT) revealed no difference in the levels of white blood cells (WBC), red blood cells (RBC), platelets, or systemic hemoglobin (HGB) levels amongst the CAR T cell treated versus control mice (Figure 3B, left to right). Similarly, analysis of the sera indicated no signs of liver, pancreatic or kidney toxicity as there were no differences in alanine aminotransferase (ALT), lipase, and creatinine levels respectively, amongst the groups of mice (Figure 3C, left to right). At autopsy we observed no difference in liver or spleen weights for the CAR T cell treated versus control mice (Figure 3D, left and right). Flow cytometric analysis of 14F7 mAb stained single cell suspensions of organs revealed varying levels of NGcGM3 expression for the spleen, lungs (even though lower in comparison to SKOV3 CMAH tumor cells; Supplemental Figure 2B), liver, pancreas, ovary,



FIGURE 2

Anti-NGcGM3 CARs T cells efficiently control the *in vivo* tumor growth of an ovarian human tumor cell line expressing the target antigen. (A) Relative expression of NGcGM3 on SKOV3 wt versus SKOV3 CMAH subcutaneous tumor fragments (left). Representative immunofluorescence images (right); DAPI staining of nuclei in red, 14F7 mAb plus Alexafluor 647 labeled secondary Ab in blue. (B) Schematic of *in vivo* ACT study. (C) Tumor growth (SKOV CMAH) curves over days following subcutaneous injection. (D) Tumor weights (SKOV3 CMAH) at the end of the study (day 15). (E) Percentage of human CD3⁺ T cells infiltrating tumors at the end of the study (normalized for tumor volume). (F, G) Relative expression levels of NGcGM3 on SKOV3 CMAH, 22Rv1 and A673 tumor cells assessed by flow cytometry (control = secondary Ab alone) (top). Tumor growth curves for 22Rv1 and A673 over days (in this ACT study the mice received 2x10⁶ CAR T or UTD cells by peritumoral injection at days 16 and 8, respectively, post tumor injection) (bottom). Shown is average ± SD (A, D) or ± sem (C) and (F, G, bottom panels) or box and whiskers (min to max) (E). Statistical analysis by unpaired, two-tailed Mann-Whitney test (A) and paired, two-tailed t test (D); two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with correction for multiple comparisons by *post hoc* Tukey's test (C); unpaired, two-tailed t test (D).(**p< 0.01; *p < 0.05; ns, non-significant).



FIGURE 3

Anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells do not cause toxicity in NSG mice. (A) Schematic of *in vivo* toxicity study. (B) Blood analysis to assess white blood cells (WBC), red blood cells (RBC), platelets counts and hemoglobin (HGB). (C) Measurement of alanine aminotransferase (ALT), lipase and creatinine in serum. (D) Spleen and liver weight upon necropsy. (E) NGcGM3 expression in different organs (spleen, lungs, liver, pancreas, ovary, heart, kidney). (F) Histopathology of organs from control (GFP transduced T cells) and anti-NGcGM3 CAR h3 T cell treated mice on day 9 post intravenous injection of transduced 10^7 T cells. H&E = hematoxylin and eosin staining at 100X and 400X magnification; IHC = immunohistochemistry to detect GFP⁺ T cells (brown, indicated with arrow). (G) Quantification of GFP⁺ T cells in the lungs. Shown is average \pm SD (B, C, D, G). Statistical analysis by unpaired, two-tailed t test (G). (****p< 0.0001).

heart and kidney (Figure 3E, left to right), and substantially lower NGcGM3 levels on the brain and prostate (Supplementary Figure 2C, left and right).

Finally, by histopathology (blinded study by a trained pathologist) we observed no signs of toxicity by the anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell treatment to the spleen, lungs, liver, pancreas, ovary, heart and kidney (Figure 3F, top to bottom), or to the brain and prostate (Supplementary Figure 2D). Constitutive GFP expression by both the control and CAR h3 T cells allowed for semi-quantitative analysis of the transferred T cells. We observed higher levels of CAR h3 T cells versus control T cells in the lungs (in the absence of any aberration of the vessels or alveolar walls; Figure 3F, G), in line with previous reports of activated T cell retention in the lungs upon intravenous transfer (25). Notably, anti-F4/80 staining of the different organ cross-sections revealed no differences in macrophage infiltration into organs (except for the lungs) for the CAR T cell versus control mice T cells treated (Supplementary Figure 2E), further indicative that no toxicity was caused by the treatment. In an independent ACT study, we confirmed the daily well-being of the mice upon high doses of anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell transfer, and once again showed higher retention of both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ CAR T cells in the lungs of mice (Supplementary Figure 2F).

In summary, despite the expression of CMAH in NSG mice, and the presence of NGcGM3 on most organs, transfer of high doses of CAR h3 T cells did not cause adverse reactions against healthy tissues.

Discussion

The unprecedented clinical success of CAR T cells against some advanced hematological malignancies has driven tremendous efforts to develop effective CAR therapies for treating epithelial derived solid tumors which represent the majority of cancers. Obstacles to solid tumor control by CAR T cells can be divided into 3 main categories: (i) insufficient CAR T cell homing and infiltration, (ii) barriers in the TME that are limiting to CAR T cell persistence and effector function, and, (iii) the paucity of target tumor antigens that are broadly, homogeneously and stably expressed but not found on healthy tissues. Here, we sought to address the identification of suitable solid tumor antigen targets for CAR therapy.

In our study, we explored NGcGM3 as a CAR target. NGcGM3 is a ganglioside that is not endogenously produced in humans due to the deletion of an exon in the gene encoding for the enzyme CMAH required for the conversion of NAc to NGc. However, as a result of dietary uptake by highly metabolic tumor cells, NGcGM3 has been identified as present on a range of human tumors, both epithelial cell derived and of hematological origin. NGcGM3 levels can range from moderate to intense depending on tumor-type and the patient [reviewed in (17)]. To build our CAR panel, we took advantage of the previously described murine mAb 14F7 which can exquisitely distinguish NGcGM3 from NAcGM3 *via* a subtle chemical modification of a CH₂OH group instead of CH₃ in the context of a trisaccharide. Notably, the anti-NGcGM3 mAb 14F7 labeled with (99m)Tc has been used to demonstrate clinical evidence of NGcGM3 expression in human breast cancer (26) and the GlycoVaxGM3 vaccine, a nanoparticulated product obtained through the insertion of NGcGM3 into the outer membrane protein complex of *N. meningitides*, has been tested in the clinic (27–29).

We successfully built second generation CARs comprising 3 different scFvs targeting NGcGM3. The scFvs that we employed comprise the original murine V_H of 14F7 linked to 3 different human V_L fragments previously identified by phage display light chain shuffling (21). All 3 of our CARs conferred in vitro reactivity of engineered human T cells against SKOV3 tumor cells. Moreover the best CAR candidate showed functional activity against a panel of human tumor fragments. In addition, we demonstrated in vivo tumor control of NGcGM3⁺ SKOV3 ovarian tumors in the absence of any toxicity against healthy tissues in NSG mice, despite the observed presence of NGcGM3 across many organs. Notably, ovarian cancer is the 8th most commonly diagnosed cancer in women globally, and it is the 4th most common cause of cancer-related death in women in the developed world. Indeed, due to the lack of specific symptoms, nearly 75% of ovarian cancer patients are diagnosed at a late stage with widespread intra-abdominal disease (30) and an effective CAR therapy would thus represent an important medical breakthrough (31).

The mAb 14F7 has been extensively characterized with respect to its specific reactivity against NGcGM3 (17) but concerns have been raised about potential reactivity against healthy tissues in which NAcGM3 may be naturally present at high levels, as well as NGcGM3 from dietary sources. In our study, we detected NGcGM3 on human Jurkat (T cell leukemia), SKOV3 (ovarian), 22Rv1 (prostate) and A673 (Ewing's sarcoma) tumor cell lines in vitro, most probably acquired from the FBS [an abundant source of NGcGM3 (18, 32)] in the culture medium. Similarly, others have reported NGcGM3 on retinoblastoma (33) and epidermoid carcinoma (34) cell lines in vitro. However, in vivo we achieved tumor control of SKOV3 CMAH tumors (i.e., overexpressing the enzyme needed to generate NGc from NAc) but not of 22Rv1 or of A673 tumors. Indeed, because the NSG mice receive vegetarian nourishment there is no dietary source of NGcGM3 for the tumors to acquire. Notably, in our ACT study in which NSG mice received 10⁷ anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells there were no signs of toxicity identifiable in the blood or to any of the organs despite that they express NGcGM3. Taken together, these observations indicate that there is a minimum threshold of NGcGM3 that must be present for 14F7-based CAR T cell reactivity. If change to diet (i.e., high consumption of meat or dairy products) can increase anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cell responses against tumors and/or lead to toxicity against healthy tissues has not been explored in this study but is relevant to their clinical translation (6).

As described above, we employed 14F7 derived scFvs comprising a murine V_H region and human V_L regions. Such murine/human scFv could potentially be immunogenic in humans resulting in unwanted depletion of the CAR T cells (35). The mAb 14F7 has been humanized (14F7hT) to reduce its immunogenicity (36), and the testing of fully humanized scFv variants for CAR therapy is warranted. Of course, any new scFv should be carefully evaluated for retained target specificity, as well as for propensity to aggregate at the T cell surface which can result in tonic signaling and T cell exhaustion (37, 38). Notably, 14F7hT has been demonstrated by others to exhibit significant antitumor effects in preclinical hematological tumor models [reviewed in (17)]. Indeed, anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells offer the possibility of treating a range of solid and liquid tumors alike.

Another approach to improve the efficacy of anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells is to co-engineer them with gene-cargo that can either directly support the fitness/function of the CAR T cells themselves or/and reprogram the TME to harness endogenous immunity (39). We have comprehensively demonstrated, for example, the numerous benefits of IL-15 coengineering of murine CAR T cells in a syngeneic melanoma tumor model (40). However, the impact of additional gene-cargo on target tumor antigen must be carefully evaluated. For example, although transgenic expression of IL-15 was shown to improve the antiglioma activity of IL-13alpha2 CAR T cells, antigen loss was reported (41).

Because of the broad expression of NGcGM3 by both solid and liquid tumors *via* dietary uptake in humans, there is also the potential for coadministration of anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells with CAR T cells targeting a second antigen as a means of mitigating escape (42). Or, one could develop anti-NGcGM3 costimulatory CARs to enhance T cell receptor (TCR) based immunotherapy (43), or in the context of a parallel (p)CAR design (44). Finally, in recent years, several remote-control designs including ON-CARs (45), STOP-CARs (22), and OFF-CARs (46, 47) have been developed that could provide the means to more safely explore the translation of NGcGM3 redirected T cells to the clinic. Taken together, we conclude from our study and recent literature the strong clinical potential of NGcGM3 redirected CAR T cells for immunotherapy against a broad range of cancers.

Materials and methods

14F7-based CAR construction

Second generation self-inactivating (SIN) lentiviral expression vector pRRL containing single chain fragment variable specific for PSMA (22) was used as a starting construct for building the second generation antiNGcGM3 CARs. Three human variants of the V_L (7Ah, 8Bh and 7Bh, which we named CAR h1, CAR h2 and CAR h3), previously developed (21), were ordered as genestrings (GeneArt, Invitrogen) and cloned in the lentiviral vector using SpeI and SalI restriction site digestion in frame with CD28 derived hinge, TM, IC domains and a CD3 ζ signaling endodomain, under the control of a human PGK promoter, in a bicistronic construct together with the gene reporter GFP. The two proteins are separated by T2A self cleaving peptide. For toxicity *in vivo* experiments, control T cells were transduced with a pRRL vector carrying GFP only to allow the *ex vivo* tracing of transferred cells.

Recombinant lentivirus production

All plasmids were purified using the HiPure Plasmid Filter Maxiprep Kit (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific). High-titer replication-defective lentivirus were produced and concentrated for primary T cell transduction. Briefly, 24h before transfection, 293T human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells were seeded at 10⁷ in T-150 tissue culture flasks. HEK cells were transfected with pVSV-G (VSV glycoprotein expression plasmid), R874 (Rev and Gag/Pol expression plasmid), and pRRL transgene plasmid using a mix of Turbofect (Thermo Fisher Scientific AG) and Optimem media (Invitrogen, Lifetechnologies). The viral supernatant was harvested at 48h post-transfection. Viral particles were concentrated for 2h at 24,000g at 4°C with a Beckman JS-24 rotor (Beckman Coulter) and resuspended in fresh culture media followed by immediate snap freezing in dry ice.

Human T cell transduction and expansion

Primary human T cells were isolated from the peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of healthy donors (HDs) prepared as buffy coats. All blood samples were collected with informed consent of the donors. Total PBMCs were obtained via Lymphoprep (Axonlab) separation solution using a standard protocol of centrifugation. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were isolated using a negative selection kit coupled with magnetic beads separation (easySEP, Stemcell Technology). T cells were then cultured in complete media [RPMI 1640 with Glutamax, supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS (Gibco), 100 µg/ml penicillin, 100 U/ml streptomycin sulfate (Invitrogen, Lifetechnologies)], and stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAb coated beads (Lifetechnologies) in a ratio of 1:2, T cells: beads. Twelve to 24h after activation, T cells were transduced with lentivirus particles titrated by serial dilution in Jurkat cells. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells used for in vitro experiments were mixed at a 1:1 ratio, activated, and transduced. For *in vivo* studies and *in vitro* coculture with tumor fragments, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were activated, transduced separately and then mixed prior to the experiments at a 20%: 80%, CD4⁺: CD8⁺ ratio. Human recombinant IL-2 (h-IL-2; Peprotech) was added every other day to obtain a 50 IU/ml final concentration until 5 days post stimulation (day +5). At day +5, magnetic beads were removed and h-IL-2 was switched to h-IL-15 and h-IL-7, both at 10 ng/mL (Miltenyi Biotec GmbH). A cell density of 0.5-1 × 10^6 cells/ml was maintained for expansion. Rested engineered T cells were adjusted for identical transgene expression before all functional assays.

Cell lines

293T HEK, Jurkat, 22Rv1 and A673 cells were purchased from the ATCC. SKOV3 wt and SKOV3 CMAH were kindly provided by Dr. Kalet Leon (CIM, Cuba). The Jurkat-mCherry cell line generated in the lab was engineered to express a 6x NFAT-mCherry -reporter system such that upon activation the cells turn red. 293T HEK, 22Rv1, A673 and Jurkat cells were cultured in complete media. SKOV3 wt and SKOV3 CMAH were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 2 mmol/l L-glutamine, and 100 µg/ml penicillin, 100 U/ ml streptomycin. To select SKOV3 CMAH⁺ cells, geneticin (Invitrogen G418, 1-2 mg/mL) was added to the culture medium.

Cytokine release assays

Cytokine release assays were performed by co-culture of $5x10^4$ T cells with $5x10^4$ target cells per well, in duplicate, in 96well round bottom plates in a final volume of 200µl complete media. After 24h, co-culture supernatants were harvested and tested for presence of human IFN- γ using an ELISA Kit, according to the manufacturer's protocol (Biolegend). The reported values represent the mean of engineered T cells derived from three HDs. Patients derived tumor fragments were sectioned in 2-3 mm cubes and cocultured with T cells in a 96 well round bottom plate for 48-72h prior to supernatant collection and IFN- γ release analysis with ELISA (Biolegend).

Cytotoxicity assays

Cytotoxicity assays were performed using the Incucyte System (Essen Bioscience). Briefly, 1.25×10^4 target cells were seeded 18h before the co-culture set up in flat bottom 96 well plates (Costar, Vitaris). The following day, rested T cells (no cytokine addition for 48h) were counted and seeded at 2.5×10^4 / well, at a ratio 1:2, target:T cells in complete media. No exogenous cytokine was added in the assay medium during

the co-culture period. Cytotox Red reagent (Essen Bioscience) was added at a final concentration of 125nM in a total volume of 200 μ l. Images of total number of red cells/ μ m² were collected every 2h of the co-culture for a total of 3 days and were analyzed using the software provided by the Incucyte manufacturer. Data are expressed as mean of 3 different HDs +/- standard deviation.

Flow cytometric analysis

InfraRed live/dead was used for viability staining. All mAbs were purchased from BD Biosciences. Tumor cell surface expression of NGcGM3 was achieved by primary staining with 14F7 mAb (kindly provided by Dr. Kalet Leon, Cuba) and then secondary staining with Alexafluor 647 anti-mouse Fc mAb. (115-605-071, Jackson Immune research Laboratory) Acquisition and analysis were performed using a BD FACS LRSII with FACS DIVA software (BD Biosciences).

Immunohistochemistry

Wild type SKOV3 and SKOV3 CMAH subcutaneous tumors were cryopreserved in OCT compound prior to sectioning (Mouse Pathology Facility, University of Lausanne) and staining. The tumors sections were fixed with a solution of 10% NBF (Formalin solution neutral buffered, HT501128, Sigma), permeabilized with a solution of PBS 0.5% Triton (X100, Sigma), and the aspecific binding sites were blocked with a solution of PBS, 2% heat-inactivated FBS and 1% BSA. The samples were then incubated overnight with 10 μ g/ml 14F7 mAb. Upon extensive washes with PBS the tumor sections were incubated with secondary Ab anti- antigen binding fragment (Fab) labeled with Alexafluor 647 (115-606-072, Jackson Immune research Laboratory) for 1h at RT. The sections were further stained with DAPI (D9545, Sigma Aldrich) and the slides then analyzed with an Epifluorescence microscope.

Jurkat-NFAT-mCherry cell line transduction and reporter assays

Jurkat-NFAT-mCherry reporter cells previously developed in the lab (22) were transduced with lentivirus encoding both GFP and each of the different anti-NGcGM3 CARs. Briefly, $1x10^6$ cell/mL cells were seeded into 48-well plates in 500 µL/well and 50 µL of virus supernatant was mixed with protamine sulfate (P4020, Sigma Aldrich) for a final concentration of 10 µg/mL. After incubation for 24h at 37°C the cell media was refreshed and the cells were incubated for an additional 72h at 37°C before use. The transduced cells were cultured with the addition or not of PMA/lono for 48h and analyzed by flow cytometry for mCherry expression (FL-2 channel) and GFP (FL-1 channel).

Mice and in vivo experiments

NOD SCID gamma knock-out (NSG) mice were bred and housed in a specific and opportunistic pathogen-free (SPF) animal facility at the Epalinges campus of the University of Lausanne. All experiments were conducted according to the Swiss Federal Veterinary Office guidelines and were approved by the Cantonal Veterinary Office. All cages housed 5 animals in an enriched environment providing free access to food and water. During experimentation, all animals were monitored at least every other day. Mice were euthanized upon meeting distress criteria and at end-point by carbon dioxide overdose. A total of 5x10⁶ SKOV3 wt or 5x10⁶ SKOV3 CMAH tumor cells were subcutaneously injected in flanks of mice (6-10 mice per group). Tumor volume was monitored by caliper measurements every other day starting from day 4 post injection. For ACT experiments, 2-10 $\times 10^6$ CAR⁺ T cells (CD8^{+:} CD4⁺ = 80%: 20%) were peritumorally or intravenously injected and tumor volume was monitored over time as indicated. Tumor volume was determined with the calculation: volume in $mm^3 = (length x)$ width²)/2, where length is the greatest longitudinal measurement and width is the greatest transverse measurement.

In vivo toxicity study

To evaluate *in vivo* toxicity of anti-NGcGM3 CAR T cells, NSG mice received an intravenous injection of 10⁷ transduced T cells (control GFP, CAR). The mice were monitored daily for 9 days at which time point they were sacrificed and the organs collect (blood was sampled on day 8).

The blood was analyzed in a blinded manner for white blood cell (WBC) count, red blood cell (RBC) count, platelets and hemoglobin (HGB) concentration with the mythic18 Vet instrument according to the manufacturer's suggestions. The serum was analyzed for units per liter (U/L) of alanine aminotransferase (ALT), lipase, and creatinine at the Clinical Chemistry Laboratory at the Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV).

For Haematoxylin-Eosine (H&E) staining, 4µm paraffin sections were stained using a standard histology procedure to assess general morphology. For the double IHC F4/80 and GFP staining, the double chromogenic IHC assay was performed using the Ventana Discovery ULTRA automate (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland). All steps were performed automatically with Ventana solutions. Primary mAbs were applied sequentially. First, dewaxed and rehydrated paraffin sections were incubated with a rat anti-F4/80 mAb (clone Cl:A3-1, Thermo Fisher MA191124, diluted 1:50), followed by a rat Immpress AP (Vector Laboratories) and revelation with the Discovery red chromogen. Next, a heat pretreatment was applied using the CC1 solution for 40 min at 95°C. Sections were subsequently incubated with a goat anti-GFP mAb (Abcam ab6673, diluted 1:400), followed by a goat Immpress HRP (Vector Laboratories) and revelation using the ChromoMap DAB chromogen. Sections were counterstained with Mayer hematoxyline (J.T. Baker) and permanently mounted with Pertex (Sakura). All H&E stainings were performed in a at the Histology Core Facility at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in Lausanne (EPFL). Slides were analyzed in a blinded manner by a trained pathologist at the same facility.

Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism 9.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA) was used for statistical calculations. P < 0.05 was considered significant. Statistical analyses used include two-way ANOVA, unpaired two-tailed Mann-Whitney, and two-tailed paired and unpaired t tests, depending on the type of experiment and as indicated in the figure legends.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Swiss Cantonal Veterinary Office.

Author contributions

MI directed the study and GC provided expert advice. EC, GMPGA and MI planned experiments and interpreted results. EC and GMPGA performed experiments. EC, MI and GMPGA wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Ludwig Cancer Research, The Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF/FNS to MI: 310030_204326), The Prostate Cancer Foundation and Cancera.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.951143/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

(A) Evaluation by flow cytometry of GFP and mCherry expression by Jurkat NFAT-mCherry reporter cells transduced or not with anti-NGcGM3 CARs and stimulated with phorbol myristate acetate and ionomycin (PMA/Iono). (B) SKOV3 CMAH tumor growth curves over days upon peritumoral injections of $2x10^6$ T cells (versus $3x10^6$ T cells

References

1. Sadelain M, Brentjens R, Riviere I. The basic principles of chimeric antigen receptor design. *Cancer Discov* (2013) 3:388–98. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0548

2. Muller YD, Nguyen DP, Ferreira LMR, Ho P, Raffin C, Valencia RVB, et al. The CD28-transmembrane domain mediates chimeric antigen receptor heterodimerization with CD28. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:639818. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.639818

3. Gattinoni L, Speiser DE, Lichterfeld M, Bonini C. T Memory stem cells in health and disease. *Nat Med* (2017) 23:18–27. doi: 10.1038/nm.4241

4. Majzner RG, Rietberg SP, Sotillo E, Dong R, Vachharajani VT, Labanieh L, et al. Tuning the antigen density requirement for CAR T-cell activity. *Cancer Discov* (2020) 10:702–23. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0945

5. Irving M, Vuillefroy de Silly R, Scholten K, Dilek N, Coukos G. Engineering chimeric antigen receptor T-cells for racing in solid tumors: Don't forget the fuel. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:267. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00267

6. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:843–51. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.24

7. Rafiq S, Hackett CS, Brentjens RJ. Engineering strategies to overcome the current roadblocks in CAR T cell therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17:147–67. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0297-y

8. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 368:1509–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215134

9. Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 371:1507–17. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1407222

10. Kochenderfer JN, Wilson WH, Janik JE, Dudley ME, Stetler-Stevenson M, Feldman SA, et al. Eradication of b-lineage cells and regression of lymphoma in a patient treated with autologous T cells genetically engineered to recognize CD19. *Blood* (2010) 116:4099–102. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-04-281931

11. Kebriaei P, Huls H, Jena B, Munsell M, Jackson R, Lee DA, et al. Infusing CD19-directed T cells to augment disease control in patients undergoing autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for advanced b-lymphoid malignancies. *Hum Gene Ther* (2012) 23:444–50. doi: 10.1089/hum.2011.167

12. Morgan RA, Johnson LA, Davis JL, Zheng Z, Woolard KD, Reap EA, et al. Recognition of glioma stem cells by genetically modified T cells targeting EGFRvIII in Figure 2B to test the activity and infiltration of a lower number of T cells) or saline. (C) Tumor weight at the end of the study. (D) Percentage of human CD3⁺ T cells and (E) CD3⁺GFP⁺ cells infiltrating tumors at the end of the study (normalized for tumor volume). (F) SKOV3 CMAH tumor growth curves over days upon peritumoral injections of $2x10^6$ T cells or saline (independent repetition of B). (G) Tumor weight at the end of the study. Shown is average \pm sem (B, F), \pm SD (C, G) or box and whiskers (min to max) (D). Statistical analysis by two-way ANOVA (B, F) and unpaired two-tailed t test (C, D, G). (****p< 0.0001, **p< 0.01; *p < 0.05).

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

(A) Weight of female and male mice over time for in vivo toxicity study (treated as per Figure 3A). (B) Flow cytometric analysis to evaluate NGcGM3 expression by 14F7 mAb staining of dissociated lungs (in purple) and SKOV3 CMAH cells (in red) compared to control (secondary Ab alone, in grey). (C) Flow cytometric analysis to evaluate NGcGM3 expression by 14F7 mAb staining for different dissociated organs (in red) compared to control (secondary Ab alone, in grey). (D) Histopathology of the organs [treated as per Figure 3A): $H\delta E =$ hematoxylin and eosin staining at 100X and 400X magnification; IHC = immunohistochemistry to detect GFP⁺ T cells (brown, indicated with arrow)]. (E) Quantification of GFP^+ and $F4/80^+$ cells in different organs evaluated by IHC (treated as per Figure 3A). (F) Flowcytometric analysis of dissociated organs and peripheral blood (mice treated as per Figure 3A) to detect human CD8⁺ (left) and CD4⁺ (right) T cells. Shown is average \pm sem (A), + SD (E). Statistical analysis unpaired two-tailed t test (E). (****p< 0.0001).

and development of adoptive cell therapy for glioma. *Hum Gene Ther* (2012) 23:1043-53. doi: 10.1089/hum.2012.041

13. Goff SL, Morgan RA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Robbins PF, Restifo NP, et al. Pilot trial of adoptive transfer of chimeric antigen receptor-transduced T cells targeting EGFRvIII in patients with glioblastoma. *J Immunother* (2019) 42:126–35. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0000000000260

14. O'Rourke DM, Nasrallah MP, Desai A, Melenhorst JJ, Mansfield K, Morrissette JJD, et al. A single dose of peripherally infused EGFRvIII-directed CAR T cells mediates antigen loss and induces adaptive resistance in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9:eaaa0984. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa0984

15. Yarmarkovich M, Marshall QF, Warrington JM, Premaratne R, Farrel A, Groff D, et al. Cross-HLA targeting of intracellular oncoproteins with peptide-centric CARs. *Nature* (2021) 599:477–84. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-04061-6

16. Irving M, Zoete V, Bassani-Sternberg M, Coukos G. A roadmap for driving CAR T cells toward the oncogenic immunopeptidome. *Cancer Cell* (2022) 40:20–2. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2021.12.011

17. Labrada M, Dorvignit D, Hevia G, Rodríguez-Zhurbenko N, Hernández AM, Vázquez AM, et al. GM3(Neu5Gc) ganglioside: An evolution fixed neoantigen for cancer immunotherapy. *Semin Oncol* (2018)45:41–51. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2018.04.003

 Yin J, Hashimoto A, Izawa M, Miyazaki K, Chen GY, Takematsu H, et al. Hypoxic culture induces expression of sialin, a sialic acid transporter, and cancerassociated gangliosides containing non-human sialic acid on human cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:2937–45. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2615

19. Carr A, Mullet A, Mazorra Z, Vazquez AM, Alfonso M, Mesa C, et al. A mouse IgG1 monoclonal antibody specific for n-glycolyl GM3 ganglioside recognized breast and melanoma tumors. *Hybridoma* (2000) 19:241–7. doi: 10.1089/02724570050109639

20. Mateo C, Lombardero J, Moreno E, Morales A, Bombino G, Coloma J, et al. Removal of amphipathic epitopes from genetically engineered antibodies: Production of modified immunoglobulins with reduced immunogenicity. *Hybridoma* (2000) 19:463–71. doi: 10.1089/027245700750053959

21. Rojas G, Talavera A, Munoz Y, Rengifo E, Krengel U, Angstrom J, et al. Light-chain shuffling results in successful phage display selection of functional prokaryotic-expressed antibody fragments to n-glycolyl GM3 ganglioside. *J Immunol Methods* (2004) 293:71–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2004.07.002

22. Giordano-Attianese G, Gainza P, Gray-Gaillard E, Cribioli E, Shui S, Kim S, et al. A computationally designed chimeric antigen receptor provides a small-

molecule safety switch for T-cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol (2020) 38:503. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0403-9

23. Dorvignit D, Boligan KF, Relova-Hernández E, Clavell M, López A, Labrada M, et al. Antitumor effects of the GM3(Neu5Gc) ganglioside-specific humanized antibody 14F7hT against cmah-transfected cancer cells. *Scientific Reports* (2019) 9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46148-1

24. Rossig C, Kailayangiri S, Jamitzky S, Altvater B. Carbohydrate targets for CAR T cells in solid childhood cancers. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:513. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2018.00513

25. Visioni A, Kim M, Wilfong C, Blum A, Powers C, Fisher D, et al. Intraarterial versus intravenous adoptive cell therapy in a mouse tumor model. *J Immunother* (2018) 41:313–8. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000235

26. Oliva JP, Valdes Z, Casaco A, Pimentel G, Gonzalez J, Alvarez I, et al. Clinical evidences of GM3 (NeuGc) ganglioside expression in human breast cancer using the 14F7 monoclonal antibody labelled with (99m)Tc. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2006) 96:115–21. doi: 10.1007/s10549-005-9064-0

27. Carr A, Rodriguez E, Arango Mdel C, Camacho R, Osorio M, Gabri M, et al. Immunotherapy of advanced breast cancer with a heterophilic ganglioside (NeuGcGM3) cancer vaccine. *J Clin Oncol* (2003) 21:1015–21. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2003.02.124

28. Osorio M, Gracia E, Rodriguez E, Saurez G, Arango Mdel C, Noris E, et al. Heterophilic NeuGcGM3 ganglioside cancer vaccine in advanced melanoma patients: results of a phase Ib/IIa study. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2008) 7:488–95. doi: 10.4161/cbt.7.4.5476

29. Perez K, Osorio M, Hernandez J, Carr A, Fernandez LE. NGcGM3/VSSP vaccine as treatment for melanoma patients. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2013) 9:1237–40. doi: 10.4161/hv.24115

30. Wu JWY, Dand S, Doig L, Papenfuss AT, Scott CL, Ho G, et al. T-Cell receptor therapy in the treatment of ovarian cancer: A mini review. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:672502. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.672502

31. Yan W, Hu H, Tang B. Advances of chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy in ovarian cancer. *Onco Targets Ther* (2019) 12:8015–22. doi: 10.2147/ OTT.S203550

32. Bardor M, Nguyen DH, Diaz S, Varki A. Mechanism of uptake and incorporation of the non-human sialic acid n-glycolylneuraminic acid into human cells. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:4228-37. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412040200

33. Torbidoni AV, Scursoni A, Camarero S, Segatori V, Gabri M, Alonso D, et al. Immunoreactivity of the 14F7 mab raised against n -glycolyl GM3 ganglioside in retinoblastoma tumours. *Acta Ophthalmol* (2015) 93:e294–300. doi: 10.1111/aos.12578

34. He D, Fan X, Liu B, Tian Y, Zhang X, Kang L, et al. Generation and characterization of a IgG monoclonal antibody specific for GM3 (NeuGc) ganglioside by immunizing β 3Gn-T5 knockout mice. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8:1–9. doi: 10.1038/S41598-018-20951-8

35. Sommermeyer D, Hill T, Shamah SM, Salter AI, Chen Y, Mohler KM, et al. Fully human CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptors for T-cell therapy. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:2191-9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.57

36. Fernández-Marrero Y, Roque-Navarro L, Hernández T, Dorvignit D, Molina-Pérez M, González A, et al. A cytotoxic humanized anti-ganglioside antibody produced in a murine cell line defective of n-glycolylated-glycoconjugates. *Immunobiology* (2011) 216:1239–47. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2011.07.004

37. Frigault MJ, Lee J, Basil MC, Carpenito C, Motohashi S, Scholler J, et al. Identification of chimeric antigen receptors that mediate constitutive or inducible proliferation of T cells. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3:356–67. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0186

 Long AH, Haso WM, Shern JF, Wanhainen KM, Murgai M, Ingaramo M, et al.
4-1BB costimulation ameliorates T cell exhaustion induced by tonic signaling of chimeric antigen receptors. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:581–90. doi: 10.1038/nm.3838

39. Lanitis E, Coukos G, Irving M. All systems go: converging synthetic biology and combinatorial treatment for CAR-T cell therapy. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2020) 65:75–87. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2020.01.009

40. Lanitis E, Rota G, Kosti P, Ronet C, Spill A, Seijo B, et al. Optimized gene engineering of murine CAR-T cells reveals the beneficial effects of IL-15 coexpression. J Exp Med (2021) 218:e20192203. doi: 10.1084/jem.20192203

41. Krenciute G, Prinzing BL, Yi Z, Wu MF, Liu H, Dotti G, et al. Transgenic expression of IL15 improves antiglioma activity of IL13Ralpha2-CAR T cells but results in antigen loss variants. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5:571–81. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0376

42. Spiegel JY, Patel S, Muffly L, Hossain NM, Oak J, Baird JH, et al. CAR T cells with dual targeting of CD19 and CD22 in adult patients with recurrent or refractory b cell malignancies: a phase 1 trial. *Nat Med* (2021) 27:1419–31. doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01436-0

43. Omer B, Cardenas MG, Pfeiffer T, Daum R, Huynh M, Sharma S, et al. A costimulatory CAR improves TCR-based cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2022) 10:512–24. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-21-0307

44. Muliaditan T, Halim L, Whilding LM, Draper B, Achkova DY, Kausar F, et al. Synergistic T cell signaling by 41BB and CD28 is optimally achieved by membrane proximal positioning within parallel chimeric antigen receptors. *Cell Rep Med* (2021) 2:100457. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100457

45. Wu CY, Roybal KT, Puchner EM, Onuffer J, Lim WA. Remote control of therapeutic T cells through a small molecule-gated chimeric receptor. *Science* (2015) 350:aab4077. doi: 10.1126/science.aab4077

46. Labanieh L, Majzner RG, Klysz D, Sotillo E, Fisher CJ, Vilches-Moure JG, et al. Enhanced safety and efficacy of protease-regulated CAR-T cell receptors. *Cell* (2022) 185:1745–63.e22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.03.041

47. Jan M, Scarfo I, Larson RC, Walker A, Schmidts A, Guirguis AA, et al. And OFF-switch chimeric antigen receptors controlled by lenalidomide. *Sci Transl Med* (2021) 13:eabb62955. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abb6295

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rayne Rouce, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

REVIEWED BY Dimitrios Laurin Wagner, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Stuart Paul Adams, Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Antonio Di Stasi adistasi@uabmc.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 22 June 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 14 September 2022

CITATION

Falcon C, Smith L, Al-Obaidi M, Abu Zaanona M, Purvis K, Minagawa K, Athar M, Salzman D, Bhatia R, Goldman F and Di Stasi A (2022) Combinatorial suicide gene strategies for the safety of cell therapies. *Front. Immunol.* 13:975233. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.975233

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Falcon, Smith, Al-Obaidi, Abu Zaanona, Purvis, Minagawa, Athar, Salzman, Bhatia, Goldman and Di Stasi, This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Combinatorial suicide gene strategies for the safety of cell therapies

Corey Falcon[†], Lauren Smith[†], Mustafa Al-Obaidi, Mohammed Abu Zaanona, Katelyn Purvis, Kentaro Minagawa, Mohammad Athar, Donna Salzman, Ravi Bhatia, Frederick Goldman and Antonio Di Stasi^{*}

Hematology/Oncology, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Gene-modified cellular therapies carry inherent risks of severe and potentially fatal adverse events, including the expansion of alloreactive cells or malignant transformation due to insertional mutagenesis. Strategies to mitigate uncontrolled proliferation of gene-modified cells include co-transfection of a suicide gene, such as the inducible caspase 9 safety switch ($\Delta iC9$). However, the activation of the $\Delta iC9$ fails to completely eliminate all gene-modified cells. Therefore, we tested a two suicide gene system used independently or together, with the goal of complete cell elimination. The first approach combined the *AiC9* with an inducible caspase 8, *AiC8*, which lacks the endogenous prodomain. The rationale was to use a second caspase with an alternative and complementary mechanism of action. Jurkat cells cotransduced to co-express the $\Delta iC8$, activatable by a BB homodimerizer, and the $\Delta iC9$ activatable by the rapamycin analog sirolimus were used in a model to estimate the degree of inducible cell elimination. We found that both agents could activate each caspase independently, with enhanced elimination with superior reduction in cell regrowth of gene-modified cells when both systems were activated simultaneously. A second approach was employed in parallel, combining the ∆iC9 with the RQR8 compact suicide gene. RQR8 incorporates a CD20 mimotope, targeted by the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituxan, and the QBend10, a Δ CD34 selectable marker. Likewise, enhanced cell elimination with superior reduction in cell regrowth was observed when both systems were activated together. A dose-titration effect was also noted utilizing the BB homodimerizer, whereas sirolimus remained very potent at minimal concentrations. Further in vivo studies are needed to validate these novel combination systems, which may play a role in future cancer therapies or regenerative medicine.

KEYWORDS

inducible caspase 8, inducible caspase 9, suicide gene, safety switch, RQR8

Introduction

Given the recent surge of novel cellular therapies, there is an urgent need to develop strategies to mitigate untoward events of gene-modified cells. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) redirected T-cells, gene-modified hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), and inducible pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) are emerging treatments for a wide variety of malignant and non-malignant disorders (1–3). However, gene modifying therapies carry the intrinsic risks of excess proliferation (4, 5), and insertional mutagenesis (6–10). In the case of CAR-T specifically, off-target side effects could result in potentially fatal organ damage and death including immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome (ICANS) and severe cytokine release syndrome (CRS) (11). Currently available treatments for CRS are limited to corticosteroids or anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibodies, which are associated with broad immunosuppression.

It is very challenging to predict the type or degree of the toxicities that may occur. For example, injection of even unmodified autologous HSC into the kidneys to treat renal failure resulted in angiomyeloproliferative lesions that required nephrectomy (12). Autologous stem cells derived from adipose tissue and injected intravitreally for macular degeneration were associated with worsening vision in three people, two of whom became legally blind (13). Gene-modified HSC infused into patients with monogenic disease (6, 7, 9, 10, 14), resulted in leukemia from insertional mutagenesis in several patients. This risk is possible also with the use of iPSC, e.g., a patient developed glioneuronal multifocal brain cancer after the infusion of fetal donor-derived neuronal stem cells (4). These detrimental effects could be potentially alleviated by employing a cellular suicide gene strategy in which a gene is inserted into the therapeutic cell and can then be activated 'on demand', causing cell death. Suicide gene technologies can be broadly classified based upon their mechanism of action in (i) metabolic (gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy, (ii) dimerization-induced apoptosis, and (iii) monoclonal antibody-mediated cytotoxicity. However, currently available suicide gene systems are not ideal.

Gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy converts a nontoxic drug to a toxic drug in gene-modified cells, as with the human herpes-simplex-virus-thymidine-kinase (HSV-TK)/ganciclovir, which is the first invented suicide gene system. The HSV-TK system showed promise but has major limitations. The HSV-TK transgene used as the suicide gene is immunogenic, and its activation requires the administration of the therapeutic antiviral agent ganciclovir.

Its immunogenicity could preclude persistence and activity of the infused therapeutic cells. In the setting of donor lymphocyte infusion post allogeneic HSCT this still resulted in anti-tumor effect, likely due to the slow kinetic of cell's elimination (15).

The requirement for ganciclovir may limit its use in patients with cytomegalovirus infection where this agent is a primary treatment option. In addition, ganciclovir has other off-target toxicities, including myelosuppression and renal dysfunction.

The Δ iC9 suicide gene is expectedly less immunogenic, and the activating agent is not a therapeutic drug. Triggering of the Δ iC9 suicide gene leads to the activation of multiple executioner caspases (caspases 3, 6, and 7) and is effective in inducing apoptotic cell death.

The Δ iC9 suicide gene is a chimeric protein composed of a drug-binding domain linked in frame with a component of the apoptotic pathway, allowing conditional dimerization and apoptosis of the transduced cells after administration of a non-therapeutic small molecule dimerizer, such as AP1903 or BB homodimerizer (15–19). Straathof et al. (19) and Tey et al. (20) validated the Δ iC9 construct for T cell applications, demonstrating optimal transduction efficiency, expansion, and elimination of Δ iC9 T cells with strong expression of the transgene (19–21). Δ iC9 was cloned in-frame, using a 2A-like sequence from Thosea asigna insect virus (22, 23), with a truncated CD19 domain (Δ CD19) serving as a selectable marker to ensure ≥90% purity (20, 24, 25).

The $\Delta iC9$ suicide gene has been investigated in gene modified T cells after allogeneic HSCT (26), CAR T-cells (27), mesenchymal stromal cells (3), iPSC (28), iPSC derived T cells (1) and for cancer therapy (29).

In a phase I clinical trial using the $\Delta iC9$ system (21) recipients of CD34-selected haplo-HSCT for hematological malignancies received escalating doses (1x10⁶-1x10⁷ cells/kg) (20, 30) of Δ iC9-modified allo-depleted T cells. In patients with acute graft versus host disease (GVHD) administration of a single dose of 0.4 mg/kg AP1903 resulted in apoptosis of ≥90% of ΔiC9-modified T cells within 30 minutes, followed by a rapid (within 24 hours) and permanent abrogation of GVHD. Remarkably, residual AiC9-modified T cells were able to re-expand, contained pathogen-specific precursors, and had a polyclonal T cell receptor repertoire. Although the incomplete elimination can benefit microbiological diseases in the setting of allogeneic HSCT, since the elimination of the gene-modified cells is incomplete [~75-90% of gene-modified Tcells or iPSC (1, 28)], even after repeated (31) or higher doses (32).

Seminal work of Straathof et al. showed 99% elimination of primary T-cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* but only after selection for high transgene expression (19).

As such additional strategies are needed to ensure that the infused, genetically modified cells can be reliably and completely eliminated. Several issues need to be addressed, including (a) improving efficiency of cell killing, (b) predicting interindividual variations in responsiveness and/or acquisition of resistance, and (c) titrating the therapeutic effect based upon the degree of toxicity., .

Ideally, the strategies would permit flexibility in which the cell therapy could be either downregulated to control moderate toxicities or eliminated completely in the case of severe toxicities. Our previous finding that the proportion of cells that were not susceptible to Δi C9-induced apoptosis had elevated levels of BCL-2 (32), prompted us to examine whether BCL-2-mediated pathways could interfere with the induction of apoptosis by the Δi C9 pathways. We found that combined treatment with the BCL-2 inhibitor, ABT-199 and the BB homodimerizer resulted in the complete elimination of Δi C9 cells *in vitro* (33). These results support the concept that targeting the mitochondrial apoptotic pathways might enhance the efficiency of Δi C9.

We hypothesized that co-expression of an additional caspase molecule with an alternative (apoptotic mitochondrial pathway activation) and complementary mechanism of action (activation of the executioner caspase 3) would result in superior/complete gene-modified cell elimination. Since caspase 9 activity is inhibited by direct phosphorylation from mitogen proteins, including the Ser196 residue present in Δ iC9 (34), at a greater extent than what was reported for caspase 8 (35), concurrent inducible activations of caspase 8 would contribute to cell killing in a subset of cells in which CASP9 is inhibited (less likelihood of failure). In parallel, we also tested the combination of Δ iC9 and the RQR8 compact suicide gene activatable by rituxan (36).

Our studies provide fundamental information on the degree and mechanisms of a novel method of cellular regulation based on the ability to activate one or both arms of a combinatorial suicide gene strategy.

Materials and methods

Tumor cell lines

All cell lines were freshly acquired from the American Type Culture Collection (*ATCC*). The Institutional Review Board of the University of Alabama for Human Use at Birmingham (Birmingham, AL) approved this study (IRB# 160516007). 293T HEK17 cells were maintained in culture with DMEM medium (*Thermo Fisher Scientific*) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (*GE Healthcare Life Sciences*) and 2mM L-glutamine (*Thermo Fisher Scientific*). Jurkat clone E6.1 cells were maintained in culture with RPMI 1640 (*GE Healthcare Life Sciences*), supplemented with 10% FBS and 2 mM L-glutamine.

Transgene constructs

The nucleotide and amino acid sequence of the constructs employed in this study is reported in the supplementary materials. The F36V (FKBP12 mutated) inducible caspase 9 retroviral vector with a Δ CD19 selectable marker was obtained from Baylor College of Medicine (MTA#8733). The F36V inducible caspase 8 (caspase 8 without CARD domain) was cloned by PCR and ligated into the SFG vector (gift of Dr. J Maher, King's College of London) using the Infusion technique (*Takara*). The SFG-RQR8-IRES-GFP vector was provided by Dr. M. Pule (University College of London) and combined with the inducible caspase 9 by Infusion technique to create SFG.iC9-RQR8-IRES-GFP. The lentiviral constructs (*Elafin alpha promoter, F36V-ΔiC8-T2A-RQR8, and Human PGK promoter FRB-L-FKBP-L-ΔiC9-T2A-ΔCD19*) were cloned by Vectorbuilder. The FKBP12-GGSGG-FKBP12-rapamycin binding domain (FRB)-SGGGSG domains were connected to caspase 9 without CARD (catalytic subunity). We used the same number of amino acid published by Stavrou et al. (37) with a slightly different linker sequence.

The integrity of cloning for all constructs used in this manuscript was confirmed by Sanger sequencing performed either by Vectorbuilder or by the Heflin Center for Human Genetics of the University of Alabama at Birmingham, using the BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction kit as per the manufacturer's instructions (Applied Biosystems). The sequencing products were run following standard protocols on an Applied Biosystems 3730 Genetic Analyzer with POP-7 polymer.

Transduction

For transduction, replication-incompetent retroviral or lentiviral supernatant was prepared by transfecting 293T with DNA encoding our construct of interest, the *Peg-Pam-e* plasmid containing the sequence for *MoMLV gag-pol* (or PsPAX2, from Addgene) and the plasmid containing the sequence for the VSVG envelope (Addgene), as previously described (38). The lentiviral supernatant was manufactured by Vectorbuilder or in house using the LV-max third generation packaging system (VSVG envelope). Supernatant harvested at 48 or 72 hours post-transfection was used for transduction. Cells were genemodified with 2mL of unconcentrated retroviral supernatant on retronectin coated plates for 3 days or overnight with lentiviral supernatant at an MOI of 10, based on ELISA titration, in the presence of Polybrene 16 ug/mL.

Phenotype

Monoclonal antibodies conjugated with a fluorescent marker were used for flow cytometry as indicated (*BD Biosciences and Invitrogen*). Expression of the QBend10 selectable marker was assessed using a biotinylated anti-QBend10 monoclonal antibody (Invitrogen) followed by Streptavidine-APC (Biolegend). Cells were analyzed by a FACS Canto II (*BD Biosciences*) for fluorescence signals. For each sample, a minimum of 10,000 viable events were acquired and analyzed using the Kaluza software v.2.1 (*Beckman Coulter: Brea, CA*).

Killing assay

We performed in vitro experiments to demonstrate drug elimination of suicide gene-modified cells through activation of the suicide gene of interest. The following drugs were applied at the indicated concentrations unless otherwise stated: nontherapeutic chemical inducer of dimerization, BB homodimerizer, [100nM] (AP-20187, Clontech; Mountain View, CA), sirolimus 25 ng/mL, or rituxan 100 ug/mL in the presence of rabbit serum complement (Innovative research, Novi, MI). Cells were incubated overnight with chemical inducer, except in experiments using rituxan, where the incubation time was 4 hours. After the appropriate treatment, cells were washed and stained for viability and apoptosis using the Annexin V/7AAD kits (BD Biosciences). We added 123e counting beads (Invitrogen) and acquired a constant number of beads for each experimental condition using the FACS Canto II. The degree of cellular's elimination was estimated using the following formula: [100% - (%Viability treated/% Viability nontreated cells)]. To confirm that killing was due to apoptosis, we performed some experiments after pretreatment with 20 uM of the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK for 1 hour (BD Pharmingen).

Regrowth experiments

After the appropriate treatment, cells were washed and recultured for regrowth. This was followed by Annexin V/7-AAD staining (*BD Biosciences*) and FACS analysis, as previously indicated.

Mitochondrial dysfunction

Mytosox red (Invitrogen) was used to test for mitochondrial dysfunction. Cells were treated with 1 ul of a 5 uM working solution. After 10 minutes of incubation at 37° Ccells were washed three times in PBS by centrifugation, followed by flow cytometry acquisition and analysis on FACS Canto II.

Western blot

Western blot was performed on whole-cell lysates lysed with 1x lysis buffer (Phosphosolutions), NuPage (Invitrogen), a protease inhibitor (Bimake), 10 mM sodium fluoride and 20 mM beta-glycerophosphate (Fisher scientific). An equal number of cells was plated for each condition, and the cells were harvested after 3 hours of incubation. The lysates were separated by electrophoresis using a standard lab technique and transferred using the dry transfer iBlot2 (*Invitrogen*). All primary antibodies (Cell Signaling or Proteintech for GAPDH) were used at 1:1000 dilution and incubated overnight at 4° C. All secondary horseradish peroxidase-conjugated antibodies (Cell signaling rabbit and Proteintech mouse) were used at 1:10,000 and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. Signal development was performed using the ECL Select detection system (Amersham) and acquired on the G-box automated dark room (Syngene). PageRuler prestained protein ladder was used (Thermofisher).

Statistical analysis

All data are presented as the average \pm standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM) where indicated. Unpaired Student *t*-test was used to determine the statistical significance of differences between samples, and a (two-sided) *P*-value less than 0.05 was accepted as a statistically significant difference. Average \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) is shown/reported for all the experiments unless otherwise indicated. Data were analyzed and plotted using GraphPad Prism.

Results

Generation of an inducible caspase 8

We generated an inducible caspase 8 (Δ iC8) construct activatable by the BB homodimerizer. Δ iC8 consists of the pro-domains of caspase 8 with or without the caspase activator recruitment domain in frame with the F36V drugbinding domain (Figure 1A). After transducing Jurkat cells with replication-incompetent retroviral supernatant, triggering of the inducible caspase 8 after administration of the BB homodimerizer resulted in appreciable cell killing (~20%, not shown); such killing was increased after removal of the endogenous caspase activator recruitment domain (Figure 1B, and Suppl. Table 1), as previously published (39). Considering these results and that the caspase 8 is upstream of the apoptotic pathway activating both the extrinsic and intrinsic cascade, it was chosen for further evaluation.

Co-activation of inducible caspase 8 and 9 activated by a homodimerizer

To assess whether co-activation of $\Delta iC8$ and $\Delta iC9$ would result in superior cell elimination compared with the activation of each caspase alone, we performed co-transduction experiments in Jurkat cells transduced with replicationincompetent retroviral supernatant encoding each caspase separately or in combination. $\Delta iC8$ was co-expressed with a



GFP selectable marker, and $\Delta iC9$ with a truncated CD19 selectable marker. After overnight exposure, we found that the BB homodimerizer at a concentration of 100nM resulted in the elimination of 66 ± 8.5% $\Delta iC8$ -GFP expressing cells, 74 ± 3.5% $\Delta iC9$ - $\Delta CD19$ expressing cells, and 95 ± 0.7% $\Delta iC8$ + $\Delta iC9$ co-expressing cells, with a statistically significant difference as compared with each caspase alone (P=0.006, or <0.0001, respectively). As a control, exposure of non-transduced (NT) Jurkat to the BB homodimerizer resulted in only 0.7 ± 0.7% killing. N=5-7 experiments (Figure 1B).

Co-activation of inducible caspase 8 and 9 activated by a homodimerizer and a rapalog analog

To activate each caspase with an independent agent, we cloned the FKBP-linker-FRB-linker heterodimerization domain before the inducible caspase 9, enabling dimerization after exposure to the commercially available rapamycin analog sirolimus. Administration of sirolimus results in binding of the pockets with heterodimerization of the FKBP12-rapamycin binding domain (FRB) fragment of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) with FKBP12 and activation of the caspase 9 pathway.

To make our system applicable to different cell types, we used a lentiviral vector system, and either the EF1alpha promoter for the $\Delta iC8$ or the human PGK promoter for the $\Delta iC9$. In those constructs, a truncated human CD19 molecule was again co-expressed with $\Delta iC9$ as a selectable marker. In contrast, for $\Delta iC8$, we used the RQR8 compact selectable marker, which can be detected using the QBend10 CD34 antibody.

Jurkat cells were gene-modified with replicationincompetent lentiviral supernatant encoding each construct alone or together as co-transduction. We used an MOI of 10 based on ELISA titration. Jurkat cells gene-modified with the $\Delta iC8$ -RQR8 encoding supernatant had 91 ± 1.7% expression of QBEND10. Jurkat cells gene-modified with the Rapa. $\Delta iC9$ - $\Delta CD19$ encoding supernatant had 83 ± 1% expression of $\Delta CD19$. Jurkat cells were gene-modified with supernatant encoding the $\Delta iC8$ -RQR8, and the Rapa. $\Delta iC9$ - $\Delta CD19$ had 56 ± 4% co-expression of QBend10 and $\Delta CD19$. Figure 2A shows dot plots from a representative experiment.

Cells were not enriched for transgene expression using selection because (i) the expression of the selectable marker was robust, and (ii) non-gene-modified cells act as an internal control after killing. Cells were able to expand in culture (Figure 2B) despite the constitutive expression of a suicide gene, and in this limited observation gene-modified cells expanded at a higher rate as compared with non-transduced cells. In standard killing experiments, we used the BB homodimerizer at a concentration of 100 nM, which was previously demonstrated as a plateau concentration in vitro, and readily achievable in patients after therapeutic dosing. We used sirolimus at the therapeutic concentration of 25 ng/mL. We observed ~20% background cell elimination in non-transduced cells treated with the BB homodimerizer or sirolimus. Activation of each construct alone resulted in elimination through apoptosis of a significant number of gene-modified cells (\geq 80%). Notably, there was no interference between the two systems (Figures 3A, B).

For the cells co-transduced with both constructs, the percentage of cell killing was statistically higher (P=0.04) for the inducible $\Delta iC8$ (97 ± 1%) than Rapa. $\Delta iC9$ (86 ± 6%).



Notably, the cell-killing observed using a single agent in cells co-transduced with both constructs was comparable to cells transduced with a single construct. The combination of the two suicide genes resulted in higher elimination of cells (99 \pm 0.5%), which was statistically significant as compared with sirolimus alone (P=0.02), and biologically relevant as compared with BB homodimerizer alone (Figures 3A, B and Suppl. Table 2). For regrowth experiments, cells were recultured an additional 14 days, then recounted. We found that the number of AiC8-RQR8/Rapa.AiC9 suicide gene-modified cells regrowing in the condition treated with both agents was statistically significantly lower and at the background level in all experiments. The average cell count and standard error for the untreated condition, was $2.4e6 \pm 3.2e4$, for the BB treated condition was $1.5e6 \pm 1.2e4$, for the sirolimus treated condition was 1e6± 2.3e4, and for the BB/sirolimus treated condition, $6.5e4 \pm 3.1e3$ (Figure 5B). The superior reduction in cell regrowth after activating both systems is potentially linked to preventing resistance mechanisms (Figure 5B).

Cell elimination was preceded by the cleavage of the effector of the apoptosis Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP). Consistent with the lack of interference between the two systems, as shown in the cell elimination assay, only the specific activation of each construct with the appropriate agent resulted in cleavage of PARP (Figure 4A).

Mitochondrial dysfunction was assessed using the MytoSox Red flow cytometry method (Figure 5A).

Interestingly, the magnitude of mitochondrial dysfunction was higher with sirolimus-treated cells. The cell elimination was reversed by pre-treatment with a pan-caspases inhibitor (Figure 4B).

We report the expression of the selectable marker on day 1 and on day 14 after the killing assay and reculturing the cells *in vitro* from one representative experiment (Figure S1).

Titration experiments showed that the BB homodimerizer offered the flexibility of titration in doses potentially achievable in the clinical setting. Sirolimus remained very potent at minimal concentrations unachievable *in vivo* (Figure 5C).

Co-expression of inducible caspase 9 and the RQR8 compact suicide gene

In parallel, we investigated if expressing two suicide genes with a different mechanism of action would lead to the complete elimination of gene-modified cells. We generated a construct coexpressing the $\Delta iC9$, the RQR8 compact suicide gene, and a GFP selectable marker. In addition to the QBend10 as a selectable marker, the RQR8 compact suicide gene contains a CD20 mimotope that the CD20 antibody that rituxan can target, resulting in complement and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity, Figure 6A. We gene-modified Jurkat cells to express the RQR8-GFP transgene alone or with the $\Delta iC9$ in a single construct ($\Delta iC9$ -RQR8-GFP).



We assessed the co-expression of the GFP and the RQR8 by flow cytometry. Non-transduced cells had 0.13% \pm 0 coexpression, RQR8-GFP 81% \pm 11, and Δ iC9-RQR8-GFP 82% \pm 2.8 (N: 2), as shown in Figure 6B and Suppl. Table 3.

The Δ iC9 suicide gene alone resulted in 98% cell elimination after applying the BB dimerizer. As expected, the killing with rituxan or the BB dimerizer of non-transduced cells was negligible. Rituxan alone resulted in 80 ± 11% elimination of gene-modified cells, whereas sequential administration of the BB dimerizer followed by rituxan resulted in 98 ± 1% elimination (P=0.06). The co-activation of the Δ iC9 and RQR8 suicide genes improved killing compared to that achieved with activation of the RQR8 suicide gene alone with rituxan (Figures 6C, D), with complete elimination of the genemodified cells with no regrowth (not shown).

Discussion

Our studies provide information on the activity of two suicide gene systems expressed in combination for the safety of cellular therapeutics. Our first system is based on an inducible caspase 8, activatable with a BB homodimerizer, and an inducible caspase 9, activatable after the administration of sirolimus

The second system is based on an inducible caspase 9 activatable by the BB homodimerizer and the RQR8 compact suicide gene, targeted by an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, such as rituxan, Both the RQR8 and the Rapamycin-activatable caspase 9 have been investigated in vitro and in vivo in mice in combination with CAR T-cells targeting CD19 (36, 37) and proved effective in inducing cell elimination. We observed a superior cell killing after using the homodimerizer to activate either caspase 8 or caspase 9, compared with the activation of Rapa.∆iC9 with sirolimus. Differences in vector design, including length and structure of the linker sequence separating the two domains of the Rapa.∆iC9, may account for such differences as previously reported (37). Our experiments estimated the degree of cell killing for each system independently or in combination, achieving a more comprehensive cell elimination when activating both arms of either system. The superior reduction in cell regrowth after activating both systems is potentially linked to preventing resistance mechanisms. The results add to the literature on combination suicide gene systems. Shah et al. (40) published on a mifepristone-induced gene expression of inducible caspase 3 and inducible caspase 9 activatable by the BB homodimerizer in vitro and a novel mice model. However, in this study, a quantification of cell killing with each suicide gene alone or in combination is missing. Fang



et al. (41) developed a reversibly immortalized hepatic progenitor cell line for regenerative medicine, where the removal of the SV40T gene was guaranteed through HSV-TK/ GCV selection. In contrast, cell elimination was performed under the control of a single cytosine deamines/5-fluoruracil suicide gene system. In addition to the limitation of using metabolic suicide gene systems, it is unclear whether cells could regrow after activating the suicide gene. Martin et al. (42) published a study on improving the safety of iPSC using genome-edited orthogonal safeguard. They used targeted integration to express an inducible caspase 9 activated by the BB homodimerizer at the end of the NANOG gene using a 2A sequence, showing the ability to prevent or ablate teratomas. They integrated a second suicide gene after the ACTB gene using a 2A sequence to eliminate differentiated cells. After observing that the HSV-TK system was slow and preferentially killing proliferating cells, they investigated using an inducible caspase 9 activated by the AC heterodimerizer. While this system is similar to a sirolimus-induced safety switch, the AC heterodimerizer has never been investigated in patients and is not available for clinical infusion. This study supports using two safety switches, albeit here each for a different cellular differentiation state. Based on the risk of incomplete cell elimination with a single suicide gene, a double system for each differentiation state is more ideal. Since selectable markers are useful for cell selection or tracking, incorporating RQR8 would also grant an additional safety measure. Additionally, using two different caspases would reduce the risk of gene recombination.

It is crucial to perform safety studies to elucidate the effect on gene-modified cells, such as the propensity for insertional mutagenesis and tumorigenesis in stem cell products. Albeit chromosomal position effects are less likely to silence two suicide switches provided on two independent vectors, we plan to compare them with a single construct to assess if it can already circumvent this effect in case of high transgene copy numbers, as previously reported (19).

The inducible Caspase 9 (43) and the RQR8 suicide gene are under active clinical investigation in CAR-T clinical trials. In a case report, activating the inducible caspase 9 with the BB homodimerizer rimiducid resulted in the resolution of ICANS that was resistant to the administration of tocilizumab and corticosteroids (27). In a subsequent small clinical trial in nine patients, the infusion of iC9-CAR-T targeting CD19 proved safe and effective in controlling leukemia. However, none of the patients met the eligibility criteria to activate the suicide gene (43). The authors are also investigating if a lower dose of rimiducid would ameliorate the CRS/ICANS without eliminating the infused CAR-T cells (43).

One alternative approach would be to combine a suicide genes with other strategies to mitigate side effects from the infused cells, activating the suicide gene only as a last resort.



Wiebking et al. published on a transgene-free safety switch in cell lines, pluripotent cells and primary human T-cells. Using genome editing methods, they disrupted uridine monophosphate synthetase in the pyrimidine *de novo* synthesis pathway making proliferation dependent on external uridine and enabling to control cell growth by modulating the uridine supply, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in a murine model. Additionally, disrupting this pathway created resistance to 5fluoroorotic acid, enabling positive selection of the gene edited cells (44).

Other strategies are more specific for CAR T-cells include logic-gated CAR T-cells with functional operations triggered by two input signals. For example, it is possible to increase the specificity by either requiring recognition of two antigens on the cell's surface (bispecific CAR) or the absence of an antigen (inhibitory CAR). An additional approach involves the use of a modular CAR which is split into two interactive parts, the signaling module on T cells and the switching module is administered separately to recognize the target antigen. The use of T-cells electroporated with mRNA encoding a CAR molecule granted transient CAR expression, providing an additional method for finer spatial and temporal control. Majzner et al. (45) found that change in signaling domains or the hinge-transmembrane domain region can alter activity against low vs. high antigen tumors to open a therapeutic window that could prevent possible on-target off-tumor toxicity.

A regulatable elimination of cellular therapeutics is also relevant in allogeneic HSCT. It is well accepted that allogeneic T-cells mediate both GVHD and a graft-versus-tumor effect (46). In the setting of GVHD, it was hypothesized that high levels of transcription of the Δ iC9 transgene caused by T-cellreceptor activation in alloreactive T-cells explained the selective elimination of these cells by the dimerizer (21), and it is important to experiment if a low dose of dimerizer would control of graft-versus-host disease while maintaining a few alloreactive cells potentially granting a graft-versus-tumor effect.

While the incomplete elimination proved of some benefit to control microbiological disease after allogeneic HSCT (21), it is necessary to completely eliminate the infused gene-modified cells for severe toxicities. The reason why some cells survived after activation of the inducible caspase 9 remains elusive. Hypotheses include the survival of cells with a low level of transgene expression or with higher expression of anti-apoptotic molecules. Chang *et al.* reported that the elimination of Δ iC9



gene-modified cells is determined by a minimum expression threshold of the transgene in activated T-cells, which is dependent on T-cell receptor activation state of the T-cells, as well as *cis*-acting influences by host promoters on the proviral transgene (47).

Our approaches also offer a model to study a specific inducible cell death pathway by inducing caspase 8 or 9 in this case. Building on this, we are also investigating the combination of an inducible caspase with inducible strategies to inactivate anti-apoptotic molecules (e.g. BCL-2) or to induce an additional pro-apoptotic molecule.

Furthermore, the results of our study have applications beyond CAR T-cells and support the development of a cellular safety switch for genetically modified stem cells and other iPSCderived progeny for cancer or regenerative medicine. There is growing interest in generating off-the-shelf T-cell therapy products for treating solid cancer or hematologic malignancies, which is important for patients with quantitative or qualitative Tcells defects (48). Additionally, applying gene-editing techniques aimed at knocking out the endogenous T-cell receptor (49, 50) and/or human leukocyte antigens (HLA) molecules (51) is essential to reduce alloreactivity and immune response, enabling the infusion of cellular therapeutics across HLA barriers. However, with the concern of insertional mutagenesis, the incorporation of a suicide gene is ideal. Examples of insertional mutagenesis and malignant transformation were reported in genemodified HSC using gamma retroviral vectors in clinical trials for severe combined immune deficiency (6–8), X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (52), and Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome (10). Clonal dominance has also been reported from a clinical trial in beta-thalassemia using a lentiviral vector (9, 14). Modifications of the lentiviral vector (incorporation of insulator sequences) have reduced some complications, and this approach is currently under clinical investigation in patients with hemoglobinopathies (NCT01745120 and NCT02140554), and sickle cell disease (NCT04293185). Integration hotspots have been identified in stem cell products of some patients without transformation events.

In conclusion, we performed *in vitro* validation of two inducible suicide gene combinations (caspase 8: caspase 9 and caspase 9:RQR8). We showed that gene-modifying cells with two suicide gene constructs and a selectable marker is feasible. We also demonstrate that the two systems can be activated independently to control the cells of interest, with superior cell killing with superior reduction in cell regrowth compared to single suicide gene systems. While results need to be confirmed in other cell types, especially primary cells, they provide a framework for enhancing the safety of cellular therapeutics, facilitating the translation of novel gene therapy strategies in the pre-clinical and clinical setting.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Materials. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

CF and LS performed cloning and experiments, drafted the manuscript, edited, and reviewed the final version of the manuscript. MA-O, MA-Z, and KP performed cloning and experiments, edited, and reviewed the final version of the manuscript. KM, contributed to vector's cloning, edited, and reviewed the final version of the manuscript. MA, DS, RB, and FG, concept design, monitoring, reviewed data, and reviewed the final version of the manuscript. AD conceived the idea, designed the experiments, supervised research, analyzed the results, reviewed, and edited the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

St. Baldrick's Foundation, Post-Doctoral Fellowship for Childhood Cancer Research, Dixon Award Scholarship.

References

1. Ando M, Nishimura T, Yamazaki S, Yamaguchi T, Kawana-Tachikawa A, Hayama T, et al. A safeguard system for induced pluripotent stem cell-derived rejuvenated T cell therapy. *Stem Cell Rep* (2015) 5(4):597–608. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.07.011

2. Cheng F, Ke Q, Chen F, Cai B, Gao Y, Ye C, et al. Protecting against wayward human induced pluripotent stem cells with a suicide gene. *Biomaterials* (2012) 33 (11):3195–204. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.01.023

3. Ramos CA, Asgari Z, Liu E, Yvon E, Heslop HE, Rooney CM, et al. An inducible caspase 9 suicide gene to improve the safety of mesenchymal stromal cell therapies. *Stem Cells (Dayton Ohio)* (2010) 28(6):1107–15. doi: 10.1002/stem.433

4. Amariglio N, Hirshberg A, Scheithauer BW, Cohen Y, Loewenthal R, Trakhtenbrot L, et al. Donor-derived brain tumor following neural stem cell transplantation in an ataxia telangiectasia patient. *PloS Med* (2009) 6(2): e1000029. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000029

5. Pegram HJ, Park JH, Brentjens RJ. CD28z CARs and armored CARs. Cancer J (Sudbury Mass) (2014) 20(2):127–33. doi: 10.1097/PPO.00000000000034

6. Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Hauer J, Lim A, Picard C, Wang GP, Berry CC, et al. Efficacy of gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(4):355–64. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1000164

7. Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Garrigue A, Wang GP, Soulier J, Lim A, Morillon E, et al. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(9):3132–42. doi: 10.1172/JCI35700

8. Boztug K, Schmidt M, Schwarzer A, Banerjee PP, Diez IA, Dewey RA, et al. Stem-cell gene therapy for the wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363 (20):1918–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1003548

9. Cavazzana-Calvo M, Payen E, Negre O, Wang G, Hehir K, Fusil F, et al. Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation after gene therapy of human beta-thalassaemia. *Nature* (2010) 467(7313):318–22. doi: 10.1038/nature09328

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.975233/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Expression of the selectable marker on days 1 and 14 after killing from one representative experiment using Jurkat expressing $\Delta iC8$ -RQR8, Rapa. $\Delta iC9$ - $\Delta CD19$ or both, treated with the BB homodimerizer [100nM], sirolimus (siro) [25 ng/mL] or both.

10. Braun CJ, Boztug K, Paruzynski A, Witzel M, Schwarzer A, Rothe M, et al. Gene therapy for wiskott-Aldrich syndrome–long-term efficacy and genotoxicity. *Sci Trans Med* (2014) 6(227):227ra33. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007280

11. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(4):843–51. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.24

12. Thirabanjasak D, Tantiwongse K, Thorner PS. Angiomyeloproliferative lesions following autologous stem cell therapy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2010) 21 (7):1218–22. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009111156

13. Marks PW, Witten CM, Califf RM. Clarifying stem-cell therapy's benefits and risks. N Engl J Med (2017) 037(6):1007–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1613723

14. Uchida N, Evans ME, Hsieh MM, Bonifacino AC, Krouse AE, Metzger ME, et al. Integration-specific *In vitro* evaluation of lentivirally transduced rhesus CD34 (+) cells correlates with *In vivo* vector copy number. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2013) 2:e122. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2013.49

15. Falcon C, Al-Obaidi M, Di Stasi A. Exploiting cell death pathways for inducible cell elimination to modulate graft-versus-Host-Disease. *Biomedicines* (2017) 5(2):30–45. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines5020030

16. Spencer DM, Belshaw PJ, Chen L, Ho SN, Randazzo F, Crabtree GR, et al. Functional analysis of fas signaling *in vivo* using synthetic inducers of dimerization. *Curr biol: CB* (1996) 6(7):839–47. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00607-3

17. Belshaw PJ, Spencer DM, Crabtree GR, Schreiber SL. Controlling programmed cell death with a cyclophilin-cyclosporin-based chemical inducer of dimerization. *Chem Biol* (1996) 3(9):731–8. doi: 10.1016/S1074-5521(96)90249-5

18. MacCorkle RA, Freeman KW, Spencer DM. Synthetic activation of caspases: artificial death switches. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1998) 95(7):3655–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.7.3655

19. Straathof KC, Pule MA, Yotnda P, Dotti G, Vanin EF, Brenner MK, et al. An inducible caspase 9 safety switch for T-cell therapy. *Blood* (2005) 105(11):4247–54. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-11-4564

20. Tey SK, Dotti G, Rooney CM, Heslop HE, Brenner MK. Inducible caspase 9 suicide gene to improve the safety of allodepleted T cells after haploidentical stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2007) 13(8):913–24. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2007.04.005

21. Di Stasi A, Tey SK, Dotti G, Fujita Y, Kennedy-Nasser A, Martinez C, et al. Inducible apoptosis as a safety switch for adoptive cell therapy. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 365(18):1673–83. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1106152

22. Donnelly MLL, Hughes LE, Luke G, Mendoza H, ten Dam E, Gani D, et al. The 'cleavage' activities of foot-and-mouth disease virus 2A site-directed mutants and naturally occurring '2A-like' sequences. *J Gen Virol* (2001) 82(5):1027–41. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-82-5-1027

23. Donnelly MLL, Luke G, Mehrotra A, Li X, Hughes LE, Gani D, et al. Analysis of the aphthovirus 2A/2B polyprotein 'cleavage' mechanism indicates not a proteolytic reaction, but a novel translational effect: A putative ribosomal 'skip'. *J Gen Virol* (2001) 82(5):1013–25. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-82-5-1013

24. Zhou LJ, Ord DC, Hughes AL, Tedder TF. Structure and domain organization of the CD19 antigen of human, mouse, and guinea pig B lymphocytes. Conservation of the extensive cytoplasmic domain. *J Immunol* (1991) 147(4):1424–32.

25. Fujimoto M, Poe JC, Inaoki M, Tedder TF. CD19 regulates b lymphocyte responses to transmembrane signals. *Semin Immunol* (1998) 10(4):267-77. doi: 10.1006/smim.1998.9999

26. Zhou X, Dotti G, Krance RA, Martinez CA, Naik S, Kamble RT, et al. Inducible caspase-9 suicide gene controls adverse effects from alloreplete T cells after haploidentical stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2015) 125(26):4103–13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-02-628354

27. Foster MC, Savoldo B, Lau W, Rubinos C, Grover N, Armistead P, et al. Utility of a safety switch to abrogate CD19.CAR T-cell-associated neurotoxicity. *Blood* (2021) 137(23):3306–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021.010784

28. Zhong B, Watts KL, Gori JL, Wohlfahrt ME, Enssle J, Adair JE, et al. Safeguarding nonhuman primate iPS cells with suicide genes. *Mol Therapy: J Am Soc Gene Ther* (2011) 19(9):1667–75. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.51

29. Ando M, Hoyos V, Yagyu S, Tao W, Ramos CA, Dotti G, et al. Bortezomib sensitizes non-small cell lung cancer to mesenchymal stromal cell-delivered inducible caspase-9-mediated cytotoxicity. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2014) 21(11):472–82. doi: 10.1038/cgt.2014.53

30. Amrolia PJ, Muccioli-Casadei G, Huls H, Adams S, Durett A, Gee A, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with allodepleted donor T-cells improves immune reconstitution after haploidentical stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2006) 108 (6):1797–808. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-02-001909

31. Zhou X, Naik S, Dakhova O, Dotti G, Heslop HE, Brenner MK. Serial activation of the inducible caspase 9 safety switch after human stem cell transplantation. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24(4):823–31. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.234

32. Barese CN, Felizardo TC, Sellers SE, Keyvanfar K, Di Stasi A, Metzger ME, et al. Regulated apoptosis of genetically modified hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells *via* an inducible caspase-9 suicide gene in rhesus macaques. *Stem Cells (Dayton Ohio)* (2015) 33(1):91–100. doi: 10.1002/stem.1869

33. Minagawa K, Jamil MO, Al-Obaidi M, Pereboeva L, Salzman D, Erba HP, et al. In vitro pre-clinical validation of suicide gene modified anti-CD33 redirected chimeric antigen receptor T-cells for acute myeloid leukemia. *PlosOne* (2016) 11 (12): doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166891

34. Cardone MH, Roy N, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, Franke TF, Stanbridge E, et al. Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation. *Sci (New York NY)* (1998) 282(5392):1318–21 doi: 10.1126/science.282.5392.1318

35. Duronio RJ, Xiong Y. Signaling pathways that control cell proliferation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Biol* (2013) 5(3):a008904. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a008904 36. Philip B, Kokalaki E, Mekkaoui L, Thomas S, Straathof K, Flutter B, et al. A highly compact epitope-based marker/suicide gene for easier and safer T-cell therapy. *Blood* (2014) 124(8):1277–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-545020

37. Stavrou M, Philip B, Traynor-White C, Davis CG, Onuoha S, Cordoba S, et al. A rapamycin-activated caspase 9-based suicide gene. *Mol Ther* (2018) 26 (5):1266–76. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.03.001

38. Di Stasi A, De Angelis B, Rooney CM, Zhang L, Mahendravada A, Foster AE, et al. T Lymphocytes coexpressing CCR4 and a chimeric antigen receptor targeting CD30 have improved homing and antitumor activity in a Hodgkin tumor model. *Blood* (2009) 113(25):6392–402. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-209650

39. Oberst A, Pop C, Tremblay AG, Blais V, Denault JB, Salvesen GS, et al. Inducible dimerization and inducible cleavage reveal a requirement for both processes in caspase-8 activation. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285(22):16632–42. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.095083

40. Shah VR, Koster MI, Roop DR, Spencer DM, Wei L, Li Q, et al. Doubleinducible gene activation system for caspase 3 and 9 in epidermis. *Genesis* (2007) 45 (4):194–9. doi: 10.1002/dvg.20288

41. Fang SY, Hu CQ, Liu MN, Tao L, Wang Y, Gong MJ, et al. Reversibly immortalized hepatic progenitor cell line containing double suicide genes. *Int J Mol Med* (2018) 42(4):1977–86. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2018.3803

42. Martin RM, Fowler JL, Cromer MK, Lesch BJ, Ponce E, Uchida N, et al. Improving the safety of human pluripotent stem cell therapies using genomeedited orthogonal safeguards. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):2713. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-16455-7

43. Foster MC, Roehrs PA, Hucks GE, Grover NS, Armistead PM, Jamieson K, et al. Safety and antitumor effects of CD19-specific autologous chimeric antigen receptor-modified T (CAR-T) cells expressing the inducible caspase 9 safety switch (iC9-CAR19 T cells) in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *Blood* (2020) 136:36–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2020-139051

44. Wiebking V, Patterson JO, Martin R, Chanda MK, Lee CM, Srifa W, et al. Metabolic engineering generates a transgene-free safety switch for cell therapy. *Nat Biotechnol* (2020) 38(12):1441–50. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0580-6

45. Majzner RG, Rietberg SP, Sotillo E, Dong R, Vachharajani VT, Labanieh L, et al. Tuning the antigen density requirement for CAR T-cell activity. *Cancer Discov* (2020) 10(5):702–23. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0945

46. Ringden O, Labopin M, Gorin NC, Schmitz N, Schaefer UW, Prentice HG, et al. Is there a graft-versus-leukaemia effect in the absence of graft-versus-host disease in patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation for acute leukaemia? *Br J haematol* (2000) 111(4):1130–7. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.232

47. Chang EC, Liu H, West JA, Zhou X, Dakhova O, Wheeler DA, et al. Clonal dynamics *In vivo* of virus integration sites of T cells expressing a safety switch. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24(4):736–45 doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.247.

48. Meeus M, Mistiaen W, Lambrecht L, Nijs J. Immunological similarities between cancer and chronic fatigue syndrome: the common link to fatigue? *Anticancer Res* (2009) 29(11):4717–26.

49. Torikai H, Reik A, Liu PQ, Zhou Y, Zhang L, Maiti S, et al. A foundation for universal T-cell based immunotherapy: T cells engineered to express a CD19specific chimeric-antigen-receptor and eliminate expression of endogenous TCR. *Blood* (2012) 119(24):5697–705. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-405365

50. Legut M, Dolton G, Mian AA, Ottmann OG, Sewell AK. CRISPR-mediated TCR replacement generates superior anticancer transgenic T cells. *Blood* (2018) 131(3):311–22.

51. Torikai H, Reik A, Soldner F, Warren EH, Yuen C, Zhou Y, et al. Toward eliminating HLA class I expression to generate universal cells from allogeneic donors. *Blood* (2013) 122(8):1341–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-478255

52. Ott MG, Schmidt M, Schwarzwaelder K, Stein S, Siler U, Koehl U, et al. Correction of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease by gene therapy, augmented by insertional activation of MDS1-EVI1, PRDM16 or SETBP1. *Nat Med* (2006) 12 (4):401–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1393

Frontiers in Immunology

Explores novel approaches and diagnoses to treat immune disorders.

The official journal of the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) and the most cited in its field, leading the way for research across basic, translational and clinical immunology.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



